Advances in CLINICAL CHEMISTRY VOLUME 46

Edited by Gregory S. Makowski



ADVANCES IN CLINICAL CHEMISTRY

VOLUME 46

This page intentionally left blank

Advances in CLINICAL CHEMISTRY

Edited by

GREGORY S. MAKOWSKI

Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine Hartford Hospital Hartford, Connecticut

VOLUME 46



AMSTERDAM • BOSTON • HEIDELBERG • LONDON NEW YORK • OXFORD • PARIS • SAN DIEGO SAN FRANCISCO • SINGAPORE • SYDNEY • TOKYO Academic Press is an imprint of Elsevier



Academic Press is an imprint of Elsevier 32 Jamestown Road, London, NW1 7BY, UK Radarweg 29, PO Box 211, 1000 AE Amsterdam, The Netherlands 30 Corporate Drive, Suite 400, Burlington, MA 01803, USA 525 B Street, Suite 1900, San Diego, CA 92101-4495, USA

This book is printed on acid-free paper. $^{(\infty)}$

Copyright © 2008, Elsevier Inc. All rights reserved

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise without the prior written permission of the publisher

Permissions may be sought directly from Elsevier's Science & Technology Rights Department in Oxford, UK: phone (+44) (0) 1865 843830; fax (+44) (0) 1865 853333; email: permissions@elsevier.com. Alternatively you can submit your request online by visiting the Elsevier web site at http://www.elsevier.com/locate/permissions, and selecting *Obtaining permission to use Elsevier material*

Notice

No responsibility is assumed by the publisher for any injury and/or damage to persons or property as a matter of products liability, negligence or otherwise, or from any use or operation of any methods, products, instructions or ideas contained in the material herein. Because of rapid advances in the medical sciences, in particular, independent verification of diagnoses and drug dosages should be made

British Library Cataloguing Publication Data

A catalogue record for this book is available from the British Library.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

A catalog record for this book is available from the Library of Congress.

ISBN: 978-0-12-374209-4 ISSN: 0065-2423

For information on all Academic Press publications visit our website at www.elsevierdirect.com

Printed and bound in USA 08 09 10 11 12 10 9 8 7 6 5 4 3 2 1



ELSEVIER BOOKAID Sabre Foundation

CONTENTS

Contributors	ix
Preface	xiii

Effect of Exercise on Oxidative Stress Biomarkers RICHARD J. BLOOMER

1.	Abstract	1
2.	Introduction	2
3.	Description of Oxidative Stress.	2
4.	Exercise and Oxidative Stress.	22
	References	38

Human Total Serum N-Glycome André Klein

1. /	Abstract	51
2. I	Introduction	52
3. 1	N-Glycosylation of Serum Glycoproteins	52
4. I	Determination of the TSNG	63
5. (Qualitative and Quantitative Characterization of the Normal Human TSNG	67
6. I	Physiological Variations of the N-Glycome	72
7. A	Acquired Modifications of the TSNG	73
8. 0	Congenital Modifications of the TSNG	76
9. (Conclusions	78
I	References	78

Nutritional Biochemistry of Spaceflight

SCOTT M. SMITH AND SARA R. ZWART

1.	Abstract	88
2.	Introduction	88
3.	Nutrition	89
4.	Spaceflight Effects on Physiological Systems	101
5.	Environmental Issues	113
6.	Future Exploration Missions	114
	References	115

CONTENTS

Biomarkers of Liver Fibrosis

Thierry Poynard, Rachel Morra, Patrick Ingiliz, Françoise Imbert-Bismut, Dominique Thabut, Djamila Messous, Mona Munteanu, Julien Massard, Yves Benhamou, and Vlad Ratziu

132
133
134
139
153
153

Biomarkers Related to Aging in Human Populations

Eileen Crimmins, Sarinnapha Vasunilashorn, Jung Ki Kim, and Dawn Alley

162
163
164
187
189
193
194 195

Vascular Calcification Inhibitors in Relation to Cardiovascular Disease With Special Emphasis on Fetuin-A in Chronic Kidney Disease Mohamed E. Suliman, Elvia García-López, Björn Anderstam, Bengt Lindholm, and Peter Stenvinkel

1.	Abstract	218
2.	Introduction	218
3.	Extraosseous Calcification	220
4.	Vascular Calcification: A Tsunami in CKD Patients	221
5.	Role of Calcification Inhibitors	222
6.	Fetuin-A	223
7.	Matrix-Gla Protein	240
8.	Osteoprotegerin	242
9.	Osteopontin	244
	Bone Morphogenetic Protein-7	246
11.	Inorganic Pyrophosphate	247
12.	Conclusion	248
	References	249

CONTENTS

Mechanisms of Arterial Calcification: Spotlight on the Inhibitors GABRIELE WEISSEN-PLENZ, YVONNE NITSCHKE, AND FRANK RUTSCH

1.	Abstract	264
2.	Introduction	264
3.	Parallels in Arterial Calcification and Physiological Tissue Mineralization	265
4.	Inhibitors of Artery Calcification	266
5.	Promoters of Arterial Calcification	277
6.	Implications of Basic Research on Clinical Therapy	282
7.	Conclusion	283
	References.	284

Atherogenic Lipoprotein Subprofiling Allison A. Ellington and Iftikhar J. Kullo

1. Abstract	
2. Introduction	296
3. Lipoprotein Biology	296
4. LDL Particles	300
5. Conclusion	311
References	312
Index	319

This page intentionally left blank

CONTRIBUTORS

Numbers in parentheses indicate the pages on which the authors' contributions begin.

DAWN ALLEY (161), Robert Wood Johnson Health and Society Scholars Program, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19104

BJÖRN ANDERSTAM (217), Department of Clinical Science, Intervention and Technology, Divisions of Renal Medicine and Baxter Novum, Karolinska Institutet, Karolinska University Hospital Huddinge, 141 86 Stockholm, Sweden

YVES BENHAMOU (131), Service d'Hépato-Gastroentérologie, Groupe Hospitalier Pitié-Salpêtrière, Paris, France

RICHARD J. BLOOMER (1), Department of Health and Sport Sciences, The University of Memphis, Memphis, Tennessee 38152

EILEEN CRIMMINS (161), Andrus Gerontology Center, Davis School of Gerontology, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, California 90089

Allison A. Ellington (295), Division of Cardiovascular Diseases, Mayo Clinic and Foundation, Rochester, Minnesota 55905

ELVIA GARCÍA-LÓPEZ (217), Department of Clinical Science, Intervention and Technology, Divisions of Renal Medicine and Baxter Novum, Karolinska Institutet, Karolinska University Hospital Huddinge, 141 86 Stockholm, Sweden

FRANÇOISE IMBERT-BISMUT (131), Laboratoire de Biochimie, Groupe Hospitalier Pitié-Salpêtrière, Paris, France

PATRICK INGILIZ (131), Service d'Hépato-Gastroentérologie, Groupe Hospitalier Pitié-Salpêtrière, Paris, France

JUNG KI KIM (161), Andrus Gerontology Center, Davis School of Gerontology, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, California 90089

CONTRIBUTORS

ANDRÉ KLEIN (51), UMR 8576 du CNRS, Villeneuve d'Asq, France; Laboratory of Biochemistry, CHRU de Lille, France

IFTIKHAR J. KULLO (295), Division of Cardiovascular Diseases, Mayo Clinic and Foundation, Rochester, Minnesota 55905

BENGT LINDHOLM (217), Department of Clinical Science, Intervention and Technology, Divisions of Renal Medicine and Baxter Novum, Karolinska Institutet, Karolinska University Hospital Huddinge, 141 86 Stockholm, Sweden

JULIEN MASSARD (131), Service d'Hépato-Gastroentérologie, Groupe Hospitalier Pitié-Salpêtrière, Paris, France

DJAMILA MESSOUS (131), Laboratoire de Biochimie, Groupe Hospitalier Pitié-Salpêtrière, Paris, France

RACHEL MORRA (131), Laboratoire de Biochimie, Groupe Hospitalier Pitié-Salpêtrière, Paris, France

MONA MUNTEANU (131), Biopredictive, Paris, France

YVONNE NITSCHKE (263), Department of General Pediatrics, Münster University Children's Hospital, Münster, Germany

THIERRY POYNARD (131), Service d'Hépato-Gastroentérologie, Groupe Hospitalier Pitié-Salpêtrière, Université Paris VI, CNRS ESA 8149 Paris, France

VLAD RATZIU (131), Service d'Hépato-Gastroentérologie, Groupe Hospitalier Pitié-Salpêtrière, Paris, France

FRANK RUTSCH (263), Department of General Pediatrics, Münster University Children's Hospital, Münster, Germany

SCOTT M. SMITH (87), Human Adaptation and Countermeasures Division, National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Johnson Space Center, Houston, Texas 77058

PETER STENVINKEL (217), Department of Clinical Science, Intervention and Technology, Divisions of Renal Medicine and Baxter Novum, Karolinska Institutet, Karolinska University Hospital Huddinge, 141 86 Stockholm, Sweden

Х

CONTRIBUTORS

MOHAMED E. SULIMAN (217), Department of Clinical Science, Intervention and Technology, Divisions of Renal Medicine and Baxter Novum, Karolinska Institutet, Karolinska University Hospital Huddinge, 141 86 Stockholm, Sweden

DOMINIQUE THABUT (131), Service d'Hépato-Gastroentérologie, Groupe Hospitalier Pitié-Salpêtrière, Paris, France

SARINNAPHA VASUNILASHORN (161), Andrus Gerontology Center, Davis School of Gerontology, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, California 90089

GABRIELE WEISSEN-PLENZ (263), Department of Cardiology and Angiology, Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Münster University Hospital, and Leibniz Institute for Arteriosclerosis Research, Münster University, Münster, Germany

SARA R. ZWART (87), Division of Space Life Sciences, Universities Space Research Association, Houston, Texas 77058 This page intentionally left blank

PREFACE

I am pleased to present volume forty-six of *Advances in Clinical Chemistry* series for the year 2008.

In this second volume for the year, a diverse array of topics is presented. The role of low-density lipoprotein particle size and number is explored in relationship to coronary heart disease risk stratification. In this chapter, methodologies available for atherogenic lipid subprofiling are also discussed. The effect of exercise on oxidative stress as well as their effect on upregulation of endogenous antioxidant defense systems is explored in another chapter. A comprehensive chapter on the serum N-glycome is presented. These modified proteins may present novel targets to identify congenital and acquired disorders. Nutritional biomarkers associated with adaption to microgravity are highlighted in another chapter. Identifying the role of these nutrients in maintenance of muscle, bone, and cardiovascular systems during prolonged space flight is crucial as we approach the next frontier in our exploration of the cosmos. An interesting review is also presented on the use of specific biomarkers in lieu of biopsy in chronic liver disease. A chapter on biomarkers of aging discusses their use in population research and their relationships to health outcomes. Finally, we conclude with two excellent chapters that address calcification processes in general and the impact of this pathophysiological process in renal disease specifically.

I extend my appreciation to each contributor of volume forty-six and thank colleagues who contributed to the peer review process. I extend thanks to my Elsevier editorial liaison, Ms Pat Gonzalez for her continued support.

I sincerely hope the second volume of 2008 will be enjoyed by our readership. As always, I warmly invite comments and suggestions for future review articles for the *Advances in Clinical Chemistry* series.

In keeping with the tradition of the series, I would like to dedicate volume forty-six to my father Edmund who recently passed.

GREGORY S. MAKOWSKI

This page intentionally left blank

EFFECT OF EXERCISE ON OXIDATIVE STRESS BIOMARKERS

Richard J. Bloomer¹

Department of Health and Sport Sciences, The University of Memphis, Memphis, Tennessee 38152

1.	Abstract	1
2.	Introduction	2
3.	Description of Oxidative Stress	2
	3.1. Associations with Health and Disease	3
	3.2. Association with Physical Performance (Muscle Function)	4
	3.3. Reactive Oxygen and Nitrogen Species	5
	3.4. Specific Cellular Damage	11
	3.5. Protective Mechanisms Against RONS	17
4.	Exercise and Oxidative Stress.	22
	4.1. Aerobic Exercise	25
	4.2. Anaerobic Exercise	28
	4.3. Gender Differences in Exercise-Induced Oxidative Stress	34
	4.4. Exercise-Induced Oxidative Stress in Aging and Diseased Populations	35
	4.5. Summary of Exercise and Oxidative Stress	37
	References	38

1. Abstract

Acute bouts of aerobic and anaerobic exercise can induce a state of oxidative stress, as indicated by an increase in oxidized molecules in a variety of tissues and body fluids. The extent of oxidation is dependent on the exercise mode, intensity, and duration, and is specifically related to the degree of oxidant production. Findings of increased oxidative stress have been reported for both healthy and diseased subjects following single bouts of exercise. While acute exercise has the ability to induce an oxidative stress, this same exercise stimulus appears necessary to allow for an upregulation in endogenous antioxidant defenses. This chapter presents a summary of exercise-induced oxidative stress.

¹Corresponding author: Richard J. Bloomer; e-mail: rbloomer@memphis.edu.

RICHARD J. BLOOMER

2. Introduction

The topic of exercise-induced oxidative stress has received considerable attention in recent years, with more than 300 original investigations published since Dillard et al. first reported in 1978 that lipid peroxidation was increased following 60 min of cycling exercise [1]. Based on the available evidence, it appears clear that exercise of sufficient intensity and duration increases the formation of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (RONS), having the potential to create an imbalance between oxidant and antioxidant levels. This condition, commonly referred to as oxidative stress, can lead to the oxidation of lipids, proteins, deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA), and other molecules. The degree of oxidation as well as the time course for elevation in oxidative stress biomarkers varies across studies, and likely depends on the type, intensity, volume and duration of exercise, the exercise training and nutritional status of the research subjects, the time course of sample collection, the tissue being investigated, and the various assays employed. While acute exercise appears to increase oxidative stress transiently, this same exercise stimulus is necessary to allow for an upregulation in endogenous antioxidant defenses. In this way, the generation of RONS appears to be the "signal" needed to allow for such important adaptations, which very likely protect cells from future elevations in RONS. This chapter presents a summary of exercise-induced oxidative stress by first providing an overview of RONS formation and methods of assessment, as well as protective mechanisms against RONS attack. Results from both acute aerobic and anaerobic exercise studies are discussed, as well as adaptations to the antioxidant defense system as a result of chronic exercise training. More specific aspects of exercise-induced oxidative stress such as gender, age, and disease status differences are also highlighted.

3. Description of Oxidative Stress

Oxidative stress is a condition in which an imbalance exists between oxidant and antioxidant levels in such a way that oxidant production overwhelms antioxidant defenses, often leading to oxidation of lipids, proteins, DNA, and other molecules in ways that impair cellular function [2]. The generation of RONS occurs in part as a consequence of normal cellular metabolism [3]. Under ordinary physiological conditions, the body's endogenous antioxidant defense system, in conjunction with exogenous antioxidants consumed through dietary sources, acts to protect small and macromolecules from modification and destruction via oxidants. In addition to normal cellular metabolism, oxidants can be generated through exposure to a wide variety of environmental (e.g., cigarette smoke, ozone, certain nutrients) as well as physiological (e.g., physical and mental stress) challenges. Specifically, oxidative stress may be mediated by an increased activity of radical-generating enzymes (e.g., xanthine oxidase); activation of phagocytes, phospholipases, cyclooxygenases, and lipoxygenases; release of heme proteins via destruction of iron-containing proteins; through disruption of the electron transport system leading to increased leakage of superoxide radicals; and via suppressed antioxidant protection [4]. Specific information pertaining to sources of RONS generation is presented in Section 3.3.1.

3.1. Associations with Health and Disease

During and following stressful conditions in which RONS production is increased, adequate protection may not be available, and the capacity of the antioxidant defense system may be overwhelmed by the oxidant attack. Such conditions can lead to progressive oxidation of cellular components such as lipids, proteins, and nucleic acids, and have been implicated in a wide variety of disease processes, as well as in aging [5]. In many cases, the evidence consists only of observations of increased levels of oxidative stress biomarkers (e.g., lipid, protein, DNA oxidation) in persons with a particular disease state, such as cardiovascular disease [6] and diabetes [7], which is considered to merely represent an association rather than a causal role. In other cases, subjects with certain diseases such as type II diabetes [8], hypertension [9], heart failure [10], and coronary artery disease [11] demonstrated improved markers of health following antioxidant therapy, suggesting that oxidant stressors may have been one possible cause of disease or of disease progression.

While numerous studies have found that an association exists between elevated oxidative stress and disease (for review please see Ref. [12]), specific cause and effect data are more scarce. Regardless, this area of study continues to be an important focal point of ongoing health-related research. This is because a myriad of diseases appear to have strong correlations to increased concentrations of RONS in both tissue and blood though it is understood that the complexity of most disease processes certainly does not exclude the probability that factors outside of RONS also play a key role. Indeed, most pathologies are multifactorial. Additional study is needed before firm conclusions can be made pertaining to whether oxidants are a major cause of disease or merely a consequence of the disease process. With this understanding, at least some direct evidence exists linking oxidative stress to both the initiation and progression of atherogenesis [13], diabetes [14], cancer [15], respiratory ailments [16], and neurodegenerative disorders [17]. Moreover, oxidative stress appears to expedite the aging process [18].

RICHARD J. BLOOMER

Despite the potential problems associated with excessive oxidants, it is well understood within the scientific community that RONS are involved in several important biological processes. In particular, RONS play important roles in cell signaling [19], redox regulation of gene transcription [20], cellular immunity [21], and apoptosis [22]. Thus, RONS are essential for normal physiological function, and "healthy" levels that do not exceed a certain unknown threshold do not appear problematic.

3.2. Association with Physical Performance (Muscle Function)

Animal studies have noted altered contractile function. reductions in muscle force output, and greater fatigue rates as a function of increased oxidative stress in isolated skeletal muscle [23]; however, little direct evidence is available linking oxidative stress to impaired physical performance in humans. It is conceivable that RONS-mediated oxidative damage to cellular components can indeed impact muscle performance in a negative way. This is particularly true with regards to proteins, as both contractile (primarily myosin due to thiol group oxidation [24]) and enzymatic proteins may be oxidized by RONS, leading to problems with excitation-contraction coupling [25] and the potential for slowing reaction rates, respectively. Clearly, mitochondrial enzymes required for energy production (e.g., succinate dehydrogenase, cytochrome oxidase) are susceptible to oxidation [26]. Oxidative damage to adenosine triphosphatase pumps can decrease calcium reuptake by the sarcoplasmic recticulum, leading to an imbalance in calcium homeostasis [27] and reduced muscle contractility. Moreover, oxidation of ryanodine receptors regulating calcium release channels in the sarcoplasmic recticulum leads to excess calcium availability and promotes muscle contractures [28].

Several studies have noted an elevation in oxidative stress biomarkers following strenuous exercise, which often correlates to reductions in muscle force, as well as increased muscle soreness—leading to the hypothesis that oxidative stress is responsible for the force loss and increased soreness in the hours to days following exercise. However, it is difficult to state with certainty that the increased oxidative stress actually caused the impairments in muscle performance and muscle soreness. More work is needed in this area of study before definite conclusions can be drawn regarding the role of RONS in impaired muscle functioning.

Related to the above discussion, a few studies have investigated the link between oxidative stress and excessive exercise (i.e., overtraining). Conditions of aerobic overtraining (4 weeks) have been linked to decreased blood antioxidant status in humans [29], while a shorter period of overtraining (3 weeks) was recently associated with increased lipid peroxidation in animals [30]. Similar findings for increased serum total peroxides have been noted in professional football players during the course of the 5-month competitive season [31]. Despite these observations, specific measures of performance were not investigated along with the assessment of oxidative stress biomarkers in these studies. We have recently found that short-term anaerobic overtraining (7 days: two sessions per day of squat exercise) does not impair protein oxidation but does impair exercise performance (unpublished data). It is possible that different forms of exercise as well as different lengths of overtraining can lead to varying degrees of oxidative stress and impaired physical performance. Additional work using human subjects is needed in this area, with the inclusion of both oxidative stress and performance measures within the same study design.

3.3. REACTIVE OXYGEN AND NITROGEN SPECIES

As related to the above and as discussed earlier, oxidative stress results when RONS production exceeds antioxidant defense. RONS include both nonradical and radical species, the latter often referred to as "free radicals". Electrons within atoms and molecules occupy regions of space known as orbitals, each holding a maximum of two electrons. Most biological molecules are nonradicals, containing only paired electrons. However, if a single electron is unpaired in an orbital, it is said to be free, and a radical can be defined as any species capable of independent existence containing one or more unpaired electrons [32]. The unpairing and formation of free radicals can occur by three different mechanisms: (1) Homolysis of covalent bonds: $A - B \rightarrow A^{\bullet} + B^{\bullet}$; (2) addition of a single electron (e) to a neutral atom: $A + e \rightarrow A^{\bullet}$; (3) loss of a single electron (e) from a neutral atom: $A \rightarrow A^{+\bullet} + e$ [33]. Free radicals are generally regarded as highly reactive because they seek to accept electrons from other molecules. The donation of electrons can thus produce additional free radicals, leading to a chain reaction of free radical generation, which continues until a chain terminating reaction occurs. A listing of common RONS is provided in Table 1, where it should be noted that the term RONS includes both radical and nonradical species.

3.3.1. Generation of RONS

Multiple potential sites exist for RONS formation in relation to an acute bout of exercise. These include both primary sources in which RONS are generated in direct response to a given condition, and secondary sources in which RONS production may occur in response to damage induced through other mechanisms (e.g., eccentric muscle actions). Simple measurement of oxidative stress biomarkers does not allow for the differentiation between primary and secondary RONS production. However, measuring multiple samples over time may provide some insight into potential sources of

Reactive oxygen species	
Singlet oxygen	$^{1}O_{2}$
Superoxide	O_2^-
Hydrogen peroxide	H_2O_2
Hydroxyl radical	OH^{\bullet}
Perhydroxyl radical	HO_2^{\bullet}
Alkoxyl radical	RO
Peroxyl radical	ROO
Hydroperoxyl radical	ROOH•
Hypochlorous acid	HOCL
Ozone	O ₃
Reactive nitrogen species	
Nitric oxide	NO
Nitric dioxide	NO_2
Peroxynitrite	ONO_2^-

 TABLE 1

 Common Reactive Oxygen and Nitrogen Species

generation (i.e., respiratory chain leakage of superoxide during acute exercise vs phagocytic respiratory burst production of radical species following exercise in response to muscle injury).

3.3.1.1. Primary Sources. A major pathway for radical generation in biological systems involves mitochondrial electron transport, where oxygen (O_2) is used for ATP production. Under normal physiological conditions, most of the oxygen consumed by cells is reduced to water in the mitochondria through a series of one-electron reductions via the action of the cytochrome oxidase complex. However, a small amount (1-5%) of the oxygen passing through the respiratory chain may give rise to superoxide, leading to other nonradical (e.g., hydrogen peroxide) and radical species (e.g., hydroxyl radical). This may stem from the one-electron reduction of ubiquinone (coenzyme Q), generating ubisemiquinone, which subsequently leaks its unpaired electron to oxygen to form superoxide. However, there may be other generating sites of free radicals in the electron transport chain [34].

Mitochondria also generate nitric oxide (NO) [35], which may react with superoxide to form peroxynitrite (ONO_2^-) , a very potent oxidant. It follows that increased respiration with enhanced flow of electrons in electron transport, as during an acute bout of exercise in which oxygen uptake may increase 10- to 20-fold, may increase RONS production. The mitochondria are well defended against superoxide radical-mediated damage through the action of superoxide dismutase (SOD); however, in isolated mitochondrial fractions, marked damage may be evident from long-lasting exercise [36]. Furthermore, while it is generally believed that the increase in RONS

through the mitochondria is specific to electron leakage, it has been proposed that drastic changes in temperature during exercise [36], in addition to a decreased mitochondrial $PO_2[37]$, could also be major mechanisms to increase RONS.

In addition to generation through mitochondrial electron transport, RONS can be produced through prostanoid metabolism. Prostaglandins are released from cells within muscle in response to an acute stressor (e.g., excessive contractile activity), the intermediates being RONS. The precursor of prostaglandins, arachidonic acid, can be converted to active metabolites by lipoxygenase, producing additional radical species. Catecholamines, which are increased during exercise, can auto-oxidize leading to RONS production or undergo metal ion-catalyzed oxidation to free radical species [38].

The enzymes xanthine oxidase and NADPH oxidase have also been noted to be radical species generators [33, 38]. Depleted levels of ATP, often mediated by strenuous exercise involving an acute state of ischemia (followed by reperfusion), lead to high intracellular levels of ADP, which promote ADP degradation and conversion of xanthine dehydrogenase to xanthine oxidase, a superoxide radical generator. The formation of xanthine oxidase usually occurs in the presence of hypoxanthine, which is generated via the degradation of nucleotides in muscle, in addition to the activation of calcium-dependent proteases, which increase when calcium homeostasis is compromised (i.e., as a result of exercise-induced muscle injury). Thus, generation of RONS via the xanthine oxidase pathway likely involves highintensity, short-duration exercise conditions where muscle is metabolically compromised and perhaps damaged (i.e., ATP degradation is greater than generation and calcium homeostasis is lost).

NADPH oxidase, present in neutrophils and other cell types, can also act as a site for RONS production. However, at present it is uncertain if this enzyme is present in skeletal muscle or whether it is influenced by contractile activity. Therefore, the possibility that it acts as a contributor to RONS production is largely speculative.

3.3.1.2. Secondary Sources. Other sources of RONS generation can arise from exercise which leads to tissue injury (e.g., high force eccentric muscle actions). First, invasion of phagocytic cells (e.g., neutrophils, monocytes, eosinophils, macrophages) into damaged tissue, perhaps as a result of an acute insult, can generate a substantial amount of reactive oxygen species including superoxide and hydrogen peroxide. In this way, the radicals serve a useful purpose in degrading severely damaged tissue so that regeneration can occur.

The disruption of iron-containing proteins such as erythrocytes and myoglobin can lead to an increase in free iron, which is known to catalyze radical reactions. Exercise that creates a significant degree of trauma (e.g., high force eccentric muscle actions, high impact aerobic exercise) may lead to destruction of these proteins, allowing for increased free iron availability to aid in the production of RONS. Moreover, anaerobic exercise promotes acidosis and excess lactate accumulation leading to iron release from transferrin [39] and the potential for the conversion of superoxide to hydroxyl radical. Relevant to iron-containing proteins, the increased oxidation of hemoglobin and myoglobin that occurs with intense exercise can cause RONS formation. Hemoglobin auto-oxidation produces methemoglobin and superoxide [40], while myoglobin auto-oxidation generates hydrogen peroxide [41], which can later react to form more harmful oxidants. The generation of RONS may also be associated with an imbalance in calcium homeostasis. Here, excessive intracellular calcium accumulation may lead to RONS production through activation of phospholipase and proteolytic enzymes.

In the above ways, generation of RONS can be increased as a result of an exercise stimulus. The increase may be a result of increased oxygen consumption to fuel muscular work, or via any number of other primary or secondary sources of radical species generation. Due to the variety of RONS-generating pathways, increased oxidative stress has been observed following both aerobic and anaerobic exercise bouts. Because it is unknown whether the observation of increased RONS is a direct result of the exercise stimulus or whether the increase is secondary to the initial insult, caution should be used when interpreting data. Conclusively stating that the radicals were generated by one mechanism vs another may be difficult to substantiate, especially in exercising humans. In fact, it is likely that RONS production involves several pathways, all of which collectively lead to the presence of oxidized molecules in biological sample analysis. Figure 1 presents a schematic of the potential mechanisms by which an acute exercise bout could induce RONS production.

3.3.2. Types of Radicals Generated

Several distinct RONS exist in biological systems, with the most widely discussed and investigated presented in this section. Superoxide radical $(O_2^{\bullet-})$ is the one-electron reduction product of molecular oxygen and is considered to be highly reactive when dissolved in organic solvents. It is formed mainly through singlet oxygen $({}^{1}O_2)$ within the mitochondrial electron transport chain, where singlet oxygen can bind to molecular oxygen to form a superoxide radical. This singlet oxygen is produced mainly from mitochondrial electron transport chain, where singlet oxygen is produced mainly from mitochondrial electron transport chain it is to lipids or DNA [32]. Superoxide radicals can also be generated through elimination reactions from peroxyl radicals, through electron transfer reactions from other free radicals [4], and through the respiratory burst of phagocytic cells such as neutrophils, monocytes,



FIG. 1. Potential mechanisms of increased RONS production related to an acute bout of exercise. Adapted with permission from Bloomer and Goldfarb [2].

eosinophils, and macrophages [43]. Specific to the immune response through phagocytic cells, production of superoxide radical is viewed as beneficial, since invading bacteria can be engulfed and destroyed by antibacterial mechanisms, including lysosomal enzymes and myeloperoxidase.

In aqueous solutions, the superoxide radical is poorly reactive; however, systems producing it can do a great deal of damage *in vitro* (e.g., they fragment DNA and polysaccharides, kill bacteria and animal cells in culture) and *in vivo* (e.g., produce inflammation and cell damage upon tissue-specific infusion in animals). The potential harm with this radical within free living biological systems lies in its ability to be converted into other radical-generating species such as hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), while first combining with a proton to yield hydroperoxyl radical (ROOH[•]).

Hydrogen peroxide can be produced, as depicted above, from superoxide radicals (by SOD), in addition to nonenzymatic production and direct production via a number of oxidase enzymes. However, hydrogen peroxide is not itself considered an oxygen free radical, but has the ability to induce oxidative stress by activating oxidant-generating enzymes [44]. As with superoxide radical, much of the cytotoxic effects of hydrogen peroxide are due to its ultimate conversion into the hydroxyl radical (OH[•]), the most reactive oxygen-containing species known. This conversion can occur in the presence of reduced transition metals, such as copper and iron, via the Fenton reaction as follows:

$$Fe^{2+} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow Fe^{3+} + OH^{\bullet} + OH^{-}$$

Additionally, hydroxyl radical can be formed by the interaction of superoxide with hydrogen peroxide through the Haber-Weiss reaction as follows:

$$O_2^{\bullet-} + H_2O_2 \rightarrow O_2 + OH^{\bullet} + OH^-$$

With a rise in hydroxyl radicals, the potential exists for damage to various cellular structures. This is because the hydroxyl radical reacts with virtually every structure from which it can abstract an electron, including small molecules such as glucose or macromolecules such as proteins, lipids, and DNA, often giving rise to a chain reaction [45]. This occurs at a diffusion-controlled rate (i.e., hydroxyl radicals react as soon as they come into contact with another molecule in solution [46]). Generally, cellular modification/damage is specific to the immediate vicinity of hydroxyl radical production due to such high reactivity [47]. Therefore, generation within cell membrane may lead to damage of polyunsaturated fatty acids comprising the lipid bilayer, while production in proximity to proteins or nucleic acids may promote enzymatic or functional amino acid damage, in addition to modifications in nucleotide bases. Other radical species may be formed due to modifications in proteins or polyunsaturated fatty acids by hydroxyl radicals and lead to cellular damage.

While hydroxyl radicals may be the most reactive in biological systems, peroxyl radicals are the most abundant, as they are formed in any oxygencontaining environment. Specifically, organic peroxyl radicals (ROO^{\bullet}) result from oxygen addition to virtually any carbon-centered free radical (R^{\bullet}) and can act on electron transfer and addition reactions as well as resemble similar reactivity features as hydroxyl radicals. The chain reaction sequence in lipid peroxidation, which has been noted to damage cellular membranes, is an important consequence of the hydroxyl radicals.

Aside from oxygen-centered free radical species, nitrogen-based molecules can react with transition metals or with other radicals (e.g., superoxide) to form harmful agents. Nitric oxide can react with transition metals to form metal-nitrosyl adducts, with superoxide radicals to form peroxynitrite, a highly toxic compound, as well as with other oxygen-centered radicals to form reactive nitrogen species. While concrete evidence is still lacking, it has been suggested that these species are involved in neurodegenerative disorders such as Parkinson's [48] and Alzheimer's [49] disease, several kidney diseases [50], as well as chronic inflammatory diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis [51]. Specifically, peroxynitrite-mediated reactions with amino acid residues result in the formation of nitrotyrosine, which can lead to enzyme inactivation [33, 52].

3.4. Specific Cellular Damage

Precise cellular damage resulting from RONS is specifically related to which macromolecules are being targeted by the oxidants, the frequency and duration of attack, as well as the tissue-specific antioxidant defenses present. For example, polyunsaturated fatty acids comprising lipid membranes can be degraded through the chain reaction sequence of lipid peroxidation. Proteins can undergo oxidation leading to modifications in enzyme activity, altering normal cellular functioning. Radicals reacting with DNA can produce extensive strand breakage and degradation of deoxyribose, an effect that has been shown *in vitro* to be due to the formation of hydroxyl radicals [43]. Such changes leading to alterations in nucleotide bases certainly have the potential to be mutagenic, perhaps promoting ill-health and disease over time. Any of the above, either alone or in combination with one another, can lead to impaired health and physiological dysfunction, potentially impairing physical performance.

3.4.1. Methods of Assessing RONS Formation

3.4.1.1. Direct Methods. Since radicals are highly reactive and short lived (e.g., 10^{-6} , 10^{-5} , 10^{-9} s for singlet oxygen, superoxide radical, and hydroxyl radical, respectively) they are extremely difficult to measure in biological systems, in particular, plasma and other body fluids. While this is true, there do exist direct procedures for measuring free radical activity, most common being electron spin resonance (ESR) spectroscopy involving spin traps (which allows for a more stable product), in addition to less common techniques such as pulse radiolysis and laser flash photolysis [33]. The equipment needed for analysis of samples using these techniques is costly, and the procedures are complex and labor intensive, making the analysis of large batches of samples difficult. Therefore, few studies have employed these techniques to study radical formation following an acute bout of exercise [53–57], with increased radical formation detected using ESR first demonstrated in muscle and liver tissue following exhaustive exercise in animals in 1982 [56] and several years later in humans [53].

3.4.1.2. Indirect Methods. The majority of investigations focused on exercise-induced oxidative stress have used indirect methods as a way to determine changes in tissue oxidation of lipids, proteins, and DNA resulting from exposure to RONS. In addition, alterations in components of the endogenous antioxidant defense system, in particular glutathione status (e.g., increased oxidized and decreased reduced glutathione) and water- and lipid-soluble vitamins, have been used as markers of oxidative stress. Using this approach, radical formation is inferred based on the nature of oxidation caused to biological molecules, as well as the decrease in antioxidant capacity. Related to the latter, although not as routinely measured as lipid, protein, and DNA oxidation, a decrease in circulating levels of antioxidant vitamins (C and/or E) following acute exercise [58] and short-term overreaching [20] has been noted, with no change [59] and an increase noted in other investigations involving acute exercise [60, 61].

A variety of analysis procedures have been used [62], ranging from simple spectrophotometric assays to more complex and time-consuming assays using gas chromatography-mass spectroscopy (GC-MS) and high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) coupled with electrochemical or chemiluminescence detection. Procedures are available for analysis of several body fluids (e.g., blood, urine, saliva), as well as muscle and organ tissue (which have been widely studied in animal investigations focused on exercise and oxidative stress). In human studies of exercise and oxidative stress, blood and urine have been the analysis tissue of choice in most investigations.

3.4.2. Common Biomarkers of Exercise-Induced Oxidative Stress

Because of the increased interest in the study of oxidative stress in general, and exercise-induced oxidative stress in particular, several commercially available assay kits are now available, with many new kits emerging each year. In fact, while many companies make available oxidative stress-related reagents and assay kits as one component of the entire product line, other companies now offer oxidative stress-related reagents and assay kits exclusively, at the same time also providing analytical services for these procedures. Clearly, this area of study is on the rise, perhaps partly because the analytical tools needed for this work are more user friendly and readily available than ever before. Table 2 presents an overview of common biomarkers of exercise-induced oxidative stress, as well as the format of analysis for each biomarker.

3.4.3. Common Targets and Consequences

As previously mentioned, an elevation in RONS may promote oxidation of a variety of molecules, potentially leading to impaired health and physical performance. Lipids have received the greatest deal of attention in relation to

EXERCISE AND OXIDATIVE STRESS

Molecule	Biomarker	Common assessment format(s)
Lipid	Isoprostane	GC-MS
		ELISA
	Lipid hydroperoxides	Spectrophotometric
		ELISA
	Malondialdehyde	HPLC
		Spectrophotometric
	Thiobarbituric acid reactive	HPLC
	substances	Fluorometric
		Spectrophotometric
	Conjugated dienes	Spectrophotometric
	Oxidized low-density lipoprotein	<i>Ex vivo</i> oxidation followed by lag phase of conjugated diene formation ELISA
Protein	Protein carbonyls	Spectrophotometric
		ELISA
		Western blot
	Individual oxidized amino acids	GC–MS
		Western blot
	Nitrotyrosine	ELISA
DNA	8-Hydroxydeoxyguanosine	HPLC
		ELISA
	Oxidized DNA bases	HPLC
	Strand breaks	Comet assay
Antioxidant ^a	Glutathione	HPLC
		Spectrophotometric
	Trolox equivalent antioxidant capacity	Spectrophotometric
	Ferric-reducing ability of plasma	Spectrophotometric
	Total radical-trapping antioxidant parameter	Spectrophotometric
	Oxygen radical absorbance capacity	Fluorometric
	Glutathione peroxidase	Spectrophotometric
	Glutathione reductase	Spectrophotometric
	Superoxide dismutase	Spectrophotometric
	Catalase	Spectrophotometric
	Ascorbate (vitamin C)	Spectrophotometric
	Tocopherol (vitamin E)	HPLC
Miscellaneous	Xanthine oxidase	Fluorometric
		Spectrophotometric
	Hydrogen peroxide	Fluorometric
	rijaroben peronide	Spectrophotometric

 TABLE 2

 Common Biomarkers of Exercise-Induced Oxidative Stress

ELISA = enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; GC-MS = gas chromatography-mass spectroscopy; HPLC = high-performance liquid chromatography.

^{*a*} Multiple other individual antioxidants can be measured; however, this has been done rarely in the exercise science literature.

an acute bout of exercise. The autocatalytic process of lipid peroxidation is linked to increased mitochondrial respiration and electron transport disturbances associated with increased oxygen uptake (VO₂) during exercise and involves degradation of polyunsaturated fatty acids and phospholipids through a chain reaction [63]. This includes removal of a hydrogen atom from one of the $-CH_2$ - groups in the carbon chain, typically initiated by a hydroxyl radical, leaving behind an unpaired electron on the carbon. The resulting carbon radical undergoes molecular rearrangement to form a conjugated diene, which can then combine with oxygen to give rise to a peroxyl radical. Peroxyl radicals are capable of abstracting a hydrogen atom from other fatty acids and giving rise to a chain reaction forming lipid hydroperoxides in cell membranes, tissues, and body fluids (Fig. 2).

These reactions are not limited only to the site of free radical generation, but can also occur at sites far removed from the initial location due to the



FIG. 2. Phases of lipid peroxidation. Used with permission from Young and McEnemy [231].

ability of peroxyl radicals to travel through the bloodstream. Here, a single initial free radical reaction can result in the formation of numerous lipoperoxides until all of the membrane fatty acids are completely oxidized to hydroperoxides or the reaction is terminated either by an antioxidant chain breaker or by two free radicals meeting and nullifying each other. Lipid peroxidation changes cell membrane fluidity and increases membrane permeability, often represented by the leakage of various intracellular proteins into the circulation (e.g., creatine kinase, lactate dehydrogenase).

Three phases of lipid peroxidation have been described and are as follows: initiation, propagation, and termination [64]. The initiation phase involves the removal of one or more hydrogen atoms from the polyunsaturated fatty acid, resulting in the formation of conjugated dienes. In the propagation phase, the carbon-centered fatty acid radicals combine with molecular oxygen, yielding the highly reactive peroxyl radicals that are capable of producing new fatty acid radicals, resulting in the radical chain reaction. Here, the peroxyl radicals themselves are converted to stable termination phase products, the lipid hydroperoxides. These lipid hydroperoxides appear stable under physiological conditions until they come into contact with transition metals such as iron and copper, which cause decomposition, producing different reactive molecules that can further promote the chain reaction (Fig. 2).

The overall process of lipid peroxidation may result in the accumulation of a wide variety of by-products, including hydrocarbon gases (e.g., pentane, ethane) and aldehydes. Some of these by-products are thought to accumulate in cells, giving rise to the so-called "age-related pigment" or lipofuscin [33]. With extensive damage, normal physiological function may be impaired (i.e., loss of membrane fluidity, increased membrane permeability with loss of cytosolic proteins and alteration in enzyme function), and in extreme cases lead to cell death. Indeed, lipid peroxidation is thought to play an important role in the etiology of many pathological conditions, such as cancer, atherosclerosis, and possibly other degenerative diseases.

There are several approaches to assess lipid peroxidation, including the oxidation susceptibility of body fluids [or isolated lipid fragments such as low-density lipoprotein (LDL)] *in vitro* by using oxidizing agents such as transition metals as initiators of lipid peroxidation, as well as the measurement of oxidation products formed *in vivo*. Assessment of the latter has included the study of conjugated dienes, lipid hydroperoxides (LOOH), thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS), and an assessment of one of the major aldehydes, the 3-carbon chain malondialdehyde (MDA). Although the assay for TBARS is widely used, it lacks specificity, as it measures aldehyde breakdown products of some (e.g., MDA) but not all lipid hydroperoxides, as well as reacts with saturated and unsaturated

nonfunctional aldehydes. For this reason, measurement of F_2 -isoprostanes, a prostaglandin-like compound generated *in vivo* by nonenzymatic peroxidation of arachidonic acid, is now considered a more reliable marker of lipid peroxidation.

While it is well accepted that RONS promote oxidation of lipids following acute exercise, far less attention has focused on RONS-mediated protein oxidation. This may be because proteins undergo constant turnover within the human body, and any damage due to RONS would not result in any significant accumulation of modified protein structures. However, more attention has been given recently to the study of proteins in relation to exercise-induced oxidative stress, with investigations demonstrating significant oxidative damage to proteins, often measured by the presence of carbonyl derivatives.

RONS can react directly with proteins or they can generate secondary products, which may react with proteins, by first reacting with molecules such as lipids or sugars. When exposed to oxidant species in the presence of transition metal ions, either the protein side chain or the peptide bond may be oxidized. Aromatic and sulfhydryl-containing residues are particularly susceptible to oxidation [65]. Specifically, cysteine residues are prone to a range of oxidative modifications, including S-glutathiolation [66]. Reactions may involve specific alterations such as the conversion of phenylalanine residues to o-tyrosine and of tyrosine to dityrosine, or more global modifications resulting in the formation of carbonyl derivatives. Such changes may lead to loss of catalytic, contractile, or structural function in the affected proteins and making them susceptible to proteolytic degradation [67]. Further, the susceptibility to oxidation may be protein specific, such that certain proteins are more likely to undergo oxidation than others. In the exercise science literature, protein carbonyl content is the most widely used marker of oxidative modification to proteins, perhaps because it appears to provide an overall assessment of the burden borne on the cell as a consequence of oxidative stress.

Oxidation of DNA usually involves damage to single bases, with different modifications observed depending on the RONS interacting with the DNA. It has been proposed that there may be, on average, 10³ oxidant-mediated damaging events upon the DNA of each cell in the human body per day [32]. Damage may occur to both mitochondrial and nuclear DNA, and may involve DNA strand breaks as well as oxidative base modifications. In the study of exercise-induced oxidative stress, the most commonly used technique in recent years is the measurement of 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-OHdG) formation, which has been assessed in muscle and organ tissue, urine, serum, and isolated leukocytes. Because 8-OHdG is not a normal intermediate in nucleotide metabolism, its presence is used to indicate

oxidative DNA damage. While only a small percentage ($\sim 10\%$) of total oxidative DNA damage is represented by 8-OHdG, it has a high potential for mutagenesis, is frequently found in tumor-related genes, and has elevated concentrations associated with various physiological diseases and disorders, in particular, both aging and cancer [68].

In relation to the above discussion, it should be remembered that when assessing and evaluating biological systems, any particular assay procedure is merely capturing a "snapshot" of what is occurring at that particular time. That is, it is quite possible that when taking a single sample following an acute bout of exercise, the generation of RONS and associated oxidation to macromolecules could be "missed," either by taking the sample too late or by not waiting long enough for secondary generation of RONS and associated oxidation (assuming this is the case). Therefore, it is best to take repeated samples following a bout of exercise, possibly for several hours or days into recovery when the exercise is extreme and believed to induce muscle injury. Such a time course analysis allows for better representation of the oxidative status of the system.

Further, as clearly expressed in recent reviews on the subject [2, 69–71], no one assay can accurately represent the entire process of oxidation within cells. This is underscored by investigations demonstrating an increase in certain biomarkers, no changes in others, and sometimes a decrease in others. As such, it is best to include assays specific to oxidation of several macro-molecules (e.g., protein, lipids, DNA). In this way, a better understanding of the overall oxidative stress can be obtained, as the status of some macro-molecules may be altered while others may not be.

3.5. PROTECTIVE MECHANISMS AGAINST RONS

While RONS are constantly generated in cells and increase with physical exertion, their production does not necessarily lead to cellular modification and degradation. This is because there exist numerous defenses either to minimize RONS formation or to neutralize their damaging effects once formed. These may be categorized as follows: antioxidant enzymes, antioxidant scavengers and miscellaneous antioxidant compounds, and metal-binding proteins. Some of the most prevalent and well described are presented in the following sections and in Table 3.

3.5.1. Antioxidant Enzymes

The discovery of SOD by McCord and Fridovich [72] fueled the acceptance that free radicals are important in biological systems. In regards to SOD, three primary forms are known to exist: a cytosolic copper-zinc enzyme (Cu-ZnSOD), a mitochondrial enzyme requiring manganese (MnSOD), and

RICHARD J. BLOOMER

Major antioxidant enzymes	Nonenzymatic antioxidant	Metal-binding proteins
Superoxide dismutase	Vitamin A (retinol)	Hemoglobin
Cu-ZnSOD	Vitamin C (ascorbate)	Myoglobin
MnSOD	Vitamin E (tocopherol)	Ceruloplasmin
Extracellular SOD	Carnitine	Ferritin
Glutathione peroxidase (selenium)	Coenzyme Q_{10}	Lactoferrinact
Catalase	Thiols	Metallotheionein
Glutathione reductase	Uric acid	Transferrin
Glutathione S-transferase	Bilirubin	
	Carotenoids (beta-carotene, lycopene, etc.)	
	Flavonoids (quercetin, catechin, etc.)	
	Lipoic acid	
	N-Acetyl-cysteine	
	Resveratrol	
	Selenium	

TABLE 3 Antioxidant Defense Mechanisms

an extracellular SOD (EC-SOD). These enzymes act to catalyze the conversion of superoxide to hydrogen peroxide as follows:

 $O_2^{\bullet-} + 2H^+ \rightarrow H_2O_2$

As mentioned previously, while hydrogen peroxide itself is not considered a radical, nor is it highly toxic, when in the presence of various transition metal ions such as copper and iron, it has the ability to convert to the highly reactive hydroxyl radical (via the Fenton reaction).

The enzymes glutathione peroxidase (GPx) and catalase (CAT) function to inactivate much of the hydrogen peroxide before reacting with the transition metals in both the cytosol and in intracellular organelles (i.e., peroxisomes), respectively. Specifically, GPx, a selenium-dependent and selenium-independent enzyme, in the presence of GSH catalyzes the conversion of both organic peroxides and hydrogen peroxide to water and GSSG as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} & \text{ROOH} + 2\text{GSH} \rightarrow \text{GSSG} + \text{ROO} \\ & \text{H}_2\text{O}_2 + 2\text{GSH} \rightarrow \text{GSSG} + 2\text{H}_2\text{O} \end{aligned}$$

In a similar manner, CAT converts hydrogen peroxide to water and oxygen as follows:

$$2H_2O_2 \rightarrow 2H_2O + O_2$$

In relation to GPx and the formation of GSSG, the enzyme glutathione reductase (GR) catalyzes the reaction to regenerate GSH using NADPH as the hydrogen donor as follows:

$$GSSG + 2NADPH \rightarrow 2GSH + 2NADP^+$$

Here, the production of NADPH is coupled with glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PDH) as follows:

 $Glucose-6 - phosphate + NADP^+ \rightarrow 6 Phosphogluconate + NADPH$

The enzyme glutathione S-transferase (GST) acts to catalyze the reaction between the –SH group of GSH and possible alkylating agents, allowing GSH to carry out its detoxifying functions.

3.5.2. Nonenzymatic Antioxidants

Aside from antioxidant enzymes that provide protection against RONS attack, humans are equipped with various natural free radical scavengers/ chain breakers. Most notably may be the class of organic sulfur derivatives known as thiols, which have numerous functions, including a pivotal role in coordinating the antioxidant defense system by acting as reducing agents [73].

Glutathione is the major nonenzymatic nonprotein thiol in cellular systems, representing approximately 50% of total thiols [73] and typically existing primarily in the reduced form (GSH). However, when donating its hydrogen, as in the protective conversion of hydrogen peroxide to water, GSH can be transformed into oxidized glutathione (GSSG). This oxidized form of glutathione can be reduced back to GSH by the action of glutathione reductase in the presence of NADPH or NADH, or may be released into extracellular compartments.

Investigators have routinely measured whole blood glutathione concentrations as a marker of oxidative stress within biological systems, as this appears one of the most reliable indices of exercise-induced oxidant production [74]. Since less than 1% of total blood glutathione (TGSH) is found in plasma [75], glutathione status is often assessed in whole blood. This can be accomplished by measuring separately, both TGSH and GSSG, and mathematically computing GSH.

In addition, dietary intake supplies further antioxidants in the form of vitamins (e.g., A, C, E), minerals (e.g., selenium, zinc), carotenoids (e.g., beta-carotene), flavonoids, and phenols. The vast supply of antioxidants in the form of dietary constituents remains to be elucidated, as does the precise amount necessary to yield optimal health and physiological functioning. This is especially true for exercise-trained individuals, as their own endogenous

antioxidant defense mechanisms are generally upregulated as a training adaptation [76]. Despite upregulation of the defense system, the body's antioxidant capacity is not sufficient to totally prevent exercise-induced oxidative stress. Therefore, it is possible that even elite athletes could benefit from antioxidant supplementation, a question that remains open for debate.

Many of these antioxidants function together to provide cellular protection *in vivo*. For example, during lipid peroxidation, tocopherol (vitamin E) functions as a potent chain-breaking antioxidant, intercepting lipid peroxyl radicals (LOO[•]), and forming a vitamin E radical as a product. Ascorbate (vitamin C) acts to regenerate vitamin E by accepting the electron from the vitamin E radical, with the vitamin C radical (dehydroascorbate) being formed, and either excreted in the urine or regenerated to vitamin C via electron donation from GSH (Fig. 3). It should be noted that both vitamin E and C function to scavenge superoxide radical and hydroxyl radical in the lipid and aqueous phases, respectively, inhibiting lipid peroxidation and oxidative damage to other macromolecules.

In addition to the protection that is afforded through antioxidant enzymes and scavengers, other important natural mechanisms are available to aid in the prevention of free radical formation. Certain minerals such as selenium, copper, and zinc play important roles in the support of other antioxidant systems, specifically, GPx and Cu-ZnSOD, respectively. The vitamin A precursor beta-carotene has important properties as an antioxidant, functioning mainly to suppress singlet oxygen. Various flavonoids can function as quenchers of singlet oxygen, hydrogen donators (i.e., chain-breaking antioxidants), and reducing agents. In addition, metal-binding proteins that are bound to transition metals, preventing them from reacting with peroxides to generate radicals via both Fenton and Haber-Weiss reactions, can serve as antioxidant agents, perhaps indirectly. The antioxidant pathways may be complimented by the synthesis of heat shock proteins, stress proteins that function to repair and maintain protein folding [77]. In the above ways, antioxidant agents help to support physiological functioning by either reducing the amount of free radical formation or by attenuating the progression of RONS attack and damage to cell structures.



FIG. 3. Interaction of antioxidants in redox cycling.

EXERCISE AND OXIDATIVE STRESS

3.5.3. Exercise-Induced Alterations in Antioxidant Defense

Some health benefits of regular exercise stem from upregulation of antioxidant defenses, likely coupled with decreased RONS formation [76, 78–80], which is often associated with decreased oxidative stress at rest and following acute exercise. For adaptations to occur, exercise needs to be of high enough volume and intensity to cause acute elevations in RONS production, as detailed earlier [2, 45]. In other words, a "sublethal" amount of oxidative stress is needed for such positive adaptations. Seemingly, the adaptations result from the cumulative effect of repeated exercise bouts and exposure to RONS. It should be mentioned that although antioxidant defenses may be increased as a result of chronic exercise training, oxidative stress following acute bouts of submaximal exercise is typically not eliminated, but rather reduced.

For specific information related to changes in the endogenous antioxidant defense system resulting from chronic exercise training, the reader is referred to the several excellent reviews pertaining to this topic [76, 78–80]. Although more studies have focused on adaptations resulting from aerobic exercise, evidence exists following both aerobic and anaerobic training interventions. The adaptations are not limited to blood and skeletal muscle, but also often apply to organ tissue. In fact, a significant emphasis has been placed on exercise-induced cardioprotection [80], which appears associated with enhanced antioxidant defense and decreased RONS formation.

As with biomarkers of oxidative stress, there exist several biomarkers/ assays representing antioxidant status. These include the common enzymatic and nonenzymatic antioxidants as presented in Table 3, which are often measured in a variety of tissues and blood. In addition, because of the wide array of antioxidant components present in blood and the difficulty in measuring each component separately, several methods have been developed to assess the "total" antioxidant capacity of blood. These include the Trolox equivalent antioxidant capacity (TEAC) assay (which is primarily influenced by urate), the oxygen radical absorbance capacity (ORAC) assay, the ferricreducing ability of plasma (FRAP) assay, and the total radical-trapping antioxidant parameter (TRAP) assay. Of these, ORAC and FRAP appear to correlate well, although TEAC does not correlate with either ORAC or FRAP, and may underestimate antioxidant capacity [81]. Therefore, observations derived from these measurements should be viewed with caution.

While these assays have been used in the exercise science field and have been extensively evaluated, there is no one assay considered to be "ideal" at the present time [82] and hence, no uniform use of these assays exists across studies. The majority of investigations have noted an increase in blood antioxidant status using these assays, although the magnitude of increase has varied across studies. Discrepancies may be largely due to the use of
different assay procedures and the difficulty in comparing results across studies in which different procedures have been used. Therefore, as with the biomarkers of oxidative stress, it has suggested that multiple assays of antioxidant status be included to best characterize the system [83].

4. Exercise and Oxidative Stress

Based on evidence presented in more than 300 original investigations over the past 30 years, it is clear that exercise of sufficient intensity and duration increases the formation of RONS, creating an imbalance between oxidant and antioxidant levels, which promotes an increase in oxidative stress biomarkers. Specifically, oxidative stress increases in both an intensity- and duration-dependent manner.

In one of the early studies on exercise-induced oxidative stress, Lovlin *et al.* [84] reported an increase in MDA in subjects immediately following a graded exercise test to exhaustion, while exercise at 70% of maximal oxygen consumption (VO_{2max}) and lower percentages demonstrated no increase in this biomarker. Leaf *et al.* [85] measured expired ethane and pentane as markers of lipid peroxidation while subjects performed a graded exercise test to exhaustion. While values were elevated above rest at approximately 60%VO_{2max}, they continued to rise and were greatest at the end of the test, indicating an intensity-dependent response. More recent evidence supports these findings in that exercise intensity plays a major role in postexercise oxidative stress [86]. Collectively, these data demonstrate an intensity-dependent response, at least in regards to lipid peroxidation induced by primarily aerobic exercise.

In support of the data in exercising humans, animal studies have shown that while forced exercise can significantly increase the level of macromolecule oxidation [87], likely due to the maintenance of high-intensity work, voluntary exercise performed at low intensities results in either no change or only a minimal effect on oxidative stress biomarkers [88]. These findings reinforce the idea that exercise needs to be of sufficient intensity to result in accumulation of RONS and subsequent oxidative stress. However, in opposition to the above findings, one recent study employing resistance exercise (squats) noted an increase in MDA, which occurred independent of exercise intensity [89]. It is likely that the oxidative stress response to exercise is mode dependent, as reported earlier [90].

As for exercise duration, only one study to date [91] has directly compared oxidative stress (measured by protein carbonyls) in response to different exercise durations (i.e., 30, 60, and 120 min). In this investigation it was shown that protein oxidation increased following steady state, fixed load cycling exercise, and did so as a function of exercise duration (Fig. 4).



FIG. 4. Plasma protein carbonyls collapsed over eight men and seven women before and following 30, 60, and 120 min of cycling at 70%VO_{2 peak} (mean ± SEM). * Protein carbonyl concentration greater than pre-exercise (p < 0.05). ** Protein carbonyl concentration greater at all times postexercise for the 120-min condition compared to the 30- and 60-min conditions (p < 0.05); no difference between the 30- and 60-min conditions at any time postexercise (p > 0.05). Used with permission from Bloomer *et al.* [91].

Moreover, the response was similar for both men and women. Other studies measuring oxidative stress following marathon and ultramarathon competitions have shown elevations in certain biomarkers that appear to exceed the rise in similar biomarkers following shorter duration (e.g., 30-60 min) exercise bouts. For example, both Okamura *et al.* [92] and Poulsen *et al.* [93] reported that excessive aerobic exercise (30 ± 3 km/day for 8 days and 10 hours/day for 30 days, respectively) significantly increased urinary 8-OHdG levels during the training period to a greater extent than is observed following shorter duration exercise bouts.

While not all investigations have reported an increased oxidative stress following acute exercise, most have noted an increase in certain biomarkers during the acute (minutes to hours) postexercise period, with some exercise bouts (e.g., extreme duration and intensity aerobic, resistance exercise involving muscle injury) leading to longer lasting changes in oxidative stress biomarkers. The extent of oxidation of these molecules varies across studies and is likely due to factors such as the type, intensity, volume, and duration of exercise; the exercise training and nutritional status of the research subjects; the time course of sample collection; the tissue being investigated (e.g., blood, urine, muscle); and the various assays employed as part of the research design.

Another consideration related to exercise-induced oxidative stress is the use of antioxidant supplements, which has resulted in mixed findings in both humans and animals. The reader is referred to the following review articles on this topic as pertaining to both aerobic [94–96] and anaerobic [97] exercise for further information. Although several antioxidants have been used within research designs, those that are most prevalent are vitamins C and E. Potential explanations for the mixed findings include differences in the type, dosage, timing, and route of administration of the antioxidants; the training status of the research subjects/animals (e.g., exercise trained vs untrained); as well as the baseline antioxidant status of the research subjects/animals. While antioxidant pretreatment has shown to be beneficial at attenuating exerciseinduced oxidative stress in several investigations, more work is needed in this area before specific recommendations can be made with any degree of confidence regarding precise antioxidant treatment regimens for this purpose. Moreover, due to the important role of RONS in regulating several aspects of physiology, it should be questioned as to whether attenuation/ elimination of the oxidative stress response to exercise is beneficial. That is, it is likely that the acute rise in oxidative stress following exercise is an important biological signal to allow for upregulation in endogenous antioxidant defense [79].

It should be noted that while numerous studies have indeed shown elevations in oxidative stress biomarkers following acute bouts of exercise, due to the complexity of the exercise (e.g., involvement of multiple organ systems as well as skeletal muscle), changes observed in such biomarkers may reflect RONS formation in any number of tissues, and likely represent a variety of mechanisms acting synergistically to produce RONS. Similarly, the generation of RONS in these systems/tissues may be associated with several factors including increased oxygen flux through the mitochondrial electron transport chain, mechanical stresses, ischemia-reperfusion conditions (in particular in inactive skeletal muscle and organ tissue, which are deprived of blood flow during strenuous exercise), changes in blood-borne variables, in addition to other factors discussed in Section 3.3.1. Indeed, aerobic and anaerobic exercise modes rely on different metabolic pathways for ATP production, and have the ability to induce multiple distinct changes within biological systems. Moreover, the metabolic and mechanical stresses involved in aerobic and anaerobic exercise of differing mode, intensity, volume, duration, and contraction type (e.g., eccentric vs concentric) may dictate alterations in oxidative status. Therefore, the oxidative stress response to these distinct forms of exercise is likely variable. To this author's knowledge, only one study has compared oxidative stress following these two forms of exercise matched for exercise time using a crossover design [90], and noted a similar or greater increase in oxidative stress biomarkers following anaerobic compared to aerobic exercise. Another recent investigation matched aerobic exercise with climbing (intermittent isometric exercise) performed at the same percentage of VO_{2max} and noted greater oxidative stress following climbing exercise [98]. A few studies have compared aerobic and anaerobic exercise modes in humans [99-100] or animals [101] performing one mode or the other and noted similar changes in oxidative stress biomarkers in humans, and a greater increase in animals following anaerobic exercise. These studies suggest that anaerobic exercise can induce oxidative stress to an extent that parallels, if not exceeds, that seen with aerobic exercise. The relative paucity of data in relation to direct comparisons of exercise modes, in particular matched for duration, intensity, and muscle mass recruited, merits further attention. As mentioned earlier, with few exceptions, human studies of oxidative stress following exercise have measured biomarkers in blood and urine exclusively. In these studies, it is unknown whether changes in skeletal muscle or organ tissue oxidative stress correlate. Therefore, failure to note increased blood or urine oxidative stress does not necessarily indicate that oxidative stress did not occur elsewhere.

One final aspect that deserves consideration is RONS generation when participating in outdoor exercise events, during which time exposure to certain air pollutants may exacerbate RONS formation and hence exerciseinduced oxidative stress [102], as increased ventilation carries more pollutants into the respiratory tract. The following text discusses both aerobic and anaerobic exercise bouts in relation to oxidative stress biomarkers.

4.1. Aerobic Exercise

While participation in regular aerobic exercise (e.g., walking, running, cycling) has been shown to be beneficial at reducing both morbidity and mortality rates, it is also known that aerobic exercise of sufficient intensity (i.e., generally $>70\%VO_{2max}$) and duration (i.e., >30 min) can impose a state of oxidative stress. The production of RONS during and following aerobic exercise may be primarily associated with the increase in oxygen uptake, although other pathways as described in Fig. 1 are certainly involved [4], in particular when the exercise involves high-force downhill running, as this activity may induce a significant amount of muscle injury.

Several excellent reviews have been published in reference to aerobic exercise-induced oxidative stress [45, 69, 71, 103]. As with anaerobic exercise, as discussed in Section 4.2, studies have included a variety of exercise modes, intensities, and durations. Some protocols have been performed in the

laboratory, while others have involved outdoor races (i.e., field studies) such as marathons, ultramarathons, triathlons, and cycling events. The following sections provide a general overview of the findings in regard to aerobic exercise-induced oxidative stress.

4.1.1. Moderate Duration Laboratory Studies: Downhill Running Protocols

Although running exercise is considered to be aerobic, the use of highforce eccentric muscle actions, as necessary during downhill running, may involve RONS generation mediated through muscle injury pathways such as trauma, inflammation, and a disruption in calcium homeostasis. Therefore, the oxidative stress experienced with these protocols has the potential to persist for hours to days following the exercise bout [104]. Lipid peroxidation has been the target of most studies in this area involving humans. However, animal studies have also noted increased protein oxidation as measured by carbonyls [105], and DNA oxidation as measured by 8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine in white blood cells [106] following downhill running protocols.

In one early human investigation, Maughan et al. [104] found that TBARS was elevated following 45 min of downhill running, with a peak value observed at 6 hours postexercise and a return to baseline by 72 hours postexercise. Meydani et al. [107] noted increased urinary TBARS adducts for up to 12 days following a 45-min downhill treadmill run. Other work has demonstrated a long-lived (i.e., 24-72 hours) elevation in isoprostanes in both young (26 ± 3 years) and old (71 ± 4 years) subjects following downhill running [108]. More recently, it was reported that lipid hydroperoxides were increased immediately following downhill running, with values returning to baseline at the 24-hour measurement [109]. Other work opposes these findings, indicating no change in MDA or conjugated dienes [110] or GSSG [111] following downhill running. However, despite no change in GSSG in the study by Camus et al. [111], ascorbic acid was decreased significantly and myeloperoxidase (a marker of polymorphonuclear neutrophil activity) was increased following the exercise. It is possible that the oxidant stress associated with some protocols is insufficient to alter certain oxidative stress biomarkers. It also needs to be considered that differences in blood, skeletal muscle, and organ tissue oxidative stress may be present [105].

4.1.2. Moderate Duration Laboratory Studies: Noneccentric Biased Protocols

Unlike downhill running, laboratory protocols using traditional walking, jogging, and cycling exercise do not involve a great deal of high-force eccentric muscle actions and are not thought to cause any significant amount

of muscle injury. Investigations in this area are numerous and have generally resulted in increased lipid [112–118], protein [91, 119–123], and glutathione [90, 117, 121, 124–130] oxidation in a variety of tissues (e.g., skeletal muscle, cardiac, liver), as well as in both blood and urine. However, with few exceptions [115, 122], studies have failed to note an increase in DNA oxidation following moderate duration aerobic exercise [59, 130–134]. It is possible that longer duration, higher intensity exercise is needed to promote DNA oxidation, as shown in Section 4.1.3.

The findings of increased oxidative stress following moderate duration aerobic exercise bouts are well documented for humans, as indicated above, as well as for animals involved in treadmill walking/running [135–147] and swimming [118, 148–149]. In much of the animal work, investigators have noted increased MDA [118, 139] and TBARS [150], protein carbonyls [105] and 8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine [151] in skeletal muscle [105, 118, 147, 151], heart [118], liver [139], and kidney [150].

In regards to moderate duration aerobic exercise studies, the oxidative stress response in most cases is transient, and values return toward baseline within minutes following exercise in most investigations. A recent study highlights this nicely, reporting that several oxidative stress biomarkers are altered during the 20 min following graded exercise, but return to basal values by 30-min postexercise [152]. Our data for protein carbonyls following different exercise durations, as presented in Fig. 4, show this trend [91]. We have noted similar findings for MDA and glutathione status following 30 min of aerobic cycling [90].

Taken together, the data indicate that oxidative stress as measured by lipid, protein, and glutathione oxidation can increase following moderate duration aerobic exercise, with a rapid return toward basal levels following the cessation of the exercise stimulus. The short-lived rise may be due to increased catabolism, excretion, or redistribution throughout the body, in addition to activation of redox reactions (e.g., conversion of oxidized to reduced glutathione via glutathione reductase).

4.1.3. Long Duration Field Studies

As with other forms of aerobic exercise, the performance of single bouts of long duration trials, such as marathon running (26.2 miles), distance cycling, triathlons, and other long duration sporting events, has resulted in increased oxidative stress. This has been demonstrated repeatedly for lipids [92, 153–158], DNA [92–93, 159–161], and glutathione [162]. The time course of such increases in oxidative stress biomarkers extends beyond the acute postexercise period, as reports of increased oxidized macromolecules exist for periods through 1 week of recovery [161]. These findings are interesting in that despite subjects' training status and ability to perform relatively high-intensity

exercise bouts for long periods of time, signs of oxidative stress are still evident. This suggests that regardless of their high level of training, likely heightened endogenous antioxidant defense system of subjects is not adequate to provide complete protection against exercise-induced oxidation. In contrast to the above findings, a few studies have noted no significant change in oxidative stress biomarkers following long duration aerobic exercise events [163–165], with some authors reporting a slight decrease from pre- to postexercise [166–167].

4.1.4. Summary of Aerobic Exercise

As outlined above, several forms of aerobic exercise can induce an acute state of oxidative stress, as evidenced by increased biomarkers of lipid, protein, DNA, and glutathione oxidation in a variety of tissues and body fluids. When the exercise session includes exaggerated eccentric muscle actions and/or involves excessive duration, the oxidative stress can persist for several hours to days following exercise cessation. It is likely that further RONS production in response to localized or systemic injury and stress may be responsible for the longer lived oxidative stress observed in these conditions.

4.2. Anaerobic Exercise

As with aerobic exercise training, the performance of anaerobic exercise (e.g., resistance training, sprinting, jumping), an activity that does not require oxygen to fuel muscular work, is associated with multiple health benefits including favorable effects on muscular strength and endurance, body composition, cardiovascular functioning, metabolism, and psychological well-being [168]. However, as with the performance of acute bouts of aerobic training, this form of exercise has also been shown to increase oxidative stress, as reviewed in detail previously [2]. The production of RONS during and following anaerobic exercise is possible through a number of pathways as described in Fig. 1: in addition to a potential depletion of glycolytic substrates, an accumulation of substrates that generates oxidants, and a decrease in endogenous antioxidant defense. Unlike aerobic exercise studies for which more than 250 published articles exist, studies related to anaerobic exercise-induced oxidative stress are far less. Therefore, a more comprehensive overview is possible here.

4.2.1. Dynamic (Eccentric/Concentric) Resistance Exercise

Dynamic resistance exercise involving both concentric (shortening) and eccentric (lengthening) muscle actions is the most commonly performed type of anaerobic exercise by the population at large. This type of exercise primarily utilizes free weight barbells/dumbbells and weight machines. While concentric muscle actions require a greater energy cost compared to eccentric actions [169], eccentric actions are principally responsible for inducing muscle injury, as described earlier in detail [170]. Performed together, concentric and eccentric muscle actions can generate RONS via several pathways, as described in Fig. 1.

While more work has been done in recent years investigating oxidative stress resulting from acute bouts of dynamic resistance exercise, only a small number of studies currently exist in the literature, and many have measured lipid peroxidation exclusively. McBride *et al.* [171] were the first to demonstrate that a full-body protocol of dynamic resistance exercise increases oxidative stress during the postexercise period, as measured by blood MDA. Several other investigators have reported increased lipid peroxidation following an acute bout of dynamic resistance exercise [55, 89, 172–175]. Others have reported no change in lipid peroxidation following dynamic resistance exercise [59, 90, 120, 155, 176].

A few investigators have measured protein oxidation following dynamic resistance exercise in both blood [59, 90, 120] and skeletal muscle [177]. In all of these studies, protein carbonyls were used as the biomarker of oxidative stress. Bloomer *et al.* [90] first reported that protein carbonyls are increased following dynamic resistance exercise. These investigators noted a rise in protein carbonyls immediately postexercise, with a more robust rise observed at 24-hours postexercise. These data indicate that RONS production may have been further increased at times several hours postexercise, possibly mediated by alterations in calcium homeostasis, as well as increased neutrophilia [86, 111], both of which are contributors to RONS production and which coincide with muscle injury. In support of this hypothesis, subjects reported extreme muscle soreness during the 24-hour period following the exercise protocol (30 min of dumbbell squats using 70% of one-repetition maximum), a sign suggestive of muscle injury.

Aside from lipid and protein oxidation, DNA oxidation has been measured following dynamic resistance exercise in two investigations [90, 120]. In both of these studies, no change in DNA oxidation, as measured by serum 8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine, was noted. It is possible that DNA is better protected against oxidative stress than lipids and proteins, perhaps due to the ability of DNA to undergo rapid repair once oxidized. For example, Radak *et al.* [178] reported that a single bout of exercise can increase the activity of human 8-oxoG DNA glycosylase, a DNA repair enzyme that functions to curb the elevation in 8-OHdG. Greater exercise volume and intensity, coupled with more frequent sampling (as opposed to isolated samples taken immediately or 24-hours postexercise), may be necessary to observe significant changes in 8-OHdG following this form of exercise.

Finally, xanthine oxidase activity has been reported to increase in one investigation using dynamic resistance exercise [175]. It is possible that increased xanthine oxidase activity could lead to an increased production of superoxide. Although to this author's knowledge, this has yet to be shown in reference to dynamic resistance exercise.

4.2.2. Eccentric Resistance Exercise

Because high-force eccentric muscle actions have the potential to induce significant muscle injury, in particular in subjects who are unaccustomed to such actions [170], several investigators have used eccentric muscle actions exclusively, as a form of anaerobic exercise to induce oxidative stress. The chosen exercise in these studies has often involved single joint movements (e.g., elbow or knee flexion or extension) in which a major burden has been placed on the exercised muscle(s) in an attempt to induce significant trauma. Moreover, in most studies, test subjects have been nonresistance trained (i.e., unconditioned to such extreme muscle activity), making the degree of insult that much more intense. Although few studies have directly compared the oxidative stress response to exercise in trained and untrained subjects, greater lipid peroxidation has been noted in untrained compared to trained men following exercise [114, 173, 179]. It is possible that such findings are related to a greater antioxidant capacity in trained subjects [114].

As described earlier and depicted in Fig. 1, RONS generation can often occur during the hours or days following an acute bout of exercise in which a significant degree of muscle damage has occurred. Here, production of RONS may be related more to inflammatory processes and imbalances in muscle calcium homeostasis than to changes occurring during the acute exercise period.

As with dynamic resistance exercise, only a small number of investigations have been published using an eccentric exercise model to study exerciseinduced oxidative stress, with mixed results. Saxton *et al.* [180] were the first to study oxidative stress in relation to isolated eccentric and concentric muscle actions. Subjects performed both eccentric and concentric actions with their elbow flexors, as well as with their knee extensors (using different limbs for the different muscle actions) for study of lipid and protein oxidation. Both blood (following the arm protocols) and muscle (following the leg protocols) samples were taken at rest and for up to 10 and 2 days postexercise, respectively. Only a slight change was noted for both TBARS and conjugated dienes following the arm protocols, with no change noted for MDA in muscle. However, protein carbonyls were increased in muscle immediately following concentric activity, with no change noted for eccentric exercise. These findings suggest that concentric actions, which require a greater amount of energy to perform and which may involve transient periods of ischemia/reperfusion, can increase protein oxidation in muscle to a greater extent than eccentric actions, which have a relatively low metabolic cost.

Lipid peroxidation biomarkers were increased following eccentric exercise in studies measuring MDA [181], lipid hydroperoxides, and isoprostanes [182]. Other investigators have reported no change in either blood [183-184] or muscle MDA [185] following high-force eccentric muscle actions. It is tempting to suggest that the findings of no significant increase in lipid peroxidation following eccentric exercise in these studies is due to an inefficient training stimulus (i.e., too low volume and intensity) and/or use of well-trained test subjects who are better adapted to handle the insult. However, comparison across studies does not indicate this to be the case. In fact, Lenn et al. [184] had subjects perform 50 maximal eccentric actions using the elbow flexors, Child et al. [183] used 70 maximal eccentric actions of the knee extensors, while Hellsten et al. [185] used 25 min of one-legged eccentric cycling. Moreover, there is no indication in any of these studies that subjects were conditioned to exercise training. It is possible that the very small sample sizes used in these investigations (7-8 subjects) resulted in an inability to detect measurable changes in lipid peroxidation biomarkers. Also, differences in the assay techniques employed across the various studies could be responsible for the mixed results.

Aside from lipid peroxidation, blood protein carbonyls have been reported to be elevated following eccentric resistance exercise [181, 186], with the peak rise in this biomarker occurring from 24- to 48-hours postexercise. Oxidized glutathione has also been reported to increase within the first 2 hours following eccentric exercise [181], as well as at both 4 and 24 hours following eccentric exercise [187]. Lee and Clarkson [188] reported an increase in plasma total glutathione through 120 hours following 50 maximal eccentric muscle actions using the elbow flexors. However, the increase was only observed in subjects with low plasma total glutathione at baseline (<2.5 μ M), while subjects with values greater than 3.8 μ M demonstrated no change. Finally, DNA oxidation as measured by 8-OHdG was shown to be increased in skeletal muscle following 200 eccentric repetitions using the knee extensors [189]. The increase in 8-OHdG was related to an increase in muscle tissue nitric oxide production, providing evidence that oxidant production in the form of nitric oxide can promote oxidation of DNA. Unlike studies using dynamic resistance exercise, as discussed in Section 4.2.1, in which no changes in 8-OHdG were noted, the study by Radak et al. [189] used an extreme volume of exercise (200 eccentric repetitions) and untrained women. It is possible that such an insult, induced in untrained subjects, is necessary to produce measurable DNA oxidation.

4.2.3. Isometric Exercise

A few studies have used isometric muscle actions (no movement) as a method to induce oxidative stress, utilizing primarily handgrip exercise. The earliest report comes from Sahlin et al. [190] who had subjects perform intermittent knee extension exercise (10 s on, 10 s off) at 30% maximal voluntary contraction for 80 min or until exhaustion was reached. Blood samples and biopsies of the quadriceps muscle were taken before exercise and at 20-min intervals for the entire duration of the exercise session (e.g., 20, 40, 60, 80 min) and analyzed for MDA and glutathione status. No changes were noted for variables in either blood or muscle, with the exception of an increase in total glutathione in blood (greatest at 80 min). However, considering that the exercise intensity was relatively low, it is possible that the stimulus for RONS production was too weak, leading to no measurable change in the biomarkers studied. More recently, Sahlin et al. [191] reported that isometric knee extension exercise performed at a higher intensity (five sets to exhaustion using 66% of maximal voluntary force) failed to increase blood TBARS levels, but induced mitochondrial dysfunction in the affected skeletal muscle tissue.

Other studies using isometric handgrip exercise have noted increased lipid peroxidation as measured by lipid hydroperoxides [119], MDA [192], and TBARS [193], while others have noted no change in TBARS [60]. Protein oxidation has only been measured following isometric exercise in one study to date [119] and found to be increased immediately postexercise, returning to basal values by 1-hour postexercise.

Changes in oxidative stress biomarkers following isometric exercise have been transient, and likely due to increased metabolic demand, increased ATP requirements, production of lactate, and acute periods of ischemia followed by reperfusion. No studies have systematically investigated these factors in relation to oxidant production from isometric exercise. While only one of the above investigations extended measurements beyond 60-min postexercise [191], it is doubtful that a longer time course of study would provide differing results, as isometric exercise likely does not induce significant muscle injury resulting in delayed increases in RONS and oxidative stress. The short-lived rise in certain oxidative stress biomarkers following isometric exercise is characterized well in the study by Rodriguez *et al.* [192] in which MDA was elevated immediately and 1-min postisometric handgrip exercise, but returned to basal levels by 3-min postexercise.

4.2.4. Sprint and Jump Exercise

Two final forms of anaerobic exercise studied in relation to oxidative stress are sprint and jump exercise. While only one study has used multiple jumps to induce oxidative stress [194], noting no change in MDA in either blood or muscle, others have used cycle [57, 59, 120, 195, 196], running [100, 197–199], and swim [99] sprints.

Lipid peroxidation has been shown to increase in blood following sprint exercise in some [100, 196, 198] but not all studies [57, 59, 120]. As with other forms of anaerobic exercise, inconsistencies in findings may be related to the overall volume and intensity of exercise, in addition to variance in the assays used. Inal *et al.* [99], while not studying lipid peroxidation, noted a decrease in whole blood glutathione following a 100-m swim sprint, suggesting increased oxidative stress.

Protein oxidation has only been measured in two investigations involving sprinting [59, 120], with an increase noted in one of these investigations [120]. Two studies have measured DNA oxidation following sprinting [120, 197], with only that of Schiffl *et al.* [197] noting an increase. In this study, subjects performed two exhaustive sprints in which blood samples were taken before exercise and for the 2 days postexercise. The number of micronuclei in 3000 binucleated blood lymphocytes was assessed as a marker of DNA damage, and noted to be increased above basal levels at both 24 and 48 hours postexercise.

Aside from human investigations using sprint exercise, a few animal studies have been conducted. Alessio and Goldfarb [101] were the first to report increased TBARS and lipid hydroperoxides in rat skeletal muscle immediately following a 1-min sprint performed at 45 m/min, suggesting that a minimal volume of sprint exercise can increase lipid peroxidation in skeletal muscle. Increased skeletal muscle (but not liver) TBARS was also noted in mice following 15 sprints at 35 m/min for 30 s [200], suggesting a tissue-specific response. Protein oxidation has also been reported in the lungs of rats following sprint exercise [201].

4.2.5. Sports Play

Although the majority of studies have used controlled laboratory experiments to investigate exercise-induced oxidative stress (especially with regards to anaerobic exercise), a few studies have focused on sports play, involving predominantly anaerobic work. In relation to acute bouts of play, MDA and protein carbonyls were noted to increase in trained climbers following a climb to exhaustion [98], representing a combination of isometric and dynamic exercise. Increased markers of lipid peroxidation have been noted following single games of American profession football (total lipid peroxides and the titer of autoantibodies against oxidized LDL [31]) and rugby (conjugated dienes and TBARS [179]). In a recent study, Ascensao *et al.* [202] reported an increase in MDA and protein carbonyls in professional motocross athletes following a simulated competitive motocross race. Although not in relation to an acute exercise bout, Schroder *et al.* [58] noted no change in MDA in professional basketball players following an 8- to 10-day period of training with sessions lasting approximately 90 min. In opposition to these findings, Schippinger *et al.* [31] noted an increase in total peroxides in professional football players during the course of the 5-month competitive season.

4.2.6. Summary of Anaerobic Exercise

Based on the available evidence, although results are somewhat mixed, it appears that anaerobic exercise, whether involving mixed concentriceccentric muscle actions (involving both resistance exercise and sprinting), eccentric only muscle actions, or isometric muscle actions can induce oxidative stress, as measured primarily by lipid, protein, and DNA oxidation. This is the case in several tissues, as the presence of modified macromolecules has been noted in skeletal muscle, blood, and lung tissue. The exercise intensity, the time of postexercise sample collection, the muscles of action (e.g., quadriceps compared to forearms), as well as the site of blood sampling/tissue extraction in relation to the active musculature all may have a role in the explanation of findings. Because such a wide variety of research designs have been used, specific conclusions regarding the exact extent and location (e.g., blood, skeletal muscle) of oxidative macromolecule damage following anaerobic exercise are difficult to compose at the present time. Additional study is needed in this area before answers to these questions can be accurately provided.

4.3. Gender Differences in Exercise-Induced Oxidative Stress

Estrogen appears involved in the upregulation of longevity-associated genes [203] and has antioxidant properties in vitro [204]; hence, may provide protection against RONS production. Therefore, it has been suggested that women may be better protected from oxidant attack and experience less exercise-induced oxidative stress compared to men [205, 206]. However, both animal and human studies have failed to support this notion. For example, an acute bout of exercise performed by male and female rats resulted in significant but equal tissue oxidative stress in both genders, as indicated by tissue glutathione status [207]. Ginsburg et al. [208] found that women were actually more susceptible to lipid peroxidation than men following completion of an Ironman triathlon, and Kaikkonen et al. [209] reported no gender difference in exercise-induced oxidative stress in response to a 42-km run. We have recently reported that protein carbonyls are increased in a similar manner for both men and women following three different duration exercise bouts (30, 60, and 120 min) performed at 70% VO_{2max}[91]. Our most recent work indicates that while women have higher resting blood glutathione and vitamin E levels compared to men, protein,

lipid, and glutathione oxidation increase to a similar extent for both men and women following exercise [210]. Moreover, it has been reported that women with higher estrogen levels (those taking oral contraceptives) demonstrated a delayed strength recovery following the performance of a bout of eccentric muscle actions compared to women not using estrogen [211]. While not measuring oxidative stress markers in this investigation, these data fail to support the hypothesis that estrogen is protective against muscle-related injury, which may be associated with RONS production. Related to this, we have noted typical values for resting and exercise-induced oxidative stress biomarkers in women using oral contraceptives [59, 181], and no differences in resting and exercise-induced oxidative stress biomarkers in women during both the follicular and luteal phases of the menstrual cycle, despite differences in estradiol [212]. Moreover, it has been recently reported that menstrual cycle status has no influence on LDL oxidizability [213]. Therefore, based on the available evidence, it appears that no differences exist between genders or between women either using or not using exogenous estrogen, in regards to exercise-induced oxidative stress. Despite this, due to the possibility that estrogen may provide in vivo antioxidant protection, many studies of exerciseinduced oxidative stress have chosen to use men exclusively as subjects.

4.4. Exercise-Induced Oxidative Stress in Aging and Diseased Populations

While aging alone is associated with increased oxidative stress [22], acute exercise may lead to age-dependent increases in oxidative stress biomarkers. This has been noted previously by Navarro-Arevalo and Sanchez-del-Pino [214] who reported a greater increase in skeletal muscle TBARS following exhaustive treadmill exercise in older (24–27 months) compared to younger (3-5 months) rats. As expected, basal TBARS levels were also higher in older rats. In support of these findings, Bejma and Ji [135] reported greater RONS production (measured by the oxidation rate of dichlorofluorescin, DCFH) both at rest and following exhaustive treadmill exercise in skeletal muscle of older female rats (24 months) compared to younger rats (8 months). However, these investigators noted a similar increase in MDA and no increase in protein carbonyls in younger and older animals following exercise. In a recent human study, Sacheck et al. [108] reported a similar increase in isoprostanes in younger (26.4 ± 3.3 years) and older (71.1 ± 4.0 years) men following a downhill run for 45 min at 75%VO_{2max}. MDA increased in older men immediately postexercise, with no increase noted in younger men. Leukocyte 8-OHdG was unaltered in either group; however, older men had higher basal levels compared to younger men. Taken together, the above data indicate that age may impact the oxidative stress response to

acute exercise. As with diseased conditions, it appears that elevations in basal levels of oxidative stress biomarkers are often associated with an exacerbation in exercise-induced oxidative stress biomarkers; however, this may be biomarker specific, highlighting the need for inclusion of multiple biomarkers within the study design.

Although some studies have focused on age-related differences in exerciseinduced oxidative stress, it should be noted that most studies have focused on younger, healthy subjects. In particular, those who can withstand the extreme intensity and duration of many of the exercise protocols, as well as the potential for extreme discomfort and muscle injury that is often associated with such protocols. However, due to the likely role of RONS in a variety of disease conditions, as well as the prevalence of regular exercise as a method of treating many diseases, investigators have begun to study exerciseinduced alterations (both acute and chronic) in oxidative stress with respect to disease, in particular conditions related to cardiovascular disease (e.g., obesity, diabetes). The majority of these studies have used aerobic exercise.

Exercise-induced oxidative stress has been the focus of four investigations in which obese patients have been used as subjects [215–218]. In the first investigation of its kind, obese subjects were reported to experience an exacerbation in postexercise lipid peroxidation, following both acute resistance and aerobic exercise [215]. These findings were supported in a similar investigation using obese postmenopausal women [216]. In follow-up studies it was shown that obese patients experience an exaggerated increase in lipid peroxidation compared to nonobese controls in response to exercise, and that the increase can be attenuated with the use of antioxidant (800 IU vitamin E, 500 mg vitamin C, 10 mg beta-carotene) supplementation [217] and 6 months of resistance training [218]. These last two studies provide evidence that both antioxidant supplementation and regular resistance training exercise can attenuate the rise in oxidative stress following acute bouts of physical work.

Patients with cardiovascular disease [219–221] and diabetes [222–224] have also been the focus of study in this area. It was reported that MDA levels were higher at rest and following a symptom-limited exercise test in patients with hypercholesterolemia [219] and heart failure [221], while no change in MDA was noted following similar testing in heart transplant recipients [220]. It is possible that the training status of the heart transplant recipients (endurance training 3 hours/week) allowed for an upregulation in antioxidant defense, minimizing lipid peroxidation to exercise. This is underscored by findings indicating that exercise training can decrease susceptibility to oxidative stress in patients with coronary artery disease [225] and increase gene expression for key antioxidant enzymes in patients with chronic heart failure [226]. Although not considered a disease, but rather an activity that may promote disease, cigarette smoking exacerbates RONS formation and presents a significant oxidant stress *in vivo* [227]. It is well documented that cigarette smokers have elevated biomarkers of oxidative stress compared to nonsmokers at rest [228], which may represent a potential mechanistic link between cigarette smoking and cardiovascular disease [229]. The increased oxidative stress observed in smokers is due in part to both increased oxidant production by the cigarette smoke [230], as well as the lower blood antioxidant capacity routinely observed in smokers [227]. It is plausible that the addition of other RONS generators can further promote oxidative stress in cigarette smokers. Related to the discussion of exercise and oxidative stress, we have recently reported an exacerbation in exercise-induced oxidative stress in cigarette smokers compared to nonsmokers [131].

Aside from the above conditions, diabetes has been the focus of other work. Two studies have investigated exercise-induced oxidative stress in type 1 diabetics, with similar increases observed for TBARS and GSSG compared to healthy control subjects [223], as well as for lipid peroxidation and radical generation following exercise [222]. In contrast, sedentary type 2 diabetics demonstrated an increase in TBARS following a graded exercise test as compared to active type 2 diabetics and healthy controls [224], suggesting again that regular physical activity can attenuate exercise-induced oxidative stress, even in those subjects with known disease. Findings such as these may be the basis for future intervention studies using exercise as a method of increasing endogenous antioxidant protection and decreasing oxidant production, in an attempt to possibly influence disease onset and progression.

4.5. Summary of Exercise and Oxidative Stress

From the early work of Dillard *et al.* in 1978, several investigators have reported increased oxidative stress following acute bouts of strenuous physical exercise. While not apparent in all studies, these findings have been reported for both aerobic and anaerobic exercise. The degree of change in oxidative stress and antioxidant status biomarkers is dependent on a number of factors related to the actual exercise itself, the subject population, as well as the analytical procedures used in testing the outcome measures. It should be understood that many analytical procedures, although routinely employed, have not been extensively validated. As such, different laboratories may use widely diverse procedures to measure the same biomarker, often resulting in a high degree of variance from one laboratory to another. Indeed, this lack of validation could be responsible for differences in findings across studies.

Because cellular status is constantly changing and involves an array of regulatory systems, inclusive of changes in both the generation and handling of RONS, caution should be used when drawing conclusions from studies in which elevations in isolated oxidative stress biomarkers, in isolated tissues, have been reported. Moreover, although RONS are often viewed in a negative manner, production that does not exceed some unknown threshold appears necessary for several important biological processes, as discussed in Section 3.1. Perhaps most applicable to the theme of this chapter is the upregulation of endogenous antioxidant defense as a result of acute RONS production. Increased antioxidant defense may be one additional mechanism allowing for improvements in health, possibly having implications related to minimizing both the initiation and progression of certain diseases. This is certainly an exciting area for future research—the use of regular exercise as a method of enhancing health and possibly minimizing disease via upregulation of antioxidant defense. While it is possible that elevations in RONS in response to acute exercise may suggest a detrimental response within cells, the long-term biological significance of such acute changes has yet to be determined. Only more extensive, longitudinal research studies will provide information related to whether these acute changes in oxidative status should be viewed as positive, or whether such changes will manifest in biological maladaptations leading to ill-health and impaired physical functioning.

References

- Dillard CJ, Litov RE, Savin WM, Dumelin EE, Tappel AL. Effects of exercise, vitamin E, and ozone on pulmonary function and lipid peroxidation. J Appl Physiol 1978; 45(6):927–932.
- [2] Bloomer RJ, Goldfarb AH. Anaerobic exercise and oxidative stress: A review. Can J Appl Physiol 2004; 29(3):245–263.
- [3] Halliwell B, Cross CE. Oxygen-derived species: Their relation to human disease and environmental stress. Environ Health Perspect 1994; 102(Suppl 10):5–12.
- [4] Jackson MJ, Pye D, Palomero J. The production of reactive oxygen and nitrogen species by skeletal muscle. J Appl Physiol 2007; 102(4):1664–1670.
- [5] Valko M, Leibfritz D, Moncol J, Cronin MT, Mazur M, Telser J. Free radicals and antioxidants in normal physiological functions and human disease. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2007; 39(1):44–84.
- [6] Tsimikas S. Oxidative biomarkers in the diagnosis and prognosis of cardiovascular disease. Am J Cardiol 2006; 98(11A):9P–17P.
- [7] Baynes JW, Thorpe SR. Role of oxidative stress in diabetic complications: A new perspective on an old paradigm. Diabetes 1999; 48(1):1–9.
- [8] Wu JH, Ward NC, Indrawan AP, Almeida CA, Hodgson JM, Proudfoot JM, et al. Effects of alpha-tocopherol and mixed tocopherol supplementation on markers of oxidative stress and inflammation in type 2 diabetes. Clin Chem 2007; 53(3):511–519.
- [9] Plantinga Y, Ghiadoni L, Magagna A, Giannarelli C, Franzoni F, Taddei S, et al. Supplementation with vitamins C and E improves arterial stiffness and endothelial function in essential hypertensive patients. Am J Hypertens 2007; 20(4):392–397.

- [10] Bauersachs J, Fleming I, Fraccarollo D, Busse R, Ertl G. Prevention of endothelial dysfunction in heart failure by vitamin E: Attenuation of vascular superoxide anion formation and increase in soluble guanylyl cyclase expression. Cardiovasc Res 2001; 51 (2):344–350.
- [11] Mosca L, Rubenfire M, Mandel C, Rock C, Tarshis T, Tsai A, et al. Antioxidant nutrient supplementation reduces the susceptibility of low density lipoprotein to oxidation in patients with coronary artery disease. J Am Coll Cardiol 1997; 30(2):392–399.
- [12] Dalle-Donne I, Rossi R, Colombo R, Giustarini D, Milzani A. Biomarkers of oxidative damage in human disease. Clin Chem 2006; 52(4):601–623.
- [13] Chisolm GM, Steinberg D. The oxidative modification hypothesis of atherogenesis: An overview. Free Radic Biol Med 2000; 28(12):1815–1826.
- [14] Maiese K, Morhan SD, Chong ZZ. Oxidative stress biology and cell injury during type 1 and type 2 diabetes mellitus. Curr Neurovasc Res 2007; 4(1):63–71.
- [15] Halliwell B. Oxidative stress and cancer: Have we moved forward? Biochem J 2007; 401(1):1–11.
- [16] MacNee W. Oxidants and COPD. Curr Drug Targets Inflamm Allergy 2005; 4(6):627-641.
- [17] Halliwell B. Oxidative stress and neurodegeneration: Where are we now? J Neurochem 2006; 97(6):1634–1658.
- [18] Humphries KM, Szweda PA, Szweda LI. Aging: A shift from redox regulation to oxidative damage. Free Radic Res 2006; 40(12):1239–1243.
- [19] Haddad JJ. Antioxidant and prooxidant mechanisms in the regulation of redox(y)-sensitive transcription factors. Cell Signal 2002; 14(11):879–897.
- [20] Liu H, Colavitti R, Rovira II, Finkel T. Redox-dependent transcriptional regulation. Circ Res 2005; 97(10):967–974.
- [21] Fialkow L, Wang Y, Downey GP. Reactive oxygen and nitrogen species as signaling molecules regulating neutrophil function. Free Radic Biol Med 2007; 42(2):153–164.
- [22] Lee HC, Wei YH. Oxidative stress, mitochondrial DNA mutation, and apoptosis in aging. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 2007; 232(5):592–606.
- [23] Reid MB. Nitric oxide, reactive oxygen species, and skeletal muscle contraction. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2001; 33(3):371–376.
- [24] Liu DF, Wang D, Stracher A. The accessibility of the thiol groups on G- and F-actin of rabbit muscle. Biochem J 1990; 266(2):453–459.
- [25] Goldhaber JI, Qayyum MS. Oxygen free radicals and excitation-contraction coupling. Antioxid Redox Signal 2000; 2(1):55–64.
- [26] Haycock JW, Jones P, Harris JB, Mantle D. Differential susceptibility of human skeletal muscle proteins to free radical induced oxidative damage: A histochemical, immunocytochemical and electron microscopical study *in vitro*. Acta Neuropathol 1996; 92 (4):331–340.
- [27] Scherer NM, Deamer DW. Oxidative stress impairs the function of sarcoplasmic reticulum by oxidation of sulfhydryl groups in the Ca2+ -ATPase. Arch Biochem Biophys 1986; 246 (2):589–601.
- [28] Salama G, Menshikova EV, Abramson JJ. Molecular interaction between nitric oxide and ryanodine receptors of skeletal and cardiac sarcoplasmic reticulum. Antioxid Redox Signal 2000; 2(1):5–16.
- [29] Palazzetti S, Richard MJ, Favier A, Margaritis I. Overloaded training increases exerciseinduced oxidative stress and damage. Can J Appl Physiol 2003; 28(4):588–604.
- [30] Zoppi CC, Macedo DV. Overreaching-induced oxidative stress, enhanced HSP72 expression, antioxidant and oxidative enzymes downregulation. Scand J Med Sci Sports 2007; [Epub ahead of print].
- [31] Schippinger G, Wonisch W, Abuja PM, Fankhauser F, Winklhofer-Roob BM, Halwachs G. Lipid peroxidation and antioxidant status in professional American football players during competition. Eur J Clin Invest 2002; 32(9):686–692.

- [32] Halliwell B, Gutteridge JMC. Free Radicals in Biology and Medicine, 2nd New York: Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, 1989.
- [33] Knight JA. Free Radicals, Antioxidants, Aging, and Disease. Washington, DC: American Association for Clinical Chemistry Press, 1999.
- [34] Nohl H. Generation of superoxide radicals as byproducts of cellular respiration. Ann Biol Clin 1994; 52:199–204.
- [35] Giulivi C. Functional implications of nitric oxide produced by mitochondria in mitochondrial metabolism. Biochem J 1998; 332(Pt 3):673–679.
- [36] Di Meo S, Venditti P. Mitochondria in exercise-induced oxidative stress. Biol Signals Recept 2001; 10(1–2):125–140.
- [37] Bailey DM, Davies B, Davison GW, Young IS. Free radical damage at high-altitude; isolating the source and implications for the pathophysiology of acute mountain sickness. News Int Soc Mount Med 2000; 10:3–13.
- [38] Jackson MJ. Exercise and oxygen radical production by muscle. In: Sen CK, Packer L, Hanninen O, editors. Handbook of Oxidants and Antioxidants in Exercise. Amsterdam: Elsevier Science, 2000: 57–68.
- [39] Demopoulos HB, Santomier LM, Seligman, Hogan PI, Pietronigro DD. Free radical pathology: Rationale and toxicology of antioxidants and other supplements in sports medicine and exercise science. In: Katch FJ, editors. Sport, Health and Nutrition. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics, 1986: 189.
- [40] Wallace WJ, Houtchens RA, Maxwell JC, Caughey WS. Mechanism of autooxidation for hemoglobins and myoglobins. Promotion of superoxide production by protons and anions. J Biol Chem 1982; 257(9):4966–4977.
- [41] Brantley RE, Smerdon SJ, Wilkinson AJ, Singleton EW, Olson JS. The mechanism of autooxidation of myoglobin. J Biol Chem 1993; 268(10):6995–7010.
- [42] Goldfarb AH. Nutritional antioxidants as therapeutic and preventive modalities in exercise-induced muscle damage. Can J Appl Physiol 1999; 24(3):249–266.
- [43] Halliwell B. Oxygen radicals: A commonsense look at their nature and medical importance. Med Biol 1984; 62:71–77.
- [44] Coyle CH, Martinez LJ, Coleman MC, Spitz DR, Weintraub NL, Kader KN. Mechanisms of H2O2-induced oxidative stress in endothelial cells. Free Radic Biol Med 2006; 40 (12):2206–2213.
- [45] Radak Z, Taylor AW, Ohno H, Goto S. Adaptation to exercise-induced oxidative stress: From muscle to brain. Exerc Immun Rev 2001; 7:90–107.
- [46] Halliwell B. Reactive oxygen species in living systems. Am J Med 1991; 91:14S–19S.
- [47] Matsuo M, Kaneko T. The chemistry of reactive oxygen species and related free radicals. In: Radak Z, editors. Free Radicals in Exercise and Aging, 2000: 1–33.
- [48] Ebadi M, Sharma S. Metallothioneins 1 and 2 attenuate peroxynitrite-induced oxidative stress in Parkinson disease. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 2006; 231(9):1576–1583.
- [49] Good PF, Werner P, Hsu A, Olanow CW, Perl DP. Evidence of neuronal oxidative damage in Alzheimer's disease. Am J Pathol 1996; 149(1):21–28.
- [50] Redondo-Horcajo M, Lamas S. Oxidative and nitrosative stress in kidney disease: A case for cyclosporine A. J Nephrol 2005; 18(4):453–457.
- [51] Kaur H, Halliwell B. Evidence for nitric oxide-mediated oxidative damage in chronic inflammation. Nitrotyrosine in serum and synovial fluid from rheumatoid patients. FEBS Lett 1994; 350(1):9–12.
- [52] Kamat JP. Peroxynitrite: A potent oxidizing and nitrating agent. Indian J Exp Biol 2006; 44(6):436–447.
- [53] Ashton T, Rowlands CC, Jones E, Young IS, Jackson SK, Davies B, et al. Electron spin resonance spectroscopic detection of oxygen-centred radicals in human serum following exhaustive exercise. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 1998; 77(6):498–502.

- [54] Ashton T, Young IS, Peters JR, Jones E, Jackson SK, Davies B, et al. Electron spin resonance spectroscopy, exercise, and oxidative stress: An ascorbic acid intervention study. J Appl Physiol 1999; 87(6):2032–2036.
- [55] Bailey DM, Young IS, McEneny J, Lawrenson L, Kim J, Barden J, et al. Regulation of free radical outflow from an isolated muscle bed in exercising humans. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol 2004; 287(4):H1689–H1699.
- [56] Davies KJ, Quintanilha AT, Brooks GA, Packer L. Free radicals and tissue damage produced by exercise. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1982; 107(4):1198–1205.
- [57] Groussard C, Rannou-Bekono F, Machefer G, Chevanne M, Vincent S, Sergent O, et al. Changes in blood lipid peroxidation markers and antioxidants after a single sprint anaerobic exercise. Eur J Appl Physiol 2003; 89(1):14–20.
- [58] Schroder H, Navarro E, Mora J, Galiano D, Tramullas A. Effects of alpha-tocopherol, beta-carotene and ascorbic acid on oxidative, hormonal and enzymatic exercise stress markers in habitual training activity of professional basketball players. Eur J Nutr 2001; 40(4):178–184.
- [59] Bloomer RJ, Goldfarb AH, Mckenzie MJ. Oxidative stress response to aerobic exercise: Comparison of antioxidant supplements. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2006; 38(6):1098–1105.
- [60] Dousset E, Steinberg JG, Faucher M, Jammes Y. Acute hypoxemia does not increase the oxidative stress in resting and contracting muscle in humans. Free Radic Res 2002; 36 (6):701–704.
- [61] Kawai Y, Shimomitsu T, Takanami Y, Murase N, Katsumura T, Maruyama C. Vitamin E level changes in serum and red blood cells due to acute exhaustive exercise in collegiate women. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol (Tokyo) 2000; 46(3):119–124.
- [62] Rimbach G, Hohler D, Fischer A, Roy S, Virgili F, Pallauf J, et al. Methods to assess free radicals and oxidative stress in biological systems. Arch Tierernahr 1999; 52(3):203–222.
- [63] Alessio HM. Lipid peroxidation in healthy and diseased models: Influence of different types of exercise. In: Sen CK, Packer L, Hanninen O, editors. Handbook of Oxidants and Antioxidants in Exercise. Amsterdam: Elsevier Science, 2000: 115–127.
- [64] Sevanian A, Ursini F. Lipid peroxidation in membranes and low-density lipoproteins: Similarities and differences. Free Radic Biol Med 2000; 29(3–4):306–311.
- [65] Griffiths HR. Antioxidants and protein oxidation. Free Radic Res 2000; 33(Suppl): S47–S58.
- [66] Eaton P, Shattock MJ. Purification of proteins susceptible to oxidation at cysteine residues: Identification of malate dehydrogenase as a target for S-glutathiolation. Ann NY Acad Sci 2002; 973:529–532.
- [67] Levine RL, Stadtman ER. Oxidative modification of proteins during aging. Exper Geront 2001; 36:1495–1502.
- [68] Lodovici M, Casalini C, Cariaggi R, Michelucci L, Dolara P. Levels of 8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine as a marker of DNA damage in human leukocytes. Free Radic Biol. Med 2000; 28(1):13–17.
- [69] Finaud J, Lac G, Filaire E. Oxidative stress: Relationship with exercise and training. Sports Med 2006; 36(4):327–358.
- [70] Jenkins RR. Exercise and oxidative stress methodology: A critique. Am J Clin Nutr 2000; 72:670S–674S.
- [71] Vollaard NB, Shearman JP, Cooper CE. Exercise-induced oxidative stress:myths, realities and physiological relevance. Sports Med 2005; 35(12):1045–1062.
- [72] McCord JM, Fridovich I. Superoxide dismutase. An enzymic function for erythrocuprein (hemocuprein). J Biol Chem 1969; 244(22):6049–6055.
- [73] Sen CK, Packer L. Thiol homeostasis and supplements in physical exercise. Am J Clin Nutr 2000; 72:6538–669S.

- [74] Sen CK. Update on thiol status and supplements in physical exercise. Can J Appl Physiol 2001; 26:S4–S12.
- [75] Michelet F, Gueguen R, Leroy P, Wellman M, Nicolas A, Siest G. Blood and plasma glutathione measured in healthy subjects by HPLC: Relation to sex, aging, biological variables, and life habits. Clin Chem 1995; 41(10):1509–1517.
- [76] Powers SK, Ji LL, Leeuwenburgh C. Exercise training-induced alterations in skeletal muscle antioxidant capacity: A brief review. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1999; 31(7):987–997.
- [77] Smolka MB, Zoppi CC, Alves AA, Silveira LR, Marangoi S, Pereira-Da-Silva L, et al. HSP72 as a complimentary protection against oxidative stress induced by exercise in the soleus muscle of rats. Am J Physiol 2000; 279:R1539–R1545.
- [78] Ji LL. Exercise-induced modulation of antioxidant defense. Ann NY Acad Sci 2002; 959:82–92.
- [79] Ji LL, Gomez-Cabrera MC, Vina J. Exercise and hormesis: Activation of cellular antioxidant signaling pathway. Ann NY Acad Sci 2006; 1067:425–435.
- [80] Powers SK, Lennon SL, Quindry J, Mehta JL. Exercise and cardioprotection. Curr Opin Cardiol 2002; 17(5):495–502.
- [81] Wang CC, Chu CY, Chu KO, Choy KW, Khaw KS, Rogers MS, et al. Trolox-equivalent antioxidant capacity assay versus oxygen radical absorbance capacity assay in plasma. Clin Chem 2004; 50(5):952–954.
- [82] Cao G, Prior RL. Comparison of different analytical methods for assessing total antioxidant capacity of human serum. Clin Chem 1998; 44(6 Pt 1):1309–1315.
- [83] Schlesier K, Harwat M, Böhm V, Bitsch R. Assessment of antioxidant activity by using different *in vitro* methods. Free Radic Res 2002; 36(2):177–187.
- [84] Lovlin R, Cottle W, Pyke I, Kavanagh M, Belcastro AN. Are indices of free radical damage related to exercise intensity. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 1987; 56 (3):313–316.
- [85] Leaf DA, Kleinman MT, Hamilton M, Barstow TJ. The effect of exercise intensity on lipid peroxidation. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1997; 29(8):1036–1039.
- [86] Quindry JC, Stone WL, King J, Broeder CE. The effects of acute exercise on neutrophils and plasma oxidative stress. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2003; 35(7):1139–1145.
- [87] Asami S, Hirano T, Yamaguchi R, Tsurudome Y, Itoh H, Kasai H. Effects of forced and spontaneous exercise on 8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine levels in rat organs. Biochem Biophys Res Comm 1998; 243:678–682.
- [88] Selman C, McLaren JS, Collins AR, Speakman JR. Voluntary exercise has only limited effects on activity of antioxidant enzymes and does not cause oxidative damage in a small mammal. J Nutr 2002; 132:1784S–1786S.
- [89] Hoffman JR, Im J, Kang J, Maresh CM, Kraemer WJ, French D, et al. Comparison of low- and high-intensity resistance exercise on lipid peroxidation: Role of muscle oxygenation. J Strength Cond Res 2007; 21(1):118–122.
- [90] Bloomer RJ, Goldfarb AH, Wideman L, McKenzie MJ, Consitt LA. Effects of acute aerobic and anaerobic exercise on blood markers of oxidative stress. J Strength Cond Res 2005; 19(2):276–285.
- [91] Bloomer RJ, Davis PG, Consitt LA, Wideman L. Plasma protein carbonyl response to increasing exercise duration in aerobically trained men and women. Int J Sports Med 2007; 28(1):21–25.
- [92] Okamura K, Doi T, Hamada K, Sakurai M, Yoshioka Y, Mitsuzono R, et al. Effect of repeated exercise on urinary 8-hydroxy-deoxyguanosine excretion in humans. Free Radic Res 1997; 26(6):507–514.
- [93] Poulsen HE, Loft S, Vistisen K. Extreme exercise and oxidative DNA modification. J Sports Sci 1996; 14(4):343–346.

- [94] Atalay M, Lappalainen J, Sen CK. Dietary antioxidants for the athlete. Curr Sports Med Rep 2006; 5(4):182–186.
- [95] Powers SK, DeRuisseau KC, Quindry J, Hamilton KL. Dietary antioxidants and exercise. J Sports Sci 2004; 22(1):81–94.
- [96] Urso ML, Clarkson PM. Oxidative stress, exercise, and antioxidant supplementation. Toxicology 2003; 189(1–2):41–54.
- [97] Bloomer RJ. The role of nutritional supplements in the prevention and treatment of resistance exercise-induced skeletal muscle injury. Sports Med 2007; 37(6):519–532.
- [98] Magalhaes J, Ferreira R, Marques F, Olivera E, Soares J, Ascensao A. Indoor climbing elicits plasma oxidative stress. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2007; 39(6):955–963.
- [99] Inal M, Akyuz F, Turgut A, Getsfrid WM. Effect of aerobic and anaerobic metabolism on free radical generation swimmers. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2001; 33(4):564–567.
- [100] Marzatico F, Pansarasa O, Bertorelli L, Somenzini L, Della Valle G. Blood free radical antioxidant enzymes and lipid peroxides following long-distance and lactacidemic performances in highly trained aerobic and sprint athletes. J Sports Med Phys Fitness 1997; 37 (4):235–239.
- [101] Alessio HM, Goldfarb AH. Lipid peroxidation and scavenger enzymes during exercise: Adaptive response to training. J Appl Physiol 1988; 64(4):1333–1336.
- [102] O'Neill CA, van der Vliet A, Eiserich JP, Last JA, Halliwell B, Cross CE. Oxidative damage by ozone and nitrogen dioxide: Synergistic toxicity *in vivo* but no evidence of synergistic oxidative damage in an extracellular fluid. Biochem Soc Symp 1995; 61:139–152.
- [103] Konig D, Wagner KH, Elmadfa I, Berg A. Exercise and oxidative stress: Significance of antioxidants with reference to inflammatory, muscular, and systemic stress. Exerc Immunol Rev 2001; 7:108–133.
- [104] Maughan RJ, Donnelly AE, Gleeson M, Whiting PH, Walker KA, Clough PJ. Delayedonset muscle damage and lipid peroxidation in man after a downhill run. Muscle Nerve 1989; 12(4):332–336.
- [105] You T, Goldfarb AH, Bloomer RJ, Nguyen L, Sha X, McKenzie MJ. Oxidative stress response in normal and antioxidant supplemented rats to a downhill run: Changes in blood and skeletal muscles. Can J Appl Physiol 2005; 30(6):677–689.
- [106] Umegaki K, Daohua P, Sugisawa A, Kimura M, Higuchi M. Influence of one bout of vigorous exercise on ascorbic acid in plasma and oxidative damage to DNA in blood cells and muscle in untrained rats. J Nutr Biochem 2000; 11(7–8):401–407.
- [107] Meydani M, Evans WJ, Handelman G, Biddle L, Fielding RA, Meydani SN, et al. Protective effect of vitamin E on exercise-induced oxidative damage in young and older adults. Am J Physiol 1993; 264(5 Pt 2):R992–R998.
- [108] Sacheck JM, Milbury PE, Cannon JG, Roubenoff R, Blumberg JB. Effect of vitamin E and eccentric exercise on selected biomarkers of oxidative stress in young and elderly men. Free Radic Biol Med 2003; 34(12):1575–1588.
- [109] Kingsley MI, Kilduff LP, McEneny J, Dietzig RE, Benton D. Phosphatidylserine supplementation and recovery following downhill running. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2006; 38 (9):1617–1625.
- [110] Sacheck JM, Decker EA, Clarkson PM. The effect of diet on vitamin E intake and oxidative stress in response to acute exercise in female athletes. Eur J Appl Physiol 2000; 83(1):40–46.
- [111] Camus G, Felekidis A, Pincemail J, Deby-Dupont G, Deby C, Juchmes-Ferir A, et al. Blood levels of reduced/oxidized glutathione and plasma concentration of ascorbic acid during eccentric and concentric exercises of similar energy cost. Arch Int Physiol Biochim Biophys 1994; 102(1):67–70.

- [112] Alessio HM, Goldfarb AH, Cao G. Exercise-induced oxidative stress before and after vitamin C supplementation. Int J Sport Nutr 1997; 7(1):1–9.
- [113] Davison G, Gleeson M, Phillips S. Antioxidant supplementation and immunoendocrine responses to prolonged exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2007; 39(4):645–652.
- [114] Fatouros IG, Jamurtas AZ, Villiotou V, Pouliopoulou S, Fotinakis P, Taxildaris K, et al. Oxidative stress responses in older men during endurance training and detraining. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2004; 36(12):2065–2072.
- [115] Goto C, Higashi Y, Kimura M, Noma K, Hara K, Nakagawa K, et al. Effect of different intensities of exercise on endothelium-dependent vasodilation in humans: Role of endothelium-dependent nitric oxide and oxidative stress. Circulation 2003; 108(5): 530–535.
- [116] Kanter MM, Nolte LA, Holloszy JO. Effects of an antioxidant vitamin mixture on lipid peroxidation at rest and postexercise. J Appl Physiol 1993; 74(2):965–969.
- [117] Laaksonen DE, Atalay M, Niskanen L, Uusitupa M, Hanninen O, Sen CK. Blood glutathione homeostasis as a determinant of resting and exercise-induced oxidative stress in young men. Redox Rep 1999; 4(1–2):53–59.
- [118] Rajguru SU, Yeargans GS, Seidler NW. Exercise causes oxidative damage to rat skeletal muscle microsomes while increasing cellular sulfhydryls. Life Sci 1994; 54(3):149–157.
- [119] Alessio HM, Hagerman AE, Fulkerson BK, Ambrose J, Rice RE, Wiley RL. Generation of reactive oxygen species after exhaustive aerobic and isometric exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2000; 32(9):1576–1581.
- [120] Bloomer RJ, Fry AC, Falvo MJ, Moore CA. Protein carbonyls are acutely elevated following single set anaerobic exercise in resistance trained men. J Sci Med Sport 2007; 10(6):411–417.
- [121] Goldfarb AH, Patrick SW, Bryer S, You T. Vitamin C supplementation affects oxidativestress blood markers in response to a 30-minute run at 75% VO2max. Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab 2005; 15(3):279–290.
- [122] Orhan H, van Holland B, Krab B, Moeken J, Vermeulen NP, Hollander P, et al. Evaluation of a multi-parameter biomarker set for oxidative damage in man: Increased urinary excretion of lipid, protein and DNA oxidation products after one hour of exercise. Free Radic Res 2004; 38(12):1269–1279.
- [123] Sen CK, Roy S, Han D, Packer L. Regulation of cellular thiols in human lymphocytes by alpha-lipoic acid: A flow cytometric analysis. Free Radic Biol Med 1997; 22(7):1241–1257.
- [124] Elokda AS, Shields RK, Nielsen DH. Effects of a maximal graded exercise test on glutathione as a marker of acute oxidative stress. J Cardiopulm Rehabil 2005; 25(4): 215–219.
- [125] Gohil K, Viguie C, Stanley WC, Brooks GA, Packer L. Blood glutathione oxidation during human exercise. J Appl Physiol 1988; 64(1):115–119.
- [126] Inayama T, Oka J, Kashiba M, Saito M, Higuchi M, Umegaki K, et al. Moderate physical exercise induces the oxidation of human blood protein thiols. Life Sci 2002; 70(17): 2039–2046.
- [127] Sastre J, Asensi M, Gasco E, Pallardo FV, Ferrero JA, Furukawa T, et al. Exhaustive physical exercise causes oxidation of glutathione status in blood: Prevention by antioxidant administration. Am J Physiol 1992; 263(5 Pt 2):R992–R995.
- [128] Sen CK, Rankinen T, Vaisanen S, Rauramaa R. Oxidative stress after human exercise: Effect of N-acetylcysteine supplementation. J Appl Physiol 1994; 76(6):2570–2577.
- [129] Tauler P, Sureda A, Cases N, Aguilo A, Rodriguez-Marroyo JA, Villa G, et al. Increased lymphocyte antioxidant defences in response to exhaustive exercise do not prevent oxidative damage. J Nutr Biochem 2006; 17(10):665–671.

- [130] Viguie CA, Frei B, Shigenaga MK, Ames BN, Packer L, Brooks GA. Antioxidant status and indexes of oxidative stress during consecutive days of exercise. J Appl Physiol 1993; 75 (2):566–572.
- [131] Bloomer RJ, Creasy AK, Smith WA. Physical work-induced oxidative stress is exacerbated in young cigarette smokers. Nicotine Tob Res 2007; 9(2):205–211.
- [132] Sumida S, Okamura K, Doi T, Sakurai M, Yoshioka Y, Sugawa-Katayama Y. No influence of a single bout of exercise on urinary excretion of 8-hydroxy-deoxyguanosine in humans. Biochem Mol Biol Int 1997; 42(3):601–609.
- [133] Sumida S, Doi T, Sakurai M, Yoshioka Y, Okamura K. Effect of a single bout of exercise and beta-carotene supplementation on the urinary excretion of 8-hydroxy-deoxyguanosine in humans. Free Radic Res 1997; 27(6):607–618.
- [134] Wilber RL, Holm PL, Morris DM, Dallam GM, Subudhi AW, Murray DM, et al. Effect of FIO2 on oxidative stress during interval training at moderate altitude. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2004; 36(11):1888–1894.
- [135] Bejma J, Ji LL. Aging and acute exercise enhance free radical generation in rat skeletal muscle. J Appl Physiol 1999; 87(1):465–470.
- [136] Faff J, Frankiewicz-Jozko A. Effect of ubiquinone on exercise-induced lipid peroxidation in rat tissues. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 1997; 75(5):413–417.
- [137] Goldfarb AH, Bloomer R, McKenzie MJ. Effect of microhydrin on blood lactate, protein carbonyls, and glutathione status in rats before and after aerobic exercise. Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab 2004; 14(5):550–559.
- [138] Jenkins RR, Krause K, Schofield LS. Influence of exercise on clearance of oxidant stress products and loosely bound iron. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1993; 25(2):213–217.
- [139] Ji LL, Stratman FW, Lardy HA. Antioxidant enzyme systems in rat liver and skeletal muscle. Influences of selenium deficiency, chronic training, and acute exercise. Arch Biochem Biophys 1988; 263(1):150–160.
- [140] Koyama K, Kaya M, Ishigaki T, Tsujita J, Hori S, Seino T, et al. Role of xanthine oxidase in delayed lipid peroxidation in rat liver induced by acute exhausting exercise. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 1999; 80(1):28–33.
- [141] Li JX, Tong CW, Xu DQ, Chan KM. Changes in membrane fluidity and lipid peroxidation of skeletal muscle mitochondria after exhausting exercise in rats. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 1999; 80(2):113–117.
- [142] Mills PC, Ng JC, Thornton J, Seawright AA, Auer DE. Exercise-induced connective tissue turnover and lipid peroxidation in horses. Br Vet J 1994; 150(1):53–63.
- [143] Okamura K, Doi T, Sakurai M, Hamada K, Yoshioka Y, Sumida S, et al. Effect of endurance exercise on the tissue 8-hydroxy-deoxyguanosine content in dogs. Free Radic Res 1997; 26(6):523–528.
- [144] Oztasan N, Taysi S, Gumustekin K, Altinkaynak K, Aktas O, Timur H, et al. Endurance training attenuates exercise-induced oxidative stress in erythrocytes in rat. Eur J Appl Physiol 2004; 91(5–6):622–627.
- [145] Radak Z, Asano K, Inoue M, Kizaki T, Oh-Ishi S, Suzuki K, et al. Superoxide dismutase derivative reduces oxidative damage in skeletal muscle of rats during exhaustive exercise. J Appl Physiol 1995; 79(1):129–135.
- [146] Radak Z, Asano K, Inoue M, Kizaki T, Oh-Ishi S, Suzuki K, et al. Superoxide dismutase derivative prevents oxidative damage in liver and kidney of rats induced by exhausting exercise. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 1996; 72(3):189–194.
- [147] Reznick AZ, Witt E, Matsumoto M, Packer L. Vitamin E inhibits protein oxidation in skeletal muscle of resting and exercised rats. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1992; 189 (2):801–806.

- [148] Brady PS, Brady LJ, Ullrey DE. Selenium, vitamin E and the response to swimming stress in the rat. J Nutr 1979; 109(6):1103–1109.
- [149] Venditti P, Di Meo S. Antioxidants, tissue damage, and endurance in trained and untrained young male rats. Arch Biochem Biophys 1996; 331(1):63–68.
- [150] Semin I, Kayatekin BM, Gonenc S, Acikgoz O, Uysal N, Delen Y, et al. Lipid peroxidation and antioxidant enzyme levels of intestinal renal and muscle tissues after a 60 minutes exercise in trained mice. Indian J Physiol Pharmacol 2000; 44(4):419–427.
- [151] Radak Z, Naito H, Kaneko T, Tahara S, Nakamoto H, Takahashi R, et al. Exercise training decreases DNA damage and increases DNA repair and resistance against oxidative stress of proteins in aged rat skeletal muscle. Pflugers Arch 2002; 445(2):273–278.
- [152] Steinberg JG, Ba A, Bregeon F, Delliaux S, Jammes Y. Cytokine and oxidative responses to maximal cycling exercise in sedentary subjects. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2007; 39(6): 964–968.
- [153] Kaikkonen J, Kosonen L, Nyyssonen K, Porkkala-Sarataho E, Salonen R, Korpela H, et al. Effect of combined coenzyme Q10 and d-alpha-tocopheryl acetate supplementation on exercise-induced lipid peroxidation and muscular damage: A placebo-controlled doubleblind study in marathon runners. Free Radic Res 1998; 29(1):85–92.
- [154] Mastaloudis A, Morrow JD, Hopkins DW, Devaraj S, Traber MG. Antioxidant supplementation prevents exercise-induced lipid peroxidation, but not inflammation, in ultramarathon runners. Free Radic Biol Med 2004a; 36(10):1329–1341.
- [155] McAnulty SR, McAnulty LS, Nieman DC, Morrow JD, Shooter LA, Holmes S, et al. Effect of alpha-tocopherol supplementation on plasma homocysteine and oxidative stress in highly trained athletes before and after exhaustive exercise. J Nutr Biochem 2005; 16(9): 530–537.
- [156] Nieman DC, Henson DA, McAnulty SR, McAnulty L, Swick NS, Utter AC, et al. Influence of vitamin C supplementation on oxidative and immune changes after an ultramarathon. J Appl Physiol 2002; 92(5):1970–1977.
- [157] Nieman DC, Henson DA, McAnulty SR, McAnulty LS, Morrow JD, Ahmed A, et al. Vitamin E and immunity after the Kona Triathlon World Championship. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2004; 36(8):1328–1335.
- [158] Sanchez-Quesada JL, Homs-Serradesanferm R, Serrat-Serrat J, Serra-Grima JR, Gonzalez-Sastre F, Ordonez-Llanos J. Increase of LDL susceptibility to oxidation occurring after intense, long duration aerobic exercise. Atherosclerosis 1995; 118(2):297–305.
- [159] Almar M, Villa JG, Cuevas MJ, Rodriguez-Marroyo JA, Avila C, Gonzalez-Gallego J. Urinary levels of 8-hydroxydeoxyguanosine as a marker of oxidative damage in road cycling. Free Radic Res 2002; 36(3):247–253.
- [160] Mastaloudis A, Yu TW, O'Donnell RP, Frei B, Dashwood RH, Traber MG. Endurance exercise results in DNA damage as detected by the comet assay. Free Radic Biol Med 2004; 36(8):966–975.
- [161] Tsai K, Hsu TG, Hsu KM, Cheng H, Liu TY, Hsu CF, et al. Oxidative DNA damage in human peripheral leukocytes induced by massive aerobic exercise. Free Radic Biol Med 2001; 31(11):1465–1472.
- [162] Cooper MB, Jones DA, Edwards RH, Corbucci GC, Montanari G, Trevisani C. The effect of marathon running on carnitine metabolism and on some aspects of muscle mitochondrial activities and antioxidant mechanisms. J Sports Sci 1986; 4(2):79–87.
- [163] Duthie GG, Robertson JD, Maughan RJ, Morrice PC. Blood antioxidant status and erythrocyte lipid peroxidation following distance running. Arch Biochem Biophys 1990; 282(1):78–83.

- [164] Liu ML, Bergholm R, Makimattila S, Lahdenpera S, Valkonen M, Hilden H, et al. A marathon run increases the susceptibility of LDL to oxidation in vitro and modifies plasma antioxidants. Am J Physiol 1999; 276(6 Pt 1):E1083–E1091.
- [165] Margaritis I, Tessier F, Richard MJ, Marconnet P. No evidence of oxidative stress after a triathlon race in highly trained competitors. Int J Sports Med 1997; 18(3):186–190.
- [166] Chevion S, Moran DS, Heled Y, Shani Y, Regev G, Abbou B, et al. Plasma antioxidant status and cell injury after severe physical exercise. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003; 100(9): 5119–5123.
- [167] Inayama T, Kumagai Y, Sakane M, Saito M, Matsuda M. Plasma protein-bound sulfhydryl group oxidation in humans following a full marathon race. Life Sci 1996; 59(7): 573–578.
- [168] Pollock ML, Franklin BA, Balady GJ, Chaitman BL, Fleg JL, Fletcher B, et al. AHA Science Advisory. Resistance exercise in individuals with and without cardiovascular disease: Benefits, rationale, safety, and prescription: An advisory from the Committee on Exercise, Rehabilitation, and Prevention, Council on Clinical Cardiology, American Heart Association; Position paper endorsed by the American College of Sports Medicine. Circulation 2000; 101(7):828–833.
- [169] Dudley GA, Tesch PA, Harris RT, Golden CL, Buchanan P. Influence of eccentric actions on the metabolic cost of resistance exercise. Aviat Space Environ Med 1991; 62(7): 678–682.
- [170] Falvo MJ, Bloomer RJ. Review of exercise-induced muscle injury: Relevance for athletic populations. Res Sports Med 2006; 14(1):65–82.
- [171] McBride JM, Kraemer WJ, Triplett-McBride T, Sebastianelli W. Effect of resistance exercise on free radical production. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1998; 30(1):67–72.
- [172] Avery NG, Kaiser JL, Sharman MJ, Scheett TP, Barnes DM, Gomez AL, et al. Effects of vitamin E supplementation on recovery from repeated bouts of resistance exercise. J Strength Cond Res 2003; 17(4):801–809.
- [173] Ramel A, Wagner KH, Elmadfa I. Plasma antioxidants and lipid oxidation after submaximal resistance exercise in men. Eur J Nutr 2004; 43(1):2–6.
- [174] Viitala PE, Newhouse IJ, LaVoie N, Gottardo C. The effects of antioxidant vitamin supplementation on resistance exercise induced lipid peroxidation in trained and untrained participants. Lipids Health Dis 2004; 223:14.
- [175] Volek JS, Kraemer WJ, Rubin MR, Gomez AL, Ratamess NA, Gaynor P. L-Carnitine L-tartrate supplementation favorably affects markers of recovery from exercise stress. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2002; 282(2):E474–E482.
- [176] Surmen-Gur E, Ozturk E, Gur H, Punduk Z, Tuncel P. Effect of vitamin E supplementation on post-exercise plasma lipid peroxidation and blood antioxidant status in smokers: With special reference to haemoconcentration effect. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 1999; 79(6):472–478.
- [177] Parise G, Phillips SM, Kaczor JJ, Tarnopolsky MA. Antioxidant enzyme activity is upregulated after unilateral resistance exercise training in older adults. Free Radic Biol Med 2005; 39(2):289–295.
- [178] Radak Z, Apor P, Pucsok J, Berkes I, Ogonovszky H, Pavlik G, et al. Marathon running alters the DNA base excision repair in human skeletal muscle. Life Sci 2003; 72(14): 1627–1633.
- [179] Chang CK, Tseng HF, Hsuuw YD, Chan WH, Shieh LC. Higher LDL oxidation at rest and after a rugby game in weekend warriors. Ann Nutr Metab 2002; 46(3–4):103–107.
- [180] Saxton JM, Donnelly AE, Roper HP. Indices of free-radical-mediated damage following maximum voluntary eccentric and concentric muscular work. Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 1994; 68(3):189–193.

- [181] Goldfarb AH, Bloomer RJ, McKenzie MJ. Combined antioxidant treatment effects on blood oxidative stress after eccentric exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2005; 37(2):234–239.
- [182] Childs A, Jacobs C, Kaminski T, Halliwell B, Leeuwenburgh C. Supplementation with vitamin C and N-acetyl-cysteine increases oxidative stress in humans after an acute muscle injury induced by eccentric exercise. Free Radic Biol Med 2001; 31(6):745–753.
- [183] Child R, Brown S, Day S, Donnelly A, Roper H, Saxton J. Changes in indices of antioxidant status, lipid peroxidation and inflammation in human skeletal muscle after eccentric muscle actions. Clin Sci 1999; 96(1):105–115.
- [184] Lenn J, Uhl T, Mattacola C, Boissonneault G, Yates J, Ibrahim W, Bruckner G. The effects of fish oil and isoflavones on delayed onset muscle soreness. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2002; 34(10):1605–1613.
- [185] Hellsten Y, Frandsen U, Orthenblad N, Sjodin B, Richter EA. Xanthine oxidase in human skeletal muscle following eccentric exercise: A role in inflammation. J Physiol (Lond) 1997; 498(Pt 1):239–248.
- [186] Lee J, Goldfarb AH, Rescino MH, Hegde S, Patrick S, Apperson K. Eccentric exercise effect on blood oxidative-stress markers and delayed onset of muscle soreness. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2002; 34(3):443–448.
- [187] Bryer SC, Goldfarb AH. Effect of high dose vitamin C supplementation on muscle soreness, damage, function, and oxidative stress to eccentric exercise. Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab 2006; 16(3):270–280.
- [188] Lee J, Clarkson PM. Plasma creatine kinase activity and glutathione after eccentric exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2003; 35(6):930–936.
- [189] Radak Z, Pucsok J, Mecseki S, Csont T, Ferdinandy P. Muscle soreness-induced reduction in force generation is accompanied by increased nitric oxide content and DNA damage in human skeletal muscle. Free Radic Biol Med 1999; 26(7–8):1059–1063.
- [190] Sahlin K, Cizinsky S, Warholm M, Hagberg J. Repetitive static muscle contractions in humans—a trigger of metabolic and oxidative stress? Eur J Appl Physiol Occup Physiol 1992; 64(3):228–236.
- [191] Sahlin K, Nielsen JS, Mogensen M, Tonkonogi M. Repeated static contractions increase mitochondrial vulnerability toward oxidative stress in human skeletal muscle. J Appl Physiol 2006; 101(3):833–839.
- [192] Rodriguez MC, Rosenfeld J, Tarnopolsky MA. Plasma malondialdehyde increases transiently after ischemic forearm exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2003; 35(11):1859–1865.
- [193] Steinberg J, Gainnier M, Michel F, Faucher M, Arnaud C, Jammes Y. The post-exercise oxidative stress is depressed by acetylsalicylic acid. Respir Physiol Neurobiol 2002; 130 (2):189–199.
- [194] Ortenblad N, Madsen K, Djurhuus MS. Antioxidant status and lipid peroxidation after short-term maximal exercise in trained and untrained humans. Am J Physiol 1997; 272(4 Pt 2):R1258–R1263.
- [195] Hellsten Y, Apple FS, Sjodin B. Effect of sprint cycle training on activities of antioxidant enzymes in human skeletal muscle. J Appl Physiol 1996; 81(4):1484–1487.
- [196] Baker JS, Bailey DM, Hullin D, Young I, Davies B. Metabolic implications of resistive force selection for oxidative stress and markers of muscle damage during 30 s of highintensity exercise. Eur J Appl Physiol 2004; 92(3):321–327.
- [197] Schiffl C, Zieres C, Zankl H. Exhaustive physical exercise increases frequency of micronuclei. Mutat Res 1997; 389(2–3):243–246.
- [198] Thompson D, Williams C, Kingsley M, Nicholas CW, Lakomy HK, McArdle F, et al. Muscle soreness and damage parameters after prolonged intermittent shuttle-running following acute vitamin C supplementation. Int J Sports Med 2001; 22(1):68–75.

- [199] Westing YH, Ekblom B, Sjodin B. The metabolic relation between hypoxanthine and uric acid in man following maximal short-distance running. Acta Physiol Scand 1989; 137 (3):341–345.
- [200] Kayatekin BM, Gonenc S, Acikgoz O, Uysal N, Dayi A. Effects of sprint exercise on oxidative stress in skeletal muscle and liver. Eur J Appl Physiol 2002; 87(2):141–144.
- [201] Radak Z, Nakamura A, Nakamoto H, Asano K, Ohno H, Goto S. A period of anaerobic exercise increases the accumulation of reactive carbonyl derivatives in the lungs of rats. Pflugers Arch 1998; 435(3):439–441.
- [202] Ascensao A, Ferreira R, Marques F, Oliveira E, Azevedo V, Soares J, et al. Effect of offroad competitive motocross race on plasma oxidative stress and damage markers. Br J Sports Med. 2007; 41(2):101–105.
- [203] Vina J, Sastre J, Pallardo FV, Gambini J, Borras C. Role of mitochondrial oxidative stress to explain the different longevity between genders: Protective effect of estrogens. Free Radic Res 2006; 40(12):1359–1365.
- [204] Lacort M, Leal AM, Liza M, Martin C, Martinez R, Ruiz-Larrea MB. Protective effect of estrogens and catecholestrogens against peroxidative membrane damage *in vitro*. Lipids 1995; 30(2):141–146.
- [205] Kendall B, Eston R. Exercise-induced muscle damage and the potential protective role of estrogen. Sports Med 2002; 32(2):103–123.
- [206] Tiidus PM. Estrogen and gender effects on muscle damage, inflammation, and oxidative stress. Can J Appl Physiol 2000; 25(4):274–287.
- [207] Tiidus PM, Bombardier E, Hidiroglou N, Madere R. Gender and exercise influence on tissue antioxidant vitamin status in rats. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol 1999; 45(6):701–710.
- [208] Ginsburg GS, O'Toole M, Rimm E, Douglas PS, Rifai N. Gender differences in exerciseinduced changes in sex hormone levels and lipid peroxidation in athletes participating in the Hawaii Ironman triathlon. Ginsburg-gender and exercise-induced lipid peroxidation. Clin Chim Acta 2001; 305(1–2):131–139.
- [209] Kaikkonen J, Porkkala-Sarataho E, Tuomainen TP, Nyyssonen K, Kosonen L, Ristonmaa U, et al. Exhaustive exercise increases plasma/serum total oxidation resistance in moderately trained men and women, whereas their VLDL + LDL lipoprotein fraction is more susceptible to oxidation. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 2002; 62(8):599–607.
- [210] Goldfarb AH, Bloomer R, McKenzie MJ. Gender comparisons of exercise-induced oxidative stress: Influence of antioxidant supplementation. Appl Physiol Nutr Metab 2007; 32(6):1124–1131.
- [211] Savage KJ, Clarkson PM. Oral contraceptive use and exercise-induced muscle damage and recovery. Contraception 2002; 66(1):67–71.
- [212] Chung SC, Goldfarb AH, Jamurtas AZ, Hegde SS, Lee J. Effect of exercise during the follicular and luteal phases on indices of oxidative stress in healthy women. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1999; 31(3):409–413.
- [213] Ruiz-Sanz JI, Navarro R, Martinez R, Hernandez ML, Matorras R, Ruiz-Larrea MB. No effect of menstrual cycle on LDL oxidizability and particle size. Maturitas 2007; 57(3): 253–260.
- [214] Navarro-Arevalo A, Sanchez-del-Pino MJ. Age and exercise-related changes in lipid peroxidation and superoxide dismutase activity in liver and soleus muscle tissues of rats. Mech Ageing Dev 1998; 104(1):91–102.
- [215] Vincent HK, Morgan JW, Vincent KR. Obesity exacerbates oxidative stress levels after acute exercise. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2004; 36(5):772–779.
- [216] Vincent HK, Vincent KR, Bourguignon C, Braith RW. Obesity and postexercise oxidative stress in older women. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2005; 37(2):213–219.

- [217] Vincent HK, Bourguignon CM, Vincent KR, Weltman AL, Bryant M, Taylor AG. Antioxidant supplementation lowers exercise-induced oxidative stress in young overweight adults. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2006; 14(12):2224–2235.
- [218] Vincent HK, Bourguignon C, Vincent KR. Resistance training lowers exercise-induced oxidative stress and homocysteine levels in overweight and obese older adults. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2006; 14(11):1921–1930.
- [219] Chen MF, Hsu HC, Lee YT. Effects of acute exercise on the changes of lipid profiles and peroxides, prostanoids, and platelet activation in hypercholesterolemic patients before and after treatment. Prostaglandins 1994; 48(3):157–174.
- [220] Jimenez L, Lefevre G, Richard R, Duvallet A, Rieu M. Exercise does not induce oxidative stress in trained heart transplant recipients. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2000; 32(12):2018–2023.
- [221] Nishiyama Y, Ikeda H, Haramaki N, Yoshida N, Imaizumi T. Oxidative stress is related to exercise intolerance in patients with heart failure. Am Heart J 1998; 135(1):115–120.
- [222] Davison GW, George L, Jackson SK, Young IS, Davies B, Bailey DM, et al. Exercise, free radicals, and lipid peroxidation in type 1 diabetes mellitus. Free Radic Biol Med 2002; 33 (11):1543–1551.
- [223] Laaksonen DE, Atalay M, Niskanen L, Uusitupa M, Hanninen O, Sen CK. Increased resting and exercise-induced oxidative stress in young IDDM men. Diabetes Care 1996; 19 (6):569–574.
- [224] Villa-Caballero L, Nava-Ocampo AA, Frati-Munari AC, Rodriguez de Leon SM, Becerra-Perez AR, Ceja RM, et al. Hemodynamic and oxidative stress profile after exercise in type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2007; 75(3):285–291.
- [225] Leaf DA, Kleinman MT, Hamilton M, Deitrick RW. The exercise-induced oxidative stress paradox: The effects of physical exercise training. Am J Med Sci 1999; 317(5):295–300.
- [226] Ennezat PV, Malendowicz SL, Testa M, Colombo PC, Cohen-Solal A, Evans T, et al. Physical training in patients with chronic heart failure enhances the expression of genes encoding antioxidative enzymes. J Am Coll Cardiol 2001; 38(1):194–198.
- [227] Alberg AJ. The influence of cigarette smoking on circulating concentrations of antioxidant micronutrients. Toxicology 2002; 180:121–137.
- [228] Burke A, FitzGerald GA. Oxidative stress and smoking-induced vascular injury. Prog Cardiovasc Dis 2003; 46(1):79–90.
- [229] Ambrose JA, Barua RS. The pathophysiology of cigarette smoking and cardiovascular disease: An update. J Am Coll Cardiol 2004; 43(10):1731–1737.
- [230] Pryor WA, Stone K. Oxidants in cigarette smoke. Radicals, hydrogen peroxide, peroxynitrate, and peroxynitrite. Ann NY Acad Sci 1993; 686:12–27.
- [231] Young IS, McEneny J. Lipoprotein oxidation and atherosclerosis. Biochem Soc Trans 2001; 29:358–362.

HUMAN TOTAL SERUM N-GLYCOME

André Klein*^{,†}

*Laboratory of Biochemistry, CHRU de Lille, France [†]UMR 8576 du CNRS, Villeneuve d'Asq, France

1.	Abstract	51
2.	Introduction	52
3.	N-Glycosylation of Serum Glycoproteins	52
	3.1. Structure of N-Glycans	52
	3.2. Biosynthesis	54
	3.3. Serum Protein <i>N</i> -Glycosylation	56
4.	Determination of the TSNG.	63
	4.1. Cleavage of the N-Glycans	63
	4.2. Purification of the Released Oligosaccharides	65
	4.3. Analysis of the N-Glycome	65
5.	Qualitative and Quantitative Characterization of the Normal Human TSNG	67
6.	Physiological Variations of the N-Glycome	72
	6.1. Ageing	72
	6.2. Pregnancy and Estrogen	72
7.	Acquired Modifications of the TSNG	73
	7.1. Liver Fibrosis and Cirrhosis	73
	7.2. Inflammatory Disorders	75
	7.3. Cancer	75
	7.4. Immunoglobulin Glycosylation Modifications	76
8.	Congenital Modifications of the TSNG	76
9.	Conclusions	78
	References	78

1. Abstract

The human total serum N-glycome (TSNG) is the representation of the serum glycoproteins *N*-glycosylation. The study of *N*-glycosylation in clinical biochemistry laboratories is emerging as a new assay for diagnosis of congenital and acquired diseases. This review describes the *N*-glycosylation of serum glycoproteins and its contribution to the serum N-glycome, the different

ANDRÉ KLEIN

protocols allowing the achievement of an *N*-glycosylation profile, the variations of this profile in diseases, and finally the perspective of applications of the TSNG in the exploration of congenital disorders of glycosylation (CDG), hepatic cirrhosis, inflammatory disorders, autoimmune diseases, and cancers.

2. Introduction

The glycome, by analogy with genome and proteome, is the representation of the total glycosylation of a human being [1]. Glycosylation of proteins is highly heterogeneous process with more than 37 sugar-amino acid combinations existing [2]. The human TSNG describes only one of these sugarprotein associations, that is, the β -glycosylamine linkage of *N*-acetyl glucosylamine to the amino acid residue, asparagine. Despite being the most common posttranslational modification of plasma proteins, it represents only a minor component of the human glycome [2].

Following the first description of a CDG by Jaeken and Matthijs in 1980 [3], more than 20 genetic disorders of *N*-glycosylation have now been identified. Although all organs are affected, there is a predilection for central nervous system involvement. According to the severity of these diseases and the studies of knockout mice, the importance of *N*-glycosylation has been demonstrated. The time has passed when the roles of N-glycans were confined to protease resistance, protein solubility, and when sugars were considered as a simple "decoration," and today their roles span a variety of functions from cell recognition and adhesion, cell migration, host defense to molecular trafficking and clearance [4].

Nevertheless, in clinical biochemistry laboratories, the study of *N*-glycosylation has still not emerged as a diagnostic or prognosis tool. During the last decade, novel analytical procedures allowing a rapid, reproducible and high-throughput analysis of the serum N-glycome have been developed and their application in diagnosis is only beginning to be described.

In this chapter, we will focus on the *N*-glycosylation of serum glycoproteins that contributes to the serum N-glycome, on the different protocols allowing the achievement of an *N*-glycosylation profile, on the variations of this profile in diseases, and finally on the perspective of applications of the TSNG in clinical biology.

3. N-Glycosylation of Serum Glycoproteins

3.1. STRUCTURE OF N-GLYCANS

All N-glycans are characterized by the presence of a branched pentasaccharidic core structure consisting in three residues of mannose (Man) and two residues of *N*-acetylglucosamine (GlcNAc) (Fig. 1). The core is linked to



FIG. 1. Structures of the main types of human N-glycans and characteristic "complex" oligosaccharides: (A) oligomannosidic-type structure; (B) hybrid-type structure; (C–G) "complex-type structures; (C) biantennary disialylated; (D–E) triantennary trisialylated; (F) tetraantennary tetrasialylated; (G) bisected biantennary disialylated core α 1,6-fucosylated oligosaccharide. Symbols for the structural formulas are defined as follow: solid square, GlcNAc; open square, Gal (galactose); open circle, Man (mannose); triangle, fuc (fucose); open diamond, NeuAc (*N*-acetylneuraminic acid). the peptide backbone by a GlcNAc- β Asn bond, the asparagine being part of a consensus sequence Asn-X-Ser/Thr. From this pentasaccharidic core, extensions are made on the mannose residues at the nonreducing end. These extensions define three types of N-glycans: (1) high mannose structures when mannose residues are only added (Fig. 1A), (2) hybrid structures when mannose residues are added on the Man α 1,6 arm and at least one GlcNAc residue on the Man α 1,3 arm (Fig. 1B), and (3) "complex" structures when GlcNAc residues are added on both Man α 1,3 and Man α 1,6 arms (Fig. 1C–G).

The extension of the core defines the backbone of the oligosaccharide, represents the first level of diversity of the "complex" N-glycans, and consists of a number of antennae (i.e., bi-, tri-, tetra-, pentaantennae; Fig. 1C–E) and a number of "*N*-acetyllactosamine" units repeat.

The periphery of an N-glycan consists in the adjunction of fucose (Fuc), sialic acid, galactose (Gal), *N*-acetylgalactosamine (GalNAc), phosphate and sulfate residues. The addition of these residues results in antigenic determinants such as the blood group antigens or other tissue-specific antigens. The linkage of these different components is also variable; for example, sialic acid can be linked $\alpha 2,3$ or $\alpha 2,6$ to a galactose residue of the backbone. In fact, to be precise, even sialic acid does not relate to one monosaccharide but to a family of more than 40 members [5].

This results in an infinite possibility of structures. It would be tempting to consider this phenomenon as structural "noise" or "decoration," but the finely tuned biosynthesis and the particular biological roles of N-glycans demonstrate the contrary [4].

3.2. BIOSYNTHESIS

The biosynthesis of N-glycans is a complex cotranslational process. The first step is the preassembly of a tetradecasaccharide on a lipid intermediate, the dolichol phosphate (Dol-P). This intermediate is first assembled on the cytosolic face of the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) (steps 1–3 in Fig. 2), and, after translocation (step 4, Fig. 2) to the luminal face, the assembly of the complete lipid oligosaccharide can be achieved (step 5–8, Fig. 2). This tetradecasaccharide is transferred by the oligosaccharidyl transferase to the nascent glycoprotein on the asparagine residue of a consensus sequence Asn-X-Ser/Thr (step 9 in Fig. 2). In the ER, this oligosaccharide is trimmed by a complex process, involving deglucosylation, reglucosylation, and demannosylation (steps 10–12). This process is involved in the ER quality control and, only when the glycoprotein is properly folded, the N-glycan biosynthesis can continue in the Golgi complex and the *trans*-Golgi network [6–8].



FIG. 2. Biosynthesis of serum glycoprotein N-glycans. The reactions are catalyzed by the following enzymes: (1) UDP-GlcNAc: Dol-P GlcNAc-P transferase; (2) UDP-GlcNAc: Dol-P-GlcNAc-P GlcNAc transferase; (3) mannosyl transferases GDP-Man dependent; (4) flippase;

In the *cis*- and medium-Golgi, the high mannose N-glycan is further trimmed and the action of mannosidases and *N*-acetylglucosaminyl transferases (GlcNAc-T) directs the oligosaccharide in various pathways (high mannose, hybrid, or complex). Glycan diversity is mostly generated at this stage, as six different GlcNAc-Ts can act on the mannose residue of the core, creating the branching heterogeneity. All the transferases act sequentially, in a specific manner, with acceptor specificity and with the classical rule "one enzyme, one glycosidic linkage." They also have a tissue-specific expression; the protein backbone influences the glycosylation (i.e., steric hindrance; mannose 6-phosphorylation for the addressing of lysosomal enzymes [6]). Galactosyl-, fucosyl-, and sialyltransferases complete the N-glycan structure that finally results in a mature membrane bound or a secreted glycoprotein (steps 13–19, Fig. 2) [6].

Glycan sequence is not directly dependent of a DNA template. The structure specificity relies on the expression of various proteins such as enzymes (i.e., glycosyltransferases, enzymes of the monosaccharide metabolism, glycosidases), transporters (i.e., nucleotide sugar transporters), and flippase. Defects in glycosylation, encountered in CDG or in knockout mice, have permitted the identification of other proteins involved in glycosylation such as the conserved oligomeric Golgi 7 (COG7) protein, which affects the localization and traffic of Golgi proteins [9].

3.3. SERUM PROTEIN N-GLYCOSYLATION

The TSNG is the sum of hundreds individual glycoprotein N-glycomes, secreted by or leaking from all the different tissues of the body. The number of high-abundance glycoproteins is relatively small, and immunoglobulins (IgG, IgA, and IgM), transferrin, and α 2-macroglobulin represent together approximately 75% of the total serum glycoproteins. As the liver and the immunoglobulin-secreting plasma cells are the main source of the serum glycoproteins, any alterations in the liver and/or B-lymphocyte physiology during diseases might influence the *N*-glycosylation mechanisms leading to a different distribution of the glycoforms with modified biological properties.

⁽⁵⁾ dolichol-P-Man synthase; (6) mannosyl transferases Dol-P-Man dependent; (7) dolichol-P-Glc synthase; (8) glucosyltransferase Dol-P-Glc dependent; (9) oligosaccharyl transferase; (10) α 1,2-glucosidase I; (11) α 1,3-glucosidase II; (12) endoplasmic reticulum α 1,2-mannosidase; (13) Golgi α -mannosidase I; (14) GlcNAc transferase I; (15) Golgi α -mannosidase II; (16) GlcNAc transferase II; (17) Gal transferase; (18) sialyltransferase; (19) fucosyltransferase. Symbols for the structural formulas are defined as follow: solid square, GlcNAc; open square, Gal (galactose); open circle, Man (mannose); triangle, fuc (fucose); open diamond, NeuAc (*N*-acetylneuraminic acid); dolichol, gray rectangle; phosphate, circled P.

The roles of the glycan moiety of serum glycoproteins are extremely diverse; these can be classified in two groups: (1) alterations of the general properties of the glycoprotein such as the modification of the physicochemical properties (solubility, stability, conformation), the half-life of the glyco-conjugate, and the resistance to proteases; and (2) control and regulation of biological processes by protein–saccharide interactions [4].

3.3.1. Immunoglobulin G N-Glycosylation

Immunoglobulin G (IgG) are the most abundant glycoproteins in the serum (800-1600 mg/100 ml), synthesized by activated B lymphocytes and comprises two heavy and two light chains which are composed of variable and constant domains. Limited proteolytic cleavage of IgG results in two fragments, the Fab (fragment antigen binding) and the Fc (fragment crystallizable). The carbohydrate moieties account for 2-3% of the molecular weight and correspond mainly to N-glycans located on Asn-297 of the C_H2 domain of each heavy chain subunit. The variable region of IgG may be also glycosylated. The largest oligosaccharide possesses 13 sugar residues and corresponds to a biantennary disialylated "complex-type" N-glycan with a bisecting β 1,4-GlcNAc residue and a fucose residue α 1,6-linked to the core GlcNAc (Fig. 1G) [10-14]. More than 30 different structures have been identified. These correspond to the tridecasaccharide lacking one or more sugar residues and are distributed into four groups: the sialvlated oligosaccharides (14%) and three types of neutral oligosaccharides, namely, the agalactosylated structures terminated by a GlcNAc residue on both antennae (G₀-IgG, 35%), the monogalactosylated (G₁-IgG, 35%), and the structures in which both antennae are terminated by a galactose residue (G_2 -IgG, 16%) [13, 14].

The two N-glycans of the Fc fragment modulate the effector functions of IgG, especially the activation of the complement system and the binding to Fc gamma receptor (Fc γ R) present on phagocytes.

In contrast to galactosylated IgG (G_1 -IgG and G_2 -IgG), agalactosylated IgG are able to activate the complement system via the lectin pathway. The terminal GlcNAc residues of the G_0 -IgG are recognized by the mannan binding lectin (MBL), a member of the collectin family that has an important role in innate immunity: the activation of this pathway can trigger rapid-enhanced phagocytosis, and is also involved in the physiopathology of rheumatoid arthritis [15, 16].

Glycosylation is required for optimal binding to $Fc\gamma R$ [17] and the chemical composition of the glycan modulates the affinity. The fucose residue α 1,6-linked to the core GlcNAc present on 70% of the IgG N-glycans decreases the affinity of the antibody to $Fc\gamma RIIIa$ and results in a 100-fold diminished antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) [18].
Recent studies have shown the importance of Fc sialic acids in the interaction with $Fc\gamma R$. Terminal sialic acids lower the IgG affinity toward their lymphocytic receptors, and as a consequence upon antigenic contact, the loss of sialic acid switches the immunoglobulin properties from anti-inflammatory to pro-inflammatory [19, 20].

The first disease related to the modification of IgG glycosylation was rheumatoid arthritis, described in 1985 [11]. The distribution of the IgG glycoforms in the serum of these patients showed an increase in the percentage of the agalactosylated G_0 -IgG molecules. Subsequently, a relative increase of agalactosylated IgG has been observed in numerous inflammatory and autoimmune diseases, including tuberculosis [21], Crohn's disease [22], celiac diseases [23], psoriatic arthritis, periodontal disease [24], infection with HIV [25], systemic vasculitis associated with antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies [26], and cancer [27]. The agalactosylation of IgG appears as a pro-inflammatory mechanism common to numerous inflammatory and autoimmune diseases. A decreased IgG sialylation has been observed following immunization with a test antigen; this could correspond to a switch from a steady anti-inflammatory state to a protective inflammatory state upon immunization [19]. The impact of the glycan structures found on the Fc of the IgG appears to modulate the effector properties of the molecule.

3.3.2. Immunoglobulin A N-Glycosylation

In human serum there is 200-400 mg/100 ml of immunoglobulin A (IgA) existing as two isotypes: 90% of IgA1 and 10% of IgA2. All IgAs contain two N-glycans at position 263 of the C_H2 and 459 of the C_H3 domain. IgA2 contains two or three additional N-glycans. Thirty percent of the Fab fragment of IgA1 is N-glycosylated. IgA1 contains O-linked oligosaccharides, glycans linked to the peptide backbone through a hemiacetalic linkage of a GalNAc to the hydroxyl group of a serine or a threonine residue in the hinge region. The structures of the N-linked oligosaccharides of IgA1 are distributed into biantennary (86%) and triantennary structures (14%). More than 90% of the glycan is sialylated and less than 2% is agalactosylated. A bisecting GlcNAc is present in 24-40% of the N-glycans, indicating possible individual variations [28–30]. α 1,6 core fucose is found in 32% of the N-linked oligosaccharides [14]. As compared to IgG N-glycans, in IgA1 the glycans are more sialylated, more branched, and less fucosylated with a reduced number of bisecting GlcNAc. As for IgG, the glycan modulates the Fc fragment binding to MBL [31] and to the asialoglycoprotein receptor (ASGP-R), which clears from the serum the desialylated galactose-terminated glycoproteins. ASGP-R binds to galactose and GalNAc-terminated oligosaccharides and removes IgA2 not the sialylated structures of IgA1 from the serum, explaining their predominance in the serum [32].

Abnormal O-glycosylation of IgA has been described in IgA nephropathy; the IgA1 O-glycans being less galactosylated and sialylated. This disease is characterized by a deposit mainly composed of polymeric IgA1 in the glomerular mesangium. The N-glycosylation of these polymeric IgA1 is also modified with the presence of oligomannosidic N-glycans, which could participate in the inflammation by activation of the lectin pathway of the complement [33].

Sjögren's syndrome is an autoimmune disease associated with an increased level of serum IgA. The IgA1 N-glycans present in this disease, have an increased sialylation which reduces their clearance by the ASGP-R [34].

3.3.3. Immunoglobulin M N-Glycosylation

Serum immunoglobulin M (IgM), a polymeric immunoglobulin, is a pentameric molecule composed of 10 heavy chains, 10 light chains, and 1 J chain, present in the serum at a concentration of 50-200 mg/100 ml. It is heavily glycosylated with five N-glycosylation sites present on the heavy chain and on the J chain. Complex-type oligosaccharides are found on the first three glycosylation sites and on the J chain. Oligomannosidic oligosaccharides are found on the fourth and fifth glycosylation sites at the C-terminus. Eightyone percent of the N-glycans is sialylated, 85% core fucosylated, 52% present a bisecting GlcNAc residue, and only 4% present a non-galactosylated GlcNAc residue [14, 35, 36]. A molecular model of the pentameric IgM has been proposed in which IgM has two distinct faces, only one of which can bind antigen. The complex-type glycans are located on the antigen-binding site. Upon engagement of the Fab fragment with the antigen, the complex glycan chains are not accessible anymore to the lectin-binding site, and as a consequence the activation of the complement by the lectin pathway by antigen bound IgM pentamers is unlikely [14, 37].

3.3.4. Transferrin

Human serum transferrin is a glycoprotein synthesized by the liver and is involved in iron transport between sites of absorption and sites of delivery. It is present in the serum at a concentration of 200–400 mg/100 ml. Transferrin contains two *N*-glycosylation sites at the C-terminal lobe. The two major glycans are the biantennary and triantennary fully sialylated oligosaccharides in a ratio of 85:15. The heterogeneity results from the loss of terminal sialic acid residues and of the presence of core fucosylation [38–40]. The different combinations of the two glycans result in tetra-, penta-, and hexasialylated variants of serum transferrin. The different glycoforms have a similar binding capacity for iron and affinity to the transferrin receptor; only the aglycotransferrin has a diminished iron-binding capacity [41]. Separation and quantification of transferrin glycoforms is currently used in clinical chemistry laboratories for the diagnosis of chronic alcohol abuse and for the screening of CDG. The presence of a hyposialylated form of transferrin in the plasma of chronic alcohol consumers was described 30 years ago by Stibler and termed carbohydrate deficient transferrin (CDT) [42]. The CDT corresponds principally to the loss of an entire N-glycan chain and a minor fraction to the loss of terminal sialic acids [40]. Abnormal biosynthesis of transferrin N-glycans is seen in CDG, and transferrin isoelectrofocusing is the screening tool for these diseases [43]. In hepatocarcinoma, numerous modifications of transferrin glycosylation are observed, in particular, the increased branching of the N-glycans and the presence of a bisecting GlcNAc residue [44]. During pregnancy, increased branching and sialylation of transferrin glycoforms are observed [45].

3.3.5. α 2-Macroglobulin

 α 2-Macroglobulin is a tetramer with a molecular weight of 720 kDa, found in the serum at a concentration of 200–400 mg/100 ml. Each of the four 180-kDa subunits contains eight *N*-glycosylation sites [46]. The N-glycans are principally of the complex type; approximately 7% oligomannosidic structures are present, especially located on Asn-846. The biantennary structures are predominant (85%) and are fully sialylated or galactose terminated. Triantennary represent 5% of the total N-glycans and approximately 20% of the structures are fucosylated, no bisecting GlcNAc residues are seen in normal pooled serum [47].

 α 2-Macroglobulin is a protease inhibitor that contains a "bait" region that is cleaved after contact with the proteinase. This cleavage triggers a conformational change that traps the protease, and the resulting complex is cleared from the serum. Recently, α 2-macroglobulin has been shown to interact with MBL; this interaction takes place after recognition of foreign proteases at the surface of microorganisms, and triggers enzyme cascades such as the complement [47]. Glycosylation modifications of α 2-macroglobulin have been detected in various autoimmune diseases; for example, increased carbohydrate content was found in systemic lupus erythematosus [48], a modified glycosylation has also been suggested to take place in multiple sclerosis [49].

3.3.6. α 1-Antitrypsin

 α 1-Antitrypsin is a member of the serine protease inhibitor (serpin) superfamily. It is a 52-kDa glycoprotein containing three N-glycans and is found in the serum at a concentration of 90–200 mg/100 ml. The N-glycans have recently been described, and are of the complex type with 78% of biantennary, 20% of triantennary, and approximately 2% tetraantennary structures. The structures are fully sialylated with less than 1% of galactose-terminated glycans. Fucose is found α 1,6-linked to biantennary structures, corresponding to 4% of the total glycan, whereas in triantennary and tetranatennary glycans fucose is found α 1,3-linked to an *N*-acetyllactosamine GlcNAc residue part of sialyl-Lewis^x determinant principally [50]. Several isomers have been observed by isoelectrofocalization [51] due to the combination of different N-linked glycan structures. The N-linked glycan at Asn-83 is alternatively bi-, tri-, or tetraantennary, whereas glycans at Asn-46 and Asn-247 are principally biantennary. Modification of the distribution of the isoforms is observed in CDG, chronic alcoholism, and hereditary fructose intolerance with α 1-antitrypsin underglycosylated with only one or two N-glycans [52–54].

3.3.7. α 1-Acid Glycoprotein

 α 1-Acid glycoprotein (AGP), also called orosomucoid, is an acute phase protein, which is synthesized mainly by hepatocytes and belongs to the subfamily of lipocalins, called the immunocalins. AGP is a glycoprotein with a molecular weight of 41-43 kDa, heavily glycosylated (45% carbohydrate by weight) on five N-glycosylation sites (Asn-15, -38, -54, -75, and -85) and is found in the serum at a concentration of 50-100 mg/100 ml. The N-glycans are bi- (14%), tri- (38%), or tetraantennary (48%) complex-type oligosaccharides [55]. The antennae are highly sialylated resulting in molecules with very acidic isoelectric points (pI 2.8-3.8); the sialic acid is found α 2.3- and α 2.6-linked to a galactose residue, the α 2.3-linked preferentially expressed on tri- and tetraantennae structures. Fucose is found α 1.3-linked to an antennae GlcNAc residue that can be part of a sialyl-Lewis^x determinant (NeuAca2,3 Gal
^β1,4(Fuca1,3)GlcNAc-) [56]. Thousands of glycoforms can be generated; the five glycosylation sites can be occupied with a bi-, tri-, or tetraantennary structure but there is a specific distribution with triantennary structures principally on Asn-15, biantennary structures on Asn-38, and triantennary on Asn-54. Tetraantennary are principally located on Asn-75 and Asn-85 [55, 57]. The degree of sialylation and/or the number of antennae of the N-glycans affect the immunomodulatory properties of AGP such as lymphocyte proliferation, the induction of IL-1 inhibiting activity in macrophage, and also the inhibition of platelet aggregation [58]. During the acute phase of inflammation, a cytokine-induced decrease in the degree of branching of AGP occurs with an increase of glycoforms with biantennary glycans [57, 59]. Concomitantly, there is a large increase in sialyl-Lewis^x-substituted AGP molecules, a ligand for E-selectin. These soluble molecules, acting as counterreceptors, might influence the selectinmediated influx of leukocytes into inflamed tissues [59]. In chronic inflammation, there is an increased expression of sialyl-Lewis^x on AGP and of tri- and tetraantennary glycans. On the contrary, during acute inflammation, there is a decrease of tri- and tetraantennary glycans with an increased degree

of fucosylation [57, 60]. Estrogen induces a decrease in fucosylation and an increased branching of the AGP oligosaccharides, a reaction opposite to those found during inflammatory reactions [61].

3.3.8. Haptoglobin

Haptoglobin is a multimeric glycoprotein found in the serum at a concentration of 30–190 mg/100 ml, formed by the association of α and β chains, and characterized by a genetic polymorphism. Four *N*-glycosylation sites are present on the β chain. The N-glycans are bi- or triantennary oligosaccharides with terminal sialic acid or galactose residues and the fucose α 1,6-linked to the core GlcNAc [62, 63]. Twenty-seven different oligosaccharides have been detected, but not characterized, by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and their modifications of distribution have been described during Crohn's disease, rheumatoid arthritis, and stomach cancer [64]. In a recent study, the increase of haptoglobin fucosylation during various cancers has also been demonstrated and described as a possible marker of pancreatic cancer [65].

3.3.9. Other Serum Glycoproteins

The previously described glycoproteins represent approximately 80–90% of the physiological serum N-glycome; the remainder is represented principally by ceruloplasmin, the complement system, and the apolipoproteins.

Ceruloplasmin contains four *N*-glycosylation sites and is found in the serum at a concentration of 20–60 mg/100 ml. The N-glycan of ceruloplasmin have been characterized as bi- and triantennary complex-type oligosaccharides, sialylated, and α 1,3- or α 1,6-fucosylated [66, 67].

The complement system is a complex protease cascade with three pathways: the classical, the alternative, and the lectin pathway. The glycosylation pattern of the different proteins depends on the organ of synthesis. The complement components predominantly synthesized in the liver (C1r, C1s, C2, C3, C4, C5, C6, C8, C9, FB, FH, FI, C4 bp) contain complex biantennary oligosaccharides, variably sialylated, and with a low level of fucosylation. C3 contains only oligomannose N-glycans. The components synthesized in the lymphoid organs (C1q, properdin, and C7) are also complex biantennary glycans but the core is predominantly fucosylated [68].

Apolipoprotein B-100 is synthesized by the liver and has a molecular weight of 513 kDa and possesses 16 *N*-glycosylation sites. It contains 6.3% carbohydrate by mass; the N-glycans are either of the complex-type (72%), the oligomannosic-type (23%), or hybrid structures (5%). The complex structures are principally biantennary, neutral, mono- or disialylated with the presence of traces of triantennary oligosaccharides. No fucosylated structure has been found. The distribution of the N-glycans has been shown to

be highly conserved in normal subjects and in selected individuals known to be at high risk to atherosclerosis development [69, 70]. Apolipoprotein(a) contains N- and O-linked glycans; the two principal N-glycans are complex mono- or disialylated biantennary oligosaccharides [71].

4. Determination of the TSNG

In the past decade, the emergence of novel technologies has permitted the development of new methods for the determination of the TSNG. For these methods, to be used in clinical chemistry laboratories, they need to fulfill some specific requirements such as being high throughput, sensitive, reproducible, and easy to implement. Callewaert *et al.* were the first to develop such a protocol and applied it to the exploration of CDG and liver cirrhosis diagnosis [72–75]. The protocol is always based on the same three steps: cleavage of serum glycoprotein N-glycans, purification of the released oligosaccharides, and analysis of the N-glycome (Fig. 3).

4.1. Cleavage of the N-Glycans

N-linked oligosaccharides can be released from the serum glycoproteins by two types of methods: chemical or enzymatic.

Hydrazinolysis was one of the first methods applied to the quantitative liberation of intact N-linked oligosaccharides in an unreduced form and it has been automated [76]. This method has been extensively utilized for structural analysis, but the parameters of the reaction conditions need to be defined precisely. Furthermore, moisture in the samples and in the anhydrous hydrazine has to be avoided to prevent degradation of the N-glycan. For practical reasons, enzymatic deglycosylation is preferred.

Peptide-*N*-(*N*-acetyl β -glucosaminyl)asparagine amidase or PNGase F (EC 3.5.1.52) hydrolyzes the glycosylamine linkage releasing the unreduced oligo-saccharide while the asparagine is converted to aspartic acid. The enzyme, which cleaves all N-linked oligosaccharides present in humans, has a broad specificity. It is active between pH 7.5 and 9.5 with an optimum pH of 8.6 [77].

The seric glycoproteins (serum 10 μ l) are first denatured to break the polypeptide backbone tridimensional structure and to render all the glycans accessible. Usually the following conditions are used: a thermal denaturation (100 °C, 10 min) in the presence of sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) (0.5%) and 2-mercaptoethanol (1%). Due to SDS inhibition of PNGase activity, a non-ionic detergent is added (Nonidet P-40) to counteract the SDS effect. Usually 500 units of PNGase F are added and the digestion is performed at 37 °C for 3 hours. Accessibility to all serum glycoprotein



FIG. 3. Strategy of TSNG determination and structural characterization. Symbols for the structural formulas are defined as follow: solid square, GlcNAc; open square, Gal (galactose); open circle, Man (mannose); open diamond, NeuAc (*N*-acetylneuraminic acid); star, methyl group.

N-glycans can be achieved also by protease degradation (trypsin, chymotrypsin, pronase) [78], or by reduction/alkylation of the sample [79, 80]. An alternative approach has been used by Papac *et al.* in which the sample is first immobilized on a polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane and then denatured by reduction/alkylation [81].

HUMAN TOTAL SERUM N-GLYCOME

4.2. Purification of the Released Oligosaccharides

The released oligosaccharides are purified by solid phase extraction, using either hydrophilic chromatography (i.e., Sepharose 4B) [82], hydrophobic chromatography (C18) [80], or adsorption on porous graphitized carbon (PGC) [83, 84]. PGC has the advantage of purifying neutral and sialylated oligosaccharides in a single step; the column is washed with an acetonitrile/ water (1/3 v/v) containing 0.1% trifluoroacetic acid (TFA), equilibrated in water. The enzymatic digestion diluted in water (1/20 v/v) is then loaded on the column, and washed with water and the fraction containing the oligosaccharides is eluted with acetonitrile/water (1/3 v/v) containing TFA 0.1% [84].

4.3. Analysis of the N-Glycome

The analysis can be performed with or without derivatization on native or desialylated oligosaccharides.

4.3.1. Analysis of Oligosaccharides without Derivatization

Direct analysis of the purified free oligosaccharides can be performed by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF-MS). The sialylated oligosaccharides give multiple ions due to salt adducts [82, 85] and there is an extensive fragmentation of sialic acid residues that necessitates the use of linear mode MALDI-TOF to avoid separating the metastable products. For these reasons, it is preferable to study sialylated oligosaccharides after derivatization or desialylation.

4.3.2. Analysis of Desialylated Oligosaccharides without Derivatization

Desialylation of the TSNG reduces the diversity of the oligosaccharides and facilitates the analysis of quantitative variations. Release of sialic acids can be performed either by acid hydrolysis with acetic acid (2 M) at 80 °C for 2 hours or enzymatically by the sialidase of *Arthrobacter ureafaciens* [86]. The neutral N-glycans (100 pmol) are cocrystallized with the 2,5-dihydroxybenzoic acid (DHB) (10 mg/ml in acetonitrile/water/TFA; 300/699/1 v/v/v) as matrix, the mass spectrum being recorded in reflectron mode [83]. The spectra obtained give the distribution of oligosaccharides and their chemical composition. The signal strength of the glycan ionized by MALDI reflects accurately the amount of each component of the TSNG [87], and relative quantification is easily made by reference to a 100% signal corresponding to the main component. Usually, it corresponds to the $[M+Na]^+$ ions at m/z 1664 corresponding to a desialylated biantennary glycan. Furthermore, a recent multiinstitutional study demonstrated the reproducibility of MALDI-TOF, with good coefficients of variation justifying the use of MS for relative quantitation of oligosaccharides [88].

4.3.3. Analysis of Derivatized Oligosaccharides

4.3.3.1. *Methylesterification*. Methylesterification of the carboxylic group of sialic acid stabilizes the oligosaccharide and allows the simultaneous detection in the reflectron positive ion mode of neutral and sialylated oligosaccharides without metastable decay [85]. The N-glycans are dissolved in dimethylsulfoxide and methyliodide, the samples are left for 2 hours at room temperature, and excess reagent is evaporated. The samples and the reagents need to be perfectly anhydrous, otherwise the reaction is incomplete.

4.3.3.2. *Methylation*. Permethylation using the solid sodium hydroxide procedure permits the derivatization of sialylated and neutral oligosaccharides [89], although this procedure needs a clean up that is not compatible with a high number of samples. It is a remarkable tool for structural information [90].

MALDI-TOF analysis of the permethylated N-glycome gives the distribution of the sialylated and the neutral N-glycans.

Electrospray ionization ion trap mass spectrometry (ESI-IT-MS) allows the analysis and structural characterization of permethylated oligosaccharide in complex mixtures and has the capacity to perform multiple stages of fragmentation (MSⁿ). The first stage (MS¹) yields resolution of the methylated glycan mixture and the chemical composition of each isobaric oligosaccharide. The second and third stages (MS² and MS³) provide information on the nature of the antennae, the branching pattern, the core structure, and the core fucosylation [83, 91].

The permethylated oligosaccharides obtained after hydrolysis, reduction, and acetylation are analyzed as their permethyl alditol acetates by gas chromatography–mass spectrometry (GC–MS). This procedure permits linkage analysis and the quantification of 2,3- and 2,6-linked sialic acid. Key features of the linkage analysis of the N-glycome are as follows: (1) the abundance of 2-linked mannose; 2,4- and 2,6-linked mannose represent the biantennary complex glycans and tri- and/or tetraantennary structures, respectively; (2) comparison of the analysis before and after desialylation, especially the 3- and 6-linked galactose decrease and the concomitant increase of terminal galactose, indicates the sialic acid position on the galactose residues; (3) 4,6-linked *N*-acetylglucosamine indicates the presence of core α 1,6-fucosylation, and 3,4-linked *N*-acetylglucosamine corresponds to α 3-fucosylation; and (4) 3,4,6-linked mannose indicates bisected complex structures [83, 90, 92]. 4.3.3.3. Fluorophore-Labeled N-Glycome. The reducing terminus of N-glycans is coupled with a fluorophore that contains a primary amino group. The Schiff's base formed is stabilized by reduction with sodium cyanoborohydride to a secondary amine. The fluorophore-labeled oligosaccharides can be separated by electrophoresis (fluorophore-assisted carbohydrate electrophoresis, FACE) [93]. Adaptation of this protocol to a DNA sequencer allows high-sensitivity detection, high throughput, and reliable quantitation. The fluorophore used is 8-amino-1,3,6-pyrene trisulfonic acid (APTS); the separation of the oligosaccharide is performed either on a polyacrylamide gel-based sequencer or on multicapillary DNA sequencers [72, 94]. Compared with mass spectrometric methods, this protocol resolves isobaric glycan stereoisomers, but the possibilities of characterization of an unknown compound are limited to the use of standards for comigration and to enzymatic degradations.

4.3.3.4. *Pyridylaminated Oligosaccharides*. Pyridylamination involves reductive amination of the reducing end of the N-glycan by coupling the sample with 2-aminopyridine (2-AP) in the presence of borane dimethylamine complex [95]. The study of human TSNG with this technique identified 31 different N-glycans [96]. But to obtain this result, it is necessary to sequentially separate the mixture of released 2-AP-coupled N-glycans by HPLC on three different columns. This protocol is unfortunately not suitable for quantitative glycan profiling and cannot be applied to a great number of samples. A recent report describes a MALDI-TOF analysis of the 2-AP derivatized and methylesterified N-glycans [97].

5. Qualitative and Quantitative Characterization of the Normal Human TSNG

Structural identification and distribution of the N-glycans comprising the human TSNG has been undertaken by various techniques, such as HPLC [96], DNA-FACE [73, 74], and MS [83, 97]. The structures identified are schematized in Table 1.

A MALDI-TOF mass spectrum of a methyl-esterified N-glycome of a normal subject is characterized by the presence of 33 ions corresponding to different isobaric N-glycans (Fig. 4A). Traces of oligomannosidic structures are found (structures 1 and 4 in the Fig. 4A) but the majority corresponds to complex-type N-glycans. The most intense ions at m/z 1969 and 2274 correspond to the mono- and disialylated biantennary "complex" structures (structures 20 and 27 in Fig. 4A and Table 1). The ratio of bi- to triantennary structure is 5 (i.e., structures 27 vs 38) as well as the ratio of tri- to tetraantennary (i.e., structures 38 vs 44). The MALDI-TOF analysis does not

Nº	m/z	Chemical composition	Structure ^a
1	1257	Hex ₅ HexNAc ₂	°}- - -
2	1283	Hex ₃ HexNAc ₃ DeoxyHex	■ ^C CO
3	1299	Hex ₄ HexNAc ₃	□=
4	1419	Hex ₆ HexNAc ₂	°~ •
5	1486	Hex ₃ HexNAc ₄ DeoxyHex	
6	1502	Hex ₄ HexNAc ₄	⋳ <mark>⋹</mark> ⋺⋗⋹⋐
7	1543	Hex ₃ HexNAc ₅	₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽
8	1582	Hex ₇ HexNAc ₂	
9	1604	NeuAcMe Hex ₄ HexNAc ₄	◇ □ ■ <mark> </mark> ◇ ■ ■
10	1648	Hex ₄ HexNAc ₄ DeoxyHex	⋳ <mark>⋹</mark> ∽⋗⋕⋕
11	1664	Hex ₅ HexNAc ₄	□==○ □==○
12	1689	Hex ₃ HexNAc ₅ DeoxyHex	
13	1705	Hex ₄ HexNAc ₅	₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽₽
14	1743	Hex ₈ HexNAc ₂	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
15	1807	NeuAcMe Hex ₄ HexNAc ₄	०⊐ <mark>∎</mark> ₀°►∎
16	1810	Hex ₅ HexNAc ₄ DeoxyHex	
17	1851	Hex ₄ HexNAc ₅ DeoxyHex	
18	1867	Hex ₅ HexNAc ₅	
19	1953	NeuAcMe Hex ₄ HexNAc ₄ DeoxyHex	
20	1969	$NeuAcMe\;Hex_{5}\;HexNAc_{4}$	♦ □= □=
21	2010	NeuAcMe Hex ₄ HexNAc ₆	◇= □[■] →= [■] → (→
22	2013	Hex ₅ HexNAc ₅ DeoxyHex	
23	2029	Hex ₆ HexNAc ₅	

 TABLE 1

 Structure of N-Linked Glycans from Human TSNG

(continues)

Nº	m/z	Chemical composition	Structure ^a
24	2115	NeuAcMeHex₅HexNAc₄DeoxyHex	◇□=○ □=○ ↓
25	2172	NeuAcMeHex ₅ HexNAc ₅	┍ <mark>┍╴</mark> ╺┍╴ ╺┍╴ ╺┍╴ ╺┍╴ ╺┍╴
26	2175	Hex ₆ HexNAc ₅ DeoxyHex	
27	2274	$NeuAcMe_2Hex_5HexNAc_4$	◇□●○ ◇□●○
28	2318	NeuAcMeHex ₅ HexNAc ₅ DeoxyHex	⋳ <mark>∊</mark> ⋳
29	2334	NeuAcMe Hex ₆ HexNAc ₅	◇□=₽ □=₽ □=₽ □=₽ □=₽ □=₽ □=₽
30	2394	Hex ₇ HexNAc ₆	
31	2420	NeuAcMe ₂ Hex ₅ HexNAc ₄ DeoxyHex	
32	2539	Hex ₇ HexNAc ₆ DeoxyHex	
33	2623	NeuAcMe ₂ Hex ₅ HexNAc ₅ DeoxyHex	◇─── ◇──── ◇─□■○ ▲
34	2639	NeuAcMe ₂ Hex ₆ HexNAc ₅	┥ <mark>┍╼</mark> ╱╼╼ ┥ <mark>┍╼</mark> ╱╼╼
35	2685	Hex ₇ HexNAc ₆ DeoxyHex ₂	
36	2699	NeuAcMeHex ₇ HexNAc ₆	
37	2785	NeuAcMe ₂ Hex ₆ HexNAc ₅ DeoxyHex	╡ <mark>╘╼</mark> ╱╾┱ ╡ <mark>╘╼</mark> ╱╾┱ ╡
38	2944	NeuAcMe ₃ Hex ₆ HexNAc ₅	
39	3004	NeuAcMe ₂ Hex ₇ HexNAc ₆	
40	3090	NeuAcMe ₃ Hex ₆ HexNAc ₅ DeoxyHex	
41	3309	NeuAcMe ₃ Hex ₇ HexNAc ₆	
42	3455	NeuAcMe ₃ Hex ₇ HexNAc ₆ DeoxyHex	
43	3601	$NeuAcMe_3Hex_7HexNAc_6DeoxyHex_2$	
44	3614	NeuAcMe ₄ Hex ₇ HexNAc ₆	
45	3760	NeuAcMe ₄ Hex ₇ HexNAc ₆ DeoxyHex	
46	3906	$NeuAcMe_{4}Hex_{7}HexNAc_{6}DeoxyHex_{2}$	

Table 1 (Continued)

m/z values refer to $[M+Na]^+$ ions of methylesterified N-linked glycan.

^aSymbols for the structural formulas are defined as follows: solid square, GlcNAc;

open square, Gal; open circle, Man; triangle, fuc; open diamond, N-acetylneuraminic acid.



FIG. 4. MALDI-TOF-MS analysis of human TSNG. Spectra obtained from (A) Methyl-esterified N-linked oligosaccharides from normal subject and (B) desialylated N-linked oligosaccharides from normal subject. The numbers correspond to the structures in Table 1.

reflect the extreme diversity of the structures present since an identical ion could correspond to different isobaric structures. Three types of diversity cannot be characterized: (1) the branching pattern of the GlcNAc residues on the pentasaccharidic core, (2) the position of the fucose α 1,6- or α 1,3-linked, and (3) the anomery of the linkage of the sialic acid α 2,3- or α 2,6-linked on the galactose.

Analysis of the permethyl alditol acetates by GC–MS gives an indication of the position of the fucose residue which is principally α 1,6-linked to the core GlcNAc residue, and only traces of α 1,3-linked fucose are detected. α 2,6-linked *N*-acetylneuraminic acid predominates; the ratio of α 2,6 to α 2,3 is approximately 5. Trace amounts of neutral oligosaccharides are observed corresponding to agalactosylated GlcNAc terminated bi- or triantennary complex-type N-glycans (i.e., structures 5 and 12 in Table 1) and to the corresponding monogalactosylated oligosaccharides (i.e., structures 10 and 17 in Table 1). Glycans possessing a bisecting GlcNAc residue are present as very minor components (structure 33 in Table 1 and Fig. 4A) as demonstrated by the presence of traces of 3,4,6-linked mannose in the GC–MS analysis [83]. These 33 isobaric structures correspond to approximately hundred different glycans.

After desialylation of the N-glycome the spectrum is simpler and confirms the previous observation on the branching and fucosylation pattern (Fig. 4B). Approximately 18% of structures are fucosylated and 6% are bisected.

Most of the techniques give relative quantification to either an internal standard or to the most intense peak of the spectrum or of the diagram. Recently, absolute concentration was achieved by HPLC analysis of 2-AP-coupled N-glycans [97]. Quantification of the oligosaccharide is not only representative of glycosylation variations, but also reflects the variation of individual glycoprotein concentrations and the hydration of the serum; for these reasons, it is preferable to express glycosylation differences with intensity ratios of different oligosaccharide (i.e., the ratio of intensities of a biantennary complex oligosaccharide to the corresponding triantennary glycan). Another limitation encountered by quantification is the high variation coefficient (CV) of low-intensity signals.

The variation of distribution of the N-glycans can be defined by calculating the ratio of signal intensities between different glycans. Recently, Callewaert *et al.* have defined a biomarker, the GlycoCirrhoTest, that distinguishes compensated cirrhotic from non-cirrhotic chronic liver disease patient and which is obtained by calculation of the logarithm of the concentration (or of the ions intensities) ratio of structures 22 and 23 (Table 1) obtained from a desialylated N-glycome [74].

6. Physiological Variations of the N-Glycome

Variations of the TSNG according to age and gender have not yet been studied, but previous studies indicate the possible physiological variations [61, 98].

6.1. Ageing

Modification of galactosylation of IgG N-glycans has been described with ageing. For example, an increase of galactosylation from birth to a maximum at approximately 25 years and then a decrease with ageing was observed by Parekh [98]. Other glycoprotein glycosylation might vary with age also.

6.2. PREGNANCY AND ESTROGEN

Estrogen induces an effect on the degree of N-glycan branching on transferrin [45] and on AGP [61]. A decrease in fucosylation and in sialyl-Lewis^x expression has been demonstrated during estrogen treatment [61].

An example of a TSNG of a second trimester of pregnancy is presented in Fig. 5. An increase in the relative intensity of ions corresponding to the triantennary structure 23 and a decrease of the relative intensity of ions corresponding to the fucosylated structures 16 and 26 can be observed.



FIG. 5. MALDI-TOF-MS analysis of human TSNG. Spectra obtained from a desialylated N-linked oligosaccharides from a second trimester pregnancy. The numbers correspond to the structures in Table 1.

7. Acquired Modifications of the TSNG

7.1. LIVER FIBROSIS AND CIRRHOSIS

Many modifications in *N*-glycosylation have been demonstrated in hepatic cirrhosis [99–101]. Modifications of the TSNG during liver fibrosis and cirrhosis were first demonstrated with a DNA sequencer of desialylated N-glycans, an increase of structures containing bisecting GlcNAc being demonstrated [74].

Morelle *et al.* elucidated the modifications of the N-glycan mix constituting the TSNG in patients with cirrhosis by mass spectrometric analysis of desialylated or methylesterified oligosaccharides and using permethylation they characterized three types of modifications: (1) the presence of an important population of N-glycans with a bisected GlcNAc (structures 7, 12, 13, 22, 25, 28, and 33 in Fig. 6A; and structures 7, 12, 13 and 22 in Fig. 6B); (2) the relative increase in α 1,6-fucosylated oligosaccharides (structures 5, 16, 22, and 26 in the desialylated N-glycome, shown in Fig. 6B); and (3) the presence of neutral agalactosylated oligosaccharides (structures 5, 10, 12, 16, 17, and 22 in Fig. 6A and Table 1) [83].

Callewaert *et al.* have defined and shown the efficiency of a new cirrhosis marker, the GlycoCirrhoTest (AUC = 0.87, specificity = 100%; sensitivity = 75%), but this marker was not relevant for less-advanced fibrosis stages (from F0/F1 to F3 according to Metavir system) [102]. One of the reasons of the lack of sensitivity is probably the small number of oligosaccharide markers that were studied. Higher resolution techniques and also allowing the simultaneous study of the sialylated and the neutral N-glycans could permit the discovery of novel markers of fibrosis. In a recent study, with the use of surface-enhanced laser desorption ionization time-of-flight (SELDI-TOF) Kam *et al.* found four ions at m/z values corresponding to ions showing positive correlations with fibrosis stages. From these values the authors have predicted novel structures of N-glycans not found previously in the TSNG, but this data need to be confirmed by more specific techniques (enzymatic degradations, methylation analysis) [82].

Another possible reason for the poor sensitivity of fibrosis detection is the superposition of different glycoprotein glycosylation modifications. For example, the neutral and most of the bisected GlcNAc oligosaccharides are present on pro-inflammatory galactose-deficient immunoglobulins, but the same glycans might be present on fibrotic liver-synthesized glycoproteins and may be only the latter ones would be a marker of the liver disease.

The N-glycome described in Fig. 6 was obtained from a patient suffering from liver fibrosis with acute alcoholic hepatitis. It is characterized by the presence of a relative increase of multiantennary difucosylated oligosaccharides



FIG. 6. MALDI-TOF-MS analysis of thuman TSNG. Spectra obtained from (A) Methyl-esterified N-linked oligosaccharides from a cirrhotic patient and (B) desialylated N-linked oligosaccharides from a cirrhotic patient. The numbers correspond to the structures in Table 1.

(structures 43, 44, and 45 in Table 1); these oligosaccharides might relate to the inflammation and to glycosylation modifications of AGP.

7.2. INFLAMMATORY DISORDERS

During inflammatory disorders, systemic changes have been referred to acute phase response. Among this response, modifications of serum protein concentrations occur either as an increase of positive acute phase proteins or as a decrease of negative acute phase proteins. Most of the major serum N-glycosylproteins are acute phase proteins [i.e., positive: complement system, antiproteases (α 1-antitrypsin, α 1-antichymotrypsin), haptoglobin, AGP; negative: transferrin]. The various etiologies that lead to substantial changes in the serum concentration of acute phase proteins include infection, trauma, surgery, burns, tissue infarction, various immunologically mediated and crystal-mediated inflammatory conditions, and advanced cancers [58, 103]. As a consequence, in all these conditions, the TSNG should be modified.

During inflammation, the glycosylation modifications are not only quantitative but also qualitative.

7.2.1. Modifications of Glycosylation During Acute Inflammation

A transient decrease in the branching of N-glycan has been described on AGP, accompanied by an increase in highly fucosylated glycoforms [58, 59].

7.2.2. Modifications of Glycosylation During Chronic Inflammation

Chronic inflammation is correlated with modifications of the N-glycan branching, with an increase in the tri- and tetraantennary oligosaccharides, and also with an increase in fucosylation. This has been observed in numerous acute phase proteins: AGP [59, 104], haptoglobin [105], and α 1-antic-hymotrypsin [106]. The fucose residue in these cases is α 1,3-linked, part of a sialyl-Lewis^x epitope and acts as a counterreceptor, inhibitor of selectin-mediated leucocyte–endothelium interactions modulating the extravasations of leukocytes [104].

7.3. CANCER

Numerous alterations of N-glycosylation have been described in cancers. Three types of N-glycome modifications can be encountered: (1) the inflammation induced by the cancer modifies the concentration and the glycosylation of the acute phase proteins, (2) presence in the TSNG of cancer cell glycans with a primary structure preexisting on serum glycoproteins, and

(3) presence in the TSNG of cancer cells N-glycans with a primary structure different from serum glycoprotein oligosaccharide.

Kyselova *et al.* [80] have described the modification of the TSNG during metastatic prostate cancer. Their results demonstrate the presence of 12 N-glycans, out of which 6 were fucosylated, that the authors considered as cancer-specific N-glycans and potential prostate cancer biomarkers. Among these glycans, seven tri- or tetraantennary glycans had an increased relative intensity. A diminished relative intensity was found for the disialylated biantennary oligosaccharide. These results should be also linked to the modifications of AGP and haptoglobin during advanced malignancies, where increased fucosylation, branching, and sialylation are found [65, 107, 108]. Another modification described by Kyselova *et al.* is the increase of the relative intensity of structure 5 (Table 1). This oligosaccharide is typical of IgG, and the increase during prostate cancer of agalactosylated IgG, which has been previously described, would explain its increased presence in the TSNG [27].

7.4. Immunoglobulin Glycosylation Modifications

The glycosylation pattern of IgG, biantennary neutral N-glycans bisected or not, distributed into sialylated oligosaccharides and three types of neutral oligosaccharides (G_0 , G_1 , and G_2) are modified during numerous pathological processes [11, 21–27] with implications in the inflammatory response. The follow-up and the prevention of the complications of these diseases with the TSNG will be possible as the characteristic agalactosylated glycans (i.e., structures 5 and 10 in Table 1) can easily and specifically be identified and quantified in the spectrum.

8. Congenital Modifications of the TSNG

CDG are a family of genetic diseases with a broad clinical presentation resulting from defects in the synthesis of glycans [3]. Twenty disorders of *N*-glycosylation have been reported, out of which four are combined *O*- and *N*-glycosylation defects. CDG type I results from a defect in the assembly of the dolichol-phosphate-linked oligosaccharide precursor, and CDG type II results from a defect in the processing of the glycan in ER and the Golgi.

The analysis of the TSNG of 24 subjects suffering of CDG type I indicated an increase of the α 1,6-fucosylation of the biantennary structures and a significant decrease of the triantennary glycans. The primary protein glycosylation abnormality, in CDG type I, is the partial absence of N-glycans on glycoproteins. Transferrin, lacking one or two chains, is easily detected by isoelectrofocusing and this test is the most widely used for the disease. Since the TSNG does not allow the measurement of a defect of glycosylation, this abnormality is not seen. The TSNG abnormality observed in CDG is probably related to an altered liver function, as seen in liver fibrosis [73]. Increased fucosylation and expression of sialyl-Lewis^x determinant has been described on AGP, α 1-antitrypsin, and α 1-anti-chymotrypsin of patient with CDG type I. The observed increase of α 1,3-fucosylation is induced by a chronic hepatic inflammatory response [109]. Increased branching of N-linked glycans of transferrin and α 1-antitrypsin was demonstrated by Mills *et al.* [54]. The overall N-glycan pattern, observed in TSNG, indicates a decreased branching. Therefore, some glycoproteins react differently to the *N*-glycosylation defect [73] and the TSNG is the sum of all individual glycoprotein N-glycome and of the various superposed physiological alterations (genetic defect with secondary inflammation and liver fibrosis).

In CDG type II, the processing defect of *N*-glycosylation modifies the TSNG qualitatively. In CDG type IIa, the deficit in GlcNAc-TII results in the appearance of characteristic hybrid-type N-glycans [13, 110]. Faid *et al.* have described a typical methylated TSNG of a patient suffering from CDG type IIa, the TSNG of this patient presents a major hybrid structure (9 in Table 1) characteristic of the absence of GlcNAc TII [111]. In the same report, the authors described a second patient with a mild form of CDG type II due to a deficiency of the Cog1 subunit complex [112]. The TSNG presented a characteristic pattern with a different distribution of the oligo-saccharides with an increase of structures lacking sialic acid and galactose residues (structures 15, 20 24, 29, and 34 in Table 1) [112] at the difference of the first patient, and in the second case, the TSNG modifications are less specific and the precise alteration of the N-glycan metabolism cannot be determined.

The desialylated TSNG of a patient suffering from CDG type IIx was shown by Sagi *et al.* [79]. Although the authors demonstrate the efficiency of the technique for the diagnosis of the CDG, with the presence of truncated oligosaccharides in the spectrum (structures 5 and 10), it should be noted that the TSNG is similar to the one obtained in a cirrhotic patient, and there would not be a difference between this CDG type IIx and a CDG type I with liver fibrosis; therefore, the use of TSNG for a specific diagnostic of CDG has limitations.

Other congenital defects such as galactosemia [113], hereditary fructose intolerance [53], and cystic fibrosis [114] have been shown to modify *N*-glycosylation, and therefore in these diseases the TSNG might be altered consequently.

ANDRÉ KLEIN

9. Conclusions

The study of the TSNG is a new field in clinical chemistry. Preliminary studies have demonstrated the interest of this analysis in the domain of CDG and hepatic cirrhosis. The promises of this analysis in the exploration of inflammatory diseases, autoimmune diseases, and cancers need to be demonstrated on large groups of patients, especially concerning the sensitivity and the specificity of the glycan variations. The understanding of the mechanisms of TSNG variations will need complementary analytical explorations to define on which glycoprotein these occur. The knowledge of individual glycoprotein N-glycome variations will then allow the use of the TSNG as a tool for diagnosis and prognosis of diseases. The increase in the sensitivity of the mass spectrometer will soon authorize the analysis of depleted serum, after removal of the 10-15 high-abundant serum glycoproteins; such possibility may permit the detection of low-abundance N-linked oligosaccharides that may be putative disease biomarkers [115, 116]. The TSNG is only a fraction of the human glycome; the exploration of other glycomes such as urinary N-glycome, urinary free oligosaccharides [117], serum glycolipids [118], serum O-glycosylation [111, 119], spinal fluid glycome is in progress. The new biomarkers defined by the TSNG will probably be discovered; their use in the future with the progress in analytical tools and automation in the glycome field will expand and certainly become indispensable to the clinician.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

The author thanks Dr. D. Allorge, Dr. C. Carnoy, Dr. C. Flahaut, and Professor Ph. Roussel for helpful discussions, and for critically reading the manuscript.

References

- Raman R, Raguram S, Venkataraman G, Paulson JC, Sasisekharan R. Glycomics: An integrated systems approach to structure-function relationships of glycans. Nat Methods 2005; 2:817–824.
- [2] Spiro RG. Protein glycosylation: Nature, distribution, enzymatic formation, and disease implications of glycopeptide bonds. Glycobiology 2002; 12:43R–56R.
- [3] Jaeken J, Matthijs G. Congenital disorders of glycosylation: A rapidly expanding disease family. Annu Rev Genomics Hum Genet 2007; 8:261–278.
- [4] Varki A. Biological roles of oligosaccharides: All of the theories are correct. Glycobiology 1993; 3:97–130.
- [5] Klein A, Diaz S, Ferreira I, Lamblin G, Roussel P, Manzi AE. New sialic acids from biological sources identified by a comprehensive and sensitive approach: Liquid chromatography-electrospray ionization-mass spectrometry (LC-ESI-MS) of SIA quinoxalinones. Glycobiology 1997; 7:421–432.

- [6] Kornfeld R, Kornfeld S. Assembly of asparagine-linked oligosaccharides. Annu Rev Biochem 1985; 54:631–664.
- [7] Schachter H. Biosynthetic controls that determine the branching and microheterogeneity of protein-bound oligosaccharides. Biochem Cell Biol 1986; 64:163–181.
- [8] Abeijon C, Mandon EC, Hirschberg CB. Transporters of nucleotide sugars, nucleotide sulfate and ATP in the Golgi apparatus. Trends Biochem Sci 1997; 22:203–207.
- [9] Wu X, Steet RA, Bohorov O, Bakker J, et al. Mutation of the COG complex subunit gene COG7 causes a lethal congenital disorder. Nat Med 2004; 10:518–523.
- [10] Mizuochi T, Taniguchi T, Shimizu A, Kobata A. Structural and numerical variations of the carbohydrate moiety of immunoglobulin G. J Immunol 1982; 129:2016–2020.
- [11] Parekh RB, Dwek RA, Sutton BJ, et al. Association of rheumatoid arthritis and primary osteoarthritis with changes in the glycosylation pattern of total serum IgG. Nature 1985; 316:452–457.
- [12] Fujii S, Nishiura T, Nishikawa A, Miura R, Taniguchi N. Structural heterogeneity of sugar chains in immunoglobulin G. Conformation of immunoglobulin G molecule and substrate specificities of glycosyltransferases. J Biol Chem 1990; 265: 6009–6018.
- [13] Butler M, Quelhas D, Critchley AJ, et al. Detailed glycan analysis of serum glycoproteins of patients with congenital disorders of glycosylation indicates the specific defective glycan processing step and provides an insight into pathogenesis. Glycobiology 2003; 13:601–622.
- [14] Arnold JN, Wormald MR, Sim RB, Rudd PM, Dwek RA. The impact of glycosylation on the biological function and structure of human immunoglobulins. Annu Rev Immunol 2007; 25:21–50.
- [15] Malhotra R, Wormald MR, Rudd PM, Fischer PB, Dwek RA, Sim RB. Glycosylation changes of IgG associated with rheumatoid arthritis can activate complement via the mannose-binding protein. Nat Med 1995; 1:237–243.
- [16] Arnold JN, Dwek RA, Rudd PM, Sim RB. Mannan binding lectin and its interaction with immunoglobulins in health and in disease. Immunol Lett 2006; 106:103–110.
- [17] Mimura Y, Sondermann P, Ghirlando R, et al. Role of oligosaccharide residues of IgG1-Fc in Fc gamma RIIb binding. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:45539–45547.
- [18] Shinkawa T, Nakamura K, Yamane N, et al. The absence of fucose but not the presence of galactose or bisecting N-acetylglucosamine of human IgG1 complex-type oligosaccharides shows the critical role of enhancing antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity. J Biol Chem. 2003; 278:3466–3473.
- [19] Kaneko Y, Nimmerjahn F, Ravetch JV. Anti-inflammatory activity of immunoglobulin G resulting from Fc sialylation. Science 2006; 313:670–673.
- [20] Scallon BJ, Tam SH, McCarthy SG, Cai AN, Raju TS. Higher levels of sialylated Fc glycans in immunoglobulin G molecules can adversely impact functionality. Mol Immunol 2007; 44:1524–1534.
- [21] Rook GA, Onyebujoh P, Wilkins E, Ly HM, al Attiyah R, Bahr G, Corrah T, Hernandez H, Stanford JL. A longitudinal study of per cent agalactosyl IgG in tuberculosis patients receiving chemotherapy, with or without immunotherapy. Immunology 1994; 81:149–154.
- [22] Rademacher TW, Parekh RB, Dwek RA. Glycobiology. Annu Rev Biochem 1988; 57:785–838.
- [23] Cremata JA, Sorell L, Montesino R, et al. Hypogalactosylation of serum IgG in patients with coeliac disease. Clin Exp Immunol 2003; 133:422–429.
- [24] Novak J, Tomana M, Shah GR, Brown R, Mestecky J. Heterogeneity of IgG glycosylation in adult periodontal disease. J Dent Res 2005; 84:897–901.
- [25] Moore JS, Wu X, Kulhavy R, Tomana M, et al. Increased levels of galactose-deficient IgG in sera of HIV-1-infected individuals. AIDS 2005; 19:381–389.

- [26] Holland M, Yagi H, Takahashi N, et al. Differential glycosylation of polyclonal IgG, IgG-Fc and IgG-Fab isolated from the sera of patients with ANCA-associated systemic vasculitis. Biochim Biophys Acta 2006; 176:669–677.
- [27] Kanoh Y, Mashiko T, Danbara M, et al. Changes in serum IgG oligosaccharide chains with prostate cancer progression. Anticancer Res 2004; 24:3135–3139.
- [28] Baenziger J, Kornfeld S. Structure of the carbohydrate units of IgA1 immunoglobulin. I. Composition, glycopeptide isolation, and structure of the asparagine-linked oligosaccharide units. J Biol Chem 1974; 249:7260–7269.
- [29] Field MC, Amatayakul-Chantler S, Rademacher TW, Rudd PM, Dwek RA. Structural analysis of the N-glycans from human immunoglobulin A1: Comparison of normal human serum immunoglobulin A1 with that isolated from patients with rheumatoid arthritis. Biochem J 1994; 299:261–275.
- [30] Mattu TS, Pleass RJ, Willis AC, et al. The glycosylation and structure of human serum IgA1, Fab, and Fc regions and the role of N-glycosylation on Fc alpha receptor interactions. J Biol Chem 1998; 273:2260–2272.
- [31] Roos A, Bouwman LH, van Gijlswijk-Janssen DJ, et al. Human IgA activates the complement system via the mannan-binding lectin pathway. J Immunol 2001; 167:2861–2868.
- [32] Rifai A, Fadden K, Morrison SL, Chintalacharuvu KR. The N-glycans determine the differential blood clearance and hepatic uptake of human immunoglobulin (Ig)A1 and IgA2 isotypes. J Exp Med 2000; 191:2171–2182.
- [33] Oortwijn BD, Roos A, Royle L, et al. Differential glycosylation of polymeric and monomeric IgA: A possible role in glomerular inflammation in IgA nephropathy. J Am Soc Nephrol 2006; 17:3529–3539.
- [34] Basset C, Durand V, Jamin C, et al. Increased N-linked glycosylation leading to oversialylation of monomeric immunoglobulin A1 from patients with Sjogren's syndrome. Scand J Immunol 2000; 51:300–306.
- [35] Chapman A, Kornfeld R. Structure of the high mannose oligosaccharides of a human IgM myeloma protein. I. The major oligosaccharides of the two high mannose glycopeptides. J Biol Chem 1979; 254:816–823.
- [36] Chapman A, Kornfeld R. Structure of the high mannose oligosaccharides of a human IgM myeloma protein. II. The minor oligosaccharides of high mannose glycopeptide. J Biol Chem 1979; 254:824–828.
- [37] Arnold JN, Wormald MR, Suter DM, et al. Human serum IgM glycosylation: Identification of glycoforms that can bind to mannan-binding lectin. J Biol Chem 2005; 280:29080–29087.
- [38] Spik G, Bayard B, Fournet B, Strecker G, Bouquelet S, Montreuil J. Studies on glycoconjugates. LXIV. Complete structure of two carbohydrate units of human serotransferrin. FEBS Lett 1975; 50:296–299.
- [39] Marz L, Hatton MW, Berry LR, Regoeczi E. The structural heterogeneity of the carbohydrate moiety of desialylated human transferrin. Can J Biochem 1982; 60:624–630.
- [40] Flahaut C, Michalski JC, Danel T, Humbert MH, Klein A. The effects of ethanol on the glycosylation of human transferrin. Glycobiology 2003; 13:191–198.
- [41] Hoefkens P, Huijskes-Heins MI, de Jeu-Jaspars CM, van Noort WL, van Eijk HG. Influence of transferrin glycans on receptor binding and iron-donation. Glycoconj J 1997; 14:289–295.
- [42] Stibler H, Allgulander C, Borg S, Kjellin KG. Abnormal microheterogeneity of transferrin in serum and cerebrospinal fluid in alcoholism. Acta Med Scand 1978; 204:49–56.
- [43] Grunewald S, Matthijs G, Jaeken J. Congenital disorders of glycosylation: A review. Pediatr Res 2002; 52:618–624.

- [44] Yamashita K, Koide N, Endo T, Iwaki Y, Kobata A. Altered glycosylation of serum transferrin of patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. J Biol Chem 1989; 264:2415–2423.
- [45] De Jong G, Feelders R, Van Noort WL, Van Eijk HG. Transferrin microheterogeneity as a probe in normal and disease states. Glycoconj J 1995; 12:219–226.
- [46] Sottrup-Jensen L. Alpha-macroglobulins: Structure, shape, and mechanism of proteinase complex formation. J Biol Chem 1989; 264:11539–11542.
- [47] Arnold JN, Wallis R, Willis AC, et al. Interaction of mannan binding lectin with alpha2 macroglobulin via exposed oligomannose glycans: A conserved feature of the thiol ester protein family. J Biol Chem 2006; 281: 6955–6963.
- [48] Panzironi C, Silvestrini B, Mo MY, Lahita R, Mruk D, Cheng CY. An increase in the carbohydrate moiety of alpha 2-macroglobulin is associated with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). Biochem Mol Biol Int 1997; 43:1305–1322.
- [49] Gunnarsson M, Stigbrand T, Jensen PE. Aberrant forms of alpha(2)-macroglobulin purified from patients with multiple sclerosis. Clin Chim Acta 2000; 295:27–40.
- [50] Kolarich D, Weber A, Turecek PL, Schwarz HP, Altmann F. Comprehensive glycoproteomic analysis of human alphal-antitrypsin and its charge isoforms. Proteomics 2006; 6:3369–3380.
- [51] Jeppsson JO, Einarsson R. Genetic variants of alpha 1-antitrypsin and hemoglobin typed by isoelectric focusing in preselected narrow pH gradients with PhastSystem. Clin Chem 1992; 38:577–580.
- [52] Henry H, Froehlich F, Perret R, et al. Microheterogeneity of serum glycoproteins in patients with chronic alcohol abuse compared with carbohydrate-deficient glycoprotein syndrome type I. Clin Chem 1999; 45:1408–1413.
- [53] Hillebrand G, Schneppenheim R, Oldigs HD, Santer R. Hereditary fructose intolerance and alpha(1) antitrypsin deficiency. Arch Dis Child 2000; 83:72–73.
- [54] Mills P, Mills K, Clayton P, Johnson A, Whitehouse D, Winchester B. Congenital disorders of glycosylation type I leads to altered processing of N-linked glycans, as well as underglycosylation. Biochem J 2001; 359:249–254.
- [55] Treuheit MJ, Costello CE, Halsall HB. Analysis of the five glycosylation sites of human alpha 1-acid glycoprotein. Biochem J 1992; 283:105–112.
- [56] Wieruszeski JM, Fournet B, Konan D, Biou D, Durand G. 400-MHz 1H-NMR spectroscopy of fucosylated tetrasialyl oligosaccharides isolated from normal and cirrhotic alpha 1-acid glycoprotein. FEBS Lett 1988; 238:390–394.
- [57] Higai K, Aoki Y, Azuma Y, Matsumoto KR. Glycosylation of site-specific glycans of alpha1-acid glycoprotein and alterations in acute and chronic inflammation. Biochim Biophys Acta 2005; 1725:128–135.
- [58] Ceciliani F, Pocacqua V. The acute phase protein alpha1-acid glycoprotein: A model for altered glycosylation during diseases. Curr Protein Pept Sci 2007; 8:91–108.
- [59] De Graaf TW, Van der Stelt ME, Anbergen MG, van Dijk W. Inflammation-induced expression of sialyl Lewis^X-containing glycan structures on alpha 1-acid glycoprotein (orosomucoid) in human sera. J Exp Med 1993; 177:657–666.
- [60] Havenaar EC, Dolhain RJ, Turner GA, et al. Do synovial fluid acute phase proteins from patients with rheumatoid arthritis originate from serum. Glycoconj J 1997; 14:457–465.
- [61] Brinkman-Van der Linden CM, Havenaar EC, Van Ommen CR, Van Kamp GJ, Gooren LJ, Van Dijk W. Oral estrogen treatment induces a decrease in expression of sialyl Lewis^x on alpha 1-acid glycoprotein in females and male-to-female transsexuals. Glycobiology 1996; 6:407–412.
- [62] Wilson NL, Schulz BL, Karlsson NG, Packer NH. Sequential analysis of N- and O-linked glycosylation of 2D-PAGE separated glycoproteins. J Proteome Res 2002; 1:521–529.

- [63] He Z, Aristoteli LP, Kritharides L, Garner B. HPLC analysis of discrete haptoglobin isoform N-linked oligosaccharides following 2D-PAGE isolation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2006; 343:496–503.
- [64] Goodarzi MT, Turner GA. Reproducible and sensitive determination of charged oligosaccharides from haptoglobin by PNGase F digestion and HPAEC/PAD analysis: Glycan composition varies with disease. Glycoconj J 1998; 15:469–475.
- [65] Okuyama N, Ide Y, Nakano M, et al. Fucosylated haptoglobin is a novel marker for pancreatic cancer: A detailed analysis of the oligosaccharide structure and a possible mechanism for fucosylation. Int J Cancer 2006; 118:2803–2808.
- [66] Yamashita K, Liang CJ, Funakoshi S, Kobata A. Structural studies of asparagine-linked sugar chains of human ceruloplasmin. Structural characteristics of the triantennary complex type sugar chains of human plasma glycoproteins. J Biol Chem 1981; 256:1283–1289.
- [67] Endo M, Suzuki K, Schmid K, et al. The structures and microheterogeneity of the carbohydrate chains of human plasma ceruloplasmin. A study employing 500-MHz 1H-NMR spectroscopy. J Biol Chem 1982; 257:8755–8760.
- [68] Ritchie GE, Moffatt BE, Sim RB, Morgan BP, Dwek RA, Rudd PM. Glycosylation and the complement system. Chem Rev 2002; 102:305–319.
- [69] Taniguchi T, Ishikawa Y, Tsunemitsu M, Fukuzaki H. The structures of the asparaginelinked sugar chains of human apolipoprotein B-100. Arch Biochem Biophys 1989; 273:197–205.
- [70] Garner B, Harvey DJ, Royle L, et al. Characterization of human apolipoprotein B100 oligosaccharides in LDL subfractions derived from normal and hyperlipidemic plasma: Deficiency of alpha-N-acetylneuraminyllactosyl-ceramide in light and small dense LDL particles. Glycobiology 2001; 11:791–802.
- [71] Garner B, Merry AH, Royle L, Harvey DJ, Rudd PM, Thillet J. Structural elucidation of the N- and O-glycans of human apolipoprotein(a): Role of o-glycans in conferring protease resistance. J Biol Chem 2001; 276:22200–22208.
- [72] Callewaert N, Geysens S, Molemans F, Contreras R. Ultrasensitive profiling and sequencing of N-linked oligosaccharides using standard DNA-sequencing equipment. Glycobiology 2001; 11:275–281.
- [73] Callewaert N, Schollen E, Vanhecke A, Jaeken J, Matthijs G, Contreras R. Increased fucosylation and reduced branching of serum glycoprotein N-glycans in all known subtypes of congenital disorder of glycosylation I. Glycobiology 2003; 13:367–375.
- [74] Callewaert N, Van Vlierberghe H, Van Hecke A, Laroy W, Delanghe J, Contreras R. Noninvasive diagnosis of liver cirrhosis using DNA sequencer-based total serum protein glycomics. Nat Med 2004; 10:429–434.
- [75] Callewaert N, Contreras R, Mitnik-Gankin L, Carey L, Matsudaira P, Ehrlich D. Total serum protein N-glycome profiling on a capillary electrophoresis-microfluidics platform. Electrophoresis 2004; 25:3128–3131.
- [76] Patel T, Bruce J, Merry A, Bigge C, Wormald M, Jaques A, Parekh R. Use of hydrazine to release in intact and unreduced form both N- and O-linked oligosaccharides from glycoproteins. Biochemistry 1993; 32:679–693.
- [77] Tarentino AL, Plummer TH, Jr. Enzymatic deglycosylation of asparagine-linked glycans: Purification, properties, and specificity of oligosaccharide-cleaving enzymes from Flavobacterium meningosepticum. Methods Enzymol 1994; 230:44–57.
- [78] Nakagawa H, Hato M, Takegawa Y, et al. Detection of altered N-glycan profiles in whole serum from rheumatoid arthritis patients. J Chromatogr B Analyt 2007; 853:133–137.

- [79] Sagi D, Kienz P, Denecke J, Marquardt T, Peter-Katalinic J. Glycoproteomics of N-glycosylation by in-gel deglycosylation and matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionisation-time of flight mass spectrometry mapping: Application to congenital disorders of glycosylation. Proteomics 2005; 5:2689–2701.
- [80] Kyselova Z, Mechref Y, Al Bataineh MM, Dobrolecki LE, Hickey RJ, Vinson J, et al. Alterations in the serum glycome due to metastatic prostate cancer. J Proteome Res 2007; 6:1822–1832.
- [81] Papac DI, Briggs JB, Chin ET, Jones AJ. A high-throughput microscale method to release N-linked oligosaccharides from glycoproteins for matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometric analysis. Glycobiology 1998; 8:445–454.
- [82] Kam RK, Poon TC, Chan HL, Wong N, Hui AY, Sung JJ. High-throughput quantitative profiling of serum N-glycome by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry and N-glycomic fingerprint of liver fibrosis. Clin Chem 2007; 53:1254–1263.
- [83] Morelle W, Flahaut C, Michalski JC, Louvet A, Mathurin P, Klein A. Mass spectrometric approach for screening modifications of total serum N-glycome in human diseases: Application to cirrhosis. Glycobiology 2006; 16:281–293.
- [84] Packer NH, Lawson MA, Jardine DR, Redmond JW. A general approach to desalting oligosaccharides released from glycoproteins. Glycoconj J 1998; 15:737–747.
- [85] Powell AK, Harvey DJ. Stabilization of sialic acids in N-linked oligosaccharides and gangliosides for analysis by positive ion matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization mass spectrometry. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom 1996; 10:1027–1032.
- [86] Varki A, Diaz S. The release and purification of sialic acids from glycoconjugates: Methods to minimize the loss and migration of O-acetyl groups. Anal Biochem 1984; 137:236–247.
- [87] Harvey DJ. Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization mass spectrometry of carbohydrates. Mass Spectrom Rev 1999; 18:349–450.
- [88] Wada Y, Azadi P, Costello CE, et al. Comparison of the methods for profiling glycoprotein glycans—HUPO human disease glycomics/proteome initiative multi-institutional study. Glycobiology 2007; 17:411–422.
- [89] Ciucanu I, Kerek F. A simple and rapid method for the permethylation of carbohydrates. Carbohydr Res 1984; 131:209–217.
- [90] Morelle W, Michalski JC. Analysis of protein glycosylation by mass spectrometry. Nat Protoc 2007; 2(7):1585–1602.
- [91] Weiskopf AS, Vouros P, Harvey DJ. Electrospray ionization-ion trap mass spectrometry for structural analysis of complex N-linked glycoprotein oligosaccharides. Anal Chem 1998; 70:4441–4447.
- [92] Albersheim P, Nevins DJ, English PD, Karr A. A method for the analysis of sugars in plant cell wall polysaccharides by gas-liquid chromatography. Carbohydr Res 1967; 5:340–345.
- [93] Jackson P. High-resolution polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis of fluorophore-labeled reducing saccharides. Methods Enzymol 1994; 230:250–265.
- [94] Laroy W, Contreras R, Callewaert N. Glycome mapping on DNA sequencing equipment. Nat Protoc 2006; 1(1):397–405.
- [95] Hase S. High-performance liquid chromatography of pyridylaminated saccharides. Methods Enzymol 1994; 230:225–237.
- [96] Nakagawa H, Kawamura Y, Kato K, Shimada I, Arata Y, Takahashi N. Identification of neutral and sialyl N-linked oligosaccharide structures from human serum glycoproteins using three kinds of high-performance liquid chromatography. Anal Biochem 1995; 226:130–138.

- [97] Kita Y, Miura Y, Furukawa JI, et al. Quantitative glycomics of human whole serum glycoproteins based on the standardized protocol for liberating N-glycans. Mol Cell Proteomics 2007; 6:1437–1445.
- [98] Parekh R, Roitt I, Isenberg D, Dwek R, Rademacher T. Age-related galactosylation of the N-linked oligosaccharides of human serum IgG. J Exp Med 1988; 167:1731–1736.
- [99] Gravel P, Walzer C, Aubry C, et al. New alterations of serum glycoproteins in alcoholic and cirrhotic patients revealed by high resolution two-dimensional gel electrophoresis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1996; 220:78–85.
- [100] Ryden I, Pahlsson P, Lindgren S. Diagnostic accuracy of alpha(1)-acid glycoprotein fucosylation for liver cirrhosis in patients undergoing hepatic biopsy. Clin Chem 2002; 48:2195–2201.
- [101] Anderson N, Pollacchi A, Hayes P, et al. A preliminary evaluation of the differences in the glycosylation of alpha-1-acid glycoprotein between individual liver diseases. Biomed Chromatogr 2002; 16:365–372.
- [102] Paradis V. Glycomics: A new taste of cirrhosis marker. J Hepatol 2005; 43:913-914.
- [103] Gabay C, Kushner I. Acute-phase proteins and other systemic responses to inflammation. N Engl J Med 1999; 340:448–454.
- [104] van Dijk W, Brinkman-van der Linden EC, Havenaar EC. Glycosylation of alpha 1-acid glycoprotein (orosomucoid) in health and disease: Occurrence, regulation and possible functional implications. Trends Glycosci Glycotechnol 1998; 10:235–245.
- [105] Thompson S, Kelly CA, Griffiths ID, Turner GA. Abnormally-fucosylated serum haptoglobins in patients with inflammatory joint disease. Clin Chim Acta 1989; 184:251–258.
- [106] Hachulla E, Laine A, Hayem A. Alpha 1-antichymotrypsin microheterogeneity in crossed immunoaffinoelectrophoresis with free concanavalin A: A useful diagnostic tool in inflammatory syndrome. Clin Chem 1988; 34:911–915.
- [107] Ang IL, Poon TC, Lai PB, et al. Study of serum haptoglobin and its glycoforms in the diagnosis of hepatocellular carcinoma: A glycoproteomic approach. J Proteome Res 2006; 5:2691–2700.
- [108] Hashimoto S, Asao T, Takahashi J, et al. alpha1-acid glycoprotein fucosylation as a marker of carcinoma progression and prognosis. Cancer 2004; 101:2825–2836.
- [109] Van Dijk W, Koeleman C, Van het Hof B, Poland D, Jakobs C, Jaeken J. Increased alpha3-fucosylation of alpha(1)-acid glycoprotein in patients with congenital disorder of glycosylation type IA (CDG-Ia). FEBS Lett 2001; 494:232–235.
- [110] Coddeville B, Carchon H, Jaeken J, Briand G, Spik G. Determination of glycan structures and molecular masses of the glycovariants of serum transferrin from a patient with carbohydrate deficient syndrome type II. Glycoconj J 1998; 15:265–273.
- [111] Faid V, Chirat F, Seta N, Foulquier F, Morelle W. A rapid mass spectrometric strategy for the characterization of N- and O-glycan chains in the diagnosis of defects in glycan biosynthesis. Proteomics 2007; 7:1800–1813.
- [112] Foulquier F, Vasile E, Schollen E, et al. Conserved oligomeric Golgi complex subunit 1 deficiency reveals a previously uncharacterized congenital disorder of glycosylation type II. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2006; 103:3764–3769.
- [113] Sturiale L, Barone R, Fiumara A, et al. Hypoglycosylation with increased fucosylation and branching of serum transferrin N-glycans in untreated galactosemia. Glycobiology 2005; 15:1268–1276.
- [114] Larsson A, Flodin M, Kollberg H. Increased serum concentrations of carbohydratedeficient transferrin (CDT) in patients with cystic fibrosis. Ups J Med Sci 1998; 103:231–236.
- [115] Huang L, Harvie G, Feitelson JS, et al. Immunoaffinity separation of plasma proteins by IgY microbeads: Meeting the needs of proteomic sample preparation and analysis. Proteomics 2005; 5:3314–3328.

- [116] Echan LA, Tang HY, Ali-Khan N, Lee K, Speicher DW. Depletion of multiple highabundance proteins improves protein profiling capacities of human serum and plasma. Proteomics 2005; 5:3292–3303.
- [117] Klein A, Lebreton A, Lemoine J, Perini JM, Roussel P, Michalski JC. Identification of urinary oligosaccharides by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry. Clin Chem 1998; 44:2422–2428.
- [118] Neville DC, Coquard V, Priestman DA, et al. Analysis of fluorescently labeled glycosphingolipid-derived oligosaccharides following ceramide glycanase digestion and anthranilic acid labeling. Anal Biochem 2004; 331:275–282.
- [119] An HJ, Miyamoto S, Lancaster KS, Kirmiz C, Li B, Lam KS, Leiserowitz GS, Lebrilla CB. Profiling of glycans in serum for the discovery of potential biomarkers for ovarian cancer. J Proteome Res 2006; 5:1626–1635.

This page intentionally left blank

NUTRITIONAL BIOCHEMISTRY OF SPACEFLIGHT

Scott M. Smith* and Sara R. Zwart †

*Human Adaptation and Countermeasures Division, National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Johnson Space Center, Houston, Texas 77058 [†]Division of Space Life Sciences, Universities Space Research Association, Houston, Texas 77058

88
88
89
89
90
92
101
101
107
110
112
113
113
113
114
115

Abbreviations

- EPA eicosapentaenoic acid
- EVA extravehicular activity
- ISS International Space Station
- PTH parathyroid hormone
- RBC red blood cell
- WHO World Health Organization

1. Abstract

As we approach the end of the first 50 years of human space travel, much has been learned about adaptation to microgravity and the risks associated with extended-duration space exploration. As the frequency and duration of flights grew, nutrition issues became more critical and the questions to be answered became more complex: What are the nutrient requirements for space travelers? Can nutrients be used as tools to mitigate the negative effects of space travel on humans? How does nutrition interrelate with other physiological systems (such as muscle, bone, and cardiovascular system) and their adaptation to microgravity? Much research has been done over the decades in both actual spaceflight and ground-based analogs. We review here much of what is known, and highlight areas of ongoing research and concerns for future exploration of the Moon, Mars, and beyond.

2. Introduction

Nutrition has proven critical to the success of exploration journeys throughout history, and space exploration will be no different. In the five decades since humans first orbited the planet, much has been learned about human adaptation to microgravity. Short- (days to weeks) and long-duration (4–6 months) stays in space have been relatively common, with a very small number of missions to date extending beyond 6 months. As the United States looks to begin the next phase of exploration with a return to the Moon, questions about the effects of partial gravity (such as 1/6-gravity on the Moon), radiation, lunar dust, and other factors are being honed. Questions associated with much longer (2- to 3-year round-trip) journeys to other planets are also being posed and answers are being actively pursued.

As with nutrition in the terrestrial environment, nutrition issues of spaceflight tend to focus on nutrient requirements for optimal health and the ability of nutrition to mitigate disease. Unique aspects of nutrition during space travel include the overarching physiological adaptation to weightlessness, psychological adaptation to extreme and remote environments, and the ability of nutrition and nutrients to serve as countermeasures to ameliorate the negative effects of spaceflight on the human body. Accordingly, defining the nutrient requirements for spaceflight and ensuring provision and intake of those nutrients are primary issues for crew health and mission success. Additionally, as countermeasures (such as exercise and pharmacological agents) for other systems are sought, care needs to be taken that they do not have negative influences on nontarget systems. Despite the fact that a relatively small number of individuals have traveled in space (<500 total to date), many studies have been conducted in an attempt to characterize human adaptation to microgravity. Many of these involve evaluations of crew members before and after spaceflight, but a limited number have been conducted during flight as well. The Space Shuttle has provided a platform for short-duration studies, while the US Skylab, Russian Salyut and Mir space stations, and the International Space Station (ISS) have provided for longer missions. Given the limited number of flights, and challenges associated with in-flight sample and data collection, groundbased analogs have been utilized to simulate different aspects of weightlessness. The most common human analog is head-down-tilt bed rest [1], with Antarctic, undersea, and other analogs also serving in this important role [2]. Animal and cell models have also been used to expand our understanding of physiological changes, in-flight studies, as well as ground-based analogs (such as rodent hindlimb suspension).

We review here the general effects of space travel on human nutrition and on physiological systems with nutritional relevance, including both spaceflight and ground-based analog studies. We also discuss areas where nutrition may serve as a countermeasure to help mitigate the negative effects of spaceflight on human physiology, and the issues of future exploration missions.

3. Nutrition

3.1. FOOD SYSTEMS

Ensuring that the spacecraft food systems provide palatable, safe, and nutritious foods is obviously critical for any space mission. For the early space programs (Mercury, Gemini, Apollo, and even the Space Shuttle), with mission durations from hours to a week or two, food provision was critical, but for missions of such short duration (similar to a short camping trip), understanding specific spaceflight nutrient requirements was not mandatory [3–6]. However, as mission durations increased from weeks to months, as on space stations (Skylab, Mir, ISS), the risks associated with potential deficiencies, or even toxicities, increased as well. The longer space station missions have included semi-closed food systems, with periodic resupply and transient exposure to unique and fresh foods [5–8]. Exploration missions will have a more closed food system, with the potential for supplementation with food sources grown *in situ* [5–7].

From the early days of the space program [9–11], development of foods for spaceflight has proven a significant challenge, yet the design criteria have

changed little since then: minimal crumbling, ease of preparation and consumption in microgravity, minimal trash volume, high palatability. With one exception, the food systems used in every space program to date have been entirely shelf-stable, and they are composed primarily of rehydratable or thermostabilized food items [6, 7]. Although these foods are known to have lower hedonistic value (palatability) than fresh or frozen foods, ground-based studies have clearly shown that the Shuttle food system can adequately support most nutritional requirements [12]. Skylab is the only US program that has included frozen foods [6, 7]. Nutrient requirements have been defined for extended-duration ISS missions [13, 14], and with a few exceptions (most notably vitamin D insufficiency, and iron and sodium excess), the actual menus meet these requirements (Table 1). As discussed below, vitamin D supplements are provided to mitigate the dietary insufficiency.

It is imperative that adequate resources be provided to support food consumption. A reliable food system must include a variety of palatable foods and the means to process them (such as rehydration, heating, and cooling). Time (for meal preparation, consumption, and clean-up) is another limited resource that often hinders dietary intake, especially on shorter Shuttle missions.

The original plans for the ISS food system included the use of freezers and refrigerators for food storage and preparation. This would have provided a more palatable food system, but difficult decisions had to be made regarding power, mass, volume, and cost, and ultimately the use of freezers and refrigerators for food was dropped from the plans. It is difficult to balance the intangible potential increase in dietary intake and psychological support against tangible dollar and power allocations, both of which are typically constrained.

3.2. Energy Intake

Despite indications that in-flight and preflight energy requirements are similar [15, 16], energy intake during flight is commonly less than before flight [8, 15, 17–26]. From the Apollo program through the more recent flights, crew member dietary intakes have averaged about 70% of predicted requirements [20]. Exceptions do exist, and a number of ISS crew members have been able to consume recommended dietary intake requirements and maintain body mass [20]. In other cases, metabolic experiments have required subjects to consume a eucaloric diet, such as during Skylab [27] and European flights to the Mir space station [28]. These were successful, further documenting that nominal dietary intake is achievable. The obvious concern about reduced dietary intake is the risk of body mass loss and dehydration [29],

TABLE	1
-------	---

	Menu content ^a	NASA spaceflight requirement
Energy (kcal/day)	2903 ± 168^b	Based on WHO [16]
Energy (% WHO)	99 ± 13	_
Total carbohydrate (% of kcal)	50 ± 3	50-55
Total protein (% of kcal)	17 ± 1	12-15
Animal protein (g/day)	72 ± 7	60%
Vegetable protein (g/day)	33 ± 3	40%
Total fat (% of kcal)	31 ± 1	30-35
Total dietary fiber (g/day)	33 ± 5	10-25
Retinol equivalents (μ g/day)	1446 ± 213	1000 μ g retinol equivalents
Vitamin D (μ g/day)	4.3 ± 1.1	10
Vitamin E (total α -tocopherol equivalents) (mg/day)	12.5 ± 1.7	20
Vitamin K (phylloquinone) (μ g/day)	108 ± 18	80
Vitamin C (ascorbic acid) (mg/day)	191 ± 42	100
Thiamin (mg/day)	2.0 ± 0.1	1.5
Riboflavin (mg/day)	2.2 ± 0.2	2.0
Niacin (mg/day)	29.7 ± 1.9	20 mg niacin equivalents
Pantothenic acid (mg/day)	5.3 ± 0.5	5.0
Vitamin B_6 (mg/day)	2.3 ± 0.2	2.0
Total folate (μ g/day)	444 ± 48	400
Vitamin B_{12} (cobalamin) (μ g/day)	4.6 ± 0.7	2.0
Calcium (mg/day)	1016 ± 117	1000 - 1200
Phosphorus (mg/day)	1864 ± 179	1000 - 1200
		(not to exceed 1.5 times calcium)
Magnesium (mg/day)	430 ± 41	350
Iron (mg/day)	23 ± 5	10
Copper (mg/day)	3.7 ± 1.0	1.5-3.0
Zinc (mg/day)	23 ± 7	15
Manganese (mg/day)	5.8 ± 0.7	2-5
Selenium (µg/day)	145 ± 16	70
Iodine (mg/day)	1.1 ± 3.0	0.15
Sodium (mg/day)	5624 ± 578	< 3500 mg
Potassium (mg/day)	4044 ± 368	3500 mg
Water (g/day)	2212 ± 175	1 ml/kcal, no less than 2 liters per day

PLANNED (MENU) AND TARGETED NUTRIENT INTAKE ON INTERNATIONAL SPACE STATION MISSIONS

^{*a*} Menu data are derived from either proximate analysis of space foods (macronutrients, most minerals) or estimations (animal protein, vegetable protein, all vitamins, selenium) from similar items in the Nutrition Data System for Research (NDS-R) database, versions 4.03/31, 4.05/33, 4.06/34, 5.0/35, 2005, and 2006, developed by the Nutrition Coordinating Center, University of Minnesota, Minneapolis, MN [303].

 b All data are mean \pm SD, and represent the average from menus of 16 ISS astronauts.

but existing data suggest that many systems are affected by inadequate nutrient intake, including the muscle, bone, cardiovascular, immune, and other systems.

The cause of reduced dietary intake during flight is generally unknown [30]. Food palatability is occasionally reported as a cause of reduced in-flight intake, and many anecdotal reports exist of changes in taste and aroma of food during flight. One hypothesis is that fluid shifts and congestion associated with microgravity (especially during the first few days) can alter taste and odor perception. However, experimental research has not been able to clearly document changes in taste or olfaction [31, 32].

A common cause of reduced dietary intake during the first days of a mission is space motion sickness [33]. Its effects typically pass after the first several days of flight, but the inadequate dietary intake often extends well beyond the first week [14]. Other flight-related changes in gastrointestinal function may occur. Fluid shifts, in combination with reduced fluid intake, would tend to decrease gastrointestinal motility and increase transit time [34]. It has been hypothesized that other gastrointestinal functions may be altered in space, including microflora production of vitamin K, but few or no data are available to support this.

Skylab crew members ate essentially 100% of their recommended [16] energy requirements [14]. Although the Skylab crews were involved in metabolic studies that required complete dietary intake [35], this result demonstrates that when required to, astronauts can consume the recommended amounts of food during spaceflight. Thus, hypotheses regarding inability to consume the requisite amount of food because of stomach fullness or other factors are not likely to fully explain decreased in-flight dietary intake. It is difficult to determine if the intakes on Skylab were related more to the requirement to consume the food or to the fact that the food was more palatable because of the additional variety of frozen foods available; however, it is difficult to argue that increased palatability is not beneficial.

The gap between energy intake and expenditure is further widened by increased amounts of exercise during flight associated with physical countermeasures to spaceflight effects. Results of metabolic experiments on the US Skylab missions showed that ingestion of the prescribed amount of calories did not maintain body mass [27], and it is clear that inadequate energy intake will ensure loss of body mass. Furthermore, inadequate energy intake is associated not only with loss of fat tissue, but also with decreased protein synthesis [36] (in-flight models), increased protein catabolism [37] (in ground-based models), and subsequent loss of lean tissue mass.

3.3. NUTRITIONAL STATUS ASSESSMENT

Clinical assessment of flight crews before and immediately after flight has been standard medical practice from the first flights. In some cases, the markers that were assessed reflected nutritional status as well as other clinical measures to assess overall health status, but only in the mid-1990s was a dedicated, comprehensive clinical nutritional assessment profile developed and implemented [18, 20, 38]. The primary goal was to develop a comprehensive evaluation of nutritional status that would be used to ensure optimal status before flight, to track dietary intake and nutritional status as well as possible during flight, and to evaluate crew members as soon as possible after flight to speed the return of any decrements to preflight status. Because the risks associated with suboptimal nutrition are greater on longer flights, this comprehensive evaluation was implemented only on long-duration (ISS) flights. The protocol was developed by a team of NASA intramural and extramural experts [38], and was tested provisionally with two astronauts on the Russian space station Mir as well as in a 90-day ground-based analog [18]. The protocol was determined to be a "medical requirement" for ISS missions, and has been implemented on all ISS flights since they began in 2000. The consensus protocol was reviewed at the outset (and several times over the years) by intramural, extramural, and international review panels. An evaluation of results from the crews of the first nine expeditions was published in 2005 [18]. The primary focus of the protocol is on the biochemical assessment of nutritional status, but body weight and composition are also determined, and dietary intake is monitored during flight using a food frequency questionnaire [39].

3.3.1. Biochemical Assessment

Twice before and once after flight, fasting blood samples and two 24-hour urine samples are collected for a broad range of analyses, including protein, minerals, vitamins, antioxidants and oxidative damage markers, hematology, and general chemistry [18, 20, 38]. The biochemical markers relate not only to nutrient categories, but also to the physiological systems, including muscle and bone, that use or produce the markers, or in which the markers are associated with a risk, such as the risk of renal stone formation.

3.3.1.1. Vitamins

3.3.1.1.1. *Water-soluble vitamins*. Water-soluble vitamins are a key concern for space travelers, given the limited endogenous storage of many of these nutrients. They must be replenished from food that may have been stored for a long time (9–18 months) under suboptimal conditions, including the space radiation environment.

It is evident from previous long-duration spaceflight research (4–6 months) that folate status decreases after spaceflight (Fig. 1) [20]. The food system includes foods with adequate amounts of folate (Table 1), and it is unknown at this point if the decline in folate status is related to the stability of folate in food items stored during flight or if the body's requirement for folate is increased during flight, which could be related to alterations in absorption,


FIG. 1. Serum folate concentrations before and after 4- to 6-month spaceflights on the International Space Station. Each line represents one crew member. The "Pre-Mean" point is the average of data collected about 6 months and 6 weeks before launch. R + 0 = Recovery plus zero days, that is, landing day. These samples are typically collected 2–8 hours after landing.

metabolism, and/or excretion. Studies are underway to better understand stability issues, as well as to better characterize the time course of physiological changes during flight.

Concerns about the status of many water-soluble vitamins (and other nutrients) during spaceflight are related to their stability in the face of radiation exposure. Most vitamin B_6 in the body is found in muscle tissue, and thus the loss of muscle mass and strength related to spaceflight may also reduce the amount of the vitamin that is stored (see Section 4.2). Furthermore, in Earth-based populations, status of vitamin C, riboflavin, and other nutrients [40–43] has been related to cataract incidence, which is higher in space travelers than in the general population [44–46]. Vitamins and other antioxidants have been proposed as potential countermeasures to reduce tissue damage from space radiation, including cataracts [45, 47], but defining the required dose(s), mixtures, interactions, and/or side effects will prove a significant challenge, as it has on Earth [48–51].

Although specific concerns regarding their status during spaceflight have not been raised about other water-soluble vitamins (such as vitamin B_{12} , thiamin, niacin, biotin, pantothenate), the semi- or fully closed food systems for exploration missions raise concerns about sufficiency of these limited menus for extended durations. Furthermore, if pharmacological countermeasures are used to mitigate the effects of weightlessness on physiological systems, the potential for drug-nutrient interactions in the closed environment of space will require special attention.

3.3.1.1.2. *Fat-soluble vitamins*. Less concern is expressed about fatsoluble vitamins than about water-soluble vitamins because the body can store larger quantities of fat-soluble vitamins, but recent findings about previously unknown functions of some of these vitamins, as well as unique aspects of spaceflight, provide specific challenges for maintaining optimum status of these nutrients.

Vitamin D has long been known to have a role in calcium metabolism, and more recently its noncalcitropic functions have been recognized [52]. According to the results of several recent studies, functionally relevant measures indicate that the lower limit of serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D (indicator of vitamin D status) should be raised from 23 to 80 nmol/liter. The mean preflight serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D for the US ISS crew members is 62 ± 14 nmol/liter (Fig. 2). People who are normally exposed to sunlight make vitamin D in their skin, but spacecraft such as the ISS and the Space Shuttle shield crew members from ultraviolet B light, a component of sunlight that can convert 7-dehydrocholesterol to 25-hydroxyvitamin D in the skin.

A decrease in vitamin D status is perhaps one of the more striking nutritional changes that occurs during spaceflight [19, 20]. Several crew members on the Russian space station Mir had serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations that were 32–36% lower during and after long-duration (3- to 4-month) missions than before the missions [19, 53], and ISS astronauts had serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations that were typically 25–30% lower after 4- to 6-month spaceflights, despite supplementation with 400 IU/day [20]. In several ISS crew members, serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D has decreased to levels considered clinically significant [20]. Crew members on the longest Skylab mission (Skylab 4, 84 days), but not the shorter



FIG. 2. Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D] concentrations before and after 4- to 6-month spaceflights on the International Space Station. Each line represents one crew member. The "Pre-Mean" point is the average of data collected about 6 months and 6 weeks before launch. R + 0 = Recovery plus zero days, that is, landing day. These samples are typically collected 2–8 hours after landing.

missions (28 and 59 days), had decreased serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D at landing despite daily vitamin D supplementation [35].

Similar decreases in vitamin D status have been found in ground-based studies of subjects living in closed-chamber facilities for extended periods [18]. Ground-based models with limited sunlight exposure are valuable for performing vitamin D supplementation trials. One of these models is the Antarctic winter, when levels of ultraviolet B radiation are essentially zero. We began a study at McMurdo Station, Antarctica, in 2007 to determine the daily dose of vitamin D needed to sustain serum levels of 25-hydroxyvitamin D during a 5- to 6-month period when there is little to no ultraviolet B exposure. It is currently recommended that ISS crew members take 800 IU/day during long-duration spaceflight.

Another important observation from the ISS nutritional status assessment was related to the relationship between parathyroid hormone (PTH) and 25-hydroxyvitamin D before and after ISS missions. Before launch, 25-hydroxyvitamin D was inversely correlated with PTH (r = -0.72, P < 0.05) (Fig. 3), but this relationship was not evident after landing, suggesting that the body's normal response to changes in vitamin D was altered [20].

The low pre- and postflight vitamin D status among crew members is an issue that needs to be resolved to redefine the appropriate amount of vitamin D to serve as a countermeasure against vitamin D deficiency in astronaut crews. This is very important for long-duration crew members, and is critical for exploration-class missions.

Vitamin K is most commonly associated with its role in blood coagulation, but more recent evidence indicates that this vitamin affects multiple physiological systems. Most notably, vitamin K is a cofactor in the



FIG. 3. Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D] and parathyroid hormone concentrations before (average of data from samples collected about 6 months and 6 weeks before launch) and after (landing day, typically collected 2–8 hours after landing) 4- to 6-month spaceflights on the International Space Station. Each symbol represents one crew member.

posttranslational synthesis of γ -carboxyglutamic acid. This amino acid is common to all vitamin K-dependent proteins, and its role is related to increasing the affinity of the proteins for calcium [54]. Data from 11 US astronauts from ISS Expeditions 1–8 (mission durations of 128–195 days during 2000–2004) revealed that on landing day serum phylloquinone (vitamin K₁) was 42% lower than it was before flight, whereas urinary γ -carboxyglutamic acid did not change [20]. Other studies have shown that vitamin K supplementation during spaceflight elevated urinary γ -carboxyglutamic acid and decreased urinary undercarboxylated osteocalcin (a bone protein), suggesting that vitamin K status is lower during spaceflight [55, 56]. The use of vitamin K as a bone loss countermeasure has been proposed and is under investigation [26].

Because oxidative stress can increase in microgravity and high-radiation environments [57–59], it may be necessary to provide enough vitamin E for astronauts' blood levels of the vitamin to be higher during spaceflight than on Earth. The antioxidant properties of vitamin E may help to counteract the free radical damage caused by high linear energy transfer radiation in space. Pretreatment with antioxidants may help decrease radiation damage during missions [60]. After learning about the promising antioxidant effects of supplemental vitamin E, many people on Earth did not hesitate to take vitamin E supplements to prevent cancer. The protective effects were not borne out in controlled studies, highlighting the difficulties of defining a specific antioxidant countermeasure for space travelers without the luxury of having data from epidemiological studies to provide an evidence base for spaceflight.

Vitamin A and β -carotene serve as biological antioxidants and have been shown in multiple studies to reduce the risk of cancer and coronary heart disease [61, 62]. Vitamin A is also directly involved in vision, gene expression, reproduction, embryonic development, and immunity, and has direct or indirect impact on the function of almost all of the body's organs. Serum levels of retinol and retinol-binding protein are significantly decreased after long-duration spaceflight [20]. As with many antioxidants, the desire to supplement with high doses in the hope of staving off one disease is high, but unwarranted and potentially counterproductive. Specifically, excess vitamin A, in levels on the order of twice the recommended daily intake, has been shown to increase bone resorption [63–66].

3.3.1.2. *Minerals.* Calcium has been one of the most studied nutrients in space travelers, solely because of its relationship with bone loss and the risk of renal stone formation. Negative calcium balance was observed during Skylab [35, 67] and Mir [19, 68] missions, with urinary and fecal calcium excretion accounting for most of the deficit [19, 35, 67, 69, 70]. Complete calcium balance studies during long-duration Skylab missions and tracer

kinetic studies during Mir missions yielded similar estimates of a loss of 200–300 mg of calcium per day from bone [19, 53, 67, 71].

Phosphorus has not been studied nearly as much as calcium, despite its relationships with calcium and bone, among other critical functions. Excretion of phosphorus after spaceflight is significantly and consistently lower than preflight excretion [20]. The causes and implications of this are currently being evaluated in both ground-based and flight studies.

Magnesium is required as a cofactor in over 300 enzyme systems and serves as a substrate for phosphate transfer reactions in all cells. Several studies show that magnesium metabolism may be altered during and after longduration spaceflight [20, 35, 72]. After crew members have spent 4–6 months in space, their urinary magnesium is about 45% less than it was before flight [20]. The causes and implications of this are also being evaluated in ongoing ground-based and flight studies.

3.3.1.3. *Hematology and Iron.* Decreased red blood cell (RBC) mass is a consistent finding after short- and long-term flights [73–77]. This "spaceflight anemia" was observed as early as Gemini missions in the 1960s [78]. The initial decrease in RBC mass occurs at a rate slightly greater than 1% per day, with an eventual loss of 10-15% within 10-14 days of flight [73–75]. During the first several days of spaceflight, hematocrit is either unchanged [79] or slightly elevated [73–75]. When elevation is noted, it is not as great as would be predicted from the decrease in plasma volume [17].

A confounding factor in the early flights (before Skylab) was the increased partial pressure of oxygen in the spacecraft cabin [77]. The possibility that hyperoxia-induced peroxidation of RBC membranes was considered, but was ruled out when changes in erythropoiesis were also observed during Skylab [76, 80] and Shuttle missions [74, 75], in which the partial pressure of oxygen in the cabin was similar to that of the Earth's atmosphere [14, 76].

An early hypothesis for the cause of decreased RBC mass was that RBC synthesis in space was understimulated compared to synthesis on the ground [77]. Decreased release of mature RBCs into the circulation is associated with a decrease in circulating erythropoietin concentrations. Serum erythropoietin decreased in the first few days of spaceflight, but it returned to preflight levels later and iron turnover is unchanged during flight [74, 75], indicating that synthesis of RBCs and hemoglobin is unchanged.

Nevertheless, the release of new RBCs is halted upon entry into weightlessness [74, 75, 81], and newly released RBCs are selectively removed from the circulation [81]. These nascent cells are larger than the more mature circulating RBCs, allowing their selective destruction [81]. Removal of mature RBCs from the circulation is unchanged during flight [75].

Indices of iron metabolism and erythropoiesis return toward normal relatively quickly (days) after landing, although the replenishment of RBC mass may take several weeks. A dilutional "anemia" often occurs after flight [79], with the disproportionate return of plasma volume before the repletion of RBCs. For example, a 3-5% decrease in hematocrit between landing (R + 0) and R + 3 days is common after both short- and long-duration flight [79].

Although the in-flight decrease in RBC mass is significant, the efficient postflight recovery suggests that it represents an adaptation to weightlessness. In-flight changes in RBC mass and body fluid volumes reach a new plateau after the first weeks of flight, as shown by data from long-duration flights [14, 82, 83]. The triggering mechanism for these changes is unknown. One hypothesis is that the body senses a decreased requirement for blood volume and adapts accordingly. This may be related to changes in fluid (circulatory) dynamics and reduced gravitational strain on the circulatory system during flight, which may result in easier delivery of oxygen to tissues, or to the decreased plasma volume and increased concentration of RBCs in the first few days of spaceflight. The decrease in RBC mass has no documented functional consequences.

Bed rest studies have not proven suitable models for the hematological changes of spaceflight. Although RBC mass decreases during bed rest, eryth-ropoietin is unchanged and hematocrit increases [84], suggesting that the mechanisms that bring about hematological changes during bed rest are different from those that act during flight. If the reduced RBC mass during flight is caused by the reduced gravitational load on the circulatory system, it is reasonable to assume that bed rest alone would not alleviate these forces, but would only reposition them. In studies involving changes in altitude, however, the descent from high to low altitude induces changes similar to those observed for spaceflight (decreased RBC mass, increased iron storage) [85].

One consequence of the decreased RBC mass is that the iron released when new RBCs are destroyed is processed for storage. This interpretation is based on findings of increased serum ferritin concentrations during and after both short- and long-duration flights. Serum iron concentrations are normal to elevated during and after flight [74, 75]. The implications of excess stored iron during extended-duration spaceflights are currently unknown. Current space food systems provide excessive amounts of dietary iron (over 20 mg/day, Table 1), which have the potential to cause deleterious effects during extended-duration space missions.

The evidence for increased iron storage and excess iron intake during flight pose pathological risks due to the possibility for iron-overload-related issues. Iron-related radicals could form during iron-overload situations, and this could confound damage induced by ionizing radiation and inflammatoryimmune injury [86]. Free radical involvement subsequent to elevations in iron stores has also been linked to cardiovascular disease and cancer. Although the evidence supporting this thesis is contradictory [87, 88], a correlation between coronary heart disease and iron status has been described in a number of recent studies [89–91] and an association between increased incidence of myocardial infarction and increased iron stores (as measured by serum ferritin) has been observed [91, 92]. Increased risk of all cancer types combined and colorectal cancer in particular was associated with high iron stores in a prospective Finnish study [93]. The relationship between iron, lipids, and cancer has also been documented in the Framingham study [94]. A relationship has also been indicated between excessive iron stores and ascorbic acid deficiency; when reductions in ascorbic acid occur, vitamin A and selenium tend to exacerbate iron-induced peroxidation processes [95]. These data suggest that the alterations in erythropoiesis and iron metabolism that occur in microgravity could cause significant changes affecting crew health.

3.3.1.4. *Trace Elements.* The release of zinc from bones (due to demineralization) has been noted in bed rest studies [96, 97]. Similarly, increases in urinary zinc have been noted with increased muscle catabolism in cases of starvation or trauma [98]. The importance of this phenomenon for space-flight has not been evaluated (nor has the release of other heavy metals from bone during flight, although this has been modeled and proposed as a concern [99]).

The role of copper in maintaining normal immune function seems to be altered during spaceflight [100, 101], despite the fact that serum copper concentrations are unchanged after ISS flights [20]. Additionally, the documented changes in bone status during spaceflight may be exacerbated by copper deficiencies. Anemia of spaceflight is manifested as a reduction in circulating RBC mass with elevations in serum ferritin and iron concentrations [14, 75]. Since copper is required for iron mobilization and absorption, alterations in copper status may affect iron and RBCs during flight.

Selenium has many biological functions, including serving as a cofactor for glutathione peroxidase. Although long-duration spaceflight data have shown that serum selenium is about 10% lower after flight than before launch [20], the serum activity of glutathione peroxidase does not change and the decrease in selenium may not have physiological effects.

Providing adequate amounts of dietary iodine is not a critical issue for spaceflight, but possible effects of the iodine used as a bactericide in the water systems on orbit have been discussed [102].

3.3.2. Current Research and Plans

The nutritional assessment protocol on the ISS has been implemented as a medical requirement before and after flight. Because reliance on postflight assessment does not permit evaluation of the time course of changes during the mission, an experiment protocol was developed and initiated in 2006 to begin collection of blood and urine samples during flight. Blood (and urine) collection during flight is not new, and in fact was first performed on Skylab, where complete metabolic balance studies were conducted. On the ISS, however, despite a continued human presence on the station since 2000, blood-processing hardware has not been available. Specifically, a centrifuge and freezer were not available until 2006. As of this writing, three US crew members have completed on-orbit blood sample collection and processing operations, including phlebotomy (Fig. 4) and blood processing (Fig. 4). In earlier space programs (Skylab, Shuttle, Mir), -20 °C freezers were available to store biological samples, but for the ISS a -80 °C freezer was developed and flown by the European Space Agency (Fig. 4). This equipment marks the beginning of a new era of ISS research, and will be critical for the further characterization of the human response to microgravity as well as countermeasure evaluation and validation.

4. Spaceflight Effects on Physiological Systems

4.1. BONE

4.1.1. Spaceflight

Bone loss is a significant concern for space travelers [8, 103–106], partly because it is related to an increased risk of renal stone formation [70, 107–109], which results in large part from release and excretion of bone minerals. Spaceflight-induced bone loss occurs primarily in weight-bearing bone, and the rate of loss is estimated to range from about 0.5% to 1.5% per month [103, 110, 111]. Femoral trabecular bone density is lost at a rate of about 2.5% per month, which is faster than the rate of cortical bone loss. The higher percentage loss of trabecular bone has consistently been found in spaceflight [110, 112], animal models of microgravity (hindlimb suspension) [113], and spinal cord injury [114]. The amount of loss varies considerably within subjects (at different bone sites) and between subjects. Data from 14 ISS crew members (mission duration was 4.3-6.5 months) show that bone was lost from the lumbar spine and hip at a rate of 0.8–0.9% per month and 1.2–1.5% per month, respectively [110]. After long-duration flights, the cumulative loss of bone tissue is about 2.9% in calcaneus and is greatest in trochanter (about 7-9%) [111, 115]. Changes in bone architecture occur with remodeling after landing and are worthy of concern, but are not yet well defined or understood [116]. The rate of postflight recovery of calcium and bone mineral density is much slower than the rate of loss; recovery of lost mineral seems to take two to three times the flight duration [19, 53].



FIG. 4. Collection, processing, and storage of body fluid samples on board the International Space Station. (A) Astronaut Mike Lopez-Alegria, the Expedition 14 commander, collecting a blood sample. (B) Astronaut Sunita Williams, an Expedition 14 flight engineer, processing blood samples with the centrifuge. (C). Astronaut Clayton Anderson, an Expedition 15 flight engineer, storing blood and urine samples in the "Minus Eighty Laboratory Freezer for ISS" (MELFI).

4.1.2. Biochemistry

Beyond densitometric evaluations, studies of calcium and other markers of bone metabolism provide evidence of early changes in bone metabolism during spaceflight, long before changes in bone mineral can be detected. The initiating mechanism of bone loss during spaceflight is not completely understood, but a number of factors are likely to contribute. Decreased absorption of calcium from the intestine was observed in Mir astronauts and cosmonauts [19, 53, 68], and may have been related to the decreased concentration of circulating 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D that was also observed in these crew members [18–20, 53, 68].

Although vitamin D status is a significant concern for space travelers because their diet lacks adequate vitamin D content and skin lacks ultraviolet B light exposure, this is not believed to be related to bone loss. Studies on the Mir space station clearly documented decreased serum 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D and PTH long before vitamin D stores (as reflected by 25-hydroxyvitamin D) were affected [26, 53]. Supplementation with 400–650 IU vitamin D has not proven effective [20, 26], and studies are underway to determine if greater amounts can maintain vitamin D stores. Nonetheless, maintaining vitamin D stores, while important, will not mitigate the drop in both PTH and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D concentrations [26].

Early studies in animal models (primarily young, growing rodents) documented reduced bone formation during flight, with little or no change in resorption. In the 1990s, the collagen cross-links were identified as specific markers of bone resorption and bone alkaline phosphatase as a marker of bone formation. Many studies have subsequently documented increased bone resorption during spaceflight, with excretion of collagen cross-links typically 100–150% above preflight levels [19, 55, 68, 117–119].

Bone formation either remains unchanged or decreases during spaceflight [19, 20]. Increased resorption and decreased or unchanged bone formation, coupled with decreased calcium absorption and increased calcium excretion, yield an overall negative calcium balance and bone mineral loss during long-duration spaceflights [110–112].

4.1.3. Ground Analogs

Spaceflight research opportunities are very limited, and in most cases the number of subjects is very small. To supplement data from astronauts, researchers have studied bone loss in several ground-based analogs (models) of spaceflight [2, 103], one of the more common analogs with human subjects being bed rest. The qualitative effects of bed rest on bone and calcium homeostasis are similar to the effects of spaceflight, but the quantitative effects are generally less than (about half) those of spaceflight. The effects

of bed rest on bone include loss of bone mass [120–125], a decrease in calcium absorption [126], an increase in calcium excretion [120, 121, 123, 126–135], an increase in risk of renal stone formation [109, 130, 136, 137], and decrease in the serum concentrations of PTH [120, 127, 128, 132] and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D [123, 126–128, 132, 138].

Bone resorption increases during bed rest, as measured by histomorphometry [139] or biochemical markers such as hydroxyproline [103, 126, 133] or collagen cross-links [117, 120, 123, 124, 126, 127, 129, 132, 135, 140–146]. Although the magnitude of changes seen in bed rest studies (\sim 50% increase) is less than that of changes seen during spaceflight (\sim 100–150% increase) after similar amounts of time, the qualitative similarities are striking [120, 132, 141, 147].

Bone formation, as assessed by biopsy and histomorphometry, decreases during bed rest [128, 139]. However, assessment of bone formation by measurement of biochemical markers indicates that bone formation either decreases [142] or remains unchanged [120, 123, 124, 126, 127, 129, 132]. These results likely reflect a difference between site-specific (biopsy) and systemic (biochemical markers) indices of bone formation. After subjects return to typical ambulation following bed rest, their markers of bone resorption return to prebed rest levels, and formation markers generally increase [124, 126, 132].

Bone loss and altered calcium homeostasis also occur in paralyzed individuals [148, 149], and have marked similarities to spaceflight findings. PTH and 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D concentrations are decreased in patients immobilized secondary to spinal cord trauma [150–153]. These changes probably lead to the decreased intestinal calcium absorption and increased fecal calcium excretion [151] of these patients. Bone resorption markers (collagen cross-links, urinary calcium, and hydroxyproline) are also elevated [151, 154–156], with no change in formation markers [154]. The loss of bone after spinal cord injury seems to stabilize after about 25 weeks [157].

4.1.4. Countermeasures

Calcium mobilization occurring in bed rest studies conducted in the 1940s [136] led to early expectations that bone loss would occur during weightlessness. From almost that point on, investigators have been searching for a means to counteract this loss [104, 105, 158–164], but a flight-validated countermeasure to bone loss has not yet been documented.

Exercise is a common approach to counter both muscle and bone loss in flight [165, 166], although for bone the difficulty seems to be in attaining the force required to stimulate bone to a degree at which loss can be mitigated. Many types of exercises and devices have been studied, alone or in rare cases in combination, with mixed results. Although many ground-based studies have demonstrated positive effects of exercise (e.g., treadmill, flywheel, weight stacks) on bone (assessed by various means from densitometry to biochemistry) [120, 123, 132, 144, 167–170], flight validation of the same effect has not been possible to date [110]. No doubt many issues contribute to this lack of on-orbit success, including the quantitative difference between bone loss during bed rest and spaceflight and the function, availability, and utilization of on-orbit hardware. The question of whether the same degree of exercise effectiveness can be reached during flight as in ground analogs is yet to be answered.

Pharmacological agents, the most common being the bisphosphonates, have also been tested for their ability to mitigate weightlessness-induced bone loss. Many ground analog studies (including bed rest studies and studies of patients immobilized because of spinal cord injury or other reasons) have been conducted, with generally positive findings [123, 141, 144, 169, 171–174]. However, ongoing discussion and debate surround the relative safety of these compounds for use in otherwise healthy individuals (astronauts), as opposed to the target population for whom the drugs were developed (patients with disorders such as osteoporosis). In addition to resolving safety concerns, investigators have yet to determine the optimal drug, dose, and schedule of administration during spaceflight. As noted above with exercise, given that the bone loss of bed rest is about half that of spaceflight, there is little reason to believe that the same dose of drug will have the same effective-ness in flight.

Vibration has also received much attention recently in the hope that it can provide a viable musculoskeletal countermeasure [175–177], and the initial ground-based evaluations are underway. One related study has shown that vibration will counteract hypercalciuria induced by excessive dietary protein [178] (see Section 4.1.5). As with all proposed countermeasures, vibration must first be proven effective in ground analog studies (such as bed rest), and if clearly successful, then in-flight validation studies can be conducted.

Under the assumption that lack of gravity is the stimulating factor in the bone loss of spaceflight, replacement of gravity by centrifugation (artificial gravity) has been proposed as a multisystem countermeasure [179], particularly for bone. Some of the artificial gravity studies have relied on short-radius centrifuges [180], others on rotating exercise devices [181] intended to provide gravitational impact as well as physical exercise. Artificial gravity or hypergravity has shown to positively affect bone in human and some animal studies [182–184]. Vernikos *et al.* reported that intermittent exposure to 1 G_z (by standing or walking) during a 4-day head-down-tilt bed rest was effective in preventing elevated urinary calcium that typically occurs during bed rest [185]. The optimal artificial gravity prescription for bone, including dose, duration, and frequency of centrifugation, remains to be clarified.

4.1.5. Dietary Influences

Bone health is most commonly associated with calcium and vitamin D status, and both of these are significant nutritional concerns for spaceflight [186, 187]. Unfortunately, while deficiency of these nutrients will induce (or in spaceflight, exacerbate) bone loss, providing them in excess is not considered a viable countermeasure against bone loss. Vitamin D is a good example of this—whereas vitamin D deficiency will lead to mobilization of bone calcium, excess will not stop bone loss. Beyond calcium and vitamin D, many other nutrients also have an impact on bone health. Whether these nutrients have a role to play in the bone loss of spaceflight is yet to be fully defined. We report here some of the preliminary data, and their potential implications for astronauts and human health in general.

Several dietary factors seem to have an influence on bone via alterations in acid/base balance. Specifically, conditions that induce metabolic acidosis are also commonly associated with altered bone metabolism [188, 189]. Because bone is a substantial reservoir of ions that can buffer excess acid loads, chronic small perturbations of acid/base balance in the body can induce prominent changes in the chemical makeup of bone [190, 191].

Dietary intake can influence endogenous acid production because acid and base precursors (i.e., compounds that yield acid or base after they are absorbed and metabolized) exist in foods [192]. If the diet contains more acid precursors (such as sulfur-containing amino acids [193]) than base precursors, chronic low-grade metabolic acidosis can result [194]. Diets high in protein (and/or sulfur-containing amino acids), particularly ketogenic diets, are commonly associated with increased urinary calcium excretion and lower urinary pH [195, 196] and are also associated with lower bone mineral density [197, 198]. Potassium is the predominant intracellular inorganic cation that balances the charge of organic anions; therefore, dietary potassium intake can be used to estimate the content of base precursors in the diet. Frassetto et al. developed a model for estimating net endogenous acid production from the amount of acid and base precursors in the diet [199]. According to their model, renal net acid excretion can be predicted from two dietary components: total protein and potassium. Although some controversy exists about whether high intake of protein is detrimental or beneficial to bone, the resolution to this likely lies in the interactions of protein with other nutrients in the diet such as potassium, calcium, sodium, and other minerals, and with nonnutrients such as phytate and oxalate [191, 200].

In a spaceflight analog, we showed that the ratio of dietary protein to potassium intake was correlated with excretion of both calcium and collagen cross-links [168, 201]. This observation was clear after 2–3 weeks of bed rest, but it was not observed in the same subjects before bed rest. Our hypothesis is

that the impact of protein intake on bone is more pronounced in individuals whose bone is metabolically challenged. That is, in situations likely to cause bone loss, excess dietary protein exacerbates this. In well-fed, generally healthy and ambulatory individuals, this effect is not seen. This may further explain the controversy in the field regarding the impact of protein on bone in otherwise healthy individuals.

Dietary sodium is also known to affect calcium homeostasis [26, 202, 203], and a relationship between sodium intake and renal stone formation is well documented. Sodium intake of stone formers is typically similar to that of controls [204, 205], but high sodium intake has detrimental effects on renal stone risk [206–208]. Increased renal stone risk during and after spaceflight is also well documented [70, 107, 108, 209]. A pharmacological approach to the acid/base effect on bone, specifically provision of potassium citrate, has been tested during flight (Whitson *et al.*, unpublished data) and in ground-based models [137].

One hypothesis about the mechanism of dietary sodium's effect on calcium metabolism is that increased renal calcium excretion is secondary to solvent drag and electrochemical gradients in the kidney [210]. However, many studies document that high dietary sodium chloride leads to increased bone resorption [206, 211, 212], and conversely, that restriction of dietary sodium will reduce bone resorption [213], indicating that sodium affects bone metabolism. The mechanism for increased bone resorption with high dietary sodium intake seems to be related to increased dietary sodium chloride intake having an effect on acid/base balance, with subsequent loss of calcium [207, 214].

Other nutrients also affect bone health, and in some cases have been proposed as potential countermeasures. Vitamin K, as mentioned earlier, may have the potential to mitigate bone loss during spaceflight [26, 172], and in limited flight studies has been shown to have positive effects on bone biochemistry [56, 172]. Very recent evidence suggests that omega-3 fatty acids, commonly found in fish oils, can increase bone density in humans and rats [215–219]. Although preliminary data support this concept in microgravity analogs, additional work is required before omega-3 fatty acids can be tested as a countermeasure during spaceflight.

4.2. MUSCLE

4.2.1. Spaceflight

Exposure to microgravity reduces muscle mass, volume, and performance, especially in the legs, on both long- and short-duration flights [220–224]. Muscle loss during long-duration exploration missions is a critical concern

because of its possible implications for astronaut performance of extravehicular activity (EVA), landing and egress tasks, and tasks required during emergency situations.

4.2.2. Biochemistry

Potassium and nitrogen balances became increasingly negative throughout the Skylab flights, but urinary creatinine excretion did not change [35] despite losses of leg volume [225]. Decreased prostaglandin secretion has also been implicated in the loss of muscle tissue during spaceflight, secondary to decreased muscle mechanical stress [226]. Stable isotope studies have shown that whole-body protein turnover increased during short-term spaceflight. Protein synthesis increased, but protein breakdown increased even more [227].

Most studies of human protein metabolism during spaceflight have focused on protein synthesis (mostly because of technical limitations). The increase in protein synthesis in short-term flight is hypothesized by Stein [222] to be related to physiological stress, as indicated by increased urinary cortisol during flight [17, 226]. These findings are similar to those found in catabolic patients.

On long-duration Mir flights, conversely, investigators have noted decreased rates of protein synthesis [228]. Protein synthesis was, however, directly correlated with energy intake, suggesting that the reduced protein synthesis was related to inadequate energy intake [228].

Tracer turnover studies have suggested that reduced protein synthesis was the main factor in lean tissue loss during spaceflight [221], but these studies have also shown that protein breakdown was greater as well, particularly during periods of increased stress. Muscle proteolysis occurs mainly in the early stages of spaceflight, and may level off as the duration increases [221, 227]. Profound muscle breakdown can be caused by elevated cortisol in conjunction with decreased testosterone, as seen in trauma patients [221] and during spaceflight [17, 229]. Cortisol treatment alone causes changes in protein indistinguishable from those of fasting [221]. In rats flown on the Space Shuttle, as well as those undergoing hindlimb suspension, evidence exists that activation of the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway was increased [230]. Multiple components of the ubiquitin-proteasome system are up-regulated during spaceflight [230, 231], suggesting that spaceflightinduced muscle proteolysis may be associated with activation of the ubiquitin-proteasome system. Thus, weightlessness-induced muscle loss may be mechanistically similar to other muscle-wasting conditions, including those caused by cancer and sepsis. These findings, along with the commonly noted deficit in energy intake in spaceflight and increased levels of cytokines and other markers of metabolic stress [222], suggest that proteolysis plays a role in lean tissue loss during spaceflight.

Evaluation of plasma and urinary amino acids suggests that they do not provide a clear indication of muscle metabolism. An increase in plasma amino acids was noted in cosmonauts after flights of 2–63 days [232], and limited Shuttle (short-duration) flight data indicate a tendency for plasma concentrations of branched-chain amino acids to be greater during flight than before flight [233]. Data from short-duration flights also showed that little or no change occurred in urinary amino acid profiles [25]. Skylab studies, on the other hand, did reveal increases in excretion of amino acid metabolites [234], suggesting that contractile proteins of skeletal muscle were degraded in weightlessness.

4.2.3. Ground Analogs

Disuse atrophy of muscle in space is likely related to changes in wholebody protein turnover. Ground-based studies have shown that whole-body protein synthesis decreases about 10% during short-duration (2 weeks) bed rest [235, 236], and half of that decrease could be accounted for by the leg muscles [236]. Excretion of 4-pyridoxic acid, a vitamin B₆ metabolite, increased during bed rest [237], suggesting that metabolically active muscle tissue was lost.

While the majority of ground-based studies have identified decreased protein synthesis as the likely cause of muscle loss, flight studies generally point to increased proteolysis. These differences may relate to a number of variables. Dietary intake is one major difference between the two types of studies. Ground-based studies typically have prescribed and controlled dietary intakes or are designed to maintain body mass, whereas space crews often do not consume adequate energy. Another difference is the potential variability in stress levels from this type of study, both flight and ground-based. An increase in stress hormones (such as cortisol) is typically, but not always, associated with spaceflight. Ground-based studies have the potential for increased stress; however, this is not an entirely consistent finding. Experimental approaches to mimic increased stress during bed rest have included administration of exogenous thyroid hormone or cortisol as a means to increase muscle catabolism [238–240].

4.2.4. Countermeasures – Exercise

When contemplating muscle loss, the most obvious countermeasure is exercise. The exercise protocols used to date have not succeeded in maintaining muscle mass or strength, or bone mass, during spaceflight. This may, in part, be related to time available for exercise, and/or hardware availability or restrictions (such as speed limitations on treadmills). On Mir flights, crew members differed significantly with respect to in-flight exercise frequency and intensity (because of such factors as mission requirements and personal habits). However, losses of leg muscle volume, detected immediately after flight by magnetic resonance imaging, were almost 20% in all subjects [241]. Similar findings (wide variations in exercise, lack of difference in bone loss) have also been documented for bone and calcium loss [19].

Resistive exercise protocols have been proposed to aid in the maintenance of both muscle and bone during flight. Success with these protocols in flight analog studies [120, 167] has yet to be repeated in flight, in part because of limitations in available exercise hardware [242, 243]. Exogenous testosterone administration during bed rest studies has maintained muscle mass and protein balance, but with no effect on muscle strength [244].

The optimal in-flight exercise prescription (time and type) needs to be developed on orbit. Given the constraints on time and hardware, this prescription may ultimately require a combination of exercise and other countermeasures (such as dietary supplementation and pharmacological agents).

4.2.5. Countermeasures – Dietary Influence

In early studies, researchers sought to determine if additional dietary protein could mitigate the muscle loss of weightlessness, but it did not [245]. A number of amino acid (and other nutrient) mixtures have also been researched, with generally positive effects on protein synthesis, muscle loss, and muscle strength [239, 240, 246–250]. One side effect noted in these studies, however, is that the amino acid load seems to have a negative impact on bone metabolism [251].

Administration of omega-3 fatty acids, specifically eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), attenuates muscle loss associated with hypercatabolic states, including starvation and cancer cachexia. Mechanistic studies indicate that EPA prevents muscle protein catabolism by downregulating proteolysis regulated by the ubiquitin–proteasome system [252]. Even before the mechanisms had been fully defined, EPA entered clinical trials in the United Kingdom for patients with pancreatic cancer and profound cachexia. The results were striking, with either pure EPA [253] or fish oil capsules [254] attenuating loss of lean body mass. No other therapy has ever achieved this, and this work has stimulated much clinical interest throughout both Europe and the United States. Given the abundance of data showing that EPA can successfully prevent muscle atrophy during other muscle-wasting conditions such as cancer or sepsis, there is a high likelihood that it can do this during spaceflight.

4.3. Fluid Balance

Fluid and electrolyte homeostasis is altered during spaceflight [28, 255–258]. The original hypothesis for the mechanism of this effect was that upon entering weightlessness, the human body would experience a headward shift

of fluids, with subsequent diuresis and dehydration. Data from spaceflight experiments have not supported this hypothesis [17, 259–262].

Within hours of the onset of weightlessness (the earliest available data point), a reduction in both plasma volume and extracellular fluid volume occurred [17]. Initially, the decrement in plasma volume (about 17%) was larger than the decrement in extracellular fluid volume (about 10%), suggesting that interstitial fluid volume (the other four-fifths of extracellular fluid besides plasma volume) is conserved proportionally more than plasma volume [17]. The idea that interstitial fluid volume is conserved is supported by rapid decreases in total circulating protein, specifically albumin [17]. This shift of protein, and associated oncotic pressure, from the intra- to the extravascular space would also facilitate the initial changes in plasma volume [17].

After the initial adaptation, extracellular fluid volume decreased between the first days of flight and the 8th to 12th days of flight, from the initial 10% below preflight levels to about 15% below preflight levels [17]. Plasma volume was partially restored during this period, from the initial 17% below preflight levels to about 11% below preflight levels [17], and it has been found to remain 10% to 15% below preflight levels even for extended-duration flights [76].

It is hypothesized that the extravascular shift of protein and fluid represents an adaptation to weightlessness, and that after several days, some of the extravascular albumin has been metabolized, with a loss of oncotic force and a resulting decrease in extracellular fluid volume and increased plasma volume [17]. This loss of extracellular protein (either intra- or extravascular), and associated decreased oncotic potential, probably plays a role in postflight orthostatic intolerance, which has been considered to result partly from reduced plasma volume at landing [263]. Furthermore, the loss of protein may explain why fluid loading alone does not restore circulatory volume [264], as no additional solute load exists to maintain the fluid volume.

The effect of spaceflight on total body water has been evaluated to assess hydration. The total body water of Shuttle and Skylab astronauts decreased about 1% during flight [17, 265], and the percent of body mass represented by water did not change. Thus, the often-hypothesized weightlessness-induced diuresis and subsequent dehydration do not exist [17, 255–257, 262, 266–269], for a number of possible reasons. Operational constraints have made it difficult to document urine volume accurately on the first day of spaceflight. However, on Space Shuttle missions, urine volume on the first three days of flight was significantly less than preflight volume, and tended to be less than preflight volume throughout the flight [17]. Urine volume on a weeklong flight to Mir was also less than preflight volume [270]. During the first week of the 59- and 84-day Skylab flights [35], urine volume was less than it was before flight, and for the remainder of the mission it was unchanged from

preflight levels. Decreased fluid intake likely accounts for the decreased urine volume, which was accompanied by little or no change in total body water.

As mentioned above, the percent of body mass represented by total body water is relatively unchanged during flight [17]. However, on a volume basis, the change (decrease) in extracellular fluid volume was found to be greater than the change (or lack of change) in total body water [17]. Thus, by difference, intracellular fluid volume increased during spaceflight. This had been previously hypothesized from ground-based studies [271] and observed postflight for Apollo crew members [269]. The mechanism for a spaceflight-induced increase in intracellular fluid volume is unknown. One possible explanation is that a shift in fuel utilization results in increased glycogen storage, a condition known to increase cellular water content.

4.4. ENDOCRINE AND IMMUNE FUNCTION

The interrelationships of nutrition with bone, muscle, and fluid-regulating systems seem to be less complex than its interrelationships with the endocrine and immune systems. A full characterization of the endocrine response to spaceflight has not been possible to date, albeit not for lack of trying. Small numbers of subjects, individual and mission variability, and many confounding factors impede a clear understanding. A larger challenge seems to be the fact that endocrine responses to actual spaceflight are different from responses to ground-based analogs, and this presents another confounding factor when trying to evaluate the available literature.

Bed rest is known to blunt insulin responsiveness [272–274]. Some of the small amount of data available indicates that spaceflight has a similar effect [275], and some does not [226, 276]. Testosterone levels are reduced during flight [277, 278], and a similar, though transient, effect was observed in bed rest [279]. The secondary effects of these endocrine changes on metabolism of fuel, maintenance of muscle and other systems, and other processes are unknown.

Nutrition and immune system function have been clearly linked in Earthbased research. Changes in immune function associated with spaceflight and spaceflight analogs have also been reported [280], but the interrelationships with nutrition have yet to be evaluated beyond speculation in review articles such as this one [281–283]. Although the role of inadequate nutrition in most physiological systems during spaceflight has not been systematically studied, the paucity of knowledge about nutrition and the immune system is especially profound. Further intertwined in the immune/nutrition axis are stress hormone effects [250, 284–286], which not only confound this relationship but also have a clear role in spaceflight effects on muscle, bone, and other systems.

5. Environmental Issues

5.1. RADIATION

Spaceflight predictably increases radiation exposure of astronauts due to the radiation environment in low Earth orbit. The types of radiation include three main categories: trapped particles of the Van Allen belts, galactic cosmic rays, and solar particles. Some activities, such as EVA, increase an astronaut's exposure to radiation because the EVA suit provides less protection from radiation than the spacecraft does. Radiobiological effects from each component of space radiation have been studied in ground analogs, but the effects of space radiation as a whole are difficult to test in a ground analog because it is a mixed radiation field and the dose rates are low. Modeling has been used to assess risk, but it is difficult for models to take into account the whole-body biological effects and cellular repair responses after radiation exposure that occur after long-duration spaceflight. For instance, a number of studies show that astronauts have elevated levels of markers of oxidative damage after spaceflight, but predicting the precise cause of the damage is complicated. Plasma malondialdehyde, 8-iso-prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ (PGF_{2 α}), and urinary 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine (8OHdG) have been measured during and after flight as indicators of lipid peroxidation (malondialdehyde and PGF₂) and DNA damage (8OHdG) [18, 58]. Several investigations show a significant elevation of urinary 80HdG after long-duration missions [18, 20] but not after short-duration missions of 17 days [58]. Urinary PGF_2 is significantly decreased during flight but elevated about 2.5-fold after flight [58]. Plasma malondialdehyde is increased both during and after flight [58]. Damage to cellular components such as DNA is a complex process and includes direct damage from high-energy particle impacts on the molecules themselves as well as indirect damage from the production of reactive oxygen species [287, 288]. In addition to these markers of oxidative damage, it is also evident that astronauts have an elevated incidence of cataracts. which are typically induced by reactive oxygen species [44]. Apparent increases in oxidative damage observed during and after flight could be caused by a number of factors, including altered repair mechanisms, impaired antioxidant defense systems, and increased oxidative stress.

Ground-based studies show that antioxidants can protect against many types of radiation-induced cellular damage [289–291]. Further studies are required to determine an optimal antioxidant countermeasure to maximize effectiveness.

5.2. EXTRAVEHICULAR ACTIVITY: SPACE WALKS

EVA is one of the more enthralling aspects of a spaceflight, and represents a challenge to many systems, as the space suit literally becomes a personal spacecraft. All life support, including oxygen provision, carbon dioxide removal, temperature control, hydration, and waste management, is provided by the suit. A tear in the suit material could be catastrophic. The low pressure of the suit (4.3 psi) makes a handgrip strenuous exercise. Food provision is extremely limited or impossible, and only water is provided to maintain hydration. The thickness of the suit becomes the only protection against the temperature extremes of space (which depend on the phase of orbit, light, or dark), and it provides a thin layer of protection against radiation exposure.

In addition to the increased radiation exposure during EVAs, the environment inside the suit can promote oxidative damage. Because of the low suit pressure, protocols have been developed to minimize or eliminate the potential for decompression sickness [292]. A "prebreathe protocol" typically includes a 2.5-hour period of breathing >95–100% oxygen to reduce this risk. After the 2.5-hour prebreathe, astronauts are typically exposed to hypobaric 100% oxygen for 6–8 hours during EVA. Similarly, during training for EVAs, crew members breathe a hyperoxic gas mixture (Nitrox) composed of 40% oxygen and 60% nitrogen. They breathe this under hyperbaric conditions of 1.5–2.0 atm (about 20–30 psi) of pressure (at a depth of 15–35 ft). Dives for EVA training last 6–10 hours, with augmented PO₂ producing near-saturation-type dive conditions. Studies from saturation dives show that oxidative damage is evident under these conditions [293].

Oxidative damage has been linked to cataract risk [294] and other health concerns [295–297] [298–302], including muscle wasting [298] and muscle fatigue [299–302]. Muscle fatigue, particularly in the hands, is an important concern for spacewalking astronauts. Future exploration missions on the Moon and Mars are a top priority for NASA, and current designs are going to have astronauts perform 6- to 8-hour EVAs several times per week. Since EVA crew members will be exposed to several types of oxidative damage, developing an effective countermeasure to mitigate the oxidative damage effects will be critical to astronaut health.

6. Future Exploration Missions

After 45 years of human spaceflight and a great deal of space life sciences research, much has been learned about human adaptation to microgravity exposure. From a nutrition perspective, critical questions remain regarding the nutrient requirements for extended-duration missions and the ability of nutrients to serve as countermeasures to mitigate some of the negative effects of spaceflight. Initial studies are underway to better understand nutritional requirements in microgravity, the stability of nutrients in foods stored in space, and oxidative damage and how to counteract it.

For lunar missions, a key question for all physiological systems is whether 1/6-gravity will protect astronauts from the effects of microgravity. The radiation exposure of missions outside low Earth orbit, as well as the desire to conduct extensive lunar exploration involving crew members wearing space suits, also poses critical mission-specific challenges. The design of future lunar space suits is currently underway, and one of the considerations is expanding the ability to provide nutrition during EVA, either by making a nutritional beverage available in the suit or by making it possible for an astronaut to easily exit the suit for a snack or lunch.

Mars missions will require additional technological and biomedical advances. Current scenarios, based on existing propulsion technology, are for missions of about 2.5–3 years, with 6 months of transit to Mars and another 6-month voyage to return. On these flights, early return will not be possible, and thus *in situ* medical capabilities are needed. Determining what diagnostic testing is required and developing technologies to allow such testing in microgravity or 1/3-gravity will be challenging, to say the least. From a food perspective, storage of foods for up to 5 years will be required (as much of the food as possible will be sent ahead of the crewed mission), and ensuring adequate nutrient content at the time of consumption will be critical. For astronauts depending for months to years on a closed food system, any nutrient deficiency or excess could be catastrophic. The question of *in situ* production of food is often raised, but this will bring another set of challenges, and risks if the crew depends on crops for a given nutrient or set of nutrients. Crop failure is not an option.

If requisite nutrients are not obtained by the body for any reason, muscle and bone loss will proceed unabated, despite any exercise or pharmacological countermeasures. If vitamin C (or any other vitamin) is not stable under conditions of long-duration storage and the radiation exposure of deep space, modern astronauts could suffer from scurvy (or other diseases) as did early explorers on Earth.

Nutrition is critical for health, on Earth and in space. As we approach the next phases of exploration beyond this planet, we need to fully understand nutritional requirements in these unique environments to ensure optimal health and mission success.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Jane Krauhs for editorial assistance.

References

 Pavy-Le Traon A, Heer M, Narici MV, Rittweger J, Vernikos J. From space to Earth: Advances in human physiology from 20 years of bed rest studies (1986-2006). Eur J Appl Physiol 2007; 101(2):143–194.

- [2] Smith SM, Uchakin PN, Tobin BW. Space flight nutrition research: Platforms and analogs. Nutrition 2002; 18:926–929.
- [3] Bourland CT. Advances in food systems for space flight. Life Support Biosph Sci 1998; 5:71–77.
- [4] Stadler CR, Rapp RM, Bourland CT, Fohey MF. Space Shuttle food-system summary, 1981–1986. Houston: NASA Johnson Space Center, 1988. Report No.: NASA Technical Memorandum 100469.
- [5] Perchonok M, Bourland C. NASA food systems: Past, present, and future. Nutrition 2002; 18(10):913–920.
- [6] Lane HW, Kloeris V, Perchonok M, Zwart S, Smith SM. Food and nutrition for the moon base: What have we learned in 45 years of spaceflight. Nutr Today 2007; 42 (3):102–110.
- [7] Bourland C, Kloeris V, Rice B, Vodovotz Y. Food systems for space and planetary flights. In: Lane HW, Schoeller DA, editors. Nutrition in Spaceflight and Weightlessness Models. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, 2000: 19–40.
- [8] Heer M, Boerger A, Kamps N, Mika C, Korr C, Drummer C. Nutrient supply during recent European missions. Pflugers Arch 2000; 441(2–3 Suppl.):R8–R14.
- [9] Klicka MV. Development of space foods. J Am Diet Assoc 1964; 44:358-361.
- [10] Klicka MV, Hollender HA, Lachance PA. Foods for astronauts. J Am Diet Assoc 1967; 51 (3):238–245.
- [11] Smith MC, Berry CA. Dinner on the moon. Nutr Today 1969; 4:37-42.
- [12] Gretebeck RJ, Siconolfi SF, Rice B, Lane HW. Physical performance is maintained in women consuming only foods used on the U.S. Space Shuttle. Aviat Space Environ Med 1994; 65(11):1036–1040.
- [13] National Aeronautics and Space Administration Johnson Space Center. Nutritional requirements for International Space Station (ISS) missions up to 360 days. Houston, TX: National Aeronautics and Space Administration Lyndon B. Johnson Space Center, 1996. Report No.: JSC-28038.
- [14] Lane HW, Smith SM. Nutrition in space. In: Shils ME, Olson JA, Shike M, Ross AC, editors. Modern Nutrition in Health and Disease, 9th ed. Baltimore, MD: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 1999: 783–788.
- [15] Lane HW, Gretebeck RJ, Schoeller DA, Davis-Street J, Socki RA, Gibson EK. Comparison of ground-based and space flight energy expenditure and water turnover in middleaged healthy male US astronauts. Am J Clin Nutr 1997; 65(1):4–12.
- [16] World Health Organization. Energy and Protein Requirements. Report of a joint FAO/ WHO/UNU expert consultation. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO, 1985.
- [17] Leach C, Alfrey C, Suki W, Leonard JI, Rambaut PC, Inners LD, et al. Regulation of body fluid compartments during short-term spaceflight. J Appl Physiol 1996; 81:105–116.
- [18] Smith SM, Davis-Street JE, Rice BL, Nillen JL, Gillman PL, Block G. Nutritional status assessment in semiclosed environments: Ground-based and space flight studies in humans. J Nutr 2001; 131(7):2053–2061.
- [19] Smith SM, Wastney ME, O'Brien KO, Morukov BV, Larina IM, Abrams SA, et al. Bone markers, calcium metabolism, and calcium kinetics during extended-duration space flight on the Mir space station. J Bone Miner Res 2005; 20(2):208–218.
- [20] Smith SM, Zwart SR, Block G, Rice BL, Davis-Street JE. Nutritional status assessment of International Space Station crew members. J Nutr 2005; 135:437–443.
- [21] Altman PL, Talbot JM. Nutrition and metabolism in spaceflight. J Nutr 1987; 117:421–427.
- [22] Johnson PC, Leach CS, Rambaut PC. Estimates of fluid and energy balances of Apollo 17. Aerosp Med 1973; 44:1227–1230.

- [23] Rambaut PC, Smith MC, Jr., Wheeler HO. Nutritional studies. In: Johnston RS, Dietlein LF, Berry CA, editors. Biomedical Results of Apollo (NASA SP-368). Washington, DC: National Aeronautics and Space Administration, 1975: 277–302.
- [24] Rambaut PC, Leach CS, Johnson PC. Calcium and phosphorus change of the Apollo 17 crew members. Nutr Metab 1975; 18:62–69.
- [25] Stein TP, Schluter MD. Excretion of amino acids by humans during space flight. Acta Astronaut 1998; 42(1–8):205–214.
- [26] Heer M. Nutritional interventions related to bone turnover in European space missions and simulation models. Nutrition 2002; 18(10):853–856.
- [27] Rambaut P, Leach C, Leonard J. Observations in energy balance in man during spaceflight. Am J Physiol 1977; 233:R208–R212.
- [28] Drummer C, Hesse C, Baisch F, Norsk P, Elmann-Larsen B, Gerzer R, et al. Water and sodium balances and their relation to body mass changes in microgravity. Eur J Clin Invest 2000; 30(12):1066–1075.
- [29] Wade CE, Miller MM, Baer LA, Moran MM, Steele MK, Stein TP. Body mass, energy intake, and water consumption of rats and humans during space flight. Nutrition 2002; 18(10):829–836.
- [30] Da Silva MS, Zimmerman PM, Meguid MM, Nandi J, Ohinata K, Xu Y, et al. Anorexia in space and possible etiologies: An overview. Nutrition 2002; 18(10):805–813.
- [31] Watt DG, Money KE, Bondar RL, Thirsk RB, Garneau M, Scully-Power P. Canadian medical experiments on Shuttle flight 41-G. Can Aeronaut Space J 1985; 31(3):215–226.
- [32] Budylina SM, Khvatova VA, Volozhin AI. Effect of orthostatic and antiorthostatic hypokinesia on taste sensitivity in men. Kosm Biol Aviakosm Med 1976; 10:27–30.
- [33] Heer M, Paloski WH. Space motion sickness: Incidence, etiology, and countermeasures. Auton Neurosci 2006; 129(1–2):77–79.
- [34] Lane HW, LeBlanc AD, Putcha L, Whitson PA. Nutrition and human physiological adaptations to space flight. Am J Clin Nutr 1993; 58:583–588.
- [35] Leach C, Rambaut P. Biochemical responses of the Skylab crewmen: An overview. In: Johnston R, Dietlein L, editors. Biomedical Results from Skylab (NASA SP-377). Washington, DC: National Aeronautics and Space Administration, 1977: 204–216.
- [36] Stein TP, Leskiw MJ, Schluter MD, Donaldson MR, Larina I. Protein kinetics during and after long-duration spaceflight on Mir. Am J Physiol 1999; 276:E1014–E1021.
- [37] Biolo G, Ciocchi B, Stulle M, Bosutti A, Barazzoni R, Zanetti M, et al. Calorie restriction accelerates the catabolism of lean body mass during 2 wk of bed rest. Am J Clin Nutr 2007; 86(2):366–372.
- [38] National Aeronautics and Space Administration Johnson Space Center. Nutritional status assessment for extended-duration space flight. JSC Document #28566, Revision 1 Houston, TX: NASA, 1999.
- [39] Soller BR, Cabrera M, Smith SM, Sutton JP. Smart medical systems with application to nutrition and fitness in space. Nutrition 2002; 18(10):930–936.
- [40] Powers HJ. Riboflavin (vitamin B-2) and health. Am J Clin Nutr 2003; 77(6):1352–1360.
- [41] Vitale S, West S, Hallfrisch J, Alston C, Wang F, Moorman C, et al. Plasma antioxidants and risk of cortical and nuclear cataract. Epidemiology 1993; 4(3):195–203.
- [42] Bendich A, Langseth L. The health effects of vitamin C supplementation: A review. J Am Coll Nutr 1995; 14(2):124–136.
- [43] Mares-Perlman JA, Lyle BJ, Klein R, Fisher AI, Brady WE, VandenLangenberg GM, et al. Vitamin supplement use and incident cataracts in a population-based study. Arch Ophthalmol 2000; 118(11):1556–1563.
- [44] Cucinotta FA, Manuel FK, Jones J, Iszard G, Murrey J, Djojonegro B, et al. Space radiation and cataracts in astronauts. Radiat Res 2001; 156(5 Pt. 1):460–466.

- [45] Jones JA, McCarten M, Manuel K, Djojonegoro B, Murray J, Feiverson A, et al. Cataract formation mechanisms and risk in aviation and space crews. Aviat Space Environ Med 2007; 78(4 Suppl.):A56–A66.
- [46] Rastegar N, Eckart P, Mertz M. Radiation-induced cataract in astronauts and cosmonauts. Graefes Arch Clin Exp Ophthalmol 2002; 240(7):543–547.
- [47] Turner ND, Braby LA, Ford J, Lupton JR. Opportunities for nutritional amelioration of radiation-induced cellular damage. Nutrition 2002; 18(10):904–912.
- [48] Huang HY, Caballero B, Chang S, Alberg AJ, Semba RD, Schneyer CR, et al. The efficacy and safety of multivitamin and mineral supplement use to prevent cancer and chronic disease in adults: A systematic review for a National Institutes of Health state-of-thescience conference. Ann Intern Med 2006; 145(5):372–385.
- [49] Seddon JM. Multivitamin-multimineral supplements and eye disease: Age-related macular degeneration and cataract. Am J Clin Nutr 2007; 85(1):304S–307S.
- [50] Katz J. The rust on the magic bullet. Br J Ophthalmol 2006; 90(7):811.
- [51] Chiu CJ, Taylor A. Nutritional antioxidants and age-related cataract and maculopathy. Exp Eye Res 2007; 84(2):229–245.
- [52] Holick MF. Vitamin D deficiency. N Engl J Med 2007; 357(3):266–281.
- [53] Smith SM, Wastney ME, Morukov BV, Larina IM, Nyquist LE, Abrams SA, et al. Calcium metabolism before, during, and after a 3-mo spaceflight: Kinetic and biochemical changes. Am J Physiol 1999; 277(1 Pt. 2):R1–R10.
- [54] Ferland G, Vitamin K. In: Bowman BA, Russell RM, editors. Present Knowledge in Nutrition, 8th ed. Washington, DC: ILSI Press, 2001.
- [55] Caillot-Augusseau A, Vico L, Heer M, Voroviev D, Souberbielle J-C, Zitterman A, et al. Space flight is associated with rapid decreases of undercarboxylated osteocalcin and increases of markers of bone resorption without changes in their circadian variation: Observations in two cosmonauts. Clin Chem 2000; 46:1136–1143.
- [56] Vermeer C, Wolf J, Craciun AM, Knapen MH. Bone markers during a 6-month space flight: Effects of vitamin K supplementation. J Gravit Physiol 1998; 5(2):65–69.
- [57] Stein TP. Space flight and oxidative stress. Nutrition 2002; 18:867–871.
- [58] Stein TP, Leskiw MJ. Oxidant damage during and after spaceflight. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2000; 278(3):E375–E382.
- [59] Fang Y, Yang S, Wu G. Free radicals, antioxidants, and nutrition. Nutrition 2002; 18:872–879.
- [60] Pence BC, Yang TC. Antioxidants: Radiation and stress. In: Lane HW, Schoeller DA, editors. Nutrition in Spaceflight and Weightlessness Models. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, 2000: 233–252.
- [61] van Poppel G, Goldbohm RA. Epidemiologic evidence for β-carotene and cancer prevention. Am J Clin Nutr 1995; 62(Suppl.):1393S–1402S.
- [62] Kohlmeier L, Hastings SB. Epidemiologic evidence of a role of carotenoids in cardiovascular disease prevention. Am J Clin Nutr 1995; 62(Suppl.):1370S–1376S.
- [63] Michaelsson K, Lithell H, Vessby B, Melhus H. Serum retinol levels and the risk of fracture. N Engl J Med 2003; 348(4):287–294.
- [64] Melhus H, Michaelsson K, Kindmark A, Bergstrom R, Holmberg L, Mallmin H, et al. Excessive dietary intake of vitamin A is associated with reduced bone mineral density and increased risk for hip fracture. Ann Intern Med 1998; 129(10):770–778.
- [65] Jackson HA, Sheehan AH. Effect of vitamin A on fracture risk. Ann Pharmacother 2005; 39(12):2086–2090.
- [66] Palacios C. The role of nutrients in bone health, from A to Z. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 2006; 46(8):621–628.

- [67] Whedon GD, Lutwak L, Rambaut PC, Whittle MW, Smith MC, Reid J, et al. Mineral and nitrogen metabolic studies, experiment M071. In: Johnston RS, Dietlein LF, editors. Biomedical results from Skylab (NASA SP-377). Washington, DC: National Aeronautics and Space Administration, 1977: 164–174.
- [68] Zittermann A, Heer M, Caillot-Augusso A, Rettberg P, Scheld K, Drummer C, et al. Microgravity inhibits intestinal calcium absorption as shown by a stable strontium test. Eur J Clin Invest 2000; 30:1036–1043.
- [69] Smith MC, Jr., Rambaut PC, Vogel JM, Whittle MW. Bone mineral measurement experiment M078. In: Johnston RS, Dietlein LF, editors. Biomedical Results from Skylab (NASA SP-377). Washington, DC: National Aeronautics and Space Administration, 1977: 183–190.
- [70] Whitson PA, Pietrzyk RA, Morukov BV, Sams CF. The risk of renal stone formation during and after long duration space flight. Nephron 2001; 89:264–270.
- [71] Rambaut P, Johnston R. Prolonged weightlessness and calcium loss in man. Acta Astronaut 1979; 6:1113–1122.
- [72] Leach CS. Biochemical and hematologic changes after short-term space flight. Microgravity Q 1992; 2:69–75.
- [73] Leach C, Johnson P. Influence of spaceflight on erythrokinetics in man. Science 1984; 225:216–218.
- [74] Udden MM, Driscoll TB, Pickett MH, Leach-Huntoon CS, Alfrey CP. Decreased production of red blood cells in human subjects exposed to microgravity. J Lab Clin Med 1995; 125:442–449.
- [75] Alfrey CP, Udden MM, Leach-Huntoon C, Driscoll T, Pickett MH. Control of red blood cell mass in spaceflight. J Appl Physiol 1996; 81:98–104.
- [76] Johnson P, Driscoll T, LeBlanc A. Blood volume changes. In: Johnston R, Dietlein L, editors. Biomedical Results from Skylab (NASA SP-377). Washington, DC: National Aeronautics and Space Administration, 1977: 235–241.
- [77] Johnson PC. The erythropoietic effects of weightlessness. In: Dunn CDR. editors. Current Concepts in Erythropoiesis. New York: John Wiley & Sons Ltd., 1983: 279–300.
- [78] Fischer CL, Johnson PC, Berry CA. Red blood cell mass and plasma volume changes in manned space flight. JAMA 1967; 200:579–583.
- [79] Smith SM, Davis-Street JE, Fontenot TB, Lane HW. Assessment of a portable clinical blood analyzer during space flight. Clin Chem 1997; 43(6 Pt. 1):1056–1065.
- [80] Mengel CE. Red cell metabolism studies on Skylab. In: Johnston RS, Dietlein LF, editors. Biomedical Results from Skylab (NASA SP-377). Washington, DC: National Aeronautics and Space Administration, 1977: 242–248.
- [81] Alfrey CP, Udden MM, Huntoon CL, Driscoll T. Destruction of newly released red blood cells in space flight. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1996; 28(10 Suppl.):S42–S44.
- [82] Leach C, Rambaut P. Biochemical observations of long duration manned orbital spaceflight. J Am Med Women Assoc 1975; 30:153–172.
- [83] Convertino VA. Clinical aspects of the control of plasma volume at microgravity and during return to one gravity. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1996; 28(10 Suppl.):S45–S52.
- [84] Dunn CDR, Lange RD, Kimzey SL, Johnson PC, Leach CS. Serum erythropoietin titers during prolonged bedrest; relevance to the "anaemia" of space flight. Eur J Appl Physiol 1984; 52:178–182.
- [85] Rice L, Ruiz W, Driscoll T, Whitley CE, Tapia R, Hachey DL, et al. Neocytolysis on descent from altitude: A newly recognized mechanism for the control of red cell mass. Ann Intern Med 2001; 134(8):652–656.
- [86] Fontecave M, Pierre JL. Iron: Metabolism, toxicity and therapy. Biochimie 1993; 75:767–773.

- [87] Sempos CT, Looker AC, Gillum RF, Makuc DM. Body iron stores and the risk of coronary heart disease. N Engl J Med 1994; 330(16):1119–1124.
- [88] Ascherio A, Willett WC. Are body iron stores related to the risk of coronary heart disease? (Editorial). N Engl J Med 1994; 330:1152–1154.
- [89] Sullivan JL. Stored iron and ischemic heart disease: Empirical support for a new paradigm (Editorial Comment). Circulation 1992; 86:1036–1037.
- [90] Lauffer RB. Iron stores and the international variation in mortality from coronary artery disease. Lancet 1991; 2:1288–1289.
- [91] Salonen JT, Nyyssonen K, Korpela H, Tuomilehto J, Seppanen R, Salonen R. High stored iron levels are associated with excess risk of myocardial infarction in eastern Finnish men. Circulation 1992; 86(3):803–811.
- [92] Sullivan JL. The iron paradigm of ischemic heart disease. Am Heart J 1989; 117:1177–1188.
- [93] Knekt P, Reunanen A, Takkunen H, Aromaa A, Heliovaara M, Hakulinen T. Body iron stores and risk of cancer. Int J Cancer 1994; 56(3):379–382.
- [94] Mainous AG, III, Wells BJ, Koopman RJ, Everett CJ, Gill JM. Iron, lipids, and risk of cancer in the Framingham Offspring cohort. Am J Epidemiol 2005; 161(12):1115–1122.
- [95] Schreiber WE. Iron, porphyrin, and bilirubin metabolism. In: Kaplan LA, Pesce AJ, editors. Clinical Chemistry: Theory, Analysis, and Correlation. St. Louis, MO: Mosby-Year Books, Inc, 1996: 696–715.
- [96] Krebs JM, Schneider VS, LeBlanc AD, Kuo MC, Spector E, Lane HW. Zinc and copper balances in healthy adult males during and after 17 wk of bed rest. Am J Clin Nutr 1993; 58 (6):897–901.
- [97] Krebs JM, Schneider VS, LeBlanc AD. Zinc, copper, and nitrogen balances during bed rest and fluoride supplementation in healthy adult males. Am J Clin Nutr 1988; 47(3):509–514.
- [98] Food and Nutrition Board. Dietary Reference Intakes for Vitamin A, Vitamin K, Arsenic, Boron, Chromium, Copper, Iodine, Iron, Manganese, Molybdenum, Nickel, Silicon, Vanadium, and Zinc.Washington, DC: National Academy Press, 2001.
- [99] Kondrashov V, Rothenberg SJ, Chettle D, Zerwekh J. Evaluation of potentially significant increase of lead in the blood during long-term bed rest and space flight. Physiol Meas 2005; 26(1):1–12.
- [100] Taylor GR, Konstantinova I, Sonnenfeld G, Jennings R. Changes in the immune system during and after spaceflight. Adv Space Biol Med 1997; 6:1–32.
- [101] Levine DS, Greenleaf JE. Immunosuppression during spaceflight deconditioning. Aviat Space Environ Med 1998; 69:172–177.
- [102] McMonigal KA, Braverman LE, Dunn JT, Stanbury JB, Wear ML, Hamm PB, et al. Thyroid function changes related to use of iodinated water in the U.S. Space Program. Aviat Space Environ Med 2000; 71(11):1120–1125.
- [103] LeBlanc AD, Spector ER, Evans HJ, Sibonga JD. Skeletal responses to space flight and the bed rest analog: A review. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact 2007; 7(1):33–47.
- [104] Oganov V, Rakhmanov A, Novikov V, Zatsepin S, Rodionova S, Cann C. The state of human bone tissue during space flight. Acta Astronaut 1991; 23:129–133.
- [105] Holick MF. Microgravity-induced bone loss—will it limit human space exploration? Lancet 2000; 355:1569–1570.
- [106] Heer M, Kamps N, Biener C, Korr C, Boerger A, Zittermann A, et al. Calcium metabolism in microgravity. Eur J Med Res 1999; 4:357–360.
- [107] Whitson P, Pietrzyk R, Pak C. Renal stone risk assessment during Space Shuttle flights. J Urol 1997; 158:2305–2310.
- [108] Zerwekh JE. Nutrition and renal stone disease in space. Nutrition 2002; 18(10):857–863.

- [109] Monga M, Macias B, Groppo E, Kostelec M, Hargens A. Renal stone risk in a simulated microgravity environment: Impact of treadmill exercise with lower body negative pressure. J Urol 2006; 176(1):127–131.
- [110] Lang T, LeBlanc A, Evans H, Lu Y, Genant H, Yu A. Cortical and trabecular bone mineral loss from the spine and hip in long-duration spaceflight. J Bone Miner Res 2004; 19(6):1006–1012.
- [111] LeBlanc A, Schneider V, Shackelford L, West S, Oganov V, Bakulin A, et al. Bone mineral and lean tissue loss after long duration space flight. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact 2000; 1:157–160.
- [112] Vico L, Collet P, Guignandon A, Lafage-Proust M-H, Thomas T, Rehaillia M, et al. Effects of long-term microgravity exposure on cancellous and cortical weight-bearing bones of cosmonauts. Lancet 2000; 355(9215):1607–1611.
- [113] Bloomfield SA, Allen MR, Hogan HA, Delp MD. Site- and compartment-specific changes in bone with hindlimb unloading in mature adult rats. Bone 2002; 31(1):149–157.
- [114] Frey-Rindova P, de Bruin ED, Stussi E, Dambacher MA, Dietz V. Bone mineral density in upper and lower extremities during 12 months after spinal cord injury measured by peripheral quantitative computed tomography. Spinal Cord 2000; 38(1):26–32.
- [115] Sibonga JD, Evans HJ, Spector ER, Oganov V, Bakulin AV, Shackelford LC, et al. Skeletal recovery following long-duration missions as predicted by preflight and postflight dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA) scans of 45 crewmembers. J Bone Miner Res 2005; 20(Suppl. 1):1171 (Abstract).
- [116] Lang TF, Leblanc AD, Evans HJ, Lu Y. Adaptation of the proximal femur to skeletal reloading after long-duration spaceflight. J Bone Miner Res 2006; 21(8):1224–1230.
- [117] Smith SM, Nillen JL, Leblanc A, Lipton A, Demers LM, Lane HW, et al. Collagen crosslink excretion during space flight and bed rest. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1998; 83 (10):3584–3591.
- [118] Caillot-Augusseau A, Lafage-Proust MH, Soler C, Pernod J, Dubois F, Alexandre C. Bone formation and resorption biological markers in cosmonauts during and after a 180-day space flight (Euromir 95). Clin Chem 1998; 44(3):578–585.
- [119] Collet P, Uebelhart D, Vico L, Moro L, Hartmann D, Roth M, et al. Effects of 1- and 6-month spaceflight on bone mass and biochemistry in two humans. Bone 1997; 20:547–551.
- [120] Shackelford LC, LeBlanc AD, Driscoll TB, Evans HJ, Rianon NJ, Smith SM, et al. Resistance exercise as a countermeasure to disuse-induced bone loss. J Appl Physiol 2004; 97(1):119–129.
- [121] Donaldson C, Hulley S, Vogel J, Hattner R, Bayers J, McMillan D. Effect of prolonged bed rest on bone mineral. Metabolism 1970; 19:1071–1084.
- [122] LeBlanc AD, Schneider VS, Evans HJ, Engelbretson DA, Krebs JM. Bone mineral loss and recovery after 17 weeks of bed rest. J Bone Miner Res 1990; 5:843–850.
- [123] Watanabe Y, Ohshima H, Mizuno K, Sekiguchi C, Fukunaga M, Kohri K, et al. Intravenous pamidronate prevents femoral bone loss and renal stone formation during 90-day bed rest. J Bone Miner Res 2004; 19(11):1771–1778.
- [124] Zerwekh JE, Ruml LA, Gottschalk F, Pak CY. The effects of twelve weeks of bed rest on bone histology, biochemical markers of bone turnover, and calcium homeostasis in eleven normal subjects. J Bone Miner Res 1998; 13:1594–1601.
- [125] Bloomfield SA. Changes in musculoskeletal structure and function with prolonged bed rest. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1997; 29(2):197–206.
- [126] LeBlanc A, Schneider V, Spector E, Evans H, Rowe R, Lane H, et al. Calcium absorption, endogenous excretion, and endocrine changes during and after long-term bed rest. Bone 1995; 16(4 Suppl.):301S–304S.

- [127] Scheld K, Zittermann A, Heer M, Herzog B, Mika C, Drummer C, et al. Nitrogen metabolism and bone metabolism markers in healthy adults during 16 weeks of bed rest. Clin Chem 2001; 47(9):1688–1695.
- [128] Arnaud SB, Sherrard DJ, Maloney N, Whalen RT, Fung P. Effects of 1-week head-down tilt bed rest on bone formation and the calcium endocrine system. Aviat Space Environ Med 1992; 63:14–20.
- [129] Baecker N, Tomic A, Mika C, Gotzmann A, Platen P, Gerzer R, et al. Bone resorption is induced on the second day of bed rest: Results of a controlled crossover trial. J Appl Physiol 2003; 95:977–982.
- [130] Hwang TIS, Hill K, Schneider V, Pak CYC. Effect of prolonged bedrest on the propensity for renal stone formation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1988; 66:109–112.
- [131] LeBlanc A, Schneider V, Krebs J, Evans H, Jhingran S, Johnson P. Spinal bone mineral after 5 weeks of bed rest. Calcif Tissue Int 1987; 41:259–261.
- [132] Smith SM, Davis-Street JE, Fesperman JV, Calkins DS, Bawa M, Macias BR, et al. Evaluation of treadmill exercise in a lower body negative pressure chamber as a countermeasure for weightlessness-induced bone loss: A bed rest study with identical twins. J Bone Miner Res 2003; 18:2223–2230.
- [133] van der Wiel HE, Lips P, Nauta J, Netelenbos JC, Hazenberg GJ. Biochemical parameters of bone turnover during ten days of bed rest and subsequent mobilization. Bone Miner 1991; 13(2):123–129.
- [134] Whedon GD. Disuse osteoporosis: Physiological aspects. Calcif Tissue Int 1984; 36: S146–S150.
- [135] Heer M, Baecker N, Mika C, Boese A, Gerzer R. Immobilization induces a very rapid increase in osteoclast activity. Acta Astronaut 2005; 57(1):31–36.
- [136] Dietrick JE, Whedon GD, Shorr E. Effects of immobilization upon various metabolic and physiologic functions of normal men. Am J Med 1948; 4:3–36.
- [137] Zerwekh JE, Odvina CV, Wuermser LA, Pak CY. Reduction of renal stone risk by potassium-magnesium citrate during 5 weeks of bed rest. J Urol 2007; 177(6):2179–2184.
- [138] van der Wiel HE, Lips P, Nauta J, Kwakkel G, Hazenberg G, Netelenbos JC, et al. Intranasal calcitonin suppresses increased bone resorption during short-term immobilization: A double-blind study of the effects of intranasal calcitonin on biochemical parameters of bone turnover. J Bone Miner Res 1993; 8(12):1459–1465.
- [139] Vico L, Chappard D, Alexandre C, Palle S, Minaire P, Riffat G, et al. Effects of a 120 day period of bed-rest on bone mass and bone cell activities in man: Attempts at countermeasure. Bone Miner 1987; 2:383–394.
- [140] Inoue M, Tanaka H, Moriwake T, Oka M, Sekiguchi C, Seino Y. Altered biochemical markers of bone turnover in humans during 120 days of bed rest. Bone 2000; 26(3):281–286.
- [141] LeBlanc AD, Driscol TB, Shackelford LC, Evans HJ, Rianon NJ, Smith SM, et al. Alendronate as an effective countermeasure to disuse induced bone loss. J Musculoskelet Neuronal Interact 2002; 2(4):335–343.
- [142] Lueken SA, Arnaud SB, Taylor AK, Baylink DJ. Changes in markers of bone formation and resorption in a bed rest model of weightlessness. J Bone Miner Res 1993; 8:1433–1438.
- [143] Sorva A, Valimaki M, Risteli J, Risteli L, Elfving S, Takkunen H, et al. Serum ionized calcium, intact PTH and novel markers of bone turnover in bedridden elderly patients. Eur J Clin Invest 1994; 24(12):806–812.
- [144] Grigoriev AI, Morukov BV, Oganov VS, Rakhmanov AS, Buravkova LB. Effect of exercise and bisphosphonate on mineral balance and bone density during 360 day antiorthostatic hypokinesia. J Bone Miner Res 1992; 7(Suppl. 2):S449–S455.

- [145] Rittweger J, Winwood K, Seynnes O, de Boer M, Wilks D, Lea R, et al. Bone loss from the human distal tibia epiphysis during 24 days of unilateral lower limb suspension. J Physiol (Lond) 2006; 577(Pt. 1): 331–337.
- [146] Kim H, Iwasaki K, Miyake T, Shiozawa T, Nozaki S, Yajima K. Changes in bone turnover markers during 14-day 6 degrees head-down bed rest. J Bone Miner Metab 2003; 21(5):311–315.
- [147] Smith SM, Nillen JL, Davis-Street JE, DeKerlegand DE, LeBlanc A, Shackelford LC. Alendronate and resistive exercise countermeasures against bed rest-induced bone loss: Biochemical markers of bone and calcium metabolism. FASEB J 2001; 15:A1096 (1841.1098).
- [148] Elias AN, Gwinup G. Immobilization osteoporosis in paraplegia. J Am Paraplegia Soc 1992; 15:163–170.
- [149] Sato Y. Abnormal bone and calcium metabolism in patients after stroke. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 2000; 81(1):117–121.
- [150] Roberts D, Lee W, Cuneo RC, Wittmann J, Ward G, Flatman R, et al. Longitudinal study of bone turnover after acute spinal cord injury. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1998; 83 (2):415–422.
- [151] Stewart AF, Akler M, Byers CM, Segre GV, Broadus AE. Calcium homeostasis in immobilization: An example of resorptive hypercalciuria. N Engl J Med 1982; 306:1136–1140.
- [152] Szollar SM, Martin EM, Sartoris DJ, Parthemore JG, Deftos LJ. Bone mineral density and indexes of bone metabolism in spinal cord injury. Am J Phys Med Rehabil 1998; 77(1):28–35.
- [153] Vaziri ND, Pandian MR, Segal JL, Winer RL, Eltorai I, Brunnemann S. Vitamin D, parathormone, and calcitonin profiles in persons with long-standing spinal cord injury. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1994; 75(7):766–769.
- [154] Fiore CE, Pennisi P, Ciffo F, Scebba C, Amico A, Di Fazzio S. Immobilization-dependent bone collagen breakdown appears to increase with time: Evidence for a lack of new bone equilibrium in response to reduced load during prolonged bed rest. Horm Metab Res 1999; 31(1):31–36.
- [155] Klein L, van der Noort S, DeJak JJ. Sequential studies of urinary hydroxyproline and serum alkaline phosphatase in acute paraplegia. Med Serv J Can 1966; 524:533.
- [156] Naftchi NE, Viau AT, Sell GH, Lowman EW. Mineral metabolism in spinal cord injury. Arch Phys Med Rehabil 1980; 61:139–142.
- [157] Minaire P, Meunier P, Edouard C, Bernard J, Courpron P, Bourret J. Quantitative histological data on disuse osteoporosis: Comparison with biological data. Calcif Tissue Int 1974; 17:57–73.
- [158] LeBlanc A, Shackelford L, Schneider V. Future human bone research in space. Bone 1998; 22(5 Suppl.):113S–116S.
- [159] LeBlanc A, Schneider V. Countermeasures against space flight related bone loss. Acta Astronaut 1992; 27:89–92.
- [160] Leach CS, Dietlein LF, Pool SL, Nicogossian AE. Medical considerations for extending human presence in space. Acta Astronaut 1990; 21(9):659–666.
- [161] Macias BR, Groppo ER, Eastlack RK, Watenpaugh DE, Lee SM, Schneider SM, et al. Space exercise and Earth benefits. Curr Pharm Biotechnol 2005; 6(4):305–317.
- [162] Rittweger J, Gunga HC, Felsenberg D, Kirsch KA. Muscle and bone-aging and space. J Gravit Physiol 1999; 6(1):P133–P136.
- [163] Holick MF. Perspective on the consequences of short- and long-duration space flight on human physiology. Life Support Biosph Sci 1999; 6(1):19–27.

- [164] Carmeliet G, Vico L, Bouillon R. Space flight: A challenge for normal bone homeostasis. Crit Rev Eukaryot Gene Expr 2001; 11(1–3):131–144.
- [165] Hawkey A. The importance of exercising in space. Interdiscip Sci Rev 2003; 28(2):130–138.
- [166] Convertino VA. Planning strategies for development of effective exercise and nutrition countermeasures for long-duration space flight. Nutrition 2002; 18(10):880–888.
- [167] Rittweger J, Frost HM, Schiessl H, Ohshima H, Alkner B, Tesch P, et al. Muscle atrophy and bone loss after 90 days' bed rest and the effects of flywheel resistive exercise and pamidronate: Results from the LTBR study. Bone 2005; 36(6):1019–1029.
- [168] Zwart SR, Hargens AR, Lee SM, Macias BR, Watenpaugh DE, Tse K, et al. Lower body negative pressure treadmill exercise as a countermeasure for bed rest-induced bone loss in female identical twins. Bone 2007; 40(2):529–537.
- [169] Thomsen JS, Morukov BV, Vico L, Alexandre C, Saparin PI, Gowin W. Cancellous bone structure of iliac crest biopsies following 370 days of head-down bed rest. Aviat Space Environ Med 2005; 76(10):915–922.
- [170] Berg HE, Eiken O, Miklavcic L, Mekjavic IB. Hip, thigh and calf muscle atrophy and bone loss after 5-week bedrest inactivity. Eur J Appl Physiol 2007; 99(3):283–289.
- [171] Lockwood DR, Vogel JM, Schneider VS, Hulley SB. Effect of the diphosphonate EHDP on bone mineral metabolism during prolonged bed rest. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1975; 41:533–541.
- [172] Iwamoto J, Takeda T, Sato Y. Interventions to prevent bone loss in astronauts during space flight. Keio J Med 2005; 54(2):55–59.
- [173] Shapiro J, Smith B, Beck T, Ballard P, Dapthary M, Brintzenhofeszoc K, et al. Treatment with zoledronic acid ameliorates negative geometric changes in the proximal femur following acute spinal cord injury. Calcif Tissue Int 2007; 80(5):316–322.
- [174] Minaire P, Berard E, Meunier PJ, Edouard C, Goedert G, Pilonchery G. Effects of disodium dichloromethylene diphosphonate on bone loss in paraplegic patients. J Clin Invest 1981; 68(4):1086–1092.
- [175] Flinn ED. Subtle shake-up in bone-loss research. Aerosp Am 2002; 40(3):16-18.
- [176] Rubin C, Recker R, Cullen D, Ryaby J, McCabe J, McLeod K. Prevention of postmenopausal bone loss by a low-magnitude, high-frequency mechanical stimuli: A clinical trial assessing compliance, efficacy, and safety. J Bone Miner Res 2004; 19 (3):343–351.
- [177] Bleeker MW, De Groot PC, Rongen GA, Rittweger J, Felsenberg D, Smits P, et al. Vascular adaptation to deconditioning and the effect of an exercise countermeasure: Results of the Berlin Bed Rest study. J Appl Physiol 2005; 99(4):1293–1300.
- [178] Cardinale M, Leiper J, Farajian P, Heer M. Whole-body vibration can reduce calciuria induced by high protein intakes and may counteract bone resorption: A preliminary study. J Sports Sci 2007; 25(1):111–119.
- [179] Vernikos J. Artificial gravity intermittent centrifugation as a space flight countermeasure. J Gravit Physiol 1997; 4(2):P13–P16.
- [180] Greenleaf JE, Chou JL, Stad NJ, Leftheriotis GP, Arndt NF, Jackson CG, et al. Short-arm (1.9 m) + 2.2 Gz acceleration: Isotonic exercise load-O2 uptake relationship. Aviat Space Environ Med 1999; 70(12):1173–1182.
- [181] Yang Y, Kaplan A, Pierre M, Adams G, Cavanagh P, Takahashi C, et al. Space cycle: A human-powered centrifuge that can be used for hypergravity resistance training. Aviat Space Environ Med 2007; 78(1):2–9.
- [182] Naumann FL, Bennell KL, Wark JD. The effects of + Gz force on the bone mineral density of fighter pilots. Aviat Space Environ Med 2001; 72(3):177–181.
- [183] Naumann FL, Grant MC, Dhaliwal SS. Changes in cervical spine bone mineral density in response to flight training. Aviat Space Environ Med 2004; 75(3):255–259.

- [184] Iwase S, Takada H, Watanabe Y, Ishida K, Akima H, Katayama K, et al. Effect of centrifuge-induced artificial gravity and ergometric exercise on cardiovascular deconditioning, myatrophy, and osteoporosis induced by a -6 degrees head-down bedrest. J Gravit Physiol 2004; 11(2):P243–P244.
- [185] Vernikos J, Ludwig DA, Ertl AC, Wade CE, Keil L, O'Hara D. Effect of standing or walking on physiological changes induced by head down bed rest: Implications for spaceflight. Aviat Space Environ Med 1996; 67(11):1069–1079.
- [186] Weaver CM, LeBlanc A, Smith SM. Calcium and related nutrients in bone metabolism. In: Lane HW, Schoeller DA, editors. Nutrition in Spaceflight and Weightlessness Models. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, 2000: 179–201.
- [187] Holick MF. The role of vitamin D for bone health and fracture prevention. Curr Osteoporos Rep 2006; 4(3):96–102.
- [188] Domrongkitchaiporn S, Pongskul C, Sirikulchayanonta V, Stitchantrakul W, Leeprasert V, Ongphiphadhanakul B, et al. Bone histology and bone mineral density after correction of acidosis in distal renal tubular acidosis. Kidney Int 2002; 62(6):2160–2166.
- [189] Cunningham J, Fraher LJ, Clemens TL, Revell PA, Papapoulos SE. Chronic acidosis with metabolic bone disease. Effect of alkali on bone morphology and vitamin D metabolism. Am J Med 1982; 73(2):199–204.
- [190] Arnett T. Regulation of bone cell function by acid-base balance. Proc Nutr Soc 2003; 62(2):511–520.
- [191] Zwart SR, Smith SM. The impact of space flight on the human skeletal system and potential nutritional countermeasures. Int Sport Med J 2005; 6(4):199–214.
- [192] Remer T, Manz F. Potential renal acid load of foods and its influence on urine pH. J Am Diet Assoc 1995; 95(7):791–797.
- [193] Stipanuk MH. Sulfur amino acid metabolism: Pathways for production and removal of homocysteine and cysteine. Annu Rev Nutr 2004; 24:539–577.
- [194] Kurtz I, Maher T, Hulter HN, Schambelan M, Sebastian A. Effect of diet on plasma acidbase composition in normal humans. Kidney Int 1983; 24(5):670–680.
- [195] Sabboh H, Horcajada MN, Coxam V, Tressol JC, Besson C, Remesy C, et al. Effect of potassium salts in rats adapted to an acidogenic high-sulfur amino acid diet. Br J Nutr 2005; 94(2):192–197.
- [196] Jacobs D, Heimbach D, Hesse A. Chemolysis of struvite stones by acidification of artificial urine—an *in vitro* study. Scand J Urol Nephrol 2001; 35(5):345–349.
- [197] Macdonald HM, New SA, Fraser WD, Campbell MK, Reid DM. Low dietary potassium intakes and high dietary estimates of net endogenous acid production are associated with low bone mineral density in premenopausal women and increased markers of bone resorption in postmenopausal women. Am J Clin Nutr 2005; 81(4):923–933.
- [198] New SA, Robins SP, Campbell MK, Martin JC, Garton MJ, Bolton-Smith C, et al. Dietary influences on bone mass and bone metabolism: Further evidence of a positive link between fruit and vegetable consumption and bone health? Am J Clin Nutr 2000; 71 (1):142–151.
- [199] Frassetto LA, Todd KM, Morris RC, Jr., Sebastian A. Estimation of net endogenous noncarbonic acid production in humans from diet potassium and protein contents. Am J Clin Nutr 1998; 68(3):576–583.
- [200] Massey LK. Dietary animal and plant protein and human bone health: A whole foods approach. J Nutr 2003; 133(3):862S–865S.
- [201] Zwart SR, Hargens AR, Smith SM. The ratio of animal protein intake to potassium intake is a predictor of bone resorption in space flight analogues and in ambulatory subjects. Am J Clin Nutr 2004; 80(4):1058–1065.

- [202] Ho SC, Chen YM, Woo JL, Leung SS, Lam TH, Janus ED. Sodium is the leading dietary factor associated with urinary calcium excretion in Hong Kong Chinese adults. Osteoporos Int 2001; 12:723–731.
- [203] Arnaud SB, Wolinsky I, Fung P, Vernikos J. Dietary salt and urinary calcium excretion in a human bed rest spaceflight model. Aviat Space Environ Med 2000; 71:1115–1119.
- [204] Fellstrom B, Danielson BG, Karlstrom B, Lithell H, Ljunghal S, Vessby B. Dietary habits in renal stone patients compared with healthy subjects. Br J Urol 1989; 63:575–580.
- [205] Trinchieri A, Mandressi A, Luongo P, Longo G, Pisani E. The influence of diet on urinary risk actors for stones in healthy subjects and idiopathic renal calcium stone formers. Br J Urol 1991; 67:230–236.
- [206] Blackwood AM, Sagnella GA, Cook DG, Cappuccio FP. Urinary calcium excretion, sodium intake and blood pressure in a multi-ethnic population: Results of the Wandsworth Heart and Stroke Study. J Hum Hypertens 2001; 15(4):229–237.
- [207] de Wardener HE, MacGregor GA. Harmful effects of dietary salt in addition to hypertension. J Hum Hypertens 2002; 16(4):213–223.
- [208] Sellmeyer DE, Schloetter M, Sebastian A. Potassium citrate prevents increased urine calcium excretion and bone resorption induced by a high sodium chloride diet. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2002; 87(5):2008–2012.
- [209] Pietrzyk RA, Jones JA, Sams CF, Whitson PA. Renal stone formation among astronauts. Aviat Space Environ Med 2007; 78(4 Suppl.):A9–A13.
- [210] Heaney RP. Role of dietary sodium in osteoporosis. J Am Coll Nutr 2006; 25(3 Suppl.):271S-276S.
- [211] Harrington M, Bennett T, Jakobsen J, Ovesen L, Brot C, Flynn A, et al. Effect of a high-protein, high-salt diet on calcium and bone metabolism in postmenopausal women stratified by hormone replacement therapy use. Eur J Clin Nutr 2004; 58(10):1436–1439.
- [212] Massey LK, Whiting SJ. Dietary salt, urinary calcium, and bone loss. J Bone Miner Res 1996; 11:731–736.
- [213] Nordin BE, Need AG, Steurer T, Morris HA, Chatterton BE, Horowitz M. Nutrition, osteoporosis, and aging. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1998; 854:336–351.
- [214] Frassetto L, Morris RC, Jr., Sellmeyer DE, Todd K, Sebastian A. Diet, evolution and aging—the pathophysiologic effects of the post-agricultural inversion of the potassium-to-sodium and base-to-chloride ratios in the human diet. Eur J Nutr 2001; 40 (5):200–213.
- [215] Bhattacharya A, Rahman M, Sun D, Fernandes G. Effect of fish oil on bone mineral density in aging C57BL/6 female mice. J Nutr Biochem 2007; 18(6):372–379.
- [216] Shen CL, Yeh JK, Rasty J, Chyu MC, Dunn DM, Li Y, et al. Improvement of bone quality in gonad-intact middle-aged male rats by long-chain n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acid. Calcif Tissue Int 2007; 80(4):286–293.
- [217] Hogstrom M, Nordstrom P, Nordstrom A. n-3 Fatty acids are positively associated with peak bone mineral density and bone accrual in healthy men: The NO2 Study. Am J Clin Nutr 2007; 85(3):803–807.
- [218] Weiss LA, Barrett-Connor E, von Muhlen D. Ratio of n-6 to n-3 fatty acids and bone mineral density in older adults: The Rancho Bernardo Study. Am J Clin Nutr 2005; 81(4):934–938.
- [219] Watkins BA, Li Y, Seifert MF. Dietary ratio of n-6/n-3 PUFAs and docosahexaenoic acid: Actions on bone mineral and serum biomarkers in ovariectomized rats. J Nutr Biochem 2006; 17(4):282–289.
- [220] Tesch PA, Berg HE, Bring D, Evans HJ, LeBlanc AD. Effects of 17-day spaceflight on knee extensor muscle function and size. Eur J Appl Physiol 2005; 93(4):463–468.
- [221] Ferrando AA, Paddon-Jones D, Wolfe RR. Alterations in protein metabolism during space flight and inactivity. Nutrition 2002; 18(10):837–841.

- [222] Stein TP. Protein and muscle homeostasis: The role of nutrition. In: Lane HW, Schoeller DA, editors. Nutrition in Spaceflight and Weightlessness Models. Boca Raton, FL: CRC Press, 2000: 141–177.
- [223] LeBlanc A, Lin C, Shackelford L, Sinitsyn V, Evans H, Belichenko O, et al. Muscle volume, MRI relaxation times (T2), and body composition after spaceflight. J Appl Physiol 2000; 89(6):2158–2164.
- [224] Fitts RH, Riley DR, Widrick JJ. Functional and structural adaptations of skeletal muscle to microgravity. J Exp Biol 2001; 204(Pt. 18):3201–3208.
- [225] Thornton WE, Rummel JA. Muscle deconditioning and its prevention in space flight. In: Johnston RS, Dietlein LF, editors. Biomedical Results from Skylab (NASA SP-377). Washington, DC: National Aeronautics and Space Asministration, 1977: 191–197.
- [226] Stein TP, Schluter MD, Moldawer LL. Endocrine relationships during human spaceflight. Am J Physiol 1999; 276(1 Pt. 1):E155–E162.
- [227] Stein TP, Leskiw MJ, Schluter MD. Diet and nitrogen metabolism during spaceflight on the shuttle. J Appl Physiol 1996; 81(1):82–97.
- [228] Stein TP, Leskiw MJ, Schluter MD, Hoyt RW, Lane HW, Gretebeck RE, et al. Energy expenditure and balance during spaceflight on the space shuttle. Am J Physiol 1999; 276: R1739–R1748.
- [229] Strollo F, Strollo G, Morè M, Mangrossa N, Rondino G, Luisi M, et al. Space flight induces endocrine changes at both the pituitary and peripheral level in the absence of any major chronobiologic disturbances. In: Sahm PR, Keller MH, Schiewe B, editors. Proceedings of the Norderney Symposium on Scientific Results of the German Spacelab Mission D-2. Norderney, Germany: Wissenschaftliche Projectführung D-2, 1995: 743–747.
- [230] Ikemoto M, Nikawa T, Takeda S, Watanabe C, Kitano T, Baldwin KM, et al. Space shuttle flight (STS-90) enhances degradation of rat myosin heavy chain in association with activation of ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. FASEB J 2001; 15(7):1279–1281.
- [231] Nikawa T, Ishidoh K, Hirasaka K, Ishihara I, Ikemoto M, Kano M, et al. Skeletal muscle gene expression in space-flown rats. FASEB J 2004; 18(3):522–524.
- [232] Ushakov AS, Vlasova TF. Free amino acids in human blood plasma during space flights. Aviat Space Environ Med 1976; 47(10):1061–1064.
- [233] Stein TP, Schluter MD. Plasma amino acids during human spaceflight. Aviat Space Environ Med 1999; 70(3 Pt. 1):250–255.
- [234] Leach C, Rambaut P, Di Ferrante N. Amino aciduria in weightlessness. Acta Astronaut 1979; 6:1323–1333.
- [235] Biolo G, Ciocchi B, Lebenstedt M, Barazzoni R, Zanetti M, Platen P, et al. Short-term bed rest impairs amino acid-induced protein anabolism in humans. J Physiol 2004; 558(Pt. 2):381–388.
- [236] Ferrando AA, Lane HW, Stuart CA, Davis-Street J, Wolfe RR. Prolonged bed rest decreases skeletal muscle and whole body protein synthesis. Am J Physiol 1996; 270(4 Pt. 1):E627–E633.
- [237] Coburn SP, Thampy KG, Lane HW, Conn PS, Ziegler PJ, Costill DL, et al. Pyridoxic acid excretion during low vitamin B-6 intake, total fasting, and bed rest. Am J Clin Nutr 1995; 62(5):979–983.
- [238] Lovejoy JC, Smith SR, Zachwieja JJ, Bray GA, Windhauser MM, Wickersham PJ, et al. Low-dose T(3) improves the bed rest model of simulated weightlessness in men and women. Am J Physiol 1999; 277(2 Pt. 1):E370–E379.
- [239] Paddon-Jones D, Sheffield-Moore M, Urban RJ, Aarsland A, Wolfe RR, Ferrando AA. The catabolic effects of prolonged inactivity and acute hypercortisolemia are offset by dietary supplementation. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2005; 90(3):1453–1459.
- [240] Fitts RH, Romatowski JG, Peters JR, Paddon-Jones D, Wolfe RR, Ferrando AA. The deleterious effects of bed rest on human skeletal muscle fibers are exacerbated by hypercortisolemia and ameliorated by dietary supplementation. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2007; 293(1):C313–C320.

- [241] LeBlanc A, Lin C, Rowe R, Belichenko O, Sinitsyn V, Shenkman B, et al. Muscle loss after long duration spaceflight on Mir 18/STS-71 [abstract]. In: AIAA Life Sciences and Space Medicine Conference, 1996: 53–54 (Abstract 96–LS–71).
- [242] Lee SM, Cobb K, Loehr JA, Nguyen D, Schneider SM. Foot-ground reaction force during resistive exercise in parabolic flight. Aviat Space Environ Med 2004; 75(5):405–412.
- [243] Schneider SM, Amonette WE, Blazine K, Bentley J, Lee SM, Loehr JA, et al. Training with the International Space Station interim resistive exercise device. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2003; 35:1935–1945.
- [244] Zachwieja JJ, Smith SR, Lovejoy JC, Rood JC, Windhauser MM, Bray GA. Testosterone administration preserves protein balance but not muscle strength during 28 days of bed rest. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1999; 84(1):207–212.
- [245] Stuart CA, Shangraw RE, Peters EJ, Wolfe RR. Effect of dietary protein on bed-restrelated changes in whole-body-protein synthesis. Am J Clin Nutr 1990; 52(3):509–514.
- [246] Paddon-Jones D, Sheffield-Moore M, Urban RJ, Sanford AP, Aarsland A, Wolfe RR, et al. Essential amino acid and carbohydrate supplementation ameliorates muscle protein loss in humans during 28 days bedrest. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004; 89(9):4351–4358.
- [247] Biolo G, Ciocchi B, Stulle M, Piccoli A, Lorenzon S, Dal Mas V, et al. Metabolic consequences of physical inactivity. J Ren Nutr 2005; 15(1):49–53.
- [248] Biolo G, Ciocchi B, Lebenstedt M, Heer M, Guarnieri G. Sensitivity of whole body protein synthesis to amino acid administration during short-term bed rest. J Gravit Physiol 2002; 9(1):P197–P198.
- [249] Paddon-Jones D, Wolfe RR, Ferrando AA. Amino acid supplementation for reversing bed rest and steroid myopathies. J Nutr 2005; 135(7):1809S–1812S.
- [250] Paddon-Jones D. Interplay of stress and physical inactivity on muscle loss: Nutritional countermeasures. J Nutr 2006; 136(8):2123–2126.
- [251] Zwart SR, Davis-Street JE, Paddon-Jones D, Ferrando AA, Wolfe RR, Smith SM. Amino acid supplementation alters bone metabolism during simulated weightlessness. J Appl Physiol 2005; 99(1):134–140.
- [252] Whitehouse AS, Smith HJ, Drake JL, Tisdale MJ. Mechanism of attenuation of skeletal muscle protein catabolism in cancer cachexia by eicosapentaenoic acid. Cancer Res 2001; 61(9):3604–3609.
- [253] Wigmore SJ, Barber MD, Ross JA, Tisdale MJ, Fearon KC. Effect of oral eicosapentaenoic acid on weight loss in patients with pancreatic cancer. Nutr Cancer 2000; 36(2):177–184.
- [254] Wigmore SJ, Ross JA, Falconer JS, Plester CE, Tisdale MJ, Carter DC, et al. The effect of polyunsaturated fatty acids on the progress of cachexia in patients with pancreatic cancer. Nutrition 1996; 12(1 Suppl.):S27–S30.
- [255] Leach Huntoon CS, Grigoriev AI, Natochin YV. Fluid and Electrolyte Regulation in Spaceflight. San Diego: Univelt, Inc., 1998.
- [256] Smith SM, Krauhs JM, Leach CS. Regulation of body fluid volume and electrolyte concentrations in spaceflight. Adv Space Biol Med 1997; 6:123–165.
- [257] Drummer C, Gerzer R, Baisch F, Heer M. Body fluid regulation in micro-gravity differs from that on Earth: An overview. Pflugers Arch 2000; 441(2–3 Suppl.):R66–R72.
- [258] De Santo NG, Christensen NJ, Drummer C, Kramer HJ, Regnard J, Heer M, et al. Fluid balance and kidney function in space: Introduction. Am J Kidney Dis 2001; 38 (3):664–667.
- [259] Drummer C, Norsk P, Heer M. Water and sodium balance in space. Am J Kidney Dis 2001; 38(3):684–690.
- [260] Gerzer R, Heer M. Regulation of body fluid and salt homeostasis—from observations in space to new concepts on Earth. Curr Pharm Biotechnol 2005; 6(4):299–304.

- [261] Norsk P. Cardiovascular and fluid volume control in humans in space. Curr Pharm Biotechnol 2005; 6(4):325–330.
- [262] Norsk P, Drummer C, Christensen NJ, Cirillo M, Heer M, Kramer HJ, et al. Revised hypothesis and future perspectives. Am J Kidney Dis 2001; 38(3):696–698.
- [263] Bungo MW, Johnson PC, Jr. Cardiovascular examinations and observations of deconditioning during the space shuttle orbital flight test program. Aviat Space Environ Med 1983; 54:1001–1004.
- [264] Vernikos J, Convertino VA. Advantages and disadvantages of fludrocortisone or saline load in preventing post-spaceflight orthostatic hypotension. Acta Astronaut 1994; 33:259–266.
- [265] Thornton WE, Ord J. Physiological mass measurements in Skylab. In: Johnston RS, Dietlein LF, editors. Biomedical Results from Skylab (NASA SP-377). Washington, DC: National Aeronautics and Space Administration, 1977: 175–182.
- [266] Drummer C, Heer M, Dressendörfer RA, Strasburger CJ, Gerzer R. Reduced natriuresis during weightlessness. Clin Investig 1993; 71:678–686.
- [267] Balakhovskiy I, Natochin Y. Metabolism Under the Extreme Conditions of Spaceflight and During Its Simulation. Moscow: Nauka Press, 1973.
- [268] Gerzer R, Heer M, Drummer C. Body fluid metabolism at actual and simulated microgravity. Med Sci Sports Exerc 1996; 28(10 Suppl.):S32–S35.
- [269] Johnson PC, Driscoll TB, Alexander WC, Lambertsen CJ. Body fluid volume changes during a 14-day continuous exposure to 5.2% O2 in N2 at pressure equivalent to 100 FSW (4 ata). Aerosp Med 1973; 44:860–863.
- [270] Gerzer R, Drummer C, Heer M. Antinatriuretic kidney response to weightlessness. Acta Astronaut 1994; 33:97–100.
- [271] Greenleaf JE. Mechanisms for negative water balance during weightlessness: Immersion or bed rest? Physiologist 1985; 28(6 Suppl.):S38–S39.
- [272] Blanc S, Normand S, Pachiaudi C, Fortrat JO, Laville M, Gharib C. Fuel homeostasis during physical inactivity induced by bed rest. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2000; 85(6):2223–2233.
- [273] Stuart CA, Shangraw RE, Prince MJ, Peters EJ, Wolfe RR. Bed-rest-induced insulin resistance occurs primarily in muscle. Metabolism 1988; 37(8):802–806.
- [274] Vernikos-Danellis J, Leach CS, Winget CM, Goodwin AL, Rambaut PC. Changes in glucose, insulin, and growth hormone levels associated with bedrest. Aviat Space Environ Med 1976; 47(6):583–587.
- [275] Maaß H, Raabe W, Wegmann HM. Effects of microgravity on glucose tolerance. In: Sahm PR, Keller MH, Schiewe B, editors. Proceedings of the Norderney Symposium on Scientific Results of the German Spacelab Mission D-2. Norderney, Germany: Wissenschaftliche Projectführung D-2, 1995: 732–735.
- [276] Stein TP, Schluter MD, Leskiw MJ. Cortisol, insulin and leptin during space flight and bed rest. J Gravit Physiol 1999; 6(1):P85–P86.
- [277] Strollo F, Boitani C, Basciani S, Pecorelli L, Palumbo D, Borgia L, et al. The pituitarytesticular axis in microgravity: Analogies with the aging male syndrome. J Endocrinol Invest 2005; 28(11 Suppl. Proceedings):78–83.
- [278] Strollo F, Riondino G, Harris B, Strollo G, Casarosa E, Mangtrossa N, et al. The effect of microgravity on testicular androgen secretion. Aviat Space Environ Med 1998; 69:133–136.
- [279] Vernikos J, Dallman MF, Keil LC, O'Hara D, Convertino VA. Gender differences in endocrine responses to posture and 7 days of -6 degrees head-down bed rest. Am J Physiol 1993; 265(1 Pt. 1):E153–E161.
- [280] Kaur I, Simons ER, Castro VA, Ott CM, Pierson DL. Changes in monocyte functions of astronauts. Brain Behav Immun 2005; 19(6):547–554.
- [281] Borchers AT, Keen CL, Gershwin ME. Microgravity and immune responsiveness: Implications for space travel. Nutrition 2002; 18(10):889–898.
- [282] Sonnenfeld G, Shearer WT. Immune function during space flight. Nutrition 2002; 18(10):899–903.
- [283] Sonnenfeld G. The immune system in space, including Earth-based benefits of space-based research. Curr Pharm Biotechnol 2005; 6(4):343–349.
- [284] Stowe RP, Pierson DL, Barrett AD. Elevated stress hormone levels relate to Epstein-Barr virus reactivation in astronauts. Psychosom Med 2001; 63(6):891–895.
- [285] Stowe RP, Pierson DL, Feeback DL, Barrett ADT. Stress-induced reactivation of Epstein-Barr virus in astronauts. Neuroimmunomodulation 2000; 8:51–58.
- [286] Mehta SK, Stowe RP, Feiveson AH, Tyring SK, Pierson DL. Reactivation and shedding of cytomegalovirus in astronauts during spaceflight. J Infect Dis 2000; 182(6):1761–1764.
- [287] Prasad KN. Handbook of Radiobiology, 2nd ed. New York: CRC Press, 1995.
- [288] Conklin JJ, Walker RI. Military Radiobiology.Orlando: Academic Press, 1987.
- [289] Kennedy AR, Guan J, Ware JH. Countermeasures against space radiation induced oxidative stress in mice. Radiat Environ Biophys 2007; 46(2):201–203.
- [290] Kennedy AR, Zhou Z, Donahue JJ, Ware JH. Protection against adverse biological effects induced by space radiation by the Bowman-Birk inhibitor and antioxidants. Radiat Res 2006; 166(2):327–332.
- [291] Guan J, Stewart J, Ware JH, Zhou Z, Donahue JJ, Kennedy AR. Effects of dietary supplements on the space radiation-induced reduction in total antioxidant status in CBA mice. Radiat Res 2006; 165(4):373–378.
- [292] McBarron JW, 2nd. U.S. Prebreathe Protocol. Acta Astronaut 1994; 32(1):75-78.
- [293] Smith SM, Davis-Street JE, Fesperman JV, Smith MD, Rice BL, Zwart SR. Nutritional assessment during a 14-d saturation dive: The NASA Extreme Environment Mission Operations V Project. J Nutr 2004; 134:1765–1771.
- [294] Hashim Z, Zarina S. Assessment of paraoxonase activity and lipid peroxidation levels in diabetic and senile subjects suffering from cataract. Clin Biochem 2007; 40(9–10):705–709.
- [295] Matsui A, Ikeda T, Enomoto K, Hosoda K, Nakashima H, Omae K, et al. Increased formation of oxidative DNA damage, 8-hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine, in human breast cancer tissue and its relationship to GSTP1 and COMT genotypes. Cancer Lett 2000; 151(1):87–95.
- [296] Oberley TD. Oxidative damage and cancer. Am J Pathol 2002; 160(2):403–408.
- [297] Polidori MC, Griffiths HR, Mariani E, Mecocci P. Hallmarks of protein oxidative damage in neurodegenerative diseases: Focus on Alzheimer's disease. Amino Acids 2007; 32(4):553–559.
- [298] Moylan JS, Reid MB. Oxidative stress, chronic disease, and muscle wasting. Muscle Nerve 2007; 35(4):411–429.
- [299] Reid MB. Nitric oxide, reactive oxygen species, and skeletal muscle contraction. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2001; 33(3):371–376.
- [300] Murrant CL, Reid MD. Detection of reactive oxygen and reactive nitrogen species in skeletal muscle. Microsc Res Tech 2001; 55(4):236–248. Review.
- [301] Reid MB. Muscle fatigue: Mechanisms and regulation. In: Sen CK, Packer L, Hänninen O, editors. Handbook of Oxidants and Antioxidants in Exercise. Amsterdam: Elsevier Science B.V., 2000: 599–630.
- [302] Howard C, Ferrucci L, Sun K, Fried LP, Walston J, Varadhan R, et al. Oxidative protein damage is associated with poor grip strength among older women living in the community. J Appl Physiol 2007; 103(1):17–20.
- [303] Schakel SF, Sievert YA, Buzzard IM. Sources of data for developing and maintaining a nutrient database. J Am Diet Assoc 1988; 88:1268–1271.

BIOMARKERS OF LIVER FIBROSIS

Thierry Poynard,* Rachel Morra,[†] Patrick Ingiliz,[§] Françoise Imbert-Bismut,[†] Dominique Thabut,[§] Djamila Messous,[†] Mona Munteanu,[‡] Julien Massard,[§] Yves Benhamou,[§] and Vlad Ratziu[§]

*Service d'Hépato-Gastroentérologie, Groupe Hospitalier Pitié-Salpêtrière, Université Paris VI, CNRS ESA 8149 Paris, France †Laboratoire de Biochimie, Groupe Hospitalier Pitié-Salpêtrière, Paris, France [‡]Biopredictive, Paris, France

Service d'Hépato-Gastroentérologie, Groupe Hospitalier Pitié-Salpêtrière, Paris, France

1.	Abstract	132
2.	Introduction	133
3.	Methods	134
	3.1. Design of the Overview	134
	3.2. Search Strategy	134
	3.3. Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	134
	3.4. Data Extraction	135
	3.5. Statistical Analysis	135
	3.6. Role of the Funding Source	136
	3.7. Quality Evaluation of Fibrosis Biomarkers	136
4.	Results	139
	4.1. Biomarkers Identified	139
	4.2. Evaluation of Patented Biomarkers	139
5.	Discussion	144
	5.1. Are the Coauthors Credible Due to Their Possible Conflict of Interest?	144
	5.2. Is the Perfect Fibrosis Biomarker Possible?	149
	5.3. Are Patented Biomarkers Better Than Nonpatented Biomarker?	149
	5.4. Are There Differences Between Patented Biomarkers?	150

Corresponding author: Thierry Poynard, Groupe Hospitalier Pitié- Salpêtrière, 47-83 Boulevard de l'Hôpital, 75651 Paris Cedex 13, France; e-mail: tpoynard@teaser.fr

Author disclosure statement: T.P. is the inventor and has a capital interest in Biopredictive, the company marketing FibroTest, ActiTest, SteatoTest, NashTest, and AshTest. M.M. is a Biopredictive employee

POYNARD ET AL.

	5.5. Are Fibrosis Biomarkers Effective in All Chronic Liver Diseases?	151
	5.6. Are There a Specific "Gray Zone" or an "Inaccurate Zone" Between	
	Intermediate Stages?	152
	5.7. Is the Liver Biopsy Still Useful?	152
6.	Conclusion	153
	References	153

Abbreviations

APRI	aspartate aminotransferase/platelets ratio index
FT	FibroTest TM
AT	ActiTest TM
ST	SteatoTest(all Biopredictive, Paris, France; in United States:
	HCV-FibroSure TM , HBV-FibroSure TM , ALD-FibroSure TM ,
	ASH-FibroSure TM LabCorp, Burlington)
FM	FibroMeter
FSP	FibroSpect II
ELF	Enhanced liver fibrosis
HS	HepaScore
FS	FibroScan

1. Abstract

Liver biopsy, due to its limitations and risks, is an imperfect gold standard for assessing the severity of the most frequent chronic liver diseases. This chapter summarized the advantages and the limits of the available biomarkers of liver fibrosis. Among a total of 2237 references, a total of 14 validated biomarkers have been identified between 1991 and 2007. Nine were not patented and five were patented. FibroTestTM (FT) was the most studied test with 33 different populations including 6549 patients and 925 controls. The mean diagnostic value for the diagnosis of advanced fibrosis assessed using standardized area under the receiver operating characteristics (ROC) curves was 0.84 [95% confidence interval (CI), 0.83-0.86], without significant difference between the causes of liver disease, hepatitis C, hepatitis B, alcoholic or nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. High-risk profiles of false negative/ positive of FT are present in 3% of populations, mainly Gilbert syndrome, hemolysis, and acute inflammation. FT has higher accuracy than aspartate aminotransferase/ platelets ratio index (APRI), the most used nonpatented test. No significant difference has been observed between the five patented tests. A quality score has been assessed in order to compare the quality of fibrosis biomarkers.

Neither biomarkers nor biopsy are sufficient alone to take definitive decision in a given patient and all the clinical and biological data must be taken into account. Due to the evidence-based data, health authorities in some countries have already approved validated biomarkers as first-line procedure for the staging of liver fibrosis.

This overview of evidence-based data suggests that biomarkers could be used as an alternative to liver biopsy for the assessment of fibrosis stage in the four more common chronic liver diseases: C virus (HCV), hepatitis B virus (HBV), hepatitis nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), and alcoholic liver disease (ALD).

Neither biomarkers nor biopsy are sufficient alone to take definitive decision in a given patient and all the clinical and biological data must be taken into account.

2. Introduction

The consensus conference statements not only recommended liver biopsy in the management of almost all patients with chronic liver diseases related to hepatitis C, hepatitis B, ALD, and NAFLD, but also underline the necessity of developing reliable noninvasive tests [1]. Numerous studies strongly suggest that due to the limitations [2–8] and risks of biopsy [9], as well as the improvement of the diagnostic accuracy of new noninvasive biomarkers, liver biopsy should no longer be considered mandatory as a first-line estimate of fibrosis in these most frequent chronic liver diseases [10, 11].

Practices are evolving rapidly and in France a nationwide survey recently found that among 546 hepatologists, 81% used noninvasive biomarker (Fibro-TestTM-ActiTestTM) (FT-AT) and 32% used elastography (FibroScanTM) (FS), with a dramatic decrease in the use of liver biopsy for more than 50% of patients with chronic hepatitis C, and with a subsequent increase in the number of patients treated [12]. Furthermore a recent overview by French health authorities officially approved noninvasive biomarkers FT and FS as first-line estimates of fibrosis in patients with chronic hepatitis C, recommended reimbursement by social security, and approved liver biopsy only as second-line estimate in case of discordance or noninterpretability of noninvasive markers [13]. An updated overview is pending for other chronic liver diseases at the end of 2007 [13].

The aim of this chapter is to summarize the advantages and the limits of the available biomarkers of liver fibrosis.

The present authors belong to the same group and are actively involved in the development of these biomarkers, with a possible conflict of interest. Therefore, we have identified for this overview three categories of studies: studies including only the present authors (nonindependent studies), studies not including the present coauthors (independent studies), and the studies combining independent authors and the present coauthors (mixed studies).

3. Methods

3.1. Design of the Overview

We updated previous overviews and meta-analyses of biomarkers of advanced liver fibrosis. The same methods were used and detailed elsewhere [14–17]. The main nonpatented and patented biomarkers have been reviewed but the specific aim of the present overview was to focus on the professional patented fibrosis biomarkers.

3.2. SEARCH STRATEGY

We searched MEDLINE with the key words "liver fibrosis serum marker" with the limit "human" (July 2007). We hand-searched key journals (*Gastroenterology, Hepatology, Journal of Hepatology, Gut, Journal of Viral Hepatitis*, and *American Journal of Gastroenterology*) from February 2001 to July 2007 to validate the search, as well as the abstract books of the American Association and European Association for the Study of Liver Disease annual meetings.

3.3. INCLUSION AND EXCLUSION CRITERIA

To select published studies, we used the Standards for Reporting of Diagnostic Accuracy (STARD) criteria and the Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews (CDSR) methods [18]. Only studies with at least two original studies for the diagnosis of advanced fibrosis have been preincluded and only patented biomarkers were analyzed in details. Several previous overviews and direct comparisons have demonstrated that panels were superior to any single biomarker for the diagnosis of advanced fibrosis [10–13, 19–20]. Several direct comparisons (including independent studies of the FT inventor) have been published between FT, the most used patented panel, vs simple noninvasive tests and all observed a greater accuracy of FT vs APRI [13, 21–23] and of FT vs Forns index [13, 23–24]. In order to update these previous results, a new meta-analysis of FT vs APRI, which is the most used nonpatented panel, has been performed.

We excluded all studies except those that included patients with chronic liver diseases; stated that all patients had had the biomarker and liver biopsy;

provided data for true positives and negatives, false positives and negatives, and AUROCs for advanced fibrosis; stated that the biomarker had been assessed blind to the biopsy; and stated the method used for defining the degree of fibrosis. We were careful to avoid including data from duplicate publications. Studies published only with an abstract with less than 500 cases were excluded, as their inclusion will probably not change the overview of published studies. We excluded biomarkers combining other nonbiochemical components such as alcohol consumption, but not the age and gender adjustments.

3.4. DATA EXTRACTION

To allow comparisons between causes of liver disease in the studies, we categorized them into five classes: patients with CHC, CHB, ALD, NAFLD, and mixed causes.

We extracted, from the published study, whether the study was performed by the biomarker inventor group (yes, no, mixed groups including inventor). Study inclusion was never dependent on the result of the noninvasive test under investigation.

3.5. STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The main end point was the biomarker value for the diagnosis of advanced fibrosis [bridging fibrosis or stages F2, F3, F4 according to the METAVIR scoring system [25]), as assessed by the area under the receiver operating characteristics curve (AUROC)].

A significance level of 5% was used as the alpha risk. Each estimate was given with its 95% CI. Comparisons of the odds ratio and of percentages between strata were performed using their 95% CI. The primary analysis was per patient. We used a random effects model for the primary meta-analysis to obtain a summary estimate for the AUROCs with a 95% CI of biomarker compared with liver biopsy.

The AUROC was used as a measure of discrimination, estimated using the empirical (nonparametric) method by DeLong *et al.* [26], and was compared using the paired method by Zhou *et al.* [27]. All analyses are performed on NCSS software (Kaysville, Utah).

Meta-analysis was performed twice when details were available, once according to the absolute value of the observed AUROCs (ObAUROCs) and once according to the AUROCs standardized for the spectrum of fibrosis stages (AdAUROC). We previously demonstrated that the AUROCs were highly related to the difference between the mean fibrosis stages in the advanced fibrosis and nonadvanced fibrosis groups (DANA); the AdAUROC is the AUROC adjusted for the difference of the observed DANA vs a standard DANA of 2.5 fibrosis METAVIR units (DANA = 2.5 if there was a uniform prevalence of 0.20 in each of the five stages); all the AUROCs were adjusted to a DANA of 2.5 using the formula: AdAUROC=ObAUROC+(0.1056) (2.5-ObDANA) [28, 29].

We compared the biomarkers when there were at least two independent direct comparisons in the same disease specific population. This was possible only in patients with HCV, and between FT and APRI and between FT and HepaScore (HS) and FibroMeter (FM).

3.6. Role of the Funding Source

There was no specific financial support for this overview, but two of the authors have a potential conflict of interest: T.P. is a consultant and has a capital interest in Biopredictive, the company marketing FT, and M.M. is a full-time employee of Biopredictive.

Biopredictive had no role in the study design, data collection, data analysis, data interpretation, or writing of the report. The corresponding author had full access to all the data in the study and had final responsibility for the decision to submit for publication.

3.7. QUALITY EVALUATION OF FIBROSIS BIOMARKERS

A specific list of 62 items has been elaborated to assess the level of quality of each biomarker (Table 1). The aim of these items was to check the level of reliability of the published evidence-based data for each biomarker as it is performed for a drug. Five items were related to the biomarker rational. Fourteen items were related to the sample size of validation studies. Six items were related to the preanalytical and analytical recommendations. Twenty one items were related to the benefit-risk evaluation vs liver biopsy. Two items were related to the independent validation of the biomarker. Four items were related to the association of the specific fibrosis biomarker. Four items were related to the association of the specific fibrosis biomarker with other injury-specific biomarker. Eight items were related to official approvals, availability, and conflict of interest and cost.

BIOMARKERS OF LIVER FIBROSIS

Criteria	Definition of criteria
Rational	
Liver specificity Extracellular matrix specificity Proteomics validation	Are the components specific of the liver? Are the components specific of fibrosis? Proteomics studies validating biomarkers components as associated with fibrosis.
False negative False positive	Is the rational for false positive described? Is the rational for false negative described?
Sample size Number of studies	
Overall	Number of studies published (prospective/ retrospective).
HCV	Specific studies in chronic hepatitis C.
HBV	Specific studies in chronic hepatitis B.
NAFLD	Specific studies in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease.
ALD	Specific studies in alcoholic liver disease.
Other	Other causes of chronic liver disease: hemochromatosis, autoimmune hepatitis, primary biliary cirrhosis
Mixed	
Number of patients Overall	Several causes of liver disease included. Overall number of patients included in published studies.
HCV	Number of patients in chronic hepatitis C.
HBV	Number of patients in chronic hepatitis B.
NAFLD	Number of patients in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease.
ALD	Number of patients in alcoholic liver disease.
Other liver diseases	hemochromatosis, autoimmune hepatitis, primary biliary cirrhosis
Number of controls	Healthy controls, blood donors, permitting references range.
Preanalytical recommendations	C
Fasting	Variability of results according to fasting/ nonfasting.
Storage period	Variability according to storage period.
Storage temperature	Variability according to storage temperature.
Analytical recommendations	
Intralaboratory variability	Impact of parameter assay variations.
Intrapatient reproducibility	Intrapatient reproducibility.
Interlaboratory variability	Variability according to laboratory, kits, and analyzers.

 TABLE 1

 Definition of 62 Items Estimating the Quality of Fibrosis Biomarkers

TABLE 1 (Continued)

Criteria	Definition of criteria
Diagnostic methods vs biopsy	
Accuracy or AUROCs	Accuracy or area under the ROC curves (AUROCs).
Linear correlation with fibrosis stages	Linear association with validated staging scoring system.
Intermediate stages	Accuracy similar between extreme stages or intermediate stages.
Adjacent stages	Accuracy between adjacent stages evaluated.
Adjusted AUROCs	Accuracy evaluated according to prevalence of fibrosis defining advanced or nonadvanced fibrosis.
Meta-analysis vs biopsy	Published meta-analysis vs biopsy.
Specificity in normal population	Healthy controls, blood donors.
False positive	Percent of false positive and causes.
False negative	Percent of false negative and causes.
Predictive values	Estimate of predictive values according to cut-offs.
Security algorithms	Procedures for identifying high-risk false positive/negative.
Applicability	Estimates of percentage of patients without high risk of false positive/negative.
Quality biopsy	Details concerning length of biopsy sample and fragmentation.
Analysis of discordance	Analysis of discordant cases between the investigated biomarker and biopsy and other estimates, and of the cause of failure.
Postmarketing studies	Analysis of applicability and discordance in large postmarketing studies.
Paired studies	Analysis of paired samples with baseline and follow-up.
Prognostic studies	Prognostic value of biomarkers vs biopsy staging.
Portal hypertension	Predictive value for portal hypertension.
Difficult to diagnose populations	Specific studies in special populations such as HIV, aged patients, hemophiliac, drug addicts, morbid obese, transplanted, renal failure, and children.
Screening studies	Fibrosis screening studies in high-risk group.
General population	Fibrosis screening studies in general population.
Diagnostic value vs other markers	
Other biomarker	Direct comparisons with other biomarker.
Elastography	Direct comparisons with elastography.
Independent/mixed validation	
Number of studies	Number of studies.
Number of patients	Number of patients.
Number of patients	rumber of patients.

BIOMARKERS OF LIVER FIBROSIS

Criteria	Definition of criteria
Association with other liver injury biomarkers	
Necroinflammatory activity	Association with a biomarker of viral necrosis and inflammation.
Steatosis	Association with a biomarker of steatosis.
Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis	Association with a biomarker of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis.
Alcoholic steatohepatitis	Association with a biomarker of alcoholic steatohepatitis?
Official approval	
CE Marketed	Self-declaration to European Community.
Guidelines	Recommendation of use by scientific societies.
Health authority	Recommendation of use by health authorities.
Availability	Wordwide availability in hospital and private practice.
Conflict of interest	Participation of coauthors in patent declared in publications.
Cost	Cost known including components and algorithms. (In dollars)
Patent	Patented algorithm.
Reimbursement	Social security or insurance company reimbursement.

TABLE 1 (Continued)

4. Results

4.1. BIOMARKERS IDENTIFIED

Among a total of 2237 references, a total of 14 validated biomarkers have been identified between 1991 and 2007. Nine were not patented: PGA (Prothrombin, GGT, Apolipoprotein A1) index [30–31], AP index [20, 32], Bonacini index [20, 33], Pohl score [20, 34], Forns index [13, 24, 35], APRI [13, 20, 21, 36], MP3 index [13, 37–39], FIB-4 [13, 40,41], and FibroIndex [42,43]. Five were patented: FT, FibroSpect II (FSP), enhanced liver fibrosis (ELF), FM, and HS. Among these panels the number of components ranged from two to seven (Table 2).

4.2. Evaluation of Patented Biomarkers

4.2.1. Details of Publications

A total of 33 different populations have been studied for FT, including 6549 patients and 925 controls (Table 3A); 4 studies for FSP, including 463 patients; 2 studies for ELF, including 1041 patients; 3 for FM, including 1134

SERGIN I	SERUM MARKERS OF THEFATIC TIBROSIS WITH AT LEAST TWO VALIDATIONS							
Index [Refs.]	Year of first publication	Key leader	Components	Liver disease				
Not patented								
PGA [30-31]	1991	Poynard	PI, GGT, ApoA1	ALD				
AP [20, 32]	1997	Poynard	Plt, age	HCV				
Bonacini [20, 33]	1997	Lindsay	Plt, ALT, AST,	HCV				
Pohl [20, 34]	2001	Pohl	Plt, AST	HCV				
Forns [13, 24, 35]	2002	Forns	Plt, cholesterol, age	HCV				
APRI [13, 20, 21, 36]	2003	Lok	Plt, AST	HCV				
MP3 [13, 37–39]	2004	Leroy	PIIINP, MMP1	HCV				
FIB-4 [13, 40-41]	2006	Sterling	Plt, AST, ALT, age	HCV/HIV				
FibroIndex [42–43]	2007	Koda	Plt, AST, gamma- globulins	HCV				
Patented			-					
FT/FS [14–17, 44–67]	2001	Poynard	A2M, haptoglobin, ApoA1, Bilirubin, GGT, age, gender	HCV, HBV, ALD, NAFLD, HIV				
FSP [49, 68-70]	2004	Oh	A2M, HA, TIMP-1	HCV				
ELF [49, 71]	2004	Rosenberg	HA, PIIINP, TIMP-1	Mixed				
FM [39, 49, 56]	2005	Cales	Plt, AST, A2M, HA, PI, age, gender	Mixed				
HS [39, 56, 72]	2005	Adams	A2M, HA, GGT, age, gender	HCV				

 TABLE 2

 Serum Markers of Hepatic Fibrosis with At Least Two Validations

APRI, Aspartate aminotransferase/platelets ratio index; GGT, gamma-glutamyltransferase; A2M, alfa2-macroglobulin; ALD, alcoholic liver disease; NAFLD, nonalcoholic fatty liver disease; TIMP, tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases; MMP-1, matrix metalloproteinases; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; HA, hyaluronic acid; ApoA1, apolipoprotein A1; PI, prothrombin index; FSP, FibroSpect II; ELF, enhanced liver fibrosis; HS, HepaScore; FT, FibroTest; FS, Fibrosure; FM, Fibrometer; FIB-4, 4 markers index; AP, age platelet; Plt, platelet; HCV, hepatitis C virus; MP3, metallo protease 3; HBV, hepatitis B Virus.

patients; and 3 for HS, including 757 patients. Only FT had a specific study for each of the four most frequent chronic liver diseases (Table 3B).

4.2.2. Diagnostic Value and Meta-Analyses

For FT, a recent meta-analysis included a total of 29 studies pooling 6378 subjects with both FT and biopsy (3501 HCV, 1457 HBV, 267 NAFLD, 429 ALD, and 724 mixed) [14–17] and individual data were analyzed in 3282 patients [17]. The mean of the ObAUROCs was 0.80 (95% CI, 0.78–0.82) and the mean standardized AUROC was 0.84 (95% CI, 0.83–0.86), without

BIOMARKERS OF LIVER FIBROSIS

First author		Numl	ber	AUROC	
[Refs.]	Year	of patie	ents Methodology	SE	Independent
A. FibroTest					
HCV					
Imbert-1 [44]	2001	189	Prospective, single center, training cohort	0.84 0.03	No
Imbert-2 [44]	2001	134	Prospective, single center, validation cohort	0.87 0.03	No
Poynard-1 [45]	2001	299	Retrospective, multicenter, randomized trial	0.74 0.03	Mixed
Poynard-2 [46]	2003	352	Retrospective, multicenter, randomized trial, before treatment	0.73 0.03	Mixed
Poynard-3 [46]	2003	352	Retrospective, multicenter, randomized trial, after treatment	0.77 0.03	Mixed
Rossi [47]	2003	125	Prospective, multicenter	0.74 0.05	Yes
Myers-1 [48]	2003	130	Retrospective, single center, HCV-HIV coinfection	0.86 0.04	No
Castera [22]	2005	183	Prospective, single center	0.84 0.03	Yes
Cales-2 [49]	2005	120	Prospective, single center, validation cohort	0.86 0.06	Yes
Coletta [50]	2005	40	Prospective, multicenter, PNALT	Not specified	Yes
Varaut-1 [51]	2005	50	Retrospective, single center, dialysis patients	0.53 0.04	Yes
Varaut-2 [51]	2005	60	Retrospective, single center, kidney recipients	0.71 0.04	Yes
Halfon-1 [52]	2006	504	Prospective, multicenter	0.79 0.02	Yes
Sebastiani-1 [53]	2006	65	Prospective, PNALT	0.71 0.04	Yes
Sebastiani-2 [53]	2006	125	Prospective, EALT	0.81 0.03	Yes
Wilso ^{<i>a</i>} [54]	2006	115	Retrospective, multicenter, 30% HIV	0.74 0.05	Yes
Sene [55]	2006	138	Prospective, single center cryoglobulin- emia vasculitis	0.83 0.03	No
Halfon-2 ^{<i>a</i>} [56]	2007	158	Prospective, single center	0.79 0.03	Yes
Leroy [39]	2007	180	Prospective, single center	0.84 0.03	Yes
Grigorescu [57]	2007	206	Retrospective, single center	0.78 0.02	Yes
Morali [58]	2007	325	Prospective, multicenter	0.85 0.02	Yes

TABLE 3
CHARACTERISTICS OF THE PATENTED BIOMARKERS DIAGNOSTIC STUDIES FOR THE STAGING
OF HEPATIC FIBROSIS IN PATIENTS WITH CHRONIC LIVER DISEASE

Year			AUROC	
	of patie	ents Methodology	SE	Independent
	209	Prospective (42) and retrospective (167)	0.78 0.04	No
2005	214	Prospective	0.77 0.03	Mixed
2007	110	Prospective	0.85 0.04	Yes
2007	924	Retrospective	0.76 0.02	Mixed
2005	221	Prospective, one center	0.84 003	Mixed
2006	208	Prospective, two centers	0.91 0.02	Mixed
2006	170	Prospective	0.86 0.03	No
2006	97	Prospective	0.75 0.04	Mixed
2004	106	Prospective, HCV and alcohol	0.89 0.04	Yes
2005	478	Prospective, single center, HCV, HBV, ALD	0.82 0.03	Yes
2007	164	Prospective, HCV, and HBV	0.89 0.05	Yes
2007	20	Retrospective, psoriasis	0.83 0.05	Yes
enhance	d liver fib	rosis, FibroMeter, HepaScore	9	
		, , , ,		
2005	120	Prospective, single center	0.86 0.06	Yes
2006	142	Retrospective,	0.86 0.05	No
2007	108	Prospective,	0.83 0.06	No
2007	93	Retrospective, single center	0.88 0.07	Yes
2004	496	Prospective, multicenter	0.77 0.04	No
2005	120	Prospective, single center	0.83 0.06	Yes
2004	61	Prospective, multicenter	0.87 0.10	No
2004	61	Prospective, multicenter	0.94 0.06	No
	2007 2007 2005 2006 2006 2004 2005 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2007 2004 2004	2005 214 2007 110 2007 924 2005 221 2006 208 2006 170 2006 97 2004 106 2005 478 2007 164 2007 20 nhanced liver fib 2007 108 2007 93 2004 496 2005 120 2004 61	retrospective (167) 2005 214 Prospective 2007 110 Prospective 2007 924 Retrospective 2005 221 Prospective, one center 2006 208 Prospective, two centers 2006 170 Prospective 2006 97 Prospective 2004 106 Prospective, HCV and alcohol 2005 478 Prospective, single center, HCV, HBV, ALD 2007 164 Prospective, HCV, and HBV 2007 20 Retrospective, psoriasis nhanced liver fibrosis, FibroMeter, HepaScore 2005 120 Prospective, single center 2006 142 Retrospective, single center 2007 108 Prospective, single center 2007 93 Retrospective, single center 2004 496 Prospective, multicenter 2005 120 Prospective, single center 2004 496 Prospective, single center 2004 496 Prospective, single center 2004 61 Prospective, multicenter	2005 214 Prospective (167) 2007 110 Prospective 0.85 0.04 2007 924 Retrospective 0.76 0.02 2005 221 Prospective, one center 0.84 003 2006 208 Prospective, two centers 0.91 0.02 2006 170 Prospective, two centers 0.91 0.02 2006 170 Prospective, two centers 0.91 0.02 2006 97 Prospective 0.86 0.03 2006 97 Prospective 0.75 0.04 2004 106 Prospective, HCV and alcohol 0.89 0.04 alcohol 2005 478 Prospective, Single center, 0.82 0.03 HCV, HBV, ALD 0.89 0.05 and HBV 2007 20 Retrospective, psoriasis 0.83 0.05 nhanced liver fibrosis, FibroMeter, HepaScore 0.86 0.05 single center 0.86 0.05 2007 108 Prospective, single center 0.88 0.07 2007 93 Retrospective, multicenter 0.77 0.04 2005 120 Prospective, multicenter 0.83 0.06 2004 496 Prospective, multicenter

TABLE 3 (Continued)

First author	Vaar	Num		Mathadalagy	AUROC SE	Indonandant
[Refs.]	Year	of pat	lents	Methodology	3E	Independent
FibroMeter HCV						
Cales-2 [49]	2005	120		pective, ngle center, validation	0.90 0.03	No
Halfon-2 [56]	2007	356	Pros	spective, two centers	0.78 0.03	Yes
Leroy [39]	2007	180	Pros	pective, single center	0.86 0.02	Yes
Mixed (HCV, HBV, ALD)						
Cales1 [49]	2005	478		pective, single center, aining	0.82 0.03	No
HepaScore HCV				-		
Adams [72]	2005	117	Sing	le center, training	0.85 0.05	No
Adams [72]	2005	104	Mul	ticenter, validation	0.82 0.05	No
Halfon-2 [56]	2007	356	Pros	pective, two centers	0.76 0.03	Yes
Leroy [39]	2007	180	Pros	pective, single center	0.79 0.03	Yes

 TABLE 3 (Continued)

PNALT, persistently normal transaminases ALT; EALT, elevated transaminases ALT. ^a Only one center was taken as the other center results were published in Halfon-1.

^b FibroSpect I have been referenced in the article by Cales.

differences between causes of liver disease: HCV 0.85 (0.82–0.87), HBV 0.80 (0.77–0.84), NAFLD 0.84 (0.76–0.92), ALD 0.86 (0.80–0.92), and mixed 0.85 (0.80–0.93). The AUROC for the diagnosis of the intermediate adjacent stages F2 vs F1 (0.66; 0.63–0.68, n = 2055) did not differ from that of the extreme stages F3 vs F4 (0.69; 0.65–0.72, n = 817) or F1 vs F0 (0.62; 0.59–0.65, n = 1788). Sensitivity analysis integrating the independency of authors, length of biopsy, prospective design, respect of procedures, comorbidities, and duration between biopsy and serum sampling did not found significant differences.

4.2.3. Comparison Between FT and APRI Diagnostic Values

In six studies (1630 HCV patients), FT was directly compared with APRI [21, 39, 49, 53, 54, 56], five being independent of FT inventor. Meta-analysis demonstrated a greater ObAUROC for FT (0.83; 95% CI, 0.80–0.85) vs APRI (0.76; 95% CI, 0.73–0.80) with 0.06 (95% CI, 0.03–0.09) mean difference (P = 0.0005) without heterogeneity (Q = 6.4; P = 0.27). This significant difference persisted when the nonindependent study was excluded from analysis: 0.05 (95% CI, 0.01–0.09; P = 0.003).

4.2.4. Comparison Between Patented Biomarkers' Diagnostic Values

None of the meta-analyses of studies comparing directly reached statistical significance. The number of patients was too small to detect a 5% difference between AUROCs.

Between FT and HS (3 studies in 653 HCV patients) the mean difference was 0.02 (95% CI, 0.03–0.07; P = 0.30) and after excluding nonindependent study 0.04 (95%CI, 0.01–0.08; P = 0.12).

Between FT and FM (3 studies in 653 HCV patients) the mean difference was -0.005 (95% CI, 0.05–0.04; P=0.81) and after excluding nonindependent study 0.0008 (95% CI, 0.05–0.05; P = 0.97).

Between FM and HS (2 independent studies in 536 HCV patients) the mean difference was higher 0.04 (95% CI, 0.01–0.08; P = 0.13).

4.2.5. Quality Items

For FT, the number of studies (n = 33) and the number of patients included (n = 6549) were much higher than for all the five other tests (Table 4).

For the qualitative items, responses were missing or unsatisfactory in 2/62 for FT, in 32/62 for FSP, in 36/62 for ELF, in 32/62 for FM, and in 37/62 for HS.

5. Discussion

After this overview what are the responses to the most frequently asked questions concerning biomarkers of fibrosis?

5.1. Are the Coauthors Credible Due to Their Possible Conflict of Interest?

During 15 years the first author has performed laparoscopy and liver biopsies; published extensively on the standardization of liver histology [5, 6, 73]; and used biopsy as main criteria published on fibrosis progression, natural history [74], factors associated with fibrosis progression, [75] and on the impact of treatments [76]. Due to the limitations of liver biopsy [9], including its morbidity and mortality [77], the authors have worked on noninvasive biomarkers in order to replace the liver biopsy as the first-line estimate of liver injury. After trying to develop nonpatented fibrosis biomarkers [20, 30], we do believe that diagnostic biomarkers must follow the same professional development than drugs with highest levels of confidence and official approvals. Our nonpatented PGA index [30] has been prescribed

Criteria	FibroTest	FibroSpect II	ELF	FibroMeter	HepaScore
Rational					
Liver specificity	Liver only=haptoglobin, A2M bilirubin, GGT; liver and intestine=ApoA1	Liver only=A2M; not organ specific=hyaluronic acid, TIMP-1	Not organ specific=hyaluronic acid, TIMP-1, PIIINP	Liver only=A2M; not organ specific=platelets, prothrombin, AST, hyaluronic acid, urea	Liver only=A2M, bilirubin, GGT; not organ specific=hyaluronic acid
Extracellular matrix specificity	Yes=A2M; partial=ApoA1, haptoglobin	Yes	Yes	Yes=hyaluronic acid	Yes=hyaluronic acid, A2M
Proteomics validation	Yes=haptoglobin, ApoA1, A2M [100]	No	No	No	No
False negative	Yes=haptoglobin and acute inflammation	Not specified	Not specified	Not specified	Not specified
False positive	Yes=bilirubin, Gilbert syndrome, hemolysis, and extra-hepatic cholestasis; GGT and extra-hepatic cholestasis	Not specified	Not specified	Not specified	Not specified
Sample size					
Number of studies					
Overall	33	4	2	3	3
HCV	21	4	1	2	3
HBV	4	0	0	0	0
NAFLD	2	0	0	0	0

 TABLE 4

 Criteria for Assessing the Quality of Fibrosis Biomarkers

Criteria	FibroTest	FibroSpect II	ELF	FibroMeter	HepaScore
ALD	2	0	0	0	0
Mixed or other liver disease	4	0	1	1	0
Number of patients					
Overall	6549	463	1041	1134	757
HCV	3628	463	616	993	757
HBV	1457	0	61	46	0
NAFLD	429	0	61	0	0
ALD	267	0	64	95	0
Other liver disease	768	0	239	0	0
Number of controls	925	0	0	0	0
Preanalytical recommendation	ns				
Fasting	Yes [89]	No	No	No	No
Storage period	Yes [88]	No	No	No	No
Storage temperature	Yes [88]	No	No	No	No
Analytical recommendations					
Intralaboratory variability	Yes [81-83 88-92]	No	No	No	No
Intrapatient reproducibility	Yes[88]	No	No	No	No
Interlaboratory variability	Yes [81]	No	No	No	No
Diagnostic methods vs biopsy	7				
Accuracy or AUROCs	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Linear correlation with fibrosis stages	Yes [14–17, 28, 29]	No	No	Yes [49]	No
Intermediate stages	Yes [14-17, 28, 29]	No	No	Yes [49]	No
Adjacent stages	Yes [14-17, 28, 29]	No	No	No	No
Adjusted AUROCs	Yes [14-17, 28, 29]	No	No	No	No
Meta-analysis vs biopsy	Yes [14-17, 28, 29]	No	No	No	No

TABLE 4 (Continued)

Criteria	FibroTest	FibroSpect II	ELF	FibroMeter	HepaScore
Specificity in normal population	Yes [14–17, 88]	No	No	No	No
False positive	Yes[14-17, 28, 29, 78, 79]	No	No	No	No
False negative	Yes[14-17, 28, 29, 78, 79]	No	No	No	No
Predictive values	Yes[14-17, 28, 29, 78, 79]	Yes [49, 68–70]	Yes [71]	Yes [49]	Yes [72]
Security algorithms	Yes [78]	No	No	No	No
Applicability	Yes [78]	No	No	No	No
Quality biopsy	Yes [78, 28]	Yes	No	Yes [49]	Yes [72]
Analysis of discordance	Yes [78]	No	No	No	No
Paired studies and longitudinal studies	Yes [45, 46, 60, 61, 87]	No	No	No	No
Prognostic studies	Yes [79]	No	No	No	No
Portal hypertension	Yes [94, 95]	No	No	No	No
Difficult to diagnose populations	Yes [48, 50, 51, 54, 55, 98, 99]	No	No	No	No
Screening studies	Yes [93]	No	No	No	No
General population	No	No	No	No	No
Diagnostic value vs other mai	rkers				
Other biomarker	Yes ^a [21, 39, 49, 53, 54, 56]	Yes	Yes [49, 71]	Yes [39, 49, 56]	Yes [39, 56]
Elastography	Yes [22]	No	No	No	No
Independent/mixed validation	/nonindependent				
Number of studies	18/8/7	3/0/1	1/0/1	2/0/1	2/0/1
Number of patients	3134/2667/748	343/0/120	120/0/921	536/0/598	536/0/221
Association with other liver in	njury biomarkers				
Necroinflammatory activity	Yes (ActiTest) ^b [14, 15]	No	No	No	No
Steatosis	Yes (SteatoTest) [84]	No	No	No	No

TABLE 4 (Continued)

Criteria	FibroTest	FibroSpect II	ELF	FibroMeter	HepaScore
Nonalcoholic steatohepatitis	Yes (NashTest) [86]	No	No	No	No
Alcoholic steatohepatitis	Yes (AshTest) [85]	No	No	No	No
Official approval					
CE Marketed autodeclaration	Yes	No	Yes	No	No
Guidelines	Yes (French Association Liver Disease) [13]	No	No	No	No
Health authority	Yes (Haute Autorité Santé France) [13]	No	No	No	No
Availability	Yes (Worldwide)	No (United States only)	Yes (Europe)	Not specified	Not specified
Conflict of interest declared	Yes	Yes	No ^c	Yes	No^d
Cost	Yes (120-350\$) [13]	Yes (350\$)	Not specified	Yes 120\$ [13]	Not specified
Patent	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Reimbursement social security	Yes (France) [13]	No	No	No	No
Fotal quality score range: 0–62	60	30	26	30	25

TABLE 4	(Continued)
---------	-------------

ELF = Enhanced liver fibrosis; A2M = alfa2-macroglobulin; GGT = gamma-glutamyltransferase; ApoA1 = apolipoprotein A1; TIMP-1 = tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1; PIIINP = procollagen IIIN-terminal peptide; AST = aspartate aminotransferase; MMP-1 = matrix metalloproteinase 1.

^a Versus or combined with APRI and FIB-4.

^bIncludes the cost of ActiTest.

^c Several coauthors of the article (*Gastroenterology* 2004) are coowner of the Bayer patent or have a capital interest in a start-up.

^dA recent contract has been declared for the US market.

confidentially in hundreds of patients in 17 years in contrast with the patented FT that has been already prescribed in 220,000 patients in less than 5 years (Biopredictive data on file, Castille, personal communication). The first author has a capital interest in the start-up company marketing FT but the patent belongs to the public organization "Assistance Publique Hôpitaux de Paris."

5.2. IS THE PERFECT FIBROSIS BIOMARKER POSSIBLE?

Nonexpert physicians and patients are waiting for an almost perfect test that is a biomarker with less than 10% of false positive/negative results and more than 99% of applicability. This is not possible, even with liver biopsy [11]. A 25 mm not fragmented biopsy is obtained in less than 50% of all large series [78] and the rate of false positive/negative of such a 25 mm not fragmented biopsy is still around 20%, for the diagnosis of advanced fibrosis, in comparison with the true gold standard which is the whole liver [4]. Among the discordances observed between biopsy and biomarker estimates of fibrosis, the cause of failure is frequently due to biopsy failure [78, 79]. Therefore, it is an illusion to wait for an almost perfect biomarker with an adjusted AUROC greater than 90% for the diagnosis of advanced fibrosis. This point must be explained to patients and health authorities.

5.3. Are Patented Biomarkers Better Than Nonpatented Biomarker?

When we compared the diagnostic value of the two most popular fibrosis biomarkers the patented FT and the nonpatented APRI, there were significantly higher AUROCs for FT among six studies comparing directly these biomarkers. The advantage of FT is also to have security algorithms in order to reduce the risk of false positive/negative and to have demonstrated the prognostic values. An advantage of APRI is to be cheap and easy to access. A major disadvantage of APRI is to use upper limits of normal for transaminases, which are not standardized and not reproducible between laboratories [21, 80–83]. The other comparisons between biomarkers were not possible because of the limited number of direct comparisons.

Recently Shaheen *et al.* published an overview of the diagnostic accuracy of FT and FS, and an overview of APRI, for the prediction of hepatitis C-related fibrosis[84, 85]. The major limitations of these systematic reviews included the absence of standardization of the AUROCs according to the prevalence of stages defining advanced or nonadvanced fibrosis, the nonevidence-based statements concerning FT, and the absence of detailed discussion of the impossible perfect biomarker. The methodology used by the authors did not take into account the most important source of heterogeneity between studies, which is the different spectrum of fibrosis stages (spectrum bias) [29].

If a study is overrepresented in fibrosis extreme stages (F0 and F4), the marker sensitivity, specificity, and AUROCs will be automatically higher than a study including only adjacent stages (F2 and F1). Standardization analyses should be performed according to these differences in stages prevalence defining advanced and nonadvanced fibrosis (DANA). The indirect AUROCs comparisons are meaningless without these standardizations [29]. This spectrum bias can also explained why, for a given test [29] or for biopsy [4], the AUROCs of cirrhosis vs non-cirrhosis can vary according to the prevalence of noncirrhotic stages. The DANA is 2.5 both for cirrhosis AUROCs and advanced fibrosis AUROCs if non-cirrhotic stages' prevalences are similar. If the prevalence of cirrhosis is 40% with 0% F3, the DANA will be 3.25 for diagnosis of cirrhosis and only 3.0 for the diagnosis of advanced fibrosis. Therefore, statements of the authors that accuracy for cirrhosis is better than for advanced fibrosis is meaningless without comparisons between adjacent stages [29]. The authors mentioned a prospective study demonstrating a 5-year prognostic value for APRI but forgot to mention that the FT had a significantly higher prognostic value (survival without complications: AUROC 0.96; 95% CI, 0.93–0.97) than APRI (AUROC 0.82; 95% CI, 0.66–0.91; P= 0.03) [79, 86].

5.4. Are There Differences Between Patented Biomarkers?

This overview found no significant difference between the AUROCs for advanced fibrosis among the patented biomarkers. Because of the limited number of patients included in the direct comparisons, a clinically significant difference cannot be excluded, particularly between HS with a possible smaller AUROCs (0.04 difference) vs FT and FM.

From the evidence-based data published, several quality items were missing for several patented biomarkers.

For the applicability of biomarkers and the risk of false positive/negative, more data are needed in larger patient populations and controls for hyaluronic acid, tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 (TIMP-1), PIIIP, and platelets. For TIMP-1, platelets and PIIP more studies must be performed and published for preanalytical and analytical recommendations. Specific studies in difficult-to-diagnose populations must be performed.

The number of patients studied is small (less than 500 and only in HCV patients) for FSP and also small in non-HCV patients for FM, ELF, and HS.

More data are also needed for the diagnostic values of FSP, FM, ELF, and HS in discriminating early fibrosis stages: F0 and controls vs F1 and between F1 and F2.

Another advantage is that the FT can be combined with other validated biomarkers of liver injuries [15–16]: the AT to estimate the grade of necrosis and inflammation in HBV and HCV [14, 15] as well as the grade of steatosis

using the SteatoTest (ST) [87], the presence of alcoholic using the AshTest [88], and the presence of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis using the NashTest [89].

So far only FT has been studied for the following items: FT has been several times studied in paired biopsies during natural history or repeated during follow-up studies [45, 46, 60, 61, 90]. FT has been studied for preanalytical and analytical variability [81–83, 91–95], the causes of discordance vs biopsy [78], in screening strategy [96], as a marker of portal hypertension [97–98], and for its long-term prognostic value [79]. Contrarily to the other biomarkers, FT has been also studied in special HCV populations such as patients with vasculitis [55], drug-user [54], aged patients [99], HIV coinfected patients [48], patients with hemophilia [100], children [100–101], patients with normal transaminases [50, 102–103] and with renal insufficiency [51].

One weakness of FT is that several components are viewed as "indirect" markers, such as alfa2-macroglobulin (A2M), ApoA1, and haptoglobin. However besides explanatory pathways, they are now evidence-based data using proteomics demonstrating a direct association between these three proteins and fibrosis [104–105]. The main causes of FT misclassifications are the Gilbert syndrome and presence hemolysis observed in less than 5% and almost always identified with the security algorithms [78].

5.5. Are Fibrosis Biomarkers Effective in All Chronic Liver Diseases?

Most of studies have been performed in patients infected with HCV, and only FT have been investigated specifically in the four most frequent chronic liver disease.

For FT, meta-analysis demonstrated that the diagnostic value of FT was similar in the four most frequent chronic liver diseases. The number of validations must be increased in ALD. We recently demonstrated that the standardization according to the prevalence of fibrosis stages defining advanced and nonadvanced fibrosis is mandatory for any interpretation of AUROCs [29]. For instance, this method allowed an adjustment to be made in the ObAUROCs of FT according to the cause of liver disease, which had significant difference in fibrosis stage spectrum. In HBV studies, patients had lower difference between advanced and nonadvanced fibrosis stages than in studies of ALD patients. After standardization, the difference between AUR-OCs was reduced by 2 (0.77 vs 0.88 before and 0.80 vs 0.86 after standardization) [29]. Repeated FT improved similarly to fibrosis as estimated by repeated biopsies during treatment for HCV [45, 46] and for HBV [59–61].

For the other tests, the number of non-HCV patients included was relatively small.

POYNARD ET AL.

5.6. Are There a Specific "Gray Zone" or an "Inaccurate Zone" Between Intermediate Stages?

The different meta-analyses also demonstrated that the diagnostic value of FT, as for liver biopsy, was similar between all the adjacent fibrosis stages but without a specific "gray zone" or an "inaccurate zone" between intermediate stages. FT, like biopsy, has lower diagnostic value to discriminate between two adjacent stages than between two extreme stages [11, 13, 14, 17, 28, 29].

The frequent statement "liver biopsy is still needed for definitive staging of intermediate stages" is not evidence based [106, 107]. The entire liver is certainly the gold standard, but a liver biopsy of 15 mm (the median biopsy length in tertiary centers) has an AUROC of 0.82 between F1 and F2, being around 20% of false positives/negatives [4]. Therefore, FT with an AUROC of 0.66 (usually described as a "weak" value when using a true gold standard) between F1 and F2 has a relative AUROC vs the best AUROC possible of 0.66/0.82 = 0.80, which is in the end acceptable for a noninvasive test.

The second error is the confusion between intermediate stages and adjacent stages. For any estimate of liver fibrosis, the diagnostic values (AUROCs) between adjacent stages need to be assessed. There are no significant differences in the diagnostic values (AUROCs) for FT [17] or for liver biopsy as demonstrated by Bedossa *et al.* [4] according to intermediate stages as opposed to extreme stages, with the AUROCs for all adjacent stages being similar.

This once again underlines that assessing the AUROCs between all adjacent stages remains the best way, knowing that for the "perfect" biomarker, the best possible achievable AUROC is 0.82 for a 15-mm biopsy.

There are also different methodological approaches for the overview of fibrosis markers. Parkes *et al.* arbitrarily defined an "inaccurate" zone of a marker when it "cannot reliably attribute result for tests as tests perform with lower sensitivities/specificities at thresholds, where positive predictive value is <90% and negative predictive value is >95%" [108]. There is no rationale for choosing these thresholds, but this definition could be acceptable if a true gold standard existed. This is not the case for fibrosis markers. If this definition is applied to 15-mm liver biopsies, the biopsy will be inaccurate in 40% of cases for a diagnosis between F1 and F2.

5.7. IS THE LIVER BIOPSY STILL USEFUL?

Yes, biopsy is still useful, but not as first-line estimate of liver injury in the four most frequent chronic liver diseases. Biopsy could be useful when validated noninvasive methods, such as FT and FS, are not applicable or discordant. In some countries, like in France, this strategy is already extensively used and approved by health authorities.

Biopsy could be useful when several liver injuries are suspected in the same patients and in less frequent chronic liver diseases. Biomarkers and FS are so far less validated in cholestatic liver diseases (primary biliary cirrhosis and primary sclerosing cholangitis), in patients with liver transplantation, and in very rare disease such as lymphoma or vascular liver disease. In hemochromatosis several algorithms using biomarkers, genetic and imaging tests have been already validated as alternatives to liver biopsy [109].

6. Conclusion

This overview of evidence-based data suggests that biomarkers could be used as an alternative to liver biopsy for the assessment of fibrosis stage in the four more common chronic liver diseases: HCV, HBV, NAFLD, and ALD.

Neither biomarkers nor biopsy are sufficient alone to take definitive decision in a given patient and all the clinical and biological data must be taken into account.

However, due to the dramatically insufficient risk-benefit ratio of biopsy (coefficient variation 40%, 0.3% severe adverse events and 3/10,000 mortality) [4, 9], it is surprising that many leaders and associations in the field of hepatology still recommend liver biopsy as the first-line investigation for millions of people exposed to the risk of fibrosis [11]. Based on current evidence, a wise recommendation would be a moratorium on liver biopsy as a first-line procedure while awaiting studies demonstrating biopsy cost-utility vs that of biomarkers. Biopsy as a second-line estimate of liver injury should still be indicated for intricate diseases or clinicobiological discordances.

References

- [1] Bravo AA, Sheth SG, Chopra S. Liver biopsy. N Engl J Med 2001; 344:495-500.
- [2] Regev A, Berho M, Jeffers LJ, Milikowski C, Molina EG, Pyrsopoulos NT, et al. Sampling error and intraobserver variation in liver biopsy in patients with chronic HCV infection. Am J Gastroenterol 2002; 97:2614–2618.
- [3] Colloredo G, Guido M, Sonzogni A, Leandro G. Impact of liver biopsy size on histological evaluation of chronic viral hepatitis: The smaller the sample, the milder the disease. J Hepatol 2003; 39:239–244.
- [4] Bedossa P, Dargère D, Paradis V. Sampling variability of liver fibrosis in chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology 2003; 38:1449–1457.
- [5] Ratziu V, Charlotte F, Heurtier A, Gombert S, Giral P, Bruckert E, et al. LIDO Study Group. Sampling variability of liver biopsy in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Gastroenterology 2005; 128:1898–1906.
- [6] Bedossa P, Poynard T, Naveau S, Martin ED, Agostini H, Chaput JC. Observer variation in assessment of liver biopsies of alcoholic patients. Alcohol Clin Exp Res 1988; 12:173–178.

- [7] Labayle D, Chaput JC, Albuisson F, et al. Analyse histologique comparative des biopsies du lobe droit et du lobe gauche dans les lésions alcooliques du foie. Gastroenterol Clin Biol 1979; 3:235–240.
- [8] McHutchison J, Poynard T, Afdhal N. International Fibrosis Group Meeting Participants. Fibrosis as an end point for clinical trials in liver disease: A report of the international fibrosis group. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2006; 4:1214–1220.
- [9] Poynard T, Ratziu V, Bedossa P. Appropriateness of liver biopsy. Can J Gastroenterol 2000; 14:543–548.
- [10] Sebastiani G, Alberti A. Non invasive fibrosis biomarkers reduce but not substitute the need for liver biopsy. World J Gastroenterol 2006; 21(12):3682–3694.
- [11] Poynard T, Ratziu V, Benhamou Y, Thabut D, Moussalli J. Biomarkers as a first-line estimate of injury in chronic liver diseases: Time for a moratorium on liver biopsy. Gastroenterology 2005; 128:1146–1148.
- [12] Castera L, Denis J, Babany G, Roudot-Thoraval F. Evolving practices of non-invasive markers of liver fibrosis in patients with chronic hepatitis C in France: Time for new guidelines. J Hepatol 2007; 46:528–529.
- [13] La Haute Autorité de Santé (HAS) in France—The HAS recommendations for the management of the chronic hepatitis C using non-invasive biomarkers. http://www.hassante.fr/portail/display.jsp?id=c_476486 (Accuessed August 2007).
- [14] Poynard T, Imbert-Bismut F, Munteanu M, Messous D, Myers RP, Thabut D, et al. Overview of the diagnostic value of biochemical markers of liver fibrosis (FibroTest, HCV-Fibrosure) and necrosis (ActiTest) in patients with chronic hepatitis C. Comp Hepatol 2004; 3:8.
- [15] Poynard T, Imbert-Bismut F, Munteanu M, Ratziu V. FibroTest-FibroSURE: Towards a universal biomarker of liver fibrosis. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 2005; 5:15–21.
- [16] Morra R, Munteanu M, Imbert-Bismut F, Messous D, Ratziu V, Poynard T. FibroMAX: Towards a new universal biomarker of liver disease. Expert Rev Mol Diagn 2007; 7:481–490.
- [17] Poynard T, Morra R, Halfon P, Castera L, Ratziu V, Imbert-Bismut F, et al. Meta-analyses of Fibrotest diagnostic value in chronic liver disease. BMC Gastroenterol 2007; 7:40.
- [18] Bossuyt PM, Reitsma JB, Bruns DE, et al. Towards complete and accurate reporting of studies of diagnostic accuracy: The STARD initiative. Clin Radiol 2003; 58:575–580.
- [19] Gebo KA, Herlong HF, Torbenson MS, Jenckes MW, Chander G, Ghanem KG, et al. Role of liver biopsy in management of chronic hepatitis C: A systematic review. Hepatology 2002; 36:S161–S172.
- [20] Lackner C, Struber G, Liegl B, Leibl S, Ofner P, Bankuti C, Bauer B, Stauber RE. Comparison and validation of simple noninvasive tests for prediction of fibrosis in chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology. 2005; 41:1376–1382.
- [21] Le Calvez S, Thabut D, Messous D, Munteanu M, Ratziu V, Imbert-Bismut F, et al. Fibrotest has higher predictive values than APRI for fibrosis diagnosis in patients with chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology 2004; 39:862–863.
- [22] Castera L, Vergniol J, Foucher J, Brigitte Le Bail B, Chanteloup E, Haaser M, et al. Prospective comparison of transient elastography, Fibrotest, APRI and liver biopsy for the assessment of fibrosis in chronic hepatitis C. Gastroenterology 2005; 128:343–350.
- [23] Sebastiani G, Vario A, Guido M, Alberti A. Sequential algorithms combining noninvasive markers and biopsy for the assessment of liver fibrosis in chronic hepatitis B. World J Gastroenterol 2007; 13:525–531.
- [24] Thabut D, Simon M, Myers RP, Messous D, Thibaut V, Imbert-Bismut F, et al. Noninvasive prediction of fibrosis in patients with chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology 2003; 37:1220–1221.

- [25] Bedossa P, Poynard T. An algorithm for the grading of activity in chronic hepatitis C. The METAVIR Cooperative Study Group. Hepatology 1996; 24:289–293.
- [26] DeLong ER, DeLong DM, Clarke-Pearson DL. Comparing the areas under two or more correlated receiver operating characteristic curves: A nonparametric approach. Biometrics 1988; 44:837–845.
- [27] Zhou X, Obuchowski N, McClish D. In: Statistical Methods in Diagnostic Medicine. 2002. John Wiley & Sons Inc, New York, NY
- [28] Poynard T, Halfon P, Castera L, Charlotte F, Bail BL, Munteanu M, et al. Variability of the area under the receiver operating characteristic curves in the diagnostic evaluation of liver fibrosis markers: Impact of biopsy length and fragmentation. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2007; 25:733–739.
- [29] Poynard T, Halfon P, Castera L, Munteanu M, Imbert-Bismut F, Ratziu V, et al. Standardization of ROC curve areas for diagnostic evaluation of liver fibrosis markers based on prevalences of fibrosis stages. Clin Chem 2007; 53:1615–1622.
- [30] Poynard T, Aubert A, Bedossa P, Abella A, Naveau S, Paraf F, et al. A simple biological index for detection of alcoholic liver disease in drinkers. Gastroenterology 1991; 100:1397–1402.
- [31] Teare JP, Sherman D, Greenfield SM, Simpson J, Bray G, Catterall AP, et al. Comparison of serum procollagen III peptide concentrations and PGA index forassessment of hepatic fibrosis. Lancet. 1993; 342:895–898.
- [32] Poynard T, Bedossa P. Age and platelet count: A simple index for predicting the presence of histological lesions in patients with antibodies to hepatitis C virus. METAVIR and CLINIVIR Cooperative Study Groups. J Viral Hepat 1997; 4:199–208.
- [33] Bonacini M, Hadi G, Govindarajan S, Lindsay KL. Utility of a discriminant score for diagnosing advanced fibrosis or cirrhosis in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. Am J Gastroenterol 1997; 92:1302–1304.
- [34] Pohl A, Behling C, Oliver D, Kilani M, Monson P, Hassanein T. Serum aminotransferase levels and platelet counts as predictors of degree of fibrosis in chronic hepatitis C virus infection. Am J Gastroenterol 2001; 96:3142–3146.
- [35] Forns X, Ampurdanes S, Llovet JM, Aponte J, Quinto L, Martinez-Bauer E, et al. Identification of chronic hepatitis C patients without hepatic fibrosis by a simple predictive model. Hepatology 2002; 36:986–992.
- [36] Wai CT, Greenson JK, Fontana RJ, Kalbfleisch JD, Marrero JA, Conjeevaram HS, et al. A simple noninvasive index can predict both significant fibrosis and cirrhosis inpatients with chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology 2003; 38:518–526.
- [37] Leroy V, Monier F, Bottari S, Trocme C, Sturm N, Hilleret MN, et al. Circulating matrix metalloproteinases 1, 2, 9 and their inhibitors TIMP-1 and TIMP-2 as serum markers of liver fibrosis in patients with chronic hepatitis C: Comparison with PIIINP and hyaluronic acid. Am J Gastroenterol. 2004; 99:271–279.
- [38] Trocme C, Leroy V, Sturm N, Hilleret MN, Bottari S, Morel F, et al. Longitudinal evaluation of a fibrosis index combining MMP-1 and PIIINP compared with MMP-9, TIMP-1 and hyaluronic acid in patients with chronic hepatitis C treated by interferonalpha and ribavirin. J Viral Hepat 2006; 13:643–651.
- [39] Leroy V, Hilleret MN, Sturm N, Trocme C, Renversez JC, Faure P, et al. Prospective comparison of six non-invasive scores for the diagnosis of liver fibrosis in chronic hepatitis C. J Hepatol 2007; 46:775–872.
- [40] Sterling RK, Lissen E, Clumeck N, Sola R, Correa MC, Montaner J, et al. Development of a simple noninvasive index to predict significant fibrosis in patients with HIV/HCV coinfection. Hepatology 2006; 43:1317–1325.

- [41] Vallet-Pichard A, Mallet V, Nalpas B, Verkarre V, Nalpas A, Dhalluin-Venier V, et al. FIB-4: An inexpensive and accurate marker of fibrosis in HCV infection. Comparison with liver biopsy and fibrotest. Hepatology 2007; 46:32–36.
- [42] Koda M, Matunaga Y, Kawakami M, Kishimoto Y, Suou T, Murawaki Y. FibroIndex, a practical index for predicting significant fibrosis in patients with chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology 2007; 45:297–306.
- [43] Halfon P, Penaranda G, Renou C, Bourliere M. External validation of FibroIndex. Hepatology 2007; 46:280–281.
- [44] Imbert-Bismut F, Ratziu V, Laurence Pieroni L, Charlotte F, Benhamou Y, Poynard T, MULTIVIRC Group Biochemical markers of liver fibrosis in patients with hepatitis C virus infection: A prospective study. Lancet 2001; 357:1069–1075.
- [45] Poynard T, Imbert-Bismut F, Ratziu V, Chevret S, Jardel C, Moussalli J, et al. Biochemical markers of liver fibrosis in patients infected by Hepatitis C virus: Longitudinal validation in a randomized trial. J Viral Hepatitis 2002; 9:128–133.
- [46] Poynard T, McHutchison J, Manns M, Myers RP, Albrecht J. Biochemical surrogate markers of liver fibrosis and activity in a randomized trial of peginterferon alfa-2b and ribavirin. Hepatology 2003; 38:481–492.
- [47] Rossi E, Adams L, Prins A, Bulsara M, de Boer B, Garas G, et al. Validation of the FibroTest biochemical markers score in assessing liver fibrosis in hepatitis C patients. Clin Chem 2003; 49:450–454.
- [48] Myers RP, Benhamou Y, Imbert-Bismut F, Thibault V, Bochet M, Charlotte F, et al. Serum biochemical markers accurately predict liver fibrosis in HIV and hepatitis C viruscoinfected patients. Aids 2003; 17:1–5.
- [49] Cales P, Oberti F, Michalak S, Hubert-Fouchard I, Rousselet MC, Konate A, et al. A novel panel of blood markers to assess the degree of liver fibrosis. Hepatology 2005; 42:1373–1381.
- [50] Colletta C, Smirne C, Fabris C, Toniutto P, Rapetti R, Minisini R, et al. Value of two noninvasive methods to detect progression of fibrosis among HCV carriers with normal aminotransferases. Hepatology 2005; 42:838–845.
- [51] Varaut A, Fontaine H, Serpaggi J, Verkarre V, Vallet-Pichard A, Nalpas B, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of the fibrotest in hemodialysis and renal transplant patients with chronic hepatitis C virus. Transplantation 2005; 80:1550–1555.
- [52] Halfon P, Bourliere M, Deydier R, Portal I, Renou R, Bertrand J, et al. Independent prospective multicenter validation of biochemical markers (Fibrotest-Actitest) for the prediction of liver fibrosis and activity in patients with chronic hepatitis C. Am J Gastroenterol 2006; 101:547–555.
- [53] Sebastiani G, Vario A, Guido M, Noventa F, Plebani M, Pistis R, et al. Stepwise combination algorithms of non-invasive markers to diagnose significant fibrosis in chronic hepatitis C. J Hepatol 2006; 44:686–693.
- [54] Wilson LE, Torbenson M, Astemborski J, Faruki H, Spoler C, Rai R, et al. Progression of liver fibrosis among injection drug users with chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology 2006; 43:788–795.
- [55] Sène D, Limal N, Djamila Messous D, Ghillani-Dalbin P, Charlotte F, Halfon P, et al. Biological markers of liver fibrosis and activity as non-invasive alternatives to liver biopsy in patients with chronic hepatitis C and associated mixed cryoglobulinemia vasculitis. Clin Biochem 2006; 39:715–721.
- [56] Halfon P, Bacq Y, De Muret A, Penaranda G, Bourliere M, Ouzan D, et al. Comparison of test performance profile for blood tests of liver fibrosis in chronic hepatitis C. J Hepatol 2007; 46:395–402.

- [57] Grigorescu M, Rusu M, Neculoiu D, Radu C, Aerban A, Caþanao M, et al. The FibroTest value in discriminating between insignificant and significant fibrosis in chronic hepatitis C patients. The Romanian experience. Gastrointestin Liver Dis 2007; 16:31–371.
- [58] Morali G, Maor Y, Klar R, Braun M, Ben Ari Z, Bujanover Y, et al. Fibrotest-Actitest: The biochemical marker of liver fibrosis—The Israeli experience. Israel Med Assoc J 2007; 9:588–591.
- [59] Myers RP, Tainturier MH, Ratziu V, Piton A, Thibault V, Imbert-Bismut F, et al. Prediction of liver histological lesions with biochemical markers in patients with chronic hepatitis B. J Hepatol 2003; 39:222–230.
- [60] Poynard T, Zoulim F, Ratziu V, Degos F, Imbert-Bismut F, Deny P, et al. Longitudinal assessment of histology surrogate markers (Fibrotest-Actitest) during lamivudine therapy in patients with chronic hepatitis B infection. Am J Gastroenterol 2005; 100:1970–1980.
- [61] Poynard T, Ngo Y, Marcellin P, Hadziyannis S, Goodman Z, Ratziu V, et al. Adefovir Dipivoxil 437 and 438 Study Groups. Impact of adefovir dipivoxil on liver fibrosis and activity assessed with FibroTest-ActiTest in patients with chronic hepatitis B infection. Abstr EASL J Hepatol 2007; 46:S298.
- [62] Naveau S, Raynard B, Ratziu V, Abella A, Imbert-Bismut F, Messous D, et al. Biomarkers for the prediction of liver fibrosis in patients with chronic alcoholic liver disease. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2005; 3:167–174.
- [63] Thabut D, Naveau S, Charlotte F, Massard J, Ratziu V, Imbert-Bismut F, et al. The diagnostic value of biomarkers (AshTest) for the prediction of alcoholic steato-hepatitis in patients with chronic alcoholic liver disease. J Hepatol 2006; 44:1175–1185.
- [64] Ratziu V, Massard J, Charlotte F, Messous D, Imbert-Bismut F, Bonyhay L, et al. Diagnostic value of biochemical markers (FibroTest-FibroSURE) for the prediction of liver fibrosis in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. BMC Gastroenterolo 2006; 6:6.
- [65] Callewaert N, Van Vlierberghe H, Van Hecke A, Laroy W, Delanghe J, Contreras R. Noninvasive diagnosis of liver cirrhosis using DNA sequencer-based total serum protein glycomics. Nat Med 2004; 10:429–434.
- [66] Coco B, Oliveri F, Maina AM, Ciccorossi P, Sacco R, Colombatto P, et al. Transient elastography: A new surrogate marker of liver fibrosis influenced by major changes of transaminases. J Viral Hepat 2007; 14:360–369.
- [67] Berends MA, Snoek J, de Jong EM, Van Krieken JH, de Knegt RJ, van Oijen MG, et al. Biochemical and biophysical assessment of MTX-induced liver fibrosis in psoriasis patients: Fibrotest predicts the presence and Fibroscan predicts the absence of significant liver fibrosis. Liver Int 2007; 27:639–645.
- [68] Christensen C, Bruden D, Livingston S, Deubner H, Homan C, Smith K, et al. Diagnostic accuracy of a fibrosis serum panel (FIBROSpect II) compared with Knodell and Ishak liver biopsy scores in chronic hepatitis C patients. J Viral Hepat 2006; 13:652–658.
- [69] Zaman A, Rosen HR, Ingram K, Corless CL, Oh E, Smith K. Assessment of FIBROSpect II to detect hepatic fibrosis in chronic hepatitis C patients. Am J Med 2007; 120:280.eq-14.
- [70] Snyder N, Nguyen A, Gajula L, Soloway R, Xiao SY, Lau DT, et al. The APRI may be enhanced by the use of the FIBROSpect II in the estimation of fibrosis in chronic hepatitis C. Clin Chim Acta 2007; 381:119–123.
- [71] Rosenberg WM, Voelker M, Thiel R, Becka M, Burt A, Schuppan D, et al. Serum markers detect the presence of liver fibrosis: A cohort study. Gastroenterology 2004; 127:1704–1713.
- [72] Adams LA, Bulsara M, Rossi E, DeBoer B, Speers D, George J, et al. Hepascore: An accurate validated predictor of liver fibrosis in chronic hepatitis C infection. Clin Chem 2005; 51:1867–1873.

- [73] Bedossa P, Poynard T. An algorithm for the grading of activity in chronic hepatitis C. The METAVIR cooperative study group. Hepatology 1996; 24:289–293.
- [74] Poynard T, Bedossa P, Opolon P. Natural history of liver fibrosis progression in patients with chronic hepatitis C. The OBSVIRC, METAVIR, CLINIVIR, and DOSVIRC groups. Lancet 1997; 349:825–832.
- [75] Poynard T, Mathurin P, Lai CL, Guyader D, Poupon R, Tainturier MH, et al. A comparison of fibrosis progression in chronic liver diseases. J Hepatol 2003; 38:257–265.
- [76] Poynard T, McHutchison J, Manns M, Trepo C, Lindsay K, Goodman Z, et al. Impact of pegylated interferon alfa-2b and ribavirin on liver fibrosis inpatients with chronic hepatitis C. Gastroenterology. 2002; 122:1303–1313.
- [77] Poynard T. Uses of error. Lancet 2002; 359:1514.
- [78] Poynard T, Munteanu M, Imbert-Bismut F, Charlotte F, Thabut D, Le Calvez S, et al. Prospective analysis of discordant results between biochemical markers and biopsy in patients with chronic hepatitis C. Clin Chem 2004; 50:1344–1355.
- [79] Ngo Y, Munteanu M, Messous D, Charlotte F, Imbert-Bismut F, Thabut D, et al. A prospective analysis of the prognostic value of biomarkers (FibroTest) in patients with chronic hepatitis C. Clin Chem 2006; 52:1887–1896.
- [80] Piton A, Poynard T, Imbert-Bismut F, Khalil L, Delattre J, Pelissier E, et al. Factors associated with serum alanine transaminase activity in healthy subjects: Consequences for the definition of normal values, for selection of blood donors, and for patients with chronic hepatitis C. MULTIVIRC Group. Hepatology 1998; 27:1213–1219.
- [81] Halfon P, Imbert-Bismut F, Messous D, Antoniotti G, Benchetrit D, Cart-Lamy P, et al. A prospective assessment of the inter-laboratory variability of biochemical markers of fibrosis (FibroTest) and activity (ActiTest) in patients with chronic liver disease. Com Hepatol 2002; 2:3–7.
- [82] Ferard G, Piton A, Messous D, Imbert-Bismut F, Frairi A, Poynard T, et al. Intermethod calibration of alanine aminotransferase (ALT) and gamma-glutamyltransferase (GGT) results: Application to Fibrotest and Actitest scores. Clin Chem Lab Med 2006; 44:400–406.
- [83] Ferard G, Imbert-Bismut F, Messous D, Piton A, Ueda S, Poynard T, et al. A reference material for traceability of aspartate aminotransferase (AST) results. Clin Chem Lab Med 2005; 43:549–553.
- [84] Shaheen AA, Wan AF, Myers RP. FibroTest and FibroScan for the prediction of hepatitis C-related fibrosis: A systematic review of diagnostic test accuracy. Am J Gastroenterol 2007; 102:1–12.
- [85] Shaheen AA, Myers RP. Diagnostic accuracy of the aspartate aminotransferase-to-platelet ratio index for the prediction of hepatitis C-related fibrosis: A systematic review. Hepatology 2007; 46:912–921.
- [86] Morra R, Lebray P, Ingiliz P, Ngo Y, Munteanu M, Ratziu V, et al. Fibrotest has better diagnostic and prognostic values than the aspartate aminotransferase-to-platelet ratio index in patients with chronic hepatitis C. Hepatology 2007; 46:912–921.
- [87] Poynard T, Ratziu V, Naveau S, Thabut D, Charlotte F, Messous D, et al. The diagnostic value of biomarkers (SteatoTest) for the prediction of liver steatosis. Comp Hepatol 2005; 4:10.
- [88] Thabut D, Naveau S, Charlotte F, Massard J, Ratziu V, Imbert-Bismut F, et al. The diagnostic value of biomarkers (AshTest) for the prediction of alcoholic steato-hepatitis in patients with chronic alcoholic liver disease. J Hepatol 2006; 44:1175–1185.
- [89] Poynard T, Ratziu V, Charlotte F, Messous D, Munteanu M, Imbert Bismut F, et al. Diagnostic value of biochemical markers (NashTest) for the prediction of NASH in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. BMC Gastroenterol 2006; 6:34.

- [90] D'Arondel C, Munteanu M, Moussalli J, Thibault V, Naveau S, Simon A, et al. A prospective assessment of an "a la carte" regimen of PEG Interferon alfa 2b and ribavirin combination in patients with chronic hepatitis C using biochemical markers. J Viral Hepat 2006; 13:182–189.
- [91] Imbert-Bismut F, Messous D, Thibaut V, Myers RB, Piton A, Thabut D, et al. Intralaboratory analytical variability of biochemical markers of fibrosis (Fibrotest) and activity (Actitest) and reference ranges in healthy blood donors. Clin Chem Lab Med 2004; 42:323–333.
- [92] Munteanu M, Messous D, Thabut D, Imbert-Bismut F, Jouys M, Massard J, et al. Intraindividual fasting versus postprandial variation of biochemical markers of liver fibrosis (FibroTest) and activity (ActiTest). Comp Hepatol 2004; 3:3.
- [93] Imbert-Bismut F, Messous D, Raoult A, Poynard T, Bertrand JJ, Marie PA, et al. Results transferability on RXL, ARX, X-Pand, BN2 (Dade Behring) and modular DP (Roche Diagnostics) analysers: Application to component assays of fibrotest and Actitest. Ann Biol Clin (Paris) 2005; 63:305–313.
- [94] Piton A, Messous D, Imbert-Bismut F, Berges J, Munteanu M, Poynard T, et al. Alpha 2 macroglobulin immunoturbidimetric assays (DakoCytomation reagents) on Roche Diagnostic analysers (Modular P, Cobas Integra). Application to FibroTest-ActiTest. Ann Biol Clin (Paris) 2005; 63:385–395.
- [95] Rosenthal-Allieri MA, Peritore ML, Tran A, Halfon P, Benzaken S, Bernard A. Analytical variability of the Fibrotest proteins. Clin Biochem 2005; 38:473–478.
- [96] Ratziu V, Giral P, Munteanu M, Messous D, Mercadier A, Bernard M, et al. Screening for liver disease using non-invasive biomarkers (FibroTest-SteatoTest-NashTest-FibroSURE) in patients with hyperlipidaemia. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2007; 25:207–218.
- [97] Thabut D, Trabut JB, Massard J, Rudler M, Muntenau M, Messous D, et al. Non-invasive diagnosis of large oesophageal varices with FibroTest in patients with cirrhosis: A preliminary retrospective study. Liver Int 2006; 26:271–278.
- [98] Thabut D, Imbert-Bismut F, Cazals-Hatem D, Messous D, Muntenau M, Valla DC, et al. Relationship between the Fibrotest and portal hypertension in patients with liver disease. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2007; 26:359–368.
- [99] Thabut D, Le Calvez S, Thibault V, Massard J, Munteanu M, Di Martino V, et al. Hepatitis C in 6,865 patients 65 yr or older: A severe and neglected curable disease. Am J Gastroenterol 2006; 101:1260–1267.
- [100] Maor Y, Bashari D, Kenet G, Lubetsky A, Luboshitz J, Schapiro JM, et al. Non-invasive biomarkers of liver fibrosis in haemophilia patients with hepatitis C: Can you avoid liver biopsy. Haemophilia 2006; 12:372–379.
- [101] Friedrich-Rust M, Koch C, Rentzsch A, Sarrazin C, Peter Schwarz P, Herrmann E. Noninvasive assessment of liver fibrosis in patients with Fontan circulation using transient elastography and biochemical fibrosis markers. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg 2008; 135:560–567.
- [102] Castera L, Foucher J, Bertet J, Couzigou P, de Ledinghen V. FibroScan and FibroTest to assess liver fibrosis in HCV with normal aminotransferases. Hepatology 2006; 43:373–374.
- [103] Poynard T, Munteanu M, Ngo Y, Torres M, Benhamou Y, Thabut D, et al. Diagnostic value of FibroTest with normal serum aminotransferases. Hepatology 2006; 43:374–375.
- [104] White IR, Patel K, Symonds WT, Dev A, Griffin P, Tsokanas N, et al. Serum proteomic analysis focused on fibrosis in patients with hepatitis C virus infection. J Transl Med 2007; 5:33.
- [105] Morra R, Munteanu M, Bedossa P, Dargere D, Janneau JL, Paradis V, et al. Diagnostic value of serum protein profiling by SELDI-TOF ProteinChip compared with biochemical markers, FibroTest, for the diagnosis of advanced fibrosis in patients with chronic hepatitis. Aliment Pharmacol Ther 2007; 26:847–858.

- [106] Bissel MD. Assessing fibrosis without a liver biopsy: Are we there yet. Gastroenterology 2004; 127:1847–1849.
- [107] Rockey DC, Bissel MD. Noninvasive measures of liver fibrosis. Hepatology 2006; 43: S113–S120.
- [108] Parkes J, Indra Neil Guha IN, Roderick P, Rosenberg W. Performance of serum marker panels for liver fibrosis in chronic hepatitis C. J Hepatol 2006; 44:462–474.
- [109] Guyader D, Jacquelinet C, Moirand R, Turlin B, Mendler MH, Chaperon J, et al. Noninvasive prediction of fibrosis in C282Y homozygous hemochromatosis. Gastroenterology 1998; 115:929–936.

BIOMARKERS RELATED TO AGING IN HUMAN POPULATIONS

Eileen Crimmins,* Sarinnapha Vasunilashorn,* Jung Ki Kim,* and Dawn Alley †

*Andrus Gerontology Center, Davis School of Gerontology, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, California 90089 [†]Robert Wood Johnson Health and Society Scholars Program, University of Pennsylvania, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19104

1.	Abstract	161
2.	Introduction	162
3.	Background	162
	3.1. What is a Biomarker?	162
	3.2. What is Aging?	163
4.	Biomarkers	164
	4.1. Cardiovascular System	164
	4.2. Markers of Metabolic Processes	171
	4.3. Markers of Inflammation, Immunity, and Infection	177
	4.4. Markers of the Central Nervous System	180
	4.5. Markers of Activity in the Hypothalamic Pituitary Axis	181
	4.6. Markers of the Sympathetic Nervous System	182
	4.7. Markers of Organ Function	184
	4.8. Markers of Oxidative Stress and Antioxidants	185
	4.9. Genetic Markers	186
5.	Biomarkers and Mortality	187
6.	Interrelationships Among Biomarkers and Summary Measures of Biological Risk	189
	Surveys with Biomarkers	193
	Future of Biomarkers in Studying Aging Populations	194
	Acknowledgement	195
	References	195

1. Abstract

Biomarkers are increasingly employed in empirical studies of human populations to understand physiological processes that change with age, diseases

whose onset appears linked to age, and the aging process itself. In this chapter, we describe some of the most commonly used biomarkers in population aging research, including their collection, associations with other markers, and relationships to health outcomes. We discuss biomarkers of the cardiovascular system, metabolic processes, inflammation, activity in the hypothalamic-pituitary axis (HPA) and sympathetic nervous system (SNS), and organ functioning (including kidney, lung, and heart). In addition, we note that markers of functioning of the central nervous system and genetic markers are now becoming part of population measurement. Where possible, we detail interrelationships between these markers by providing correlations between high risk levels of each marker from three population-based surveys: the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) III, NHANES 1999-2002, and the MacArthur Study of Successful Aging. NHANES III is used instead of NHANES 1999-2002 when specific markers of interest are available only in NHANES III and when we examine the relationship of biomarkers to mortality which is only known for NHANES III. We also describe summary measures combining biomarkers across systems. Finally, we examine associations between individual markers and mortality and provide information about biomarkers of growing interest for future research in population aging and health.

2. Introduction

There is no agreed upon set of biomarkers of aging; however, there is a significant body of literature discussing both what a "biomarker" is and what constitutes aging [1]. These topics are addressed briefly in the beginning of this chapter, but the majority of the chapter focuses on how biomarkers are used in empirical studies of human populations to understand physiological processes that change with age, diseases whose onset appears linked to age, and the aging process itself [2]. We limit ourselves to biomarkers related to general indicators of health and survival that are appropriate for study in human populations *in vivo*, and we do not include biomarkers that are specific to the diagnosis, staging, or prognosis of specific diseases. In our discussion, we indicate the health outcomes that are related to each of the markers, interrelationships between markers, the link between individual and summary biomarkers and mortality, and measures of health used in the older population that are based on multiple indicators. Finally, we indicate future challenges in studying aging populations with biomarkers.

3. Background

3.1. WHAT IS A BIOMARKER?

The lack of an agreed definition for the term "biomarker" was one impetus for the National Institutes of Health (NIH) to recently convene a Biomarkers Definitions working group [3]. The following definition has been offered by this group: "a biomarker is a characteristic that is objectively measured and evaluated as an indicator of normal biological processes, pathogenic processes, or pharmacological responses to a therapeutic intervention [4]." In a recent strategic plan for the National Heart Lung and Blood Institute (NHLBI), the word "genotype" was added to the definition before normal biological processes, indicating how the focus of much research has changed since 2001 [5]. The current emphasis on biomarkers arises from an interest in understanding the molecular and physiological basis of disease as well as evaluating therapeutic interventions using surrogate end points rather than death or irreversible disease [6]. Social scientists are interested in adding biomarkers to traditional population studies of health in order to determine how social, psychological, and behavioral factors get under the skin to influence biology and subsequent health outcomes [7, 8].

In populations, biomarkers are used to monitor and predict the health of the population, to identify individuals with particular resistance or susceptibility to health problems, and to evaluate therapeutic interventions. Because of the clinical association of the word "biomarker" with risk factor, one group with a focus on aging populations has used the word "biomeasure" as a higher order term to encompass biomarkers of organic disease, physical condition or function, genetic makers, and biological indicators of aging [9]. In this chapter, we consider all of these types of measures as "biomarkers."

3.2. WHAT IS AGING?

While basic scientists continue to try to separate normal aging and disease, scientists interested in population health are more empirically oriented toward defining the age-related health changes that are of interest in evaluating functional ability and survival, which typically represent some combination of aging and disease. Health change in old age has been termed the disablement process by Verbrugge and Jette [10]. In populations, health change occurs in an ordered fashion by age beginning with the development of risk factors, through the onset of diseases and conditions, to functioning loss or loss of ability to perform certain physiological functions and to the onset of disability which is often indicated by inability to work, to care for oneself, or to perform the activities necessary for independent living among older populations. Frailty is an emerging concept in the study of health outcomes that is specific to older age [11–13]. It is a downward trajectory in health and ability to perform daily tasks resulting from the accumulation of acute and chronic diseases as well as the physiological decline and dysregulation that accompany the onset of diseases and advanced age [12]. Biomarkers can be indicators of any of these aspects of health change: risk, disease, functioning loss, disability, frailty, or imminent death.

4. Biomarkers

In human populations, the identification of biomarkers for health outcomes has resulted from large-scale community and population studies, such as the Framingham study and the NHANES. The MacArthur Study of Successful Aging was the first large-scale community-based study that provided extensive collection of biomarkers in a home-based setting. Because of increases in scientific knowledge of aging and improvements in technology for collection, a growing number of recent population studies have included biomarkers along with collection of social, economic, and psychological information [14]. We note the details of some of these studies at the end of our discussion of individual biomarkers.

In this section, we outline biomarkers that have been used in research on the health of older populations (Table 1) [15–139]. We describe the markers and why they are important in research on aging. This list represents a selection from a significantly larger number of markers that could be described. Our intent is to provide information on the currently most frequently used measures and to indicate some newer measures that are growing in use.

4.1. CARDIOVASCULAR SYSTEM

We begin with indicators of cardiovascular functioning, as heart disease is the leading cause of death in the older population and one of the most important causes of disability (Table 1). The two indicators of blood pressure are probably the most commonly measured biomarkers: *Systolic blood pressure* (SBP) is the maximum pressure in an artery at the moment when the heart is beating and pumping blood; *diastolic blood pressure* (DBP) is the lowest pressure in an artery in the moments between beats when the heart is resting. High levels of either measurement indicate hypertension. Current guidelines define hypertension as SBP \geq 140 mm Hg or DBP \geq 90 mm Hg.

SBP is thought to be more important and predictive of aging health outcomes than DBP. There are strong associations between aging, increased SBP, and cardiac and vascular diseases [140]. Studies have shown the

Biomarkers	Description	Measure	Related Outcomes	Source
Biomarkers of cardiovascular	system			
Systolic blood pressure (SBP)	Index of cardiovascular activity: maximum pressure in an artery when the heart is pumping blood throughout the body	Physical exam	Cardiovascular death, stroke, CHD, mortality	[15–17]
Diastolic blood pressure (DBP)	Index of cardiovascular activity: lowest pressure in an artery when the heart is resting	Physical exam	Cardiovascular death, stroke, CHD, mortality	[15–17]
Pulse pressure	Indicator of increased arterial stiffness	Physical exam	Stroke, MI, heart failure, cardiovascular death, overall mortality	[18–20]
Resting pulse rate	Indicator of heart functioning and measure of overall fitness	Physical exam	CHD, mortality	[21]
Total homocysteine (tHcy)	An amino acid that plays a role in lipid metabolism; folic acid and vitamin B break down tHcy	Blood	Cardiovascular, cerebrovascular, and peripheral vascular disease, poor cognitive function	[22–25]
Biomarkers of metabolic proc	cesses			
Total cholesterol	Aids in the synthesis of bile acids and steroid hormones	Blood	In middle-age: CHD and all- cause mortality; In older ages: U-shaped relation to death	[26–28]
Low-density lipoprotein (LDL)	Transports cholesterol from the liver to be incorporated into cell membrane tissues	Fasting blood	CHD, atherosclerosis, stroke, peripheral vascular disease	[29–32]

TABLE 1 BIOMARKERS OF AGING
Biomarkers	Description	Measure	Related Outcomes	Source
Very low density lipoprotein (VLDL)	Transports endogenous triglycerides, phospholipids, cholesterol, and cholesteryl esters	Fasting blood	Atherosclerosis, coronary artery disease	[33–34]
High-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol	Protective cholesterol	Blood	Lower atherosclerotic CVD	[35]
Triglycerides	Fat substance stored for energy use	Fat substance stored for energy use Fasting blood		[33, 36–38]
Fasting glucose	Measures amount of sugar in blood; indicator of diabetes	Fasting blood	Diabetes, CHD, mortality, poor cognitive function	[39–41]
Glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c)	Measures amount of sugar binded to hemoglobin in red blood cells	Blood	Diabetes-related complications (eye, kidney, nerve, CHD, stroke), poor cognitive function	[39, 42, 43]
Body mass index (BMI)	Indicator of the balance between energy intake and energy expenditure	Physical exam	CVD, diabetes mellitus, stroke, mortaity, some cancers, osteoarthritis	[44–47]
Waist-to-hip ratio	Indicator of abdominal obesity	Physical exam	Hypertension, CHD, noninsulin-dependent diabetes, stroke	[48–50]
Leptin	Protein hormone that regulates food intake and energy expenditure	Blood	Diabetes mellitus, metabolic syndrome (abdomninal obesity, dyslipidemia, hypertension, hyperglycemia), atherosclerosis, osteoporosis	[51–57]

TABLE 1 (Continued)

Adiponectin	Adipose-specific plasma protein that serves as a measure of insulin sensitivity	Fasting blood	Metabolic syndrome (abdomninal obesity, dyslipidemia, hypertension, hyperglycemia); MI	[58, 59]
Biomarkers of inflammation,	, immunity, and infection			
C-reactive protein (CRP)	Acute-phase response protein that indicates blood levels of inflammation	Blood	CVD, heart attack, stroke, arthritis, cancer, cognitive, physical decline	[60–65]
Interleukin-6 (IL-6)	Immune system regulator (cytokine) that responds to acute illness or injury	Blood, saliva	CVD, immune disorders, AD, diabetes mellitus, certain cancers, functional disability	[60, 65–67]
Fibrinogen	Protein produced by the liver that aids in formation of blood clots to stop bleeding	Blood	CVD, mortality, AD, MCI (γ chain)	[40, 60, 68, 69]
Albumin	Protein that transports small molecules into the blood and maintains oncotic pressure	Blood	Heart attack, stroke, functioning decline, mortality, cognitive impairment	[60, 65, 70, 71]
Tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF α)	Proinflammatory cytokine that stimulates immune and vascular responses	Blood, CSF	Obesity, diabetes, arthritis, stroke	[72–75]
Serum amyloid A (SAA)	Acute-phase protein; main function involves cholesterol transport and lipid metabolism	Blood	CAD, atherosclerosis, cancer, carotid intima medial thickness, depression, obesity	[76–81]
Cytomegalovirus (CMV)	Herpesvirus infectious agent that triggers the immune system	Blood	Dementia, retinal, and gastrointestinal disease	[82, 83]

(continues)

Biomarkers	Description	Measure	Related Outcomes	Source
Epstein-Barr virus (EBV)	B lymphotropic herpesvirus; marker of cell-mediated immune function	Blood, saliva	Cancer infectious mononucleosis	[84-86]
Γ cells	White blood cells that protect against pathogens and tumors	Blood	Cancer, mortality, artherosclerosis, AD	[87]
Biomarkers of the central ner	rvous system			
Amyloid β42	Major component of senile plaques	CSF	Inverse relation to neuropathological processes (AD); frontotemporal and vascular dementia	[88–91]
Fotal (t)-Tau	Major protein constituting neurofibrillary tangles	CSF	AD; Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease	[89, 92]
Phosphorylated (p)-Tau	Precedes formation of neurofibrillary tangles	CSF	AD, MI	[91, 93, 94]
F2-isoprostanes (F2-iso)	Isomer of prostaglandins stored in cells; stable, free radical-catalyzed products that reflect lipid peroxidation	CSF	AD, hypercholesterolemia, atherosclerotic plaque	[95–99]
Biomarkers of the HPA and	the sympathetic nervous system			
Cortisol	Steroid hormone that reflects body's response to physiological stress	Blood, saliva, urine	CVD, poor cognitive functioning, fractures, functional disability, mortality	[100–104]
Dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEA-S)	Antagonist of cortisol; steadily decreases with age	Blood, saliva, urine	Inverse relation to heart disease, mortality, physical, and mental functioning, AD	[105–111]

TABLE 1 (Continued)

Free insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1)	Growth factor that regulates cell growth and development; Inhibitor of programmed cell death	Fasting blood	Cancer; inverse relation to atherosclerotic plaques, CAD, osteoarthritis, mortality	[112–115]
Norepinehrine	Indicator of stress response	Blood, urine	CHF, MI, mortality	[116–118]
Epinephrine (adrenaline)	Stress hormone important to body's metabolism; prepares for strenuous activity of the "fight or flight" response	Blood, urine	Cognitive decline and possibly poor survival with prior MI	[119–121]
Biomarkers of organ function				
Creatinine	In clinical practice, an index of renal function	Blood, urine	Cardiovascular risk, renal diseases, mortality	[122–125]
Cystatin C (CysC)	Detects rapid glomerular filtration rate	Blood	Acute renal failure, diabetic nephropathy, thyroid dysfunction, mortality	[126–131]
Peak expiratory flow (PEF)	Measurement of airway obstruction	Spirometry exam	Asthma, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	[132, 133]
Electrocardiogram (EKG)	Measurement of electrical impulses in the heart	Physical exam	Cardiovascular risk, stroke, mortality	[134–136]
Biomarkers of oxidative stress				
Reactive oxidative species (ROS)	Involved in programmed cell death and apoptosis, induction of host defense, mobilization of ion transport systems	Blood	Parkinson's disease, DNA damage (cancer)	[137, 138]
Superoxide dismutase (SOD)	Important antioxidant defense in cells exposed to oxygen	Blood	Inverse relation to AD	[139]

CHD=Coronary heart disease; AD=Alzheimer's disease; MI=myocardial infarction; CAD=coronary artery disease; CVD=cardiovascular disease; MCI=mild cognitive impairment; PD=Parkinson's disease; CHF=congestive heart failure; CSF=cerebrospinal fluid.

169

stronger predictive power of SBP for coronary heart disease (CHD) and life expectancy at advanced ages [27, 141, 142]. Among the Framingham Heart Study participants, SBP was directly related to CHD risk, but DBP was inversely related to the risk in older ages (60+) [143].

Pulse pressure (PP) is an alternative measure indicating the difference between the SBP and DBP that some researchers prefer for use in studying the aged. The rise in SBP and PP in middle-aged and elderly subjects is mainly related to increased large-artery stiffness and an associated increase in wave reflection amplitude [144]. Increasing evidence shows that PP predicts risk of CHD in middle and old ages [19, 143, 145]. During middle age, SBP and DBP change similarly; however after age 60, DBP decreases and SBP continues to rise resulting in the large increase in PP in old ages [143]. While factors such as smoking, lack of physical activity, and drinking affect PP, studies have shown the independent effect of PP on health outcomes after adjusting for such risk factors [146].

Heart rate, considered one of the four vital signs, is based on the number of heartbeats per minute (bpm). In most cases, the pulse is an accurate measure of heart rate, and the two terms are often used synonymously; although in individuals with certain arrhythmias, heart rate and pulse rate may not be equivalent. *Pulse rate* is commonly measured from the brachial artery (the wrist) or the carotid artery (the neck).

Since pulse rate increases with physical exercise, it is commonly measured during resting, nonphysical exertion conditions. At rest, the average adult pulse rate is 70 bpm for males and 75 bpm for females; however, these rates may vary by age, sex, race and ethnicity, and exercise status. At birth, pulse rate ranges from 100 to 180 bpm and gradually decreases to range from 60 to 110 bpm until age 16 [21, 147]. Between ages 25–74, no consistent changes in pulse rate with age have been found [148]. Gender and racial differentials indicate that women have higher resting pulse rate than men and White women have higher pulse rates as a result of strengthened heart muscle from regular exercise [149].

A pulse rate of 90 bpm or greater is considered high [150] and is associated with increased risk of CHD, as well as cardiovascular, noncardiovascular, and all-cause mortality [21, 151]. Consequently, both medical (e.g., medication) and nonmedical modifications (e.g., life style modifications including increases in physical activity and lower fat diets) can reduce resting pulse rate, and, in turn, reduce the risk of cardiovascular disease and mortality [152–154].

All of the above markers are collected in a physical exam. There are many other biomarkers linked to cardiovascular risk that are determined in other ways. One of these is *homocysteine*, an amino acid measured from blood plasma. Homocysteine affects the development of atherosclerosis by

damaging the inner lining of arteries and promoting blood clots. For this reason, we are including it with other cardiovascular risk factors even though it differs from the others in that it is measured with blood. Homocysteine has garnered recent attention because of its importance in predicting many of the major health outcomes common in aging populations, including cardiovascular disease, peripheral vascular disease, and poorer cognitive function [22–25]. It is highly related to dietary content including folate and vitamins B_{12} and B_6 [155, 156]. In the early 1990s, approximately one-third of those older than 65 years had elevated homocysteine levels (>14 μ mol/liter) [157]; however, the prevalence has declined markedly since dietary fortification with folate began in 1996 [156, 158].

We indicate the interrelationships among the cardiovascular biomarkers for a nationally representative sample of persons aged 65 and over in the NHANES and for the MacArthur Sample of Successful Aging participants who were aged 70–79. Biomarkers are dichotomously defined using the level of each biomarker to classify sample members into those at a level defined as at clinical risk, or in the top quartile of the sample, or not. Clinical risk levels are shown in Table 2 [159–171] and the phi coefficients among cardiovascular markers in Table 3. A phi coefficient is a measure of the degree of association between two binary variables and is interpreted like a pearson correlation coefficient. The most significant coefficients are between SBP and DBP, which are moderately related with a coefficient of 0.19 (NHANES) and 0.34 (MacArthur), and between SBP and PP, which are relatively strongly related with a correlation of 0.48 (NHANES). With the exception of SBP, DBP, and PP, high risk levels of these biomarkers occur fairly independently of each other.

4.2. MARKERS OF METABOLIC PROCESSES

The next set of markers is indicators of metabolic processes, many of which are also related to cardiovascular outcomes. *Cholesterol* has several functions including keeping cell membranes intact and helping the synthesis of steroid hormone and bile acids. In recent years, components of total cholesterol are generally measured to determine risk for heart disease: *low-density lipoprotein* (LDL), *high-density lipoprotein* (HDL), and *very low density lipoprotein* (VLDL) [172]. In middle-aged populations, total cholesterol level has been shown to have a direct relation with CHD and all-cause mortality [26]. However, in older persons, the relationship between cholesterol and mortality has been found to be U- or J-shaped [27, 28]. Comorbidity may need to be considered in evaluating the risk implied by cholesterol levels among frail older persons [17, 173, 174].

Biomarkers	High risk cutpoints	Source
Biomarkers of cardiovascular	system	
Systolic blood pressure	\geq 140 mm Hg (N)	[159]
	\geq 148 mm Hg (M)	[160]
Diastolic blood pressure	\geq 90 mm Hg (N)	[159]
-	$\geq 83 \text{ mm Hg}(M)$	[160]
Pulse pressure	≥88 mm Hg (N)	NHANES III 1999–2002 fourth quartile ^a
Resting pulse rate	≥90 bpm (N)	[150]
Homocysteine	\geq 15 μ mol/liter (N)	[161, 162]
	\geq 13.38 μ mol/liter (M)	[163]
Biomarkers of metabolic proc	cesses	
Serum total cholesterol	≥240 mg/dl (N)	[164]
Serum HDL cholesterol	>40 mg/dl(N)	[164]
	\geq 37 mg/dl (M)	[160]
Total/HDL cholesterol	>5.92 (M)	[160]
Serum LDL cholesterol	\geq 160 mg/dl (N)	[164]
Serum triglycerides	$\geq 200 \text{ mg/dl}(N)$	[164]
Fasting blood glucose	>126 mg/dl(N)	[164]
Glycosylated hemoglobin	$\geq 6.4\%$ (N)	[164]
	\geq 7% (M)	[160]
Body mass index	\geq 30 kg/m ² (N)	[166]
2	$\geq 28.59 \text{ kg/m}^2 (M)$	[163]
Waist-to-hip ratio	>0.94 (M)	[160]
Serum leptin	\geq 17.2 µg/liter (N)	NHANES III (1988–1994), fourth quartile ^a
Biomarkers of inflammation		
C-reactive protein	\geq 3 mg/liter (N)	[167]
	\geq 3.19 mg/liter (M)	[160]
IL-6	>4.64 pg/ml(M)	[160]
Plasma fibrinogen	>400 mg/dl(N)	[168]
c	\geq 336 mg/dl (M)	[160]
Albumin	<3.8 g/dl (N)	[169]
	\leq 3.9 g/dl (M)	[160]
Biomarkers of HPA and SNS		
Urinary cortisol	\geq 25.69 µg/g creatinine (M)	[160]
DHEA-S	<350 ng/ml (M)	[160]
Norepinephrine	>48 ug/g creatinine (M)	[160]
Epinephrine	\geq 4.99 ug/g creatinine (M)	[160]
* *		[100]
Markers of organ functioning Creatinine clearance	F	[170]
Creatinine clearance	<30 ml/min (N)	[170]
Best peak flow	≤44.64 ml/min (M) <550 liter/min (males) (N) <400 liter/min (females) (N) ≤300 liter/min (M)	[160] NHANES III (1988–1994), fourth quartile ^a
Cystatin C	\geq 500 mer/mm (Nr) >1.55 mg/liter (N)	[160] [171]

 TABLE 2

 Clinical or Empirically Derived Cutoffs for Risk Factors

(N) NHANES; (M) MacArthur.

HDL = high-density lipoprotein; LDL = low-density lipoprotein; IL-6 = interleukin-6; DHEA-S = dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate.

^aIndividual data from NHANES III (1988–1994), using the highest quartile as at risk.

Phi Coeffi	CIENTS A	MONG HIGH	H RISK LEVELS OF	Cardiovascular Bion	MARKERS
(a) Ages $65+$ in the	NHANI	ES 1999–20	02 (<i>N</i> =1,884)		
	DBP	SBP	Pulse pressure	Resting pulse rate	Homocysteine
DBP		0.19***	-0.04 +	-0.01	-0.01
SBP			0.48***	-0.02	0.03
Pulse pressure				-0.03	0.05 +
Resting pulse rate					0.07*
Homocysteine					
(b) Ages 70–79 in th homocysteine)]	ne MacA	rthur Study	of Successful Agi	lng [N=654 (N=363 for state 1.0 for state	or correlations to
	DBP	SBP	Homocysteine		
DBP		0.34***	0.09		
SBP			-0.03		
Homocysteine					

TABLE 3	
COEFFICIENTS AMONG HIGH RISK LEVELS OF CARDIOVASCULAR	BIOMARKE

DBP = diastolic blood pressure; SBP = systolic blood pressure.

ъ

LDL is sometimes referred to as "bad" cholesterol because elevated levels of LDL correlate most directly with CHD [32]. Current guidelines indicate that a desirable level of LDL cholesterol is below 130 mg/dl; borderline high is from 130 to 159 mg/dl; high is between 160 and 189 mg/dl; and very high LDL-cholesterol is \geq 190 mg/dl. Recently, recommended target levels of cholesterol were adjusted to be lower for those with diabetes and other heart disease risk factors. Those who have established coronary disease and diabetes have a recommended target for an LDL cholesterol level less than 70 mg/dl [29]. Generally, a high level of LDL cholesterol has been shown to contribute to the development of coronary atherosclerosis and to increased risk of mortality and heart disease [175]; however, studies limited to older persons have shown inconsistent findings on the relationship between LDL and health outcomes [40, 173, 176–183].

Akin to LDL, levels of VLDL increase with age and are also commonly referred to as "bad" cholesterol [184]. While VLDL is not measured as frequently in population studies, it may be a better indicator of risk in older people. Among individuals aged 50 or older, VLDL was a better predictor of the development of coronary artery disease, while LDL cholesterol was more significant among people under age 50 [34].

High levels of HDL are protective for heart disease because HDL carries cholesterol away from the arteries and back to the liver, where it is passed from the body. Thus, HDL is called the "good" cholesterol and low levels are associated with higher risk. HDL cholesterol levels less than 40 mg/dl (although sometimes this level is sex specific) have been related to increased risk for heart disease [185–187].

While traditional lipid measures, such as total cholesterol and HDL, are often used independently to indicate lipid profiles and their relations to health outcomes, studies have shown that *total cholesterol/HDL ratio* can be used as a biomarker that is associated with other cardiovascular risk factors [188, 189] and predicts ischemic heart disease risk [190] and atherosclerotic plaque rupture [191].

Triglycerides, an indicator of stored fat, are often included among the lipid indicators as part of an evaluation of coronary risk factors. Normal fasting triglyceride levels are below 150 mg/dl; 150–199 mg/dl is considered border-line high, 200–499 mg/dl high, and 500 mg/dl and above very high [33]. High triglyceride levels have been associated with heart attack [192], CHD [36], and coronary artery disease [37].

Tests for total cholesterol, LDL, HDL, and triglycerides are routinely done in lipid panels. Accurate results for the entire lipid panel assume 9–12 hours of fasting; however, total and HDL cholesterol can be measured without fasting and thus are more likely to be included in assays from large population surveys without fasting subjects. Fasting is required for valid results for LDL, VLDL, and triglycerides.

Fasting blood glucose level is indicative of diabetes and prediabetes. Higher than normal blood glucose contributes to the development of metabolic syndrome and CHD [193, 194]. About 11.9 million adults in the United States aged 45–74 had prediabetes levels of glucose in the year 2000 and this included a quarter (22.6%) of overweight adults [195]. A normal blood glucose level is between 70 and 99 mg/dl. A fasting blood glucose level between 100 and 125 mg/dl signals prediabetes and a higher level indicates diabetes [196].

Because it can be collected in a nonfasting sample, many researchers are measuring *glycosylated hemoglobin* (HbA1c) as an alternative to fasting glucose for diabetes screening [197]. The percentage of glycosylated cells increases with more glucose in the blood and provides an indicator of the amount of sugar that is attached to the hemoglobin in red blood cells. Because red blood cells live in the bloodstream for approximately 4 months, the HbA1c test shows the average blood sugar for the past 2–3 months and is an indicator of glucose metabolism over that time. Results of this test can indicate prediabetes and are used in managing diabetes. HbA1c levels have been related to cardiovascular disease and mortality among both diabetics and nondiabetics [198] and to CRP levels [199]. Some studies show age-related increases in HbA1c [200, 201], while others show little or no age-related increase in HbA1c [202], possibly due to its relationship to mortality.

Anthropometric measures such as weight, body mass index (BMI), waist and hip circumference, and waist-to-hip ratio (WHR) can all be used to indicate weight and adiposity. BMI is calculated as the ratio of weight to height-squared (kg/m²). Overweight is defined as a BMI between 25 and 29.9 kg/m^2 and obesity as BMI > 30 kg/m² [160]. However, the validity of BMI as a measure of excess fat declines in older people because of height loss and increases in fat mass occurring with age even in the absence of weight gain. Some researchers prefer WHR and waist circumference (WC) to BMI as a predictor for cardiovascular risk [102] and other adiposity-related conditions. While BMI provides an index of obesity, WHR may be more useful as an index of chronic metabolic dysregulation and adipose tissue deposition [203]. Researchers have argued that it is not obesity per se but the distribution of the adipose tissue that is related to increased risk [204, 205]. Those with an apple body shape or a central distribution of fat tend to experience higher rates of atherosclerotic heart disease, stroke, hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetes than those with a pear body shape. According to the guidelines for defining metabolic syndrome [3], the use of a simple measure of WC instead of BMI is recommended to identify the body weight component of metabolic syndrome (men >40 in.; women >35 in.).

Those with higher values of BMI, waist and hip circumferences, and WHR tend to be at higher risk for hypertension, adult-onset diabetes mellitus, heart disease, stroke, various forms of cancer, atherosclerosis [44, 45, 47, 205–209], osteoarthritis [46], lower aerobic capacity and less muscle strength [210], and disability [211–215].

Leptin is a hormone that plays an important role in the long-term regulation of body weight. As a crucial regulator of food intake and energy balance, leptin is involved in the physiology of various diseases. In old age, declines in organ function and changes in hormone secretion result in the alteration of leptin secretion [216]. Although it is uncertain whether aging has an independent effect on leptin levels, it is known that some changes common in old age (e.g., declines in bone turnover and slower rates of glucose and lipid metabolism) are related to leptin levels. Studies have indicated that leptin may play an important role in several chronic diseases, including metabolic syndrome, atherosclerosis, malnutrition, diabetes mellitus, dyslipidemia, hypertension, osteoarthritis, and osteoporosis [54–57].

Examination of the interrelationships of risk levels among the metabolic markers available in the NHANES data indicates that total and LDL cholesterol are highly related (0.76) in the fasting population (Table 4a). Neither high risk levels of total or LDL cholesterol are very highly related to high risk levels of HDL cholesterol. HDL risk is moderately highly related to having high triglycerides (0.24), fasting blood glucose (0.15), and glycated hemoglobin (0.15). High-risk leptin levels are strongly related to high BMI (0.40). High BMI is moderately related to fasting blood glucose (0.12) and HbA1c (0.11), but not very closely related to any of the cholesterol indicators. The

TABLE 4 PHI COEFFICIENTS AMONG HIGH RISK LEVELS OF METABOLIC BIOMARKERS

(a) Ages 65+ in the NHAN	NES 1999–2002 (NHA	ANES III for	Leptin) (N=1,88	34 for nonfasting	g biomarkers, N=9	938 for fasting bio	markers; <i>l</i>	V=2741 for
nonfasting biomarkers, N=	=1172 for fasting bior	markers for 1	NHANES III)					
	Cholesterol	HDL	LDL^{a}	Triglycerides	Blood glucose ^a	Glycosylated hemoglobin	BMI	Leptin ^{a,b}
Cholesterol		-0.08***	0.76***	0.09*	0.02	0.06*	0.01	0.09*
HDL			-0.05	0.24***	0.15***	0.15***	0.06*	-0.10**
LDL^{a}				0.10*	-0.02	-0.04	0.00	0.04
Triglycerides ^a					0.20***	0.12***	0.10**	0.10*
Blood glucose ^{<i>a</i>}						0.67***	0.12***	0.04
Glycosylated hemoglobin							0.11***	-0.00
BMI								0.40***
Leptin ^{<i>a,b</i>}								
(b) Ages 70-79 in the Mac.	Arthur Study of Succ	essful Aging	(<i>N</i> =654)					
	Cholesterol/HDL	HDL	Glycosylated hemoglobin	BMI	Wasit/Hip			
Cholesterol/HDL		0.55***	0.09+	0.02	0.11*			
HDL			0.06	0.03	0.16***			
Glycosylated hemoglobin				0.13**	0.09+			
BMI					0.20***			
Waist/hip								

HDL = high-density lipoprotein; LDL = low-density lipoprotein; BMI = body mass index.

*** p < 0.0001, ** p < 0.001, *p < 0.001, +p < 0.05.

^{*a*} Fasting biomarkers: LDL, triglycerides, blood glucose, leptin. ^{*b*} Correlations to leptin are based on biomarkers from NHANES III.

relationships among indicators of metabolic risk for the MacArthur data are shown in Table 4b. Analyses of these data have included total/HDL cholesterol ratio and the WHR among metabolic indicators [160]. Again, most of the relationships among the indicators are modest.

4.3. MARKERS OF INFLAMMATION, IMMUNITY, AND INFECTION

Markers of Inflammation are the next category of markers. Age-related changes in inflammatory markers are complex and include a wide range of potential indicators. Here we focus on the markers most commonly used in aging research. *C-reactive protein* (CRP) is an acute phase response protein produced in the liver that indicates general systemic levels of inflammation. CRP levels rise as part of the immune response to infection and tissue damage or injury and may be elevated due to the presence of chronic conditions, like diabetes, asthma, rheumatoid arthritis, and heart disease [61, 217–221]. In an acute response, the level of CRP can jump a thousand-fold but then drops relatively quickly when an infection passes. A blood level above 10 mg/dl is considered indicative of acute illness, although recent work has shown this level to be related to chronic conditions such as obesity and poor social conditions (e.g., living in poverty) [222]. CRP levels are also related to hormone levels in women and are elevated with the use of oral contraceptives or postmenopausal hormone replacement therapy.

Research has suggested that high levels of CRP, between 3 and 10 mg/dl [223], are related to the development of cardiovascular disease [61, 221, 224, 225] and cardiac events, including heart attack [60] and stroke [61]. This level of CRP has also been related to mortality [64, 65] and physical decline [65]. In contrast to many clinical settings, researchers use what is called a high-sensitivity CRP test (hs-CRP) to determine moderate (1–3 mg/dl) as well as higher levels of CRP. Hs-CRP can be measured with whole blood samples or blood spots [226].

Interleukin-6 (IL-6) is one of a class of immune system regulators called cytokines that serve a variety of immune functions in response to acute illness or injury and is perhaps the most commonly measured cytokine in population surveys. As a pro-inflammatory cytokine, IL-6 is involved in activating inflammatory pathways. IL-6 is always present in the body in small amounts (<1-2 μ g/ml), and its concentration varies by time of day. However, in periods of immune activation, blood levels of IL-6 increase quickly, reaching as high as 40 times normal levels. IL-6 levels also rise with advancing age and are related to a variety of chronic conditions. The dysregulation of IL-6 may be a contributing factor to many of the diseases of aging.

Chronic conditions associated with high IL-6 include osteoporosis, arthritis, type-2 diabetes, certain cancers, and Alzheimer's disease (AD) [66, 67]. High levels of IL-6 are also related to cardiovascular disease, heart attack, and stroke [60, 227–232]. In the elderly, high IL-6 levels are related to an increased risk of functional disability and functional decline [65, 70, 233], cognitive decline [234], and mortality [64, 65]. The association of IL-6 with cardiovascular disease is related to the central role this cytokine plays in promoting the production of CRP [60, 235]. Blood serum sample is required for IL-6 assays.

While less commonly included in large-scale studies, several other inflammatory cytokines have been linked to age-related outcomes. For instance, IL-10 is a pro-inflammatory cytokine also important to inflammatory and immunological responses [236]. IL-6 soluble receptor (IL-6sR) is important in the transition from acute to chronic inflammatory states [237]. IL-1 β mainly stimulates T-helper cells that secrete IL-2, a cytokine that supports the proliferation of inflammatory cells [238] and influences the function of other cells by binding to IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra). IL-18, formerly called interferon (IFN)- γ inducing factor (IGIF), is closely related to IL-1. It induces IFN- γ produced in T cells, natural killer (NK) cells, gene expression, and the synthesis of *tumor necrosis factor*- α (TNF α) [239] (further described below). The cascade of inflammatory markers is highly interrelated and complex. Age-related increases in many of the cytokines have been noted [240], but further research on the associations of these individual markers is required before it is clear which can be included most usefully in population studies. But development of assays that can simultaneously measure a large number of inflammatory markers in dried blood spots is likely to increase markers measured in populations [241].

Fibrinogen, also called serum fibrinogen, plasma fibrinogen, and factor I, is a protein produced by the liver. Fibrinogen helps stop bleeding by promoting the formation of blood clots. Fibrinogen has been shown to be strongly predictive of both mortality [40] and the onset of cardiovascular disease [60, 227, 231, 242]. The relationship between socioeconomic status and fibrinogen levels has been suggested as a mechanism linking low social status and stress to cardiovascular disease [243–246]. Fibrinogen is measured using blood serum or plasma.

Albumin is a protein that transports small molecules in the blood and is important in maintaining oncotic pressure in the blood. Low albumin may be related to malnutrition or a low-protein diet and liver or kidney disease. Low albumin levels can also be related to inflammation. For this reason, albumin is sometimes included in indices of inflammation [247]. Low levels of albumin have been related to heart attack, stroke, functioning loss, and death among older persons [60, 65, 70, 227–233]. Data from the MacArthur study have related low levels of albumin to functional decline, death [65], and cognitive impairment [71]. Concomitant low serum cholesterol and albumin levels may

identify high-functioning older persons who are at increased risk of subsequent mortality and functional decline [248]. The test for albumin levels requires blood serum. In the MacArthur Study of Successful Aging analysis of allostatic load, low albumin has been included as a risk factor with a cutoff of 3.9 mg/dl or lower considered as high risk [160].

 $TNF\alpha$ is a pleotrophic polypeptide that plays an important role in inflammation and immune function. Expression of $TNF\alpha$ correlates with the expression of other cytokines, including IL-6 and IL-1. Mounting scientific evidence suggests that elevated blood plasma TNF α concentration is associated with dementia in centenarians [249] and is centrally involved in the pathogenesis of AD [250–255]. Additionally, high levels of TNF α are related to atherosclerosis [256], obesity and diabetes [72, 73], rheumatoid arthritis [74], and stroke [75].

Serum amyloid A (SAA), a grouping of acute-phase proteins, increases dramatically in response to injury and inflammation [257]. These proteins transport cholesterol to the liver for bile secretion, recruit immune cells to sites of inflammation, and induce enzymes to degrade extracellular matrix [76]. SAA is involved in chronic inflammatory diseases (e.g., atherosclerosis, coronary artery disease, and rheumatoid arthritis) [77-79, 258], and it is linked to lung cancer, depression, and obesity [78, 80, 81].

Interrelations among the inflammatory markers available in the NHANES and MacArthur studies are shown in Table 5a and b. High risk levels of fibrinogen and high risk CRP are relatively strongly related in both studies (0.33). High risk CRP and high risk IL-6 are also relatively strongly related (0.37) in the MacArthur study. There is a small relationship between high

Phi Coeffi	CIENTS AMON	TABLE 5 IG HIGH RISK LEVELS O	F Markers of Inflam	MATION
(a) Ages 65+ in the N	NHANES 19	99–2002 (<i>N</i> =1,884)		
	CRP	Fibrinogen	Albumin	
CRP		0.33***	0.11***	
Fibrinogen			0.09***	
Albumin				
(b) Ages 70–79 in the	MacArthur	Study of Successful Ag	ging (<i>N</i> =654)	
	CRP	IL-6	Fibrinogen	Albumin
CRP		0.37***	0.33***	0.06
IL-6			0.19***	-0.01
Fibrinogen				0.04
Albumin				

	TABLE 5	
Phi Coefficients Among	HIGH RISK LEVELS OF M	ARKERS OF INFLAMMATION

CRP = C-reactive protein; IL-6 = interleukin-6.

p < 0.0001, p < 0.001, p < 0.001, p < 0.01, p < 0.05.

risk albumin and high risk CRP (0.11), between high risk albumin and high risk fibrinogen (.09) in NHANES, but not in MacArthur study.

The next set of markers is indicative of the functioning of the immune system.

Cytomegalovirus (CMV) is a herpesvirus that infects most people relatively early in life. The prevalence of CMV infection within the US population increases with age reaching 91% in people ages 80 and over [259–261]. It has been suggested that CMV is a "driving force" behind age-related changes in T cells [262–266]. The proposed CMV-driven pathway occurs through an increase in CMV-specific CD8+ T cells that, in turn, lead to a reduction in the immune system's ability to respond to other infectious pathogens. CMV seropositivity and high antibody levels have been associated with inflammation, cardiovascular disease, stroke, endothelial dysfunction, frailty, and cognitive decline [267–271].

Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) is another common herpesvirus that affects most people during their life. The prevalence of EBV is as high as 95% among adults between ages 35 and 40 in the United States. EBV antibody level is used by some researchers as a marker of cell-mediated immunity [272–278]. The pattern of significantly higher EBV levels at older ages is suggestive of some loss of cellular immunity in older age [272].

T-helper cells, also known as CD4 or T4 cells, are white blood cells that are a major component of the immune system. CD4 count assesses the status of the immune system. A normal CD4 count in adults ranges from 500 to 1350 cells per cubic millimeter (mm³) of blood. A count of 250–350 CD4 cells/mm³ suggests some immune system damage and less than 200 CD4 cells/mm³ is often indicative of more serious immune system damage [279].

In addition to its value as an indicator of a compromised immune system, the CD4 count has been used in the measurement of age-related changes in the immune system [280–282]. The CD8 count has also been associated with age-related conditions. High circulating levels of CD8 T cells have been associated with chronic infections, including EBV and CMV [283]. CD8+T cells respond to chronic systemic intracellular pathogens whereas CD4+ T cells respond to specific extracellular pathogens. A constant CD4:CD8 ratio indicates healthy aging, while a decline in this ratio can indicate increased immunological risk in the elderly [284].

4.4. MARKERS OF THE CENTRAL NERVOUS SYSTEM

Many potentially useful biomarkers are obtained via obtrusive or invasive measures and are not currently collected in large population studies. For instance, several potential markers for AD from cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) have been proposed but are not collected. *Amyloid* β 42 is a major component

of senile plaques and is a suggested marker of neuropathological processes related to AD [88, 89]. *Total* (*t*)-*tau* is a major protein that comprises *neurofibrillary tangles*, and *phosphorylated* (*p*)-*tau* precedes formation of neurofibrillary tangles. High CSF levels of both t-tau and p-tau are associated with an increased risk of AD [89–91]. Additionally, *F2-isoprostanes* (F2-iso) are prostaglandins that reflect lipid peroxidation. F2-iso are associated with AD, hypercholesterolemia, and atherosclerotic plaque [95–99]. Although several studies have used or are currently using these indicators as markers of AD, collection of CSF is not feasible for large population studies.

4.5. MARKERS OF ACTIVITY IN THE HYPOTHALAMIC PITUITARY AXIS

Cortisol is a steroid hormone produced by the adrenal cortex in response to internal or external stress [289]. Consistently high cortisol reactivity to repeated challenges is an atypical response that may reflect chronic physiological stress [285] and is associated with negative health outcomes in old age [286]. Cortisol and its antagonist, dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEA-S) (described below in more detail), are indicators of HPA activity. Cortisol has a strong diurnal variation, generally high early in the morning and falling during the day [287]. Cortisol typically increases over the first few minutes of the day, reaching a peak 20–30 min after waking.

Cortisol levels have been shown to be greater among individuals experiencing chronic stress from work or emotional strain [288]. Health consequences of exposure to elevated cortisol include increased cardiovascular risk [100], poorer cognitive functioning [101, 286], and increased risks for fractures [103].

Cortisol level can be assessed using blood, saliva, and urine. Urine is collected over a 12- or 24-hour period in order to represent a daily level [286]. Researchers are often interested in the profile of cortisol change over the day; including the rise in cortisol levels after waking in the morning. For this reason, salivary cortisol may be measured four or five times in the same day—upon waking, shortly afterward, in the afternoon, evening, and night [287]. Normal levels of cortisol levels range from 6 to 23 μ g/dl. Normal 24-hour urinary cortisol levels range from 10 to 100 μ g per 24 hours [288]. In the MacArthur study, the level used to define risk for urinary cortisol was $\geq 25.69 \ \mu$ g/g creatinine [160].

DHEA is a hormone produced by the adrenal gland. *DHEA-S* is synthesized from DHEA and converted into other hormones [290]. Assays measure DHEA-S instead of DHEA because DHEA-S is less rapidly cleared from the bloodstream and has less diurnal variation [290–293]. DHEA-S has been hypothesized to serve as a functional antagonist to HPA activity and thus is an important indicator of overall activity in the HPA [294–302]. The level of DHEA is age related. Production of DHEA stops at birth, then resumes around age 7 and peaks when people are in their mid-twenties. From the early thirties on, there is a steady decline (about 2% each year) until around age 75, when the level of DHEA in the body is about 5% of the peak level. Because DHEA-S is related to age and longevity [296–302], it has attracted attention for possible "antiaging" effects [303–305]. Normal values for serum DHEA-S vary with sex as well as age. Normal ranges are 800–5600 μ g/liter for men, 350–4300 μ g/liter for women; although there may be slight variation in these levels across laboratories. DHEA assays can be based on blood, saliva, or urine samples.

While there are mixed results by gender [306], the literature generally documents a link between low DHEA-S and poor health outcomes. Lower DHEA-S is related to a history of heart disease and mortality [105–108]. DHEA-S is hypothesized to be protective against heart disease because of its anticlotting and antiproliferative properties [106, 307]. Low DHEA-S has also been related to worse physical and mental functioning [109, 110, 308]. Low DHEA-S has been included as one component of allostatic load [102, 309]. In addition, studies have found that DHEA-S is a marker for bone turnover predicting bone mineral density [310], and low levels have been linked to AD [111, 295].

Insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) is a polypeptide protein hormone that modulates cell growth and survival. Throughout the lifespan, IGF-1 impacts neuronal structure and function, mainly through its effects on growth hormone (GH) [311]. A meta-analysis indicated that high IGF-1 concentrations are associated with increased risk of prostate cancer and premenopausal breast cancer [112]. Conversely, low IGF-1 levels have been linked to increased mortality [114, 312, 313], coronary artery disease [113], and osteo-arthritis [114]; however, a recent study on the nationally representative NHANES sample showed no relationship between low IGF-1 and all-cause mortality or mortality from heart disease or cancer [314].

4.6. MARKERS OF THE SYMPATHETIC NERVOUS SYSTEM

Norepinephrine is a neurotransmitter in the catecholamine family, which mediates chemical communication in the SNS. Norepinephrine is almost identical in structure to epinephrine, another catecholamine discussed below. Both of these are indicators of a stress response. With advancing age, there is decreased clearance of norepinephrine [118] and normal aging is associated with an increase in plasma norepinephrine levels [315–317]. High plasma norepinephrine levels have been associated with increased overall mortality in the elderly [29] as well as reduced survival in healthy older

persons, in patients with congestive heart failure [116], and in people with previous myocardial infarction (MI) [117]. Higher levels of urinary catecholamine excretion have also been shown to predict functional disability and mortality [104].

Norepinephrine is excreted in urine and 12-hour or 24-hour urine collections are used for daily levels because levels vary over the day. To adjust for body size, results for norepinephrine are reported as micrograms norepinephrine per gram creatinine of urine excretion [104, 120]. There are no normative values for urinary norepinephrine and epinephrine levels so adverse catecholamine levels have been classified as those in the top tertile or top quartile of norepinephrine for a sample. In the MacArthur study, the risk level cutoff was 48.00 μ g/g creatinine. A blood plasma test is also available although used more rarely.

Epinephrine is another stress hormone, also known as adrenaline. Heightened secretion caused by fear or anger is part of the "fight or flight" response and is linked to increased heart rate and the hydrolysis of glycogen to glucose. Increases over time in urinary excretion of epinephrine predict subsequent cognitive decline in older men [120]. High plasma epinephrine has been associated with poor survival in patients with previous MI [121] but increased survival among healthy older persons [119]. Urinary epinephrine excretion is significantly lower among women and among subjects with a BMI >27 kg/m². Current smokers have higher levels of both urinary norepinephrine and epinephrine [104].

Measurement of epinephrine is similar to that of norepinephrine: usually in urine from 12-hour or 24-hour urine collections, adjusted for body size by reporting epinephrine per gram creatinine of urine excretion [104, 120]. Like norepinephrine, there are also no normative values for urinary epinephrine levels, and they are generally classified using quartiles or tertiles for

	MACH RETICK BIODT OF BOCCESSI OF AGING (17-054)			
	Cortisol	DHEA-S	Norepinephrine	Epinephrine
Cortisol DHEA-S Norepinephrine Epinephrine		0.08+	0.01 0.09+	0.11* 0.06 0.27***

TABLE 6

Phi Coefficients Among High Risk Levels of Markers of SNS and HPA Ages 70–79 in the MacArthur Study of Successful Aging (N=654)

DHEA-S = dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate.

p < 0.0001, p < 0.001, p < 0.001, p < 0.01, p < 0.05.

individual samples. The MacArthur study used a cutoff of greater than 4.99 $\mu g/g$ creatinine to denote high risk epinephrine. Epinephrine may also be determined from blood plasma assay although this is used more rarely than urinary assays. Like urinary levels, plasma levels of catecholamines may be influenced by a variety of postural, diurnal, and acute stress-related factors [318].

The MacArthur data have four biomarkers indicating SNS and HPA activity (Table 6). Epinephrine is related to norepinephrine with a coefficient of 0.27, and the correlations among other markers are weak or insignificant.

4.7. MARKERS OF ORGAN FUNCTION

Creatinine is a chemical waste molecule generated from muscle metabolism. It is transported through the bloodstream, filtered in the kidneys, and excreted in the urine. It provides information on kidney function. Normal levels of creatinine in the blood are <1.5 mg/dl in adult men and <1.4 mg/dl in adult women [319]. Although serum creatinine levels are a fairly good indicator of kidney function, multiple factors including age, sex, and ethnicity [320] affect its concentration so the use of a single set cutpoint may not be an appropriate way of defining adverse serum creatinine levels.

Creatinine can be measured via serum or urine. Serum creatinine exhibits significant individual differences [321]; while urinary creatinine and creatinine clearance show fewer individual differences and may provide a more reliable means of determining kidney function. Equations using serum creatinine to predict creatinine clearance include additional factors (e.g., age and body weight) in their prediction [322]. Reduced glomerular filtration rate (GFR), measured from serum creatinine, is associated with increased risk of cardiovascular disease and death [323]. Studies have shown that creatinine clearance predicts stroke and cardiovascular mortality [324].

Cystatin C is a cysteine protease inhibitor that is filtered out of the blood by the kidneys. As another marker of GFR, serum cystatin C is a measure of normal kidney function. Compared to serum creatinine levels (the primary clinical tool used for measuring renal function), cystatin C levels are independent of age, sex, and lean muscle mass. Hence, this is a promising biomarker for population studies. Additionally, multiple studies have indicated that cystatin C may be a more sensitive marker of kidney function than serum creatinine [131]. Cystatin C predicts all-cause and cardiovascular mortality [129, 325, 326], risk of cardiovascular disease [327], MI [328], stroke [328], and chronic kidney disease [329]. The correlation between high risk creatinine clearance and high risk cystatin C among people 65 years of age and over in NHANES III is 0.34 (Table 7a).

(a) Ages 65+ in the NHA		Deals flam	Constantin C
	Creatinine clearance	Peak flow	Cystatin C
Creatinine clearance		0.07**	0.34***
Peak flow			0.06**
Cystatin C			
(b) Ages 70–79 in the Mac	Arthur Study of Successful Agin	ng (<i>N</i> =654)	
	Creatinine clearance	Peak flow	
Creatinine clearance		0.11*	
Peak flow			

TABLE 7
PHI COEFFICIENTS AMONG HIGH RISK LEVELS OF MARKERS OF ORGAN FAILURE

****p < 0.0001, ** p < 0.001, * p < 0.01, *p < 0.01, *p < 0.05.

The *peak flow rate* provides an indicator of the functioning of the respiratory system. Peak expiratory flow (PEF) monitoring has been used as an objective measure of airflow obstruction. The normal range of PEF is 500–700 liter/min for men and 380–500 liter/min for women [330] but what is regarded as normal varies with differences in height and weight [331]. Studies have shown that PEF is related to mortality [332] and physical and cognitive functioning [333]. The correlation between peak flow and creatinine clearance in the MacArthur study is moderate (0.11, Table 7b).

An *electrocardiogram* (EKG or ECG) measures electrical impulses in the heart [134–136] and records as a graphic produced by an electrocardiograph. EKG results provide important diagnostic information on cardiac arrhythmias [334], MI [335], electrolyte disturbances [336], and ischemic heart disease [334]. A standard 12-lead resting EKG is often coded using Minnesota coding criteria [336]. The results are used to indicate probable and possible MI, and probable and possible left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH). A study based on national data showed that the age-adjusted prevalence rate of EKG-defined MI was 6.7% for those ages 40 and over which is somewhat higher than the prevalence of self-reported MI (5.8%). The prevalence was more than four times higher among those ages 65 and over compared to ages 40–64 [337].

4.8. MARKERS OF OXIDATIVE STRESS AND ANTIOXIDANTS

Oxidative stress and antioxidants are an example of a class of markers that seem to be theoretically important determinants of the aging process but are as yet not measured in such a way that they can be collected from large populations. High levels of reactive oxidative species (ROS), enzymes important in cell signaling, have been shown to cause significant damage to cell structures. It has been suggested that ROS play an important role in the onset of age-associated loss in muscle mass (sarcopenia) [338], changes in the central nervous system, hearing loss [339], Parkinson's disease [340, 341], and AD [342–344]. In contrast, intrinsic [e.g., superoxide dismutase (SOD) and glutathione peroxidase] and extrinsic antioxidants (e.g., vitamins A, B, C, and E) affect aging and disease by combating oxidative stress [345]. Studies suggest that SOD may function as a tumor suppressor [346–348] while carotenoids may have preventive effects against both cardiovascular disease and cancer [349–352].

4.9. GENETIC MARKERS

Genetic markers are another category of markers that are only beginning to be employed in population studies. The growth in ability to use these markers not only as additional independent indicators of risk but also as modifiers of risk for people with other behavioral, biological, or genetic characteristics will broaden the whole approach to including biomarkers in the analysis of population health outcomes. Only a small number of genetic indicators have been used broadly in population studies to date, and the results for many of the indicators have not been as clear-cut as expected given the animal literature, which led to their selection as candidates for genes influencing human health and longevity [353]. While we cannot review all of these markers, we will highlight promising results; this is just a brief mention of the genetic markers that are likely to be commonly determined in population surveys within the next decade.

The most commonly examined genetic indicator, and the one with the most evidence of a link to health outcomes, is *apolipoprotein E* (APOE), which has been used in analysis of a variety of health outcomes in many populations. There are three alleles of the APOE gene: e2, e3, and e4. Studies have shown high risks for late-onset AD among those with the APOE4 gene [354-359]. The APOE4 gene is also known to be associated with cardio-vascular diseases such as heart attack, stroke, and coronary artery disease [360, 361].

Polymorphisms for the gene coding for *angiotensin-converting enzyme* (ACE) have also been examined in a number of population surveys. Polymorphisms in ACE have been shown to be relatively strongly related to circulating ACE and may be involved in cardiovascular and renal diseases [362], AD [363, 364], and human longevity [365, 366]; but not all investigations of the role of ACE have produced positive results [367, 368].

The number of candidate genes identified and investigated in large population surveys is likely to increase exponentially in a short time. For instance, the HTR2A genotype has also been associated with memory change and is likely to be included along with APOE as risk factors for cognitive loss [369]. A set of inflammatory polymorphisms related to IL-6 and CRP has been related to circulating levels of these markers, and while there are conflicting results as to how these relate to long-term health outcomes, they are likely to be increasingly included along with blood levels of these markers in future analyses [370, 371].

Mutations in mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA) accumulate with age and are among the genetic factors that may eventually be shown to be associated with longevity [353, 372]. A study of Italian populations indicated that mtDNA inherited variability may be involved in longevity and healthy aging [373]. Another Italian study found a specific link between longevity and the C150T mutation in leukocytic mtDNA [374]. Additionally, a Japanese study found that three mtDNA mutations were more prevalent among centenarians compared to noncentenarian controls [375].

Telomere length is another genetic indicator that is currently under investigation as either an indicator of the risk of aging or as a biological marker of the aging process *per se*. Although findings have consistently related decreased telomere length to increased age [376], investigations of the link between telomere length and remaining longevity have not produced consistent results [377, 378].

Identifying biomarkers for cancer is a rapidly growing scientific undertaking partly being fueled by genomic developments. Markers of DNA damage and repair provide hope for identification of markers that are related to risk for a wide variety of cancers [379, 380]. Work in other areas shows promise that serum autoantibodies that indicate chronic inflammatory, pro-oxidant conditions can serve as bioindicators of the risk of cancer development [381, 382].

5. Biomarkers and Mortality

The link between high risk levels of each biomarker and mortality indicates the relative potential of each marker individually to explain the likelihood of dying in older populations and to provide evidence of how this association varies across markers. Logistic regressions were used to estimate these relationships in the MacArthur study and hazard models in the NHANES analysis. The two cohorts are persons over age 40 from the NHANES III sample and the cohort ages 70–79 from the MacArthur Study of Successful Aging. Deaths in the MacArthur sample occurred in the 7.5 years after

	MacArthur: Age 70–79 7.5 years mortality (<i>N</i> =657)	NHANES III: Age 40+ Mortality from interview to 2000 (<i>N</i> =7,417)				
	Odds ratios for mortality					
Systolic blood pressure	1.37	1.16*				
Diastolic blood pressure	1.40	1.01				
Pulse rate at 60 s	_	1.26*				
Total cholesterol (total	0.87	0.98				
cholesterol/HDL in MacArthur)	1.01	1.00				
HDL cholesterol	1.31	1.06				
Glycosylated hemoglobin	1.34	1.31*				
Body mass index (waist/hip ratio in MacArthur)	1.27	0.90				
C-reactive protein	1.67*	1.00				
IL-6	1.41	_				
Fibrinogen	1.28	1.29*				
Albumin	0.86	1.07				
Cortisol	1.14	_				
DHEA-S	1.39	_				
Norepinephrine	1.49	_				
Epinephrine	1.38*	_				
Creatinine clearance	2.22	1.31*				
Peak flow	2.18*	1.40*				

TABLE 8 Link Between Presence of Risk Levels of Individual Biomarkers and Subsequent Mortality a

Source: MacArthur, Seeman et al., 2004 [163], calculated using logistic models. NHANES calculated from data using hazard models.

HDL = high-density lipoprotein; LDL = low-density lipoprotein; IL-6 = interleukin-6; DHEA-S = dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate.

**p* <0.01.

^{*a*}Age, gender, and education controlled.

interview and up to 12 years after interview in the NHANES group. Odds ratios resulting from these regressions are shown in Table 8. The odds ratios indicate the relative likelihood associated with dying in years subsequent to the two surveys for each high risk biomarker. When the odds ratio is greater than 1, the likelihood of dying for those with the risk factor is higher than for those without the risk factor; when it is less than 1, the relative likelihood is lower for those with the risk factor.

A number of high risk levels of the biomarkers including SBP, pulse, HbA1c, fibrinogen, creatinine clearance, and peak flow are significantly related to mortality in the NHANES sample of middle-aged and older adults. The largest odds ratios are from biomarkers indicating organ functioning such as creatinine clearance (OR=1.31) and peak flow (OR=1.40). In the MacArthur sample, which includes only older people, the only indicators linked to mortality were high risk peak flow (OR=2.18), CRP (OR=1.67), and epinephrine (OR=1.38).

It is hard to compare the results of the two samples given that they differ in age, location, and different statistical models in the equations; however, the results suggest the potential of the importance of some biomarkers that are not currently used as clinical indicators such as epinephrine and markers of inflammation. This has also been true in an analysis of the links between multiple biomarkers and mortality in Taiwan [383]. In addition, the results suggest that the importance of individual biomarkers in predicting health outcomes may be related to age, with many biomarkers potentially more important in predicting mortality at younger ages.

6. Interrelationships Among Biomarkers and Summary Measures of Biological Risk

In earlier sections, we showed the interrelationships among variables in each category. We now indicate the interrelationships among the cardiovascular, metabolic, inflammatory, HPA activity and SNS activity, and organ failure indicators for both the NHANES and the MacArthur samples in Table 9. If dysregulation in one marker or system is associated with dysregulation in multiple systems, the matrix should indicate high correlations. However, there are only a few moderate relationships among the high risk levels of these biomarkers in both samples. In the NHANES sample, the highest relationships are between CRP and BMI and leptin indicating the interaction of metabolic processes and inflammatory processes; strong correlations between creatinine clearance and cystatin C and a number of markers indicate the link between kidney functioning and a number of other processes. In the MacArthur sample, some of the strongest relationships are also between the markers of inflammation and the metabolic indicators.

Development of summary measures that incorporate multiple biological risk factors has been pursued in order to more effectively combine the information from multiple markers and also because of the observation that "many individuals are exposed to several risk factors and small increases in multiple risk factors can lead to a substantial increase in overall risk, even if no single factor exceeds its clinically accepted threshold" [7] (p. 95). Some of these summary measures focus on only a few physiological systems and others include more systems; some measures are more closely linked to

 TABLE 9

 Phi Coefficients Indicating Relationships Among High Risk Levels of Biomarkers

$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$										
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$										
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$										
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$										
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$										
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$										
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$										
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$										
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$										
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$										
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$										
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$										
LEP ^{<i>a,b</i>} CRP FG										
CRP0.030.07**0.13***FG0.04+0.04+0.12***										
FG $0.04+$ $0.04+$ $0.12***$										
AL 0.08*** 0.07** 0.05*										
(b) Ages 70–79 in the MacArthur Study of Successful Aging (N =654, N =363 for homocysteine)										
Tot/HDL HDL GHb BMI Wasit/Hip CRP IL6 FG AL COR DHEAS NE EPI CrCl PF										
$DBP -0.00 0.07 -0.00 0.08 + \ 0.06 \qquad -0.01 0.09 + \ -0.02 -0.03 0.01 \qquad 0.02 \qquad 0.06 \qquad -0.03 -0.02 -0.01 \qquad 0.06 -0.03 -0.02 -0.01 0.06 -0.03 -0.02 -0.01 0.06 -0.03 -0.02 -0.01 0.06 -0.03 -0.02 -0.01 0.06 -0.03 -0.02 -0.01 0.06 -0.03 -0.02 -0.01 0.06 -0.03 -0.02 -0.01 0.06 -0.03 -0.02 -0.01 0.06 -0.03 -0.02 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 -0.01 0.06 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 -0.01 $										
SBP 0.05 -0.01 0.03 0.09+ 0.09 0.06 0.11* 0.04 0.00 -0.01 -0.09+ 0.04 0.01 0.06 0.01										
$ HC \qquad 0.06 \qquad 0.17^* -0.01 0.00 0.09 \qquad 0.05 \qquad 0.15^* 0.02 \qquad 0.06 \qquad -0.14^* -0.06 -0.05 -0.09 0.01 \qquad 0.04 \qquad 0.04$										
$Tot/HDL 0.09+ 0.03 0.18^{***} - 0.15^{**} - 0.03 - 0.06 - 0.06 - 0.07 - 0.00 - 0.07$										
HDL $0.09+ 0.03 0.10^{*} -0.02 -0.07 -0.03 -0.07 -0.10+ -0.07 -0.15^{**}$										
GHb $0.17^{***} \ 0.10^+ \ 0.10^* \ -0.02 \ -0.13^{**} \ -0.02 \ -0.10^+ \ -0.05 \ -0.07 \ -0.02$										
BMI 0.13** 0.09+ 0.09+ 0.01 -0.03 -0.01 -0.01 -0.07 -0.01 -0.00										
Waist/Hip 0.06 0.07 0.02 -0.05 -0.02 -0.07 -0.06 -0.12* -0.11* -0.06										
CRP 0.01 -0.03 0.02 -0.01 0.02 0.13**										

IL-6	-0.04	0.02	0.07	-0.03	0.00	0.06
FG	-0.07	-0.08	-0.06	-0.00	-0.06	0.04
AL	-0.04	0.07	-0.03	0.02	0.02	0.07
COR					0.09 +	-0.00
DHEA-S					0.02	0.05
NE					0.06	0.13**
EPI					0.27***	0.10 +

Ns for analysis: NHANES 1999–2002 nonfasting biomarkers (N=1,884), fasting biomarkers (N=938); NHANES III nonfasting biomarkers (N=2,741), fasting biomarkers (N=1,172); NHANES III homocysteine nonfasting biomarkers (N=1,407), fasting biomarkers (N=571).

*** p < 0.0001, ** p < 0.001, * p < 0.001, + p < 0.05.

DBP=diastolic blood pressure; SBP=systolic blood pressure; PP=pulse pressure; PR=resting pulse rate; HC=homocysteine; TC=total cholesterol; Tot/ HDL=total cholesterol/HDL; HDL=high density lipoprotein; LDL=low-density lipoprotein; TG=Triglycerides; GL=blood glucose; HbA1c=glycosylated hemoglobin; BMI=body mass index; LEP=leptin; waist/hip=wasit-to-hip ratio; CRP=C-reactive protein; IL-6=interleukin-6; FG=fibrinogen; AL=albumin; COR=cortisol; DHEA-S=dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate; NE=norepinephrine; EPI=epinephrine; CrCl=creatinine clearance; PF=peak flow; CysC=cystatin C.

^aFasting biomarkers: LDL, triglycerides, blood glucose, leptin.

^bCorrelations based on biomarkers from NHANES III.

specific health outcomes like cardiovascular disease while others propose to explain a variety of health outcomes.

The *Framingham risk score* is a widely used index of risk for CHD [33, 384– 389]. The Framingham score assigns points to different major cardiovascular risk factors including blood pressure, total cholesterol, LDL cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, and fasting blood glucose. It also includes risk related to age, gender, and smoking. For those without cardiovascular disease, the probability of CHD onset within a certain period of time is estimated. The Framingham risk score is widely used in clinical settings based on its proven ability to predict cardiovascular disease and CHD especially for women [390]. The Framingham risk score has been also shown to predict absolute risk accurately for populations other than those in North America [391–394] although some recent studies have questioned its validity in other settings [390].

Metabolic syndrome is a group of major risk factors that characterize an insulin resistance syndrome or Syndrome X [33] (p. 2488), which has been related to increased risk for cardiovascular disease and mortality [395–397]. The metabolic syndrome score is a count (0–5) of the number of the following abnormalities: hypertension, glucose dysregulation, hypertriglyceridemia, low HDL, and central obesity—based on clinical cut points [33, 398, 399]. A person with three or more of these five abnormalities is considered to have metabolic syndrome.

Allostatic load is a summary measure that is based on theories about aging and the cumulative physiological responses to stressors [400]. This summary measure involves multiple systems that are part of the body's stress response but that may become dysregulated with chronic physical or mental stress and old age. Initially, allostatic load was measured in the MacArthur study based on 10 biological markers that represent physiological activity across the cardiovascular system, the metabolic system, the HPA and the SNS including SBP, DBP, WHR, ratio of total/HDL cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, HbA1c, cortisol, norepinephrine, epinephrine, and DHEA-S [102]. Allostatic load was measured as the number of markers out of 10 for which the subject scored in the upper 25% of the distribution. This measure has been shown to predict mortality and decline in physical and cognitive functioning [102, 309].

Subsequent analyses have included additional markers that represent renal functioning, lung capacity, inflammation and coagulation, and addition of these markers increased the explanatory power of the measure [160]. These analyses have also shown that allostatic load is a better predictor of health outcomes in the older MacArthur sample than the set of individual markers or the indices of the cardiovascular and metabolic markers [309].

Seeman and colleagues have explored several alternative approaches to measurement including allowing differential contribution of individual indicators through their entire range of values and different weights for different outcomes [160, 401, 402]. While these refined approaches indicate that differential weighting of the individual components of biological risk by the outcome of interest might be optimal, the original count index and the more complex approach do not differ significantly in their predictive ability [7].

7. Surveys with Biomarkers

Biomarkers are available in many large samples representative of national populations and communities, which allow examination of the diversity of biomarkers within the population and the large numbers needed for examination of longitudinal change. They are designed to examine the relationship of not only the risk associated with biological factors but also social and economic factors and the interaction among these risks. They do not expect to provide evidence of new biological relationships or risks for health outcomes but they could be used to identify important interactions between biological factors and health outcomes. These surveys generally include measurement of risk factors and physiological states known to be related to highly prevalent major health outcomes. We describe a selection of these studies below. In each case, we give some idea of the biomarkers available but in many cases we are not exhaustive in our listing. Also, because many of the studies have stored samples, biomarkers are added regularly from new assays.

Our analyses have used biomarker information from the NHANES, which include interviews, clinical exams, and extensive laboratory analysis which results in the most extensive set of biomarkers for a large population. These studies are undertaken by the National Center for Health Statistics, and exams and biological specimens are collected by medical staff working in mobile exam units in trucks that move across the country. NHANES, with the exception of the first study, is cross-sectional except for passive follow-up of administrative death records and Medicare records. The available biomarkers are too extensive to be mentioned individually but in addition to those mentioned above other indicators include hematology antibody tests, hormones, toxicology, and assessments of anemia and sexually transmitted diseases (STDs). Exams include vision, audiometry, periodontal assessments, cardiovascular fitness, physical functioning, balance, cognition, and reaction.

The MacArthur Study of Successful Aging was the first large-scale study to collect information on a significant number of biomarkers in the home rather than in a medical setting [403]. This survey was of people aged 70–79 in three

communities and biomarkers were collected at multiple time points. A phlebotomist collected blood samples and interviewers collected overnight urine collections. Many of the measures available from this study have been indicated above. Some were from assays done at the time of collection and others from stored samples (e.g., antioxidants, homocysteine, folic acid, CRP, fibrinogen, IL-6, and extraction of DNA). There are additional performance tests for balance, walking ability, strength, and cognitive functioning.

The number of large population and community studies including the collection of biomarker data has multiplied in recent years partly in response to the technological changes that have allowed interviewers or respondents rather than medical professionals to collect samples. These developments include the use of dried blood spots [404], and buccal swabs and salivary assays for DNA. The Health and Retirement Survey is a nationally representative longitudinal study of the US population over age 50. It has been ongoing since 1992 and added the collection of biomarkers and performance measures in 2006 [405]. This study collects blood samples using the dried blood spot, which have been assayed for HbA1c, total cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, and CRP. DNA has been extracted from saliva. Participants also completed several performance tests for strength, balance, and lung function.

National samples from other countries have also introduced these approaches to collecting information on biomarkers. The Taiwan Biomarker Project has collected a set of biomarkers [406], as has the English Longitudinal Study of Aging [407]. The Mexican Family Life Survey and the Indonesian Family Life Survey are both collecting blood using dried blood spots [408]. Additionally, the Mexican Family Life Survey is collecting information on anemia at the time of the survey using a hemocue meter.

8. Future of Biomarkers in Studying Aging Populations

The increase in the number of population and community studies including the collection of biomarker data has resulted from theoretical imperatives, scientific advances, and improvements in collection opportunities. The theoretical demands require a fuller explanation of how the aging process proceeds. The scientific advances have dramatically increased our knowledge of the multiple biological pathways affecting the aging process. The collection opportunities have increased with the development of less invasive measurement offered by salivary and dried blood spot assays. The future is likely to see further expansion of biomarker collection using saliva not only for DNA but also for RNA and certainly an increase in markers based on scanning. Many samples for well-characterized populations are available now for further genetic analysis; development of inexpensive genotyping techniques will result in an expansion of genetic biomarkers. The developments in metabonomics, analysis of metabolic profiles, and proteomics will lead to the inclusion of many new classes of biomarkers.

Multiple biomarker measurements that are more indicative of the physiological response to challenge are likely to be included in population surveys in the future. Monitoring through telephone or small electronic device (e.g., paging devices, palmtop computers, and programmable wristwatches) will be increasingly used to collect and stimulate responses.

Finally, further methodological developments will be required to analytically integrate the increasingly complex indicators that will be collected. The number of biomarker indicators and the interrelationships among them demand new analytic approaches.

Acknowledgement

This work was partially supported in the U.S. by the National Institute on Aging Grants P30 AG17265 and T32AG0037.

REFERENCES

- [1] Masoro EJ. Physiological system markers of aging. Exp Gerontol 1988; 23:391-397.
- [2] Alley DA. Biomakers of aging. In: Markides KS. editor. Encyclopedia of Health and Aging.Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, 2007: 77–80.
- [3] Butler RN, Sprott R, Warner H, Bland J, Feuers R, Forster M, et al. Biomarkers of aging: From primitive organisms to humans. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2004; 59:560–567.
- [4] Biomarkers Definitions Working Group. Biomarkers and surrogate endpoints: Preferred definitions and conceptual framework. Clin Pharmacol Ther 2001; 69:89–95.
- [5] National Heart Lung and Blood Institute. Shaping the future of research: A strategic plan for the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. http://apps.nhlbi.nih.gov/strategicplan/ StrategicPlan.pdf (Accessed August 20, 2007).
- [6] DeGrutolla VG, Clax P, DeMets DL, Downing GJ, Ellenberg SS, Friedman L, et al. Considerations in the evaluation of surrogate endpoints in clinical trials. Summary of a National Institutes of Health workshop. Control Clin Trials 2001; 22:485–502.
- [7] Crimmins EM, Seeman TE. Integrating biology into the study of health disparities. Popul Dev Rev 2004; 30:89–107.
- [8] Seeman TE, Crimmins EM. Social environment effects on health and aging: Integrating epidemiologic and demographic approaches and perspectives. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2001; 954:88–117.
- [9] The 2007 Chicago Biomeasures Workshop. Chicago Core Biomarkers. http://biomarkers. uchicago.edu/ChicagoBiomarkerWorkshop2007.html (Accessed July 30, 2007).
- [10] Verbrugge LM, Jette AM. The disablement process. Soc Sci Med 1994; 38:1-14.
- [11] Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, et al. Frailty in older adults: Evidence for a phenotype. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2001; 56:146–156.
- [12] Cohen HJ. In search of the underlying mechanisms of frailty. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2000; 55:706–708.

- [13] Morley JE, Perry HM, III, Miller DK. Editorial: Something about frailty. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2002; 57:698–704.
- [14] National Research Council. Cells and Surveys: Should Biological Measures Be Included in Social Science Research? Washington, DC: National Academy Press, 2001.
- [15] Kennard C. Blood pressure explained. http://alzheimers.about.com/od/treatmentoptions/ a/blood pressure.htm?terms=blood+pressure (Accessed July 30, 2007).
- [16] MacMahon S, Peto R, Cutler J, Collins R, Sorlie P, Neaton J, et al. Blood pressure, stroke, and coronary heart disease. Part 1, Prolonged differences in blood pressure: Prospective observational studies corrected for the regression dilution bias. Lancet 1990; 335:765–774.
- [17] Glynn RJ, Field TS, Rosner B, Herbert PR, Taylor JO, Hennekens CH. Evidence for a positive linear relation between blood pressure and mortality in elderly people. Lancet 1995; 345:825–829.
- [18] Domanski MJ, Davis BR, Pfeffer MA, Kastantin M, Mitchell GF. Isolated systolic hypertension: Prognostic information provided by pulse pressure. Hypertension 1999; 34:375–380.
- [19] Mitchell GF, Moyé LA, Braunwald E, Rouleau JL, Berstein V, Geltman EM, et al. Sphygmomanometrically determined pulse pressure is a powerful independent predictor of recurrent events after myocardial infarction in patients with impaired left ventricular function. SAVE investigators. Survival and ventricular enlargement. Circulation 1997; 96:4254–4260.
- [20] Chae CU, Pfeffer MA, Glynn RJ, Mitchell GF, Taylor JO, Hennekens CH. Increased pulse pressure and risk of heart failure in the elderly. JAMA 1999; 281:634–639.
- [21] Gillum RF, Makuc DM, Feldman JJ. Pulse rate, coronary heart disease, and death: The NHANES I epidemiologic follow-up study. Am Heart J 1991; 121:172–177.
- [22] Arnesen E, Refsum H, Bonaa KH, Ueland PM, Forde OH, Nordehaug JE. Serum total homocysteine and coronary heart disease. Int J Epidemiol 1995; 24:704–709.
- [23] Jacques P, Riggs K. Vitamins as risk factors for age-related diseases. In: Rosenberg IH, editor. Nutritional Assessment of Elderly Population: Measure and Function. New York: Raven Press, 1995 1995.
- [24] Riggs KM, Spiro A, 3rd, Tucker K, Rush D. Relations of vitamin B-12, vitamin B-6, folate, and homocysteine to cognitive performance in the Normative Aging Study. Am J Clin Nutr 1996; 63:306–314.
- [25] Verhoef P, Stampfer MJ, Buring JE, Gaziano JM, Allen RH, Stabler SP, et al. Homocysteine metabolism and risk of myocardial infarction: Relation with vitamins B6, B12, and folate. Am J Epidemiol 1996; 143:845–859.
- [26] Manolio TA, Pearson TA, Wenger NK, Barrett-Connor E, Payne GH, Harlan WR. Cholesterol and heart disease in older persons and women. Review of an NHLBI workshop. Ann Epidemiol 1992; 2:161–176.
- [27] Staessen JA, Fagard R, Thijs L, Celis H, Arabidze GG, Birkenhäger WH, et al. Randomised double-blind comparison of placebo and active treatment for older patients with isolated systolic hypertension. Lancet 1997; 350:757–764.
- [28] Anderson KM, Castelli WP, Levy D. Cholesterol and mortality. 30 years of follow-up from the Framingham study. JAMA 1987; 257:2176–2180.
- [29] Grundy SM, Cleeman JI, Merz CN, Brewer HB Jr, Clark LT, Hunninghake DB, et al. Implications of recent clinical trials for the National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel guidelines. Circulation 2004; 110:227–239.
- [30] Gotto AM, Jr., Grundy SM. Lowering LDL cholesterol: Questions from recent metaanalyses and subset analyses of clinical trial data issues from the Interdisciplinary Council on Reducing the Risk for Coronary Heart Disease, ninth Council meeting. Circulation 1999; 99:1–7.

- [31] Cromwell WC, Otvos JD. Low-density lipoprotein particle number and risk for cardiovascular disease. Curr Atheroscler Rep 2004; 6:381–387.
- [32] Colpo A. LDL cholesterol: "Bad" cholesterol, or bad science? J Am Phys Surg 2005; 10:83–89.
- [33] Expert Panel on Detection Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol in Adults. Executive summary of the Third Report of The National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) Expert Panel on Detection, Evaluation, And Treatment of High Blood Cholesterol In Adults (Adult Treatment Panel III). JAMA 2001; 285:248624–248697.
- [34] Whayne TF, Alaupovic P, Curry MD, Lee ET, Anderson PS, Schechter E. Plasma apolipoprotein B and VLDL-, LDL-, and HDL-cholesterol as risk factors in the development of coronary artery disease in male patients examined by angiography. Atherosclerosis 1981; 39:411–424.
- [35] Reilly MP, Tall AR. HDL proteomics: Pot of gold or Pandora's box? J Clin Invest 2007; 117:595–598.
- [36] Cullen P. Evidence that triglycerides are an independent coronary heart disease risk factor. Am J Cardiol 2000; 86:943–949.
- [37] Linton MF, Fazio S. A practical approach to risk assessment to prevent coronary artery disease and its complications. Am J Cardiol 2003; 92:19–26.
- [38] Toskes PP. Hyperlipidemic pancreatitis. Gastroenterol Clin North Am 1990; 19:783–791.
- [39] Reaven F. Banting lecture 1988: Role of insulin resistance in human disease. Diabetes 1988; 37:1595–1607.
- [40] Fried LP, Kronmal RA, Newman AB, Bild DE, Mittlemark MB, Polak JF, et al. Risk factors for 5-year mortality in older adults: The Cardiovascular Health Study. JAMA 1998; 279:585–592.
- [41] Craft S, Dagogo-Jack SE, Wiethop BV, Murphy C, Nevins RT, Fleischman S, et al. Effects of hyperglycemis on memory and hormone levels in dementia of the Alzheimer type: A longitudinal study. Behav Neurosci 1993; 107:926–940.
- [42] U.S. National Library of Medicine & National Institutes of Health. Medline plus: Trusted health information for you http://www.nlm.nih.gov/medlineplus/ency/article/003640.htm (Accessed March 28, 2005).
- [43] Jagusch W, Cramon DYV, Renner R, Kepp KD. Cognitive function and metabolic state in elderly diabetic patients. Diabetes Nutr Metab 1992; 5:265–274.
- [44] Folsom AR, Kaye SA, Sellers TA, Hong CP, Cerhan JR, Potter JD, et al. Body fat distribution and 5-year risk of death in older women. JAMA 1993; 269:483–487.
- [45] Lapidus L, Bengtsson C, Larsson B, Pennert K, Rybo E, Sjostrom L. Distribution of adipose tissue and risk of cardiovascular disease and death: A 12 year follow up of participants in the population study of women in Gothenburg, Sweden. BMJ 1984; 289:1257–1261.
- [46] Felson DT, Zhang Y, Anthony JM, Naimark A, Anderson JJ. Weight loss reduces the risk for symptomatic knee osteoarthritis in women. The Framingham Study. Ann Intern Med 1992; 116:535–539.
- [47] Zhang X, Shu XO, Gao YT, Yang G, Matthews CE, Li Q, et al. Anthropometric predictors of coronary heart disease in Chinese women. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2004; 28:734–740.
- [48] Bjorntorp P. The associations between obesity, adipose tissue distribution and disease. Acta Med Scand Suppl 1988; 723:121–134.
- [49] Kissebah AH, Krakower GR. Regional adiposity and morbidity. Physiol Rev 1994; 74:761–811.
- [50] Bouchard CD, Despres JP, Mauriege P. Genetic and non-genetic determinants of regional fat distribution. Endocrine Review 1993; 14:72–93.

- [51] Holt R, Bryne CD. Intrauterine growth, the vascular system, and the metabolic syndrome. Semin Vasc Med 2002; 2:33–43.
- [52] Dunger DB, Ong KK. Endocrine and metabolic consequence of intrauterine growth retardation. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 2005; 34:597–615.
- [53] Barker DJ. The developmental origins of chronic adult disease. Acta Paediatr Suppl 2004; 93:26–33.
- [54] Van Gaal LF, Wauters MA, Mertens IL, Considine RV, De Leeuw IH. Cllincial endocrinology of human leptin. Int J Obes 1999; 23:29–36.
- [55] Wauters M, Considine RV, Van Gaal LF. Human leptin: From an adipocyte hormone to an endocrine mediator. Eur J Endocrinol 2000; 143:293–311.
- [56] Margetic S, Gazzola C, Pegg GG, Hill RA. Leptin: A review of its peripheral actions and interactions. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2002; 26:1407–1433.
- [57] Considine RV, Sinha MK, Heiman ML, Kriauciunas A, Stephens TW, Nyce MR, et al. Serum immunoreactive-leptin concentrations in normal-weight and obese humans. N Engl J Med 1996; 334:292–295.
- [58] Ryo M, Nakamura T, Kihara S, Kumada M, Shibazaki S, Takahashi M, et al. Adiponectin as a biomarker of the metabolic syndrome. Circ J 2004; 68:975–981.
- [59] Pischon T, Girman CJ, Hotamisligil GS, Rifai N, Hu FB, Rimm EB. Plasma adiponectin levels and risk of myocardial infarction in men. JAMA 2004; 291:1730–1737.
- [60] Ridker PM, Cushman M, Stampfer MJ, Tracy RP, Hennekens CH. Inflammation, aspirin, and the risk of cardiovascular disease in apparently healthy men. N Engl J Med 1997; 336:973–979.
- [61] Ridker PM, Hennekens CH, Buring JE, Rifai N. C-reactive protein and other markers of inflammation in the prediction of cardiovascular disease in women. N Engl J Med 2000; 342:836–843.
- [62] Sowers M, Jannausch M, Stein E, Jamadar D, Hochberg M, Lachance L. C-reactive protein as a biomarker of emergent osteoarthritis. Osteoarthritis Cartilage 2002; 10:595–601.
- [63] Erlinger TP, Platz EA, Rifai N, Helzlsouer KJ. C-reactive protein and the risk of incident colorectal cancer. JAMA 2004; 291:585–590.
- [64] Harris TB, Ferrucci L, Tracy RP, Corti MC, Wacholder S, Ettinger WH Jr, et al. Associations of elevated interleukin-6 and C-reactive protein levels with mortality in the elderly. Am J Med 1999; 106:506–512.
- [65] Reuben DB, Cheh AI, Harris TB, Ferrucci L, Rowe JW, Tracy RP, et al. Peripheral blood markers of inflammation predict mortality and functional decline in high-functioning community-dwelling older persons. J Am Geriatr Soc 2002; 50:638–644.
- [66] Scholz W. Interleukin 6 in diseases: Cause or cure? Immunopharmacology 1996; 31:131–150.
- [67] Papanicolaou DA, Wilder RL, Manolagas SC, Chrousos GP. The pathophysiologic roles of interleukin-6 in human disease. Ann Intern Med 1998; 128:127–137.
- [68] Lee JW, Namkoong H, Kim HK, Kim S, Hwang DW, Na HR, et al. Fibrinogen gamma-A chain precursor in cerebrospinal fluid: A candidate biomarker for Alzheimer's disease. BMC Neurol 2007; 7:14.
- [69] Mosesson MW. Fibrinogen gamma chain functions. J Thromb Haemost 2003; 1(2):231-8.
- [70] Cohen HJ, Pieper CF, Harris T, Rao KM, Currie MS. The association of plasma IL-6 levels with functional disability in community-dwelling elderly. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 1997; 52:201–208.
- [71] Cattin L, Bordin P, Fonda M, Adamo C, Barbone F, Bovenzi M, et al. Factors associated with cognitive impairment among older Italian inpatients. J Am Geriatr Soc 1997; 45:1124–1130.

- [72] Hotamisligil GS, Spiegelman BM. Tumor necrosis factor alpha: A key component of the obesity-diabetes link. Diabetes 1994; 43:1271–1278.
- [73] Hotamisligil GS, Arner P, Caro JF, Atkinsin RL, Spiegelman BM. Increased adipose tissue expression of tumor necrosis factor-alpha in human obesity and insulin resistance. J Clin Invest 1995; 95:2409–2415.
- [74] Arend WP, Dayer JM. Inhibition of the production and effects of interleukin-1 and tumor necrosis factor alpha in rheumatoid arthritis. Arthritis Rheum 1995; 38:151–160.
- [75] Sairanen T, Carpen O, Karjalainen-Lindsberg ML, Paetau A, Turpeinen U, Kaste M, et al. Evolution of cerebral tumor necrosis factor-alpha production during human ischemic stroke. Stroke 2001; 32:1750–1758.
- [76] Zhao Y, Zhou S, Heng CK. Impact of serum amyloid A on tissue factor and tissue factor pathway inhibitor expression and activity in endothelial cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2007; 27:1645–1650.
- [77] Mahmoudi MC, Gallagher PJ. Atherogenesis: The role of inflammation & infection. Histopathology 2007; 50:535–546.
- [78] Liu DH, Wang XM, Zhang LJ, Dai SW, Liu LY, Liu JF, et al. Serum amyloid A protein: A potential biomarker correlated with clinical stage of lung cancer. Biomed Environ Sci 2007; 20:33–40.
- [79] Buyukhatipoglu H, Tiryaki O, Tahta K, Usalan C. Inflammation as a risk factor for carotid intimal-medial thickening, a measure of subclinical atherosclerosis in haemodialysis patients: The role of chlamydia and cytomegalovirus infection. Nephrology 2007; 12:25–32.
- [80] Kling MA, Alesci S, Csako G, Costello R, Luckenbaugh DA, Bonne O, et al. Sustained low-grade pro-inflammatory state in unmedicated, remitted women with major depressive disorder as evidenced by elevated serum levels of the acute phase proteins C-reactive protein and serum amyloid A. Biol Psychiatry 2007; 62:309–313.
- [81] Poitou C, Viguerie N, Cancello R, De Matteis R, Cinti S, Stich V, et al. Serum amyloid A: Production by human white adipocyte and regulation by obesity and nutrition. Diabetologia 2005; 48:519–528.
- [82] Lin W-R, Wozniak MA, Wilcock CK, Itzhaki RF. Cytomegalovirus is present in ^^^va very high proportion of brains from vascular dementia patients. Neurobiol Disease 2002; 9:82–87.
- [83] Jacobson MA, O'Donnell JJ, Porteous D, Brodie HR, Feigal D, Mills J. Retinal and gastrointestinal disease due to cytomegalovirus in patients with the acquired immune deficiency syndrome: Prevalence, natural history, and response to ganciclovir therapy. Q J Med 1988; 67:473–486.
- [84] Cohen JI. Epstein-Barr virus infection. N Engl J Med 2000; 343:481-492.
- [85] Gulley ML, Pulitzer DR, Eagan PA, Schneider BG. Epstein-Barr virus infection is an early event in gastric carcinogenesis and is independent of bcl-2 expression and p53 accumulation. Hum Pathol 1996; 27:20–27.
- [86] Niedobitek G, Agathanggelou A, Herbst H, Whitehead L, Wright DH, Young LS. Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) infection in infectious mononucleosis: Virus latency, replication and phenotype of EBV-infected cells. J Pathol 1997; 182:151–159.
- [87] Effros RB. Ageing and the immune system. Novartis Found Symp 2001; 235:130-145.
- [88] Flirski M, Sobow T. Biochemical markers and risk factors of Alzheimer's disease. Curr Alzheimer Res 2005; 2:47–64.
- [89] Galasko D, Chang L, Motter R, Clark CM, Kaye J, Knopman D, et al. High cerebrospinal fluid tau and low amyloid beta42 levels in the clinical diagnosis of Alzheimer disease and relation to apolipoprotein E genotype. Arch Neurol 1998; 55:937–945.

- [90] Motter R, Vigo-Pelfrey C, Kholodenko D, et al. Reduction of beta-amyloid peptide42 in the cerebrospinal fluid of patients with Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 1995; 38:643–648.
- [91] Blennow K, Vanmechelen E, Hampel H. CSF total tau, Aβ42 and phosphorylated tau protein as biomarkers for Alzheimer's disease. Mol Neurobiol 2001; 24:87–97.
- [92] Otto M, Wiltfang J, Tumani H, Zerr I, Lantsch M, Kornhuber J, et al. Elevated levels of tau-protein in cerebrospinal fluid of patients with Creutzfeldt-Jakob disesase. Neurosci Lett 1997; 225:210–212.
- [93] Bancher C, Brunner C, Lassman H, Budka H, Jellinger K, Wiche G, et al. Accumulation of abnormally phosphorylated τ precedes the formation of neurofibrillay tangles in Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res 1989; 477:90–99.
- [94] Ishiguro K, Ohno H, Arai H, Yamaguchi H, Urakami K, Park JM, et al. Phsophorylated tau in human cerebrospinal fluid is a diagnostic marker for Alzheimer's disease. Neuorosci Lett 1999; 270:91–94.
- [95] Kim KM, Jung BH, Paeng KJ, Kim I, Chung BC. Increased urinary F(2)-isoprostanes levels in the patients with Alzheimer's disease. Brain Res Bull 2004; 64:47–51.
- [96] Montine TJ, Quinn JF, Zhang J, Fessel JP, Roberts LJ 2nd, Morrow JD, et al. Isoprostanes and related products of lipid peroxidation in neurodegenerative diseases. Chem Phys Lipids 2004; 128:117–124.
- [97] Grossman M, Framer J, Leight S, Work M, Moore P, Van Deerlin V, et al. Cerebrospinal fluid profile in frontotemporal dementia and Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 2005; 57:721–729.
- [98] Praticó D, Iuliano L, Mauriello A, Spagnoli L, Lawson JA, Rokach J, et al. Localization of distinct F2-isoprostanes in human atherosclerotic lesions. J Clin Invest 1997; 100:2028–2034.
- [99] Reilly MP, Pratico D, Delanty N, DiMinno G, Tremoli E, Rader D, et al. Increased formation of distinct F2 isoprostanes in hypercholesterolemia. Circulation 1998; 98:2822–2828.
- [100] Henry J. Coronary heart disease and arousal of the adrenal cortical axis. In: Dembrosk TS, Blumchen G, editors. Biobehavioral Bases of Coronary Heart Disease. Basel: Karger, 1983: 365–381.
- [101] Lupien S, Lecours AR, Lussier I, Schwartz G, Nair NP, Meaney MJ. Basal cortisol levels and cognitive deficits in human aging. J Neurosci 1994; 14:2893–2903.
- [102] Seeman TE, Singer BH, Rowe JW, Horwitz RI, McEwen BS. Price of adaptation allostatic load and its health consequences. MacArthur Studies of Successful Aging. Arch Intern Med 1997; 157:2259–2268.
- [103] Greendale GA, Unger JB, Rowe JW, Seeman TE. The relation between cortisol excretion and fractures in healthy older people: Results from the MacArthur studies-Mac. J Am Geriatr Soc 1999; 47:799–803.
- [104] Reuben DB, Talvi SL, Rowe JW, Seeman TE. High urinary catecholamine excretion predicts mortality and functional decline in high-functioning, community-dwelling older persons: MacArthur Studies of Successful Aging. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2000; 55:618–624.
- [105] Barrett-Connor E, Goodman-Gruen D. The epidemiology of DHEAS and cardiovascular disease. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1995; 774:259–270.
- [106] Beer NA, Jakubowicz DJ, Matt DW, Beer RM, Nestler JE. Dehydroepiandrosterone reduces plasma plasminogen activator inhibitor type 1 and tissue plasminogen activator antigen in men. Am J Med Sci 1996; 311:205–210.
- [107] Feldman HA, Johannes CB, McKinlay JB, Longcope C. Low dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate and heart disease in middle-aged men: Cross-sectional results from the Massachusetts Male Aging Study. Ann Epidemiol 1998; 8:217–228.

- [108] Jansson JH, Nilsson TK, Johnson O. von Willebrand factor, tissue plasminogen activator, and dehydroepiandrosterone sulphate predict cardiovascular death in a 10 year follow up of survivors of acute myocardial infarction. Heart 1998; 80:334–337.
- [109] Crimmins EM, Johnston M, Hayward M, Seeman T. Age differences in allostatic load: An index of physiological dysregulation. Exp Gerontol 2003; 38:731–734.
- [110] Seplaki CL, Goldman N, Weinstein M, Lin YH. How are biomarkers related to physical and mental well-being? J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2004; 59:201–217.
- [111] Biciková M, Ripová D, Hill M, Jirák R, Havlíková H, Taalová J, et al. Plasma levels of 7-hydroxylated dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) metabolites and selected amino-thiols as discriminatory tools of Alzheimer's disease and vascular dementia. Clin Chem Lab Med 2004; 42:518–524.
- [112] Renehan AG, Zwahlen M, Minder C, O'Dwyer ST, Shalet SM, Egger M. Insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-I, IGF binding protein-3, and cancer risk: Systematic review and meta-regression analysis. Lancet 2004; 363:1346–1353.
- [113] Janssen JA, Stolk RP, Pols HA, Grobbee DE, Lamberts SW. Serum total IGF-I, free IGF-I, and IGFB-1 levels in an elderly population: Relation to cardiovascular risk factors and disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1998; 18:277–282.
- [114] Ekenstedt KJ, Sonntag WE, Loeser RF, Lindgren BR, Carlson CS. Effects of chronic growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor 1 deficiency on osteoarthritis severity in rat knee joints. Arthritis Rheum 2006; 54:3850–3858.
- [115] Goldman N, Turra CM, Glei DA, Lin YH, Weinstein M. Physiological dysregulation and changes in health in an older population. Exp Gerontol 2006; 41:862–870.
- [116] Semeraro C, Marchini F, Ferlenga P, Masotto C, Morazzoni G, Pradella, et al. The role of dopaminergic agonists in congestive heart failure. Clin Exp Hypertens 1997; 19:201–215.
- [117] Boldt J, Menges T, Kuhn D, Diridis C, Hempelmann G. Alterations in circulating vasoactive substances in the critically ill—a comparison between survivors and nonsurvivors. Intensive Care Med 1995; 21:218–225.
- [118] Esler M, Kaye D, Thompson J, Jennings G, Cox H, Turner A, et al. Effects of aging on epinephrine secretion and regional release of epinephrine from the human heart. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1995; 80:435–442.
- [119] Christensen NJ, Schultz-Larsen K. Resting venous plasma adrenalin in 70-year-old men correlated positively to survival in a population study: The significance of the physical working capacity. J Intern Med 1994; 235:229–332.
- [120] Karlamangla AS, Singer BH, Greendale GA, Seeman TE. Increase in epinephrine excretion is associated with cognitive decline in elderly men: MacArthur Studies of Successful Aging. Psychoneuroendocrinology 2005; 30:453–460.
- [121] Goldstein DS. Plasma catecholamines in clinical studies of cardiovascular diseases. Acta Physiol Scand Suppl 1984; 527:39–41.
- [122] Perrone RD, Madias NE, Levey AS. Serum creatinine as an index of renal function: New insights into old concepts. Clin Chem 1992; 38:1933–1953.
- [123] Mann JF, Gerstein HC, Pogue J, Bosch J, Yusuf S. Renal insufficiency as a predictor of cardiovascular outcomes and the impact of ramipril: The HOPE randomized trial. Ann Intern Med 2001; 134:629–636.
- [124] McCullough PA, Jurkovitz CT, Pergola PE, et al. Independent components of chronic kidney disease as a cardiovascular risk state: Results from the Kidney Early Evaluation Program (KEEP). Arch Intern Med 2007; 167:1122–1129.
- [125] Santopinto JJ, Fox FA, Goldberg RJ. Creatinine clearance and adverse hospital outcomes in patients with acute coronary syndromes: Findings from the global registry of acute coronary events (GRACE). Heart 2003; 89:1003–1008.
- [126] Herget-Rosenthal S, Pietruck F, Volbracht L, Philipp T, Kribben A. Serum cystatin C-a superior marker of rapidly reduced glomerular filtration after uninephrectomy in kidney donors compared to creatinine. Clin Nephrol 2005; 64:41–46.
- [127] Nitta K, Hayashi T, Uchida K, Honda K, Tsukada M, Sekine S, et al. Serum cystatin C concentration as a marker of glomerular filtration rate in patients with various renal diseases. Intern Med 2002; 41:931–935.
- [128] Shimuza A, Horikoshi S, Rinnno H, Kobata M, Saito K, Tamino Y. Serum cystatin C may predict the early prognosticstages of patients with type 2 diabetic nephropathy. J Clin Lab Anal 2003; 17:164–167.
- [129] Larsson A, Helmersson J, Hansson LO, Basu S. Increased serum cystatin C is associated with increased mortality in elderly men. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 2005; 65:301–305.
- [130] Fricker M, Wiseli P, Brändle M, Schwegler B, Schmid C. Impact of thyroid dysfunction on serum cystatin C. Kidney Int 2003; 64:1139–1140.
- [131] Dharnidharka VR, Kwon C, Stevens G. Serum cystatin C is superior to serum creatinine as a marker of kidney function: A meta-analysis. Am J Kidney Dis 2002; 40:221–226.
- [132] Tierney WM, Roesner JF, Seshadri R, Lykens MG, Murray MD, Weinberger M. Assessing symptoms and peak expiratory flow rate as predictors of asthma exacerbations. J Gen Intern Med 2004; 19:237–242.
- [133] White P. Spirometry and peak expiratory flow in the primary care management of COPD. Prim Care Respir J 2004; 13:5–8.
- [134] Zareba W, Nomura A, Couderc JP. Cardiovascular effects of air pollution: What to measure in ECG? Environ Health Perspect 2001; 109:533–538.
- [135] Goldstein DS. The electrocardiogram in stroke: Relationship to pathophysiological type and comparison with prior tracings. Stroke 1979; 10:253–259.
- [136] Hedblad B, Juul-Möller S, Svensson K, Hanson BS, Isacasson SO, Janzon L, et al. Increased mortality in men with ST segment depression during 24 h ambulatory longterm ECG recording. Results from prospective population study 'Men born in 1914', from Malmö, Sweden. Eur Heart J 1989; 10:149–158.
- [137] Halliwell B. Reactive oxygen species and the central nervous system. J Neurochem 1992; 59:1609–1623.
- [138] Matés JM, Sánchez-Jiménez FM. Role of reactive oxygen species in apoptosis: Implications for cancer therapy. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2000; 32:157–170.
- [139] Perrin R, Briançon S, Jeandel C, Artur Y, Minn A, Penin F, et al. Blood activity of Cu/Zn superoxide dismutase glutathione peroxidase and catalase in Alzheimer's disease: A casecontrol study. Geront 1990; 35:306–313.
- [140] Izzo JL, Levy D, Black HR. Importance of systolic blood pressure in older Americans. Hypertension 2000; 35:1021–1024.
- [141] Stamler J, Neaton JD, Wentworth DN. Blood pressure (systolic and diastolic) and risk of fatal coronary heart disease. Hypertension 1989; 13:2–12.
- [142] SHEP Cooperative Research Group. Prevention of stroke by antihypertensive drug treatment in older persons with isolated systolic hypertension. JAMA 1991; 265:3255–3264.
- [143] Franklin SS, Larson MG, Kahn SA, Wong ND, Leip EP, Kannel WB, et al. Does the relation of blood pressure to coronary heart disease risk change with aging?: The Framingham Heart Study. Circulation 2001; 103:1245–1249.
- [144] Nichols WW, Nicolini FA, Pepine CJ. Determinants of isolated systolic hypertension in the elderly. J Hypertens 1992; 10:73–77.
- [145] Benetos A, Safar M, Rudnichi A, Smulyan H, Richard JL, Ducimetieére P, et al. Pulse pressure: A predictor of long-term cardiovascular mortality in a French male population. Hypertension 1997; 30:1410–1415.

- [146] Thomas F, Guize L, Bean K, Benetos A. Pulse pressure and heart rate: Independent risk factors for cancer? J Clin Epidemiol 2001; 54:735–740.
- [147] Limmer D, O'Keefe M, Bergeron JD, Murray B, Grant H, Dickinson E. Emergency Care AHA Update. 10th ed. New Jersey: Prentice Hall, 2005.
- [148] Gillum RF. Epidemiology of resting pulse rate of persons age 25-74 data from NHANES 1971-1974. Pub Health Rep 1992; 107:193–201.
- [149] Bramwell C, Ellis R. Clinical observations on Olympic athletes. Eur J Appl Physiol 1929; 2:51–60.
- [150] Seccareccia F, Pañoso F, Dima F, Minoprio A, Menditto A, Noce C, Giampaoli S. Heart rate as a predictor of mortality: The MATISS project. Am J Public Health. 2001; 91:1258–1263.
- [151] Gann PH, Daviglus ML, Dyer AR, Stamler J. Heart rate and prostate cancer mortality: Results of a prospective analysis. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 1995; 4:611–616.
- [152] Farquhar JW, Fortmann SP, Flora JA, et al. Effects of communitywide education on cardiovascular disease risk factors. The Stanford Five-City Project. JAMA 1990; 264:359–365.
- [153] Young DR, Haskell WL, Jatulis DE, Fortmann SP. Association between changes in physical activity and risk factors for coronary heart disease in a community-based sample of men and women: The Stanford Five-City Project. Am J Epidemiol 1993; 138:205–216.
- [154] Sanchez-Delgado E, Liechti H. Lifetime risk of developing coronary heart disease. Lancet 1999; 353:89–92.
- [155] Mudd SH, Skovby F, Levy HL, Pettigrew KD, Wilcken B, Pyeritz RE, et al. The natural history of homocystinuria due to cystathionine beta-synthase deficiency. Am J Hum Genet 1985; 37:1–31.
- [156] Jacques PF, Selhub J, Bostom AG, Wilson PW, Rosenberg IH. The effect of folic acid fortification on plasma folate and total homocysteine concentrations. N Engl J Med 1999; 340:1449–1454.
- [157] Selhub J, Jacques PF, Wilson PW, Rush D, Rosenberg IH. Vitamin status and intake as primary determinants of homocysteinemia in an elderly population. JAMA 1993; 270: 2693–2698.
- [158] Crimmins EM, Alley DA, Reynolds SL, Johnston M, Karlamangla A, Seeman TE. Changes in biological markers of health: Older Americans in the 1990s. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 2005; 60:1409–1413.
- [159] Chobanian AV, Bakris GL, Black HR, Cushman WC, Green LA, Izzo JL Jr, et al. Seventh report of the Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure. Hypertension 2003; 42:1206.
- [160] Seeman T, Glei D, Goldman N, Weinstein M, Singer B, Lin YH. Social relationships and allostatic load in Taiwanese elderly and near elderly. Soc Sci Med 2004; 59:2245–2257.
- [161] Clarke R, Smith D, Jobst KA, Refsum H, Sutton L, Uleland PM. Folate, vitamin B12, and serum total homocysteine levels in confirmed Alzheimer disease. Arch Neurol 1998; 55:1449.
- [162] Figlin E, Chetrit A, Shahar A, Shpilberg O, Zivelin A, Rosenberg N, et al. High prevalences of vitamin B12 and folic acid deficiency in elderly subjects in Israel. Br J Haematol 2003; 123:696.
- [163] Seeman TE, Crimmins E, Huang MH, Singer B, Bucur A, Gruenewald T, et al. Cumulative biological risk and socio-economic differences in mortality: MacArthur Studies of Successful Aging. Social Sci Med 2004; 58:1985–1997.
- [164] National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP). Detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults. http://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/guidelines/cholesterol/ atp3xsum.pdf (Accessed March 4, 2004).

- [165] United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF). Use of glycated hemoglobin and microalbuminuria in the monitoring of diabetes mellitus. http://www.ahrq.gov/clinic/ epcsums/glycasum.pdf (Accessed March 4, 2004).
- [166] World Health Organization (WHO) expert consultation. Appropriate body-mass index for Asian populations and its implications for policy and intervention strategies. Lancet 2004; 363:157.
- [167] Ridker PM. C-reactive protein: A simple test to help predict risk of heart attack and stroke. Circulation 2003; 108:81–85.
- [168] Palmieri V, Celentano A, Roman M, de Simone G, Best L, Lewis MR, et al. Relation of fibrinogen to cardiovascular events is independent of preclinical cardiovascular disease: The strong heart study. Am Heart J 2003; 145:467–474.
- [169] Corti M, Guralnik JM, Salive ME, Sorkin JD. Serum albumin level and physical disability as predictors of mortality in older persons. JAMA 1994; 272:1036–1042.
- [170] National Kidney Foundation Kidney Disease Outcome Quality Initiative Advisory Board. Kidney Disease Outcome Quality Initiative (K/DOQI) clinical practire guidelines for chronic kidney disease: Evaluation, classification and stratification. Am J Kidney Dis 2002; 39:1–246.
- [171] Norlund L, Fex G, Lanke J, Von Schenck H, Nilsson JE, Leksell H, et al. Reference intervals for the glomerular filtration rate and cell-proliferation markers: Serum cystatin C and serum β2-microglobulin/cystatin C-ratio. Scand J Clin Lab Invest 1997; 57:463–470.
- [172] Corti MC, Guralnik JM, Salive ME, Harris T, Ferrucci L, Glynn R, et al. Clarifying the direct relation between total cholesterol levels and death from coronary heart disease in older persons. Ann Intern Med 1997; 126:753–760.
- [173] Pekkanen J, Nissinene A, Vartiainen E, Salonen JT, Punsar S, Karvonen MJ. Changes in serum cholesterol level and mortality: A 30-year follow-up. The Finnish cohorts of the seven countries study. Am J Epidemiol 1994; 139:155–165.
- [174] Ettinger WH, Jr., Harris T, Verdery RB, Tracy R, Kouba E. Evidence for inflammation as a cause of hypocholesterolemia in older people. J Am Geriatr Soc 1995; 43:264–266.
- [175] Reed D, Yano K, Kagan A. Lipids and lipoproteins as predictors of coronary heart disease, stroke, and cancer in the Honolulu Heart Program. Am J Med 1986; 80:871–878.
- [176] Kronmal RA, Cain KC, Ye Z, Omenn GS. Total serum cholesterol levels and mortality risk as a function of age. A report based on the Framingham data. Arch Intern Med 1993; 153:1065–1073.
- [177] Krumholz HM, Seeman TE, Merrill SS, Mendes de Leon CF, Vaccarino V, Silverman DI, et al. Lack of association between cholesterol and coronary heart disease mortality and morbidity and all-cause mortality in persons older than 70 years. JAMA 1994; 272:1335–1340.
- [178] Benfante R, Reed D, Frank J. Do coronary heart disease risk factors measured in the elderly have the same predictive roles as in the middle aged. Comparisons of relative and attributable risks. Ann Epidemiol 1992; 2:273–282.
- [179] Frost PH, Davis BR, Burlando AJ, Curb JD, Guthrie GP Jr, Isaacsohn JL, et al. Serum lipids and incidence of coronary heart disease. Findings from the Systolic Hypertension in the Elderly Program (SHEP). Circulation 1996; 94:2381–2382.
- [180] Jacobs D, Blackburn H, Higgins M, Reed D, Iso H, McMillan G, et al. Report of the Conference on Low Blood Cholesterol: Mortality Associations. Circulation 1992; 86:1046–1060.
- [181] Karlamangla AS, Singer BH, Reuben DB, Seeman TE. Increases in serum non-highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol may be beneficial in some high-functioning older adults: MacArthur Studies of Successful Aging. J Am Geriatr Soc 2004; 52:487–494.

- [182] Raiha I, Marniemi J, Puukka P, Toikka T, Ehnholm L, Sourander. Effect of serum lipids, lipoproteins, and apolipoproteins on vascular and nonvascular mortality in the elderly. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1997; 17:1224–1232.
- [183] Weverling-Rjinsburger AW, Blauw GJ, Lagaay AM, Knook DL, Meinders AE, Westendorp RG. Total cholesterol and risk of mortality in the oldest old. Lancet 1997; 350:1119–1123.
- [184] Millar JS, Lichtenstein AH, Cuchel M, et al. Impact of age on the metabolism of VLDL, IDL, and LDL apolipoprotein B-100 in men. J Lipid Res 1995; 36:1155–1167.
- [185] Gordon DJ, Probstfield JL, Garrison RJ, Neaton JD, Castelli WP, Knoke JD, et al. Highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol and cardiovascular disease. Four prospective American studies. Circulation 1989; 79:8–15.
- [186] Barter PJ, Nicholls S, Rye KA, Anantharamaiah GM, Navab M, Fogelman AM. Antiinflammatory properties of HDL. Circ Res 2004; 95:764–772.
- [187] Barter PJ, Rye KA. High density lipoproteins and coronary heart disease. Atherosclerosis 1996; 121:1–12.
- [188] Lemieux I, Lamarche B, Couillard C, Pascot A, Cantin B, Bergeron J, et al. Total cholesterol/HDL cholesterol ratio vs LDL cholesterol/HDL cholesterol ratio as indices of ischemic heart disease risk in men: The Quebec Cardiovascular Study. Arch Intern Med 2001; 161:2685–2692.
- [189] Luria MH, Erel J, Sapoznikov D, Gotsman MS. Cardiovascular risk factor clustering and ratio of total cholesterol to high-density lipoprotein cholesterol in angiographically documented coronary artery disease. Am J Cardiol 1991; 67:31–36.
- [190] Lamarche B, Moorjani S, Lupien PJ, Catin B, Bernard PM, Dagenais GR, et al. Apolipoprotein A-I and B levels and the risk of ischemic heart disease during a five-year follow-up of men in the Québec cardiovascular study. Circulation 1996; 94:273–278.
- [191] Burke AP, Farb A, Malcom GT, Liang YH, Smialek J, Virmani R. Coronary risk factors and plaque morphology in men with coronary disease who died suddenly. N Engl J Med 1997; 336:1276–1282.
- [192] Gaziano JM, Hennekens CH, O'Donnell CJ, Breslow JL, Buring JE. Fasting triglycerides, high-density lipoprotein, and risk of myocardial infarction. Circulation 1997; 96:2520–2525.
- [193] Alexander CM, Landsman PB, Grundy SM. Metabolic syndrome and hyperglycemia: Congruence and divergence. Am J Cardiol 2006; 98:982–983.
- [194] Ford ES, Giles WH, Mokdad AH. Increasing prevalence of the metabolic syndrome among U.S. Adults. Diabetes Care 2004; 27:2444–2449.
- [195] Benjamin SM, Valdez R, Geiss LS, Rolka DB, Narayan KM. Estimated number of adults with prediabetes in the US in 2000: Opportunities for prevention. Diabetes Care 2003; 26:645–649.
- [196] American Diabetes Association. All About Diabetes. http://www.diabetes.org/aboutdiabetes.jsp (Accessed July 30, 2007).
- [197] Rohlfing CL, Little RR, Wiedmeyer HM, England JD, Madsen R, Harris MI, et al. Use of GHb (HbA1c) in screening for undiagnosed diabetes in the U.S. population. Diabetes Care 2000; 23:187–191.
- [198] Khaw KT, Wareham N, Bingham S, Luben R, Welch A, Day N. Association of hemoglobin A1c with cardiovascular disease and mortality in adults: The European prospective investigation into cancer in Norfolk. Ann Intern Med 2004; 141:413–420.
- [199] Wu T, Dorn JP, Donahue RP, Sempos CT, Trevisan M. Associations of serum C-reactive protein with fasting insulin, glucose, and glycosylated hemoglobin: The Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988–1994. Am J Epidemiol 2002; 155:65–71.

- [200] Kilpatrick ES, Dominiczak MH, Small M. The effects of ageing on glycation and the interpretation of glycaemic control in Type 2 diabetes. Q J Med 1996; 89:307–312.
- [201] Nuttall FQ. Effect of age on the percentage of hemoglobin A1c and the percentage of total glycohemoglobin in non-diabetic persons. J Lab Clin Med 1999; 134:451–453.
- [202] Wiener K, Roberts NB. Age does not influence levels of HbA1c in normal subject. Q J Med 1999; 92:169–173.
- [203] Donahue RP, Abbott RD. Central obesity and coronary heart disease in men. Lancet 1987; 2:1215.
- [204] Ducimetiere P, Richard J, Cambien F, Avous P, Jacqueson A. Relationship between adiposity measurements and the incidence of coronary heart disease in a middle-aged male population: The Paris Prospective Study I. Am J Nutr 1985; 4:31–38.
- [205] National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute. Clinical Guidelines on the Identification, Evaluation, and Treatment of Overweight and Obesity in Adults.Washington, DC: U.S. Public Health Service, 1998.
- [206] Larsson B, Svardsudd K, Welin L, Wilhelmsen L, Bjorntorp P, Tibblin G. Abdominal adipose tissue distribution, obesity, and risk of cardiovascular disease and death: 13 year follow up of participants in the study of men born in 1913. BMJ 1984; 288:1401–1404.
- [207] McKeigue PM, Shah B, Marmot MG. Relation of central obesity and insulin resistance with high diabetes prevalence and cardiovascular risk in South Asians. Lancet 1991; 337:382–386.
- [208] Ohlson LO, Larsson B, Svardsudd K, Welin L, Eriksson H, Wilhelmsen L, et al. The influence of body fat distribution on the incidence of diabetes mellitus. 13.5 years of followup of the participants in the study of men born in 1913. Diabetes 1985; 34:1055–1058.
- [209] Welin L, Svardsudd K, Wilhelmsen L, Larsson B, Tibblin G. Analysis of risk factors for stroke in a cohort of men born in 1913. N Engl J Med 1987; 317:521–526.
- [210] Andersen RE, Franckowiak S, Christmas C, Walston J, Crespo C. Obesity and reports of no leisure time activity among old Americans: Results from the third national health and nutrition examination survey. Educ Gerontol 2001; 27:297–306.
- [211] Blaum CS, Ofstedal MB, Langa KM, Wray LA. Functional status and health outcomes in older Americans with diabetes mellitus. J Am Geriatr Soc 2003; 51:745–753.
- [212] Davison KK, Ford ES, Cogswell ME, Dietz WH. Percentage of body fat and body mass index are associated with mobility limitations in people aged 70 and older from NHANES III. J Am Geriatr Soc 2002; 50:1802–1809.
- [213] Dey DK, Rothenberg E, Sundh V, Bosaeus I, Steen B. Waist circumference, body mass index, and risk for stroke in older people: A 15 year longitudinal population study of 70year-olds. J Am Geriatr Soc 2002; 50:1510–1518.
- [214] Himes CL. Obesity, disease, and functional limitation in later life. Demography 2000; 37:73–82.
- [215] Must A, Spadano J, Coakley EH, Field AE, Colditz G, Dietz WH. The disease burden associated with overweight and obesity. JAMA 1999; 282:1523–1529.
- [216] Zoico E, Zamboni M, Di Francesco V, Mazzali G, Fantin F, Bosello O. Leptin physiology and pathophysiology in the elderly. Adv Clin Chem 2006; 41:123–166.
- [217] Pradhan AD, Manson JE, Rifai N, Buring JE, Ridker PM. C-reactive protein, interleukin 6, and risk of developing type 2 diabetes mellitus. JAMA 2001; 286:327–334.
- [218] Takemura M, Matsumoto H, Niimi A, et al. High sensitivity C-reactive protein in asthma. Eur Respir J 2006; 27:908–912.
- [219] Amos RS, Constable TJ, Crockson RA, Crockson AP, McConkey B. Rheumatoid arthritis: Relation of serum C-reactive protein and erythrocyte sedimentation rates to radiographic changes. BMJ 1977; 1:195–197.
- [220] Rifai N, Ridker PM. High-sensitivity C-reactive protein: A novel and promising marker of coronary heart disease. Clin Chem 2001; 47:403–411.

- [221] Danesh J, Collins R, Appleby P, Peto R. Association of fibrinogen, C-reactive protein, albumin, or leukocyte count with coronary heart disease: Meta-analyses of prospective studies. JAMA 1998; 279:1477–1482.
- [222] Alley DE, Seeman TE, Kim JK, Karlamangla A, Hu P, Crimmins EM. Socioeconomic status and C-reactive protein levels in the US population: NHANES IV. Brain Behav Immun 2006; 20:498–504.
- [223] Ridker PM, Cook N. Clinical usefulness of very high and very low levels of C-reactive protein across the full range of Framingham Risk Scores. Circulation 2004; 109:1955–1959.
- [224] Danesh J, Muir J, Wong YK, Ward M, Gallimore JR, Pepys MB. Risk factors for coronary heart disease and acute-phase proteins. A population-based study. Eur Heart J 1999; 20:954–959.
- [225] Danesh J, Pepys MB. C-reactive protein in healthy and in sick populations. Eur Heart J 2000; 21:1564–1565.
- [226] McDade TW, Leonard WR, Burhop J, Reyes-García V, Vadez V, Huanca T, et al. Predictors of C-reactive protein in Tsimane' 2 to 15 year-olds in lowland Bolivia. Am J Phys Anthropol 2005; 128:906–913.
- [227] Kannel WB, Wolf PA, Castelli WP, D'Agostino RB. Fibrinogen and risk of cardiovascular disease. The Framingham Study. JAMA 1987; 258:1183–1186.
- [228] Kuller LH, Eichner JE, Orchard TJ, Grandits GA, McCallum L, Tracy RP. The relation between serum albumin levels and risk of coronary heart disease in the Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial. Am J Epidemiol 1991; 134:1266–1277.
- [229] Kuller LH, Tracy RP, Shaten J, Meilahn EN. Relation of C-reactive protein and coronary heart disease in the MRFIT nested case-control study. Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial. Am J Epidemiol 1996; 144:537–547.
- [230] Mendall MA, Patel P, Ballam L, Strachan D, Northfield TC. C reactive protein and its relation to cardiovascular risk factors: A population based cross sectional study. BMJ 1996; 312:1061–1065.
- [231] Tracy RP, Bovill EG, Yanez D, Psaty BM, Fried LP, Heiss G, et al. Fibrinogen and factor VIII, but not factor VII, are associated with measures of subclinical cardiovascular disease in the elderly. Results from the Cardiovascular Health Study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1995; 15:1269–1279.
- [232] Tracy RP, Lemaitre RN, Psaty BM, Ives DG, Evans RW, Cushman M, et al. Relationship of C-reactive protein to risk of cardiovascular disease in the elderly. Results from the Cardiovascular Health Study and the Rural Health Promotion Project. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1997; 17:1121–1127.
- [233] Ferrucci L, Harris TB, Guralnik JM, Tracy RP, Corti MC, Cohen HJ, et al. Serum IL-6 level and the development of disability in older persons. J Am Geriatr Soc 1999; 47:639–646.
- [234] Weaver JD, Huang MH, Albert M, Harris T, Rowe JW, Seeman TE. Interleukin-6 and risk of cognitive decline: MacArthur Studies of Successful Aging. Neurology 2002; 59:371–378.
- [235] Kiechl S, Egger G, Mayr M, Wiederman CJ, Bonora E, Oberhollenzer F, et al. Chronic infections and the risk of carotid atherosclerosis: Prospective results from a large population study. Circulation 2001; 103:1064–1070.
- [236] Lalani I, Bhol K, Ahmed AR. Interleuking-10: Biology, role in inflammation and autoimmunity. Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol 1997; 79:469–484.
- [237] Jones SA, Rose-John S. The role of soluble receptors in cytokine biology: The agonistic properties of the sIL-6R/IL-6 complex. Biochim Biophys Acta 2002; 1592:251–263.
- [238] Smith KA. Interleukin-2: Inception, impact, and implications. Science 1988; 240:1169–1176.

- [239] Dinarello CA. Interleukin 1 and interleukin 18 as mediators of inflammation and the aging process. Am J Clin Nutr 2006; 83:447–455.
- [240] Ferrucci L, Corsi A, Lauretani F, Bandinelli S, Bartali B, Taubb DD, et al. The origins of age-related proinflammatory state. Blood 2005; 105:2294–2299.
- [241] Skogstrand K, Thorsen P, Norgaard-Pedersen B, Schendel D, Sorensen L, Hougaard D. Simultaneous measurement of 25 inflammatory markers and nuerotrophins in neonatal dried blood spots by immunoassay with xMAP technology. Clin Chem 2005; 51:1854–1866.
- [242] Patel P, Carrington D, Strachan DP, Leatham E, Goggin P, Northfield TC, et al. Fibrinogen: A link between chronic infection and coronary heart disease. Lancet 1994; 343:1634–1635.
- [243] Brunner E, Davey Smith G, Marmot M, Canner R, Beksinska M, O'Brien J. Childhood social circumstances and psychosocial and behavioural factors as determinants of plasma fibrinogen. Lancet 1996; 347:1008–1013.
- [244] De Boever E, De Bacquer D, Braeckman L, Baele G, Rosseneu M, De Backer G. Relation of fibrinogen to lifestyles and to cardiovascular risk factors in a working population. Int J Epidemiol 1995; 24:915–921.
- [245] Markowe HL, Marmot MG, Shipley MJ, Bulpitt CJ, Meade TW, Stirling Y, et al. Fibrinogen: A possible link between social class and coronary heart disease. BMJ 1985; 291:1312–1314.
- [246] Wilson GA, Kaplan, Kauhanen J, Cohen RD, Wu M, Salonen R, et al. Association between plasma fibrinogen concentration and five socioeconomic indices in the Kuopio Ischemic Heart Disease Risk Factor Study. Am J Epidemiol 1993; 137:292–300.
- [247] Kalantar-Zadeh K, Kopple JD, Block G, Humphreys MH. A malnutrition-inflammation score is correlated with morbidity and mortality in maintenance hemodialysis patients. Am J Kidney Dis 2001; 38:1251–1263.
- [248] Reuben DB, Ix JH, Greendale GA, Seeman TE. The predictive value of combined hypoalbuminemia and hypocholesterolemia in high functioning community-dwelling older persons: MacArthur Studies of Successful Aging. J Am Geriatr Soc 1999; 47:402–406.
- [249] Bruunsgaard H, Andersen-Ranberg K, Jeune B, Pedersen AN, Skinhoj P, Pedersen BK. A high plasma concentration of TNF-alpha is associated with dementia in centenarians. J Geront A Biol Sci Med Sci 1999; 54:357–364.
- [250] Alvarez A, Cacabelos R, Sanpedro C, García-Fantini M, Aleixandre M. Serum TNFalpha levels are increased and correlate negatively with free IGF-I in Alzheimer disease. Neurobiol Aging 2006; 28:533–536.
- [251] Ramos D, Lin MT, Larson EB, Maezawa I, Tseng LH, Edwards KL, et al. Tumor necrosis factor α and interleukin 10 promoter region polymorphisms and risk of late-onset Alzheimer disease. Arch Neurol 2006; 63:1165–1169.
- [252] Perry RT, Collins JS, Wiener H, Acton R, Go RC. The role of TNF and its receptors in Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 2001; 22:873–883.
- [253] Tan ZS, Beiser AS, Vasan S, Roubenoff R, Dinarello CA, Harris TB, et al. Inflammatory markers and the risk of Alzheimer disease. Neurology 2007; 68:1902–1908.
- [254] Akiyama H, Barger S, Barnum S, Bradt B, Bauer J, Cole GM, et al. Inflammation and Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol Aging 2000; 21:383–421.
- [255] Lio D, Annoni G, Licastro F, Crivello A, Forte GI, Scola L, et al. Tumor necrosis factoralpha—308A/G polymorphism is associated with age at onset of Alzheimer's disease. Mech Ageing Dev 2006; 127:567–571.
- [256] Bruunsgaard H, Skinhøj P, Pedersen AN, Schroll M, Pedersen BK. Ageing, tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF-alpha) and atherosclerosis. Clin Exp Immunol 2000; 121:255–260.

- [257] Uhlar CM, Whitehead AS. Serum amyloid A, the major vertebrate acute-phase reactant. Eur J Biochem 1999; 265:501–523.
- [258] Zhang N, Ahsan MH, Purchio AF, West DB. Serum amyloid A-luciferase transgenic mice: Response to sepsis, acute arthritis, and contact hypersensitivity and the effects of proteasome inhibition. J Immunol 2005; 174:8125–8134.
- [259] Nilsson BO, Ernerudh J, Johansson B, Evrin PE, Löfgren S, Ferguson FG, et al. Morbidity does not influence the T-cell immune risk phenotype in the elderly: Findings in the Swedish NONA Immune Study using sample selection protocols. Mech Ageing Dev 2003; 124:469–476.
- [260] Staras SA, Dollard SC, Radford KW, Flanders WD, Pass RF, Cannon MJ. Seroprevalence of cytomegalovirus infection in the United States, 1988-1994. Clin Infect Dis 2006; 43:1143–1151.
- [261] Wikby A, Johansson B, Olsson J, Lofgren S, Nilsson BO, Ferguson F. Expansions of peripheral blood CD8 T-lymphocyte subpopulations and an association with cytomegalovirus seropositivity in the elderly: The Swedish NONA immune study. Exp Gerontol 2002; 37:445–453.
- [262] Almanzar G, Schwaiger S, Jenewein B, Keller M, Herndler-Brandstetter D, Würzner R, et al. Long-term cytomegalovirus infection leads to significant changes in the composition of the CD8+ T-cell repertoire, which may be the basis for an imbalance in the cytokine production profile in elderly persons. J Virol 2005; 79:3675–3683.
- [263] Fletcher JM, Vukmanovic-Stejic M, Dunne PJ, Birch KE, Cook JE, Jackson SE, et al. Cytomegalovirus-specific CD4+ T cells in healthy carriers are continuously driven to replicative exhaustion. J Immunol 2005; 175:8218–8225.
- [264] Koch S, Solana R, Dela Rosa O, Pawelec G. Human cytomegalovirus infection and T cell immunosenescence: A mini review. Mech Ageing Dev 2006; 127:538–543.
- [265] Ouyang Q, Wagner WM, Zheng W, Wikby A, Remarque EJ, Pawelec G. Dysfunctional CMV-specific CD8(+) T cells accumulate in the elderly. Exp Gerontol 2004; 39:607–613.
- [266] Pawelec G, Koch S, Franceschi C, Wikby A. Human immunosenescence: Does it have an infectious component? Ann N Y Acad Sci 2006; 1067:56–65.
- [267] Aiello AE, Haan M, Blythe L, Moore K, Gonzalez JM, Jagust W. The influence of latent viral infection on rate of cognitive decline over 4 years. J Am Geriatr Soc 2006; 54:1046–1054.
- [268] Schmaltz HN, Fried LP, Xue QL, Walston J, Leng SX, Semba RD. Chronic cytomegalovirus infection and inflammation are associated with prevalent frailty in communitydwelling older women. J Am Geriatr Soc 2005; 53:747–754.
- [269] Shen YH, Utama B, Wang J, Raveendran M, Senthil D, Waldman WJ, et al. Human cytomegalovirus causes endothelial injury through the ataxia telangiectasia mutant and p53 DNA damage signaling pathways. Circ Res 2004; 94:1310–1317.
- [270] Sorlie PD, Nieto FJ, Adam E, Folsom AR, Shahar E, Massing M. A prospective study of cytomegalovirus, herpes simplex virus 1, and coronary heart disease: The atherosclerosis risk in communities (ARIC) study. Arch Intern Med 2000; 160:2027–2032.
- [271] Blum A, Peleg A, Weinberg M. Anti-cytomegalovirus (CMV) IgG antibody titer in patients with risk factors to atherosclerosis. Clin Exp Med 2003; 3:157–160.
- [272] Glaser R, Kiecolt-Glaser JK, Speicher CE, Holliday JE. Stress, loneliness, and changes in herpesvirus latency. J Behav Med 1985; 8:249–260.
- [273] Glaser R, Pearson GR, Jones JF, Hillhouse J, Kennedy S, Mao HY, et al. Stress-related activation of Epstein-Barr virus. Brain Behav Immun 1991; 5:219–232.
- [274] Glaser R, Pearson GR, Bonneau RH, Esterling BA, Atkinson C, Kiecolt-Glaser JK. Stress and the memory T-cell response to the Epstein-Barr virus in healthy medical students. Health Psychol 1993; 12:435–442.

- [275] Kiecolt-Glaser JK, Glaser R, Shuttleworth EC, Dyer CS, Ogrocki P, Speicher CE. Chronic stress and immunity in family caregivers of Alzheimer's disease victims. Psychosom Med 1987; 49:523–535.
- [276] Kiecolt-Glaser JK, Malarkey MW, Cacioppo JT, Glaser R. Stressful personal relationships: Immune and endocrine function. In: Glaser RK. editor. Handbook of Human Stress and Immunity.San Diego, CA: Academic Press, 1999: 321–339.
- [277] Esterling BA, Antoni MH, Schneiderman N, Carver CS, LaPerriere A, Ironson G, et al. Psychosocial modulation of antibody to Epstein-Barr viral capsid antigen and human herpesvirus type-6 in HIV-1-infected and at-risk gay men. Psychosom Med 1992; 54:354–371.
- [278] McDade TW, Stallings JF, Angold A, Costello EJ, Burleson M, Cacioppo JT, et al. Epstein-Barr virus antibodies in whole blood spots: A minimally invasive method for assessing an aspect of cell-mediated immunity. Psychosom Med 2000; 62:560–567.
- [279] Lab Tests Online. CD4 Count 2005. http://www.labtestsonline.org/understanding/ analytes/cd4/sample.html (Accessed July 30, 2007).
- [280] Bryl E, Gazda M, Foerster J, Witkowski JM. Age-related increase of frequency of a new, phenotypically distinct subpopulation of human peripheral blood T cells expressing lowered levels of CD4. Blood 2001; 98:1100–1107.
- [281] Bryl E, Witkowski JM. Decreased proliferative capability of CD4(+) cells of elderly people is associated with faster loss of activation-related antigens and accumulation of regulatory T cells. Exp Gerontol 2004; 39:587–595.
- [282] Pawelec G, Barnett Y, Forsey R, Frasca D, Globerson A, McLeod J, et al. T cells and aging, January 2002 update. Front Biosci 2002; 7:d1056–d1183.
- [283] Maini MK, Boni C, Ogg GS. Direct ex vivo analysis of hepatitis B virus-specific CD8(+) T cells associated with the control of infection. Gastroenterology 1999; 117:1386–1396.
- [284] Peres A, Bauer M, da Cruz IB, Nardi NB, Chies JA. Immunophenotyping and T-cell proliferative capacity in a healthy aged population. Biogerontology 2003; 4:289–296.
- [285] Epel ES, McEwen B, Seeman T, Matthews K, Castellazzo G, Brownell KD, et al. Stress and body shape: Stress-induced cortisol secretion is consistently greater among women with central fat. Psychosom Med 2000; 62:623–632.
- [286] Seeman TE, McEwen BS, Singer BH, Albert MS, Rowe JW. Increase in urinary cortisol excretion and memory declines: MacArthur Studies of Successful Aging. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1997; 82:2458–2465.
- [287] Adam EK, Hawkley LC, Kudielka BM, Cacioppo JT. Day-to-day dynamics of experience-cortisol associations in a population-based sample of older adults. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2006; 103:1758–1763.
- [288] Steptoe A, Cropley M, Griffith J, Kirschbaum C. Job strain and anger expression predict early morning elevations in salivary cortisol. Psychosom Med 2000; 62:286–292.
- [289] Lab Tests Online. Cortisol 2004. http://labtestsonline.org/understanding/analytes/cortisol/ test.html (Accessed July 30, 2007).
- [290] Kroboth PD, Salek FS, Pittenger AL, Fabian TJ, Frye RF. DHEA and DHEA-S: A review. J Clin Pharmacol 1999; 39:327–348.
- [291] Longcope C. Dehydroepiandrosterone metabolism. J Endocrinol 1996; 150:125-127.
- [292] Rosenfeld RS, Hellman L, Roffwarg H, Weitzman ED, Fukushima DK, Gallagher TF. Dehydroisoandrosterone is secreted episodically and synchronously with cortisol by normal man. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1971; 33:87–92.
- [293] Rosenfeld RS, Rosenberg BJ, Hellman L. Direct analysis of dehydroisoandrosterone in plasma. Steroids 1975; 25:799–805.

- [294] Kimonides VG, Khatibi NH, Svendsen CN, Sofroniew MV, Herbert J. Dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA) and DHEA-sulfate (DHEAS) protect hippocampal neurons against excitatory amino acid-induced neurotoxicity. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998; 95:852–857.
- [295] Svec F, Lopez A. Antiglucocorticoid actions of dehydroepiandrosterone and low concentrations in Alzheimer's disease. Lancet 1989; 2:1335–1336.
- [296] Kalimi M, Regelson W. Dehydroepiandrosterone (DHEA): Biochemical, Physiological, and Clinical Aspects.New York: Walter de Gruyter, Inc., 1999.
- [297] Lopez SA. Metabolic and endocrine factors in aging. In: Rothschilde R. editor. Risk Factors for Senility.New York: Oxford University Press, 1984: 205–219.
- [298] Roth GS, Lane MA, Ingram DK, Mattison JA, Elahi D, Tobin JD, et al. Biomarkers of caloric restriction may predict longevity in humans. Science 2002; 297:811.
- [299] Rotter JI, Wong FL, Lifrak ET, Parker LN. A genetic component to the variation of dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate. Metabolism 1985; 34:731–736.
- [300] Rudman D, Shetty KR, Mattson DE. Plasma dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate in nursing home men. J Am Geriatr Soc 1990; 38:421–427.
- [301] Thomas G, Frenoy N, Legrain S, Sebag-Lanoe R, Baulieu EE, Debuire B. Serum dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate levels as an individual marker. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1994; 79:1273–1276.
- [302] Yen SS. Dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate and longevity: New clues for an old friend. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001; 98:8167–8169.
- [303] Allolio B, Arlt W. DHEA treatment: Myth or reality? Trends Endocrinol Metab 2002; 13:288–294.
- [304] Yu BP. Approaches to anti-aging intervention: The promises and the uncertainties. Mech Ageing Dev 1999; 111:73–87.
- [305] Rattan SIS. Aging, anti-aging, and hormesis. Mech Ageing Dev 2004; 125:285-289.
- [306] Glei DA, Goldman N, Weinstein M, Liu IW. Dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEAS) and health: Does the relationship differ by sex? Exp Gerontol 2004; 39.
- [307] Jesse RL, Loesser K, Eich EM, Qian YZ, Hess ML, Nestler JE. Dehydroepiandrosterone inhibits human platelet aggregation in vitro and in vivo. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1995; 774:281–290.
- [308] Ravaglia G, Forti P, Maioli F, Boschi F, Cicognani A, Bernardi M, et al. Determinants of functional status in healthy Italian nonagenarians and centenarians: A comprehensive functional assessment by the instruments of geriatric practice. J Am Geriatr Soc 1997; 45:1196–1202.
- [309] Seeman TE, McEwen BS, Rowe JW, Singer BH. Allostatic load as a marker of cumulative biological risk: MacArthur Studies of Successful Aging. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2001; 98:4770–4775.
- [310] Gurlek A, Gedik O. Endogenous sex steroid, GH and IGF-I levels in normal elderly men: Relationships with bone mineral density and markers of bone turnover. J Endocrinol Invest 2001; 24:408–414.
- [311] Florini JR, Ewton DZ, Coolican SA. Growth hormone and the insulin-like growth factor system in myogenesis. Endocr Rev 1996; 17:481–517.
- [312] Roubenoff R, Parise H, Payette HA, Abad LW, D'Agostino R, Jacques PF, et al. Cytokines, insulin-like growth factor 1, sarcopenia, and mortality in very old community-dwelling men and women: The Framingham Heart Study. Am J Med 2003; 115:429–435.
- [313] Cappola AR, Xue QL, Ferrucci L, Guralnik JM, Volpato S, Fried LP. Insulin-like growth factor I and interleukin-6 contribute synergistically to disability and mortality in older women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003; 88:2019–2025.

- [314] Savdeh S, Graubard B, Ballard-Barbash R, Berrigan D. Insulin-like growth factors and subsequent risk of mortality in the United States. Am J Epidemiol 2007; 166:518–526.
- [315] Wallin BG, Sundlof G, Eriksson BM, Dominiak P, Grobecker H, Lindblad LE. Plasma noradrenaline correlates to sympathetic muscle nerve activity in normotensive man. Acta Physiol Scand 1981; 111:69–73.
- [316] Ziegler MG, Lake CR, Kopin IJ. Plasma noradrenaline increases with age. Nature 1976; 261:333–335.
- [317] Christensen NJ. Sympathetic nervous activity and age. Eur J Clin Invest 1982; 12:91-92.
- [318] Young JB, Landsberg L. Catecholamines and the adrenal medulla. In: Wilson JD, Kroenberg HM, Larsen PR, editors. Williams Textbook of Endocrinology.10th ed. Philadelphia, PA: WB Saunders, 1998: 665–728.
- [319] Schillaci G, Reboldi G, Verdecchia P. High-normal serum creatinine concentration is a predictor of cardiovascular risk in essential hypertension. Arch Intern Med 2001; 36:886–891.
- [320] Jones CA, McQuillan GM, Kusek JW, Eberhardt MS, Herman Wh, Coresh J, et al. Serum creatinine levels in the US population: Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Am J Kidney Dis 1998; 32:992–999.
- [321] Gowans EM, Fraser CG. Biological variation of serum and urine creatinine and creatinine clearance: Ramifications for interpretation of results and patient care. Ann Clin Biochem 1988; 25:259–263.
- [322] Cockcroft DW, Gault MH. Prediction of creatinine clearance from serum creatinine. Nephron 1976; 16:31–41.
- [323] Go AS, Chertow GM, Fan D, McCulloch CE, Hsu CY. Chronic kidney disease and the risks of death, cardiovascular events, and hospitalization. N Engl J Med 2004; 351:1296–1305.
- [324] Wannamethee SG, Shaper AG, Perry IJ. Serum creatinine concentration and risk of cardiovascular disease: A possible marker for increased risk of stroke. Stroke 1997; 28:557–563.
- [325] Shlipak MG, Sarnak MJ, Katz R, et al. Cystatin C and the risk of death and cardiovascular events among elderly persons. N Engl J Med 2005; 352:2049–2060.
- [326] Shlipak MG, Fyr CLF, Chertow GM, Harris TB, Kritchevsky SB, Tylavsky FA, et al. Cystatin C and mortality risk in the elderly: The health, aging, and body composition study. J Am Soc Nephrol 2006; 17:254–261.
- [327] Sarnak MJ, Katz R, Stehman-Breen CO, Fried LP, Swords Jenny N, Psaty BM, et al. Cystatin C concentration as a risk factor for heart failure in older adults. Ann Int Med 2005; 142:497–505.
- [328] Shlipak MG, Fried LF, Crump C, Bleyer AJ, Manolio TA, Tracy RP, et al. Elevations of inflammatory and procoagulant biomarkers in elderly persons with renal insufficiency. Circulation 2003; 107:87–92.
- [329] Shlipak MG, Katz R, Sarnak MJ, Fried LF, Newman AB, Stehman-Breen C, et al. Cystatin C and prognosis for cardiovascular and kidney outcomes in elderly persons without chronic kidney disease. Ann Int Med 2006; 145:237–246.
- [330] Cross D, Nelson HS. The role of the peak flow meter in the diagnosis and management of asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1991; 87:120–128.
- [331] van Helden SN, Hoal-van Helden EG, van Helden PD. Factors influencing peak expiratory flow in teenage boys. S Afr Med J 2001; 91:996–1000.
- [332] Cook NR, Evans DA, Scherr PA, Speizer FE, Taylor JO, Hennekens CH. Peak expiratory flow rate and 5-year mortality in an elderly population. Am J Epidemiol 1991; 133:784–794.

- [333] Cook NR, Albert MS, Berkman LF, Blazer D, Taylor JO, Hennekens CH. Interrelationships of peak expiratory flow rate with physical and cognitive function in the elderly: MacArthur foundation studies of aging. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci 1995; 50:317–323.
- [334] Braunwald E. In: Heart Disease: A Textbook of Cardiovascular Medicine, 5th ed. Philadelphia: WB Saunders, 1997: 153–176.
- [335] American Heart Association Guidelines for Cardiopulmonary Resuscitation and Emergency Cardiovascular Care. Part 8: Stabilization of the patient with acute coronary syndromes. Circulation 2005; 112:IV–89–IV-110.
- [336] Van Mieghem C, Sabbe M, Knockaert D. The clinical value of the ECG in noncardiac conditions. Chest 2004; 125:1561–1576.
- [337] Ford ES, Giles WH, Croft JB. Prevalence of nonfatal coronary heart disease among American adults. Am Heart J. 2000; 139:371–377.
- [338] Fulle S, Protasi F, Di Tano G, Pietrangelo T, Beltramin A, Boncompagni S, et al. The contribution of reactive oxygen species to sarcopenia and muscle ageing. Exp Gerontol 2004; 39:17–24.
- [339] Seidman MD, Ahmad N, Joshi D, Seidman J, Thawani S, Quirk WS. Age-related hearing loss and its association with reactive oxygen species and mitochondrial DNA damage. Acta Otolaryngol Suppl 2004; 552:16–24.
- [340] Choi BH. Oxygen, antioxidants and brain dysfunction. Yonsei Med J 1993; 34:1-10.
- [341] Jenner P, Olanow CW. Oxidative stress and the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. Neurology 1996; 47:161–170.
- [342] Smith MA, Perry G. Free radical damage, iron, and Alzheimer's disease. J Neurol Sci 1995; 134:92–94.
- [343] Lyras L, Cairns NJ, Jenner A, Jenner P, Halliwell B. An assessment of oxidative damage to proteins, lipids, and DNA in brain from patients with Alzheimer's disease. J Neurochem 1997; 68:2061–2069.
- [344] Sheehan JP, Swerdlow RH, Miller SW, Davis RE, Parks JK, Parker WD, et al. Calcium homeostasis and reactive oxygen species production in cells transformed by mitochondria from individuals with sporadic Alzheimer's disease. J Neurosci 1997; 17:4612–4622.
- [345] McCord JM. Superoxide dismutase in aging and disease: An overview. Methods Enzymol 2002; 349:331–341.
- [346] Oberley LW, Buettner GR. Role of superoxide dismutase in cancer: A review. Cancer Res 1979; 39:1141–1149.
- [347] St Clair DK, Holland JC. Complementary DNA encoding human colon cancer manganese superoxide dismutase and the expression of its gene in human cells. Cancer Res 1991; 51:939–943.
- [348] Zhang Y, Zhao W, Zhang HJ, Domann FE, Oberley LW. Overexpression of copper zinc superoxide dismutase suppresses human glioma cell growth. Cancer Res 2002; 62:1205–1212.
- [349] Byers T, Bowman B. Vitamin E supplements and coronary heart disease. Nutr Rev 1993; 51:333–336.
- [350] Comstock GW, Helzlsouer KJ, Bush TL. Prediagnostic serum levels of carotenoids and vitamin E as related to subsequent cancer in Washington County, Maryland. Am J Clin Nutr 1991; 53:260–264.
- [351] Ziegler RG. Vegetables, fruits, and carotenoids and the risk of cancer. Am J Clin Nutr 1991; 53:251–259.
- [352] Rosenberg IH, Miller JW. Nutritional factors in physical and cognitive functions of elderly people. Am J Clin Nutr 1992; 55:1237–1243.
- [353] Christensen K, Johnson TE, Vaupel JW. The quest for genetic determinants of human longevity: Challenges and insights. Nat Rev Genet 2006; 7:436–448.

- [354] Corder EH, Saunders AM, Strittmatter WJ, Schmechel DE, Gaskell PC, Small GW, et al. Gene dose of apolipoprotein E type 4 allele and the risk of Alzheimer's disease in late onset families. Science 1993; 261:921–923.
- [355] Evans DA, Beckett LA, Field TS, Feng L, Albert MS, Bennett DA, et al. Apolipoprotein E epsilon4 and incidence of Alzheimer disease in a community population of older persons. JAMA 1997; 277:822–824.
- [356] Fitzpatrick AL, Kuller LH, Ives DG, Lopez OL, Jagust W, Breitner JC, et al. Incidence and prevalence of dementia in the cardiovascular Health Study. J Am Geriatr Soc 2004; 52:195–204.
- [357] Mayeux R, Stern Y, Ottman R, Tatemichi TK, Tang MX, Maestre G, et al. The apolipoprotein epsilon 4 allele in patients with Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol 1993; 34:752–754.
- [358] Poirier J, Davignon J, Bouthillier D, Kogan S, Bertrand P, Gauthier S. Apolipoprotein E polymorphism and Alzheimer's disease. Lancet 1993; 342:697–699.
- [359] Saunders AM, Strittmatter WJ, Schmechel D, George-Hyslop PH, Pericak-Vance MA, Joo SH, et al. Association of apolipoprotein E allele epsilon 4 with late-onset familial and sporadic Alzheimer's disease. Neurology 1993; 43:1467–1472.
- [360] Leon AS, Togashi K, Rankinen T, Després JP, Rao DC, Skinner JS, et al. Association of apolipoprotein E polymorphism with blood lipids and maximal oxygen uptake in the sedentary state and after exercise training in the HERITAGE family study. Metabolism 2004; 53:108–116.
- [361] Schmitz KH, Schreiner PJ, Jacobs DR, Leon AS, Liu K, Howard B, et al. Independent and interactive effects of apolipoprotein E phenotype and cardiorespiratory fitness on plasma lipids. Ann Epidemiol 2001; 11:94–103.
- [362] Kritchevsky SB, Niklas BJ, Visser M, Simonsick EM, Newman AB, Harris TB, et al. Angiotensin-converting enzyme insertion/deletion genotype, exercise, and physical decline. JAMA 2005; 294:691–698.
- [363] Kehoe PG, Russ C, Mcllroy S, Williams H, Holmans P, Holmes C, et al. Variation in DCP1, encoding ACE, is associated with susceptibility to Alzheimer disease. Nat Genet 1999; 21:71–72.
- [364] Narain Y, Yip A, Murphy T, Brayne C, Easton D, Evans JG, et al. The ACE gene and Alzheimer's disease susceptibility. J Med Genet 2000; 37:695–697.
- [365] Luft FC. Bad genes, good people, association, linkage, longevity and the prevention of cardiovascular disease. Clin Exp Pharmacol Physiol 1999; 26:576–579.
- [366] Frederiksen H, Gaist D, Bathum L, Andersen K, McGue M, Vaupel JW, et al. Angiotensin I-converting enzyme (ACE) gene polymorphism in relation to physical performance, cognition and survival—a follow-up study of elderly Danish twins. Ann Epidemiol 2003; 13:57–65.
- [367] Bladbjerg EM, Andersen-Ranberg K, de Maat MP, Kristensen SR, Jeune B, Gram J, et al. Longevity is independent of common variations in genes associated with cardiovascular risk. Thromb Haemost 1999; 82:1100–1105.
- [368] Blanché H, Cabanne L, Sahbatou M, Thomas G. A study of French centenarians: Are ACE and APOE associated with longevity? C R Acad Sci III 2001; 324:129–135.
- [369] Reynolds C, Jansson M, Gatz M, Pedersen N. Longitudinal change in memory performance associated with polymorphism. Neurobiol Aging 2006; 27:150–154.
- [370] de Maat MPM, Bladjerg EM, Hjelmborg JVBH, Bathum L, Jespersem J, Christensen K. Genetic influence on inflammation variables in the elderly. Art Thro Vasc Bio 2004; 24:2168–2173.
- [371] Christiansen L, Bathum L, Andersen-Ranberg K, Jeune B, Christensen K. Most implication of interleukin-6 promoter polymorphisms in longevity. Mech Ageing Dev 2004; 125:391–395.

- [372] Kujoth GC, Hiona A, Pugh TD, Someya S, Panzer K, Wohlgemuth SE, et al. Mitochondrial DNA mutations, oxidative stress, and apoptosis in mammalian aging. Science 2005; 309:481–484.
- [373] De Bendictis G, Rose G, Carrieri G, De Luca M, Falcone E, Passarino G, et al. Mitochondrial DNA inherited variants are associated with successful aging and longevity in humans. FASEB J 1999; 13:1532–1536.
- [374] Zhang J, Asin-Cayela J, Fish J, Bonafe M, Olivieri F, Passarino G, et al. Striking higher frequency in centenarians and twins of mtDNA mutation causing remodeling of replication origin in leukocytes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2003; 110:1116–1121.
- [375] Tanaka M, Gong JS, Zhang J, Yoneda M, Yagi K. Mitochondrial genotype associated with longevity. Lancet 1998; 351:185–186.
- [376] Cherif H, Tarry JL, Ozanne SE, Hales CN. Ageing and telomeres: A study into organ- and gender-specific telomere shortening. Nucleic Acids Res 2003; 31:1576–1583.
- [377] Bischoff C, Petersen HC, Graakjaer J, Andersen-Ranberg K, Vaupel JW, Bohr VA, et al. No association between telomere length and survival among the elderly and oldest old. Epidemiology 2006; 17:190–194.
- [378] Cawthon RM, Smith KR, O'Brien E, Sivatchenko A, Kerber RA. Association between telomere length in blood and mortality in people aged 60 years or older. Lancet 2003; 361:393–395.
- [379] Erdei E, Lee S, Wei Q, Wang L, Song Y, Bovbjerg D, Berwick M. Reliability of mutagen sensitivity assay: An inter-laboratory comparison. Mutagenesis 2006; 21:261–264.
- [380] Ransohoff D. Developing molecular biomarkers for cancer. Science 2003; 299:1679–1680.
- [381] Frenkel K, Karkoszka J, Glassman T, Dubin N, Toniolo P, Taioli E, et al. Serum autoantibodies recognizing 5-hydroxymethyl-2'-deoxyuridine, an oxidized DNA base, as biomarkers of cancer risk in women. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 1998; 7:49–57.
- [382] Kata I. Serum autoantibodies recognizing 5-Hydroxymethyl-2'-deoxyuridine an oxidized DNA base, as biomarkers of cancer risk in women. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 1998; 7:49–57.
- [383] Turra CM, Goldman N, Seplaki CL, Glei DA, Lin Y, Weinstein M. Determinants of mortality of older ages: The role of biological markers of chronic disease. Popul Dev Rev 2005; 31:675–698.
- [384] Insull W. Coronary Risk Handbook: Estimating Risk of Coronary Heart Disease in Daily Practice.New York: American Heart Association, 1973.
- [385] Kannel WB, McGee D, Gordon T. A general cardiovascular risk profile: The Framingham study. Am J Cardiol 1976; 38:46–51.
- [386] Gordon T, Kannel WB. Multiple risk functions for predicting coronary heart disease: The concept, accuracy, and application. Am Heart J 1982; 103:1031–1039.
- [387] Anderson KM, Odell PM, Wilson PW, Kannel WB. Cardiovascular disease risk profiles. Am Heart J 1991; 121:293–298.
- [388] Wilson TW, Lacourciere Y, Barnes CC. The antihypertensive efficacy of losartan and amlodipine assessed with office and ambulatory blood pressure monitoring. Canadian Cozaar Hyzaar Amlodipine Trial Study Group. CMAJ 1998; 159:469–476.
- [389] Anderson KM, PW Wilson PW, Odell PM, Kannel WB. An updated coronary risk profile. A statement for health professionals. Circulation 1991; 83:356–362.
- [390] Haq IU, Ramsay LE, Yeo WW, Jackson PR, Wallis EJ. Is the Framingham risk function valid for northern European populations? A comparison of methods for estimating absolute coronary risk in high risk men. Heart 1999; 81:40–46.
- [391] Grover SA, Coupal L, Hu XP. Identifying adults at increased risk of coronary disease. How well do the current cholesterol guidelines work? JAMA 1995; 274:801–806.

- [392] Leaverton PE, Sorlie PD, Kleinman JC, Dannenberg AI, Ingster-Moore L, Kannel WB, et al. Representativeness of the Framingham risk model for coronary heart disease mortality: A comparison with a national cohort study. J Chronic Dis 1987; 40:775–784.
- [393] Brand RJ, Rosenman RH, Sholtz RI, Friedman M. Multivariate prediction of coronary heart disease in the Western Collaborative Group Study compared to the findings of the Framingham study. Circulation 1976; 53:348–355.
- [394] The Pooling Project Research Group. Relationship of blood pressure, serum cholesterol, smoking habit, relative weight and ECG abnormalities to incidence of major coronary events: Final report of the pooling project. J Chronic Dis 1978; 31:201–306.
- [395] Trevisan M, Liu J, Bahsas FB, Menotti A. Syndrome X and mortality: A population-based study. Risk factor and life expectancy research group. Am J Epidemiol 1998; 148:958–966.
- [396] Lindblad U, Langer RD, Wingard DL, Thomas RG, Barrett-Connor EL. Metabolic syndrome and ischemic heart disease in elderly men and women. Am J Epidemiol 2001; 153:481–489.
- [397] Lakka HM, Laaksonen DE, Lakka TA, Niskanen LK, Kumpusalo E, Tuomilehto J, et al. The metabolic syndrome and total and cardiovascular disease mortality in middle-aged men. JAMA 2002; 288:2709–2716.
- [398] Zimmet PZ, Shaten BJ, Kuller LH, Rowley MJ, Knowles WJ, Mackay IR. Antibodies to glutamic acid decarboxylase and diabetes mellitus in the multiple risk factor intervention trial. Am J Epidemiol 1994; 140:683–690.
- [399] Alberti KG, Zimmet PZ. New diagnostic criteria and classification of diabetes--again? Diabet Med 1998; 15:535–536.
- [400] McEwen BS. Allostasis and allostatic load: Implications for neuropsychopharmacology. Neuropsychopharmacology 2000; 22:108–124.
- [401] Karlamangla AS, Singer BH, McEwen BS, Rowe JW, Seeman TE. Allostatic load as a predictor of functional decline. MacArthur Studies of Successful Aging. J Clin Epidemiol 2002; 55:696–710.
- [402] Singer BH, Ryff CD, Seeman TE. Operationalizing allostatic load. In: Schulkin J. editor. Allostasis, Homeostasis, and the Costs of Physiological Adaptation.Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 2004: 113–149.
- [403] Crimmins E, Seeman T. Integrating biology into demographic research on health and aging (with a focus on the MacArthur Study of Successful Aging). In: Finch C, Vaupel J, editors. Cells and Surveys: Should Biological Measures be Included in Social Science Research?. Washington, DC: National Academy Press, 2001: 9–41.
- [404] McDade TW, Williams S, Snodgrass JJ. What a drop can do: Dried blood spots as a minimally-invasive method for integrating biomarkers into population-based research. Demography 2007; 44: 899–925.
- [405] Weir D. Elastic powers: The integration of biomarkers into the Health and Retirement Study. In: Weinstein M, Vaupel JW, Wachter KW, editors. Biosocial Surveys. Washington, DC: National Research Council of the National Academies, 2007.
- [406] Chang M, Glei D, Goldman N, Weinstein M. The Taiwan Biomarker Project. In: Weinstein M, Vaupel JW, Wachter KW, editors. Biosocial Surveys. Washington, DC: National Research Council of the National Academies, 2007.
- [407] Marmot M, Steptoe A. Whitehall II and ELSA: Integrating epidemiological and psychobiological approaches in the assessment of biological indicators. In: Weinstein M, Vaupel JW, Wachter KW, editors. Biosocial Surveys. Washington, DC: National Research Council of the National Academies, 2007.
- [408] Thomas D, Frankenberg E. Comments on collecting and utilizing biological indicators in social science surveys. In: Weinstein M, Vaupel JW, Wachter KW, editors. Biosocial Surveys. Washington, DC: National Research Council of the National Academies, 2007.

VASCULAR CALCIFICATION INHIBITORS IN RELATION TO CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE WITH SPECIAL EMPHASIS ON FETUIN-A IN CHRONIC KIDNEY DISEASE

Mohamed E. Suliman, Elvia García-López, Björn Anderstam, Bengt Lindholm, and Peter Stenvinkel

Department of Clinical Science, Intervention and Technology, Divisions of Renal Medicine and Baxter Novum, Karolinska Institutet, Karolinska University Hospital Huddinge, 141 86 Stockholm, Sweden

1.	Abstract	218
2.	Introduction	218
3.	Extraosseous Calcification	220
4.	Vascular Calcification: A Tsunami in CKD Patients	221
5.	Role of Calcification Inhibitors	222
6.	Fetuin-A	223
	6.1. Chemistry and Metabolism	223
	6.2. Methods to Analyze Serum Fetuin-A	224
	6.3. Function of Fetuin-A	225
	6.4. Role of Fetuin-A in the Calcification Process	225
	6.5. Role of Fetuin-A in Inflammation	226
	6.6. Novel Link Between Fetuin-A and the Metabolic Syndrome	227
	6.7. Low Fetuin-A in Patients with CKD	231
	6.8. Relations Between Fetuin-A, Inflammation, and Vascular Calcification	231
	6.9. Low Fetuin-A Levels Are Associated with Poor Outcome in CKD	233
	6.10. Fetuin-A and Genetic Polymorphisms	239
7.	Matrix-Gla Protein	240
8.	Osteoprotegerin	242
9.	Osteopontin	244
10.	Bone Morphogenetic Protein-7	246
11.	Inorganic Pyrophosphate	247
12.	Conclusion	248
	References	249

SULIMAN ET AL.

1. Abstract

The mortality rate is extremely high in chronic kidney disease (CKD), primarily due to the high prevalence of cardiovascular disease (CVD) in this patient group. Apart from traditional Framingham risk factors, evidences suggest that nontraditional risk factors, such as inflammation, oxidative stress, endothelial dysfunction, and vascular calcification also contribute to this extremely high risk of CVD. Disturbance in the mineral metabolism, especially in the ions of Ca and PO_4 , are linked to enhanced calcification of blood vessels. Although the mechanism(s) of this enhanced calcification process are not fully understood, current knowledge suggests that a large number (and an imbalance between them) of circulating promoters and inhibitors of the calcification process, that is, fetuin-A (or α 2-Heremans-Schmid glycoprotein, AHSG), matrix-Gla protein (MGP), osteoprotegerin (OPG), osteopontin (OPN), bone morphogenetic proteins (BMPs), and inorganic pyrophosphate (PPi), are involved in the deterioration of vascular tissue. Thus, an imbalance in these factors may contribute to the high prevalence of vascular complications in CKD patients. Among these mediators, studies on fetuin-A deserve further attention as clinical studies consistently show that fetuin-A deficiency is associated with vascular calcification, all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in CKD patients. Both chronic inflammation and the uremic milieu per se may contribute to fetuin-A depletion, as well as specific mutations in the AHSG gene. Recent experimental and clinical studies also suggest an intriguing link between fetuin-A, insulin resistance, and the metabolic syndrome.

2. Introduction

Premature atherosclerotic CVD is a leading cause of morbidity and mortality in patients with CKD [1]. The annual mortality rate due to CVD is approximately 10- to 20-fold higher in CKD patients than in the general population [1, 2]. Many factors contribute to this high risk. Although traditional Framingham risk factors, such as hypertension, dyslipidemia, and diabetes mellitus (DM), may account for a large proportion of the excessive burden of CVD in this patient population, they do not fully explain it. Recent studies suggest that nontraditional risk factors, such as inflammation, oxidative stress, and vascular calcification tendency, may also contribute [2]. CKD patients are often present with vascular calcification and atherosclerosisrelated calcification of the intima appears to be of particular clinical importance, although the cardiac valves and medial arterial layer are also often involved [3]. Although vascular calcification in the vessel wall is uncommon in younger age groups in the general population, it is extremely common among CKD patients [4–7]. In one study it was even noted in young patients, 20- to 30-year old [6]. The prevalence of vascular calcification among dialysis patients is very high and increases as dialysis vintage increases [4]. Moreover, the extent of vascular calcification and arterial stiffness are strong predictors of CVD and all-cause mortality in the dialysis population [8–10].

The mechanism(s) of vascular calcification is still not well defined. It is generally thought that under certain pathological conditions ectopic calcification develops as a passive degenerative process, leading to uncontrolled precipitation of calcium (Ca) phosphate (PO_4) that is associated with tissue necrosis and/or metabolic Ca and PO₄ imbalance. Generally, multiple hormones acting systematically and cytokines acting locally regulate bone remodeling and that bone may exert an endocrine regulation that is determined by these molecules. Indeed, a recent report by Lee et al. [11] demonstrated that osteoblasts regulate glucose homeostasis and energy metabolism, suggesting that bone may contribute to the development of metabolic disorders. Thus, this indicates that bone has additional functions that change by abnormal pathological conditions. Notably, recent reports from clinical and experimental studies document that vascular calcification is an active, rather than passive, and a biologically regulated process that shares the characteristics of bone formation and bone repair [12–16]. Moreover, this process is associated with an imbalance of a large number of promoters and inhibitors of the calcification process [17-19]. Thus, vascular calcification may result due to imbalance of the equilibrium between promoters and inhibitors, and it is increasingly evident that the concentration of Ca and PO_4 is not the only factor influencing ectopic calcification [20]. There are many promoters and inhibitors involved in the calcification process and most of them are closely associated with comorbidity and mortality in CKD patients, such as Ca, PO₄, vitamin D, parathyroid hormone (PTH), and markers of inflammation and wasting, such as C-reactive protein (CRP), cytokines, fibrinogen, and serum albumin. Recently, a number of bone-associated proteins, including fetuin-A (or AHSG), MGP, OPG, OPN, BMPs, and PPi, have been suggested to play a pivotal role in the prevention of the calcification of soft tissues under physiological conditions [21-24]. In this chapter, we will discuss protein inhibitors of the vascular/ossification process. Although our focus will be primarily on fetuin-A, we will also discuss the role of other common vascular calcification inhibitors, such as MGP, OPG, OPN, BMP-7, and PPi.

3. Extraosseous Calcification

The calcification or mineralization process occurs as a normal physiological process in bones and teeth. Bone formation is classified into two types: endochondral bone formation that involves chondrogenesis and a cartilage intermediate, and intramembranous bone formation that derives from direct differentiation of mesenchymal stem cells into bone-forming osteoblasts. Certain pathological conditions can promote the mineralization process in different tissues and organs (ectopic or extraosseous calcification), such as vessels, heart, soft tissues, the periarticular region, skin, and other solid organs. It is plausible that the restriction of mineralization to bones and teeth occurs due to presence of active inhibitors that prohibit calcification in soft tissues. Pathological calcification has many similarities to physiological calcification [12, 16] and is classified as metastatic or dystrophic calcification [25]. In metastatic calcifications, there is a disturbance of Ca and/or PO₄ metabolism and this may occur in the heart and blood vessels as well as in other soft tissues. Dystrophic calcifications are, on the other hand, seen in human tissues in the absence of known Ca-PO₄ imbalances; for example, in atherosclerotic plaques or necrotic tissues [25, 26].

Based on the histological features, vascular classification is classified into four types [27], which can be present alone or in combinations and each is related to a characteristic type of vascular disease processes. (A) Cardiac valve calcification occurs in response to mechanical stress and inflammatory stimuli, which recruit dystrophic mineralization and nonenchondral ossification processes to deposit of Ca. Valvular calcification is likely to be initiated through mechanisms distinct from atherosclerotic calcification [28-31]. (B) Intimal atherosclerotic plaque calcification is a type of dystrophic calcification, which involves endochondral ossification initially characterized by necrotic cells and inflammation as well as lipoprotein and phospholipid complexes [12, 32]. (C) Medial vascular calcification is the nonendochondral ossification process of the arterial tunica media, which is more similar to intramembranous bone formation. The media calcification (also referred to as Mönckeberg's sclerosis) is primarily associated with aging, DM, and CKD and is an end result of the inflammation and calcification of the atherosclerotic plaques often initiated early during disease progress [33]. In medial artery calcification, the mineralization is similar to intramembranous bone formation and odontogenesis in which no cartilaginous precursor is required, and BMP-2 and homeoprotein Msx2-dependent signaling is a central feature of the mineralization process [34–36]. Mineralization occurs initially at matrix vesicles associated with extracellular matrix fibrils [37]. Although the aortic expression of Msx2 and Msx1 is upregulated in diabetic patients [34, 36], this has not yet been studied in the setting of CKD. The medial calcification may be present in combination with calcification in intima and both are common in CKD as well as in diabetic patients [38]. It has been argued by London and Drueke [39] that the clinical distinction between the two coexisting conditions associated with arterial disease, arteriosclerosis, and atherosclerosis may not be easy to define. Whereas arteriosclerosis (medial calcification) is primarily a medial degenerative condition associated with aging that leads to the stiffening of the elastic layer of the arterial wall and does not obstruct the arterial lumen, atherosclerosis (intimal calcification) is a disease process that typically results in narrowing or occlusion of arteries [39]. The decrease in arterial wall elasticity in arteriosclerosis condition may explain the findings that medial calcification has emerged as the more significant predictor of lower extremity amputation and cardiovascular mortality risk in type-2 DM [8, 38]. London et al. [3] showed that dialysis patients with intimal calcifications were older and characterized by a history of traditional risk factors, while patients with medial calcifications were younger and characterized by a longer duration of dialysis treatment and derangements in their Ca×PO₄ balance. Eventually, both contribute to the increased risk of mortality in CKD patients [40, 41]. (D) Vascular calciphylaxis is the fourth component of the widespread soft tissue calcification that occurs when the physiological $Ca \times PO_4$ solubility threshold is exceeded [42]. It is observed occasionally in uremia (also called calcific uremic arteriolopathy) and is characterized by ischemic ulceration of the skin due to metastatic calcification of subcutaneous tissue and small arteries.

4. Vascular Calcification: A Tsunami in CKD Patients

Although vascular calcification in CKD is a feature recognized since the nineteenth century it has been more or less ignored due to poor understanding of its impact on patient outcome until recently. The interest in vascular calcification has increased in the last decade when recent studies showed that a high incidence of vascular calcification is associated with poor clinical outcome [6, 9, 43–46]. In CKD, calcification of blood vessels occurs in the media in the case of Mönckeberg's medial sclerosis and calcific uremic arteriolopathy and/or in the intima, in the case of atherosclerosis, where calcification is scattered and has an irregular pattern associated with atherosclerotic occlusive lesions. This process is seen in the aorta and coronary arteries and other muscular arteries and starts already during childhood and adolescence CKD patients [33, 40]. Although medial calcification is common with aging it is also a common feature of the vascular disease seen in uremia and DM [33, 40, 47]. It primarily affects the aorta and extends to the peripheral smaller vessels [16, 33, 40]. In addition to its prevalence in adult

CKD patients, medial arterial calcification is thought to underlie the unexpectedly high coronary Ca scores and decreased arterial elasticity found in pediatric dialysis patients [48]. It is plausible that both types of calcifications coexist in most of the patients [49] and contribute to cardiovascular events most likely through different mechanisms in CKD patients. Therefore, the combined effect of both processes would probably explain the extremely high rates of cardiovascular and all-cause mortality in this specific patient population [50, 51]. Indeed, in coronary arteries, the presence of vascular calcification is highly correlated with the risk of myocardial infarction, and sudden death [52–54].

The prevalence and extent of vascular calcification is a strong predictor of CVD and all-cause death in hemodialysis (HD) [9] and peritoneal dialysis (PD) [10] patients. Of note, vascular calcifications in CKD patients differ from that in the general population not only in the type and localizations of the calcifications but also because it is common in childhood/adolescence age and a central characteristic of the progressive atherosclerosis observed among CKD patients [6, 7]. Together with the impact of several risk factors, this fact will have a great impact on the rate, extension, and severity of the vascular calcifications as well as the impact on poor outcome [9].

5. Role of Calcification Inhibitors

The concentrations of Ca and PO₄ are physiologically balanced at levels within reach of the solubility product. Pathologically, when the serum Ca×PO₄ product increases with accumulation of PTH fragments (which agitate normal Ca-PO₄ homeostasis), widespread tissue deposition of amorphous Ca-PO₄ may occur. For many years, this process of vascular and soft tissue calcifications was considered solely as a result of a passive deposition of hydroxyapatite crystals due to an elevated Ca-PO₄ ion product. However, mounting evidence has shown that this is a complex and highly regulated process that involves inhibitors, inducers, and cell differentiation processes [55]. Moreover, this process is governed by factors that closely resemble Ca deposition in bone tissue, which (particularly in the uremic milieu) is due to vascular smooth muscle cells (VSMCs) damage as well as disturbance of circulating and cellular inhibitors of Ca and PO₄ precipitation. This has led to the concept that multiple mechanisms, including loss of inhibition, induction of bone formation, circulating nucleational complexes, and cell death may induce this specific pathology [56]. In fact, the vascular calcification process requires changes in the phenotype of VSMCs and the expression of several proteins normally involved in bone metabolism. Molecular genetic techniques and *in vitro* models have repeatedly revealed the necessity of inhibitory mechanisms to prevent ectopic calcification. A growing number of such molecules have been identified using mutational analyses, and animal knockout models have confirmed the role of a number of proteins in regulating vascular calcification. Among them, fetuin-A, MGP, OPG, OPN, BMP-7, and PPi have attracted interest and have been identified as important natural inhibitors of vascular calcification.

6. Fetuin-A

6.1. CHEMISTRY AND METABOLISM

Fetuin-A, also known as α 2-Heremans–Schmid glycoprotein (AHSG), is a major circulating glycoprotein of the cystatin superfamily of cysteine protease inhibitors, also including histidine-rich glycoproteins and kininogens. The fetuin family constitutes a set of orthologous plasma proteins found in human, sheep, pig, cow, and rodents. Human fetuin-A was discovered by Heremans [57] and Schmid [58] and renamed as fetuin-A after the discovery of fetuin-B. Fetuin-A is produced by multiple tissues during fetal development, whereas in the adult it is synthesized by hepatocytes, secreted into blood and accumulates in the skeleton during mineralization, due to its high affinity for hydroxyapatite [59]. Despite its deposition as a noncollagenous protein in mineralized bones and teeth, it has not been possible to demonstrate the synthesis of fetuin in calcified tissues; it is likely that the fetuin is transported there via the serum. Fetuin-A is abundant in extracellular fluids with serum concentrations ranging from 0.4 to 1.0 g/liter and has a molecular mass of approximately 60 kDa [60].

The *AHSG* gene in humans is located on chromosome 3q27 and consists of seven exons and six introns [61]. The gene consists of a tandem arrangement of two cystatin-like domains and a unique third C-terminal domain, rich in proline and glycine and not present in other mammalian cystatins. Each domain is approximately 120 amino acids long. The fetuin-A protein molecule consists of two polypeptide chains produced through posttranslational cleavage from a single polypeptide by enzymatic proteolysis [62] and held together by a single interchain disulfide bridge. Posttranslational and secondary modifications, such as phosphorylation, *N*- and *O*-glycosylation, are common for the fetuins from different species. It has been calculated that the average phosphorylation degree of the circulating human fetuin-A in serum is approximately 0.2 mol/mol of the protein [63]. The three N-linked and three O-linked chains of oligosaccharide contain various sugar molecules and the terminal sugar residues are rich in sialic acid, which contributes to the net negative charge of the molecule [64].

The fetuin-B protein is a serum glycoprotein with overlapping tissue distribution with fetuin-A, but its level in plasma (5 mg/liter) is just a fraction of that of fetuin-A in humans. The 382 amino acids long protein shows a 22% sequence similarity with fetuin-A and a 61% amino acid identity is shared between human, mouse, and rat proteins [65]. Like its fetuin-A counterpart, the fetuin-B mRNA level is downregulated in the liver following an induced inflammation in rat [65]. Functional analysis revealed that fetuin-B, similarly to fetuin-A, is an inhibitor, albeit less active, of basic calcium phosphate precipitation. In contrast with fetuin-A, the amount of fetuin-B protein in human serum is higher in females than in males [66].

6.2. METHODS TO ANALYZE SERUM FETUIN-A

Commercial enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA) are the predominant analysis technique for fetuin-A analysis in serum and the antibodies used are highly sensitive and specific for the protein with no crossreactivity with sera of other animal species (mouse, rat, rabbit, sheep, goat, cattle, swine, and horse). "Sandwich" ELISA assays are available from, for example, Epitope Diagnostics, Inc. (San Diego, United States) and BioVendor Laboratory Medicine, Inc. (Modrice, Czech Republic). The 96 wells plates are coated with polyclonal anti-human fetuin-A-specific antibody. The fetuin-A which is present in the samples (10–100 μ l needed) is captured by this antibody and unbound protein is washed away. Then a horseradish peroxidase (HRP) conjugated polyclonal anti-human fetuin-A antibody is added to the wells followed by a substrate solution. The absorbance at 450 nm is proportional to the fetuin-A concentration in the sample. The normal serum fetuin-A range is 0.4-1.0 g/liter. As another alternative for analysis, Nephelometry (e.g., Dade Behring BN II, Newark, DE) is a fully automated system for plasma protein determinations and combines reliability and high sensitivity with cost-effective rapid performances. Laboratories having access to such a machine have a good alternative for fetuin-A analysis. In the Dade Behring assay, serum samples are centrifuged and exposed to a polyclonal rabbit anti-human fetuin-A antibody identical to that used in ELISA methodology. The assay does not cross-react with fetuin-B and other serum proteins or with proteolytic fragments of fetuin-A. The assay range reported is from 0.05 to 3.5 g/liter (CV<10%) [67]. In order to minimize nonspecific turbidity, which is often the case in uremic samples, fresh serum is preferable than plasma for this analysis. Alternatively, lipemic sera should be cleared with a clarifying agent or a non-nephelometric assay, such as ELISA should be used.

6.3. FUNCTION OF FETUIN-A

Fetuin-A is multifunctional molecule and it has been implicated in several diverse functions, including regulation of osteogenesis and bone resorption [68], prevention of ectopic vascular calcification by inhibiting formation of hydroxyapatite crystals [20, 69, 70], activation of hepatocyte-growth factor [71], response to systemic inflammation [72], and regulation of cytokine-dependent osteogenesis. Moreover, fetuin-A can act as a TGF β antagonist, which is achieved by binding of this growth factor to a β -glycan-like domain of the fetuin-A molecule. Thus, via interaction with the insulin receptor tyrosine kinase activity fetuin-A seems to be involved in insulin resistance [72, 73].

6.4. ROLE OF FETUIN-A IN THE CALCIFICATION PROCESS

One of the major functions of fetuin-A is its ability to inhibit the hydroxyapatite formation by reducing crystal formation even in cell-free solutions containing Ca and PO₄ and consequently inhibit ectopic Ca×PO₄ ion precipitation. This action of precipitation inhibition is mediated by calciprotein, which is transient formation of stable colloidal spheres, containing fetuin-A and basic Ca and PO₄ [70]. Calciprotein particles may serve to transport and remove insoluble Ca precipitates from extraosseous sites to bone tissue acting as a cleaner of calcified foci. Accordingly, it has been suggested that fetuin-A inhibits the *de novo* formation and precipitation of the apatite precursor mineral, basic Ca-PO₄, only transiently and does not dissolve basic Ca-PO₄ once it is formed [69, 70]. Therefore, fetuin-A can hinder undesirable calcification in tissues and circulation without inhibiting bone mineralization. Its function of inhibiting soft tissue calcification is achieved by forming a soluble colloidal microsphere of fetuin–Ca-PO₄ complex in the blood stream. Recently, it has been shown that fetuin-A circulates in the blood in a complex with MGP and Ca-PO₄ precipitates. Price et al. [74] discovered that in etindronate-treated rats fetuin-A exists as a high molecular mass complex of fetuin-A (80%), as a Ca-PO₄ mineral (18%), and as a minor part bound to MGP (2%). There is evidence that high-dose vitamin D treatment, leading to extensive calcification of the artery media, is associated with the presence of fetuin-mineral complex [75]. It has also been observed that the timing of vitamin D-induced artery calcification correlates with the timing of the maximal increase in serum fetuin-mineral complex levels and this complex was undetectable in the blood of rats in which artery calcification was inhibited by ibandronate (a bone resorption inhibitor), or OPG [75]. Although the mechanisms are presently unclear, it is plausible that this complex plays a role in the removal or clearance of mineral component

out of soft tissues, thus preventing and even repairing unwanted calcifications. So far, the high molecular mass fetuin-A-containing complex was found in rat sera and it is yet unclear whether it is identical to calciprotein particles and present in humans.

The relevance of fetuin-A and its inhibitory activity on hydroxyapatite formation has been documented in animal studies after specific depletion of fetuin-A from the serum. Schäfer et al. [20] demonstrated that fetuin-Adeficient mice develop widespread ectopic calcifications of different organic tissues, including kidney, heart, lung, skin, and vasculature. Notably, the severity of the developed calcifications seems to depend on the genetic background of the mice. They also observed that fetuin-A-deficient mice with the calcification-prone DBA/2 genetic background spontaneously develop severe and progressive ectopic calcifications [20]. This may subsequently lead to renal failure due to intratubular obstruction, and secondary hyperparathyroidism. On the other hand, fetuin-A-deficient mice with a C57Bl/6 genetic background (which is relatively more resistant to calcification) require additional stimuli, such as vitamin D treatment, to develop ectopic calcifications. Thus, mice lacking fetuin-A can develop soft tissue and intravascular calcification, especially when challenged with vitamin D [20]. In vitro data also support the importance of fetuin in the studies using primary osteoblast cultures, and salt precipitation assays have demonstrated that fetuin-A inhibits apatite formation [69]. Additionally, fetuin-A can act in VSMCs by inhibiting formation and intracellular calcification of matrix vesicles [76].

6.5. Role of Fetuin-A in Inflammation

There is a general agreement that fetuin-A is downregulated during inflammation and it has therefore considered as a negative acute phase reactant. Lebreton *et al.* [77] observed more than 25 years ago that during acute inflammation fetuin-A levels decreased. The anti-inflammatory property of fetuin-A was demonstrated by the role of fetuin-A to suppress TNF release from lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-stimulated macrophages *in vitro* [78] as well as *in vivo* in an LPS-independent model of acute inflammation [79]. Of note, it has been shown that interleukin-1 β (IL-1 β) downregulates the fetuin-A hepatic mRNA level [80]. In accordance, in LPS-challenged mice hepatic fetuin-A mRNA is markedly downregulated [81]. Hence, fetuin-A may have important functions in inflammation, such as limitation of cytokine production by macrophages [82] and protection against TNF [83]. Several reports have also suggested that fetuin-A may play a general role in phagocytosis regulation and innate immunity. Fetuin-A can act as an opsonin [84], it quenches the oxidative burst associated with the uptake of apatite crystals by neutrophils [85], and it forms antibody complexes involved in marking and removal of apoptotic neutrophils [76]. Moreover, low fetuin-A serum concentrations have been found to be related with depressed cellular immunity [86] and nonspecific host defense [87] (Table 1)

Clinical studies suggest that low fetuin-A serum level is a predictor of poor outcome in patients with liver cirrhosis and liver cancer [88] as well as in CKD patients [89-92]. Although these reports do not necessarily infer causality, they are fully compatible with a role of fetuin-A in clearing insoluble remnants and link fetuin-A deficiency with inflammatory state. It is believed that fetuin-A has antifibrotic activity [72, 93], and can inhibit apoptosis of VSMCs [76]; a process known to contribute to the destabilization of atherosclerotic plaque. Recent evidence suggests that extraossoeus calcification is not only a passive degenerative process but also involves active inflammation [7, 91, 94]. Notably, also other inflamed patient groups, such as systemic lupus erythematosus patients, have an increased coronary calcification burden [95]. Hence, there may be several reasons why a state of chronic inflammation may promote vascular calcification and, in particular, mediators and inhibitors, such as leptin [96], MGP [97], TNF α [98], BMP [99], and OPG [100], may be related to a process of accelerated vascular calcification. Clinical data also suggest that the combination of inflammation and low fetuin-A may further aggravate the vascular calcification process.

6.6. NOVEL LINK BETWEEN FETUIN-A AND THE METABOLIC SYNDROME

Fetuin-A inhibits insulin receptor autophosphorylation and subsequent downstream signaling in vitro [101, 102]. In accordance, injection with human recombinant AHSG inhibited insulin-stimulated tyrosine phosphorvlation of the insulin receptor and insulin receptor substrate-1 in liver and skeletal muscle in rat [101]. In addition, fetuin-A-deficient mice display improved insulin sensitivity and are resistant to weight gain on a high-fat diet [73]. Furthermore, a link between fetuin-A and insulin resistance was suggested by in vitro studies demonstrating that fetuin-A inhibits (in a dosedependent manner) the insulin-stimulated tyrosine kinase activity of the insulin receptor, insulin receptor autophosphorylation, and insulin substrate-1 phosphorylation [103]. These effects were corroborated in vivo in rat liver and skeletal muscle following acute injection of human recombinant AHSG [104] and in AHSG-null mice. These mice exhibit significantly enhanced insulin sensitivity and are resistant to weight gain on a high-fat diet [105]. In humans, serum AHSG levels have been reported to be associated with insulin resistance and fat accumulation in the liver [106], as well as with regulation of weight gain through modulation of adipocyte β 2-adrenoceptor function [107, 108]. Also, in patients with coronary artery disease (CAD),

	Study	Study type	Number and category	Conclusions
1	Ketteler <i>et al.</i> , 2003 [89]	Cross-sectional; Prospective (32 months) <i>ex vivo</i>	312 HD pts	Serum fetuin-A concentration was lower in HD pts compared to healthy controls. Fetuin-A deficiency was associated with inflammation and a predictor of all-cause and CV mortality. Sera from pts on long-term dialysis with low fetuin-A concentrations showed impaired <i>ex vivo</i> capacity to inhibit Ca×PO ₄ precipitation. Reconstitution of sera with purified fetuin-A returned this impairment to normal.
2	Stenvinkel <i>et al.</i> , 2005 [90]	Cross-sectional; Prospective (3.5 years)	258 CKD stage 5 pts	Low fetuin-A is associated with wasting-inflammation, presence of carotid plaques, CV, and all-cause mortality. Patients with the AHSG 256Ser allele had lower fetuin-A levels and higher risk of all-cause and CV mortality.
3	Wang et al., 2005 [91]	Cross-sectional; Prospective (mean 32 months)	238 PD pts	Low serum fetuin-A showed an association with wasting and inflammation. Every 0.01 g/liter increase in serum fetuin-A was associated with a 6% decrease in the risk of valvular calcification independent of CRP and $Ca \times PO_4$ product. Lower serum fetuin-A was associated with higher all-cause mortality and fatal and nonfatal CV events (significance lost when atherosclerotic vascular disease, valvular calcification, wasting, and inflammation were included in the model).
4	Mehrotra <i>et al.</i> , 2005 [123]	Cross-sectional	88 Type-2 DM pts (58 pts with DN)	Serum fetuin-A level was significantly higher among diabetic pts with DN compared to diabetics with no albuminuria. High fetuin-A levels were positively associated with CAC score.

 TABLE 1

 Major Findings in the Clinical Studies on Serum Fetuin-A in Chronic Kidney Disease Patients

5	Moe et al., 2005 [122]	Cross-sectional	68 CKD stage 5 pts	Fetuin-A was negatively correlated with CAC scores and positively associated with OPG levels.
6	Odamaki <i>et al.</i> , 2005 [114]	Cross-sectional	141 HD pts	Aortic calcification area was significantly higher in HD pts with low fetuin-A levels.
7	Ziolkowska <i>et al.</i> , 2006 [230]	Cross-sectional	53 Children (18 pts with NS, 35 CKD) 22 healthy control	Fetuin-A concentration was lower in children with nephritic syndrome.
8	Honda <i>et al.</i> , 2006 [231]	Cross-sectional; Prospective (66 months)	176 CKD stage 5 pts	The prognostic power of fetuin-A for death did not differ significantly from serum IL-6, CRP, and S-albumin.
9	Cozzolino <i>et al.</i> , 2006 [232]	Cross-sectional	115 HD pts	Low serum fetuin-A was associated with high CRP, fibrinogen, and CV calcification score.
10	Coen <i>et al.</i> , 2006 [233]	Cross-sectional	38 HD pts	Fetuin-A and MGP levels correlated with bone formation parameters.
11	Coen <i>et al.</i> , 2006 [234]	Cross-sectional	132 HD pts	Low serum fetuin-A was associated with high CAC score.
12	Jung et al., 2006 [235]	Prospective (2 years)	40 HD pts	Chronic inflammation and altered mineral metabolism, but not serum fetuin-A levels, contribute to progression of CAC.
13	Hermans <i>et al.</i> , 2006 [111]	Cross-sectional	131 Dialysis pts (98 HD, 33 PD)	Fetuin-A levels in dialysis pts did not differ from controls. Fetuin-A was not, in adjusted analysis, an independent predictor of aortic stiffness in dialysis pts with a low inflammatory activity.
14	Hermans <i>et al.</i> , 2007 [92]	Cross-sectional; Prospective (2.8 years)	987 Dialysis pts (664 HD and 323 PD)	High fetuin-A was associated with low CRP and high Ca levels. Fetuin-A was low in males and HD compared to females and PD pts. An increase in serum fetuin-A of 0.1 g/liter was associated with a 13% reduction in all-cause mortality and a 17% reduction in non-CV mortality.

(continues)

	Study	Study type	Number and category	Conclusions	
15	Russo et al., 2007 [236]	Cross-sectional; Prospective (2 years)	53 CKD (stage 3–5)	Baseline fetuin-A did not differ significantly between pts with and without CAC, and fetuin-A did not predict CAC progression.	
16	Caglar <i>et al.</i> , 2007 [237]	Cross-sectional	42 Tx pts	Low serum fetuin-A was associated with endothelial dysfunction.	
17	Hermans <i>et al.</i> , 2007 [238]	Cross-sectional	134 Dialysis pts (103 HD, 31 PD)	Low serum fetuin-A correlated with intima-media thickness.	
18	Cozzolino <i>et al.</i> , 2007 [239]	Cross-sectional	20 HD pts	A single HD session decreases serum fetuin-A, but not serum CRP, fibrinogen, or S-albumin levels.	

TABLE 1 (Continued)

HD=Hemodialysis; pts=patients; CKD=chronic kidney disease; CV=cardiovascular; PD=peritoneal dialysis; DM=diabetes mellitus;

DN=diabetic nephropathy; OPG=osteoprotegerin; CAC=coronary artery calcification; Tx=kidney transplant; CRP=C-reactive protein.

high concentrations of fetuin-A were associated with the metabolic syndrome and atherogenic lipid profile [67]. Furthermore, recent reports from genetic studies suggest that single nucleotide polymorphisms in the *AHSG* gene are associated with adipocyte insulin action in humans [109] and with type-2 DM [110]. Recently, it has been demonstrated that a common SNP in the *AHSG* gene, associated with low fetuin-A, is more common among lean, rather than obese, men [107, 108]. Moreover, an SNP in the promoter region of *AHSG* gene was associated with insulin-mediated inhibition of lipolysis and the stimulation of lipogenesis in adipocytes [109]. Taken together, these findings suggest that fetuin-A is an important candidate among the factors that may induce insulin resistance and promote the metabolic syndrome.

6.7. Low Fetuin-A in Patients with CKD

The circulating fetuin-A level is low among patients with CKD in comparison with the general population. Consistent with results from Ketteler et al. [89], we have reported that the median concentration of fetuin-A was significantly lower in 258 CKD stage 5 patients starting dialysis treatment (0.225 g/liter; range 0.026-0.926 g/liter) compared to 70 healthy controls (0.549 g/liter; range 0.350-0.950 g/liter). This accords with the findings in most studies of CKD patients [90-92]. On the other hand, in one study of CKD stage 5 patients, Hermans et al. [111] reported that serum fetuin-A levels were not different from levels in healthy controls. However, in this CKD cohort [111], patients were characterized by a relatively low level of inflammatory activity. Also, Ix et al. [112, 113] have demonstrated in CAD patients and normal renal function that no relationship exists between fetuin-A concentration and degree of renal function within the normal interval. In another study of dialysis patients, Hermans et al. [92] found significantly higher fetuin-A concentrations in PD patients compared with HD patients. In contrast, we [90] did not find any difference in fetuin-A levels following 12 months of treatment with HD and PD, respectively.

6.8. Relations Between Fetuin-A, Inflammation, and Vascular Calcification

Inflammation and protein energy wasting (PEW) may be important causes of a decrease in serum fetuin-A levels in patients with CKD. Indeed, we found a significantly lower fetuin-A level in CKD stage 5 patients with evidence of inflammation and/or PEW, and fetuin-A [90]. Moreover, fetuin-A was inversely associated with both IL-6 and CRP and positively with S-albumin. The association between fetuin-A deficiency with low S-albumin [91, 114] and other inflammation markers [89, 91] has been reported repeatedly in CKD patients.

Fetuin-A, like S-albumin, is predominantly a liver-derived and a negative acute-phase reactant. Hypoalbuminemia is strongly correlated to fetuin-A deficiency [91, 114] suggesting also an association with PEW and inflammation in CKD patients [90]. Although it has repeatedly been shown that low S-albumin levels are associated with both mortality [115] and cardiac disease [116, 117] in CKD patients, the reasons for this association has not been established. As we have found that the significant association between S-albumin and mortality was lost when fetuin-A was introduced into the Cox model [90], it could be speculated that the well-documented association between S-albumin and vascular disease may be explained, at least in part, by fetuin-A deficiency promoting vascular calcification.

We have also found a lower serum fetuin-A level in CKD stage 5 patients with PEW [90], a finding not surprising in view of the strong association between inflammation and PEW in CKD patients [118]. Similarly, Wang *et al.* [91] reported that low fetuin-A levels were associated with PEW and inflammation as well as with mortality and cardiovascular events in PD patients. Whether poor nutritional intake *per se* affects fetuin-A production in the liver remains to be determined. However, as we found no significant difference in fetuin-A levels comparing CKD patients with inflammation, defined as CRP \geq 10 mg/liter, with and without signs of PEW, respectively [90], it is plausible that a persistent inflammation is the major cause of low fetuin-A levels also in wasted patients.

Several lines of evidence support the hypothesis that chronic inflammation may promote vascular calcification. First, as discussed above, fetuin-A is downregulated during inflammation [81, 119] and Wang et al. [91] have shown that fetuin-A was associated with cardiac valvular calcification and inflammation in PD patients, a finding that indirectly may link inflammation and the calcification process. Second, vascular calcification involves infiltration of monocytes and accumulation of macrophages. Tintut et al. [120] demonstrated that activation of monocytes and macrophages enhance *in vitro* vascular calcification via two independent mechanisms: cell to cell interaction and production of soluble factors, such as TNF α . In fact, TNF α may be an important promoter of vascular calcification by promoting osteoblastic differentiation of vascular cells through the cAMP pathway [98]. Third, the *ob* gene product leptin, which may be related to the presence of inflammation in CKD [121], has been shown to regulate osteoblastic differentiation and enhance the calcification of vascular cells [96]. Finally, Moe et al. [16] have demonstrated that OPN, which is secreted by macrophages and considered as an important regulator of inflammation, was strongly correlated with medial calcification and a history of CAD in patients

undergoing renal transplantation. Taken together, these findings suggest that vascular calcification is, indeed, a part of an active cell-mediated inflammatory process.

6.9. LOW FETUIN-A LEVELS ARE ASSOCIATED WITH POOR OUTCOME IN CKD

To this date, four studies have evaluated circulating serum fetuin-A levels in relation to all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in CKD patients [89–92]. Ketteler et al. [89] were the first group who reported low level of serum fetuin-A, which was associated with high CRP levels, in prevalent HD patients. In their cohort, patients within the lowest tertile of serum fetuin-A levels had a significantly higher all-cause and cardiovascular mortality compared to other two tertiles. Moreover, they showed in an ex vivo assay that the sera from patients with low fetuin-A concentration had a significantly impaired ability to inhibit Ca-PO₄ precipitation compared to sera with normal fetuin-A concentrations [89]. Subsequently, Stenvinkel et al. [90] confirmed (258 CKD stage 5 patients close to dialysis treatment) that low fetuin-A level was associated with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality independently of age, smoking, DM, S-albumin, CVD, and inflammation. In this study, low fetuin-A level was also associated with carotid plaque formation [90]. Recently, in the largest dialysis cohort studied so far, Hermans et al. [92] showed that serum fetuin-A deficiency is a predictor of both cardiovascular and noncardiovascular mortality. Although these studies [89, 90, 92] did not directly address the link between fetuin-A levels and the magnitude of vascular calcification in CKD patients, they consistently show the associations between low fetuin-A levels and inflammation, accelerated atherosclerosis and CVD mortality in CKD patients. Adding to these results, Wang et al. [91] showed that low fetuin-A is associated with valvular calcification, atherosclerosis, and predicted mortality and cardiovascular events in 238 PD patients. In a small cohort of CKD patients, Moe et al. [122] showed a significant association between coronary calcification and fetuin-A deficiency. Moreover, Odamaki et al. [114] found in 141 Japanese HD patients that the aortic calcification area was significantly higher in patients with low fetuin-A than in those with high fetuin-A. The latter showed a significantly negative correlation with carotid plaques. These findings in CKD patients accord with a recent report in non-renal patients. Ix et al. [112] demonstrated associations between calcifications of mitral and aortic valves with low serum fetuin-A levels in 970 patients with CAD (Table 2).

However, not all studies have been able to demonstrate a link between serum fetuin-A and markers of vascular calcification. As an example, Hermans *et al.* [111] reported that in CKD patients with a relatively low level of inflammatory activity, serum fetuin-A could *not* be identified as an

	Study	Study type	Number and category	Conclusions
1	Kalaby <i>et al.</i> , 1990 [240]	Cross-sectional	63 pts with SLE	Serum fetuin-A concentration was lower in SLE pts.
2	Kalaby <i>et al.</i> , 1992 [87]	Cross-sectional	753 pts with various diseases	Whereas the concentrations of serum fetuin-A were low in variety of diseased, it was elevated in pts with B and C hepatitis.
3	Kalaby <i>et al.</i> , 2002 [88]	Cross-sectional; Prospective (1 month)	191 pts with liver disease and liver cancer	Patients with liver cirrhosis and hepatocellular cancer, but n those with acute viral hepatitis, had low serum fetuin-A concentrations. Low fetuin-A levels were associated with increased mortality.
4	Mathews <i>et al.</i> , 2000 [102]	Prospective (7 days)	20 pts with AMI	Serum fetuin-A levels were low in AMI pts. Fetuin-A concentrations decreased within a few hours after the onse AMI.
5	Ix et al., 2006 [113]	Cross-sectional	970 outpatients with CAD (CKD stage 1–3)	No evidence that mild-to-moderate CKD is associated with lower concentrations of serum fetuin-A among individual with CAD. Independent of kidney function, serum fetuin- was associated with serum Ca and PO ₄ concentrations.
6	Ix et al., 2006 [67]	Cross-sectional	711 Nondiabetic outpatients with CAD	High fetuin-A concentration was independently associated we metabolic syndrome and an atherogenic lipid profile.
7	Mori <i>et al.</i> , 2006 [241]	Cross-sectional	321 (161 type-2 DM) subjects	No differences in fetuin-A concentrations between nondiabe and type-2 diabetic individuals. High serum fetuin-A concentration was independently associated with insulin resistance (HOMA) in nondiabetic subjects. However, no significant relationship was observed between fetuin-A lev and insulin resistance in diabetic subjects.

TABLE 2	
MAJOR FINDINGS IN THE CLINICAL STUDIES ON FETUIN-A IN NON-RENAL POPULATIONS	

8	Stefan <i>et al.</i> , 2006 [106]	Cross-sectional	106 Healthy subjects	A high serum fetuin-A level was independently associated with insulin resistance (euglycemic-hyperinsulinemic clamp) and with fat accumulation in the liver.
9	Hendig <i>et al.</i> , 2006 [242]	Cross-sectional	110 PXE pts	Serum fetuin-A concentrations in PXE pts were lower than in unaffected first-degree relatives and healthy controls. Fetuin- A polymorphism frequencies did not differ among PXE pts, family members, and healthy controls.
10	Fiore <i>et al.</i> , 2007 [124]	Cross-sectional	90 pts with atherosclerotic plaques	High serum fetuin-A levels were associated with intima-media thickness. Fetuin-A levels were significantly higher in pts compared to subjects with no plaques.
11	Ix et al., 2007 [112]	Cross-sectional	970 Outpatients with CAD (26% diabetic)	High serum fetuin-A concentration was associated with less mitral annular calcification (OR 0.47). This association was similar regardless of diabetes status. Similar association was also observed between high fetuin-A and presence of aortic stenosis in nondiabetic individuals (OR 0.37); whereas among diabetics no association was observed between fetuin-A and aortic stenosis.
12	Mori et al., 2007 [243]	Cross-sectional	141 Healthy subjects	High serum fetuin-A level was independently associated with carotid arterial stiffness.
13	Kaden <i>et al.</i> , 2007 [244]	Cross-sectional	59 Subjects with ($n=31$) or without ($n=28$) calcific aortic stenosis	Serum fetuin-A levels were lower in pts compared to healthy controls. Immunohistochemistry staining of fetuin-A was found in stenotic valves but not in healthy control valves.
14	Dahlman <i>et al.</i> , 2004 [109]	Cross-sectional	364 Healthy women (188 lean and 176 obese)	The –469T>G SNP of AHSG gene was associated with insulin- mediated inhibition of lipolysis and stimulation of lipogenesis. Three AHSG SNPs were associated with cholesterol. None of six AHSG SNPs were associated with BMI, body fat mass, waist circumference, glucose, or insulin resistance.
15	Osawa <i>et al.</i> , 2005 [133]	Cross-sectional	176 Healthy subjects	The <i>AHSG2</i> allele is associated with lower levels of serum fetuin- A compared to <i>AHSG1</i> allele.

(continues)

	Study	Study type	Number and category	Conclusions	
16	Lavebratt <i>et al.</i> , 2005 [107]	Cross-sectional	93 Healthy men	A common variation (Thr230Met) in the AHSG gene is markedly associated with increase in β 2-adrenoceptor sensitivity in subcutaneous adipose tissue.	
17	Lavebratt <i>et al.</i> , 2005 [108]	Cross-sectional	504 Healthy subjects (356 overweight or obese and 148 lean	A common variant, <i>rs2593813</i> :G–230:Met–238:Ser, of the insulin receptor inhibitor gene <i>AHSG</i> is more common among lean than among obese and overweight Swedish men suggesting that a low level of fetuin-A is protective against obesity.	
18	Lehtinen <i>et al.</i> , 2007 [132]	Cross-sectional	829 Type-2 DM pts	Four SNPs of <i>AHSG</i> gene were independently associated with CAC.	

 TABLE 2 (Continued)

SLE=Systemic lupus erythematosus; AMI=acute myocardial infarction; CAD=coronary artery disease; PXE=pseudoxanthoma elasticum disorder; HOMA=Homeostatis model assessment; BMI=Body mass index. Other abbreviations as in Table 1.

independent predictor of aortic stiffness as measured with pulse-wave velocity. Furthermore, in diabetic CKD stage 1-4 patients, with or without diabetic nephropathy, high, rather than low, fetuin-A levels were positively related to the magnitude of coronary artery calcification (CAC) [123]. Also in another study performed in non-renal population with evidence of athersclerotic plaques, fetuin-A concentration was higher in patients compared to age- and gender-matched healthy subjects and positively correlated with the severity of peripheral vascular calcification [124]. It is notable that also in this study patients with atherosclerosis were characterized by a low level of inflammatory activity. The authors speculated that low grade of inflammation in their patients leads to a negative bone remodeling balance due to reduced bone formation and consequently prevent incorporation of fetuin-A into bone [124]. Instead fetuin-A is shifted to serum where it is incorporated in serum mineral complex generated as a consequence of the inhibition of bone mineralization [74]. It is clear that the relationship of fetuin-A with extraosseous calcification, including vascular calcification, is divergent in CKD patients, which may reflect its diverse actions.

Apart from its function in bone, fetuin-A promotes insulin resistance [101, 125] and interferes with insulin receptor phosphorylation [102], as mentioned previously. In a recent study of 711 nondiabetic outpatients with CAD participating in the Heart and Soul Study, Ix et al. [67] found that a high circulating fetuin-A concentration was associated with the metabolic syndrome, even after adjustment for potential confounding variables. In the same study, higher fetuin-A was also associated with higher lowdensity lipoprotein (LDL)-cholesterol and triglyceride concentrations, and lower high-density lipoprotein (HDL)-cholesterol concentrations [67]. This dual role of fetuin-A may explain the discrepancy in the relationship between fetuin-A and aortic valve calcification among the diabetic and nondiabetic patients [112]. In line with this assumption, whereas prior epidemiological studies in populations primarily without DM have demonstrated an inverse correlation of fetuin-A with vascular calcification [82, 122], there is a direct correlation in DM population [123]. It is possible that factors inducing an insulin-resistant state may result in high serum fetuin-A levels, which may be protective in this setting by limiting the amount of dystrophic calcification conferred by an insulin-resistant state [126, 127]. The relation of fetuin-A to calcification seems to be different in diabetic patients with more or less impaired renal function (CKD stage 1-4) [123]. Thus, in patients with diabetic nephropathy a positive association between fetuin-A levels and coronary calcification scores was demonstrated [123]. Based on these findings it
has been hypothesized that fetuin-A upregulation is a systemic feedback defense mechanism protecting against vascular calcifications in the early stages of diabetic nephropathy [128].

Whether fetuin-A upregulation may serve as a systemic defense mechanism and a physiological attempt to counteract early vascular calcifications remains to be investigated. Indirect support for this speculation may be the recent immunohistochemical findings showing markedly increased fetuin-A depositions around areas of vascular calcification, while the protein is not expressed locally [122]. However, patients in late stages of kidney dysfunction could potentially develop progressive fetuin-A deficiency due to exposure to high levels of uremic toxins or to persisting low-grade inflammation. Moreover, during dialysis treatment more extreme calcification develops [123], which may exhaust the fetuin-A system and consume existing fetuin-A from the circulation, collectively causing depletion of fetuin-A in the serum. Indeed, in the prospective part of the study by Stenvinkel et al. [90] it was shown that one year of dialysis treatment was associated with a small, but significant, reduction in serum fetuin-A levels. This finding may indirectly support the suggestion that the process of vascular calcification is accelerated by dialysis treatment. Indeed, whereas Spiegel et al. [129] reported that coronary and aortic calcification was not a very common phenomenon in patients new to HD treatment, Ketteler et al. [89] reported higher coronary calcification scores in patients on long-term dialysis compared to short-term dialysis. Moreover, Moe et al. [130] demonstrated that duration of dialysis (vintage) and age were the only factors that correlated with coronary calcification. Thus, it is tempting to speculate that exhaustion of fetuin-A concentrations during dialysis treatment may be one reason for the accelerated vascular calcification process in this patient group. As neither mode of dialysis therapy nor changes in S-albumin or CRP levels were associated with the observed decline in fetuin-A levels [90], further studies are needed to investigate if other factors, such as changes in residual renal function, acid-base balance, or nutritional status, may cause a decline of fetuin-A levels during dialysis. We have to bear in mind that whereas calcification is a slowly progressive process over time with an unknown starting point, fetuin-A levels may fluctuate substantially, possibly dependent on repeated flares of inflammation. Clearly, further studies in larger cohorts with multiple longitudinal observations and serum measurements are probably to delineate these relationships. So far, current data suggest the concept that fetuin-A, as a calcification inhibitory factor, may progressively fail with the development of uremia due to yet unidentified mechanisms and fetuin-A could be considered as a local biomarker of the calcification burden as well as a systemic marker of active disease.

6.10. Fetuin-A and Genetic Polymorphisms

Evidence supporting the anticalcific role of fetuin-A first came from studies with deficient mice showing increased susceptibility to both blood vessels and soft tissue calcifications. Indeed, Schäfer et al. [20] have demonstrated that deletion of the fetuin-A gene (fetuin- $A^{-/-}$) in mice causes a phenotype of extraosseous calcification of various organs, including kidney, testis, skin, heart, and vasculature. This depends on the genetic background of mouse as DBA/2 mice calcify spontaneously whereas C57Bl/6 mice need additional stimuli like vitamin D treatment in order to show calcifications [20]. Several nonsynonymous polymorphisms exist in the AHSG gene [131]. It is plausible that genetic alterations may have an effect on the circulating amounts of this protein also in human. Stenvinkel et al. [90] were able to identify a specific fetuin-A gene polymorphism (AHSG 256Ser allele) which had lower serum fetuin-A levels and a significantly worse outcome than those patients carrying the alternative polymorphisms. In accordance, Lehtinen et al. [132] found that polymorphisms in four SNPs in AHSG were associated with coronary artery calcified plaques in 829 European American subjects with type-2 DM. Of note, the presence of inflammation had an inhibitory effect on fetuin-A levels in patients carrying the AHSG 256Thr allele, a finding suggesting a significant gene-environment interaction, where the involvement of inflammatory processes may further enhance the negative effects of low circulating fetuin-A levels [90]. Another report by Osawa et al. [133] demonstrated associations of an AHSG gene polymorphism (AHSG2 allele) with lower serum fetuin-A levels and with serum PO_4 levels in the general population. The association of this gene polymorphism with PO₄ is interesting, although it is difficult to interpret since it was observed in healthy subjects in whom serum PO₄ is predominantly regulated by renal excretion and bone turnover, both controlled by PTH and vitamin D. It is yet unknown whether fetuin-A has any impact on the regulation of PTH and vitamin D, or has a role on renal, gastrointestinal, or osseous functions with regard to phosphate handling. Clearly, additional studies are needed to evaluate if AHSG 256Ser allele or AHSG2 allele carriers are a group of CKD patients particularly prone to develop vascular calcification, and would benefit from early detection.

Furthermore, Lavebratt *et al.* [107, 108] demonstrated that a common SNP in the *AHSG* gene associated with lower circulating AHSG is more common among lean than obese and overweight men, suggesting a link between these gene mutations and a role for AHSG in the metabolic syndrome. Moreover, an SNP in the promoter region of AHSG was associated with insulin-mediated inhibition of lipolysis and the stimulation of lipogenesis in adipocytes [109]. Clearly, further studies should be performed to evaluate these and other pathways linking fetuin-A with adipose tissue biology in CKD.

SULIMAN ET AL.

7. Matrix-Gla Protein

MGP is the first recognized protein that acts as a calcification inhibitor in vivo [134]. It is a 10-kDa protein containing five γ -carboxyglutamic acid (GLA) residues expressed in several tissues, including bone, kidney, lung, heart, cartilage, and VSMCs of the blood vessel wall [134, 135]. MGP expression increases with increase in extracellular Ca concentrations and it is also increased in atherosclerotic plaques [21, 136, 137]. It inhibits both arterial and cartilage calcifications. However, it also inhibits mesenchymal cell differentiation to the osteogenic lineage by sequestering the potent osteogenic and chondrogenic differentiation factor, BMP-2. The effect of MGP and BMP-2 depends on the degree of MGP γ -carboxylation and the ratio of the levels of these two molecules, suggesting that lack of function of MGP. rather than its amount, may be the factor that increases the risk of calcification [21, 138, 139]. The local increase of MGP expression during vascular calcification may limit the extent of calcification because MGP can bind to BMP-2 [140, 141]. MGP is by virtue of its GLA residues a Ca-binding protein. Thus, a potential mechanism of MGP action in inhibiting Ca-PO₄ deposition is Ca chelation [142]. Alternatively, circulating complexes of MGP and Ca-PO₄ have been identified, suggesting that MGP is involved in Ca-PO₄ clearance [74] and it also binds to elastin [97]. In contrast to its mineral-binding properties, MGP was also found to inhibit BMP-2 activity via matrix association and may thus inhibit osteogenic differentiation [138]. Although the role of MGP in calcification is complex, it is evident that MGP is a major inhibitor of both arterial and cartilage calcification and regulates bone and vascular homeostasis.

Mounting evidence from animal studies underline the role of MGP in normal vascular function. Knockout mice experiments demonstrate that MGP acts *in vivo* as an inhibitor of mineralization in arteries and cartilage and MGP-deficient mice are subjected to dramatic ectopic calcifications [143]. In these mice, abnormal cartilage calcification and extensive calcification of elastic arteries developed within a few weeks. The calcification caused premature death due to rupture of the aorta [143]. Moreover, a rare autosomal recessive condition (Keutel syndrome) due to mutations in the gene encoding MGP [144] is associated with calcification of cartilage, but not arteries. However, unlike the mouse model, Keutel syndrome patients survive into adulthood, which implies that also other factors may function to inhibit vascular calcification in humans. In MGP-deficient mice, the vascular calcification starts in the media and, once initiated, spreads rapidly along elastin fibers. However, there is no evidence of atherosclerotic lesions or ectopic bone formation in these mice [143].

As MGP is a member of the vitamin K-dependent protein family this protein needs vitamin K-dependent γ -carboxylation enzyme for its biological activation. Thus, in the case of deficiency of functional vitamin K, calcification may be enhanced owing to decreased availability of functional of MGP [21]. An association between vascular calcification and lower vitamin K intake was found in postmenopausal women [145]. In accordance, the large population-based Rotterdam study showed a reduced CAD risk with increasing amounts of dietary vitamin K intake [146]. Although poor nutrition is a common finding in CKD patients, the effect of vitamin K supplementation on vascular health has, to the best of our knowledge, not been studied. Also, warfarin interferes with the availability of bioactive vitamin K and may interfere with MGP function. As inhibition of the γ carboxylation of Gla residues with warfarin in both cell culture experiments and in vivo studies resulted in increased matrix mineralization, this suggests that the mineral-binding Gla residues of proteins, such as MGP, are crucial for the regulation of matrix mineralization [147, 148]. In accordance, treatment with warfarin at doses that inhibit the vitamin K-dependent γ -carboxvlation of MGP induces progressive calcification of arterial media and increases gene expression of MGP in the calcifying artery in the rat [147, 148]. The potential clinical importance of vitamin K-dependent γ -carboxylation is underlined by recent studies showing that patients on oral anticoagulant therapy had increased coronary and valvular calcifications compared to patients without anticoagulation treatment, presumably due to less active MGP [149, 150]. This issue may have important clinical implications for the use of vitamin K antagonist-based anticoagulation substances like warfarin in both non-renal and renal patient populations. However, although high doses of warfarin can cause vascular calcification in rats, such effects on calcification in man have not been described although one study showed that warfarin was a risk factor for the development of the life-threatening condition calciphylaxis in CKD patients [151].

A relation between serum MGP concentrations and artery calcification has been reported in the rat with threefold increase in MGP levels in animals with the greatest artery calcification [147]. This is presumably secondary to increased local synthesis of MGP for the purpose of slowing the progression of artery calcification. However, increased serum levels of MGP, without a concomitant increase in MGP expression in the arterial walls, does not inhibit the ectopic mineralization observed in mice lacking MGP [152]. The association between serum MGP and vascular calcification seems controversial in the light of the findings in the general population. For example, it has been reported that serum MGP levels were inversely associated with severity of CAC detected by electron beam computer tomography (EBCT) in 115 patients with CAD [153]. Whereas, another study showed that serum MGP concentration was significantly high in patients with severe atherosclerosis and the levels were normal in individuals with low bone mass and osteoporosis [154]. Also, a recent study by O'Donnell *et al.* [155] reported that MGP level is associated with atherosclerosis risk factors but not with CAC.

The relationships between MGP and established atherosclerosis risk factors are unclear, and it is uncertain whether risk factors individually or together may confound the relationship between MGP and CAC. It is also possible that other confounding factors may underlie these differing findings. Nonetheless, the fact that MGP knockout mice (MGP $^{-/-}$) develop extensive vascular calcification and die prematurely of a ruptured aorta [143] supports the concept that MGP has significant inhibitory role in calcification. Of note, in a clinical study performed in a low-risk male population, MGP-7 AA homozygotes have been shown to have an almost four times higher risk of myocardial infarction [156]. Moreover, AA homozygotes exhibited femoral artery calcification in the presence of femoral atherosclerotic plaque more frequently than subjects with other genotypes [156]. Also, MGP-7 AA homozygosity, compared to other genotypes, was found to be associated with a higher level of left ventricular hypertrophy and accelerated progress of atherosclerosis in one year, based on carotid artery ultrasound assessments, [157]. In accordance, Brancaccio et al. [158] showed that nondialyzed CKD patients and HD patients who are MGP-138TT homozygotes and MGP-7AA homozygotes have a significantly worse prognosis and cardiovascular events.

8. Osteoprotegerin

OPG is a circulating glycoprotein that serves as a decoy receptor for the TNF ligand superfamily member RANKL [159] and TNF-related apoptosisinducing ligand [160, 161]. It is a secreted TNF-receptor-like molecule and acts as an inhibitor of terminal differentiation and activation of boneresorbing osteoclasts and, thus, serves as a potent inhibitor of bone resorption *in vivo*. Unlike most members of the TNF receptor superfamily (which are transmembrane proteins), OPG is a secreted protein [160]. It binds to osteoprotegerin ligand (OPGL) and thereby inhibits the interaction between receptor activator of nuclear factor (NF)- κ B (RANK) and OPGL on osteoclasts differentiation [162]. OPG-deficient mice exhibit a decrease in total bone density, marked thinning of the parietal bones of the skull, a high incidence of fractures, and also medial calcification of the aorta and renal arteries [163]. Thus, OPG seems to be of importance both in osteoclastogenesis and vascular calcification. Transgenic overexpression of OPG in mice produces an osteopetrotic phenotype due to the inhibition of growth-related bone resorption [122]. Disruption of the OPG gene produces osteoporosis marked by excessive bone resorption indicating the importance of this molecule in normal bone physiology. OPG, a RANK homolog, works by binding to the RANK-ligand on osteoblast/stromal cells, thus blocking the RANK-RANK ligand interaction between osteoblast/stromal cells and osteoclast precursors. OPG is found in a number of tissues including the major arteries [160]. It is also highly expressed in VSMCs, where it is upregulated by platelet-derived growth factor, fibroblast growth factor, angiotensin II, TNF α , and IL-1 β [164]. Emerging evidence indicates that OPG is not only a bone protector, but also acts as a protective factor for the vascular system [165]. A recent study demonstrated OPG and RANKL immunoreactivity in early atherosclerotic lesions in human tissues, suggesting a regulatory role of these proteins not only in osteoclastogenesis but also in atherosclerotic calcification [166]. In a rat model, warfarin-induced vascular calcification was prevented with OPG treatment [162]. However, recombinant OPG, which known to protect against osteoporosis, did not reverse vascular calcification in OPG-deficient mice [167]. In contrast, the same study showed that OPG transgenic mice delivered from midgestation to adulthood did prevent arterial calcification [167], suggesting that although OPG can help prevent arterial calcification, it cannot reverse it. Similarly, MGP null mice develop severe medial vascular calcification and die at a one month age from CAD and vascular aneurysms [143].

Although the mechanism(s) whereby OPG prevent arterial calcification is still unclear, human studies have shown a paradoxical positive association between serum OPG levels and CAC [122]. OPG levels were 30% higher in women with DM and increased OPG levels were associated with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality [168]. Also, in patients who underwent coronary angiography, OPG level was greater in patients with significant coronary stenosis compared with those without stenosis and the increase in OPG level was associated with the severity of disease [169]. These findings were later confirmed by another study in 522 men undergoing coronary angiography [170]. Moreover, an association between OPG concentration and progressive atherosclerosis has been reported [171].

As increased levels of OPG in CKD patients [172, 173] are associated with serum creatinine levels and 24-hour creatinine clearance [173], the kidney seems to be a major site for clearance of OPG. In a prospective study, Nitta *et al.* [174] showed that the rapid progression of vascular calcification was associated with serum OPG concentration in a group of HD patients. Moreover, the same investigators reported that the aortic calcification index in HD patients was associated with OPG levels [100]. Thus, increased levels of OPG predict all-cause and cardiovascular mortality in both dialysis [175] and renal transplant [176] patients. Recently, Morena *et al.* [175] showed that high

OPG levels were associated with all-cause and cardiovascular mortality and that these associations were stronger in inflamed HD patients. As increased levels of serum OPG are associated with increased cardiovascular risk, these findings seem to contradict the calcification inhibitory properties of this protein. Based on these paradoxical findings it could be speculated that increased OPG may result from enhanced synthesis in vessel walls by activated osteoblast-like cells, committed to vascular calcification.

As the process of calcification includes monocyte and macrophage infiltration, the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines, such as $TNF\alpha$, may also affect vascular calcification by promoting osteoblastic differentiation through the cAMP pathway [98]. Results in non-renal patients suggest that polymorphisms within the TNF α gene may have an impact on the calcification phenotype [177]. Although OPG knockout animals develop both osteoporosis and vascular calcifications [163], serum OPG levels were significantly elevated in HD patients with a higher aortic calcification index [100]. Therefore, it can be speculated that increased serum levels of OPG may be a compensatory protective response to the progression of vascular calcification. Moe et al. [16] demonstrated that vascular calcification of the medial layer of epigastric arteries is associated with deposition of OPG in CKD patients undergoing renal transplantation. These data are corroborated by the recent findings of Strom et al. [178] in triple knockout mice (ApoE/LDLreceptor/OPG) showing that OPG deficiency reduces atherogenesis. Several functional OPG gene polymorphisms exist, and in Caucasian men, the genotype combinations 950 TC/1181 GC and 950 CC/1181 CC may confer an increased risk of CAD [179]. Although OPG gene polymorphisms have been associated with osteoporosis and CVD in non-renal patients [179], its significance in the extraosseous calcification process in CKD patients remains largely unexplored.

9. Osteopontin

OPN is a single-chain polypeptide glycoprotein with a molecular weight of approximately 32,600 kDa first identified in osteoblasts in 1986 [180]. OPN is an extracellular structural protein and an organic component of bone, which functions as an important calcification inhibitor. Synthesis of OPN is stimulated by calcitriol in a variety of tissues and in a variety of cancers. OPN is an acidic phosphoprotein normally present in skeleton, where it facilitates the attachment of osteoclasts to the bone matrix via an interaction with cell surface $\alpha v\beta 3$ integrin and CD44, the hyaluronic acid receptor [181]. OPN is a potent inhibitor of vascular calcification via direct inhibition of apatite

growth by binding to crystal surfaces and induction osteoclast function through $\alpha v\beta 3$ integrin (26). It also promotes the expression of carbonic anhydrase II in monocytes and increases the acidification of the extracellular milieu [182]. It is known that carbonic anhydrase deficiency leads to soft tissue calcifications and osteopetrosis [183]. Therefore, OPN inhibits vascular and soft tissue calcifications through direct and indirect pathways. OPN directly inhibits calcification of cultured bovine aortic smooth muscle cells and inhibits aortic valve calcification in vivo [21, 182, 184]. In CKD patients, hyperphosphataemia is associated with the expression of OPN in VSMCs [185]. Mice with a genetic deficiency of MGP and OPN have accelerated aortic calcification compared with mice deficient in MGP alone; consistent with the concept that OPN inhibits mineralization [21, 186]. OPN produced locally by VSMCs may serve as an important inducible inhibitor of vascular calcification [187]. It has been reported that OPN is abundant at sites of calcification in human atherosclerotic plaques and in calcified aortic valves but is not in normal arteries [188-194]. In HD patients, OPN levels were significantly higher compared to healthy subjects and correlated with aortic calcification index [195]. In the same study, Nitta et al. [195] reported that OPN is abundantly expressed in the atherosclerotic lesions of aortic tissues and that this expression was related to the degree of atheromatous plaques in HD patients. Similar to OPG, this suggests that elevated OPN levels are a counterregulatory response to the increased calcification burden in CKD and limit the extent of vascular calcification.

OPN acts as a cytokine and is secreted by activated macrophages, leukocytes, and activated T lymphocytes at sites of inflammation [196, 197]. This cytokine mediates important cell-matrix and cell-cell interactions. In the immune system, OPN plays a role in chemotaxis, leading to the migration of macrophages and dendritic cells to sites of inflammation. Activation of T lymphocytes results in an increase in OPN transcription. It has been demonstrated that OPN is a T-lymphocyte suppressor factor and enhances B-lymphocyte immunoglobulin production and proliferation [198]. In addition, OPN is an important cytokine mediating Th1 immunity [199]. Thus, OPN is a multifunctional protein expressed by many cell types, with roles in atherosclerosis, cell-mediated immunity, and macrophage recruitment and activation [200]. In early stages of atherosclerosis, OPN attracts inflammatory cells, promotes the release of proteolytic enzymes, and stimulates VSMCs proliferation [201, 202]. Plasma OPN is increased in severe CAD [203], and there are high concentrations of OPN found in the intima from carotid endarterectomy specimens [204]. In later stages of atherosclerosis, macrophages synthesize OPN at high levels, which may limit further calcification [205].

10. Bone Morphogenetic Protein-7

BMPs are secreted signaling molecules that comprise a subfamily of the TGF β superfamily of cytokines. Originally identified as protein regulators of cartilage and bone organs, it has been shown that BMPs are also involved in embryogenesis and morphogenesis of various tissues and organs. They play an essential role in pattern formation during embryogenesis, control osteoblast differentiation, and promote osteogenesis [206]. There are at least 20 structurally and functionally related BMPs, most of which play roles in embryogenesis and morphogenesis of various tissues and organs.

The effects of local BMP are mediated by intracellular regulators that include stimulatory and inhibitory Smad proteins, of which Smad6 is an inhibitor of BMP signaling [207]. The basic signal mechanisms consist of two receptor serine/threonine protein kinases (receptor types 1 and 2) and a family of receptor substrates (the Smad proteins) that move into the nucleus [208]. Targeted mutation of *Madh6* (the gene that encodes Smad6) in mice showed an important role of Smad6 in the development of the cardiovascular system [209]. Smad6-deficient mice had cardiac valve and outflow tract defects and suffered from considerable perinatal mortality [209]. Moreover, their heart valves were hyperplastic, the septum appeared misplaced, with aorta showing cartilaginous metaplasia and ossification of the medial layer. This may lead to impairment of vascular relaxation and increase of the mean arterial blood pressure [209], it could be suggested that Smad6 limits the osteogenic responsiveness of the cardiovascular system to TGF/BMP signals [209].

BMP-7 is also essential for the development of kidneys, eyes, and bones [210]. In the adult, BMP-7 maintains a role in osteoblast function, suggesting a hormonal role in bone metabolism. BMP-7 expression decreases early in the course of renal failure [211] and recent findings suggests that BMP-7 is involved in the process of vascular calcification of CKD and in the pathogenesis of renal osteodystrophy [99, 212, 213]. Thus, BMP-7 deficiency may have important roles in the pathogenesis of CKD [214] and could also influence the pathogenesis and treatment of vascular calcifications. It has been shown that BMP-7 maintains VSMCs differentiation and prevents their transformation into an osteoblastic phenotype [212, 215]. Transdifferentiation of VSMCs in osteoblastic phenotype could be the critical first step in the cause of vascular calcification and it is clear that BMP-7 has a positive influence in maintaining VSMC differentiation. Because vascular calcification in CKD appears to be regulated in a process similar to bone formation, one considers a role of BMPs in the pathogenesis of vascular calcification. However, although the roles of the BMPs in osteogenesis are well documented, their roles in vascular calcification are more complex and

less well defined. Whereas BMP-7 appears to inhibit vascular calcification, BMP-2 seems to be a strong basic causative factor in vascular calcification [216]. Thus, further studies defining the precise role of BMPs in vascular calcification are needed, particularly with regards to how factors with similar signaling cascades can have such divergent effects. Davies *et al.* [99] showed that BMP-7 is an effective treatment of vascular calcification in the context of a murine model of atherosclerosis and CKD, a finding that may have important implications for the development in human beings of future therapies for this condition, which currently is without treatment and with strong negative influences on cardiovascular morbidity and mortality.

11. Inorganic Pyrophosphate

PPi is emerging as one of the potent physiological inhibitors of hydroxyapatite formation and considered as a potent inhibitor of vascular calcification and increasingly recognized as a vascular paracrine factor that mediates this process [217]. Pyrophosphate is generated as a by-product of various metabolic reactions, and the levels are maintained by the activity of three compounds: nucleotide pyrophosphatase phosphodiesterase-1 (NPP-1), multiple-pass transmembrane protein encoded by the progressive ankylosis locus (ANK), and tissue nonspecific alkaline phosphatases (TNAP). Intracellular synthesis of PPi is regulated by the rate-limiting enzyme ENPP-1 and the appropriate transport of PPi into the extracellular environment is controlled by ANK where the excess of extracellular PPi is degraded by TNAP to phosphate. Accordingly, activity of NPP-1 and ANK prevents ectopic calcification, while high TNAP activity favors calcification by increasing PO₄ concentrations. Thus, the mechanism by which pyrophosphate modulates vascular calcification is through direct physiochemical inhibition of hydroxyapatite formation and preventing propagation of tissue Ca deposition [218]. Nonetheless, deficiencies in pyrophosphate lead to deficiency in OPN expression, another calcification inhibitor, in mouse primary osteoblasts [219], which may suggest another mechanism in this process. Deficiency in NPP1 is associated with vascular calcification whereas decreased ANK promotes endochondral vascular calcification [220-222]. Creating ANK deficiency in transgenic mice leads to the particular phenotype of periarticular hydroxyapatite deposition and progressive inflammatory arthritis [223]. Moreover, PPi is a direct and potent inhibitor of hydroxyapatite formation in vitro, and even small concentrations in plasma are sufficient to completely prevent crystallization from saturated solutions of Ca and PO₄ [224-226]. In idiopathic infantile arterial calcification, a human genetic disease, deficiency of PPi, due to deficient NPP-1 activity, is associated with widespread

calcification of the blood vessels and articular cartilage and usually results in mortality by 6 months of age [220]. Moreover, low levels of PPi as a result of the absence of NPP-1 enzyme lead to severe, fatal arterial calcification that can be prevented by therapy with bisphosphonates [227, 228]. So far, *in vivo* and *in vitro* findings suggest that vascular calcification cannot occur in the presence of normal concentrations of PPi and that the vascular calcification in CKD may be associated with altered PPi metabolism. A recent study reported low plasma PPi levels in HD patients that are exacerbated as a result of dialysis clearance [229]. Thus, abnormalities in pyrophosphate metabolism in CKD patients might also help explain the predominance of vascular calcification in such patients. Whether low levels of PPi are associated with vascular calcification in CKD remains to be determined.

12. Conclusion

The annual mortality rate in CKD patients is extremely high primarily due to cardiovascular events. Apart from traditional Framingham risk factors, a growing body of evidence points to nontraditional risk factors, including disturbances in mineral metabolism. Disturbances in mineral metabolism, especially Ca and PO₄, have been linked to vascular calcification. Vascular calcifications play a vital role in the development of cardiovascular events and subsequent increased mortality. With the relatively recent recognition of vascular calcification as an actively regulated process and the consequences of the active and dynamic balance of procalcifying and anticalcifying influences, growing numbers of calcification inhibitors (fetuin-A, MGP, OPG, OPN, BMP-7, and PPi) have been discovered. Recent evidence suggests that alterations of these inhibitors may contribute to the high prevalence of vascular complications in CKD patients. Although our understanding of the physiological and pathophysiological roles of calcification inhibitors is currently still in the early stages, it is likely that fetuin-A is one of the most relevant factors among an increasing number of other calcification inhibitors. Both chronic inflammation and the uremic milieu *per se* may contribute to an exhaustion of fetuin-A in CKD. Specific mutations of the AHSG gene may be additional determinants of fetuin-A deficiency. The emerging role of fetuin-A deficiency as a risk factor is documented in CKD demonstrating a significant correlation with vascular calcification, all-cause and cardiovascular mortality. Thus, based on the growing research in the field of vascular calcification, it can be expected that novel diagnostic and therapeutic approaches considering deficiencies of calcification inhibitors may develop in the near future and help to abate and potentially reverse the deleterious of vascular calcification and death.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by Swedish Heart and Lung foundation (P.S.), Swedish Medical Research Council (P.S.), and Martin Rinds Foundation (P.S.).

References

- Foley RN, Parfrey PS, Sarnak MJ. Clinical epidemiology of cardiovascular disease in chronic renal disease. Am J Kidney Dis 1998; 32(Suppl. 5):S112–S119.
- [2] Stenvinkel P, Pecoits-Filho R, Lindholm B. Coronary artery disease in end-stage renal disease: No longer a simple plumbing problem. J Am Soc Nephrol 2003; 14(7):1927–1939.
- [3] London GM, Guerin AP, Marchais SJ, Metivier F, Pannier B, Adda H. Arterial media calcification in end-stage renal disease: Impact on all-cause and cardiovascular mortality. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2003; 18(9):1731–1740.
- [4] Ibels LS, Stewart JH, Mahony JF, Neale FC, Sheil AG. Occlusive arterial disease in uraemic and haemodialysis patients and renal transplant recipients. A study of the incidence of arterial disease and of the prevalence of risk factors implicated in the pathogenesis of arteriosclerosis. Q J Med 1977; 46(182):197–214.
- [5] Guerin AP, London GM, Marchais SJ, Metivier F. Arterial stiffening and vascular calcifications in end-stage renal disease. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2000; 15(7):1014–1021.
- [6] Goodman WG, Goldin J, Kuizon BD, Yoon C, Gales B, Sider D, et al. Coronary-artery calcification in young adults with end-stage renal disease who are undergoing dialysis. N Engl J Med 2000; 342(20):1478–1483.
- [7] Oh J, Wunsch R, Turzer M, Bahner M, Raggi P, Querfeld U, et al. Advanced coronary and carotid arteriopathy in young adults with childhood-onset chronic renal failure. Circulation 2002; 106(1):100–105.
- [8] Nelson RG, Gohdes DM, Everhart JE, Hartner JA, Zwemer FL, Pettitt DJ, et al. Lowerextremity amputations in NIDDM. 12-yr follow-up study in Pima Indians. Diabetes Care 1988; 11(1):8–16.
- [9] Blacher J, Guerin AP, Pannier B, Marchais SJ, London GM. Arterial calcifications, arterial stiffness, and cardiovascular risk in end-stage renal disease. Hypertension 2001; 38(4):938–942.
- [10] Wang AY, Wang M, Woo J, Lam CW, Li PK, Lui SF, et al. Cardiac valve calcification as an important predictor for all-cause mortality and cardiovascular mortality in long-term peritoneal dialysis patients: A prospective study. J Am Soc Nephrol 2003; 14(1):159–168.
- [11] Lee NK, Sowa H, Hinoi E, Ferron M, Ahn JD, Confavreux C, et al. Endocrine regulation of energy metabolism by the skeleton. Cell 2007; 130(3):456–469.
- [12] Boström K, Watson KE, Horn S, Wortham C, Herman IM, Demer LL. Bone morphogenetic protein expression in human atherosclerotic lesions. J Clin Invest 1993; 91(4): 1800–1809.
- [13] Reslerova M, Moe SM. Vascular calcification in dialysis patients: Pathogenesis and consequences. Am J Kidney Dis 2003; 41(3 Suppl. 1):S96–S99.
- [14] Chen NX, Moe SM. Vascular calcification in chronic kidney disease. Semin Nephrol 2004; 24(1):61–68.
- [15] Moe SM, Chen NX. Vascular calcification in end stage renal disease. Clin Calcium 2002; 12(10):1417–1422.
- [16] Moe SM, O'Neill KD, Duan D, Ahmed S, Chen NX, Leapman SB, et al. Medial artery calcification in ESRD patients is associated with deposition of bone matrix proteins. Kidney Int 2002; 61(2):638–647.

- [17] Johnson RC, Leopold JA, Loscalzo J. Vascular calcification: Pathobiological mechanisms and clinical implications. Circ Res 2006; 99(10):1044–1059.
- [18] Mazzaferro S, Pasquali M, Pugliese F, Barresi G, Carbone I, Francone M, et al. Serum levels of calcification inhibition proteins and coronary artery calcium score: Comparison between transplantation and dialysis. Am J Nephrol 2007; 27(1):75–83.
- [19] El-Abbadi M, Giachelli CM. Mechanisms of vascular calcification. Adv Chronic Kidney Dis 2007; 14(1):54–66.
- [20] Schäfer C, Heiss A, Schwarz A, Westenfeld R, Ketteler M, Floege J, et al. The serum protein alpha 2-Heremans-Schmid glycoprotein/fetuin-A is a systemically acting inhibitor of ectopic calcification. J Clin Invest 2003; 112(3):357–366.
- [21] Abedin M, Tintut Y, Demer LL. Vascular calcification: Mechanisms and clinical ramifications. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2004; 24(7):1161–1170.
- [22] Boström K. Insights into the mechanism of vascular calcification. Am J Cardiol 2001; 88 (2A):20E-22E.
- [23] Chen NX, Moe SM. Uremic vascular calcification. J Investig Med 2006; 54(7):380-384.
- [24] Ketteler M, Westenfeld R, Schlieper G, Brandenburg V. Pathogenesis of vascular calcification in dialysis patients. Clin Exp Nephrol 2005; 9(4):265–270.
- [25] Block GA, Port FK. Re-evaluation of risks associated with hyperphosphatemia and hyperparathyroidism in dialysis patients: Recommendations for a change in management. Am J Kidney Dis 2000; 35(6):1226–1237.
- [26] Giachelli CM. Vascular calcification: *In vitro* evidence for the role of inorganic phosphate. J Am Soc Nephrol 2003; 14(9 Suppl. 4):S300–S304.
- [27] Vattikuti R, Towler DA. Osteogenic regulation of vascular calcification: An early perspective. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2004; 286(5):E686–E696.
- [28] Hisar I, Ileri M, Yetkin E, Tandogan I, Cehreli S, Atak R, et al. Aortic valve calcification: Its significance and limitation as a marker for coronary artery disease. Angiology 2002; 53(2):165–169.
- [29] Ortlepp JR, Schmitz F, Bozoglu T, Hanrath P, Hoffmann R. Cardiovascular risk factors in patients with aortic stenosis predict prevalence of coronary artery disease but not of aortic stenosis: An angiographic pair matched case-control study. Heart 2003; 89(9):1019–1022.
- [30] Stewart BF, Siscovick D, Lind BK, Gardin JM, Gottdiener JS, Smith VE, et al. Clinical factors associated with calcific aortic valve disease. Cardiovascular Health Study. J Am Coll Cardiol 1997; 29(3):630–634.
- [31] Yamamoto H, Shavelle D, Takasu J, Lu B, Mao SS, Fischer H, et al. Valvular and thoracic aortic calcium as a marker of the extent and severity of angiographic coronary artery disease. Am Heart J 2003; 146(1):153–159.
- [32] Demer LL. Vascular calcification and osteoporosis: Inflammatory responses to oxidized lipids. Int J Epidemiol 2002; 31(4):737–741.
- [33] Davies MR, Hruska KA. Pathophysiological mechanisms of vascular calcification in end-stage renal disease. Kidney Int 2001; 60(2):472–479.
- [34] Cheng SL, Shao JS, Charlton-Kachigian N, Loewy AP, Towler DA. MSX2 promotes osteogenesis and suppresses adipogenic differentiation of multipotent mesenchymal progenitors. J Biol Chem 2003; 278(46):45969–45977.
- [35] Shao JS, Cheng SL, Charlton-Kachigian N, Loewy AP, Towler DA. Teriparatide (human parathyroid hormone (1-34)) inhibits osteogenic vascular calcification in diabetic low density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice. J Biol Chem 2003; 278 (50):50195–50202.
- [36] Towler DA, Bidder M, Latifi T, Coleman T, Semenkovich CF. Diet-induced diabetes activates an osteogenic gene regulatory program in the aortas of low density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice. J Biol Chem 1998; 273(46):30427–30434.

- [37] Tanimura A, McGregor DH, Anderson HC. Matrix vesicles in atherosclerotic calcification. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 1983; 172(2):173–177.
- [38] Lehto S, Niskanen L, Suhonen M, Ronnemaa T, Laakso M. Medial artery calcification. A neglected harbinger of cardiovascular complications in non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1996; 16(8):978–983.
- [39] London GM, Drueke TB. Atherosclerosis and arteriosclerosis in chronic renal failure. Kidney Int 1997; 51(6):1678–1695.
- [40] Goldsmith D, Ritz E, Covic A. Vascular calcification: A stiff challenge for the nephrologist: Does preventing bone disease cause arterial disease? Kidney Int 2004; 66(4): 1315–1333.
- [41] Ketteler M, Gross ML, Ritz E. Calcification and cardiovascular problems in renal failure. Kidney Int Suppl 2005; 94:S120–S127.
- [42] Qunibi WY, Nolan CA, Ayus JC. Cardiovascular calcification in patients with end-stage renal disease: A century-old phenomenon. Kidney Int Suppl 2002; 82:73–80.
- [43] Kuzela DC, Huffer WE, Conger JD, Winter SD, Hammond WS. Soft tissue calcification in chronic dialysis patients. Am J Pathol 1977; 86(2):403–424.
- [44] Maher ER, Young G, Smyth-Walsh B, Pugh S, Curtis JR. Aortic and mitral valve calcification in patients with end-stage renal disease. Lancet 1987; 2(8564):875–877.
- [45] Mazzaferro S, Coen G, Bandini S, Borgatti PP, Ciaccheri M, Diacinti D, et al. Role of ageing, chronic renal failure and dialysis in the calcification of mitral annulus. Nephrol Dial Transplant 1993; 8(4):335–340.
- [46] Braun J, Oldendorf M, Moshage W, Heidler R, Zeitler E, Luft FC. Electron beam computed tomography in the evaluation of cardiac calcification in chronic dialysis patients. Am J Kidney Dis 1996; 27(3):394–401.
- [47] Floege J, Ketteler M. Vascular calcification in patients with end-stage renal disease. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2004; 19(Suppl. 5):V59–V66.
- [48] Eifinger F, Wahn F, Querfeld U, Pollok M, Gevargez A, Kriener P, et al. Coronary artery calcifications in children and young adults treated with renal replacement therapy. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2000; 15(11):1892–1894.
- [49] Schwarz U, Buzello M, Ritz E, Stein G, Raabe G, Wiest G, et al. Morphology of coronary atherosclerotic lesions in patients with end-stage renal failure. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2000; 15(2):218–223.
- [50] Goodman WG, London G, Amann K, Block GA, Giachelli C, Hruska KA, et al. Vascular calcification in chronic kidney disease. Am J Kidney Dis 2004; 43(3):572–579.
- [51] Foley RN, Parfrey PS. Cardiovascular disease and mortality in ESRD. J Nephrol 1998; 11(5):239–245.
- [52] Sangiorgi G, Rumberger JA, Severson A, Edwards WD, Gregoire J, Fitzpatrick LA, et al. Arterial calcification and not lumen stenosis is highly correlated with atherosclerotic plaque burden in humans: A histologic study of 723 coronary artery segments using nondecalcifying methodology. J Am Coll Cardiol 1998; 31(1):126–133.
- [53] Raggi P, Callister TQ, Cooil B, He ZX, Lippolis NJ, Russo DJ, et al. Identification of patients at increased risk of first unheralded acute myocardial infarction by electron-beam computed tomography. Circulation 2000; 101(8):850–855.
- [54] Burke AP, Taylor A, Farb A, Malcom GT, Virmani R. Coronary calcification: Insights from sudden coronary death victims. Z Kardiol 2000; 89(Suppl. 2):49–53.
- [55] Shanahan CM, Cary NR, Salisbury JR, Proudfoot D, Weissberg PL, Edmonds ME. Medial localization of mineralization-regulating proteins in association with Monckeberg's sclerosis: Evidence for smooth muscle cell-mediated vascular calcification. Circulation 1999; 100(21):2168–2176.

- [56] Speer MY, Giachelli CM. Regulation of cardiovascular calcification. Cardiovasc Pathol 2004; 13(2):63–70.
- [57] Heremans JF. The globulins of the gamma system of human plasma. Bull Schweiz Akad Med Wiss 1961; 17:119–138.
- [58] Schmid K, Burgi W. Preparation and properties of the human plasma Ba-alpha2-glycoproteins. Biochim Biophys Acta 1961; 47:440–453.
- [59] Triffitt JT, Gebauer U, Ashton BA, Owen ME, Reynolds JJ. Origin of plasma alpha2HSglycoprotein and its accumulation in bone. Nature 1976; 262(5565):226–227.
- [60] Ketteler M, Wanner C, Metzger T, Bongartz P, Westenfeld R, Gladziwa U, et al. Deficiencies of calcium-regulatory proteins in dialysis patients: A novel concept of cardiovascular calcification in uremia. Kidney Int Suppl 2003; (84):S84–S87.
- [61] Falquerho L, Patey G, Paquereau L, Rossi V, Lahuna O, Szpirer J, et al. Primary structure of the rat gene encoding an inhibitor of the insulin receptor tyrosine kinase. Gene 1991; 98(2):209–216.
- [62] Nawratil P, Lenzen S, Kellermann J, Haupt H, Schinke T, Muller-Esterl W, et al. Limited proteolysis of human alpha2-HS glycoprotein/fetuin. Evidence that a chymotryptic activity can release the connecting peptide. J Biol Chem 1996; 271(49):31735–31741.
- [63] Haglund AC, Ek B, Ek P. Phosphorylation of human plasma alpha2-Heremans-Schmid glycoprotein (human fetuin) *in vivo*. Biochem J 2001; 357(Pt. 2):437–445.
- [64] Spiro RG. Studies on fetuin, a glycoprotein of fetal serum: Isolation, chemical composition, and physiochemical properties. J Biol Chem 1960; 235(10):2860–2869.
- [65] Olivier E, Soury E, Ruminy P, Husson A, Parmentier F, Daveau M, et al. Fetuin-B, a second member of the fetuin family in mammals. Biochem J 2000; 350(Pt. 2):589–597.
- [66] Denecke B, Graber S, Schafer C, Heiss A, Woltje M, Jahnen-Dechent W. Tissue distribution and activity testing suggest a similar but not identical function of fetuin-B and fetuin-A. Biochem J 2003; 376(Pt. 1):135–145.
- [67] Ix JH, Shlipak MG, Brandenburg VM, Ali S, Ketteler M, Whooley MA. Association between human fetuin-A and the metabolic syndrome: Data from the Heart and Soul Study. Circulation 2006; 113(14):1760–1767.
- [68] Szweras M, Liu D, Partridge EA, Pawling J, Sukhu B, Clokie C, et al. alpha 2-HS glycoprotein/fetuin, a transforming growth factor-beta/bone morphogenetic protein antagonist, regulates postnatal bone growth and remodeling. J Biol Chem 2002; 277 (22):19991–19997.
- [69] Schinke T, Amendt C, Trindl A, Poschke O, Muller-Esterl W, Jahnen-Dechent W. The serum protein alpha2-HS glycoprotein/fetuin inhibits apatite formation *in vitro* and in mineralizing calvaria cells. A possible role in mineralization and calcium homeostasis. J Biol Chem 1996; 271(34):20789–20796.
- [70] Heiss A, DuChesne A, Denecke B, Grotzinger J, Yamamoto K, Renne T, et al. Structural basis of calcification inhibition by alpha 2-HS glycoprotein/fetuin-A. Formation of colloidal calciprotein particles. J Biol Chem 2003; 278(15):13333–13341.
- [71] Ohnishi T, Nakamura O, Arakaki N, Daikuhara Y. Effect of phosphorylated rat fetuin on the growth of hepatocytes in primary culture in the presence of human hepatocyte-growth factor. Evidence that phosphorylated fetuin is a natural modulator of hepatocyte-growth factor. Eur J Biochem 1997; 243(3):753–761.
- [72] Demetriou M, Binkert C, Sukhu B, Tenenbaum HC, Dennis JW. Fetuin/alpha2-HS glycoprotein is a transforming growth factor-beta type II receptor mimic and cytokine antagonist. J Biol Chem 1996; 271(22):12755–12761.
- [73] Mathews ST, Singh GP, Ranalletta M, Cintron VJ, Qiang X, Goustin AS, et al. Improved insulin sensitivity and resistance to weight gain in mice null for the AHSG gene. Diabetes 2002; 51(8):2450–2458.

- [74] Price PA, Thomas GR, Pardini AW, Figueira WF, Caputo JM, Williamson MK. Discovery of a high molecular weight complex of calcium, phosphate, fetuin, and matrix gammacarboxyglutamic acid protein in the serum of etidronate-treated rats. J Biol Chem 2002; 277(6):3926–3934.
- [75] Price PA, Williamson MK, Nguyen TM, Than TN. Serum levels of the fetuin-mineral complex correlate with artery calcification in the rat. J Biol Chem 2004; 279(3):1594–1600.
- [76] Reynolds JL, Skepper JN, McNair R, Kasama T, Gupta K, Weissberg PL, et al. Multifunctional roles for serum protein fetuin-a in inhibition of human vascular smooth muscle cell calcification. J Am Soc Nephrol 2005; 16(10):2920–2930.
- [77] Lebreton JP, Joisel F, Raoult JP, Lannuzel B, Rogez JP, Humbert G. Serum concentration of human alpha 2 HS glycoprotein during the inflammatory process: Evidence that alpha 2 HS glycoprotein is a negative acute-phase reactant. J Clin Invest 1979; 64(4):1118–1129.
- [78] Wang H, Zhang M, Soda K, Sama A, Tracey KJ. Fetuin protects the fetus from TNF. Lancet 1997; 350(9081):861–862.
- [79] Ombrellino M, Wang H, Yang H, Zhang M, Vishnubhakat J, Frazier A, et al. Fetuin, a negative acute phase protein, attenuates TNF synthesis and the innate inflammatory response to carrageenan. Shock 2001; 15(3):181–185.
- [80] Daveau M, Christian D, Julen N, Hiron M, Arnaud P, Lebreton JP. The synthesis of human alpha-2-HS glycoprotein is down-regulated by cytokines in hepatoma HepG2 cells. FEBS Lett 1988; 241(1–2):191–194.
- [81] Gangneux C, Daveau M, Hiron M, Derambure C, Papaconstantinou J, Salier JP. The inflammation-induced down-regulation of plasma Fetuin-A (alpha2HS-Glycoprotein) in liver results from the loss of interaction between long C/EBP isoforms at two neighbouring binding sites. Nucleic Acids Res 2003; 31(20):5957–5970.
- [82] Wang H, Zhang M, Bianchi M, Sherry B, Sama A, Tracey KJ. Fetuin (alpha2-HSglycoprotein) opsonizes cationic macrophagedeactivating molecules. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1998; 95(24):14429–14434.
- [83] Chen NX, Moe SM. Arterial calcification in diabetes. Curr Diab Rep 2003; 3(1):28-32.
- [84] van Oss CJ, Gillman CF, Bronson PM, Border JR. Opsonic properties of human serum alpha-2 hs glycoprotein. Immunol Commun 1974; 3(4):329–335.
- [85] Terkeltaub RA, Santoro DA, Mandel G, Mandel N. Serum and plasma inhibit neutrophil stimulation by hydroxyapatite crystals. Evidence that serum alpha 2-HS glycoprotein is a potent and specific crystal-bound inhibitor. Arthritis Rheum 1988; 31(9):1081–1089.
- [86] Baskies AM, Chretien PB, Weiss JF, Makuch RW, Beveridge RA, Catalona WJ, et al. Serum glycoproteins in cancer patients: First report of correlations with *in vitro* and *in vivo* parameters of cellular immunity. Cancer 1980; 45(12):3050–3060.
- [87] Kalabay L, Cseh K, Jakab L, Pozsonyi T, Jakab L, Benedek S, et al. Diagnostic value of the determination of serum alpha2-HS-glycoprotein. Orv Hetil 1992; 133(25):1553–1554; 1559–1560.
- [88] Kalabay L, Jakab L, Prohaszka Z, Fust G, Benko Z, Telegdy L, et al. Human fetuin/ alpha2HS-glycoprotein level as a novel indicator of liver cell function and short-term mortality in patients with liver cirrhosis and liver cancer. Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol 2002; 14(4):389–394.
- [89] Ketteler M, Bongartz P, Westenfeld R, Wildberger JE, Mahnken AH, Bohm R, et al. Association of low fetuin-A (AHSG) concentrations in serum with cardiovascular mortality in patients on dialysis: A cross-sectional study. Lancet 2003; 361(9360):827–833.
- [90] Stenvinkel P, Wang K, Qureshi AR, Axelsson J, Pecoits-Filho R, Gao P, et al. Low fetuin-A levels are associated with cardiovascular death: Impact of variations in the gene encoding fetuin. Kidney Int 2005; 67(6):2383–2392.

- [91] Wang AY, Woo J, Lam CW, Wang M, Chan IH, Gao P, et al. Associations of serum fetuin-A with malnutrition, inflammation, atherosclerosis and valvular calcification syndrome and outcome in peritoneal dialysis patients. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2005; 20(8):1676–1685.
- [92] Hermans MM, Brandenburg V, Ketteler M, Kooman JP, van der Sande FM, Boeschoten EW, et al. Association of serum fetuin-A levels with mortality in dialysis patients. Kidney Int 2007; 72(2):202–207.
- [93] Merx MW, Schafer C, Westenfeld R, Brandenburg V, Hidajat S, Weber C, et al. Myocardial stiffness, cardiac remodeling, and diastolic dysfunction in calcification-prone fetuin-A-deficient mice. J Am Soc Nephrol 2005; 16(11):3357–3364.
- [94] Stompor T, Pasowicz M, Sullowicz W, Dembinska-Kiec A, Janda K, Wojcik K, et al. An association between coronary artery calcification score, lipid profile, and selected markers of chronic inflammation in ESRD patients treated with peritoneal dialysis. Am J Kidney Dis 2003; 41(1):203–211.
- [95] Asanuma Y, Oeser A, Shintani AK, Turner E, Olsen N, Fazio S, et al. Premature coronary-artery atherosclerosis in systemic lupus erythematosus. N Engl J Med 2003; 349(25):2407–2415.
- [96] Parhami F, Tintut Y, Ballard A, Fogelman AM, Demer LL. Leptin enhances the calcification of vascular cells: Artery wall as a target of leptin. Circ Res 2001; 88(9):954–960.
- [97] Spronk HM, Soute BA, Schurgers LJ, Cleutjens JP, Thijssen HH, De Mey JG, et al. Matrix Gla protein accumulates at the border of regions of calcification and normal tissue in the media of the arterial vessel wall. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2001; 289(2):485–490.
- [98] Tintut Y, Patel J, Parhami F, Demer LL. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha promotes in vitro calcification of vascular cells via the cAMP pathway. Circulation 2000; 102(21):2636–2642.
- [99] Davies MR, Lund RJ, Hruska KA. BMP-7 is an efficacious treatment of vascular calcification in a murine model of atherosclerosis and chronic renal failure. J Am Soc Nephrol 2003; 14(6):1559–1567.
- [100] Nitta K, Akiba T, Uchida K, Kawashima A, Yumura W, Kabaya T, et al. The progression of vascular calcification and serum osteoprotegerin levels in patients on long-term hemodialysis. Am J Kidney Dis 2003; 42(2):303–309.
- [101] Auberger P, Falquerho L, Contreres JO, Pages G, Le Cam G, Rossi B, et al. Characterization of a natural inhibitor of the insulin receptor tyrosine kinase: cDNA cloning, purification, and anti-mitogenic activity. Cell 1989; 58(4):631–640.
- [102] Mathews ST, Chellam N, Srinivas PR, Cintron VJ, Leon MA, Goustin AS, et al. Alpha2-HSG, a specific inhibitor of insulin receptor autophosphorylation, interacts with the insulin receptor. Mol Cell Endocrinol 2000; 164(1–2):87–98.
- [103] Srinivas PR, Wagner AS, Reddy LV, Deutsch DD, Leon MA, Goustin AS, et al. Serum alpha 2-HS-glycoprotein is an inhibitor of the human insulin receptor at the tyrosine kinase level. Mol Endocrinol 1993; 7(11):1445–1455.
- [104] Cintron VJ, Ko MS, Chi KD, Gross JP, Srinivas PR, Goustin AS, et al. Genetic mapping and functional studies of a natural inhibitor of the insulin receptor tyrosine kinase: The mouse ortholog of human alpha2-HS glycoprotein. Int J Exp Diabetes Res 2001; 1(4):249–263.
- [105] Mathews ST, Rakhade S, Zhou X, Parker GC, Coscina DV, Grunberger G. Fetuin-null mice are protected against obesity and insulin resistance associated with aging. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2006; 350(2):437–443.
- [106] Stefan N, Hennige AM, Staiger H, Machann J, Schick F, Krober SM, et al. Alpha2-Heremans-Schmid glycoprotein/fetuin-A is associated with insulin resistance and fat accumulation in the liver in humans. Diabetes Care 2006; 29(4):853–857.

- [107] Lavebratt C, Dungner E, Hoffstedt J. Polymorphism of the AHSG gene is associated with increased adipocyte beta2-adrenoceptor function. J Lipid Res 2005; 46(10):2278–2281.
- [108] Lavebratt C, Wahlqvist S, Nordfors L, Hoffstedt J, Arner P. AHSG gene variant is associated with leanness among Swedish men. Hum Genet 2005; 117(1):54–60.
- [109] Dahlman I, Eriksson P, Kaaman M, Jiao H, Lindgren CM, Kere J, et al. alpha2-Heremans-Schmid glycoprotein gene polymorphisms are associated with adipocyte insulin action. Diabetologia 2004; 47(11):1974–1979.
- [110] Siddiq A, Lepretre F, Hercberg S, Froguel P, Gibson F. A synonymous coding polymorphism in the alpha2-Heremans-schmid glycoprotein gene is associated with type 2 diabetes in French Caucasians. Diabetes 2005; 54(8):2477–2481.
- [111] Hermans MM, Brandenburg V, Ketteler M, Kooman JP, van der Sande FM, Gladziwa U, et al. Study on the relationship of serum fetuin-A concentration with aortic stiffness in patients on dialysis. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2006; 21(5):1293–1299.
- [112] Ix JH, Chertow GM, Shlipak MG, Brandenburg VM, Ketteler M, Whooley MA. Association of fetuin-A with mitral annular calcification and aortic stenosis among persons with coronary heart disease: Data from the Heart and Soul Study. Circulation 2007; 115(19):2533–2539.
- [113] Ix JH, Chertow GM, Shlipak MG, Brandenburg VM, Ketteler M, Whooley MA. Fetuin-A and kidney function in persons with coronary artery disease—data from the heart and soul study. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2006; 21(8):2144–2151.
- [114] Odamaki M, Shibata T, Takita T, Kumagai H. Serum fetuin-A and aortic calcification in hemodialysis patients. Kidney Int 2005; 68(6):2915–2916.
- [115] Lowrie EG, Lew NL. Death risk in hemodialysis patients: The predictive value of commonly measured variables and an evaluation of death rate differences between facilities. Am J Kidney Dis 1990; 15(5):458–482.
- [116] Foley RN, Parfrey PS, Harnett JD, Kent GM, Murray DC, Barre PE. Hypoalbuminemia, cardiac morbidity, and mortality in end-stage renal disease. J Am Soc Nephrol 1996; 7(5):728–736.
- [117] Cooper BA, Penne EL, Bartlett LH, Pollock CA. Protein malnutrition and hypoalbuminemia as predictors of vascular events and mortality in ESRD. Am J Kidney Dis 2004; 43(1):61–66.
- [118] Stenvinkel P, Heimbürger O, Paultre F, Diczfalusy U, Wang T, Berglund L, et al. Strong association between malnutrition, inflammation, and atherosclerosis in chronic renal failure. Kidney Int 1999; 55(5):1899–1911.
- [119] Moe SM, Chen NX. Inflammation and vascular calcification. Blood Purif 2005; 23(1):64–71.
- [120] Tintut Y, Patel J, Territo M, Saini T, Parhami F, Demer LL. Monocyte/macrophage regulation of vascular calcification *in vitro*. Circulation 2002; 105(5):650–655.
- [121] Pecoits-Filho R, Nordfors L, Heimbürger O, Lindholm B, Anderstam B, Marchlewska A, et al. Soluble leptin receptors and serum leptin in end-stage renal disease: Relationship with inflammation and body composition. Eur J Clin Invest 2002; 32(11):811–817.
- [122] Moe SM, Reslerova M, Ketteler M, O'Neill K, Duan D, Koczman J, et al. Role of calcification inhibitors in the pathogenesis of vascular calcification in chronic kidney disease (CKD). Kidney Int 2005; 67(6):2295–2304.
- [123] Mehrotra R, Westenfeld R, Christenson P, Budoff M, Ipp E, Takasu J, et al. Serum fetuin-A in nondialyzed patients with diabetic nephropathy: Relationship with coronary artery calcification. Kidney Int 2005; 67(3):1070–1077.
- [124] Fiore CE, Celotta G, Politi GG, Di Pino L, Castelli Z, Mangiafico RA, et al. Association of high alpha(2)-Heremans-Schmid glycoprotein/fetuin concentration in serum and intima-media thickness in patients with atherosclerotic vascular disease and low bone mass. Atherosclerosis 2007; 195(1):110–115.

- [125] Rauth G, Poschke O, Fink E, Eulitz M, Tippmer S, Kellerer M, et al. The nucleotide and partial amino acid sequences of rat fetuin. Identity with the natural tyrosine kinase inhibitor of the rat insulin receptor. Eur J Biochem 1992; 204(2):523–529.
- [126] Katz R, Wong ND, Kronmal R, Takasu J, Shavelle DM, Probstfield JL, et al. Features of the metabolic syndrome and diabetes mellitus as predictors of aortic valve calcification in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis. Circulation 2006; 113(17):2113–2119.
- [127] Meigs JB, Larson MG, D'Agostino RB, Levy D, Clouse ME, Nathan DM, et al. Coronary artery calcification in type 2 diabetes and insulin resistance: The framingham offspring study. Diabetes Care 2002; 25(8):1313–1319.
- [128] Ketteler M. Fetuin-A and extraosseous calcification in uremia. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 2005; 14(4):337–342.
- [129] Spiegel DM, Raggi P, Smits G, Block GA. Factors associated with mortality in patients new to haemodialysis. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2007; 22(12):3568–3572.
- [130] Moe SM, O'Neill KD, Fineberg N, Persohn S, Ahmed S, Garrett P, et al. Assessment of vascular calcification in ESRD patients using spiral CT. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2003; 18(6):1152–1158.
- [131] Osawa M, Yuasa I, Kitano T, Henke J, Kaneko M, Udono T, et al. Haplotype analysis of the human alpha2-HS glycoprotein (fetuin) gene. Ann Hum Genet 2001; 65(Pt. 1):27–34.
- [132] Lehtinen AB, Burdon KP, Lewis JP, Langefeld CD, Ziegler JT, Rich SS, et al. Association of alpha2-Heremans-Schmid glycoprotein polymorphisms with subclinical atherosclerosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2007; 92(1):345–352.
- [133] Osawa M, Tian W, Horiuchi H, Kaneko M, Umetsu K. Association of alpha2-HS glycoprotein (AHSG, fetuin-A) polymorphism with AHSG and phosphate serum levels. Hum Genet 2005; 116(3):146–151.
- [134] Price PA, Williamson MK. Primary structure of bovine matrix Gla protein, a new vitamin K-dependent bone protein. J Biol Chem 1985; 260(28):14971–14975.
- [135] Proudfoot D, Shanahan CM. Molecular mechanisms mediating vascular calcification: Role of matrix Gla protein. Nephrology 2006; 11(5):455–461.
- [136] Farzaneh-Far A, Proudfoot D, Weissberg PL, Shanahan CM. Matrix gla protein is regulated by a mechanism functionally related to the calcium-sensing receptor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2000; 277(3):736–740.
- [137] Shanahan CM, Cary NR, Metcalfe JC, Weissberg PL. High expression of genes for calcification-regulating proteins in human atherosclerotic plaques. J Clin Invest 1994; 93(6):2393–2402.
- [138] Boström K, Tsao D, Shen S, Wang Y, Demer LL. Matrix GLA protein modulates differentiation induced by bone morphogenetic protein-2 in C3H10T1/2 cells. J Biol Chem 2001; 276(17):14044–14052.
- [139] Zebboudj AF, Imura M, Bostrom K. Matrix GLA protein, a regulatory protein for bone morphogenetic protein-2. J Biol Chem 2002; 277(6):4388–4394.
- [140] Moe SM, Chen NX. Pathophysiology of vascular calcification in chronic kidney disease. Circ Res 2004; 95(6):560–567.
- [141] Sweatt A, Sane DC, Hutson SM, Wallin R. Matrix Gla protein (MGP) and bone morphogenetic protein-2 in aortic calcified lesions of aging rats. J Thromb Haemost 2003; 1(1):178–185.
- [142] Schinke T, Karsenty G. Vascular calcification—a passive process in need of inhibitors. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2000; 15(9):1272–1274.
- [143] Luo G, Ducy P, McKee MD, Pinero GJ, Loyer E, Behringer RR, et al. Spontaneous calcification of arteries and cartilage in mice lacking matrix GLA protein. Nature 1997; 386(6620):78–81.

- [144] Munroe PB, Olgunturk RO, Fryns JP, Van Maldergem L, Ziereisen F, Yuksel B, et al. Mutations in the gene encoding the human matrix Gla protein cause Keutel syndrome. Nat Genet 1999; 21(1):142–144.
- [145] Jie KS, Bots ML, Vermeer C, Witteman JC, Grobbee DE. Vitamin K intake and osteocalcin levels in women with and without aortic atherosclerosis: A population-based study. Atherosclerosis 1995; 116(1):117–123.
- [146] Geleijnse JM, Vermeer C, Grobbee DE, Schurgers LJ, Knapen MH, van der Meer IM, et al. Dietary intake of menaquinone is associated with a reduced risk of coronary heart disease: The Rotterdam Study. J Nutr 2004; 134(11):3100–3105.
- [147] Price PA, Faus SA, Williamson MK. Warfarin causes rapid calcification of the elastic lamellae in rat arteries and heart valves. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1998; 18(9):1400–1407.
- [148] Yagami K, Suh JY, Enomoto-Iwamoto M, Koyama E, Abrams WR, Shapiro IM, et al. Matrix GLA protein is a developmental regulator of chondrocyte mineralization and, when constitutively expressed, blocks endochondral and intramembranous ossification in the limb. J Cell Biol 1999; 147(5):1097–1108.
- [149] Koos R, Mahnken AH, Muhlenbruch G, Brandenburg V, Pflueger B, Wildberger JE, et al. Relation of oral anticoagulation to cardiac valvular and coronary calcium assessed by multislice spiral computed tomography. Am J Cardiol 2005; 96(6):747–749.
- [150] Schurgers LJ, Aebert H, Vermeer C, Bultmann B, Janzen J. Oral anticoagulant treatment: Friend or foe in cardiovascular disease? Blood 2004; 104(10):3231–3232.
- [151] Coates T, Kirkland GS, Dymock RB, Murphy BF, Brealey JK, Mathew TH, et al. Cutaneous necrosis from calcific uremic arteriolopathy. Am J Kidney Dis 1998; 32 (3):384–391.
- [152] Murshed M, Schinke T, McKee MD, Karsenty G. Extracellular matrix mineralization is regulated locally; different roles of two gla-containing proteins. J Cell Biol 2004; 165(5):625–630.
- [153] Jono S, Ikari Y, Vermeer C, Dissel P, Hasegawa K, Shioi A, et al. Matrix Gla protein is associated with coronary artery calcification as assessed by electron-beam computed tomography. Thromb Haemost 2004; 91(4):790–794.
- [154] Braam LA, Dissel P, Gijsbers BL, Spronk HM, Hamulyak K, Soute BA, et al. Assay for human matrix gla protein in serum: Potential applications in the cardiovascular field. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2000; 20(5):1257–1261.
- [155] O'Donnell CJ, Shea MK, Price PA, Gagnon DR, Wilson PW, Larson MG, et al. Matrix Gla protein is associated with risk factors for atherosclerosis but not with coronary artery calcification. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2006; 26(12):2769–2774.
- [156] Herrmann SM, Whatling C, Brand E, Nicaud V, Gariepy J, Simon A, et al. Polymorphisms of the human matrix gla protein (MGP) gene, vascular calcification, and myocardial infarction. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2000; 20(11):2386–2393.
- [157] Farzaneh-Far A, Davies JD, Braam LA, Spronk HM, Proudfoot D, Chan SW, et al. A polymorphism of the human matrix gamma-carboxyglutamic acid protein promoter alters binding of an activating protein-1 complex and is associated with altered transcription and serum levels. J Biol Chem 2001; 276(35):32466–32473.
- [158] Brancaccio D, Biondi ML, Gallieni M, Turri O, Galassi A, Cecchini F, et al. Matrix GLA protein gene polymorphisms: Clinical correlates and cardiovascular mortality in chronic kidney disease patients. Am J Nephrol 2005; 25(6):548–552.
- [159] Raisz LG. Pathogenesis of osteoporosis: Concepts, conflicts, and prospects. J Clin Invest 2005; 115(12):3318–3325.
- [160] Simonet WS, Lacey DL, Dunstan CR, Kelley M, Chang MS, Luthy R, et al. Osteoprotegerin: A novel secreted protein involved in the regulation of bone density. Cell 1997; 89(2):309–319.

- [161] Emery JG, McDonnell P, Burke MB, Deen KC, Lyn S, Silverman C, et al. Osteoprotegerin is a receptor for the cytotoxic ligand TRAIL. J Biol Chem 1998; 273(23):14363–14367.
- [162] Price PA, June HH, Buckley JR, Williamson MK. Osteoprotegerin inhibits artery calcification induced by warfarin and by vitamin D. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2001; 21(10):1610–1616.
- [163] Bucay N, Sarosi I, Dunstan CR, Morony S, Tarpley J, Capparelli C, et al. osteoprotegerindeficient mice develop early onset osteoporosis and arterial calcification. Genes Dev 1998; 12(9):1260–1268.
- [164] Zhang J, Fu M, Myles D, Zhu X, Du J, Cao X, et al. PDGF induces osteoprotegerin expression in vascular smooth muscle cells by multiple signal pathways. FEBS Lett 2002; 521(1–3):180–184.
- [165] Schoppet M, Preissner KT, Hofbauer LC. RANK ligand and osteoprotegerin: Paracrine regulators of bone metabolism and vascular function. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2002; 22(4):549–553.
- [166] Dhore CR, Cleutjens JP, Lutgens E, Cleutjens KB, Geusens PP, Kitslaar PJ, et al. Differential expression of bone matrix regulatory proteins in human atherosclerotic plaques. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2001; 21(12):1998–2003.
- [167] Min H, Morony S, Sarosi I, Dunstan CR, Capparelli C, Scully S, et al. Osteoprotegerin reverses osteoporosis by inhibiting endosteal osteoclasts and prevents vascular calcification by blocking a process resembling osteoclastogenesis. J Exp Med 2000; 192(4):463–474.
- [168] Browner WS, Lui LY, Cummings SR. Associations of serum osteoprotegerin levels with diabetes, stroke, bone density, fractures, and mortality in elderly women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2001; 86(2):631–637.
- [169] Jono S, Ikari Y, Shioi A, Mori K, Miki T, Hara K, et al. Serum osteoprotegerin levels are associated with the presence and severity of coronary artery disease. Circulation 2002; 106(10):1192–1194.
- [170] Schoppet M, Sattler AM, Schaefer JR, Herzum M, Maisch B, Hofbauer LC. Increased osteoprotegerin serum levels in men with coronary artery disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2003; 88(3):1024–1028.
- [171] Kiechl S, Schett G, Wenning G, Redlich K, Oberhollenzer M, Mayr A, et al. Osteoprotegerin is a risk factor for progressive atherosclerosis and cardiovascular disease. Circulation 2004; 109(18):2175–2180.
- [172] Avbersek-Luznik I, Malesic I, Rus I, Marc J. Increased levels of osteoprotegerin in hemodialysis patients. Clin Chem Lab Med 2002; 40(10):1019–1023.
- [173] Kazama JJ, Shigematsu T, Yano K, Tsuda E, Miura M, Iwasaki Y, et al. Increased circulating levels of osteoclastogenesis inhibitory factor (osteoprotegerin) in patients with chronic renal failure. Am J Kidney Dis 2002; 39(3):525–532.
- [174] Nitta K, Akiba T, Suzuki K, Uchida K, Ogawa T, Majima K, et al. Assessment of coronary artery calcification in hemodialysis patients using multi-detector spiral CT scan. Hypertens Res 2004; 27(8):527–533.
- [175] Morena M, Terrier N, Jaussent I, Leray-Moragues H, Chalabi L, Rivory JP, et al. Plasma osteoprotegerin is associated with mortality in hemodialysis patients. J Am Soc Nephrol 2006; 17(1):262–270.
- [176] Hjelmesaeth J, Ueland T, Flyvbjerg A, Bollerslev J, Leivestad T, Jenssen T, et al. Early posttransplant serum osteoprotegerin levels predict long-term (8-year) patient survival and cardiovascular death in renal transplant patients. J Am Soc Nephrol 2006; 17(6):1746–1754.

- [177] Keso T, Perola M, Laippala P, Ilveskoski E, Kunnas TA, Mikkelsson J, et al. Polymorphisms within the tumor necrosis factor locus and prevalence of coronary artery disease in middle-aged men. Atherosclerosis 2001; 154(3):691–697.
- [178] Strom A, Franzen A, Wangnerud C, Knutsson AK, Heinegard D, Hultgardh-Nilsson A. Altered vascular remodeling in osteopontin-deficient atherosclerotic mice. J Vasc Res 2004; 41(4):314–322.
- [179] Soufi M, Schoppet M, Sattler AM, Herzum M, Maisch B, Hofbauer LC, et al. Osteoprotegerin gene polymorphisms in men with coronary artery disease. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004; 89(8):3764–3768.
- [180] Oldberg A, Franzen A, Heinegard D. Cloning and sequence analysis of rat bone sialoprotein (osteopontin) cDNA reveals an Arg-Gly-Asp cell-binding sequence. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1986; 83(23):8819–8823.
- [181] Chellaiah MA, Kizer N, Biswas R, Alvarez U, Strauss-Schoenberger J, Rifas L, et al. Osteopontin deficiency produces osteoclast dysfunction due to reduced CD44 surface expression. Mol Biol Cell 2003; 14(1):173–189.
- [182] Steitz SA, Speer MY, McKee MD, Liaw L, Almeida M, Yang H, et al. Osteopontin inhibits mineral deposition and promotes regression of ectopic calcification. Am J Pathol 2002; 161(6):2035–2046.
- [183] Spicer SS, Lewis SE, Tashian RE, Schulte BA. Mice carrying a CAR-2 null allele lack carbonic anhydrase II immunohistochemically and show vascular calcification. Am J Pathol 1989; 134(4):947–954.
- [184] Wada T, McKee MD, Steitz S, Giachelli CM. Calcification of vascular smooth muscle cell cultures: Inhibition by osteopontin. Circ Res 1999; 84(2):166–178.
- [185] Nakamura H, Honda H, Inada Y, Kato N, Kato K, Kitazawa K, et al. Osteopontin expression in vascular smooth muscle cells in patients with end-stage renal disease. Ther Apher Dial 2006; 10(3):273–277.
- [186] Speer MY, McKee MD, Guldberg RE, Liaw L, Yang HY, Tung E, et al. Inactivation of the osteopontin gene enhances vascular calcification of matrix Gla protein-deficient mice: Evidence for osteopontin as an inducible inhibitor of vascular calcification *in vivo*. J Exp Med 2002; 196(8):1047–1055.
- [187] Speer MY, Chien YC, Quan M, Yang HY, Vali H, McKee MD, et al. Smooth muscle cells deficient in osteopontin have enhanced susceptibility to calcification *in vitro*. Cardiovasc Res 2005; 66(2):324–333.
- [188] Giachelli CM, Bae N, Almeida M, Denhardt DT, Alpers CE, Schwartz SM. Osteopontin is elevated during neointima formation in rat arteries and is a novel component of human atherosclerotic plaques. J Clin Invest 1993; 92(4):1686–1696.
- [189] O'Brien ER, Garvin MR, Stewart DK, Hinohara T, Simpson JB, Schwartz SM, et al. Osteopontin is synthesized by macrophage, smooth muscle, and endothelial cells in primary and restenotic human coronary atherosclerotic plaques. Arterioscler Thromb 1994; 14 (10):1648–1656.
- [190] O'Brien KD, Kuusisto J, Reichenbach DD, Ferguson M, Giachelli C, Alpers CE, et al. Osteopontin is expressed in human aortic valvular lesions. Circulation 1995; 92(8):2163–2168.
- [191] Ikeda T, Shirasawa T, Esaki Y, Yoshiki S, Hirokawa K. Osteopontin mRNA is expressed by smooth muscle-derived foam cells in human atherosclerotic lesions of the aorta. J Clin Invest 1993; 92(6):2814–2820.
- [192] Hirota S, Imakita M, Kohri K, Ito A, Morii E, Adachi S, et al. Expression of osteopontin messenger RNA by macrophages in atherosclerotic plaques. A possible association with calcification. Am J Pathol 1993; 143(4):1003–1008.

- [193] Fitzpatrick LA, Severson A, Edwards WD, Ingram RT. Diffuse calcification in human coronary arteries. Association of osteopontin with atherosclerosis. J Clin Invest 1994; 94(4):1597–1604.
- [194] Srivatsa SS, Harrity PJ, Maercklein PB, Kleppe L, Veinot J, Edwards WD, et al. Increased cellular expression of matrix proteins that regulate mineralization is associated with calcification of native human and porcine xenograft bioprosthetic heart valves. J Clin Invest 1997; 99(5):996–1009.
- [195] Nitta K, Ishizuka T, Horita S, Hayashi T, Ajiro A, Uchida K, et al. Soluble osteopontin and vascular calcification in hemodialysis patients. Nephron 2001; 89(4):455–458.
- [196] Denhardt DT, Noda M. Osteopontin expression and function: Role in bone remodeling. J Cell Biochem Suppl 1998; 30–31:92–102.
- [197] Murry CE, Giachelli CM, Schwartz SM, Vracko R. Macrophages express osteopontin during repair of myocardial necrosis. Am J Pathol 1994; 145(6):1450–1462.
- [198] Weber GF, Ashkar S, Glimcher MJ, Cantor H. Receptor-ligand interaction between CD44 and osteopontin (Eta-1). Science 1996; 271(5248):509–512.
- [199] Jansson M, Panoutsakopoulou V, Baker J, Klein L, Cantor H. Cutting edge: Attenuated experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis in eta-1/osteopontin-deficient mice. J Immunol 2002; 168(5):2096–2099.
- [200] Mazzali M, Kipari T, Ophascharoensuk V, Wesson JA, Johnson R, Hughes J. Osteopontin—a molecule for all seasons. Q J Med 2002; 95(1):3–13.
- [201] Taylor FB, Jr., Peer GT, Lockhart MS, Ferrell G, Esmon CT. Endothelial cell protein C receptor plays an important role in protein C activation *in vivo*. Blood 2001; 97(6):1685–1688.
- [202] Gravallese EM. Osteopontin: A bridge between bone and the immune system. J Clin Invest 2003; 112(2):147–149.
- [203] Ohmori R, Momiyama Y, Taniguchi H, Takahashi R, Kusuhara M, Nakamura H, et al. Plasma osteopontin levels are associated with the presence and extent of coronary artery disease. Atherosclerosis 2003; 170(2):333–337.
- [204] Golledge J, McCann M, Mangan S, Lam A, Karan M. Osteoprotegerin and osteopontin are expressed at high concentrations within symptomatic carotid atherosclerosis. Stroke 2004; 35(7):1636–1641.
- [205] Matsui Y, Rittling SR, Okamoto H, Inobe M, Jia N, Shimizu T, et al. Osteopontin deficiency attenuates atherosclerosis in female apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2003; 23(6):1029–1034.
- [206] Shi Y, Massague J. Mechanisms of TGF-beta signaling from cell membrane to the nucleus. Cell 2003; 113(6):685–700.
- [207] Hruska KA, Mathew S, Saab G. Bone morphogenetic proteins in vascular calcification. Circ Res 2005; 97(2):105–114.
- [208] Massague J, Seoane J, Wotton D. Smad transcription factors. Genes Dev 2005; 19(23):2783–2810.
- [209] Galvin KM, Donovan MJ, Lynch CA, Meyer RI, Paul RJ, Lorenz JN, et al. A role for smad6 in development and homeostasis of the cardiovascular system. Nat Genet 2000; 24(2):171–174.
- [210] Luo G, Hofmann C, Bronckers AL, Sohocki M, Bradley A, Karsenty G. BMP-7 is an inducer of nephrogenesis, and is also required for eye development and skeletal patterning. Genes Dev 1995; 9(22):2808–2820.
- [211] Wang SN, Lapage J, Hirschberg R. Loss of tubular bone morphogenetic protein-7 in diabetic nephropathy. J Am Soc Nephrol 2001; 12(11):2392–2399.

- [212] Lund RJ, Davies MR, Hruska KA. Bone morphogenetic protein-7: An anti-fibrotic morphogenetic protein with therapeutic importance in renal disease. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 2002; 11(1):31–36.
- [213] Li T, Surendran K, Zawaideh MA, Mathew S, Hruska KA. Bone morphogenetic protein 7: A novel treatment for chronic renal and bone disease. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 2004; 13(4):417–422.
- [214] Wang S, Chen Q, Simon TC, Strebeck F, Chaudhary L, Morrissey J, et al. Bone morphogenic protein-7 (BMP-7), a novel therapy for diabetic nephropathy. Kidney Int 2003; 63(6):2037–2049.
- [215] Dorai H, Vukicevic S, Sampath TK. Bone morphogenetic protein-7 (osteogenic protein-1) inhibits smooth muscle cell proliferation and stimulates the expression of markers that are characteristic of SMC phenotype *in vitro*. J Cell Physiol 2000; 184(1):37–45.
- [216] Ishimura E, Shioi A. Mechanism of arterial calcification with regards to atherosclerotic calcification and medial artery calcification. Clin Calcium 2005; 15(7):137–142.
- [217] Towler DA. Inorganic pyrophosphate: A paracrine regulator of vascular calcification and smooth muscle phenotype. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2005; 25(4):651–654.
- [218] Fleisch H, Russell RG, Straumann F. Effect of pyrophosphate on hydroxyapatite and its implications in calcium homeostasis. Nature 1966; 212(5065):901–903.
- [219] Johnson K, Goding J, Van Etten D, Sali A, Hu SI, Farley D, et al. Linked deficiencies in extracellular PP(i) and osteopontin mediate pathologic calcification associated with defective PC-1 and ANK expression. J Bone Miner Res 2003; 18(6):994–1004.
- [220] Rutsch F, Ruf N, Vaingankar S, Toliat MR, Suk A, Hohne W, et al. Mutations in ENPP1 are associated with 'idiopathic' infantile arterial calcification. Nat Genet 2003; 34(4):379–381.
- [221] Harmey D, Hessle L, Narisawa S, Johnson KA, Terkeltaub R, Millan JL. Concerted regulation of inorganic pyrophosphate and osteopontin by akp2, enpp1, and ank: An integrated model of the pathogenesis of mineralization disorders. Am J Pathol 2004; 164(4):1199–1209.
- [222] Johnson K, Polewski M, van Etten D, Terkeltaub R. Chondrogenesis mediated by PPi depletion promotes spontaneous aortic calcification in NPP1-/- mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2005; 25(4):686–691.
- [223] Ho AM, Johnson MD, Kingsley DM. Role of the mouse ank gene in control of tissue calcification and arthritis. Science 2000; 289(5477):265–270.
- [224] Russell RG, Bisaz S, Fleisch H. Pyrophosphate and diphosphonates in calcium metabolism and their possible role in renal failure. Arch Intern Med 1969; 124(5):571–577.
- [225] Meyer JL. Can biological calcification occur in the presence of pyrophosphate? Arch Biochem Biophys 1984; 231(1):1–8.
- [226] Francis MD, Russell RG, Fleisch H. Diphosphonates inhibit formation of calcium phosphate crystals *in vitro* and pathological calcification *in vivo*. Science 1969; 165(899):1264–1266.
- [227] Rutsch F, Vaingankar S, Johnson K, Goldfine I, Maddux B, Schauerte P, et al. PC-1 nucleoside triphosphate pyrophosphohydrolase deficiency in idiopathic infantile arterial calcification. Am J Pathol 2001; 158(2):543–554.
- [228] Terkeltaub RA. Inorganic pyrophosphate generation and disposition in pathophysiology. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2001; 281(1):C1–C11.
- [229] Lomashvili KA, Khawandi W, O'Neill WC. Reduced plasma pyrophosphate levels in hemodialysis patients. J Am Soc Nephrol 2005; 16(8):2495–2500.
- [230] Ziolkowska H, Wojnar J, Panczyk-Tomaszewska M, Roszkowska-Blaim M. [Fetuin A in children with renal diseases]. Przegl Lek 2006; 63(Suppl. 3):54–56.

- [231] Honda H, Qureshi AR, Heimburger O, Barany P, Wang K, Pecoits-Filho R, et al. Serum albumin, C-reactive protein, interleukin 6, and fetuin a as predictors of malnutrition, cardiovascular disease, and mortality in patients with ESRD. Am J Kidney Dis 2006; 47(1):139–148.
- [232] Cozzolino M, Galassi A, Biondi ML, Turri O, Papagni S, Mongelli N, et al. Serum fetuin-A levels link inflammation and cardiovascular calcification in hemodialysis patients. Am J Nephrol 2006; 26(5):423–429.
- [233] Coen G, Ballanti P, Balducci A, Grandi F, Manni M, Mantella D, et al. Renal osteodystrophy: Alpha-Heremans Schmid glycoprotein/fetuin-A, matrix GLA protein serum levels, and bone histomorphometry. Am J Kidney Dis 2006; 48(1):106–113.
- [234] Coen G, Manni M, Agnoli A, Balducci A, Dessi M, De Angelis S, et al. Cardiac calcifications: Fetuin-A and other risk factors in hemodialysis patients. ASAIO J 2006; 52(2): 150–156.
- [235] Jung HH, Kim SW, Han H. Inflammation, mineral metabolism and progressive coronary artery calcification in patients on haemodialysis. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2006; 21(7): 1915–1920.
- [236] Russo D, Corrao S, Miranda I, Ruocco C, Manzi S, Elefante R, et al. Progression of coronary artery calcification in predialysis patients. Am J Nephrol 2007; 27(2):152–158.
- [237] Caglar K, Yilmaz MI, Saglam M, Cakir E, Kilic S, Eyileten T, et al. Endothelial dysfunction and fetuin A levels before and after kidney transplantation. Transplantation 2007; 83 (4):392–397.
- [238] Hermans MM, Kooman JP, Brandenburg V, Ketteler M, Damoiseaux JG, Cohen Tervaert JW, et al. Spatial inhomogeneity of common carotid artery intima-media is increased in dialysis patients. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2007; 22(4):1205–1212.
- [239] Cozzolino M, Galassi A, Biondi ML, Butti A, Russo M, Longhini C, et al. Decreased serum fetuin-A levels after a single haemodialysis session. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2007; 22(1):290–291.
- [240] Kalabay L, Jakab L, Cseh K, Pozsonyi T, Jakab LA. Correlations between serum alpha 2-HS-glycoprotein concentration and conventional laboratory parameters in systemic lupus erythematosus. Acta Med Hung 1990; 47(1–2):53–64.
- [241] Mori K, Emoto M, Yokoyama H, Araki T, Teramura M, Koyama H, et al. Association of serum fetuin-A with insulin resistance in type 2 diabetic and nondiabetic subjects. Diabetes Care 2006; 29(2):468.
- [242] Hendig D, Schulz V, Arndt M, Szliska C, Kleesiek K, Gotting C. Role of serum fetuin-A, a major inhibitor of systemic calcification, in pseudoxanthoma elasticum. Clin Chem 2006; 52(2):227–234.
- [243] Mori K, Emoto M, Araki T, Yokoyama H, Teramura M, Lee E, et al. Association of serum fetuin-A with carotid arterial stiffness. Clin Endocrinol 2007; 66(2):246–250.
- [244] Kaden JJ, Reinohl JO, Blesch B, Brueckmann M, Haghi D, Borggrefe M, et al. Systemic and local levels of fetuin-A in calcific aortic valve stenosis. Int J Mol Med 2007; 20(2):193–197.

MECHANISMS OF ARTERIAL CALCIFICATION: SPOTLIGHT ON THE INHIBITORS

Gabriele Weissen-Plenz, *^{,†} Yvonne Nitschke,[‡] and Frank Rutsch^{‡,1}

*Department of Cardiothoracic Surgery, Münster University Hospital, Münster, Germany *Department of Cardiology and Angiology, Münster University Hospital and Leibniz Institute for Arteriosclerosis Research, Münster University, Münster, Germany *Department of General Pediatrics, Münster University Children's Hospital, Münster, Germany

1.	Abstract	264
	Introduction	264
3.	Parallels in Arterial Calcification and Physiological Tissue Mineralization	265
4.	Inhibitors of Artery Calcification	266
	4.1. Nucleotide Pyrophosphatase/Phosphodiesterase 1 and ANK	266
	4.2. Matrix-Gla Protein	271
	4.3. Osteopontin	271
	4.4. Carbonic Anhydrase-2	272
	4.5. Osteoprotegerin	272
	4.6. Fibrillin-1, Elastin Disintegration, and Aneurysm	274
	4.7. Klotho	275
	4.8. Smad6	275
	4.9. ABCC6 (ATP-Binding Cassette Transporter Subtype 6)	275
	4.10. Fetuin-A (α-Heremans Schmid Glycoprotein)	276
5.	Promoters of Arterial Calcification	277
	5.1. Inorganic Phosphate	278
	5.2. Potential Effects of Leptin	278
	5.3. Promineralizing Effects of Apoptosis	279
	5.4. Role of Lipids	279
	5.5. Low-Grade Inflammation Promotes Arterial Calcification	281

¹Corresponding author: Frank Rutsch; e-mail: rutschf@mednet.uni-muenster.de.

6.	Implications of Basic Research on Clinical Therapy	282
7.	Conclusion	283
	References	284

1. Abstract

Similarities in the mechanisms of vascular calcification and the processes of bone and cartilage mineralization have come to light in recent years. Although formerly thought to be an inactive process of hydroxyapatite crystal precipitation, presently, vascular calcification is considered a regulated type of tissue mineralization. Moreover, different pathways of tissue mineralization are discussed. Pathological types of calcification are correlated with aging, metabolic disorders, chronic low-grade inflammation, and with genetic and acquired dysregulation of inorganic pyrophosphate (PP_i) metabolism. This chapter focuses on recent developments in understanding the mechanisms of vascular calcification with special emphasis on the particular calcification pathway and the impact of deficient inhibition of calcification.

2. Introduction

Vascular calcification occurs with atherosclerosis, valvular disease [1, 2], and varicosis [3]. Advanced age and metabolic disorders, including end-stage renal disease (ESRD) and diabetes mellitus, are known contributing factors. Genetic disorders associated with vascular calcification include connective tissue diseases and abnormalities of phosphate metabolism. Arterial calcification contributes to hypertension and an increased risk of cardiovascular events [4] and correlates with an increased frequency of ischemic episodes in peripheral vascular disease [5]. Calcified arteries are particularly prone to dissection after angioplasty [6]. Venous calcification contributes to chronic venous insufficiency and venous hypertension [3]. In the calcified vessel, hydroxyapatite crystals have the potential to promote low-grade inflammation that favors loss of vascular integrity and plaque rupture, and contributes to thrombotic vascular occlusion and myocardial infarction [7].

Arterial calcification can be found in the intimal layer, the medial layer, or in association with the internal elastic lamina. Venous calcification is mainly restricted to the medial wall [3].

In atherogenesis, calcification occurs in the intima of the plaque and is predominantly associated with the plaque core [8]. Accordingly, hydroxyapatite crystals often collocate with lipid- and cell debris-rich areas showing numerous foam cells and macrophages at the periphery. Plaque calcification is mainly driven by inflammatory mediators.

The second type of vascular calcification occurs in the medial layer. This type of mineralization—often referred to as Mönckeberg's sclerosis—can be widely spread through the vascular tree. In arteries, medial mineralization is associated with advanced age, diabetes, and renal failure. Calcification of the medial vein wall is often present in varicosis and chronic venous insufficiency. Another type of arterial wall calcification is the mineralization of the aortic valves, in native or graft tissue. Degenerative calcific aortic valve stenosis is the most common valvular lesion encountered in clinical cardiology [1, 2]. Hyperphosphatemia has been identified as a pathogenic factor causing medial calcification. A variant form of artery media calcification, concentrated at the internal elastic lamina, is associated with PP_i deficiency [9, 10].

Similarities in the mechanisms of vascular calcification and the pathways of bone formation have been reported. Different end points of mineralization are encountered in the vessel wall, namely, mineralized cartilage, precipitated hydroxyapatite crystals, and even mature bone tissue, including bone marrow. Likewise, different pathways of mineralization, that is, enchondral and desmal ossification or hydroxyapatite crystal precipitation, have been discussed for arterial calcification. However, whether all or which pathways are used in arterial wall mineralization is still a matter of debate.

This chapter focuses on recent developments in understanding the mechanisms of vascular calcification with special emphasis on the type of mineralization and on the impact of loss of inhibition.

3. Parallels in Arterial Calcification and Physiological Tissue Mineralization

Vascular smooth muscle cells (SMCs) as members of the mesenchymal cell differentiation tree, like osteoblasts and chondrocytes, are capable to form mineralizing, membrane-limited cell fragments (matrix vesicles) that provide a sheltered environment for the initiation of calcification [11, 12]. As shown by Boström *et al.* [13], cultured human aortic medial SMCs form nodules, that is, matrix vesicles that serve as foci of spontaneous calcification. The origin of calcifying SMCs (cSMCs) or osteoblast-type cells is still under discussion: Resident medial smooth muscle cells may differentiate into cSMCs. cSMCs may originate from immigrating osteoprogentitor cells, or resident pericytes may be activated *in situ* to differentiate into an osteoblast-like cell type [12]. Nevertheless, independent of their origin, cSMCs follow the critical sequence of expression of bone/cartilage-related proteins as in normal mineralizing bone [14]. As for bone mineralization, different

mechanisms of vascular matrix calcification exist [15]. cSMCs may produce an osteogenic matrix or provide matrix vesicles for the precipitation of hydroxyapatite crystals. The formation of an osteogenic matrix, which is directly mineralized as in desmal bone formation, is another possible mechanism. Furthermore, the formation of a primary cartilaginous matrix, which secondarily is remodeled to an ostoid and than mineralized as in enchondral bone formation, has been reported [16].

Recent studies in animal models and cell culture studies have demonstrated that (as in mineralizing bone) vascular calcification must be actively inhibited by physiological function of resident cells (SMCs and endothelial cells) and infiltrating cells (tissue macrophages). It has been reported that deficient expression of various inhibitors of calcification is sufficient to trigger the calcification process. Alternatively, vascular calcification can be the result of a systemic expression of procalcifying mediators, for example, inorganic phosphate (P_i). The end result includes expression of a number of cartilage or bone matrix proteins, which orchestrate a process resembling osteogenesis within the vessel wall [17, 18].

4. Inhibitors of Artery Calcification

Characterization of targeted or naturally occurring mutations of a variety of bone- and cartilage-associated genes in mice has identified 11 different inhibitors of vascular calcification *in vivo* (Table 1). One of these inhibitors is of specific importance with respect to our review, namely, the nucleotide pyrophosphatase/phosphodiesterase family member NPP1, since inborn deficiency of NPP1 is associated with calcification of arteries in mice and humans.

4.1. NUCLEOTIDE PYROPHOSPHATASE/PHOSPHODIESTERASE 1 AND ANK

NPP1 is a major generator of extracellular PP_i in cartilage and a variety of other tissues [10, 19]. PP_i potently inhibits hydroxyapatite crystal deposition and growth. The physiological role of NPP1-mediated PP_i generation on tissue calcification has come to light recently. First, an inactivating *enpp1* mutation was linked to the hypermineralizing phenotype of *ttw/ttw* mice [19]. The *ttw/ttw* mice develop mineralized articular cartilage and perispinal ligament calcifications in early life. A similar phenotype is found in *enpp1*-knockout mice. In these mice, hydroxyapatite crystals are found in the medial layer and at the level of the internal elastic lamina of the arteries. Ho *et al.* linked a similar mouse phenotype with hyperostosis and increased

Gene symbol, human protein name, [OMIM entry no.]	Mouse model	Major phenotypic features	Proposed mode of arterial calcification	References
MGP, Matrix-Gla Protein [154870]	mgp ^{-/-}	Arterial and cartilage calcification, tracheobronchial stenosis Human correlate: Keutel syndrome	Cartilaginous metaplasia and hydroxyapatite crystal deposition	[26–28]
<i>ENPP1</i> , Ectonucleotide pyrophosphatase/ phosphodiesterase 1 [173335]	enpp1 ^{_/_}	Articular cartilage calcification, hyperostosis, spine and peripheral joint fusion, arterial calcification	Cartilaginous matrix formation and hydroxyapatite crystal deposition	[21–23]
		Human correlate: Generalized arterial calcification of infancy		
ANKH, Progressive ankylosis [605145]	ank/ank	Articular cartilage calcification, hyperostosis, spine and peripheral joint fusion, arterial calcification	Cartilaginous matrix formation and hydroxyapatite crystal deposition	[19–21]
		Human correlate: Ossification of the posterior ligament of the spine		
OPG, Osteoprotegerin [602643]	$opg^{-/-}$	Osteoporosis, vascular calcification	Hydroxyapatite crystal deposition	[49-51]
<i>Smad6/Madh6</i> , SMA- and MAD- related protein 6 [602931]	madh6-mutant	Endocardial cushion defects, aortic ossification	Enchondral bone formation	[77]
FBN1, Fibrillin-1 [134797]	$mg\Delta/mg\Delta, mgR/mgR$	Aortic aneurysm, long bone overgrowth, medial arterial calcification	Hydroxyapatite crystal deposition	[62]
		Human correlate: Marfan syndrome		

 TABLE 1

 MOUSE MODELS OF VASCULAR CALCIFICATION

(continues)

267

Gene symbol, human protein name, [OMIM entry no.]	Mouse model	Major phenotypic features	Proposed mode of arterial calcification	References
Car-2, Carbonic anhydrase-2 [259730]	car-2 ^{-/-}	Osteopetrosis, renal tubular acidosis, medial calcification of small arteries	Hydroxyapatite crystal deposition	[43]
		Human correlate: Carbonic anhydrase-2 deficiency		
KL, klotho [604824]	klotho ^{_/_}	Vascular calcification, rapid aging	Hydroxyapatite crystal deposition	[73]
<i>AHSG</i> , α2-HS-glycoprotein/fetuin [138680]	ahsg ^{-/-}	Mild vascular calcification	Hydroxyapatite crystal deposition	[83, 86, 87]
OPN, Osteopontin [166490]	opn ^{-/-}	Enhanced valve implant calcification	Hydroxyapatite crystal deposition	[36, 37]
<i>ABCC6</i> , ATP-binding cassette transporter subtype 6 [264800]	dyscalc	Myocardial necrosis and calcification, arterial calcification after freeze/thaw injury Human correlate: Pseudoxanthoma elasticum	Hydroxyapatite crystal deposition associated with mitochondria	[79–81]

TABLE 1 (Continued)

268

calcification of cartilage and arteries to mutations of ANK, a protein which channels PP_i from the intracellular to the extracellular space [20].

In their study on the mechanism of arterial mineralization in *enpp1*-deficient mice, Terkeltaub and coworkers [21] showed that ectopic arterial calcification is mediated by an endochondral-like differentiation rather than simply by a dystrophic process. NPP1 and PP_i deficiencies stimulate the differentiation of SMCs to a calcifying/osteoblastic phenotype and thus promote arterial calcification. Treatment of mouse multipotential *enpp1*^{-/-} bone marrow stromal cells with exogenous PP_i inhibited the formation of a cartilaginous matrix. *In situ* and *in vitro enpp1*^{-/-} aortic cSMCs expressed a cartilage-specific gene pattern, that is, upregulated type II collagen and alkaline phosphatase (AP) expression, decreased expression of the calcification inhibitor osteopontin (OPN), and increased calcification. Moreover, this study provided first evidence that type X collagen, a collagen found in hypertrophic cartilage and potentially involved in cartilage mineralization, is expressed in the aorta during the process of calcification.

A similar phenotype is expressed by aortic SMCs from *ank/ank* mice *in vitro* and *in situ*. These SMCs are depleted of extracellular PP_i because of defective ANK transmembrane PP_i transport activity.

Taken together these data, one may assume that NPP1 and PP_i deficiencies induce the differentiation of SMCs to the so-called calcifying phenotype [21]. Analogous to enchondral bone formation, a cartilaginous matrix is produced which is secondarily mineralized by hydroxyapatite crystallization in the aorta of *ttw/ttw* or *ank/ank* mice. However, true bone structures as the expected end product of enchondral bone formation are missing.

In our group we correlated low systemic levels of PP_i with generalized arterial calcification of infancy (GACI), which is also known as idiopathic infantile arterial calcification (IIAC) [9, 10]. In patients with GACI, severe cardiovascular symptoms are usually apparent within the first month of life. Although survival to adulthood has been reported, most patients die because of heart failure within the first six months of life. In GACI, calcification of large- and medium-sized arteries associated with intimal hyperplasia occurs (Fig. 1).

In a boy of 5 years, we found a marked deficiency of PP_i-generating NPP1 activity in plasma and in an arterial biopsy sample [9, 10]. We recognized that arterial and peri-articular calcifications as well as PP_i and NPP1 deficiency are shared features of the GACI and the *ttw/ttw* phenotype. Therefore, we analyzed affected individuals with GACI from 11 unrelated kindred for mutations in *ENPP1*. In eight of these families, we found mutations of the *ENPP1* gene, either in homozygous or compound heterozygous state. We identified four different mutations resulting in premature termination codons and nine additional missense mutations distributed across the coding region from exon 3 to 25. For functional analysis, we transfected a pcDNA3



FIG. 1. Coronary artery calcification in human NPP1 deficiency: Hydroxyapatite crystal depositions (arrows) predominantly at the level of the internal elastic lamina in a patient with GACI, who died of myocardial infarction at the age of 4 weeks, note associated intimal hyperplasia. Von Kossa, original magnification $\times 100$ (Courtesy of Galen Schauer, Department of Pathology, Children's Hospital and Clinics, Minneapolis, MN).

expression vector harboring the mutated full-length *ENPP1* coding sequence into SaO2 osteoblastic osteosarcoma cells and demonstrated complete loss of NPP1 activity in 9 of the 13 mutations tested [22]. These studies for the first time proved the linkage of genetically mediated dysfunction of NPP1 to arterial calcification and provided further evidence for abnormal PP_i metabolism to be an important regulatory factor for vascular and articular calcification. In a second study, we analyzed *ENPP1* in affected individuals of another 12 unrelated families. We identified 11 novel homozygous or compound heterozygous mutations in 10 of the 12 new families. The mutations (1 nonsense, 7 missense, 1 single amino acid deletion, and 2 frameshift mutations) were scattered over the whole coding region with a slightly more condensed distribution within the catalytic and nuclease-like domain as compared to the first survey [23].

Taken together our studies strongly emphasize the role of *ENPP1* mutations as the main cause of GACI (18 of 23 families).

Numakura *et al.* confirmed that an *ENPP1* mutation was also responsible for typical GACI in a Japanese patient. The homozygous Arg730Stop mutation was a novel nonsense mutation. Furthermore, they presented a late-onset phenotype patient without a mutation in the *ENPP1* gene [24]. Thus our data and theirs indicate that GACI is not a genetically homogeneous disorder, although *ENPP1* mutations are definitely the main cause of GACI. Moreover, we found that despite a homogeneous genetic background and similar sonographic and radiographic features in early infancy, the cardiovascular phenotype of GACI can vary to a great extent within one family [25]. Of two Taiwanese siblings with identical genotype, one developed heart failure and severe hypertension, and died at the age of 6 weeks, while the other sibling is having an uncomplicated clinical course. Our data indicate that also in patients with the same *ENPP1* mutation additional factors may influence the clinical course.

4.2. MATRIX-GLA PROTEIN

Matrix-Gla protein (MGP)-deficient mice die 1–3 months after birth because a calcifying cartilage matrix associated with chondrocytes develops in the entire vascular tree [26]. Additionally, pathological calcification of various cartilages, including the growth plate, is leading to osteopenia, short stature, and fractures. Mutations of the *MGP* gene cause Keutel syndrome in humans, an autosomal recessive condition characterized by tracheobronchial stenosis, brachytelephalangism, cartilage calcifications [27], and, occasionally, arterial calcifications [28].

MGP inhibits matrix mineralization through suppression of bone morphogenetic protein 2 (BMP-2), a potent osteoinductive factor [29]. Recent *in vitro* studies suggest that MGP is a conditional enhancer or inhibitor of BMP-2-induced calcification, and that enhancement or inhibition depends on the specific BMP-2 levels relative to that of MGP [30]. MGP function depends on vitamin K-dependent γ -carboxylation of MGP glutamate residues. Price *et al.* treated rats with the vitamin K antagonist warfarin at doses that inhibited γ -carboxylation of MGP and found extensive vascular calcification and accumulation of undercarboxylated MGP [31]. These findings point to a potential mechanism linking warfarin to pathological soft tissue calcification. El-Maadawy *et al.* clearly demonstrated that in transgenic mice lacking MGP cartilage formation in the arterial media is caused by altered differentiation of resident vascular SMCs expressing chondrocyte markers [26].

4.3. OSTEOPONTIN

OPN is a multifunctional molecule regulating chronic inflammation and vascular mineralization [32]. OPN is a major noncollagenous matrix protein of bone and a constitutive component of normal elastic fibers in the skin and aorta [33, 34]. OPN, like PP_i, potently inhibits hydroxyapatite crystal deposition and calcification by SMCs *in vitro* [35]. OPN expression is typically upregulated at sites of ectopic soft tissue calcification, including artery calcification [34]. OPN is associated with mineralized deposits in humans in

atherosclerotic plaques [36]. Although unchallenged OPN-knockout mice are grossly normal, enhanced calcification of implanted glutaraldehyde-fixed aortic valve leaflets was demonstrated [37]. Using multimodality molecular imaging, Aikawa *et al.* [38] identified osteogenic activities colocalizing with various markers of bone mineralization, including OPN in the aortic valves of apolipoproteinE-deficient ($apoE^{-/-}$) mice. Since mineralization was not evident in the aortic valves (the aortic arch showed prominent calcification), they assumed an active process of ongoing mineralization from their data. From the expression of Notch 1, they deduced a mineralization process mediated via an osteoblast like SMC phenotype. However, whether the mineralization follows the enchondral pathway or another is still unclear.

In $apoE^{-//}OPN$ -deficient mice vascular calcification is augmented. In these mice, calcified lesion areas in the intimal layer were about 2.5-fold increased in comparison to $apoE^{-/-}$ mice. With respect to the potential mechanism of mineralization, the histological data indicate hydroxyapatite crystal precipitation [39]. This mechanism has been proposed before, since OPN is a potent inhibitor of apatite growth by binding to the crystal surface *in vivo* [35, 40].

Significantly, PP_i deficiency promotes OPN deficiency, and correction of OPN deficiency corrects the hypercalcification state of NPP1-deficient mice, suggesting a synergistic effect of OPN and NPP1 on inhibiting hydroxyapatite deposition in arteries [41].

4.4. CARBONIC ANHYDRASE-2

Carbonic anhydrase-2 provides protons and bicarbonate ions to the local microenvironment and allows for massive acid secretion that leads to degradation of organic matrix in bones [42]. Carbonic anhydrase-2–deficient mice show age-dependent medial calcification in arterioles and smaller arteries in numerous organs. The calcification apparently begins with hydroxyapatite crystal precipitation within the SMCs of the medial wall. The male genital tract revealed the most extensive arterial calcinosis and males were possibly more affected than females, indicating an effect of gender also on arterial wall mineralization [43]. In humans, the rare inherited disease of carbonic anhydrase-2 deficiency leads to osteoporosis, renal tubular acidosis and cerebral calcification [44]. Whether the acid secretion activity is a prerequisite to prevent vascular calcification is still unclear.

4.5. Osteoprotegerin

OPG, a recently identified member of the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor superfamily, is a secreted factor that inhibits osteoclast differentiation and activation [45, 46]. OPG is also found in normal arteries and early

atherosclerotic lesions [47]. A T/C transition in the promoter region of the human OPG gene has recently been identified to significantly affect vascular morphology and function in healthy subjects [48].

OPG-knockout mice show severe bone loss and suffer from multiple osteoporotic fractures [49]. Surprisingly, the majority of the OPG-deficient mice develop severe medial calcifications of the renal arteries and the aorta. In these mice, aortic mineralization often is associated with dissection [50]. After induction of vascular calcification with a high-phosphate diet plus calcitriol treatment in OPG-knockout mice, needlelike calcium crystals were observed in the cytoplasm, SMCs, and in the extracellular space. Apoptotic or infiltrating cells were not detected. The mineralized areas show less elastic matrix and thinner SMC layers [51]. The vascular abnormalities and osteoporosis in OPGknockout mice were completely abolished using an OPG transgene approach. However, intravenous injection of recombinant OPG could not reverse the medial calcification, suggesting local production is imperative for the inhibition of calcification [52]. Furthermore, the absence of OPG in OPG/apoE double knockout mice accelerates the mineralization of atherosclerotic plaques. In this context, an increase in lesion area was observed due to an increase in extracellular matrix components such as collagen, proteoglycans, and elastin. It is possible that the lack of OPG results in downregulation of matrix degrading enzymes [53]. Previous studies suggested that elastin can be a scaffold for deposition of hydroxyapatite; and with formation of the multiple layers of elastin, there may be an increased surface area to support calcification [54]. Previously it has been reported that chondrocyte-like cells are associated with the deposition of hydroxyapatite in atherosclerotic lesions of apoEknockout mice [55]. In OPG/apoE double knockout mice, Bennett et al. found chondrocyte-like cells as well. However, there was a decrease in total cellularity in the lesions, including the number of chondrocyte-like cells. Thus, the absence of OPG does not appear to stimulate chondrocyte metaplasia [53].

In human abdominal aortic aneurysms (AAA), OPG expression was upregulated in less-calcified areas and downregulated in severely calcified areas. This might reflect the counterregulatory mechanism of OPG in calcified areas [56]. OPG serum levels have been associated with cardiovascular morbidity and mortality in elderly women [57]. In humans, OPG serum levels may not only reflect the disposition for cardiovascular diseases but also for chronic renal failure and diabetes [58–60]. OPG may be a key factor illuminating the underlying mechanism of the well-known paradoxical association of arterial calcification and osteoporotic loss of bone mass in elderly humans. Taken together, these studies indicate that serum OPG levels play a critical role in clinical conditions that favor atherosclerosis, vessel calcification, or vascular dysfunction, and they suggest that OPG may have an important role in the cause or progression of vascular calcification.
4.6. FIBRILLIN-1, ELASTIN DISINTEGRATION, AND ANEURYSM

Fibrillin-1 mutations result in the pleiotropic manifestations of Marfan syndrome [61], which is associated with hypermobility, aortic aneurysm formation, and calcification and long bone overgrowth. Fibrillin-1 appears to be essential for homeostasis of established elastic fibers and for cell adhesion involved in remodeling the matrix [62]. Mice deficient in fibrillin-1 revealed a predictable sequence of abnormalities including elastic fiber calcification, excessive deposition of other extracellular matrix molecules, elastolysis, and intimal hyperplasia. Bunton et al. showed that in elastic arteries of patients with Marfan syndrome, these changes are related to an SMC phenotype change (potentially to the so-called cSMC phenotype) [63]. This results in an abnormal elastic matrix, which serves a focus for hydroxyapatite crystallization. In the rat model of CaCl₂-mediated aortic injury, elastic lamellae stabilization through periadventitial administration of pentagalloyl glucose did not interfere with calcification [64]. Taken together, these data indicate that both loss of cell adhesion sites and elastin disintegration is necessary for elastic lamellae calcification. However, even without fibrillin-1 deficiency patients with aortic aneurysms (and thus with degraded elastin fibers but intact cell adhesion sites) often show arterial wall mineralization. In patients with small AAA, the annual growth rate is lower in patients with a higher degree of calcification (indicating an influence of mineralization of vessel wall stabilization) [65].

Onset and progression of elastin calcification has been related to elastin degradation [66]. Matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) activation, in particular that of the elastolytic MMPs 2, 3, and 9, was found to be associated with increased elastin calcification. Vyavahare et al. demonstrated that both gelatinases (MMP-2 and MMP-9) are involved in elastin-oriented calcification [67]. Coronary artery calcification has been related to a functional polymorphism of the elastin degrading MMP-3 [68]. In an autopsy series of coronary arteries of 300 middle-aged white Finnish men, the subjects with high MMP-3 promoter activity had larger calcified lesion areas than those subjects within the low-activity group. In reverse, inhibition of MMPs significantly reduces elastin calcification. Administration of aluminum ions (known inhibitors of elastin degradation) reduced CaCl2-induced chronic degeneration and calcification of elastic fibers in a rat model [69]. Accordingly, MMP-knockout mice were resistant to CaCl2-mediated aortic injury and did not develop elastin degeneration and calcification [69]. Application of synthetic inhibitors of MMPs-such as GM1001 or BB1101-suppressed MMP activity, prevented MMP-mediated elastolysis, and thus inhibited calcification of elastin in subepidermally implanted purified elastin and in vitamin D3 induced aortic calcification in rats [67, 70].

In atherosclerosis, additional elastic fiber dysfunctions, that is, downregulation of elastin, fibrillin, and lysyl oxidase, are directly related to SMC calcification [71]. In this respect, it has been shown that increased tropoelastin inhibits vascular calcification in cultured SMCs via the interaction between tropoelastin- and elastin-binding protein [72].

From these data one may assume that an intact elastic system and also subcomponents of the elastic lamellae inhibit vascular mineralization, that is, hydroxyapatite crystal precipitation.

4.7. КLOTHO

Mutations in the mouse *klotho* gene encoding β -glucosidase have been demonstrated to cause a phenotype resembling human aging, which also includes medial arterial calcification [73]. A twofold increase in serum P_i caused by elevation of renal type IIa Na/P_i cotransporter activity appears to be the main pathogenetic factor and phosphate retention rescues the phenotype [74]. Interestingly, *klotho*-deficient mice also develop intimal thickening [73]. The calcified lesions appear in sheets within the arterial media, therefore resembling Mönckeberg's media sclerosis. The expression of cartilage-specific markers has not been studied in the arteries of *kl/kl* mice. The *klotho* allele status seems to affect the risk of human coronary artery disease, since the *KL-VS* allele, harboring two amino acid substitutions in complete linkage disequilibrium, was associated with occult coronary artery disease in a cross-sectional association study by Arking *et al.* [75].

4.8. Smad6

A most striking vascular phenotype is present in mice lacking Madh6, the mouse homologue for Smad6. Smad6 plays a pivotal role in negative regulation of transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) family signaling as a feedback molecule as well as a mediator of cross talk with other pathways [76]. Specifically, Smad6 has been shown to effectively inhibit BMP signaling through interaction of BMP type I receptors [77]. Knockout mice for the Smad6 homologue develop cartilaginous metaplasia and trabeculated bone in the aortic wall [78]. Thus, in these mice, the complete process of enchondral bone formation is recapitulated within the arterial wall.

4.9. ABCC6 (ATP-BINDING CASSETTE TRANSPORTER SUBTYPE 6)

In 1996, Ivandic *et al.* identified a locus on chromosome 7 determining myocardial cell necrosis and calcification (dystrophic cardiac calcinosis) in certain inbred strains of mice [79]. Dystrophic cardiac calcinosis occurred

in these mice as response of myocardial tissue to injury. Ultrafine-mapping of the Dyscalc locus on chromosome 7 later revealed an 80-kb segment harboring the responsible gene [80], which was recently identified as *Abcc6* (ATPbinding cassette transporter subtype 6) [81]. Mutations in *Abcc6* have been known to be associated with Pseudoxanthoma elasticum (PXE) [82]. In PXE, the skin of the neck, axilla, and other flexural areas becomes lax, redundant, and relatively inelastic. In the eye, funduscopic examination shows "angioid streaks" in the Bruch's membrane. Vascular findings include occluded arterial vessels, calcification, and gastrointestinal hemorrhage. Arteries from *dyscalc* mice harboring *Abcc6* mutations, which were subjected to freeze/ thaw injury, also show patchy dystrophic calcification. These calcifications were demonstrated to originate from mitochondria of apoptotic vascular SMCs (L. Doehring, personal communication).

4.10. Fetuin-A (α -Heremans Schmid Glycoprotein)

Fetuin-A is a major systemic inhibitor of calcification, accounting for approximately 50% of the precipitation inhibitory capacity of serum [83, 84]. In vitro, fetuin-A is a highly potent inhibitor of hydroxyapatite formation and precipitation by forming a soluble "calciprotein" peptide. In addition, fetuin-A promotes endocytosis and serves as an opsonin to promote phagocytosis, thus favoring the removal of insoluble calcium remnants [85]. Furthermore, fetuin-A has been shown to regulate several of the key cellular events that lead to vascular SMC calcification, including apoptosis, vesicle calcification, and phagocytosis [86]. In fetuin-A-deficient mice, the degree of mineralization depends on the genetic background. On a DBA2 background, fetuin-Adeficient mice spontaneously develop severe calcifications in small blood vessels and other soft tissues [87]. A milder calcified phenotype is expressed on a C57BL/6 background only after vitamin D challenge or after feeding mineral-rich diet. Generally, the calcifications were extracellular and most prominent in organs involved in the secretion or transport of mineral-rich fluids or in the generation of local pH changes. Further electron microscope analysis revealed the presence of calcium phosphate deposits in foam cell-like macrophages. The extensive ectopic calcifications in fetuin-A-deficient DBA2 mice lead to arterial hypertension and renal failure [88]. In patients with chronic renal failure, low fetuin-A serum levels are associated with vascular and ectopic calcification leading to increased cardiovascular mortality in hemodialysis patients [89]. Moe et al. [90] demonstrated fetuin-A immunostaining associated with areas of calcification in arteries from five patients with chronic kidney disease. Furthermore, decreased serum fetuin-A levels were observed in PXE patients, characterized by progressive calcification of abnormal and fragmented elastic fibers [91]. Serum fetuin-A is

276

increased in patients with peripheral vascular disease and increased carotid arterial stiffness [92, 93]. Polymorphisms in the fetuin-A gene lead to decreased serum fetuin-A levels and increased serum phosphate levels, suggesting that genetic variants resulting in changes in protein function may predispose to calcification [94, 95]. In individuals with type 2 diabetes mellitus, sequence variants in the fetuin-A gene affect the extent of coronary artery calcified plaque [96]. Since a human syndrome characterized by complete deficiency of fetuin-A has not been described yet, a complete lack of fetuin-A may be lethal.

5. Promoters of Arterial Calcification

In tissues not meant to calcify, pathological calcification can be both the consequence of deficiencies of calcification inhibitors and a response to upregulated action of promoters of calcification (Fig. 2). Calcification in atherosclerotic vessels exemplifies this model, as several mineralizationregulating proteins are upregulated in calcifying atherosclerotic lesions, including BMP-2, BMP-4, and the stereotypic osteoblastic proteins



FIG. 2. Mechanisms of arterial calcification. Deficiency of inhibitors and/or gain of promoters of calcification induce the transdifferentiation of precursor cells to the cSMC phenotype. This triggers an orchestrated process of matrix mineralization, which can lead to different end-points. Hydroxyapatite crystal deposition again stimulates the inflammatory process leading to a vicious circle.

osteocalcin and osteonectin [13, 34, 47, 97]. Within recent years, a number of specific promoters of arterial calcification have been identified, which counteract the inhibitors addressed above.

5.1. INORGANIC PHOSPHATE

SMCs in the process of mineralization *in vitro* undergo a phenotypic transition toward an osteogenic phenotype [98]. P_i drives expression of several osteoblastic genes in cultured SMCs [99]. Concordantly, osteoblastic differentiation of SMCs likely mediates pathological medial calcification [including coronary artery calcification and calcific uremic arteriolopathy (CUA) in hyperphosphatemia such as in ESRD] [100, 101]. P_i uptake by SMCs is mediated by a sodium-dependent phosphate cotransporter identified as Pit-1 (also termed Glvr-1) implicated in osteoblast differentiation and calcification. [99]. Significantly, Pit-1 is regulated by a variety of growth factors [101, 102] and by epinephrine [103]. These observations have suggested that modulation of cellular " P_i hunger" might regulate pathological calcification.

Renal proximal tubular reabsorption is a key element for overall P_i homeostasis. Interestingly, *klotho* mutations (Table 1) lead to an elevation of renal type IIa Na/P_i cotransporter activity and thereby increase phosphate reabsorption in the kidney leading to vascular calcifications [74]. Also, according to a recent study, arterial calcification was more extensive in ESRD patients with biopsy-proven low bone activity and adynamic bone. Therefore, the well-known association between hyperparathyroidism and arterial calcification is more likely related to the high-bone-turnover-associated release of calcium and phosphate from bone than to the direct action of parathyroid hormone [104]. On the other hand, increased P_i clearance as seen in hypophosphatemic rickets is able to compensate typical phenotypic features of infantile arterial calcification [22].

Low serum phosphate levels should therefore be maintained in patients at risk for ectopic calcification. This is already taken into account in the most recent guidelines for phosphate management in hemodialysis patients [105].

5.2. POTENTIAL EFFECTS OF LEPTIN

Calcification in SMCs also is promoted by the satiety factor leptin, which enhances mineralization by cSMCs *in vitro*, in part by increasing AP activity [106]. A leptin receptor has been identified on cSMCs, as well as on medial and adventitial cells in the mouse artery wall [106]. Leptin-deficient and leptin receptor-deficient mice are protected from arterial thrombosis and neointimal hyperplasia in response to arterial wall injury. Several clinical studies have demonstrated that high leptin levels predict acute cardiovascular events and cerebral stroke independently of traditional risk factors. In addition, plasma leptin correlates with markers of subclinical atherosclerosis, such as carotid artery intima-media thickness and coronary artery calcifications. Inhibition of leptin signaling may therefore be a promising strategy to slow the progression of atherosclerosis in hyperleptinemic obese subjects [107].

5.3. PROMINERALIZING EFFECTS OF APOPTOSIS

Apoptotic processes predominantly adjacent to calcified areas have been detected in the media in Mönckeberg's sclerosis and the neointima in atherosclerosis [108]. Recently, it has been shown that similar structures to matrix vesicles, derived from apoptotic SMC, have been identified in human calcified arteries. These "apoptotic bodies" have the capacity to concentrate both calcium and phosphate to generate hydroxyapatite, initiating calcification. Inhibition of apoptosis appears to reduce calcification in vitro. Similarly enhancement of apoptosis increased calcification [109]. Phosphatidylserine is located on the outer membrane surface of apoptotic bodies and therefore faces the extracellular milieu [110]. Phosphatidylserine has been shown to bind calcium, and the mineral phase in matrix vesicles is associated with phosphatidylserine [111]. Therefore, it is plausible that apoptotic bodies accumulate calcium and P_i on their outer surface through their external phosphatidyserine [112]. Apoptotic processes in arteries may be induced by orthotopic bone formation protein BMP-2 [113], P_i [114], and the cytokine TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) [108]. Of interest, OPG has been described to bind TRAIL and thereby to inhibit its cytotoxic capacity in an in vitro model [115]. Increased OPG production in apoptotic areas may indicate a counterregulatory mechanism to limit apoptosis and thereby the initiation of calcification [108]. Phosphate-induced SMC calcification may be inhibited by statins by preventing apoptosis via restoration of the Gas6-Axl pathway [113]. In most situations, cell debris is rapidly cleared by phagocytic cells [116]. However, clearance of SMC debris may be inhibited, leading to accumulation of apoptotic bodies [117, 118], which proceed to calcify.

5.4. ROLE OF LIPIDS

Clinical studies on arterial calcification have consistently shown that high levels of serum low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol and low levels of serum high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol are directly related to the prevalence and extent of coronary artery calcification [119–121]. Oxidized lipids generated by activated macrophages, endothelial cells, and SMCs in the course of atherogenesis, also promote calcification partly by

compromising cell viability and by direct modulation of hydroxyapatite deposition in the matrix [122].

Transgenic mice such as the $apoE^{-/-}$ and LDL-receptor-deficient ($ldlr^{-/-}$) mice exhibit hypercholesterolemia and develop complex atherosclerotic lesions similar to those seen in humans [123, 124]. Rattazzi et al. characterized advanced atherosclerotic lesions in the innominate arteries of chow-fed $apoE^{-/-}$ mice and focused on plaque calcification. They observed that by 75 weeks of age there was a 100% frequency of calcification. Furthermore, it appeared that chondrocyte-like cells were responsible for depositing hydroxyapatite crystal formation through a process that recapitulates the cellular and temporal aspects of endochondral ossification, including a developing bonelike expression pattern, the presence of active AP in chondrocyte-like cells within and adjacent to the areas of calcification, and the presence of matrix vesicles derived from chondrocyte-like cells [55]. In contrast, chow-fed $ldlr^{-/-}$ mice did not show any calcification in arteries. However, *ldlr*^{-/-} mice crossed with ApolipoproteinB-100-only mice developed aortic stenosis, valvular heart disease, oxidant stress, and calcification in aortic valve tissue on normal chow diet [125]. On the other hand, aortic mineralization was consistently observed in $ldlr^{-/-}$ mice on a carbohydrate diet without cholesterol and in animals on a high-fat diet containing 0.15% cholesterol, independent of atheroma formation. These mice showed expression of Msx2 and Msx1 (transcription factors controlling neurectodermal osteoblast differentiation) and osteopontin. These data suggest that dietinduced calcification was caused by an active process, via initiation of an osteoblast transcriptional regulatory program [126].

In a European American diabetic population, several common variants of genes involved in lipid metabolism (*PON1, PON2, LPL*) appeared to contribute to arterial calcification [127].

In vitro, HDL may regulate calcification of so-called cSMCs. cSMCs treated with HDL had significantly lower AP activity, an established marker of osteoblastic differentiation in osteoprogenitor cells, including cSMCs. HDL also blocked matrix calcification in cSMC cultures, suggesting that HDL regulates early and late events in osteogenic differentiation. Furthermore, HDL blocked the calcification induced by inflammatory cytokines interleukin (IL)-1 β and IL-6 as well as that induced by minimally oxidized LDL. In contrast, after oxidation, HDL not only lost its antiosteogenic effect but also induced calcification of cultured cSMCs [128]. HDL may prevent calcification of vascular cells and thus prevent calcification-induced vascular complications that would impair the proper functioning of the vessel wall.

Lipid-lowering therapy by statins decreases progression of coronary artery and aortic valve calcification [129, 130]. Hypercholesterolemic aortic valve calcification is attenuated by atorvastatin and is mediated in part by the Lrp5–beta-catenin pathway [130]. As shown by Kizu *et al.* [129], in vascular SMC statins interfere with the induction of AP by inflammatory mediators, such as interferon gamma, vitamin –D3, $\text{TNF}\alpha$, and oncostatin M. This inhibitory effect of statins on vascular mineralization is mediated via Rho kinase.

5.5. LOW-GRADE INFLAMMATION PROMOTES ARTERIAL CALCIFICATION

Atherosclerosis and valvular disease [2, 131], varicosis [3], ESRD, and diabetes mellitus [132], all etiologies associated with vascular mineralization are recognized as inflammatory states. Evidence steadily is mounting that inflammatory processes play an important role in vascular calcification. Vascular calcification in general is associated with infiltration of inflammatory cells and expression of inflammatory mediators.

In a rat model of elastocalcinotic arteriosclerosis, media calcification was associated with macrophage/monocyte infiltration and induction of $\text{TNF}\alpha$ and IL-1 β . In this animal model, aortic wall calcification was blunted by antiinflammatory treatment with Pioglitazone [133].

In Takayasu arteritis (TA), a chronic inflammatory disorder affecting the aorta and its branches, vascular calcification has been described in up to 54% of the cases. In TA, severe arterial calcification is associated with low bone mineral density and low expression of the receptor activator of nuclear factor-kappaB ligand (RANKL), reinforcing the link between osteoporosis and vascular calcification [134, 135].

Atherosclerosis is conceptualized as a chronic inflammatory process in which numerous inflammatory cell types and cytokines are known to participate [136]. The groups of Doherty and Demer and coworkers have reviewed atherosclerotic lesion calcification in depth [122, 137]. As reported for other vascular mineralization types, intimal calcification in atherosclerotic plaques is an organized process carried out by ectopic osteoblastic and chondrocytic cells and regulated by osteoclastic cells in the inflammatory lesions [137]. Infiltrating inflammatory cell types are critical in the pathogenesis of atherosclerosis and macrophages colocalize with calcific deposits in atherosclerotic plaques [136, 138, 139]. Particularly, the cytokines secreted by inflammatory cell types are of importance for vascular mineralization processes [140, 141]. In a coculture model, in the presence of interferon gamma and vitamin D, macrophages stimulated the expression of AP and under addition of betaglycerophosphate matrix mineralization by SMCs [142]. TNF α and oncostatin M, only when secreted together by macrophages, were identified as inducers of AP, which plays a fundamental role in bone mineralization [143]. $TNF\alpha$ is secreted by macrophages in response to certain atherogenic factors, including oxidized LDL [144], and it promotes osteoblastic gene expression

and calcification in cultured bovine SMCs [18]. IL-4—secreted by lymphocytes and linked to atherosclerosis—exerts differential osteogenic effects on vascular SMCs [145]. While short-term exposure enhances OPG production, long-term exposure causes Cbfa1-dependent osteogenic transdifferentiation of SMCs and decreased OPG expression [145]. Insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), one of the paracrine regulators of osteoblasts, is also present in atherosclerotic lesions. IGF-1 inhibits the spontaneous transdifferentiation of SMCs to the calcifying phenotype and mineralization [141].

On the other hand, macrophages may promote a vicious circle of inflammation and calcification in the vessel wall by ingesting intimal calcific deposits and producing procalcifying agents such as $\text{TNF}\alpha$. $\text{TNF}\alpha$ secretion was inversely correlated to hydroxyapatite particle size indicating that microscopic calcific deposits in early stages of atherosclerosis may pose a greater inflammatory risk to the plaque than the macroscopically visible deposits in more advanced lesions [146].

In their study on severely calcified and stenotic human aortic valves, Anger *et al.* [147] provided evidence that atherosclerotic inflammation is a trigger for sclerosis in aortic valvular disease. Atherosclerotic target genes, such as TGF β and vascular adhesion protein-1, were upregulated in mineralized aortic valves. Previous statin therapy as part of an anti-inflammatory treatment strategy could only partially reverse this effect.

Inflammation and loss of extracellular matrix integrity (elastolysis) are hallmarks of abdominal aortic aneurism (AAA). AAA is commonly associated with atherosclerosis and calcification. In AAA expression of TRAIL and its inhibitor OPG correlated with the extent of calcification [56].

In patients with end-stage renal failure, increased CRP levels are associated with the presence of vascular calcification (atheromatous and medial forms) [148].

TNF α , the OPG-RANKL-RANK system and colony-stimulating factor 1 have also been implicated in osteoclast formation and function. These cytokines are also expressed in atherosclerotic plaques, consistent with the concept of the presence of osteoclast-like cells in arteries, which might derive from resident macrophages of the plaque [136].

6. Implications of Basic Research on Clinical Therapy

Studies on knockout mice have led to the identification of a substantial number of inhibitors of vascular calcification. A few of them have already proven their potential to be translated into therapeutic targets for future clinical trials. Recently, for example, vascular calcification as a known side effect of coumadin therapy has been attributed to underdecarboxylation of MGP [31]. This effect was shown to be antagonized in rats by high intake of vitamin K [149]. Two independent studies have demonstrated that subjects on long-term anti-coagulation have more arterial and heart valve calcification than an age- and sex-matched control population [150, 151]. Future clinical studies should therefore address the influence of vitamin K on MGP carboxylation and vascular calcification in the setting of long-term warfarin therapy.

Vascular calcification is a major determinant of morbidity and mortality in ESRD. In our view, two major candidates are of utmost importance for future clinical trials in this respect, namely, P_i and PP_i. Dietary restriction and conventional dialysis are ineffective in controlling hyperphosphatemia in ESRD patients; thus, the majority of dialysis patients require phosphate binders. Until recently, the predominant binders in use have been calcium acetate and calcium carbonate. However, these agents have been linked to arterial calcification [152]. In a most recent study, treatment with sevelamer, an anion-exchange resin, which sequesters phosphate within the gastrointestinal tract and therefore prevents its resorption and enhances fetal excretion [153], was associated with lower overall mortality [154]. Deficiency of extracellular PP, has been identified as the cause of arterial calcification in infantile arterial calcification [9, 10]. Similarly, in uremic patients, low plasma pyrophosphate levels were demonstrated [155]. When administered orally, pyrophosphate is subjected to rapid degradation, therefore bisphosphonates, which are structural analogues resistant to enzymatic hydrolysis, have been used. In high doses, these compounds physicochemically prevent mineralization by inhibiting the formation and aggregation of calcium phosphate crystals and blocking the transformation of amorphous calcium phosphate to hydroxyapatite [156]. Tamura et al. added to the growing body of evidence that bisphosphonates inhibit arterial calcification in vivo by showing a significant effect on aortic calcification in uremic rats [157]. A study in which bisphosphonates were administered to hemodialysis patients already generated hopeful results [158]. However, in apoE-knockout mice, bisphosphonate treatment was associated with a progression of atherosclerosis [159]. These conflicting results should lead to further clinical studies, since there is a substantial unmet medical need for effective drugs to prevent and treat arterial calcification.

7. Conclusion

Calcification in arteries can result from a deficiency of specific inhibitors. Targeted deletions of certain genes in mice models have identified NPP1, fetuin-A, Klotho, and a variety of other proteins, expression of which in the arterial wall or in the circulation is pertinent for the integrity of the arterial extracellular matrix and for the inhibition of hydroxyapatite crystal precipitation. Likewise, a gain of promoters, such as increased low-grade inflammation and apoptosis, contributes to a transition to the cSMC phenotype. This leads to an orchestrated process of matrix calcification, which can occur at different sites of the arterial wall (intima and media), employing the instruments of bone formation, but reaching different end points, namely, pure deposition of hydroxyapatite crystals, cartilaginous metaplasia or complete bone formation (Fig. 2). While the etiology of these processes has come to light in recent years, the underlying mechanisms are still not fully elucidated. MGP, P_i, and PP_i have already proven their potential as valuable therapeutic targets, and further studies are warranted to optimize prevention and treatment of arterial calcification in patients at risk.

Acknowledgments

The authors are supported by a grant from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (SFB 492).

References

- Rajamannan NM, Subramaniam M, Rickard D, Stock SR, Donovan J, Springett M, et al. Human aortic valve calcification is associated with an osteoblast phenotype. Circulation 2003; 107(17):2181–2184.
- [2] Caira FC, Stock SR, Gleason TG, McGee EC, Huang J, Bonow RO, et al. Human degenerative valve disease is associated with up-regulation of low-density lipoprotein receptor-related protein 5 receptor-mediated bone formation. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006; 47(8):1707–1712.
- [3] Cario-Toumaniantz C, Boularan C, Schurgers LJ, Heymann MF, Le Cunff M, Leger J, et al. Identification of differentially expressed genes in human varicose veins: Involvement of matrix gla protein in extracellular matrix remodeling. J Vasc Res 2007; 44(6):444–459.
- [4] Wilson PW, Kauppila LI, O'Donnell CJ, Kiel DP, Hannan M, Polak JM, et al. Abdominal aortic calcific deposits are an important predictor of vascular morbidity and mortality. Circulation 2001; 103:1529–1534.
- [5] Niskanen LK, Suhonen M, Siitonen O, Lehtinen JM, Uusitupa MI. Aortic and lower limb artery calcification in type 2 (non-insulin-dependent) diabetic patients and non-diabetic control subjects. A five year follow-up study. Atherosclerosis 1990; 84(1):61–71.
- [6] Fitzgerald PJ, Ports TA, Yock PG. Contribution of localized calcium deposits to dissection after angioplasty. An observational study using intravascular ultrasound. Circulation 1992; 86(1):64–70.
- [7] Wayhs R, Zelinger A, Raggi P. High coronary artery calcium scores pose an extremely elevated risk for heart events. J Am Coll Cardiol 2002; 39:225–230.
- [8] Stary HC, Chandler AB, Dinsmore RE, Fuster V, Glagov S, Insull W, Jr., et al. A definition of advanced types of atherosclerotic lesions and a histological classification of atherosclerosis. A report from the committee on vascular lesions of the council on arteriosclerosis, American Heart Association. Circulation 1995; 92(5):1355–1374.

- [9] Rutsch F, Schauerte P, Kalhoff H, Petrarulo M, August C, Diekmann L. Low levels of urinary inorganic pyrophosphate indicating systemic pyrophosphate deficiency in a boy with idiopathic infantile arterial calcification. Acta Paediatr 2000; 89:1265–1269.
- [10] Rutsch F, Vaingankar S, Johnson K, et al. PC-1 nucleoside triphosphate pyrophosphohydrolase deficiency in idiopathic infantile arterial calcification. Am J Pathol 2001; 158:543–554.
- [11] Hsu HH, Camacho NP, Sun F, Tawfik O, Aono H. Isolation of calcifying vesicles from high cholesterol-fed rabbits. Atherosclerosis 2000; 153:337–348.
- [12] Johnson RC, Leopold JA, Loscalzo J. Vascular calcification: Pathobiological mechanisms and clinical implications. Circ Res 2006; 99(10):1044–1059.
- [13] Boström K, Watson KE, Horn S, Wortham C, Herman IM, Demer LL. Bone morphogenetic protein expression in human atherosclerotic lesions. J Clin Invest 1993; 91(4):1800–1809.
- [14] Demer LL, Tintut Y. Mineral exploration: Search for the mechanism of vascular calcification and beyond: The 2003 Jeffrey M. Hoeg Award lecture. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2003; 23:1739–1743.
- [15] Terkeltaub RA. What does cartilage calcification tell us about osteoarthritis? J Rheumatol 2002; 29:411–415.
- [16] Luo G, Ducy P, McKee MD, Pinero GJ, Loyer E, Behringer RR, et al. Spontaneous calcification of arteries and cartilage in mice lacking matrix GLA protein. Nature 1997; 386(6620):78–81.
- [17] Proudfoot D, Shanahan CM, Weissberg PL. Vascular calcification. New insights into an old problem. J Pathol 1998; 185:1–3.
- [18] Tintut Y, Patel J, Parhami F, Demer LL. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha promotes in vitro calcification of vascular cells via the cAMP pathway. Circulation 2000; 102:2636–2642.
- [19] Okawa A, Nakamura I, Goto S, Moriya H, Nakamura Y, Ikegawa S. Mutation in Npps in a mouse model of ossification of the posterior longitudinal ligament of the spine. Nat Genet 1998; 19:271–273.
- [20] Ho AH, Johnson MD, Kingsley DM. Role of the mouse ank gene in control of tissue calcification and arthritis. Science 2000; 289:265–270.
- [21] Johnson K, Polewski M, van Etten D, Terkeltaub R. Chondrogenesis mediated by PPi depletion promotes spontaneous aortic calcification in NPP1-/- mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2005; 25(4):686–691.
- [22] Rutsch F, Ruf N, Vaingankar S, Toliat M, Suk A, Höhne W, et al. Mutations in ENPP1 are associated with 'idiopathic' infantile arterial calcification. Nat Genet 2003; 34:379–381.
- [23] Ruf N, Uhlenberg B, Terkeltaub R, Nürnberg P, Rutsch F. The mutational spectrum of ENPP1 as arising after the analysis of 23 unrelated patients with generalized arterial calcification of infancy (GACI). Hum Mutat 2005; 25(1):98. [Erratum in: Hum Mutat 2005; 26(5):495–496.]
- [24] Numakura C, Yamada M, Ariyasu D, Maesaka A, Kobayashi H, Nishimura G, et al. Genetic and enzymatic analysis for two Japanese patients with idiopathic infantile arterial calcification. J Bone Miner Metab 2006; 24(1):48–52.
- [25] Cheng KS, Chen MR, Ruf N, Lin SP, Rutsch F. Generalized arterial calcification of infancy: Different clinical courses in two affected siblings. Am J Med Genet A 2005; 136(2):210–213.
- [26] El-Maadawy S, Kaartinen MT, Schinke T, Murshed M, Karsenty G, McKee MD. Cartilage Formation and calcification in arteries of mice lacking matrix Gla protein. Connect Tissue Res 2003; 44(1):272–278.
- [27] Munroe PB, Olgunturk RO, Fryns JP, Van Maldergem L, Ziereisen F, Yuksel B, et al. Mutations in the gene encoding the human matrix Gla protein cause Keutel syndrome. Nat Genet 1999; 21:142–144.

- [28] Meier M, Weng LP, Alexandrakis E, Ruschoff J, Goeckenjan G. Tracheobronchial stenosis in Keutel syndrome. Eur Respir J 2001; 17:566–569.
- [29] Zebboudj AF, Imura M, Boström K. Matrix GLA protein, a regulatory protein for bone morphogenetic protein-2. J Biol Chem 2002; 277:4388–4394.
- [30] Zebboudj A, Shin V, Boström K. Matrix GLA Protein and BMP-2 regulate osteoinduction in calcifying vascular cells. J Cell Biochem 2003; 90:757–765.
- [31] Price PA, Faus SA, Williamson MK. Warfarin-induced calcification is accelerated by growth and vitamin D. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2000; 20:317–327.
- [32] Scatena M, Liaw L, Giachelli CM. Osteopontin. A multifunctional molecule regulating chronic inflammation and vascular disease. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2007; 27(11):2302–2309.
- [33] Baccarini-Contri M, Taparelli F, Pasquali-Ronchetti I. Osteopontin is a constitutive component of normal elastic fibers in human skin and aorta.. Matrix Biol 1994; 14:553–560.
- [34] Bini A, Mann KG, Kudryk BJ, Schoen FJ. Noncollagenous bone matrix proteins, calcification, and thrombosis in carotid artery atherosclerosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1999; 19:1852–1861.
- [35] Wada T, McKee MD, Steitz S, Giachelli CM. Calcification of vascular smooth muscle cell cultures: Inhibition by osteopontin. Circ Res 1999; 84(2):166–178.
- [36] Giachelli CM, Bae N, Almeida M, Denhardt DT, Alpers CE, Schwartz SM. Osteopontin is elevated during neointima formation in rat arteries and is a novel component of human atherosclerotic plaques. J Clin Invest 1993; 92(4):1686–1696.
- [37] Steitz SA, Speer MY, McKee MD, Liaw L, Almeida M, Yang H, et al. Osteopontin inhibits mineral deposition and promotes regression of ectopic calcification. Am J Pathol 2002; 161:2035–2046.
- [38] Aikawa E, Nahrendorf M, Sosnovik D, Lok VM, Jaffer FA, Aikawa M, et al. Multimodality molecular imaging identifies proteolytic and osteogenic activities in early aortic valve disease. Circulation 2007; 115(3):377–386.
- [39] Matsui Y, Rittling SR, Okamoto H, Inobe M, Jia N, Shimizu T, et al. Osteopontin deficiency attenuates atherosclerosis in female apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2003; 23(6):1029–1034.
- [40] Jono S, Peinado C, Giachelli CM. Phosphorylation of osteopontin is required for inhibition of vascular smooth muscle cell calcification. J Biol Chem 2000; 275(26):20197–20203.
- [41] Johnson K, Goding J, Van Etten D, Sali A, Hu SI, Farley D, et al. Linked deficiencies in extracellular PP(i) and osteopontin mediate pathologic calcification associated with defective PC-1 and ANK expression. J Bone Miner Res 2003; 18:994–1004.
- [42] Blair HC. How the osteoclast degrades bone. Bioessays 1998; 20(10):837–846.
- [43] Spicer SS, Lewis SE, Tashian RE, Schulte BA. Mice carrying a CAR-2 null allele lack carbonic anhydrase II immunohistochemically and show vascular calcification. Am J Pathol 1989; 134:947–954.
- [44] Cotter M, Connell T, Colhoun E, Smith OP, McMahon C. Carbonic anhydrase II deficiency. A rare autosomal recessive disorder of osteopetrosis, renal Tubular acidosis, and cerebral calcification. J Pediatr Hematol Oncol 2005; 27:115–117.
- [45] Simonet WS, Lacey DL, Dunstan CR, Kelley M, Chang MS, Luethy R, et al. Osteoprotegerin: A novel secreted protein involved in the regulation of bone density. Cell 1997; 89:309–319.
- [46] Tsuda E, Goto M, Mochizuki S, Yano K, Kobayashi F, Morinaga T, et al. Isolation of a novel cytokine from human fibroblasts that specifically inhibits osteoclastogenesis. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1997; 234(1):137–142.

- [47] Dhore CR, Cleutjens JP, Lutgens E, Cleutjens KB, Geusens PP, Kitslaar PJ, et al. Differential expression of bone matrix regulatory proteins in human atherosclerotic plaques. Arterioscl Thromb Vasc Biol 2001; 21:1998–2003.
- [48] Brandström H, Stiger F, Lind L, Kahan T, Melhus H, Kindmark A. A single nucleotide polymorphism in the promoter region of the human gene for osteoprotegerin is related to vascular morphology and function. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2002; 293:13–17.
- [49] Mizuno A, Amizuka N, Irie K, Murakami A, Fujise N, Kanno T, et al. Severe osteoporosis in mice lacking osteoclastogenesis inhibitory factor/ osteoprotegerin. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1998; 247:610–615.
- [50] Bucay N, Sarosi I, Dunstan CR, Morony S, Tarpley J, Capparelli C, et al. Osteoprotegerin-deficient mice develop early onset osteoporosis and arterial calcificationGenes Dev 1998; 12:1260–1268.
- [51] Orita Y, Yamamoto H, Kohno N, Sugihara M, Honda H, Kawamata S, et al. Role of osteoprotegerin in arterial calcification. Development of new animal model. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2007; 27(9):2058–2064.
- [52] Min H, Morony S, Sarosi I, Dunstan CR, Capparelli C, Scully S, et al. Osteoprotegerin reverses osteoporosis by inhibiting endosteal osteoclasts and prevents vascular calcification by blocking a process resembling osteoclastogenesis. J Exp Med 2000; 192(4):463–474.
- [53] Bennett BJ, Scatena M, Kirk EA, Rattazzi M, Varon RM, Averill M, et al. Osteoprotegerin inactivation accelerates advanced atherosclerotic lesion progression and calcification in older ApoE-/- mice. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2006; 26:2117–2124.
- [54] Bobryshev YV, Lord RS, Warren BA. Calcified deposit formation in intimal thickenings of the human aorta. Atherosclerosis 1995; 118:9–21.
- [55] Rattazzi M, Bennett BJ, Bea F, Kirk EA, Ricks JL, Speer M, et al. Calcification of advanced atherosclerotic lesions in the innominate arteries of ApoE-deficient mice. Potential role of chondrocyte like cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2005; 25(7):1420–1425.
- [56] Liu X, Winrow VR, Horrocks M, Stevens CR. Differential expression of TRAIL and its receptors relative to calcification in AAA. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2007; 358:18–23.
- [57] Browner WS, Lui LY, Cummings SR. Associations of serum osteoprotegerin levels with diabetes, stroke, bone density, fractures, and mortality in elderly women. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2001; 86:631–637.
- [58] Vik A, Mathiesen EB, Notø AT, Sveinbjørnsson B, Brox J, Hansen JB. Serum osteoprotegerin is inversely associated with carotid plaque echogenicity in humans. Atherosclerosis 2007; 919(1):128–134.
- [59] Anand DV, Lahiri A, Lim E, Hopkins D, Corder R. The relationship between plasma osteoprotegerin levels and coronary artery calcification in uncomplicated type 2 diabetic subjects. J Am Coll Cardiol 2006; 47(9):1850–1857.
- [60] Morena M, Terrier N, Jaussent I, Leray-Moragues H, Chalabi L, Rivory JP, et al. Plasma osteoprotegerin is associated with mortality in hemodialysis patients. J Am Soc Nephrol 2006; 17(1):262–270.
- [61] Ramirez F, Pereira L. The fibrillins. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 1999; 31:255-259.
- [62] Pereira L, Lee SY, Gayraud B, Andrikopoulos K, Shapiro SD, Bunton T, et al. Pathogenetic sequence for aneurysm revealed in mice underexpressing fibrillin-1. Pnas 1999; 96:3819–3823.
- [63] Bunton TE, Biery NJ, Myers L, Gayraud B, Ramirez F, Dietz HC. Phenotypic alteration of vascular smooth muscle cells precedes elastolysis in a mouse model of Marfan syndrome. Circ Res. 2001; 88(1):37–43.
- [64] Isenburg JC, Simionescu DT, Starcher BC, Vyavahare NR. Elastin stabilization for treatment of abdominal aortic aneurysms. Circulation 2007; 115(13):1729–1737.

- [65] Lindholt JS. Aneurysmal wall calcification predicts natural history of small abdominal aortic aneurysms. Atherosclerosis 2008; 197(2):673–678.
- [66] Bailey M, Pillarisetti S, Jones P, Xiao H, Simionescu D, Vyavahare N. Involvement of matrix metalloproteinases and tenascin-C in elastin calcification. Cardiovasc Pathol 2004; 13(3):146–155.
- [67] Vyavahare N, Jones PL, Tallapragada S, Levy RJ. Inhibition of matrix metalloproteinase activity attenuates tenascin-C production and calcification of implanted purified elastin in rats. Am J Pathol 2000; 157(3):885–893.
- [68] Pöllänen PJ, Lehtimäki T, Ilveskoski E, Mikkelsson J, Kajander OA, Laippala P, et al. Coronary artery calcification is related to functional polymorphism of matrix metalloproteinase 3: The Helsinki sudden death study. Atherosclerosis 2002; 164(2):329–335.
- [69] Basalyga DM, Simionescu DT, Xiong W, Baxter BT, Starcher BC, Vyavahare NR. Elastin degradation and calcification in an abdominal aorta injury model: Role of matrix metalloproteinases. Circulation 2004; 110(22):3480–3487.
- [70] Qin X, Corriere MA, Matrisian LM, Guzman RJ. Matrix metalloproteinase inhibition attenuates aortic calcification. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2006; 26(7):1510–1516.
- [71] Seyama Y, Wachi H. Atherosclerosis and matrix dystrophy. J Atheroscler Thromb 2004; 11(5):236–245.
- [72] Wachi H, Sugitani H, Murata H, Nakazawa J, Mecham RP, Seyama Y. Tropoelastin inhibits vascular calcification via 67-kDa elastin binding protein in cultured bovine aortic smooth muscle cells. J Atheroscler Thromb 2004; 11(3):159–166.
- [73] Kuro-o M, Matsumura Y, Aizawa H, Kawaguchi H, Suga T, Utsugi T, et al. Mutation of the mouse klotho gene leads to a syndrome resembling aging. Nature 1997; 390:45–51.
- [74] Miyamoto KI, Ito M, Segawa H, Kuwahata M. Molecular targets of hyperphosphatemia in chronic renal failure. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2003; 18(3):iii79–iii80.
- [75] Arking DE, Becker DM, Yanek LR, Fallin D, Judge DP, Moy TF, et al. KLOTHO allele status and the risk of early-onset occult coronary artery disease. Am J Hum Genet 2003; 72:1154–1161.
- [76] Afrakhte M, Moren A, Jossan S, Itoh S, Sampath K, Westermark B, et al. Induction of inhibitory Smad6 and Smad7 mRNA by TGF-β family members. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1998; 249:505–511.
- [77] Goto K, Kamiya Y, Imamura T, Miyazono K, Miyazawa K. Selective inhibitory effects of Smad6 on bone morphogenetic protein type I receptors. JBC 2007; 282(28):20603–20611.
- [78] Galvin KM, Donovan MJ, Lynch CA, Meyer RI, Paul RJ, Lorenz JN, et al. A role for smad6 in development and homeostasis of the cardiovascular system. Nat Genet 2000; 24:171–174.
- [79] Ivandic BT, Qiao JH, Machleder D, Liao F, Drake TA, Lusis AJ. A locus on chromosome 7 determines myocardial cell necrosis and calcification (dystrophic cardiac calcinosis) in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1996; 93(11):5483–5488.
- [80] Aherrahrou Z, Doehring L, Kaczmarek PM, Liptau H, Ehlers EM, Pomarino A, et al. Ultrafine mapping of Dyscalc1 to an 80-kb chromosomal segment on chromosome 7 in mice susceptible for dystrophic calcification. Physiol Genomics 2007; 28(2):203–212.
- [81] Meng H, Ver I, Che N, Wang X, Wang SS, Ingram-Drake L, et al. Identification of Abcc6 as the major causal gene for dystrophic cardiac calcification in mice through integrative genomics. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2007; 104(11):4530–4535.
- [82] Ringpfeil F, Lebwohl MG, Christiano AM, Uitto J. Pseudoxanthoma elasticum: Mutations in the MRP6 gene encoding a transmembrane ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporter. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2000; 97(11):6001–6006.

- [83] Schinke T, Amendt C, Trindl A, Poschke O, Muller-Esterl W, Jahnen-Dechent W. The serum protein alpha2-HS glycoprotein/fetuin inhibits apatite formation *in vitro* and in mineralizing calvaria cells. A possible role in mineralization and calcium homeostasis. J Biol Chem 1996; 271(34):20789–20796.
- [84] Jahnen-Dechent W, Schinke T, Trindl A, Muller-Esterl W, Sablitzky F, Kaiser S, et al. Cloning and targeted deletion of the mouse fetuin gene. J Biol Chem 1997; 272 (50):31496–31503.
- [85] Heiss A, DuChesne A, Denecke B, Grotzinger J, Yamamoto K, Renne T, et al. Structural basis of calcification inhibition by alpha 2-HS glycoprotein/fetuin-A. Formation of colloidal calciprotein particles. J Biol Chem 2003; 278(15):13333–13341.
- [86] Reynolds JL, Skepper JN, McNair R, Kasama T, Gupta K, Weissberg PL, et al. Multifunctional roles for serum protein fetuin-A in inhibition of human vascular smooth muscle cell calcification. J Am Soc Nephrol 2005; 16(10):2920–2930.
- [87] Merx MW, Schäfer C, Westenfeld R, Brandenburg V, Hidajat S, Weber C, et al. Myocardial stiffness, cardiac remodeling, and diastolic dysfunction in calcification-prone fetuin-A-deficient mice. J Am Soc Nephrol 2005; 16(11):3357–3364.
- [88] Schäfer C, Heiss A, Schwarz A, Westenfeld R, Ketteler M, Floege J, et al. The serum protein alpha 2-Heremans-Schmid glycoprotein/fetuin-A is a systemically acting inhibitor of ectopic calcification. J Clin Invest 2003; 112(3):357–366.
- [89] Ketteler M, Bongartz P, Westenfeld R, Wildberger JE, Mahnken AH, Bohm R, et al. Association of low fetuin-A (AHSG) concentrations in serum with cardiovascular mortality in patients on dialysis: A cross-sectional study. Lancet 2003; 361(9360):827–833.
- [90] Moe SM, Reslerova M, Ketteler M, O'neill K, Duan D, Koczman J, et al. Role of calcification inhibitors in the pathogenesis of vascular calcification in chronic kidney disease (CKD). Kidney Int 2005; 67(6):2295–2304.
- [91] Hendig D, Schulz V, Arndt M, Szliska C, Kleesiek K, Götting C. Role of serum fetuin-A, a major inhibitor of systemic calcification, in pseudoxanthoma elasticum. Clin Chem 2006; 52(2):227–234.
- [92] Fiore CE, Celotta G, Politi GG, Di Pino L, Castelli Z, Mangiafico RA, et al. Association of high alpha(2)-Heremans-Schmid glycoprotein/fetuin concentration in serum and intima-media thickness in patients with atherosclerotic vascular disease and low bone mass. Atherosclerosis 2007; 195(1):110–115.
- [93] Mori K, Emoto M, Araki T, Yokoyama H, Teramura M, Lee E, et al. Related articles, association of serum fetuin-A with carotid arterial stiffness. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 2007; 66(2):246–250.
- [94] Osawa M, Tian W, Horiuchi H, Kaneko M, Umetsu K. Association of alpha2-HS glycoprotein (AHSG, fetuin-A) polymorphism with AHSG and phosphate serum levels. Hum Genet 2005; 116(3):146–151.
- [95] Stenvinkel P, Wang K, Qureshi AR, Axelsson J, Pecoits-Filho R, Gao P, et al. Low fetuin-A levels are associated with cardiovascular death: Impact of variations in the gene encoding fetuin. Kidney Int 2005; 67(6):2383–2392.
- [96] Lehtinen AB, Burdon KP, Lewis JP, Langefeld CD, Ziegler JT, Rich SS, et al. Association of alpha2-Heremans-Schmid glycoprotein polymorphisms with subclinical atherosclerosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2007; 92(1):345–352.
- [97] Fleet JC, Hock JM. Identification of osteocalcin mRNA in nonosteoid tissue of rats and humans by reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction. J Bone Miner Res 1994; 9:1565–1573.
- [98] Steitz SA, Speer MY, Curinga G, Yang HY, Haynes P, Aebersold R, et al. Smooth muscle cell phenotypic transition associated with calcification. Upregulation of CbfA1 and downregulation of smooth muscle lineage markers. Circ Res 2001; 89:1147–1154.

- [99] Jono S, McKee MD, Murry CE, Shioi A, Nishizawa Y, Mori K, et al. Phosphate regulation of vascular smooth muscle cell calcification. Circ Res 2000; 87:E10–E17.
- [100] Goodman WG, Goldin J, Kuizon BD, Shioi A, Nishizawa Y, Mori K, et al. Coronary– artery calcification in young adults with end-stage renal disease who are undergoing dialysis. N Engl J Med 2000; 342:1478–1483.
- [101] Palmer G, Bonjour JP, Caverzasio J. Expression of a newly identified phosphate transporter/retrovirus receptor in human SaOS-2 osteoblast-like cells and its regulation by insulin-like growth factor I. Endocrinology 1997; 138:5202–5209.
- [102] Palmer G, Guicheux J, Bonjour JP, Caverzasio J. Transforming growth factor- β stimulates inorganic phosphate transport and expression of the type II phosphate transporter GlvR-1 in chondrogenic ATDC5 cells. Endocrinology 2000; 141:2236–2243.
- [103] Suzuki A, Palmer G, Bonjour JP, Caverzasio J. Stimulation of sodium-dependent inorganic phosphate transport by activation of Gi/o-protein-coupled receptors by epinephrine in MC3T3-E1 osteoblast-like cells. Bone 2001; 28:589–594.
- [104] London GM, Marty C, Marchais SJ, Guerin AP, Metivier F, de Vernejoul MC, et al. Arterial calcifications and bone histomorphometry in end-stage renal disease. J Am Soc Nephrol 2004; 15:1943–1951.
- [105] Massry SG, Smogorzewski M. Management of vascular calcification in CKD patients. Semin Nephrol 2006; 26(1):38–41.
- [106] Parhami F, Tintut Y, Ballard A, Fogelman AM, Demer LL. Leptin enhances the calcification of vascular cells: Artery wall as a target of leptin. Circ Res 2001; 88:954–960.
- [107] Beltowski J. Leptin and atherosclerosis. Atherosclerosis 2006; 189(1):47-60.
- [108] Schoppet M, Al-Fakhri N, Franke FE, et al. Localization of osteoprotegerin, tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand, and receptor activator of nuclear factor-kappaB ligand in Mönckeberg's sclerosis and atherosclerosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004; 89(8):4104–4112.
- [109] Proudfoot D, Skepper JN, Hegyi L, Bennett MR, Shanahan CM, Weissberg PL. Apoptosis regulates human vascular calcification *in vitro*: Evidence for initiation of vascular calcification by apoptotic bodies. Circ Res 2000; 87(11):1055–1062.
- [110] Bratton DL, Fadok VA, Richter DA, Kailey JM, Guthrie LA, Henson PM. Appearance of phosphatidylserine on apoptotic cells requires calcium-mediated nonspecific flip-flop and is enhanced by loss of the aminophospholipid translocase. J Biol Chem 1997; 272 (42):26159–26165.
- [111] Wu LN, Genge BR, Dunkelberger DG, LeGeros RZ, Concannon B, Wuthier RE. Physicochemical characterization of the nucleational core of matrix vesicles. J Biol Chem 1997; 272(7):4404–4411.
- [112] Kirsch T, Wang W, Pfander D. Functional differences between growth plate apoptotic bodies and matrix vesicles. J Bone Miner Res 2003; 18(10):1872–1881.
- [113] Hruska KA, Mathew S, Saab G. Bone morphogenetic proteins in vascular calcification. Circ Res 2005; 97(2):105–114.
- [114] Son BK, Kozaki K, Iijima K, Eto M, Kojima T, Ota H, et al. Statins protect human aortic smooth muscle cells from inorganic phosphate-induced calcification by restoring Gas6-Axl survival pathway. Circ Res 2006; 98(8):1024–1031.
- [115] Emery JG, McDonnell P, Burke MB, Deen KC, Lyn S, Silverman C, et al. Osteoprotegerin is a receptor for the cytotoxic ligand TRAIL. J Biol Chem 1998; 273(23):14363–14367.
- [116] Kim KM. Apoptosis and calcification. Scanning Microsc 1995; 9(4):1137–1178.
- [117] Kockx MM, De Meyer GR, Muhring J, Jacob W, Bult H, Herman AG. Apoptosis and related proteins in different stages of human atherosclerotic plaques. Circulation 1998; 97 (23):2307–2315.

- [118] Proudfoot D, Davies JD, Skepper JN, Weissberg PL, Shanahan CM. Acetylated lowdensity lipoprotein stimulates human vascular smooth muscle cell calcification by promoting osteoblastic differentiation and inhibiting phagocytosis. Circulation 2002; 106 (24):3044–3050.
- [119] O'Rourke RA, Brundage BH, Froelicher VF, Greenland P, Grundy SM, Hachamovitch R, et al. American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Expert Consensus document on electron-beam computed tomography for the diagnosis and prognosis of coronary artery disease. Circulation 2000; 102(1):126–140.
- [120] O'Malley PG, Taylor AJ, Jackson JL, Doherty TM, Detrano RC. Prognostic value of coronary electron-beam computed tomography for coronary heart disease events in asymptomatic populations. Am J Cardiol 2000; 85(8):945–948.
- [121] Detrano RC, Doherty TM, Davies MJ, Stary HC. Predicting coronary events with coronary calcium: Pathophysiologic and clinical problems. Curr Probl Cardiol 2000; 25(6):374–402.
- [122] Parhami F, Tintut Y, Patel JK, Mody N, Hemmat A, Demer LL. Regulation of vascular calcification in atherosclerosis. Z Kardiol 2001; 90(3):III27–III30.
- [123] Zhang SH, Reddick RL, Piedrahita JA, Maeda N. Spontaneous hypercholesterolemia and arterial lesions in mice lacking apolipoprotein E. Science 1992; 258(5081):468–471.
- [124] Ishibashi S, Brown MS, Goldstein JL, Gerard RD, Hammer RE, Herz J. Hypercholesterolemia in low density lipoprotein receptor knockout mice and its reversal by adenovirusmediated gene delivery. J Clin Invest 1993; 92(2):883–893.
- [125] Weiss RM, Ohashi M, Miller JD, Young SG, Heistad DD. Calcific aortic valve stenosis in old hypercholesterolemic mice. Circulation 2006; 114(19):2065–2069.
- [126] Towler DA, Bidder M, Latifi T, Coleman T, Semenkovich CF. Diet-induced diabetes activates an osteogenic gene regulatory program in the aortas of low density lipoprotein receptor-deficient mice. J Biol Chem 1998; 273(46):30427–30434.
- [127] Burdon KP, Langefeld CD, Beck SR, Wagenknecht LE, Carr JJ, Freedman BI, et al. Association of genes of lipid metabolism with measures of subclinical cardiovascular disease in the Diabetes Heart Study. J Med Genet 2005; 42(9):720–724.
- [128] Parhami F, Basseri B, Hwang J, Tintut Y, Demer LL. High-density lipoprotein regulates calcification of vascular cells. Circ Res 2002; 91(7):570–576.
- [129] Kizu A, Shioi A, Jono S, Koyama H, Okuno Y, Nishizawa Y. Statins inhibit *in vitro* calcification of human vascular smooth muscle cells induced by inflammatory mediators. J Cell Biochem 2004; 93(5):1011–1019.
- [130] Rajamannan NM, Subramaniam M, Caira F, Stock SR, Spelsberg TC. Atorvastatin inhibits hypercholesterolemia-induced calcification in the aortic valves via the Lrp5 receptor pathway. Circulation 2005; 112(9):I229–I234.
- [131] Rajamannan NM, Nealis TB, Subramaniam M, Pandya S, Stock SR, Ignatiev CI, et al. Calcified rheumatic valve neoangiogenesis is associated with vascular endothelial growth factor expression and osteoblast-like bone formation. Circulation 2005; 111:3296–3301.
- [132] Al-Aly Z. Medial vascular calcification in diabetes mellitus and chronic kidney disease: The role of inflammation. Cardiovasc Hematol Disord Drug Targets 2007; 7(1):1–6.
- [133] Gaillard V, Casellas D, Seguin-Devaux C, Schohn H, Dauca M, Atkinson J, et al. Pioglitazone improves aortic wall elasticity in a rat model of elastocalcinotic arteriosclerosis. Hypertension 2005; 46(2):372–379.
- [134] Bezerra MC, Calomeni GD, Caparbo VF, Gebrim ES, Rocha MS, Pereira RM. Low bone density and low serum levels of soluble RANK ligand are associated with severe arterial calcification in patients with Takayasu arteritis. Rheumatology (Oxford) 2005; 44(12):1503–1506.

- [135] Collin-Osdoby P. Regulation of vascular calcification by osteoclast regulatory factors RANKL and osteoprotegerin. Circ Res 2004; 95(11):1046–1057.
- [136] Libby P. Inflammation in atherosclerosis. Nature 2002; 420:868-874.
- [137] Doherty TM, Asotra K, Fitzpatrick LA, Qiao JH, Wilkin DJ, Detrano RC, et al. Calcification in atherosclerosis: Bone biology and chronic inflammation at the arterial crossroads. PNAS 2003; 100:11201–11206.
- [138] Jeziorska M, McCollum C, Wooley DE. Calcification in atherosclerotic plaque of human carotid arteries: Associations with mast cells and macrophages. J Pathol 1998; 185:10–17.
- [139] Shaalan WE, Cheng H, Gewertz B, McKinsey JF, Schwartz LB, Katz D, et al. Degree of carotid plaque calcification in relation to symptomatic outcome and plaque inflammation. J Vasc Surg 2004; 40(2):262–269.
- [140] Stenvinkel P, Ketteler M, Johnson RJ, Lindholm B, Pecoits-Filho R, Riella M, et al. IL-10, IL-6, and TNF-alpha: Central factors in the altered cytokine network of uremia—the good, the bad, and the ugly. Kidney Int 2005; 67(4):1216–1233.
- [141] Radcliff K, Tang TB, Lim J, Zhang Z, Abedin M, Demer LL, et al. Insulin-like growth factor-I regulates proliferation and osteoblastic differentiation of calcifying vascular cells via extracellular signal-regulated protein kinase and phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase pathways. Circ Res 2005; 96(4):398–400.
- [142] Tintut Y, Patel J, Territo M, Saini T, Parhami F, Demer LL. Monocyte/macrophage regulation of vascular calcification *in vitro*. Circulation 2002; 105:650–655.
- [143] Shioi A, Katagi M, Okuno Y, Mori K, Jono S, Koyama H, et al. Induction of bone-type alkaline phosphatase in human vascular smooth muscle cells: Roles of tumor necrosis factor-alpha and oncostatin M derived from macrophages. Circ Res 2002; 91(1):9–16.
- [144] Libby P, Sukhova G, Lee RT, Galis ZS. Cytokines regulate vascular functions related to stability of the atherosclerotic plaque. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 1995; 25:9–12.
- [145] Hofbauer LC, Schrader J, Niebergall U, Viereck V, Burchert A, Horsch D, et al. Interleukin-4 differentially regulates osteoprotegerin expression and induces calcification in vascular smooth muscle cells. Thromb Haemost 2006; 95(4):708–714.
- [146] Nadra I, Boccaccini AR, Philippidis P, Whelan LC, McCarthy GM, Haskard DO, et al. Effect of particle size on hydroxyapatite crystal-induced tumor necrosis factor alpha secretion by macrophages. Atherosclerosis 2008; 196(1):98–105.
- [147] Anger T, Pohle FK, Kandler L, Barthel T, Ensminger SM, Fischlein T, et al. VAP-1, Eotaxin3 and MIG as potential atherosclerotic triggers of severe calcified and stenotic human aortic valves: Effects of statins. Exp Mol Pathol 2007; 83(3):435–442.
- [148] Ishimura E, Okuno S, Kitatani K, Maekawa K, Izumotani T, Yamakawa T, et al. C-reactive protein is a significant predictor of vascular calcification of both aorta and hand arteries. Semin Nephrol 2004; 24(5):408–412.
- [149] Schurgers LJ, Spronk HM, Soute BA, Schiffers PM, DeMey JG, Vermeer C, et al. Regression of warfarin-induced medial elastocalcinosis by high intake of vitamin K in rats. Blood 2007; 109:2823–2831.
- [150] Schurgers LJ, Aebert H, Vermeer C, Bültmann B, Janzen J, et al. Oral anticoagulant treatment: Friend or foe in cardiovascular disease? Blood 2004; 104:3231–3232.
- [151] Koos R, Mahnken AH, Muhlenbruch G, Brandenburg V, Pflueger B, Wildberger JE, et al. Relation of oral anticoagulation to cardiac valvular and coronary calcium assessed by multislice spiral computed tomography. Am Coll Cardiol 2005; 96:747–749.
- [152] London GM, Guerin AP, Marchais SJ, Métivier F, Pannier B, Adda H, et al. Arterial media calcification in end-stage renal disease: Impact on all-cause and cardiovascular mortality. Nephrol Dial Transplant 2003; 18:1731–1740.

- [153] Wrong O, Harland C. Sevelamer and other anion-exchange resins in the prevention and treatment of hyperphosphataemia in chronic renal failure. Nephron Physiol 2007; 107:17–33.
- [154] Suki WN, Zabaneh R, Cangiano JL, Reed J. Effects of sevelamer and calcium-based phosphate binders on mortality in hemodiaysis patients. Kidney Int 2007; 72:1130–1137.
- [155] Lomashvili KA, Khawandi W, O'Neill WC. Reduced plasma pyrophosphate levels in hemodialysis patients. J Am Soc Nephrol 2005; 16:2495–2500.
- [156] Fleisch H. Bisphosphonates: Mechanisms of action. Endocrinol Rev 1998; 19:80-100.
- [157] Tamura K, Suzuki Y, Hashiba H, et al. Effect of etidronate on aortic calcification and bone metabolism in calcitriol treated rats with subtotal nephrectomy. J Pharmacol Sci 2005; 99:89–94.
- [158] Nitta K, Akiba T, Suzuki K, Uchida K, Watanabe R, Majima K, et al. Effects of cyclic intermittent etidronate therapy on coronary artery calcification in patients receiveing longterm hemodialysis. Am J Kidney Dis 2004; 44:680–688.
- [159] Shimshi M, Abe E, Fisher EA, Zaidi M, Fallon JT, et al. Bisphosphonates induce inflammation and rupture of atherosclerotic plaques in apolipoprotein-E null mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2005; 328:790–793.

This page intentionally left blank

ATHEROGENIC LIPOPROTEIN SUBPROFILING

Allison A. Ellington and Iffikhar J. Kullo¹

Division of Cardiovascular Diseases, Mayo Clinic and Foundation, Rochester, Minnesota **55905**

1.	Abstract	295
2.	Introduction	296
3.	Lipoprotein Biology	296
	3.1. Lipoprotein Structure.	296
	3.2. Classification of Lipoproteins	296
	3.3. Metabolic Models of Lipoprotein Subclass Formation	298
	3.4. Lipoproteins and Atherosclerosis	299
4.	LDL Particles	300
	4.1. LDL Cholesterol	300
	4.2. LDL Particle Size	303
	4.3. LDL Particle Number	308
	4.4. Lipoprotein (a)	310
	4.5. Lp(a) Measurement	310
5.	Conclusion	311
	References	312

1. Abstract

Elevated levels of low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol are a major risk factor for coronary heart disease. However, a significant number of coronary events occur in individuals with "normal" serum LDL cholesterol levels. It has been proposed that coronary heart disease (CHD) risk stratification may be improved by evaluating LDL particle size and number and lipoprotein (a) [Lp(a)] levels in addition to LDL-associated cholesterol levels. This chapter includes a brief review of lipoprotein biology and presents an overview of the association between novel lipoprotein markers and CHD risk. We also discuss methodologies currently available for atherogenic lipid subprofiling.

¹Corresponding author: Iftikhar J. Kullo; e-mail: kullo.iftikhar@mayo.edu.

2. Introduction

CHD is a manifestation of atherosclerotic vascular disease that is characterized by lipid-laden plaque accumulation within arterial walls accompanied by varying degrees of inflammation and fibrosis [1]. Dyslipidemia is a major risk factor for the initiation and progression of atherosclerotic lesions, and evaluation of dyslipidemia is an essential component of assessing CHD risk. In 1985, the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute launched the National Cholesterol Education Program Adult Treatment Panel (ATP) guidelines to assist clinicians in management of dyslipidemia. These guidelines recognized elevated total cholesterol and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL-C) as central lipid-related CHD risk factors [2]. However, a significant number of CHD-related events may occur in individuals who have serum LDL-C levels within "normal" limits, and there is intense interest in lipoprotein subprofiling to improve risk stratification. For instance, measurement of LDL particle size and particle number has been proposed as an alternative to simply assessing serum LDL-C levels [3, 4]. In this chapter, we provide a brief summary of lipoprotein biology and metabolism, review the epidemiological evidence for the association of novel lipoprotein parameters with CHD risk, and describe the methodologies available for atherogenic lipoprotein subprofiling.

3. Lipoprotein Biology

3.1. LIPOPROTEIN STRUCTURE

Lipoproteins are spherical particles composed of a lipid monolayer surrounding a hydrophobic core that contains neutral triglycerides (TG) and cholesterol esters (CE; Fig. 1) [5]. The monolayer is composed of amphipathic phospholipids (PLs), proteins, and free cholesterol, features that confer water solubility to the lipoprotein particles. Apoproteins (Apos), the associated integral and peripheral proteins, provide structural stability and serve as receptor ligands and cofactors for enzymes involved in lipid metabolism. Each Apo, with the exception of ApoB, can be exchanged between lipoprotein particles [6], and this attribute modulates lipoprotein particle metabolism and clearance.

3.2. CLASSIFICATION OF LIPOPROTEINS

Various schemes are used to classify lipoprotein particles. Classification based on the structural Apo component divides lipoproteins into two families: ApoB-containing particles and ApoA-containing particles. Further



FIG. 1. The structure of a serum lipoprotein. A lipoprotein particle typically comprises a hydrophilic shell composed of phospholipids, apoproteins, and free cholesterol surrounding a hydrophobic core that contains triglycerides and cholesterol esters.

subclassifications are based on functional Apo components [7]. Lipoproteins belonging to the ApoB family are considered to be atherogenic and include chylomicrons (CM), very low density lipoproteins (VLDL), intermediate-density lipoproteins (IDL), and LDLs. Each particle contains one molecule of ApoB, either the full-length ApoB-100 or the splice variant ApoB-48. ApoB-100 accounts for approximately 30%, 60%, and 95% of the protein found in VLDL, IDL, and LDL, respectively, whereas ApoB-48 is present only in CM [5]. In addition, each lipoprotein particle contains variable quantities of ApoC and ApoE.

More commonly, lipoproteins are classified into five main groups based on density. In order of decreasing size and increasing density these are CM, VLDL, IDL, and LDL (Table 1) [8, 9]. Lp(a), an LDL variant characterized by the covalent attachment of an Apo(a) moiety to ApoB-100, represents a sixth group with broad variability in size and density (Table 1) [9–11]. The ApoB family includes polydisperse lipoproteins that are heterogeneous in size, density, and lipid/protein ratio. Lipoprotein density is a function of the lipid/protein ratio, and low-density particles have a higher lipid/protein ratio than do more dense particles. Lipoprotein particle size is also a function of the nuclear lipid content, with larger particles containing increased lipid mass. For convenience, the terminology "large" and "small" particles will be used throughout this chapter to discuss lipoprotein subclasses. In regard to VLDL, at least two biologically relevant subclasses exist: large VLDL that contains a larger quantity of TG and small VLDL that is enriched with CE [12]. Predominant IDL

TROTERIES OF DEROM EN OFROTEN, CERSES						
Lipoprotein	Size (nm)	Density (g/ml)	Principal lipids	Structural apoprotein		
Chylomicron	75–1200	< 0.94	Dietary TG	ApoB-48		
VLDL	30-80	0.94-1.006	Endogenous TG	ApoB-100		
IDL	25-35	1.006-1.019	TG and CE	ApoB-100		
LDL	18-25	1.019-1.063	CE	ApoB-100		
HDL	5-12	1.063-1.125	CE	ÂpoA-I		
Lp(a)	25-30	1.040-1.090	CE	ApoB-100		

TABLE 1 Properties of Serum Lipoprotein Classes⁴

^aAdapted from Cham et al. [12] and Olsen et al. [13]

VLDL = Very low density lipoproteins; IDL = intermediate-density lipoproteins; LDL = low-density lipoproteins; HDL = high-density lipoproteins; Lp(a) = lipoprotein (a); TG = triglycerides; CE = cholesterol esters; ApoB = apoprotein B; ApoA = apoprotein A.

subclasses include large IDL and small IDL. Notably, small IDL appears to form a continuum with small VLDL particles [12]. Two discrete subclasses of LDL have been identified: large, buoyant LDL and small, dense LDL (sd-LDL) [13]. Lp(a) ranges in size between 200 and 800 Da, a characteristic determined by the number of Kringle IV₂ repeats [10, 11].

3.3. METABOLIC MODELS OF LIPOPROTEIN SUBCLASS FORMATION

The predominant function of lipoproteins is to transport TG and cholesterol to peripheral tissues where TG are either used for energy or storage and cholesterol is used for biosynthesis of cell membranes and steroid hormones [14, 15]. Excess cholesterol in the periphery is removed by HDL through the process of reverse cholesterol transport (RCT) and delivered to either the liver or steroidogenic tissues or transferred to ApoB-100 lipoproteins [16–19].

ApoB lipoprotein subclass distribution is dependent upon the channeling of lipid substrates (cholesterol and TG) toward formation of particles varying in size, composition, and biological significance. Through the use of metabolic tracer studies, Packard *et al.* [14, 20, 21] have characterized the formation and metabolism of ApoB-100 lipoprotein subclasses and described two metabolic models that explain variations in lipoprotein subclass distribution. Differential metabolism and clearance of ApoB-100 subclasses create particles that differ in atherogenicity.

3.3.1. Small VLDL Particles

Small VLDL particle synthesis increases when cholesterol availability is in excess of TG availability [5]. Small VLDL derived from hepatic production is either cleared immediately through LDL-receptor (LDL-R) ligation or

delipidated by both lipoprotein lipase (LpL) and hepatic lipase (HL) [15, 22, 23]. Hydrolysis of TG in small VLDL particle cores generates IDL of which approximately 50% are removed from circulation through LDL-R ligation. The remainder is further delipidated by HL to produce large LDL particles readily cleared by LDL-R [14, 15, 21, 24]. Notably, the bulk of circulating LDL-C is generated through this delipidation cascade. This efficient delipidation channel limits reductions in small HDL particles catalyzed by cholesterol ester transfer protein (CETP) and HL metabolism.

3.3.2. Large VLDL Particles

Excessive levels of TG (as a result of obesity, untreated diabetes, diets rich in refined carbohydrates and alcohol consumption) cause increases in hepatic synthesis of large VLDL particles [5]. Following secretion, approximately 50% of large VLDL is cleared through LDL-R ligation whereas the remainder undergoes LpL-mediated TG hydrolysis to form IDL and LDL [14, 20, 21]. Lower-density lipoprotein species generated through this metabolic route appear relatively resistant to further LpL-mediated delipidation and remain in circulation for extended periods, enabling lipoprotein particle remodeling [14, 20, 21]. As large VLDL particles and metabolites accumulate. CETPmediated lipid transfer occurs between ApoB-100 and HDL particles. This results in TG enrichment of small HDL particles, creating large HDL particles and CE enrichment of ApoB-100 particles. Larger HDL particles are substrates for HL, and delipidation creates readily catabolized denser HDL particles causing a reduction in serum HDL concentrations [25]. Alternatively, larger HDL particles exchange TG for the CE found in LDL particles by CETP [19]. The resultant TG-enriched LDL particles are delipidated by HL to generate sd-LDL particles that are potentially more atherogenic than larger LDL particles. VLDL metabolites generated through this pathway (sd-LDL particles in particular) remain in circulation for extended periods due to conformational changes of ApoB-100 that inhibit clearance [26].

In summary, synthesis and metabolism of small VLDL particles is associated with low serum TG levels, variable LDL-C levels, and higher serum HDL-C levels. In contrast, synthesis and metabolism of large VLDL particles is associated with higher serum TG levels, lower HDL-C levels, and generation of sd-LDL often within the context of "normal" serum LDL-C levels, a lipid triad termed "atherogenic dyslipidemia" [14, 21, 24].

3.4. LIPOPROTEINS AND ATHEROSCLEROSIS

Lipoprotein particles are integral to initiation and progression of CHD, a disease characterized by lipid accumulation within large and medium-sized arteries with accompanying inflammation and fibrosis [27, 28]. Endothelial

cell (EC) injury and disruption caused by hypertension, diabetes, smoking, and dyslipidemia initiates CHD. Lipoproteins, LDL particles in particular, diffuse through EC junctions and are retained within the intima through proteoglycan/ApoB-100 interactions where constituent Apos and lipids undergo enzymatic and nonenzymatic oxidation [29]. Oxidized LDL particles release PL, activating EC inflammatory responses. These responses include the expression of vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 that binds monocytes as they roll along the vascular surface, and monocyte chemotractant protein-1 that stimulates monocyte migration into the intima [30]. A critical step in CHD occurs within the intima where monocyte-colony-stimulating factor, secreted by EC and vascular smooth muscle cells, transforms monocytes into resident macrophages [27, 28].

Intimal macrophages further contribute to LDL oxidation through enzymatic production of reactive oxygen species that oxidize LDL particle components [31]. Oxidized LDL particles are strong ligands for scavenger receptors expressed on macrophages, and as cholesterol and lipids contained within LDL particles amass in cytosolic droplets, macrophages are transformed into lipid-rich foam cells that accumulate to produce visible vellow fatty streaks within arterial walls [32]. Apoptotic foam cells release lipids that pool within the subintimal space at the center of an atherosclerotic plaque; the evolving plaque may protrude into the arterial wall, reducing blood flow to tissues supplied by the affected vessel [27, 28]. For example, in the coronary arteries, plaque formation leads to angina pectoris; in the carotid artery, transient ischemic attacks; and in the femoral artery, intermittent claudication. Plaque rupture or fissuring, caused in part by inflammatory reactions initiated by oxidized lipoprotein components of the plaque, results in thrombus formation and "acute" clinical events, including myocardial infarction, unstable angina, stroke, and death [33]. LDL particles are the most abundant atherogenic lipoproteins found in serum. However, it remains uncertain which lipoprotein markers best correlate with CHD-related outcomes.

4. LDL Particles

4.1. LDL CHOLESTEROL

4.1.1. LDL Cholesterol and CHD Risk

It is well-established that elevated serum LDL-C concentrations are an independent predictor of CHD risk [34, 35]. Accordingly, ATP-III screening and therapeutic guidelines emphasize LDL-C as the most clinically useful LDL-related CHD predictor [2]. The current threshold LDL-C levels, derived from the Framingham Heart Study data and extended to the global

population, are relatively arbitrary: CHD disease risk varies substantially between individuals with similar LDL-C concentrations, and many individuals with "target" LDL-C levels suffer CHD-related events [36]. Indeed, a global LDL-C threshold for CHD risk has not been identified. Consequently, the current threshold levels often fail to identify individuals at increased CHD risk, particularly in groups underrepresented in the Framingham Offspring Study (younger individuals, women, and ethnic minorities) [36]. NCEP considers serum LDL-C to be a marker of circulating LDL particles, yet the accuracy of this correlate is dependent upon homogenous cholesterol content of LDL particles across populations. The presence of larger, cholesterol-enriched particles will result in an overestimation of particle numbers, whereas the presence of small, cholesterol-depleted particles will result in underestimation of particle numbers. Owing to the heterogeneity of LDL particles, individuals with similar serum LDL-C values may have particles of dissimilar size and number, factors that may explain the relative imprecision of LDL-C in predicting CHD risk in an individual patient. The variance between serum LDL-C concentrations and LDL particle numbers is illustrated by the Framingham Offspring Study in which LDL particle numbers were elevated above LDL-C in the context of "suboptimal" HDL-C concentrations (Fig. 2), underscoring that LDL-C underestimates CHD risk in subgroups of the population [37]. CHD risk classification is further confounded by the approximation method commonly used to estimate serum LDL-C levels.



FIG. 2. Relationships between LDL cholesterol and LDL particle number in the Framingham Offspring Cohort.

4.1.2. LDL Cholesterol Approximation

Despite the importance attributed to LDL-C values in CHD risk assessment, LDL-C is approximated, rather than measured directly, using the Friedewald equation developed in the 1970s [38]:

$$LDL-C = (TC) - (HDL-C) - (TG/5)$$

Serum TC, HDL-C, and TG are measured using standardized enzymebased methods [39, 40], and the influence of VLDL-associated cholesterol is adjusted with a correction term of TG/5 [38]. The accuracy of LDL-C approximation is dependent upon several critical assumptions, including serum TG levels <400 mg/dl and a consistent TG/VLDL-C ratio of "5," despite interindividual heterogeneity in VLDL particle lipid content [38]. Although the Friedewald equation is meant to estimate serum LDL-C, it actually reflects the cholesterol content of all ApoB lipoproteins, including cholesterol found in VLDL, VLDL remnants, IDL, LDL, and Lp(a) [41].

Estimated LDL-C values may be inaccurate in individuals with low serum HDL-C [42]. In addition, LDL-C is also underestimated in individuals with metabolic syndrome, a condition that affects approximately 24% of the population and is characterized by elevated TG concentrations [43]. Given the prevalence of metabolic syndrome, underestimation of LDL-C levels may be widespread, leading to misclassification of CHD risk. Inaccurate LDL-C estimates have also been observed in diabetic populations: only 49% [44] to 68% [45] of patients with diabetes had a Friedewald LDL-C value within 10% of directly measured LDL-C. Friedewald estimations of LDL-C are also unreliable in individuals with liver disease [46], nephrotic syndrome [47] and chronic renal insufficiency [48, 49], and in women taking hormone replacement therapy [50].

On the basis of the limitations associated with LDL-C estimation, the NCEP recommends phasing out the use of Friedewald equation in favor of direct LDL-C measurement. The high prevalence of metabolic syndrome and the possible inaccuracy of estimated LDL-C in this setting led the ATP-III to recommend calculation of non-HDL-C as a secondary lipid target in individuals with serum TG between 200 and 499 mg/dl [2]:

$$non-HDL-C = (TC-HDL-C)$$

Non-HDL-C is a simple measure of the cholesterol load associated with all atherogenic ApoB lipoproteins. At present, despite potential inaccuracies, estimated LDL-C is routinely used for risk assessment given the availability of population-based reference ranges. However, the limitations associated with LDL-C estimation have stimulated the search for alternative measures of LDL particle atherogenicity that may provide incremental information about CHD risk, including LDL particle size and number.

4.2. LDL PARTICLE SIZE

LDL peak particle size exhibits a bimodal distribution and can be divided into distinct phenotypes that differ in physical properties, metabolism, and, potentially, atherogenicity [14]. Phenotypes are classified as Pattern A (larger, buoyant LDL particles), Pattern B (smaller, denser LDL particles), or intermediate (both patterns A and B) [51, 52]. Genetic factors account for a large proportion of interindividual variation in LDL particle size [53], and linkage studies have identified genomic sequences that influence LDL particle size [54]. In addition, sd-LDL prevalence increases with age: Pattern B is prevalent in approximately 5–10% of men and women less than 20 years of age, 30% of adult men, and 15–25% of postmenopausal women [51, 55]. LDL particle size correlates positively with serum HDL-C levels and inversely with serum TG levels [56]. A defining characteristic of the metabolic syndrome is atherogenic lipoprotein phenotype [51, 52], dyslipidemia characterized by sd-LDL particles, reduced HDL levels, and elevated TG levels.

The ATP-III recognizes LDL particle size as an emerging CHD risk factor [2]. The increased atherogenicity of sd-LDL particles is supported by the *in vitro* and *in vivo* observations that sd-LDL undergoes greater transendothelial transport [57, 58], greater interaction with matrix proteoglycans [59], and greater susceptibility to oxidation [60, 61] as compared to larger LDL particles. In addition, the majority of cross-sectional and prospective epidemiological studies have shown significant associations between sd-LDL and CHD risk [4, 62]. Other than in the Quebec Cardiovascular Study [63], sd-LDL particle size has not been found to be an independent predictor of risk after multivariate adjustment for serum TG and HDL-C levels [4]. However, lack of statistical significance in multivariate models that include TG and HDL-C (and thus may be affected by colinearity) does not exclude a causal role of small LDL particle size in CHD development. LDL particle size measurement may be useful in assessing risk in select patients, choosing appropriate lipid-lowering agents, and monitoring efficacy of diet, exercise, and lipid-lowering therapy. LDL particle size is assessed following physical subclass separation by particle density, size, or chemical composition utilizing ultracentrifugation, electrophoresis, and precipitation, while nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR) spectroscopy measures particles size independent of physical properties.

4.2.1. Ultracentrifugation

4.2.1.1. Sequential Ultracentrifugation. Sequential ultracentrifugation, first described by Havel *et al.* [64] in the 1950s, was the first technique used to isolate the major lipoprotein classes and remains the gold standard for measuring lipoprotein particle size. Ultracentrifugation effectively resolves

lipoproteins from other serum proteins based on differences in hydrated particle densities, and further separation of each lipoprotein class is possible due to differences in lipid and protein content [65]. In a sequential ultracentrifugation experiment, the biological sample density is determined and adjusted to equal the density of the lipoprotein class of interest. The sample undergoes 18–24 hours of ultracentrifugation between 40,000 and 100,000*g*, forcing particles denser than the solvent to sink to the bottom of the sample whereas less dense particles rise to the surface and are collected by capillary pipette. This procedure is repeated until each lipoprotein class has been isolated. Following ultracentrifugation, the cholesterol and Apo content of each lipoprotein fraction can be analyzed.

Ultracentrifugation offers limited clinical utility because it is time consuming and labor intensive. Moreover, subsequent analysis of lipoprotein fractions may be compromised as Apos tend to redistribute among lipoprotein particles or become oxidized during sample processing [65].

4.2.1.2. Single Vertical Spin Autoprofiling. More recently, a variant of density ultracentrifugation, vertical spin autoprofiling (VAP), has been developed to profile lipoprotein classes [66]. VAP separates lipoprotein classes with a short single vertical spin ultracentrifugation, followed by continuous-flow enzymatic analysis of cholesterol and TG by an autoanalyzer [67]. Absorbance data are continually analyzed throughout data collection, and cholesterol values from each lipoprotein class are integrated to obtain a spectrophotometric tracing of each lipoprotein subclass pattern. Thus, a cholesterol profile is constructed and decomposed into curves corresponding to lipoprotein classes. VAP measures cholesterol in 18 lipoprotein subclasses that include large, buoyant LDL (LDL-2 and LDL-1), intermediate LDL (LDL-4 and LDL-3), and sd-LDL (LDL-5) [68].

VAP has fair precision and reproducibility, with an intraassay coefficient of variation less than 10% [68]. In addition, data derived using VAP correlate strongly with gradient gel electrophoresis (GGE; r = 0.86) [68].VAP has several advantages over traditional ultracentrifugation techniques, including relatively high-throughput analysis and reduced artifact formation. In addition to LDL particle size data, VAP provides serum TC and HDL-C concentrations similar to conventional enzymatic assays as well as a direct LDL-C measurement, superior to the estimations provided by Friedewald equation. VAP technology can be performed through a contracted service or within an on-site laboratory.

4.2.2. Electrophoresis

GGE was developed in the 1970s in response to the need for a simple yet accurate method to measure lipoprotein particle size [69]. Differences in size and surface charge among lipoprotein classes permit adequate separation by

electrophoresis to yield distinct regions in which VLDL, IDL, LDL, HDL, and their constituent subclasses reside [13, 70–72]. Notably, GGE can distinguish between large-LDL, intermediate-LDL, and sd-LDL particles.

4.2.2.1. Gradient Gel Electrophoresis. Serum samples and assay standards are loaded onto gradient polyacrylamide gels (3–16%) and electrophoresed for over 24 hours. Proteins on the gels are stained with Coomassie blue protein dye and then destained with a methanol/acetic acid solution. For lipid staining, gels are stained with Sudan Black B overnight and then destained with acetic acid. The gels are then scanned, migration distances from the sample well to assay standards are measured, and relative migration of standards against their known hydrated densities. The resulting regression equation is used to estimate lipoprotein particle size from the relative migration of each lipoprotein particle peak and is classified as small (diameter <25.8 nm), intermediate (diameter 25.8–26.3 nm), or large (diameter <26.3 nm) [13, 70–72].

The requisite equipment for GGE is relatively inexpensive, the gels are commercially available, and lipoprotein resolution is excellent. However, the process and analysis associated with GGE are time and labor intensive, and thus sample throughput is low, rendering GGE impractical for clinical applications.

4.2.2.2. *Tube Gel Electrophoresis.* Polyacrylamide tube gel electrophoresis is an improved electrophoretic method that measures LDL subclass size in less than 3 hours [73]. The system uses high-resolution precast 3% polyacrylamide gel tubes for electrophoresis. The biological sample is mixed with a liquid loading gel that contains Sudan Black B to stain lipoprotein lipid components. This mixture is then added to the polyacrylamide gel tubes and allowed to polymerize for 30 min in front of a fluorescent light source. Samples are then electrophoresed for 1 hour at 3 mA per tube, and densitometry is performed at 610 nm. In this method, LDL is subfractionated into seven bands with 1–2 designated as large LDL and 3–7 as sd-LDL (Fig. 3).

Two different quantification methods are used in conjunction with the tube gel electrophoresis method. Using an automated, computer-assisted scoring system [73], the densitometry data are combined with the electrophoretic scan pattern of size-fractionated LDL particles to calculate a subfractionation score and assign a phenotype. The scoring system is based on average particle size distribution to describe the profile: a score >8.5 indicates sd-LDL, 5.5–8.5 intermediate LDL, and <5.5 large LDL. This analysis method has a good general agreement with particle assignments generated by GGE and NMR spectroscopy [73]. Alternatively, following electrophoresis and densitometry, the slowest migrating VLDL band is assigned an Rf value of 0,



FIG. 3. Tube gel electrophoresis. (A) Separation of serum lipoproteins using tube gel electrophoresis. (B) Lipoprotein particle distribution using the analysis method of Hoefner *et al.* [75].

and the fastest migrating HDL band is assigned an Rf value of 1 [74]. The Rf values of the LDL subfraction bands are then calculated as follows:

distance between VLDL and LDL subfraction bands distance between VLDL and HDL bands

The LDL subclasses are assigned as sd-LDL (Rf > 0.4), intermediate LDL (Rf 0.38–0.40), or large LDL (Rf < 0.38). This analysis method correlates reasonably with GGE (r = 0.78).

The major advantages of tube gel electrophoresis are high throughput, technical simplicity, and precision. A limitation is that each analysis system described has different cut-points for LDL particle sizes, and thus, values cannot be used interchangeably. This method may be suitable for routine

clinical quantification of LDL particle size, but standardization of analysis methods will be required.

4.2.3. Precipitation

Lipoprotein separation through precipitation techniques was first introduced in the 1970s [38, 75]. Today, revised protocols allow isolation of lipoprotein fractions within hours. Precipitation methods have conventionally been used to isolate HDL lipoproteins prior to measurement of cholesterol [76], and, more recently, precipitation has also been applied to measurement of LDL particle size.

4.2.3.1. Denka Method. The Denka method measures sd-LDL utilizing precipitation techniques followed by immunoturbidometric quantification of ApoB-100 levels [77]. ApoA lipoproteins and higher-density ApoB particles (D > 1.044 g/ml) are precipitated from a biological sample through addition of a heparin-sodium salt and magnesium chloride precipitation reagent. Following a brief centrifugation, the sample yields a tightly packed precipitate and a supernatant that contains sd-LDL. The supernatant is sampled, and ApoB is measured by immunoturbidometry to provide direct quantification of sd-LDL particle number. Cholesterol associated with sd-LDL can also be measured with the homogenous method. This technique allows a direct, high-throughput measurement of serum sd-LDL levels. The Denka method correlates strongly with ultracentrifugation values for measurement of both sd-LDL-C levels (r = 0.884) and LDL ApoB level (r = 0.89) [78].

4.2.4. NMR Spectroscopy

NMR spectroscopy is able to distinguish between at least 15 lipoprotein subclasses, including large LDL (L3), intermediate LDL (L2), and sd-LDL (L1), while simultaneously measuring both lipoprotein particle size and quantity [79]. NMR spectroscopy depends upon spectroscopic distinctness across lipoprotein subclasses; each lipoprotein subclass displays a unique peak at a characteristic frequency that is dependent upon particle size. The protons on terminal methyl groups of lipids emit signals that integrate to form a bulk signal for each lipoprotein particle present, and the amplitude of these peaks indicates the quantity of particles present in the sample. In addition to lipoprotein particle numbers, NMR spectroscopy provides an accurate measure of serum cholesterol and TG concentrations. Importantly, a strong correlation (r = 0.91) has been found between LDL-C measured by NMR spectroscopy and enzymatic methods. NMR spectroscopy directly measures lipoprotein and lipid content, and it is also clinically feasible due to its automated, rapid processing of nonfasting samples. Although NMR spectroscopy is an inexpensive measure to accurately determine multiple

lipoprotein characteristics, the initial equipment investment is high and may be beyond the resources for many clinical laboratories.

Recently, Ensign *et al.* [80] compared diagnostic LDL phenotype classifications (Pattern A, large LDL particles; Pattern AB, intermediate LDL particles; or Pattern B, sd-LDL particles) assigned by clinical labs following VAP, GGE, tube gel electrophoresis, and NMR spectroscopy. The results were highly disparate between the four methods as phenotype classification was identical in only 8% of the samples. Notably, the highest interlaboratory agreement was between GGE and NMR methodologies (>70%). These results underscore the need to standardize methods that assess LDL size. However, the ability to standardize such diverse assays is questionable as lipoprotein subclasses and sizes differ between methods. At present, the clinical utility of LDL subclass determination is hampered by the lack of standardization among different assays.

4.3. LDL PARTICLE NUMBER

4.3.1. LDL Particle Number and CHD Risk

LDL particle numbers may be of greater importance in CHD risk prediction than are either serum LDL-C levels or LDL particle size as atherogenic particle number is the most important determinant of the likelihood that lipoproteins will traverse the arterial endothelium and contribute to atherogenesis [81]. Notably, particle numbers predict CHD risk independently of other lipid risk factors to a greater extent than LDL-C levels in a series of prospective epidemiological studies [63, 82-93]. For instance, the Apolipoprotein-related Mortality Risk Study demonstrated that ApoB concentrations had higher sensitivity and specificity in predicting fatal myocardial events as compared to LDL-C [85, 93]. Furthermore, study of the Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study population found that the magnitude of correlation between ApoB and CHD risk factors was greater than that between LDL-C, even after adjustment for LDL-C and the Framingham risk score, whereas the magnitude of association between LDL-C and CHD risk factors was weakened by comparable adjustment [94]. In contrast, the Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities Study did not show an independent association of ApoB-100 levels with CHD risk after adjustment for traditional lipid risk factors [95], a finding that may have resulted from the use of a nonstandardized ApoB assay with a relatively large coefficient of variation.

Measurement of LDL particle numbers has been proposed as a candidate CHD risk factor [3], and LDL particle numbers can either be approximated through the calculation of non-HDL-C or measurement of structural Apos, or measured directly using NMR spectroscopy.

4.3.2. Non-HDL Cholesterol

Calculation of non-HDL-C has been proposed by the ATP-III as an estimate of the atherogenic burden associated with lipoprotein particle numbers as it has been found to correlate with ApoB measurements in more than a dozen studies, and calculation does not require an additional expense [2]. However, the strength of this correlation diminishes as TG concentrations rise [96] and at HDL-C concentrations <40 mg/dl [37], thereby reducing the predictive efficacy of non-HDL-C in a substantial proportion of the population.

4.3.3. ApoB Measurement

Measurement of serum ApoB-100 provides an estimate of LDL particle number since ApoB-100 lipoprotein particles each contain one ApoB-100 molecule, and approximately 90% of ApoB-100 particles recovered in serum are associated with LDL [97, 98]. ApoB-100 can be measured using various immunoassay techniques, including radioimmunoassay, enzyme-linked immunoassays, and immunoturbidometric assays, the latter being frequently employed in clinical laboratories. In these assays, serum is combined with specific antihuman Apo antibodies, and the binding of antibodies to serum Apos forms an insoluble aggregate in solution that manifests as turbidity. The degree of turbidity in the sample is proportional to apolipoprotein concentration and is measured spectrophotometrically using an autoanalyzer. In addition to reflecting concentrations of LDL particles, calculation of the LDL-C: ApoB-100 ratio may provide an estimate of LDL particle size; a ratio of less than 1.2 indicates a preponderance of sd-LDL in serum [77]. The key advantages of immunoturbidometric assays are technical simplicity, robust results, and high precision [99]. Further advantages include commercial availability of test reagents, the widespread use of autoanalyzers in clinical settings, and the availability of standardized reference materials [100, 101]. ApoB-100 measurement provides information about LDL-associated atherogenicity beyond estimation of LDL-C alone. However, results must be interpreted in the context of plasma TG levels and standardized population-based reference values that would allow consistent data interpretation are not vet available.

The ATP-III guidelines advocated use of non-HDL-C over ApoB measurement. However, at the time of publication of these guidelines, a standardized clinical assay for ApoB measurement was not widely available, measurement of ApoB would have required an additional cost, and the superior predictive power of ApoB to non-HDL-C had not yet been sufficiently demonstrated [2]. The Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study subsequently showed that after adjustment for non-HDL-C levels, ApoB retained a strong correlation with conventional CHD risk markers, whereas
adjustment of non-HDL-C for ApoB levels eliminated a correlation between non-HDL-C and CHD risk factors [102]. Thus, the utility of non-HDL-C as a surrogate marker for atherogenic particle number is debatable. ApoB-100 concentrations provide a reasonable estimation of atherogenic LDL particle number, and based on the substantial evidence that ApoB-100 levels provide predictive value of CHD risk beyond LDL-C, the Canadian Cardiovascular Society [103] and the Canadian Diabetes Association [104] have introduced ApoB as an alternative to LDL-C measurement in their most current cardiovascular disease prevention guidelines. Furthermore, standardized ApoB-100 assays and reference materials are now available [100, 101]. However, studies that have evaluated both ApoB-100 approximated and NMR spectroscopy-measured LDL particle numbers have shown the latter to be a superior predictor of CHD-related events [83, 92]. Presently the start-up costs of NMR are cost prohibitive for many laboratories, and common reference materials are not yet available. Although LDL particle number is an important measure of atherogenicity, the ideal measurement methodology is yet to be established [3, 62].

4.4. LIPOPROTEIN (A)

4.4.1. Lipoprotein(a) and CHD Risk

Lp(a), an LDL variant, has been proposed as a CHD risk marker [2], and the atherogenicity associated with Lp(a) particles has been attributed to the molecule's enhanced capacity to traverse the arterial endothelium, the large cholesterol pool, and the reduced affinity for LDL-R-mediated clearance from circulation [105]. A meta-analysis of 18 prospective studies found that subjects in the highest tertile of Lp(a) levels had significantly increased CHD risk as compared to subjects in the lowest tertile [106], a finding that was confirmed in a later prospective study of more than 9,000 subjects [107].

4.5. LP(A) MEASUREMENT

Lp(a) is also measured using immunoturbidometric assays, in which Apo(a) is detected using polyclonal antibodies directed against repeated motifs (Kringle IV domains), within the Apo(a) moiety. Ten different Kringle IV sequences (patterns 1–10) are recognized by antibodies, with patterns 1 and 3–10 present in a single copy and pattern 2 present in variable copy numbers from 3 to >40 [10]. The structural complexity of Lp(a) molecules renders accurate measurements difficult as values obtained using polyclonal antibodies are skewed by the number of Kringle IV Pattern 2 repeats; smaller Apo(a) isoforms with fewer repeats may be underestimated while larger isoforms

with increased Pattern 2 copy numbers may be overestimated [108]. Development and standardization of high-throughput methods utilizing antibodies insensitive to Lp(a) Kringle IV Pattern 2 repeats are required for precise lipoprotein measurement. Although immunoassays utilizing monoclonal antibodies are an alternative, a limitation is that oxidative modification of the Apo(a) moiety may reduce antibody binding, leading to underestimation of serum Lp(a) concentrations [109]. An additional challenge to accurate quantification of serum Lp(a) values is the lack of standardized reference materials available for assay calibration. Calibrators-assigned Lp(a) values based on the mass ratio of Apo(a)/ApoB yield variable results due to Lp(a) size heterogeneity, signifying that Lp(a) values associated with assay calibrators, and consequently, serum samples should be expressed in terms of molarity [109].

Serum Lp(a) levels are considered an independent CHD risk marker by the ATP-III, but due to methodological limitations and expense, Lp(a) screening is currently recommended only for patients with early onset CHD or family history of CHD [2]. Lp(a) values should be reported as a percentile of the general population, and increased risk assigned to patients with Lp(a) levels greater than the 80th percentile [109].

5. Conclusion

It is well established that LDL cholesterol is important in the development of CHD. However, measurement of cholesterol associated with LDL particles may underestimate risk in individuals with small LDL particles and in those with an increased number of LDL particles. Measurement of LDL particle size and number may provide a better estimate of CHD risk than LDL cholesterol alone. Routine measurement of LDL particle size is not recommended in part because methods to measure LDL particle size, including ultracentrifugation, GGE, capillary gel electrophoresis, and NMR spectroscopy, have yet to be standardized, common reference materials are unavailable, and disparity is observed between the various methods. With regard to LDL particle number, ApoB quantification using standardized immunoturbidometric assays may provide incremental information about CHD risk as well as efficacy of lipid-lowering drugs and has been included in the Canadian national guidelines for CHD prevention. Measurement of Lp(a) is not recommended in the general population because of methodological limitations, including antibody specificity and lack of common reference materials. In spite of these limitations, measurement of Lp(a) may be clinically useful in patients with early onset CHD or family history of CHD. Further work is needed to refine assays that measure LDL particle modifications (oxidation

of protein and lipid components) and assess their utility in CHD risk assessment. An area of active investigation is whether HDL particle size, functionality, and chemical modification provide clinically relevant information beyond HDL-C levels. Further prospective studies will be needed to identify which lipoprotein parameters and measurement methodologies best predict CHD risk.

References

- [1] Ross R. Atherosclerosis—an inflammatory disease. NEJM 1999; 340:115–126.
- [2] Executive summary of the third report of The National Cholesterol Education Program (NCEP) expert panel on detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults (adult treatment panel III). JAMA 2001; 285:2486–2497.
- [3] Barter PJ, Ballantyne CM, Carmena R, Castro Cabezas M, Chapman MJ, Couture P. Apo B versus cholesterol in estimating cardiovascular risk and in guiding therapy: Report of the thirty-person/ten-country panel. J Intern Med 2006; 259:247–258.
- [4] Rizzo M, Berneis K. Low-density lipoprotein size and cardiovascular risk assessment. QJM 2006; 99:1–14.
- [5] Ginsberg HN. Lipoprotein physiology. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 1998; 27:503–519.
- [6] Bolanos-Garcia VM, Miguel RN. On the structure and function of apolipoproteins: More than a family of lipid-binding proteins. Prog Biophys Mol Biol 2003; 83:47–68.
- [7] Alaupovic P. The concept of apolipoprotein-defined lipoprotein families and its clinical significance. Curr Atheroscler Rep 2003; 5:459–467.
- [8] Cham BE. Importance of apolipoproteins in lipid metabolism. Chem Biol Interact 1978; 20:263–277.
- [9] Gilbert-Barnes E, Barnesss L, (Olsen R). Disorders of lipoprotein metabolism. Metabolic Diseases: Foundations of Clinical Management, Genetics and Pathology. Natick (MA): Eaton Publishing, 2000; 283–322.
- [10] Lackner C, Cohen JC, Hobbs HH. Molecular definition of the extreme size polymorphism in apolipoprotein(a). Hum Mol Genet 1993; 2:933–940.
- [11] Koschinsky ML. Lipoprotein(a) and atherosclerosis: New perspectives on the mechanism of action of an enigmatic lipoprotein. Curr Atheroscler Rep 2005; 7:389–395.
- [12] Krauss RM. Relationship of intermediate and low-density lipoprotein subspecies to risk of coronary artery disease. Am Heart J 1987; 113:578–582.
- [13] Krauss RM, Burke DJ. Identification of multiple subclasses of plasma low density lipoproteins in normal humans. J Lipid Res 1982; 23:97–104.
- [14] Packard CJ, Shepherd J. Lipoprotein heterogeneity and apolipoprotein B metabolism. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 1997; 17:3542–3556.
- [15] Brown MS, Goldstein JL. A receptor-mediated pathway for cholesterol homeostasis. Science 1986; 232:34–47.
- [16] Fielding CJ, Fielding PE. Molecular physiology of reverse cholesterol transport. J Lipid Res 1995; 36:211–228.
- [17] Soumian S, Albrecht C, Davies AH, Gibbs RG. ABCA1 and atherosclerosis. Vasc Med 2005; 10:109–119.
- [18] Santamarina-Fojo S, Lambert G, Hoeg JM, Brewer HB, Jr. Lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase: Role in lipoprotein metabolism, reverse cholesterol transport and atherosclerosis. Curr Opin Lipidol 2000; 11:267–275.

- [19] Klerkx AH, El Harchaoui K, van der Steeg WA, et al. Cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP) inhibition beyond raising high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels: Pathways by which modulation of CETP activity may alter atherogenesis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2006; 26:706–715.
- [20] Packard CJ. Triacylglycerol-rich lipoproteins and the generation of small, dense lowdensity lipoprotein. Biochem Soc Trans 2003; 31:1066–1069.
- [21] Millar JS, Packard CJ. Heterogeneity of apolipoprotein B-100-containing lipoproteins: What we have learnt from kinetic studies. Curr Opin Lipidol 1998; 9:197–202.
- [22] Goldberg IJ. Lipoprotein lipase and lipolysis: Central roles in lipoprotein metabolism and atherogenesis. J Lipid Res 1996; 37:693–707.
- [23] Zambon A, Hokanson JE, Brown BG, Brunzell JD. Evidence for a new pathophysiological mechanism for coronary artery disease regression: Hepatic lipase-mediated changes in LDL density. Circulation 1999; 99:1959–1964.
- [24] Packard CJ. Triacylglycerol-rich lipoproteins and the generation of small, dense lowdensity lipoprotein. Biochem Soc Trans 2003; 31:1066–1069.
- [25] Patsch JR, Prasad S, Gotto AM, Jr., Patsch W. High density lipoprotein2. Relationship of the plasma levels of this lipoprotein species to its composition, to the magnitude of postprandial lipemia, and to the activities of lipoprotein lipase and hepatic lipase. J Clin Invest 1987; 80:341–347.
- [26] Nigon F, Lesnik P, Rouis M, Chapman MJ. Discrete subspecies of human low density lipoproteins are heterogeneous in their interaction with the cellular LDL receptor. J Lipid Res 1991; 32:1741–1753.
- [27] Lusis AJ. Atherosclerosis. Nature 2000; 407:233–241.
- [28] Hansson GK. Inflammation, atherosclerosis, and coronary artery disease. N Engl J Med 2005; 352:1685–1695.
- [29] Malle E, Marsche G, Panzenboeck U, Sattler W. Myeloperoxidase-mediated oxidation of high-density lipoproteins: Fingerprints of newly recognized potential proatherogenic lipoproteins. Arch Biochem Biophys 2006; 445:245–255.
- [30] Navab M, Berliner JA, Subbanagounder G, et al. HDL and the inflammatory response induced by LDL-derived oxidized phospholipids. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2001; 21:481–488.
- [31] Chisolm GM, 3rd, Hazen SL, Fox PL, Cathcart MK. The oxidation of lipoproteins by monocytes-macrophages. Biochemical and biological mechanisms. J Biol Chem 1999; 274:25959–25962.
- [32] Chinetti G, Gbaguidi FG, Griglio S, et al. CLA-1/SR-BI is expressed in atherosclerotic lesion macrophages and regulated by activators of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors. Circulation 2000; 101:2411–2417.
- [33] Kullo IJ, Edwards WD, Schwartz RS. Vulnerable plaque: Pathobiology and clinical implications. Ann Intern Med 1998; 129:1050–1060.
- [34] Stamler J. George lyman duff memorial lecture. Lifestyles, major risk factors, proof and public policy. Circulation 1978; 58:3–19.
- [35] Anand SS. Quantifying effect of statins on low density lipoprotein cholesterol, ischaemic heart disease, and stroke: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Vasc Med 2003; 8:289–290.
- [36] Castelli WP. Cholesterol and lipids in the risk of coronary artery disease—the Framingham Heart Study. Can J Cardiol 1988; 4(Suppl. A):5A–10A.
- [37] Otvos JD, Jeyarajah EJ, Cromwell WC. Measurement issues related to lipoprotein heterogeneity. Am J Cardiol 2002; 90:22i–29i.
- [38] Friedewald WT, Levy RI, Fredrickson DS. Estimation of the concentration of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol in plasma, without use of the preparative ultracentrifuge. Clin Chem 1972; 18:499–502.

- [39] Bucolo G, David H. Quantitative determination of serum triglycerides by the use of enzymes. Clin Chem 1973; 19:476–482.
- [40] Allain CC, Poon LS, Chan CS, Richmond W, Fu PC. Enzymatic determination of total serum cholesterol. Clin Chem 1974; 20:470–475.
- [41] Bachorik PS, Ross JW. National Cholesterol Education Program Recommendations on Lipoprotein Measurement from the National Cholesterol Education Program Recommendations on Lipoprotein Measurement. Bethesda, MD: National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, 1995.
- [42] Scharnagl H, Nauck M, Wieland H, Marz W. The Friedewald formula underestimates LDL cholesterol at low concentrations. Clin Chem Lab Med 2001; 39:426–431.
- [43] Bray GA, Bellanger T. Epidemiology, trends, and morbidities of obesity and the metabolic syndrome. Endocrine 2006; 29:109–117.
- [44] Rubies-Prat J, Reverter JL, Senti M, et al. Calculated low-density lipoprotein cholesterol should not be used for management of lipoprotein abnormalities in patients with diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Care 1993; 16:1081–1086.
- [45] Hirany S, Li D, Jialal I. A more valid measurement of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol in diabetic patients. Am J Med 1997; 102:48–53.
- [46] Matas C, Cabre M, La Ville A, et al. Limitations of the Friedewald formula for estimating low-density lipoprotein cholesterol in alcoholics with liver disease. Clin Chem 1994; 40:404–406.
- [47] Joven J, Villabona C, Vilella E, Masana L, Alberti R, Valles M. Abnormalities of lipoprotein metabolism in patients with the nephrotic syndrome. N Engl J Med 1990; 323:579–584.
- [48] Rajman I, Harper L, McPake D, Kendall MJ, Wheeler DC. Low-density lipoprotein subfraction profiles in chronic renal failure. Nephrol Dial Transplant 1998; 13:2281–2287.
- [49] Shoji T, Ishimura E, Inaba M, Tabata T, Nishizawa Y. Atherogenic lipoproteins in endstage renal disease. Am J Kidney Dis 2001; 38:S30–S33.
- [50] Legault C, Stefanick ML, Miller VT, Marcovina SM, Schrott HG. Effect of hormone replacement therapy on the validity of the Friedewald equation in postmenopausal women: The Postmenopausal Estrogen/Progestins Interventions (PEPI) trial. J Clin Epidemiol 1999; 52:1187–1195.
- [51] Austin MA, Breslow JL, Hennekens CH, Buring JE, Willett WC, Krauss RM. Low-density lipoprotein subclass patterns and risk of myocardial infarction. JAMA 1988; 260:1917–1921.
- [52] Austin MA, King MC, Vranizan KM, Krauss RM. Atherogenic lipoprotein phenotype. A proposed genetic marker for coronary heart disease risk. Circulation 1990; 82:495–506.
- [53] Kullo IJ, de Andrade M, Boerwinkle E, McConnell JP, Kardia SLR, Turner ST. Pleiotropic genetic effects contribute to the correlation between HDL cholesterol, triglycerides, and LDL particle size in hypertensive sibships.. Am J Hypertens 2005; 18:99–103.
- [54] Kullo IJ, Ding K, Boerwinkle E, Turner ST, de Andrade M. Quantitative trait loci influencing low density lipoprotein particle size in African Americans. J Lipid Res 2006; 47:1457–1462.
- [55] Rizzo M, Barbagallo CM, Severino M, et al. Low-density-lipoprotein peak particle size in a Mediterranean population. Eur J Clin Invest 2003; 33:126–133.
- [56] Campos H, Blijlevens E, McNamara JR, et al. LDL particle size distribution. Results from the Framingham Offspring Study. Arterioscler Thromb 1992; 12:1410–1419.
- [57] Nordestgaard BG, Nielsen LB. Atherosclerosis and arterial influx of lipoproteins. Curr Opin Lipidol 1994; 5:252–257.

- [58] Bjornheden T, Babyi A, Bondjers G, Wiklund O. Accumulation of lipoprotein fractions and subfractions in the arterial wall, determined in an *in vitro* perfusion system. Atherosclerosis 1996; 123:43–56.
- [59] Camejo G, Rosengren B, Olson U, et al. Molecular basis of the association of arterial proteoglycans with low density lipoproteins: Its effect on the structure of the lipoprotein particle. Eur Heart J 1990; 11(Suppl. E):164–173.
- [60] de Graaf J, Hak-Lemmers HL, Hectors MP, Demacker PN, Hendriks JC, Stalenhoef AF. Enhanced susceptibility to *in vitro* oxidation of the dense low density lipoprotein subfraction in healthy subjects. Arterioscler Thromb 1991; 11:298–306.
- [61] Tribble DL, Rizzo M, Chait A, Lewis DM, Blanche PJ, Krauss RM. Enhanced oxidative susceptibility and reduced antioxidant content of metabolic precursors of small, dense lowdensity lipoproteins. Am J Med 2001; 110:103–110.
- [62] Cromwell WC, Otvos JD. Low-density lipoprotein particle number and risk for cardiovascular disease. Curr Atheroscler Rep 2004; 6:381–387.
- [63] St-Pierre AC, Cantin B, Dagenais GR, et al. Low-density lipoprotein subfractions and the long-term risk of ischemic heart disease in men: 13-year follow-up data from the Quebec Cardiovascular Study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2005; 25:553–559.
- [64] Havel RJ, Eder HA, Bragdon JH. The distribution and chemical composition of ultracentrifugally separated lipoproteins in human serum. J Clin Invest 1955; 34:1345–1353.
- [65] Schumaker VN, Puppione DL. Sequential flotation ultracentrifugation. Methods Enzymol 1986; 128:155–170.
- [66] Chung BH, Segrest JP, Cone JT, Pfau J, Geer JC, Duncan LA. High resolution plasma lipoprotein cholesterol profiles by a rapid, high volume semi-automated method. J Lipid Res 1981; 22:1003–1014.
- [67] Kulkarni KR, Garber DW, Marcovina SM, Segrest JP. Quantification of cholesterol in all lipoprotein classes by the VAP-II method. J Lipid Res 1994; 35:159–168.
- [68] Kulkarni KR, Garber DW, Jones MK, Segrest JP. Identification and cholesterol quantification of low density lipoprotein subclasses in young adults by VAP-II methodology. J Lipid Res 1995; 36:2291–2302.
- [69] Bautovich GJ, Dash MJ, Hensley WJ, Turtle JR. Gradient gel electrophoresis of human plasma lipoproteins. Clin Chem 1973; 19:415–418.
- [70] Gambert P, Farnier M, Bouzerand C, Athias A, Lallemant C. Direct quantitation of serum high density lipoprotein subfractions separated by gradient gel electrophoresis. Clin Chim Acta 1988; 172:183–190.
- [71] Rainwater DL. Electrophoretic separation of LDL and HDL subclasses. Methods Mol Biol 1998; 110:137–151.
- [72] Tsukamoto H, Takei I, Ishii K, Watanabe K. Simplified method for the diameter sizing of serum low-density lipoprotein using polyacrylamide gradient gel electrophoresis. Clin Chem Lab Med 2004; 42:1009–1012.
- [73] Hoefner DM, Hodel SD, O'Brien JF, et al. Development of a rapid, quantitative method for LDL subfractionation with use of the Quantimetrix Lipoprint LDL System. Clin Chem 2001; 47:266–274.
- [74] Hirany SV, Othman Y, Kutscher P, Rainwater DL, Jialal I, Devaraj S. Comparison of low-density lipoprotein size by polyacrylamide tube gel electrophoresis and polyacrylamide gradient gel electrophoresis. Am J Clin Pathol 2003; 119:439–445.
- [75] Burstein M, Morlin R. [Precipitation of serum lipoproteins by anionic detergents in the presence of bivalent cations]. Rev Eur Etud Clin Biol 1970; 15:109–113.
- [76] Gidez LI, Miller GJ, Burstein M, Slagle S, Eder HA. Separation and quantitation of subclasses of human plasma high density lipoproteins by a simple precipitation procedure. J Lipid Res 1982; 23:1206–1223.

- [77] Hirano T, Ito Y, Yoshino G. Measurement of small dense low-density lipoprotein particles. J Atheroscler Thromb 2005; 12:67–72.
- [78] Hirano T, Ito Y, Saegusa H, Yoshino G. A novel and simple method for quantification of small, dense LDL. J Lipid Res 2003; 44:2193–2201.
- [79] Otvos JD, Jeyarajah EJ, Bennett DW, Krauss RM. Development of a proton nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopic method for determining plasma lipoprotein concentrations and subspecies distributions from a single, rapid measurement. Clin Chem 1992; 38:1632–1638.
- [80] Ensign W, Hill N, Heward CB. Disparate LDL phenotypic classification among 4 different methods assessing LDL particle characteristics. Clin Chem 2006; 52:1722–1727.
- [81] Garvey WT, Kwon S, Zheng D, et al. Effects of insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes on lipoprotein subclass particle size and concentration determined by nuclear magnetic resonance. Diabetes 2003; 52:453–462.
- [82] Rosenson RS, Otvos JD, Freedman DS. Relations of lipoprotein subclass levels and lowdensity lipoprotein size to progression of coronary artery disease in the Pravastatin Limitation of Atherosclerosis in the Coronary Arteries (PLAC-I) trial. Am J Cardiol 2002; 90:89–94.
- [83] Blake GJ, Otvos JD, Rifai N, Ridker PM. Low-density lipoprotein particle concentration and size as determined by nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy as predictors of cardiovascular disease in women. Circulation 2002; 106:1930–1937.
- [84] Lamarche B, Moorjani S, Lupien PJ, et al. Apolipoprotein A-I and B levels and the risk of ischemic heart disease during a five-year follow-up of men in the Quebec Cardiovascular Study. Circulation 1996; 94:273–278.
- [85] Walldius G, Jungner I, Holme I, Aastveit AH, Kolar W, Steiner E. High apolipoprotein B, low apolipoprotein A-I, and improvement in the prediction of fatal myocardial infarction (AMORIS study): A prospective study. Lancet 2001; 358:2026–2033.
- [86] Moss AJ, Goldstein RE, Marder VJ, et al. Thrombogenic factors and recurrent coronary events. Circulation 1999; 99:2517–2522.
- [87] Corsetti JP, Zareba W, Moss AJ, Sparks CE. Apolipoprotein B determines risk for recurrent coronary events in postinfarction patients with metabolic syndrome. Atherosclerosis 2004; 177:367–373.
- [88] Talmud PJ, Hawe E, Miller GJ, Humphries SE. Nonfasting apolipoprotein B and triglyceride levels as a useful predictor of coronary heart disease risk in middle-aged UK men. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2002; 22:1918–1923.
- [89] Jiang R, Schulze MB, Li T, et al. Non-HDL cholesterol and apolipoprotein B predict cardiovascular disease events among men with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2004; 27:1991–1997.
- [90] Pischon T, Girman CJ, Sacks FM, Rifai N, Stampfer MJ, Rimm EB. Non-high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and apolipoprotein B in the prediction of coronary heart disease in men. Circulation 2005; 112:3375–3383.
- [91] Kuller L, Arnold A, Tracy R, et al. Nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy of lipoproteins and risk of coronary heart disease in the cardiovascular health study. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 2002; 22:1175–1180.
- [92] Otvos JD, Collins D, Freedman DS, et al. Low-density lipoprotein and high-density lipoprotein particle subclasses predict coronary events and are favorably changed by gemfibrozil therapy in the Veterans Affairs High-Density Lipoprotein Intervention Trial. Circulation 2006; 113:1556–1563.
- [93] Walldius G, Jungner I. Apolipoprotein B and apolipoprotein A-I: Risk indicators of coronary heart disease and targets for lipid-modifying therapy. J Intern Med 2004; 255:188–205.

- [94] Williams K, Sniderman AD, Sattar N, D'Agostino R, Jr., Wagenknecht LE, Haffner SM. Comparison of the associations of apolipoprotein B and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol with other cardiovascular risk factors in the Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study (IRAS). Circulation 2003; 108:2312–2316.
- [95] Sharrett AR, Ballantyne CM, Coady SA, et al. Coronary heart disease prediction from lipoprotein cholesterol levels, triglycerides, lipoprotein(a), apolipoproteins A-I and B, and HDL density subfractions: The Atherosclerosis Risk in Communities (ARIC) Study. Circulation 2001; 104:1108–1113.
- [96] Grundy SM. Low-density lipoprotein, non-high-density lipoprotein, and apolipoprotein B as targets of lipid-lowering therapy. Circulation 2002; 106:2526–2529.
- [97] Sniderman A, Vu H, Cianflone K. Effect of moderate hypertriglyceridemia on the relation of plasma total and LDL apo B levels. Atherosclerosis 1991; 89:109–116.
- [98] Durrington PN, Bolton CH, Hartog M. Serum and lipoprotein apolipoprotein B levels in normal subjects and patients with hyperlipoproteinaemia. Clin Chim Acta 1978; 82:151–160.
- [99] Noma A, Hata Y, Goto Y. Quantitation of serum apolipoprotein A-I, A-II, B, C-II, C-III and E in healthy Japanese by turbidimetric immunoassay: Reference values, and age- and sex-related differences. Clin Chim Acta 1991; 199:147–157.
- [100] Marcovina SM, Albers JJ, Dati F, Ledue TB, Ritchie RF. International Federation of Clinical Chemistry standardization project for measurements of apolipoproteins A-I and B. Clin Chem 1991; 37:1676–1682.
- [101] Marcovina SM, Albers JJ, Kennedy H, Mei JV, Henderson LO, Hannon WH. International Federation of Clinical Chemistry standardization project for measurements of apolipoproteins A-I and B. IV. Comparability of apolipoprotein B values by use of international reference material. Clin Chem 1994; 40:586–592.
- [102] Sattar N, Williams K, Sniderman AD, D'Agostino R, Jr., Haffner SM. Comparison of the associations of apolipoprotein B and non-high-density lipoprotein cholesterol with other cardiovascular risk factors in patients with the metabolic syndrome in the Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study. Circulation 2004; 110:2687–2693.
- [103] Genest J, Frohlich J, Fodor G, McPherson R. Recommendations for the management of dyslipidemia and the prevention of cardiovascular disease: Summary of the 2003 update. Cmaj 2003; 169:921–924.
- [104] Leiter LA, Mahon J, Ooi TC. Macrovascular complications, dyslipidemia, and hypertension. Can J Diabetes 2003; 27:S58–S65.
- [105] Kostner KM, Kostner GM. Lipoprotein(a): Still an enigma. Curr Opin Lipidol 2002; 13:391–396.
- [106] Danesh J, Collins R, Peto R. Lipoprotein(a) and coronary heart disease. Meta-analysis of prospective studies. Circulation 2000; 102:1082–1085.
- [107] Luc G, Bard JM, Arveiler D, et al. Lipoprotein (a) as a predictor of coronary heart disease: The PRIME Study. Atherosclerosis 2002; 163:377–384.
- [108] Marcovina SM, Albers JJ, Gabel B, Koschinsky ML, Gaur VP. Effect of the number of apolipoprotein(a) kringle 4 domains on immunochemical measurements of lipoprotein(a). Clin Chem 1995; 41:246–255.
- [109] Marcovina SM, Koschinsky ML. Lipoprotein(a) as a risk factor for coronary artery disease. Am J Cardiol 1998; 82:57U–66U.

This page intentionally left blank

A

AAA. See Abdominal aortic aneurysms ABCC6. See ATP-binding cassette transporter subtype 6 Abcc6 gene, 276 Abdominal aortic aneurysms, 273, 282 Abnormal O-glycosylation of IgA, 59 AD. See Alzheimer's disease Adult treatment panel, 296 Agalactosylation of IgG, 58 Age-related pigment, 15 Aging, define, 163 AHSG. See a2-Heremans-Schmid glycoprotein AHSG gene, 218, 223, 231, 239 Albumin, 111, 178-179, 219, 232, 238 Alfa2-macroglobulin (A2M), 151 Alkaline phosphatase (AP), 103, 269, 278, 280 - 281Alzheimer's disease, 177, 179-180, 182, 185 - 186Amyloid β42, 180 Aneurysm, 243, 274 Angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE), 186 ANK. See Ankylosis locus Ankylosis locus, 247, 266, 269-271 Anthropometric measures, 174 Antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC), 57 Antioxidants defense, 5, 36, 38 exercise-induced alterations in, 21-22 mechanisms, 18 enzymes, 17-19 as estrogen, 34 interaction, in redox cycling, 20 markers of oxidative stress and, 185-187 nonenzymatic, 19-20 of radiation-induced cellular damage, 113 to reduce tissue damage from space radiation, 94, 97 therapy, 3

Aortic aneurysms, 274 Apo(a)/ApoB, mass ratio of, 311 ApoB lipoprotein, 298 APOE. See Apolipoprotein E APOE gene, 186 Apolipoprotein E, 186, 297, 272 Apoptosis promineralizing effects of, 279 RONS, role in, 4 in VSMCs, role of fetuin-A, 227 Area under the receiver operating characteristics curve (AUROC), 135-136 Arterial calcification, 222, 264 clinical trials of, 282-283 coronary artery calcification, in NPP1 deficiency, 270 inhibitors of ABCC6, 275–276 carbonic anhydrase-2 and osteoprotegerin, 272-273 fetuin-A. 276-277 fibrillin-1, elastin disintegration, and aneurysm, 274-275 klotho gene and Smad6, 275 MGP and OPN, 271-272 NPP1 and ANK, 266, 269-271 OPG in prevention of, 243 and physiological tissue mineralization, 265-266 PPi in, 247-248 promoters of, 277-282 apoptotic processes, 279 inorganic phosphate, 278 leptin, 278-279 lipid's role, 279-281 low-grade inflammation, 281-282 Arteriosclerosis, 221, 281 Arthritis. See Osteoarthritis; Rheumatoid arthritis Asialoglycoprotein receptor (ASGP-R), 58 Atherogenesis, 3, 244, 264, 279, 308 Atherosclerosis, 15, 63, 170, 175, 179, 221,

242, 245, 275, 281, 308 Atherosclerotic dyslipidemia, 296 lipoproteins and, 299–300 vascular disease, 296 ATP. *See* Adult treatment panel ATP-binding cassette transporter subtype 6, 275–276

В

Biomarkers definitions working group, 162 Biomarkers, in population aging research, 165-169 of activity in hypothalamic pituitary axis. 181–182 for cardiovascular system, 164, 170-171 clinical risk levels, 172 for central nervous system, 180 genetic markers mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA), mutations in, 186-187 telomere length, 187 health and retirement survey, 193 of inflammation, immunity, and infection, 175, 177-180 interrelationships and biological risk, 189–192 allostatic load, 192 Framingham risk score, 189 MacArthur study of successful aging, 193 of metabolic processes, 171, 173-175 and mortality, 187-188 multiple biomarker measurements, 194 of organ function, 184-185 of oxidative stress and antioxidants, 185 of sympathetic nervous system, 182-183 Taiwan Biomarker Project, 194 Bisphosphonates, 105, 283 BMI. See Body mass index BMP-7 expression, in renal failure, 246 BMPs. See Bone morphogenetic proteins Body mass index, 174-175, 183, 189 Bone morphogenetic proteins, 218, 246-247

С

CAC. *See* Coronary artery calcification Cadiac arrhythmias, 170, 184–185 Calcification inhibitors role, 222–223 Calcific uremic arteriolopathy, 221, 278 Calcifying SMCs, 265-266 Calciumphosphate crystals, 283 Carbohydrate deficient transferrin (CDT), 60 Carbonic anhydrase-2, 272 γ -Carboxyglutamic acid (GLA), 240 Cardiac valve calcification, 220 Cardiovascular disease, 3, 36, 170, 178, 184, 189, 192, 218. See also Vascular calcification process CMV seropositivity and high antibody levels in. 180 elevations in iron stores and, 99 high levels of IL-6 and, 177 LDL-C measurement in, 310 OPG serum levels and, 273 serum fetuin-A deficiency and, 233 Carotenoids, 185 Catalase (CAT), 18 Catecholamine, 182 CD4:CD8 ratio, 180 CDG. See Congenital disorders of glycosylation $CD4^+$ T cells, 180 CD8⁺ T cells, 179–180 Cellular immunity, in older age, 180 Cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), 180 CHD. See Coronary heart disease CHD risk. 295 approximation method, 301 LDL cholesterol and, 300-301 LDL particle number, 308 LDL particle size, 302 Lp(a), 310 Chronic kidney disease, 218. See also Vascular calcification process BMP-7, roles in pathogenesis of, 246 serum fetuin-A in, 228-231 vascular calcification in, 221-222 Chylomicrons (CM), 297 CKD. See Chronic kidney disease Cochrane database of systematic reviews (CDSR), 134 Congenital disorders of glycosylation, 52, 56, 60-61, 63, 76-78 Conserved oligomeric Golgi 7 (COG7) protein, 56 Coronary artery calcification, 237, 274 Coronary heart disease (CHD), 164, 170, 189, 296, 300-301, 303, 310

Cortisol, 108, 181 C-reactive protein, 174, 177, 179, 186, 189, 194, 219, 232, 282 Creatinine, 108, 181–182, 184 clearance, 184, 187, 189, 243 Crohn's disease, 62 CRP. *See* C-reactive protein cSMCs. *See* Calcifying SMCs CUA. *See* Calcific uremic arteriolopathy CVD. *See* Cardiovascular disease Cyclooxygenases, 3 Cystatin C, 184, 189 Cytomegalovirus (CMV), 179–180 Cytosolic copper-zinc enzyme (Cu-ZnSOD), 17

D

Defining advanced and nonadvanced fibrosis (DANA), 150
Dehydroepiandrosterone sulfate (DHEA-S), 181–182
Diabetes, 3, 36, 171, 174–175, 179, 264, 302
Diastolic blood pressure (DBP), 164
Dichlorofluorescin (DCFH), 35
Dietary intake, during flight, 92
Dolichol phosphate (Dol-P), 54
Dystrophic calcifications, 220

Е

EBCT. See Electron beam computer tomography Eicosapentaenoic acid (EPA), 110 Elastin disintegration, 274 Electrocardiogram, 184 Electron beam computer tomography, 241 Endochondral bone formation, 220 Endocrine response, to spaceflight, 112 Endoplasmic reticulum (ER), 54, 76 Endothelial cell (EC), 266, 279, 300 End-stage renal disease (ESRD), 264 ENPP1 gene, 269-270 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA), 224 Epinephrine, 182-183, 188, 192, 278. See also Norepinephrine Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), 180 E-selectin, 61 EVA. See Extravehicular activity

Exercise-induced oxidative stress, 2 in aging and diseased population, 35–37 common biomarkers of, 12–13 gender differences in, 34–35 Extracellular SOD (EC-SOD), 18. See also Superoxide dismutase Extraosseous calcification, 220–221 Extravehicular activity, 108, 113–114

F

Fasting blood glucose level, 174 Fatigue rates, 4 Fenton and Haber-Weiss reactions, 20 Ferric-reducing ability of plasma (FRAP) assav. 21 Fetuin-A, 218 analysis of, 224 in calcification inhibition, 276-277 chemistry and metabolism of, 223-224 in CKD patients, 231 deficiency and CKD patients, 233, 237-238 function and role in calcification process, 225-226 and genetic polymorphisms, 239 in inflammation, 226-227 major findings in chronic kidney disease patients, 228-230 in non-renal populations, 233-235 and metabolic syndrome, 227, 231 in non-renal patients, 234-236 polymorphisms in fetuin-A gene, 277 in PXE patients, 276 vascular calcification and inflammation, 231-233 Fetuin-B protein, 224 Fibrillin-1 mutations, 274-275 Fibrinogen, 178-179, 193, 219 FibroMeter (FM), 136 FibroScanTM (FS), 133 Fibrosis biomarkers biomarkers identified, 139 with at least two validations, 140 criteria for, assessing the quality of, 145-148 effectivity in all chronic liver diseases, 151-152 gray zone or inaccurate zone between intermediate stages, 152 and liver biopsy, 152-153

Fibrosis biomarkers (cont.) patented biomarkers, differences between, 150-151 patented biomarkers, evaluation of. 139-144 characteristics, in patients with chronic liver disease, 141-143 diagnostic values and quality items, 144 FT and APRI, diagnostic values, 143 meta-analyses, 140, 143 vs. nonpatented biomarker, 149-150 quality evaluation of, 136-139 Fibro-TestTM-ActiTestTM (FT-AT), 133 F2-isoprostanes (F2-iso), 180 Flavonoids, 19-20 Flight crews, clinical assessment of, 92 biochemical assessment, 93 fat-soluble vitamins, 94-97 hematology and iron, 98-100 minerals, 97-98 trace elements, 100 water-soluble vitamins, 93–94 nutritional assessment protocol on ISS, implementation, 100-101 Fluid and electrolyte homeostasis, alteration during flight, 110-112 effect on total body water, 111-112 glycogen storage, increase in, 112 Food palatability, 92 Framingham risk factors, in CVD, 218 Framingham risk score, 189 Friedewald equation, 302 Fucose, 54, 57, 60-61, 71, 75

G

GACI. See Generalized arterial calcification of infancy
Gastrointestinal function, flight-related changes in, 92
Generalized arterial calcification of infancy, 269–271
Genetic polymorphisms and fetuin-A, 239
GGE. See Gradient gel electrophoresis
Gilbert syndrome, 151
GlcNAc oligosaccharides, 73
Glomerular filtration rate (GFR), 184
Glucose homeostasis, 219
S-Glutathiolation, 16
Glutathione, 12, 19, 27, 31–33 Glutathione peroxidase, 18-20, 100, 185 N-Glycans, 52-53. See also TSNG biosynthesis of, 54-56 structure and characteristic complex oligosaccharides, 53 types of, 54 Glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c), 174 N-Glycosylation, 52 congenital modifications in, 76-77 modifications and alterations, reported in, 73, 75-76 of serum glycoproteins, 52-63 al-acid glycoprotein (AGP), 61-62 α 1-antitrypsin, 60–61 apolipoprotein, 62-63 ceruloplasmin and complement system, 62 haptoglobin, 62 immunoglobulin A (IgA), 58-59 immunoglobulin G (IgG), 57-58 immunoglobulin M (IgM), 59 α 2-macroglobulin, 60 serum protein, 56-57 transferrin, 59-60 GPx. See Glutathione peroxidase Gradient gel electrophoresis, 304 Growth hormone (GH), 182

Η

Haptoglobin fucosylation, 62 HDL cholesterol, 173-175, 189, 237, 301 Heart rate, 170, 183 Heme proteins, 3 Hemodialysis (HD), 222 HepaScore (HS), 136 Hepatitis C, 133 α 2-Heremans–Schmid glycoprotein (AHSG), 218, 223, 239, 276 High-density lipoprotein (HDL), 171, 237, 280. See also HDL cholesterol Highsensitivity CRP test (hs-CRP), 177 Homocysteine, 170, 193 Horseradish peroxidase, 224 HRP. See Horseradish peroxidase HTR2A genotype, for cognitive loss, 186 Hydroxyapatite crystals formation, fetuin-A in, 225-226

8-Hydroxy-2'-deoxyguanosine (8-OHdG), 13, 16–17, 23, 29, 31, 35
Hypertension, 164, 192 arterial calcification and, 264
EC injury and disruption caused by, 300 higher risk for, 175

I

IGF-1. See Insulin-like growth factor-1 IL-2 cytokine, 178 IL-1 receptor antagonist (IL-1ra), 178 IL-6 soluble receptor (IL-6sR), 178 Immune function changes, associated with spaceflight, 112 Immunoturbidometric assays, LP(a) measurement, 310-311 In-flight and preflight, energy requirements, 90 Inorganic pyrophosphate, 218, 247-248, 278 Insulin-like growth factor-1, 182, 282 Interferon (IFN)- γ inducing factor (IGIF), 178 Interleukin-6 (IL-6), 177, 186 Interleukin (IL)1*β*, 226, 280 Intermediatedensity lipoproteins (IDL), 297 Intimal atherosclerotic plaque calcification, 220 Intramembranous bone formation, 220 8-Iso-prostaglandin $F_{2\alpha}$ (PGF_{2 α}), 113

K

Keutel syndrome, 240 *klotho* gene mutation, 275

L

LDL. See Low-density lipoprotein LDL-cholesterol, 171, 296 and CHD Risk, 300–301 enzymatic methods, 307 and LDL particle number in Framingham Offspring Cohort, 301 level in arterial calcification, 279 measurement, Friedewald equation, 302 LDL particle number. See also Coronary heart disease risk ApoB measurement, 309–310 and CHD risk, 308

non-HDL-C, calculation, 309 LDL particle size assessment electrophoresis GGE, 304-305 polyacrylamide tube gel, 305-307 precipitation, 307-308 ultracentrifugation sequential ultracentrifugation, 303-304 vertical spin autoprofiling, 304 LDL-receptor (LDL-R), 298 Left ventricular hypertrophy (LVH), 185 Leptin, 175 in calcification, 278-279 in metabolic processes and inflammatory processes, 189 potential effects of, 278-279 Lipid hydroperoxides (LOOH), 15 Lipid peroxidation, 10 autocatalytic process of, 14 biomarkers increase, in eccentric exercise, 31 following sprint exercise, 33 isometric handgrip exercise and, 32 markers measurement, 22 in obese patients, 36 phases of, 14-15 tocopherol (vitamin E) functions in, 20 women susceptiblity to, 34 Lipids, in arterial calcification, 279-281 Lipofuscin, 15 Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-stimulated macrophages, 226 Lipoprotein (a), 310-311 Lipoproteins, 297-298 and atherosclerosis, 299-300 classification of, 296-298 Lp(a), and CHD risk, 310 Lp(a) Kringle IV Pattern 2, for measurement, 311 NMR spectroscopy, 307-308 precipitation techniques, Denka method, 307 properties of, 298 serum, structure of, 297 structure of, 296 subclass formation large VLDL particles, 299 small VLDL particle, 298-299 Lipoxygenases, 3 Low-density lipoprotein, 171, 237, 295.

See also LDL-cholesterol; Lipoproteins cholesterol approximation method, 302 particle, relationships between, 301 particles cholesterol, 300–301 numbers, 308–310 size, 303–308 Lp(a). See Lipoprotein (a) Lunar space suits, design of, 115 Lupus erythematosus, 60, 227

Μ

Madh6 gene, 246 Malondialdehyde, 15, 22, 26-27, 29, 31-36, 113 Manganese (MnSOD), 17 Mannan binding lectin (MBL), 57 Marfan syndrome, 274 Mars missions, technological and biomedical advancement, 115 Matrix-Gla protein, 218 and artery calcification, relationship, 241–242 and matrix mineralization inhibition, 271 in vascular calcification inhibition, 240-242 and vitamin K intake, 241 Matrix metalloproteinase, 274 MDA. See Malondialdehyde Medial vascular calcification, 220-222, 265 Metabolic processes, markers of, 171–175 Metabolic syndrome, 175, 189, 192 and Fetuin-A, 227, 231 underestimation of LDL-C levels and, 302 Metastatic calcifications, 220 METAVIR scoring system, 135 MGP. See Matrix-Gla protein MGP γ -carboxylation, 240 MGP gene, 271 Mitochondrial DNA (mtDNA), mutations in. 186–187 MMP. See Matrix metalloproteinase Mönckeberg's sclerosis. See Medial vascular calcification Multiple sclerosis, 60 Muscle fatigue, for spacewalking astronauts, 114 Muscle loss, during exploration missions, 107 atrophy of muscle in space, 109

countermeasure, 109–110 omega-3 fatty acids, administration of, 110 resistive exercise protocols, 110 muscle proteolysis, 108 potassium and nitrogen balances, 108 Skylab studies, 109 thyroid hormone or cortisol, administration of, 109 Myocardial infarction (MI), 182–183

Ν

N-Acetylglucosaminyl transferases (GlcNAc-T), 56 N-Acetyl glucosylamine (GlcNAc), 52 N-Acetyllactosamine, 54 NashTest, 151 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) III, 162 National Heart Lung and Blood Institute (NHLBI), 163 National Institutes of Health (NIH), 162 Natural killer (NK) cells, 178 Nephelometry, 224 Neurodegenerative disorders, 3 Non-HDL-C measurement, 302 Norepinephrine, 182–183, 192 NPP-1. See Nucleotide pyrophosphatase phosphodiesterase-1 Nucleotide pyrophosphatase phosphodiesterase-1, 247, 266-271 Nutrient intake, on international space station missions, 91 Nutrient requirements for extended-duration ISS missions, 90 to mitigate negative effects of spaceflight, 114

0

Obesity, 179 OPG. See Osteoprotegerin OPG gene, 243–244 OPN. See Osteopontin Osteoarthritis, 175, 182 Osteoblasts, in metabolic disorders, 219 Osteopontin, 218 acting as cytokine, 245 $apoE^{-/-}$ /OPN-deficient mice, vascular calcification in, 272

carbonic anhydrase II, expression of, 245 in chronic inflammation and vascular mineralization regulation, 271-272 in vascular calcification inhibition, 244-245 Osteoporosis, 105, 175, 177, 243-244, 273, 281 Osteoprotegerin, 218 and arterial calcification, 243 in CKD patients, 243 counterregulatory mechanism in calcified areas, 273 in non-renal patients, 244 in OPG/apoE double knockout mice, 273 in osteoclast differentiation inhibition, 272-273 RANK-RANK ligand interaction, 243 transgenic overexpression in mice, 242 in vascular calcification inhibition, 242 - 244Osteoprotegerin ligand (OPGL), 242 Oxidant-generating enzymes, 10 Oxidative damage to adenosine triphosphatase pumps, 4 DNA damage, 16-17 elevated levels of markers, in astronauts, 113 EVA crew members, exposed to, 114 linked to cataract risk and other health concerns, 114 to macromolecules, 20 to proteins, 16 RONS-mediated, 4 Oxidative stress biomarkers, 2-5, 22, 24-25, 27, 32, 35-36 Oxidative stress, exercise impact on, 22-25. See also Lipid peroxidation aerobic exercise, 25-26 downhill running protocols, 26 long duration trials, 27-28 noneccentric biased protocols, 26-27 anaerobic exercise, 28 dynamic resistance exercise, 28-30 eccentric resistance exercise, 30-31 isometric muscle actions, 32 sports play, 33-34 sprint and jump exercise, 32-33 elevations in biomarkers, 24 increase in MDA. 22 maximal oxygen consumption (VO_{2max}), 22, 25

8-OHdG levels, 23, 29 protein oxidation, 22–23

Р

Parathyroid hormone, 96, 219, 278 Parkinson's disease, 185 Peak expiratory flow (PEF), 184 Peritoneal dialysis (PD), 222 PEW. See Protein energy wasting Phi coefficients. See also Biomarkers among high risk levels of cardiovascular biomarkers, 173 of markers of inflammation, 179 of markers of organ failure, 185 of markers of SNS and HPA, 183 of metabolic biomarkers, 176 indicating relationships, 190-191 Phospholipases, 3 Physiological systems, spaceflight effects on. 101 bone loss, 101-102 altered calcium homeostasis, 104 bone resorption and formation, during bed rest, 104 vitamin D status, 103 countermeasures dietary factors, influencing on bone, 106-107 exercise, in flight, 104-105 pharmacological agents, to mitigate, 105 vibration, musculoskeletal countermeasure, 105 Polymorphisms, for gene coding for ACE, 186 Portal hypertension, marker of, 151 PPi. See Inorganic pyrophosphate Protein energy wasting, 231 Protein oxidation, 22-23 Pseudoxanthoma elasticum, 276 PTH. See Parathyroid hormone Pulse pressure (PP), 164 Pulse rate, 170 PXE. See Pseudoxanthoma elasticum

R

Radiation exposure. See also Oxidative damage of astronauts, 113

Radiation exposure. See also Oxidative damage (cont.) during EVAs and environment inside suit. 114 Radical-generating enzymes, 3 RANK. See Receptor activator of nuclear factor (NF)- $\kappa\beta$ RANKL. See Receptor activator of nuclear factor-kappaB ligand RANK-RANK ligand interaction, 243 Reactive oxidative species (ROS), 185 Reactive oxygen and nitrogen species assessing RONS formation, methods of, 11-12 common targets and consequences, 12, 14 - 17generation of, 5-7 radicals generated, types of, 8-11 sources, 6-8 health and disease, associations with, 3-4 physical performance, association with, 4-5 precise cellular damage, 11 protective mechanisms against, 17-20 Receptor activator of nuclear factor-kappaB ligand, 281 Receptor activator of nuclear factor (NF)- $\kappa\beta$, 242 Reverse cholesterol transport (RCT), 298 Rheumatoid arthritis, 11, 58, 62, 177, 179 RONS. See Reactive oxygen and nitrogen species

S

Sarcopenia, 185 Serum amyloid A (SAA), 179 Serum cholesterol, NMR spectroscopy, 307 Serum glycoproteins, glycan moiety's role, 57 Serum lipoprotein. See also Lipoproteins properties of, 298 structure of, 297 tube gel electrophoresis, separation of, 306 Sexually transmitted diseases (STDs), 193 Shuttle food system, 90 Sialyl-Lewis^x determinant, 61. See also N-Glycosylation; TSNG expression during estrogen treatment, 72 fucose residue, α 1,3-linked, 75 increased expression, in chronic inflammation. 61 increased fucosylation and expression, 77

Sjögren's syndrome, 59 Smad6 protein, role of, 275 Smooth muscle cells (SMCs), 265, 275, 278-279 Spacecraft food systems, 89 Spaceflight, development of foods for, 89 Standards for reporting of diagnostic accuracy (STARD), 134 SteatoTest (ST), 151 Stomach cancer, 62 Stroke, 179–180 Superoxide dismutase (SOD), 6, 10, 17-18, 185 Superoxide radicals, 3 Surface-enhanced laser desorption ionization time-of-flight (SELDITOF), 73 Systemic lupus erythematosus. See Lupus erythematosus Systolic blood pressure (SBP), 164

Т

Takayasu arteritis (TA), 281 TBARS. See Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances Telomere length, 187 TGF- β . See Transforming growth factor- β TG/VLDL-C ratio, 302 T-helper cells, 180 Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances, 15, 26-27, 30, 32-33, 35, 37 Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-1 (TIMP-1), 150 Tissue nonspecific alkaline phosphatases (TNAP), 247. See also Alkaline phosphatase TNF α . See Tumor necrosis factor- α TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand, 279 Tocopherol (vitamin E), 20 Total blood glutathione (TGSH), 19 Total body water, effect of spaceflight on, 111 Total cholesterol/HDL ratio, 173 Total radical-trapping antioxidant parameter (TRAP) assay, 21 Total serum N-glycome, 52, 56, 73, 75-77. See also N-Glycosylation acquired modifications of, 73 cancer cells, 75-76 glycosylation pattern of immunoglobulin, 76

inflammatory disorders, 75 liver fibrosis and cirrhosis, 73-75 characterization of, 67-71 congenital modifications of, 76-77 CDG type I, 76-77 CDG type II, 77 galactosemia, fructose tolerance and cystic fibrosis, 77 determination of, 63-67 analysis of oligosaccharides, 65-67 chemical or enzymatic cleavage, 63-64 released oligosaccharides, purification, 65 MALDI-TOF-MS analysis of, 70, 72, 74 structure of N-linked glycans from human, 68-69 variations of. 72 Total (t)-tau protein, 180 TRAIL. See TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand Transforming growth factor- β , 275 Triglycerides, 173-174 Trolox equivalent antioxidant capacity (TEAC) assay, 21 TSNG. See Total serum N-glycome Tube gel electrophoresis, advantages of, 306 Tumor necrosis factor- α , 178–179, 227, 232, 243-244, 272, 281-282 Type-2 diabetes, 3, 177. See also Diabetes

V

VAP. See Vertical spin autoprofiling
VAP technology, 304
Vascular calcification inhibitors, 219
Vascular calcification process, 218–219

arterial calcification
inhibitors of, 266, 269–277
promoters of, 277–282
and tissue mineralization, 265–266
bone morphogenetic proteins in
inhibition, 246–247

calcification inhibitors in, 222-223 in CKD, 221-222 classification of, 220-221 clinical trials, future perspectives of. 282–283 determinant of morbidity and mortality in ESRD, 283 fetuin-A, in inhibition of (see Fetuin-A) influence of vitamin K and warfarin therapy, 283 inorganic pyrophosphate in inhibition of. 247–248 MGP in inhibition of. 240–242 mouse models of, 267-268 osteopontin in inhibition of, 244-245 osteoprotegerin in inhibition of, 218, 242-244 Vascular calciphylaxis, 221 Vascular smooth muscle cells, 222 Venous calcification, 264-265 Vertical spin autoprofiling, 304, 308 Very low density lipoprotein, 171, 174, 297-299, 302, 305-306 Vitamin C, 20, 36, 94, 115 Vitamin D, 90, 219, 225-226, 239, 276, 281 Vitamin K, 92, 96, 107, 241, 283 VLDL. See Very low density lipoprotein VSMCs. See Vascular smooth muscle cells

W

Waist and hip circumference, 174 Waist circumference (WC), 174 Waist-to-hip ratio (WHR), 174–175, 192 Warfarin, 241, 243, 271, 283

Х

Xanthine oxidase, 3, 7, 30